A Series of Monographs and Textbooks

METHODS FOR SOLVING INVERSE PROBLEMS IN MATHEMATICAL PHYSICS

Aleksey I. Prilepko Dmitry G. Orlovsky Igor A. Vasin

METHODS FOR SOLVING INVERSE PROBLEMS IN MATHEMATICAL PHYSICS

Aleksey I. Prilepko Moscow State University Moscow, Russia

Dmitry G. Orlovsky Igor A. Vasin Moscow State Institute of Engineering Physics Moscow, Russia



Marcel Dekker, Inc.

New York • Basel

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication

Prilepko, A. I. (Alekseĭ Ivanovich) Methods for solving inverse problems in mathematical physics / Aleksey I.
Prilepko, Dmitry G. Orlovsky, Igor A. Vasin.
p. cm. — (Monographs and textbooks in pure and applied mathematics;
222) Includes bibliographical references and index. ISBN 0-8247-1987-5 (alk. paper)
1. Inverse problems (Differential equations)—Numerical solutions. 2.
Mathematical physics. I. Orlovsky, Dmitry G. II. Vasin, Igor A. III.
Title. IV. Series.
QC20.7.D5P73 1999
530.15'535—dc21

0-15462 CIP

This book is printed on acid-free paper.

Headquarters

Marcel Dekker, Inc. 270 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10016 tel: 212-696-9000; fax: 212-685-4540

Eastern Hemisphere Distribution

Marcel Dekker AG Hutgasse 4, Postfach 812, CH-4001 Basel, Switzerland tel: 41-61-261-8482; fax: 41-61-261-8896

World Wide Web http://www.dekker.com

The publisher offers discounts on this book when ordered in bulk quantities. For more information, write to Special Sales/Professional Marketing at the headquarters address above.

Copyright © 2000 by Marcel Dekker, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Neither this book nor any part may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, microfilming, and recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

Current printing (last digit) 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

PRINTED IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Preface

The theory of inverse problems for differential equations is being extensively developed within the framework of mathematical physics. In the study of the so-called direct problems the solution of a given differential equation or system of equations is realised by means of supplementary conditions, while in inverse problems the equation itself is also unknown. The determination of both the governing equation and its solution necessitates imposing more additional conditions than in related direct problems.

The sources of the theory of inverse problems may be found late in the 19th century or early 20th century. They include the problem of equilibrium figures for the rotating fluid, the kinematic problems in seismology, the inverse Sturm-Liuville problem and more. Newton's problem of discovering forces making planets move in accordance with Kepler's laws was one of the first inverse problems in dynamics of mechanical systems solved in the past. Inverse problems in potential theory in which it is required to determine the body's position, shape and density from available values of its potential have a geophysical origin. Inverse problems of electromagnetic exploration were caused by the necessity to elaborate the theory and methodology of electromagnetic fields in investigations of the internal structure of Earth's crust.

The influence of inverse problems of recovering mathematical physics equations, in which supplementary conditions help assign either the values of solutions for fixed values of some or other arguments or the values of certain functionals of a solution, began to spread to more and more branches as they gradually took on an important place in applied problems arising in "real-life" situations. From a classical point of view, the problems under consideration are, in general, ill-posed. A unified treatment and advanced theory of ill-posed and conditionally well-posed problems are connected with applications of various regularization methods to such problems in mathematical physics. In many cases they include the subsidiary information on the structure of the governing differential equation, the type of its coefficients and other parameters. Quite often the unique solvability of an inverse problem is ensured by the surplus information of this sort. A definite structure of the differential equation coefficients leads to an inverse problem being well-posed from a common point of view. This book treats the subject of such problems containing a sufficiently complete and systematic theory of inverse problems and reflecting a rapid growth and

development over recent years. It is based on the original works of the authors and involves an experience of solving inverse problems in many branches of mathematical physics: heat and mass transfer, elasticity theory, potential theory, nuclear physics, hydrodynamics, etc. Despite a great generality of the presented research, it is of a constructive nature and gives the reader an understanding of relevant special cases as well as providing one with insight into what is going on in general.

In mastering the challenges involved, the monograph incorporates the well-known classical results for direct problems of mathematical physics and the theory of differential equations in Banach spaces serving as a basis for advanced classical theory of well-posed solvability of inverse problems for the equations concerned. It is worth noting here that plenty of inverse problems are intimately connected or equivalent to nonlocal direct problems for differential equations of some combined type, the new problems arising in momentum theory and the theory of approximation, the new types of linear and nonlinear integral and integro-differential equations of the first and second kinds. In such cases the well-posed solvability of inverse problem entails the new theorems on unique solvability for nonclassical direct problems we have mentioned above. Also, the inverse problems under consideration can be treated as problems from the theory of control of systems with distributed or lumped parameters.

It may happen that the well-developed methods for solving inverse problems permit one to establish, under certain constraints on the input data, the property of having fixed sign for source functions, coefficients and solutions themselves. If so, the inverse problems from control theory are in principal difference with classical problems of this theory. These special inverse problems from control theory could be more appropriately referred to as problems of the "forecast-monitoring" type. The property of having fixed sign for a solution of "forecast-monitoring" problems will be of crucial importance in applications to practical problems of heat and mass transfer, the theory of stochastic diffusion equations, mathematical economics, various problems of ecology, automata control and computerized tomography. In many cases the well-posed solvability of inverse problems is established with the aid of the contraction mapping principle, the Birkhoff-Tarsky principle, the Newton-Kantorovich method and other effective operator methods, making it possible to solve both linear and nonlinear problems following constructive iterative procedures.

The monograph covers the basic types of equations: elliptic, parabolic and hyperbolic. Special emphasis is given to the Navier–Stokes equations as well as to the well-known kinetic equations: Bolzman equation and neutron transport equation.

Being concerned with equations of parabolic type, one of the wide-

spread inverse problems for such equations amounts to the problem of determining an unknown function connected structurally with coefficients of the governing equation. The traditional way of covering this is to absorb some additional information on the behavior of a solution at a fixed point $u(x_0, t) = \varphi(t)$. In this regard, a reasonable interpretation of problems with the overdetermination at a fixed point is approved. The main idea behind this approach is connected with the control over physical processes for a proper choice of parameters, making it possible to provide at this point a required temperature regime. On the other hand, the integral overdetermination

$$\int_{\Omega} u(x,t) w(x) \ dx = \varphi(t) \,,$$

where w and φ are the known functions and u is a solution of a given parabolic equation, may also be of help in achieving the final aim and comes first in the body of the book. We have established the new results on uniqueness and solvability. The overwhelming majority of the Russian and foreign researchers dealt with such problems merely for linear and semilinear equations. In this book the solvability of the preceding problem is revealed for a more general class of quasilinear equations. The approximate methods for constructing solutions of inverse problems find a wide range of applications and are gaining increasing popularity.

One more important inverse problem for parabolic equations is the problem with the final overdetermination in which the subsidiary information is the value of a solution at a fixed moment of time: $u(x,T) = \varphi(x)$. Recent years have seen the publication of many works devoted to this canonical problem. Plenty of interesting and profound results from the explicit formulae for solutions in the simplest cases to various sufficient conditions of the unique solvability have been derived for this inverse problem and gradually enriched the theory parallel with these achievements. We offer and develop a new approach in this area based on properties of Fredholm's solvability of inverse problems, whose use permits us to establish the well-known conditions for unique solvability as well.

It is worth noting here that for the first time problems with the integral overdetermination for both parabolic and hyperbolic equations have been completely posed and analysed within the Russian scientific school headed by Prof. Aleksey Prilepko from the Moscow State University. Later the relevant problems were extensively investigated by other researchers including foreign ones. Additional information in such problems is provided in the integral form and admits a physical interpretation as a result of measuring a physical parameter by a perfect sensor. The essense of the matter is that any sensor, due to its finite size, always performs some averaging of a measured parameter over the domain of action. Similar problems for equations of hyperbolic type emerged in theory and practice. They include symmetric hyperbolic systems of the first order, the wave equation with variable coefficients and the system of equations in elasticity theory. Some conditions for the existence and uniqueness of a solution of problems with the overdetermination at a fixed point and the integral overdetermination have been established.

Let us stress that under the conditions imposed above, problems with the final overdetermination are of rather complicated forms than those in the parabolic case. Simple examples help motivate in the general case the absence of even Fredholm's solvability of inverse problems of hyperbolic type. Nevertheless, the authors have proved Fredholm's solvability and established various sufficient conditions for the existence and uniqueness of a solution for a sufficiently broad class of equations.

Among inverse problems for elliptic equations we are much interested in inverse problems of potential theory relating to the shape and density of an attracting body either from available values of the body's external or internal potentials or from available values of certain functionals of these potentials. In this direction we have proved the theorems on global uniqueness and stability for solutions of the aforementioned problems. Moreover, inverse problems of the simple layer potential and the total potential which do arise in geophysics, cardiology and other areas are discussed. Inverse problems for the Helmholz equation in acoustics and dispersion theory are completely posed and investigated. For more general elliptic equations, problems of finding their sources and coefficients are analysed in the situation when, in addition, some or other accompanying functionals of solutions are specified as compared with related direct problems.

In spite of the fact that the time-dependent system of the Navier-Stokes equations of the dynamics of viscous fluid falls within the category of equations similar to parabolic ones, separate investigations are caused by some specificity of its character. The well-founded choice of the inverse problem statement owes a debt to the surplus information about a solution as supplementary to the initial and boundary conditions. Additional information of this sort is capable of describing, as a rule, the indirect manifestation of the liquid motion characteristics in question and admits plenty of representations. The first careful analysis of an inverse problem for the Navier-Stokes equations was carried out by the authors and provides proper guidelines for deeper study of inverse problems with the overdetermination at a fixed point and the same of the final observation conditions. This book covers fully the problem with a perfect sensor involved, in which the subsidiary information is prescribed in the integral form. Common settings of inverse problems for the Navier-Stokes system are similar to parabolic and hyperbolic equations we have considered so

Preface

far and may also be treated as control problems relating to viscous liquid motion.

The linearized Bolzman equation and neutron transport equation are viewed in the book as particular cases of kinetic equations. The linearized Bolzman equation describes the evolution of a deviation of the distribution function of a one-particle-rarefied gas from an equilibrium. The statements of inverse problems remain unchanged including the Cauchy problem and the boundary value problem in a bounded domain. The solution existence and solvability are proved. The constraints imposed at the very beginning are satisfied for solid sphere models and power potentials of the particle interaction with angular cut off.

For a boundary value problem the conditions for the boundary data reflect the following situations: the first is connected with the boundary absorption, the second with the thermodynamic equilibrium of the boundary with dissipative particles dispersion on the border. It is worth noting that the characteristics of the boundary being an equilibria in thermodynamics lead to supplementary problems for investigating inverse problems with the final overdetermination, since in this case the linearized collision operator has a nontrivial kernel. Because of this, we restrict ourselves to the stiff interactions only.

Observe that in studying inverse problems for the Bolzman equation we employ the method of differential equations in a Banach space. The same method is adopted for similar problems relating to the neutron transport. Inverse problems for the transport equation are described by inverse problems for a first order abstract differential equation in a Banach space. For this equation the theorems on existence and uniqueness of the inverse problem solution are proved. Conditions for applications of these theorems are easily formulated in terms of the input data of the initial transport equation. The book provides a common setting of inverse problems which will be effectively used in the nuclear reactor theory.

Differential equations in a Banach space with unbounded operator coefficients are given as one possible way of treating partial differential equations. Inverse problems for equations in a Banach space correspond to abstract forms of inverse problems for partial differential equations. The method of differential equations in a Banach space for investigating various inverse problems is quite applicable. Abstract inverse problems are considered for equations of first and second orders, capable of describing inverse problems for partial differential equations.

It should be noted that we restrict ourselves here to abstract inverse problems of two classes: inverse problems in which, in order to solve the differential equation for u(t), it is necessary to know the value of some operator or functional $Bu(t) = \varphi(t)$ as a function of the argument t, and problems with pointwise overdetermination: $u(T) = u_T$.

For the inverse problems from the first class (problems with evolution overdetermination) we raise the questions of existence and uniqueness of a solution and receive definite answers. Special attention is being paid to the problems in which the operator B possesses some smoothness properties. In context of partial differential equations, abstract inverse problems are suitable to problems with the integral overdetermination, that is, for the problems in which the physical value measurement is carried out by a perfect sensor of finite size. For these problems the questions of existence and uniqueness of strong and weak solutions are examined, and the conditions of differentiability of solutions are established. Under such an approach the emerging equations with constant and variable coefficients are studied.

It is worth emphasizing here that the type of equation plays a key role in the case of equations with variable coefficients and, therefore, its description is carried out separately for parabolic and hyperbolic cases. Linear and semilinear equations arise in the hyperbolic case, while parabolic equations include quasilinear ones as well. Semigroup theory is the basic tool adopted in this book for the first order equations. Since the second order equations may be reduced to the first order equations, we need the relevant elements of the theory of cosine functions.

A systematic study of these problems is a new original trend initiated and well-developed by the authors.

The inverse problems from the second class, from the point of possible applications, lead to problems with the final overdetermination. So far they have been studied mainly for the simplest cases. The authors began their research in a young and growing field and continue with their pupils and colleagues. The equations of first and second orders will be of great interest, but we restrict ourselves here to the linear case only. For second order equations the elliptic and hyperbolic cases are extensively investigated. Among the results obtained we point out sufficient conditions of existence and uniqueness of a solution, necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence of a solution and its uniqueness for equations with a self-adjoint main part and Fredholm's-type solvability conditions. For differential equations in a Hilbert structure inverse problems are studied and conditions of their solvability are established. All the results apply equally well to inverse problems for mathematical physics equations, in particular, for parabolic equations, second order elliptic and hyperbolic equations, the systems of Navier-Stokes and Maxwell equations, symmetric hyperbolic systems, the system of equations from elasticity theory, the Bolzman equation and the neutron transport equation.

The overview of the results obtained and their relative comparison

Preface

are given in concluding remarks. The book reviews the latest discoveries of the new theory and opens the way to the wealth of applications that it is likely to embrace.

In order to make the book accessible not only to specialists, but also to students and engineers, we give a complete account of definitions and notions and present a number of relevant topics from other branches of mathematics.

It is to be hoped that the publication of this monograph will stimulate further research in many countries as we face the challenge of the next decade.

> Aleksey I. Prilepko Dmitry G. Orlovsky Igor A. Vasin

Contents

Preface			iii
1	Inve	erse Problems for Equations of Parabolic Type	· 1
	1.1	Preliminaries	1
	1.2	The linear inverse problem: recovering a source term	25
	1.3	The linear inverse problem: the Fredholm solvability	41
	1.4	The nonlinear coefficient inverse problem:	
		recovering a coefficient depending on x	54
	1.5	The linear inverse problem: recovering the evolution of	
		a source term	60
2	Inve	erse Problems for Equations of Hyperbolic Type	71
	2.1	Inverse problems for x-hyperbolic systems	71
	2.2	Inverse problems for <i>t</i> -hyperbolic systems	88
	2.3	Inverse problems for hyperbolic equations	
		of the second order	106
3	Inve	erse Problems for Equations of the Elliptic Type	123
	3.1	Introduction to inverse problems in potential theory	123
	3.2	Necessary and sufficient conditions for the equality of	
		exterior magnetic potentials	127
	3.3	The exterior inverse problem for the volume potential with	
		variable density for bodies with a "star-shaped" intersectio	n 139
	3.4	Integral stability estimates for the inverse problem	
		of the exterior potential with constant density	152
	3.5	Uniqueness theorems for the harmonic potential	
		of "non-star-shaped" bodies with variable density	166
	3.6	The exterior contact inverse problem for the magnetic	
	0 7	potential with variable density of constant sign	171
	3.7	Integral equation for finding the density of a given body	1 50
	20	Via its exterior potential	179
	J.O	the simple lover potential	100
	30	the simple layer potential Stability in inverse problems for the notantial of	192
	0.9	a simple layer in the space \mathbf{P}^n $n > 2$	107
		a simple layer in the space \mathbf{n} , $n \geq 0$	197

Con	ten	ts
-----	-----	----

4	Inverse Problems in Dynamics of Viscous Incompressible Fluid		203	
	4.1	Preliminaries	203	
	4.2	Nonstationary linearized system of Navier–Stokes	200	
		equations: the final overdetermination	209	
•	4.3	Nonstationary linearized system of Navier-Stokes		
		equations: the integral overdetermination	221	
	4.4	Nonstationary nonlinear system of Navier–Stokes		
		equations: three-dimensional flow	230	
	4.5	Nonstationary nonlinear system of Navier–Stokes		
		equations: two-dimensional flow	248	
	4.6	Nonstationary nonlinear system of Navier–Stokes		
		equations: the integral overdetermination	254	
	4.7	Nonstationary linearized system of Navier-Stokes		
		equations: adopting a linearization via		
		recovering a coefficient	266	
	4.8	Nonstationary linearized system of Navier-Stokes		
		equations: the combined recovery of two coefficients	281	
5	Son	ne Topics from Functional Analysis		
	and	Operator Theory	299	
	5.1	The basic notions of functional analysis		
		and operator theory	299	
	5.2	Linear differential equations		
		of the first order in Banach spaces	329	
	5.3	Linear differential equations		
		of the second order in Banach spaces	342	
	5.4	Differential equations with		
		varying operator coefficients	354	
	5.5	Boundary value problems for elliptic differential		
		equations of the second order	364	
6	Abstract Inverse Problems for First Order Equations			
	and	Their Applications in Mathematical Physics	375	
	6.1	Equations of mathematical physics and abstract problems	375	
	6.2	The linear inverse problem with smoothing		
		overdetermination: the basic elements of the theory	380	
	6.3	Nonlinear inverse problems with smoothing		
	-	overdetermination: solvability	394	
	6.4	Inverse problems with smoothing overdetermination:		
		smoothness of solution	406	

xii

Contents

Keterences Index			$\begin{array}{c} 661 \\ 705 \end{array}$	
10 D	Cone	cluding Remarks	645	
	5.0	The system of maxion equations	000	
	9.1 9.8	The system of Maxwell equations	628 636	
	9.6	Linearized Bolzman equation	614	
	9.5	Equation of neutron transport	607	
	9.4	Equations of heat transfer	597	
	9.3	The system of equations from elasticity theory	591	
	9.2	Second order equations of hyperbolic type	584	
	9.1	Symmetric hyperbolic systems	575	
	to P	artial Differential Equations	575	
9	Applications of the Theory of Abstract Inverse Problems			
	0.0	of the elliptic type	557	
	02	of hyperbolic type Two point inverse problems for equations	537	
	8.2	Two-point inverse problems for equations		
	8.1	Cauchy problem for semilinear hyperbolic equations	523	
8	Inve	rse Problems for Equations of Second Order	523	
	7.3	Two-point inverse problems in Banach lattices	514	
	-	and scalar function Φ	501	
	7.2	Inverse problems with self-adjoint operator	100	
•	71	Two-point inverse problems	480	
7	Two	Point Inverse Problems for First Order Equations	489	
		with fixed domain	476	
	0.10	semilinear hyperbolic equations and operators		
	6.10	Inverse problems with smoothing overdetermination:	403	
	6.9	inverse problems with singular overdetermination:	460	
	a o '	semilinear hyperbolic equations	458	
	6.8	Inverse problems with smoothing overdetermination:		
	0.1	semilinear parabolic equations	449	
	67	quasimiear parabolic equations	400	
	6.6	Inverse problems with smoothing overdetermination:	490	
		in the principal part	414	
		semilinear equations with constant operation		
	6.5	Inverse problems with singular overdetermination:		

xiii

METHODS FOR SOLVING INVERSE PROBLEMS IN MATHEMATICAL PHYSICS

PURE AND APPLIED MATHEMATICS

A Program of Monographs, Textbooks, and Lecture Notes

EXECUTIVE EDITORS

Earl J. Taft Rutgers University New Brunswick, New Jersey Zuhair Nashed University of Delaware Newark, Delaware

EDITORIAL BOARD

M. S. Baouendi University of California, San Diego

> Jane Cronin Rutgers University

Jack K. Hale Georgia Institute of Technology

> S. Kobayashi University of California, Berkeley

> Marvin Marcus University of California, Santa Barbara

> > W. S. Massey Yale University

Anil Nerode Cornell University

Donald Passman University of Wisconsin, Madison

Fred S. Roberts Rutgers University

David L. Russell Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

Walter Schempp Universität Siegen

Mark Teply University of Wisconsin, Milwaukee

MONOGRAPHS AND TEXTBOOKS IN PURE AND APPLIED MATHEMATICS

- 1. K. Yano, Integral Formulas in Riemannian Geometry (1970)
- S. Kobayashi, Hyperbolic Manifolds and Holomorphic Mappings (1970)
- 3. V. S. Vladimirov, Equations of Mathematical Physics (A. Jeffrey, ed.; A. Littlewood, trans.) (1970)
- 4. B. N. Pshenichnyi, Necessary Conditions for an Extremum (L. Neustadt, translation ed.; K. Makowski, trans.) (1971)
- L. Narici et al., Functional Analysis and Valuation Theory (1971) 5.
- S. S. Passman, Infinite Group Rings (1971)
- 7. L. Domhoff, Group Representation Theory. Part A: Ordinary Representation Theory. Part B: Modular Representation Theory (1971, 1972)
- W. Boothby and G. L. Weiss, eds., Symmetric Spaces (1972) 8.
- Y. Matsushima, Differentiable Manifolds (E. T. Kobayashi, trans.) (1972) 9.
- 10. L. E. Ward, Jr., Topology (1972)
- 11. A. Babakhanian, Cohomological Methods in Group Theory (1972)
- 12. R. Gilmer, Multiplicative Ideal Theory (1972)
- J. Yeh, Stochastic Processes and the Wiener Integral (1973)
- 14. J. Barros-Neto, Introduction to the Theory of Distributions (1973)
- 15. R. Larsen, Functional Analysis (1973)
- 16. K. Yano and S. Ishihara, Tangent and Cotangent Bundles (1973)
- C. Procesi, Rings with Polynomial Identities (1973)
- R. Hermann, Geometry, Physics, and Systems (1973)
- 19. N. R. Wallach, Harmonic Analysis on Homogeneous Spaces (1973)
- 20. J. Dieudonné, Introduction to the Theory of Formal Groups (1973)
- 21. I. Vaisman, Cohomology and Differential Forms (1973)
- 22. B.-Y. Chen, Geometry of Submanifolds (1973)
- M. Marcus, Finite Dimensional Multilinear Algebra (in two parts) (1973, 1975)
- 24. R. Larsen, Banach Algebras (1973)
- 25. R. O. Kujala and A. L. Vitter, eds., Value Distribution Theory: Part A; Part B: Deficit and Bezout Estimates by Wilhelm Stoll (1973)
- 26. K. B. Stolarsky, Algebraic Numbers and Diophantine Approximation (1974)
- 27. A. R. Magid, The Separable Galois Theory of Commutative Rings (1974)
- 28. B. R. McDonald, Finite Rings with Identity (1974)
- 29. J. Satake, Linear Algebra (S. Koh et al., trans.) (1975)
- 30. J. S. Golan, Localization of Noncommutative Rings (1975)
- 31. G. Klambauer, Mathematical Analysis (1975)
- 32. M. K. Agoston, Algebraic Topology (1976)
- 33. K. R. Goodearl, Ring Theory (1976)
- L. E. Mansfield, Linear Algebra with Geometric Applications (1976) 34.
- 35. N. J. Pullman, Matrix Theory and Its Applications (1976)
- 36. B. R. McDonald, Geometric Algebra Over Local Rings (1976)
- 37. C. W. Groetsch, Generalized Inverses of Linear Operators (1977)
- 38. J. E. Kuczkowski and J. L. Gersting, Abstract Algebra (1977)
- 39. C. O. Christenson and W. L. Voxman, Aspects of Topology (1977)
- 40. M. Nagata, Field Theory (1977)
- 41. R. L. Long, Algebraic Number Theory (1977)
- 42. W. F. Pfeffer, Integrals and Measures (1977)
- 43. R. L. Wheeden and A. Zygmund, Measure and Integral (1977)
- J. H. Curtiss, Introduction to Functions of a Complex Variable (1978)
- 45. K. Hrbacek and T. Jech, Introduction to Set Theory (1978)
- 46. W. S. Massey, Homology and Cohomology Theory (1978)
- M. Marcus, Introduction to Modern Algebra (1978)
- 48. E. C. Young, Vector and Tensor Analysis (1978) 49
- S. B. Nadler, Jr., Hyperspaces of Sets (1978) 50.
- S. K. Segal, Topics in Group Kings (1978)
- 51. A. C. M. van Rooij, Non-Archimedean Functional Analysis (1978)
- 52. L. Corwin and R. Szczarba, Calculus in Vector Spaces (1979)
- 53. C. Sadosky, Interpolation of Operators and Singular Integrals (1979)
- 54. J. Cronin, Differential Equations (1980)
- 55. C. W. Groetsch, Elements of Applicable Functional Analysis (1980)

- I. Vaisman, Foundations of Three-Dimensional Euclidean Geometry (1980)
- 57. H. I. Freedan, Deterministic Mathematical Models in Population Ecology (1980)
- S. B. Chae, Lebesgue Integration (1980)
- C. S. Rees et al., Theory and Applications of Fourier Analysis (1981)
- L. Nachbin, Introduction to Functional Analysis (R. M. Aron, trans.) (1981)
- 61. G. Orzech and M. Orzech, Plane Algebraic Curves (1981)
- 62. R. Johnsonbaugh and W. E. Pfaffenberger, Foundations of Mathematical Analysis (1981)
- 63. W. L. Voxman and R. H. Goetschel, Advanced Calculus (1981)
- L. J. Corwin and R. H. Szczarba, Multivariable Calculus (1982) V. I. Istrătescu, Introduction to Linear Operator Theory (1981) 64.
- 65.
- R. D. Järvinen, Finite and Infinite Dimensional Linear Spaces (1981)
- J. K. Beem and P. E. Ehrlich, Global Lorentzian Geometry (1981) 67.
- 68. D. L. Armacost, The Structure of Locally Compact Abelian Groups (1981)
- 69. J. W. Brewer and M. K. Smith, eds., Emmy Noether: A Tribute (1981)
- K. H. Kim, Boolean Matrix Theory and Applications (1982)
- 71. T. W. Wieting, The Mathematical Theory of Chromatic Plane Ornaments (1982)
- 72. D. B. Gauld, Differential Topology (1982)
- 73. R. L. Faber, Foundations of Euclidean and Non-Euclidean Geometry (1983)
- M. Carmeli, Statistical Theory and Random Matrices (1983)
- 75. J. H. Carruth et al., The Theory of Topological Semigroups (1983)
- 76. R. L. Faber, Differential Geometry and Relativity Theory (1983)
- 77. S. Barnett, Polynomials and Linear Control Systems (1983)
- G. Karpilovsky, Commutative Group Algebras (1983)
- 79. F. Van Oystaeyen and A. Verschoren, Relative Invariants of Rings (1983)
- I. Vaisman, A First Course in Differential Geometry (1984)
- G. W. Swan, Applications of Optimal Control Theory in Biomedicine (1984)
- T. Petrie and J. D. Randall, Transformation Groups on Manifolds (1984)
- 83. K. Goebel and S. Reich, Uniform Convexity, Hyperbolic Geometry, and Nonexpansive Mappings (1984)
- T. Albu and C. Năstăsescu, Relative Finiteness in Module Theory (1984)
- 85. K. Hrbacek and T. Jech, Introduction to Set Theory: Second Edition (1984)
- F. Van Oystaeyen and A. Verschoren, Relative Invariants of Rings (1984)
- 87. B. R. McDonald, Linear Algebra Over Commutative Rings (1984)
- M. Namba, Geometry of Projective Algebraic Curves (1984)
- G. F. Webb, Theory of Nonlinear Age-Dependent Population Dynamics (1985)
- 90. M. R. Bremner et al., Tables of Dominant Weight Multiplicities for Representations of Simple Lie Algebras (1985)
- A. E. Fekete, Real Linear Algebra (1985)
- 92. S. B. Chae, Holomorphy and Calculus in Normed Spaces (1985)
- A. J. Jerri, Introduction to Integral Equations with Applications (1985)
- 94. G. Karpilovsky, Projective Representations of Finite Groups (1985)
- 95. L. Narici and E. Beckenstein, Topological Vector Spaces (1985)
- 96. J. Weeks, The Shape of Space (1985)
- 97. P. R. Gribik and K. O. Kortanek, Extremal Methods of Operations Research (1985)
- 98. J.-A. Chao and W. A. Woyczynski, eds., Probability Theory and Harmonic Analysis (1986)
- 99. G. D. Crown et al., Abstract Algebra (1986)
- 100. J. H. Carruth et al., The Theory of Topological Semigroups, Volume 2 (1986)
- R. S. Doran and V. A. Belfi, Characterizations of C*-Algebras (1986)
- M. W. Jeter, Mathematical Programming (1986)
- 103. M. Altman, A Unified Theory of Nonlinear Operator and Evolution Equations with Applications (1986)
- 104. A. Verschoren, Relative Invariants of Sheaves (1987)
- 105. R. A. Usmani, Applied Linear Algebra (1987)
- 106. P. Blass and J. Lang, Zariski Surfaces and Differential Equations in Characteristic p > 0 (1987)
- J. A. Reneke et al., Structured Hereditary Systems (1987) 107.
- 108. H. Busemann and B. B. Phadke, Spaces with Distinguished Geodesics (1987)
- 109. R. Harte, Invertibility and Singularity for Bounded Linear Operators (1988)
- 110. G. S. Ladde et al., Oscillation Theory of Differential Equations with Deviating Arguments (1987)
- L. Dudkin et al., Iterative Aggregation Theory (1987) 111.
- 112. T. Okubo, Differential Geometry (1987)

- 113. D. L. Stancl and M. L. Stancl, Real Analysis with Point-Set Topology (1987)
- 114. T. C. Gard, Introduction to Stochastic Differential Equations (1988)
- 115. S. S. Abhyankar, Enumerative Combinatorics of Young Tableaux (1988)
- 116. H. Strade and R. Famsteiner, Modular Lie Algebras and Their Representations (1988)
- 117. J. A. Huckaba, Commutative Rings with Zero Divisors (1988)
- 118. W. D. Wallis, Combinatorial Designs (1988)
- 119. W. Wiesław, Topological Fields (1988)
- 120. G. Karpilovsky, Field Theory (1988)
- 121. S. Caenepeel and F. Van Oystaeyen, Brauer Groups and the Cohomology of Graded Rings (1989)
- 122. W. Kozlowski, Modular Function Spaces (1988)
- 123. E. Lowen-Colebunders, Function Classes of Cauchy Continuous Maps (1989)
- 124. M. Pavel, Fundamentals of Pattern Recognition (1989)
- V. Lakshmikantham et al., Stability Analysis of Nonlinear Systems (1989)
 R. Sivaramakrishnan, The Classical Theory of Arithmetic Functions (1989)
- 127. N. A. Watson, Parabolic Equations on an Infinite Strip (1989)
- 128. K. J. Hastings, Introduction to the Mathematics of Operations Research (1989)
- 129. B. Fine, Algebraic Theory of the Bianchi Groups (1989)
- 130. D. N. Dikranjan et al., Topological Groups (1989)
- 131. J. C. Morgan II, Point Set Theory (1990)
- 132. P. Biler and A. Witkowski, Problems in Mathematical Analysis (1990)
- 133. H. J. Sussmann, Nonlinear Controllability and Optimal Control (1990)
- 134. J.-P. Florens et al., Elements of Bayesian Statistics (1990)
- 135. N. Shell, Topological Fields and Near Valuations (1990)
- 136. B. F. Doolin and C. F. Martin, Introduction to Differential Geometry for Engineers (1990)
- S. S. Holland, Jr., Applied Analysis by the Hilbert Space Method (1990) 137.
- 138. J. Okninski, Semigroup Algebras (1990)
- 139. K. Zhu, Operator Theory in Function Spaces (1990)
- 140. G. B. Price, An Introduction to Multicomplex Spaces and Functions (1991)
- 141. R. B. Darst, Introduction to Linear Programming (1991)
- 142. P. L. Sachdev, Nonlinear Ordinary Differential Equations and Their Applications (1991)
- 143. T. Husain, Orthogonal Schauder Bases (1991)
- J. Foran, Fundamentals of Real Analysis (1991)
- 145. W. C. Brown, Matrices and Vector Spaces (1991)
- 146. M. M. Rao and Z. D. Ren, Theory of Orlicz Spaces (1991)
- 147. J. S. Golan and T. Head, Modules and the Structures of Rings (1991)
- 148. C. Small, Arithmetic of Finite Fields (1991)
- 149. K. Yang, Complex Algebraic Geometry (1991)
- 150. D. G. Hoffman et al., Coding Theory (1991)
- 151. M. O. González, Classical Complex Analysis (1992) 152. M. O. González, Complex Analysis (1992)
- 153. L. W. Baggett, Functional Analysis (1992)
- 154. M. Sniedovich, Dynamic Programming (1992)
- 155. R. P. Agarwal, Difference Equations and Inequalities (1992)
- 156. C. Brezinski, Biorthogonality and Its Applications to Numerical Analysis (1992)
- 157. C. Swartz, An Introduction to Functional Analysis (1992)
- 158. S. B. Nadler, Jr., Continuum Theory (1992)
- 159. M. A. Al-Gwaiz, Theory of Distributions (1992)
- 160. E. Perry, Geometry: Axiomatic Developments with Problem Solving (1992)
- 161. E. Castillo and M. R. Ruiz-Cobo, Functional Equations and Modelling in Science and Engineering (1992)
- 162. A. J. Jern, Integral and Discrete Transforms with Applications and Error Analysis (1992)
- A. Charlier et al., Tensors and the Clifford Algebra (1992)
- 164. P. Biler and T. Nadzieja, Problems and Examples in Differential Equations (1992)
- E. Hansen, Global Optimization Using Interval Analysis (1992)
- 166. S. Guerre-Delabrière, Classical Sequences in Banach Spaces (1992)
- 167. Y. C. Wong, Introductory Theory of Topological Vector Spaces (1992)
- 168. S. H. Kulkami and B. V. Limaye, Real Function Algebras (1992)
- 169. W. C. Brown, Matrices Over Commutative Rings (1993)
- 170. J. Loustau and M. Dillon, Linear Geometry with Computer Graphics (1993)
- 171. W. V. Petryshyn, Approximation-Solvability of Nonlinear Functional and Differential Equations (1993)

- 172. E. C. Young, Vector and Tensor Analysis: Second Edition (1993)
- 173. T. A. Bick, Elementary Boundary Value Problems (1993)
- 174. M. Pavel, Fundamentals of Pattern Recognition: Second Edition (1993)
- 175. S. A. Albeverio et al., Noncommutative Distributions (1993)
- 176. W. Fulks, Complex Variables (1993)
- 177. M. M. Rao, Conditional Measures and Applications (1993)
- 178. A. Janicki and A. Weron, Simulation and Chaotic Behavior of α-Stable Stochastic Processes (1994)
- 179. P. Neittaanmäki and D. Tiba, Optimal Control of Nonlinear Parabolic Systems (1994)
- 180. J. Cronin, Differential Equations: Introduction and Qualitative Theory, Second Edition (1994)
- S. Heikkilä and V. Lakshmikantham, Monotone Iterative Techniques for Discontinuous Nonlinear Differential Equations (1994)
- 182. X. Mao, Exponential Stability of Stochastic Differential Equations (1994)
- 183. B. S. Thomson, Symmetric Properties of Real Functions (1994)
- 184. J. E. Rubio, Optimization and Nonstandard Analysis (1994)
- 185. J. L. Bueso et al., Compatibility, Stability, and Sheaves (1995)
- 186. A. N. Michel and K. Wang, Qualitative Theory of Dynamical Systems (1995)
- 187. M. R. Darnel, Theory of Lattice-Ordered Groups (1995)
- 188. Z. Naniewicz and P. D. Panagiotopoulos, Mathematical Theory of Hemivariational Inequalities and Applications (1995)
- 189. L. J. Corwin and R. H. Szczarba, Calculus in Vector Spaces: Second Edition (1995)
- 190. L. H. Erbe et al., Oscillation Theory for Functional Differential Equations (1995)
- 191. S. Agaian et al., Binary Polynomial Transforms and Nonlinear Digital Filters (1995)
- 192. M. I. Gil', Norm Estimations for Operation-Valued Functions and Applications (1995)
- 193. P. A. Grillet, Semigroups: An Introduction to the Structure Theory (1995)
- 194. S. Kichenassamy, Nonlinear Wave Equations (1996)
- 195. V. F. Krotov, Global Methods in Optimal Control Theory (1996)
- 196. K. I. Beidar et al., Rings with Generalized Identities (1996)
- 197. V. I. Arnautov et al., Introduction to the Theory of Topological Rings and Modules (1996)
- 198. G. Sierksma, Linear and Integer Programming (1996)
- 199. R. Lasser, Introduction to Fourier Series (1996)
- 200. V. Sima, Algorithms for Linear-Quadratic Optimization (1996)
- 201. D. Redmond, Number Theory (1996)
- 202. J. K. Beem et al., Global Lorentzian Geometry: Second Edition (1996)
- 203. M. Fontana et al., Prüfer Domains (1997)
- 204. H. Tanabe, Functional Analytic Methods for Partial Differential Equations (1997)
- 205. C. Q. Zhang, Integer Flows and Cycle Covers of Graphs (1997)
- 206. E. Spiegel and C. J. O'Donnell, Incidence Algebras (1997)
- 207. B. Jakubczyk and W. Respondek, Geometry of Feedback and Optimal Control (1998)
- 208. T. W. Haynes et al., Fundamentals of Domination in Graphs (1998)
- 209. T. W. Haynes et al., Domination in Graphs: Advanced Topics (1998)
- 210. L. A. D'Alotto et al., A Unified Signal Algebra Approach to Two-Dimensional Parallel Digital Signal Processing (1998)
- 211. F. Halter-Koch, Ideal Systems (1998)
- 212. N. K. Govil et al., Approximation Theory (1998)
- 213. R. Cross, Multivalued Linear Operators (1998)
- 214. A. A. Martynyuk, Stability by Liapunov's Matrix Function Method with Applications (1998)
- 215. A. Favini and A. Yagi, Degenerate Differential Equations in Banach Spaces (1999)
- 216. A. Illanes and S. Nadler, Jr., Hyperspaces: Fundamentals and Recent Advances (1999)
- 217. G. Kato and D. Struppa, Fundamentals of Algebraic Microlocal Analysis (1999)
- 218. G. X.-Z. Yuan, KKM Theory and Applications in Nonlinear Analysis (1999)
- 219. D. Motreanu and N. H. Pavel, Tangency, Flow Invariance for Differential Equations, and Optimization Problems (1999)
- 220. K. Hrbacek and T. Jech, Introduction to Set Theory, Third Edition (1999)
- 221. G. E. Kolosov, Optimal Design of Control Systems (1999)
- 222. N. L. Johnson, Subplane Covered Nets (2000)
- 223. B. Fine and G. Rosenberger, Algebraic Generalizations of Discrete Groups (1999)
- 224. M. Väth, Volterra and Integral Equations of Vector Functions (2000)
- 225. S. S. Miller and P. T. Mocanu, Differential Subordinations (2000)

- 226. R. Li et al., Generalized Difference Methods for Differential Equations: Numerical Analysis of Finite Volume Methods (2000)
- H. Li and F. Van Oystaeyen, A Primer of Algebraic Geometry (2000)
 R. P. Agarwal, Difference Equations and Inequalities: Theory, Methods, and Applications, Second Edition (2000)
- 229. A. B. Kharazishvili, Strange Functions in Real Analysis (2000)
- 230. J. M. Appell et al., Partial Integral Operators and Integro-Differential Equations (2000)
- 231. A. I. Prilepko et al., Methods for Solving Inverse Problems in Mathematical Physics (2000)

Additional Volumes in Preparation

Chapter 1

Inverse Problems for Equations of Parabolic Type

1.1 Preliminaries

In this section we give the basic notations and notions and present also a number of relevant topics from functional analysis and the general theory of partial differential equations of parabolic type. For more detail we recommend the well-known monograph by Ladyzhenskaya et al. (1968).

The symbol Ω is used for a bounded domain in the Euclidean space \mathbf{R}^n , $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ denotes an arbitrary point in it. Let us denote by Q_T a cylinder $\Omega \times (0, T)$ consisting of all points $(x, t) \in \mathbf{R}^{n+1}$ with $x \in \Omega$ and $t \in (0, T)$.

Let us agree to assume that the symbol $\partial\Omega$ is used for the boundary of the domain Ω and S_T denotes the lateral area of Q_T . More specifically, S_T is the set $\partial\Omega \times [0, T] \in \mathbf{R}^{n+1}$ consisting of all points (x, t) with $x \in \partial\Omega$ and $t \in [0, T]$.

In a limited number of cases the boundary of the domain Ω is supposed to have certain smoothness properties. As a rule, we confine our attention to domains Ω possessing piecewise-smooth boundaries with nonzero interior angles whose closure $\overline{\Omega}$ can be represented in the form $\overline{\Omega} = \bigcup_{k=1}^{m} \overline{\Omega}_{k}$ for $\Omega_i \cap \Omega_j = \emptyset, \ i \neq j$, and every $\overline{\Omega}_k$ can homeomorphically be mapped onto a unit ball (a unit cube) with the aid of functions $\psi_i^k(x), \ i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$; $k = 1, 2, \ldots, m$, with the Lipschitz property and the Jacobians of the transformations

$$\left| rac{\partial \, \psi^k}{\partial x}
ight|$$

are bounded from below by a positive constant.

We say that the boundary $\partial\Omega$ is of class C^l , $l \geq 1$, if there exists a number $\rho > 0$ such that the intersection of $\partial\Omega$ and the ball B_{ρ} of radius ρ with center at an arbitrary point $x^0 \in \partial\Omega$ is a connected surface area which can be expressed in a local frame of reference $(\xi_1, \xi_2, \ldots, \xi_n)$ with origin at the point x^0 by the equation $\xi_n = \omega(\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{n-1})$, where $\omega(\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{n-1})$ is a function of class C^l in the region \overline{D} constituting the projection of Donto the plane $\xi_n = 0$. We will speak below about the class $C^l(\overline{D})$.

We expound certain exploratory devices for investigating inverse problems by using several well-known inequalities. In this branch of mathematics common practice involves, for example, the **Cauchy inequality**

$$\left| \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij} \,\xi_i \,\eta_j \right| \leq \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij} \,\xi_i \,\xi_j \right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij} \,\eta_i \,\eta_j \right)^{1/2}$$

which is valid for an arbitrary nonnegative quadratic form $a_{ij} \xi_i \eta_j$ with $a_{ij} = a_{ji}$ and arbitrary real numbers ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n and η_1, \ldots, η_n . This is especially true of Young's inequality

(1.1.1)
$$ab \leq \frac{1}{p} \delta^p a^p + \frac{1}{q} \delta^{-q} b^q, \qquad \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$$

which is more general than the preceding and is valid for any positive a, b, δ and p, q > 1.

In dealing with measurable functions $u_k(x)$ defined in Ω we will use also Hölder's inequality

(1.1.2)
$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \prod_{k=1}^{s} u_{k}(x) dx \right| \leq \prod_{k=1}^{s} \left(\int_{\Omega} |u_{k}(x)|^{\lambda_{k}} dx \right)^{1/\lambda_{k}}$$
$$\lambda_{k} \geq 1, \qquad \qquad \sum_{k=1}^{s} \lambda_{k}^{-1} = 1.$$

In the particular case where s = 2 and $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = 2$ inequality (1.1.2) is known as the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality.

1.1. Preliminaries

Throughout this section, we operate in certain functional spaces, the elements of which are defined in Ω and Q_T . We list below some of them. In what follows all the functions and quantities will be real unless the contrary is explicitly stated.

The spaces $L_p(\Omega)$, $1 \leq p < \infty$, being the most familiar ones, come first. They are introduced as the Banach spaces consisting of all measurable functions in Ω that are *p*-integrable over that set. The norm of the space $L_p(\Omega)$ is defined by

$$|| u ||_{p,\Omega} = \left(\int_{\Omega} | u(x) |^{p} \right)^{1/p}.$$

It is worth noting here that in this chapter the notions of measurability and integrability are understood in the sense of Lebesgue. The elements of $L_p(\Omega)$ are the classes of equivalent functions on Ω .

When $p = \infty$ the space $L_{\infty}(\Omega)$ comprises all measurable functions in Ω that are essentially bounded having

$$||u||_{\infty,\Omega} = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} |u(x)|.$$

We obtain for p = 2 the Hilbert space $L_2(\Omega)$ if the scalar product in that space is defined by

$$(u,v) = \int_{\Omega} u(x) v(x) dx$$

The **Sobolev spaces** $W_p^l(\Omega)$, where *l* is a positive integer, $1 \le p < \infty$, consists of all functions from $L_p(\Omega)$ having all generalized derivatives of the first *l* orders that are *p*-integrable over Ω . The norm of the space $W_p^l(\Omega)$ is defined by

$$|| u ||_{p,\Omega}^{(1)} = \left(\sum_{k=0}^{l} \sum_{|\alpha|=k} || D_x^{\alpha} u ||_{p,\Omega}^{p} \right)^{1/p}$$

where $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n)$ is a multiindex, $|\alpha| = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \dots + \alpha_n$,

$$D_x^{\alpha} u \equiv \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|} u}{\partial x_1^{\alpha_1} \partial x_2^{\alpha_2} \dots \partial x_n^{\alpha_n}}$$

and $\sum_{|\alpha|=k}$ denotes summation over all possible α th derivatives of u. Generalized derivatives are understood in the sense of Sobolev (see the definitions in Sobolev (1988)). For $\alpha = 1$ and $\alpha = 2$ we will write, as usual, u_x and u_{xx} , respectively, instead of $D_x u$ and $D_x^2 u$. This should not cause any confusion.

It is fairly common to define the space $\overset{\circ}{W_2^1}(\Omega)$ as a subspace of $W_2^1(\Omega)$ in which the set of all functions in Ω that are infinite differentiable and have compact support is dense. The function u(x) has compact support in a bounded domain Ω if u(x) is nonzero only in a bounded subdomain Ω' of the domain Ω lying at a positive distance from the boundary of Ω .

When working in **Hölder's spaces** $C^{h}(\overline{\Omega})$ and $C^{l+h}(\overline{\Omega})$, we will assume that the boundary of Ω is smooth. A function u(x) is said to satisfy Hölder's condition with exponent h, 0 < h < 1, and **Hölder's constant** $H^{h}_{\Omega}(u)$ in $\overline{\Omega}$ if

$$\sup_{x,x'\in\bar{\Omega}} \frac{|u(x)-u(x')|}{|x-x'|^h} \equiv H^h_{\Omega}(u) < \infty.$$

By definition, $C^h(\bar{\Omega})$ is a Banach space, the elements of which are continuous on $\bar{\Omega}$ functions *u* having bounded

$$|u|_{\Omega}^{(h)} = \sup_{\Omega} |u| + H_{\Omega}^{h}(u).$$

In turn, $C^{l+h}(\bar{\Omega})$, where *l* is a positive integer, can be treated as a Banach space consisting of all differentiable functions with continuous derivatives of the first *l* orders and a bounded norm of the form

$$|u|_{\Omega}^{(l+h)} = \sum_{k=0}^{l} \sum_{|\alpha|=k} \sup_{\Omega} |D_x^{\alpha}u| + \sum_{|\alpha|=l} H_{\Omega}^h(D_x^l u).$$

The functions depending on both the space and time variables with dissimilar differential properties on x and t are much involved in solving nonstationary problems of mathematical physics.

Furthermore, $L_{p,q}(Q_T)$, $1 \le p,q < \infty$, is a Banach space consisting of all measurable functions u having bounded

$$||u||_{p,q,Q_T} = \left[\int_0^T \left(\int_{\Omega} |u|^p dx\right)^{q/p} dt\right]^{1/q}.$$

The Sobolev space $W_p^{l_1, l_2}(Q_T)$, $p \ge 1$, with positive integers $l_i \ge 0$, i = 1, 2, is defined as a Banach space of all functions u belonging to the space $L_p(Q_T)$ along with their weak x-derivatives of the first l_1 orders and t-derivatives of the first l_2 orders. The norm on that space is defined by

$$||u||_{p,Q_T}^{(l_1,l_2)} = \left[\int\limits_{Q_T} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{l_1} \sum_{|\alpha|=k} |D_x^{\alpha} u|^p + \sum_{k=1}^{l_2} |D_t^k u|^p \right) dx dt \right]^{1/p}.$$

1.1. Preliminaries

The symbol $W_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T)$ is used for a subspace of $W_2^{2,1}(Q_T)$ in which the set of all smooth functions in Q_T that vanish on S_T is dense.

The space $C^{2+\alpha,1+\alpha/2}(Q_T)$, $0 < \alpha < 1$, is a Banach space of all functions u in Q_T that are continuous on \bar{Q}_T and that possess smooth x-derivatives up to and including the second order and t-derivatives of the first order. In so doing, the functions themselves and their derivatives depend continuously on x and t with exponents α and $\alpha/2$, respectively. The norm on that space is defined by

$$\begin{split} u |_{Q_T}^{2+\alpha, 1+\alpha/2} &= \sum_{k=0}^2 \sum_{|\alpha|=k} \sup_{Q_T} |D_x^{\alpha}u| + \sup_{Q_T} |D_t u| \\ &+ \sum_{|\alpha|=2} \sup_{(x,t), (x',t) \in Q_T} |D_x^{\alpha}u(x,t) - D_x^{\alpha}u(x',t)|/|x - x'|^{\alpha} \\ &+ \sup_{(x,t), (x,t') \in Q_T} |D_t u(x,t) - D_t u(x,t')|/|t - t'|^{\alpha/2} \\ &+ \sum_{|\alpha|=2} \sup_{(x,t), (x,t') \in Q_T} |D_x^{\alpha}u(x,t) - D_x^{\alpha}u(x,t')|/|t - t'|^{\alpha/2} \\ &+ \sup_{(x,t), (x,t') \in Q_T} |D_t u(x,t) - D_t u(x',t)|/|x - x'|^{\alpha}. \end{split}$$

In specific cases the function u depending on x and t will be treated as an element of the space $V_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ comprising all the elements of $W_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ that are continuous with respect to t in the $L_2(\Omega)$ -norm having finite

$$\uparrow u \uparrow_{Q_T} = \sup_{[0,T]} || u(\cdot, u) ||_{2,\Omega} + || u_x ||_{2,Q_T} ,$$

where $u_x = (u_{x_1}, \ldots, u_{x_n})$ and $u_x^2 = |u_x|^2$. The meaning of the continuity of the function $u(\cdot, t)$ with respect to t in the $L_2(\Omega)$ -norm is that

$$\| u(\cdot, t + \Delta t) - u(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega} \longrightarrow 0 \text{ as } \Delta t \longrightarrow 0.$$

For later use, the symbol $\overset{o}{V_2^{1,0}}(Q_T)$ will appear once we agree to consider only those elements of $V_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ that vanish on S_T .

In a number of problems a function depending on x and t can be viewed as a function of the argument t with values from a Banach space over Ω . For example, $L_q(0,T; W_p^l(\Omega))$ is a set of all functions $u(\cdot,t)$ on (0, T) with values in $W_p^l(\Omega)$ and norm

$$\| u \|_{L_{q}(0,T; W_{p}^{l}(\Omega))} = \left\{ \int_{0}^{T} \left[\| u(\cdot,t) \|_{p,\Omega}^{(1)} \right]^{q} dt \right\}^{1/q}.$$

Obviously, the spaces $L_q(0,T; L_p(\Omega))$ and $L_{p,q}(Q_T)$ can be identified in a natural way. In a similar line, the space

$$C([0,T]; W^l_p(\Omega))$$

comprises all continuous functions on [0, T] with values in $W_p^l(\Omega)$. We obtain the Banach space $C([0, T]; W_p^l(\Omega))$ if the norm on it is defined by

$$|| u ||_{C([0,T]; W^{l}_{p}(\Omega))} = \sup_{[0,T]} || u(\cdot,t) ||_{p,\Omega}^{(1)}$$

We quote below some results concerning Sobolev's embedding theory and relevant inequalities which will be used in the sequel.

Recall that the **Poincare-Friedrichs inequality**

(1.1.3)
$$\int_{\Omega} u^2(x) dx \leq c_1(\Omega) \int_{\Omega} |u_x|^2(x) dx$$

holds true for all the functions u from $\overset{\circ}{W}{}_{2}^{1}(\Omega)$, where Ω is a bounded domain in the space \mathbf{R}^{n} . The constant $c_{1}(\Omega)$ depending only on the domain Ω is bounded by the value $4 (\operatorname{diam} \Omega)^{2}$.

Theorem 1.1.1 Let Ω be a bounded domain in the space \mathbb{R}^n with the piecewise smooth boundary $\partial\Omega$ and let S_r be an intersection of Ω with any r-dimensional hypersurface, $r \leq n$ (in particular, if r = n then $S_r \equiv \Omega$; if r = n - 1 we agree to consider $\partial\Omega$ as S_r). Then for any function $u \in W_p^l(\Omega)$, where $l \geq 1$ is a positive integer and p > 1, the following assertions are valid:

(a) for n > pl and r > n - pl there exists a trace of u on S_T belonging to the space $L_q(S_r)$ with any finite $q \le pr/(n-pl)$ and the estimate is true:

$$(1.1.4) || u ||_{q, S_r} \le c || u ||_{p, \Omega}^{(1)}.$$

For q < pr/(n-pl) the operator embedding $W_p^l(\Omega)$ into $L_q(S_r)$ is completely continuous;

- (b) for n = pl the assertion of item (a) holds with any $q < \infty$;
- (c) for n < pl the function u is Hölder's continuous and belongs to the class C^{k+h}(Ω), where k = l − 1 − [n/p] and h = 1 + [n/p] − n/p if n/p is not integer and ∀h < 1 if n/p is integer. In that case the estimate</p>

(1.1.5)
$$|u|_{\Omega}^{(k+h)} \le c ||u||_{p,\Omega}^{(1)}$$

is valid (here [n/p] denotes, as usual, the integral part of n/p).

1.1. Preliminaries

Notice that the constants c arising from (1.1.4)-(1.1.5) depend only on n, p, l, r, q, S_r and Ω and do not depend on the function u. The proof of Theorem 1.1.1 can be found in Sobolev (1988).

In establishing some subsequent results we will rely on **Rellich's the**orem, whose precise formulation is due to Courant and Hilbert (1962).

Theorem 1.1.2 If Ω is a bounded domain, then $\mathring{W}_{2}^{1}(\Omega)$ is compactly embedded into the space $L_{2}(\Omega)$, that is, a set of elements $\{u_{\alpha}\}$ of the space $\mathring{W}_{2}^{1}(\Omega)$ with uniformly bounded norms is compact in the space $L_{2}(\Omega)$.

Much progress in solving inverse boundary value problems has been achieved by serious developments in the general theory of elliptic and parabolic partial differential equations. The reader can find deep and diverse results of this theory in Ladyzhenskaya (1973), Ladyzhenskaya and Uraltseva (1968), Friedman (1964), Gilbarg and Trudinger (1983), Berezanskij (1968). Several facts are known earlier and quoted here without proofs, the others are accompanied by explanations or proofs. Some of them were discovered and proven in recent years in connection with the investigation of the series of questions that we now answer. Being of independent value although, they are used in the present book only as part of the auxiliary mathematical apparatus. The theorems concerned will be formulated here in a common setting capable of describing inverse problems of interest that make it possible to draw fairly accurate outlines of advanced theory.

Let Ω be a bounded domain in the space \mathbb{R}^n with boundary $\partial\Omega$ of class C^2 . In the domain Ω of such a kind we consider the **Dirichlet boundary** value (direct) problem for the elliptic equation of the second order

(1.1.6)
$$(Lu)(x) = f(x), \quad x \in \Omega,$$

(1.1.7)
$$u(x) = 0, \qquad x \in \partial\Omega,$$

where L is an elliptic differential operator of the type

(1.1.8)
$$Lu = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left(a_{ij}(x)u_{x_i} \right)_{x_j} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i(x)u_{x_i} + c(x)u, \quad a_{ij} = a_{ji},$$

which is assumed to be **uniformly elliptic** for every $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ in the sense of the following conditions:

(1.1.9)
$$0 < \nu \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i^2 \le \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x) \xi_i \xi_j \le \mu \sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi_j^2$$

with certain positive constants μ and ν and arbitrary real numbers ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n . The left inequality (1.1.9) reflects the ellipticity property and the right one means that the coefficients a_{ij} are bounded.

In trying to solve the direct problem posed above we look for the function u by regarding the coefficients of the operator L, the source term f and the domain Ω to be known in advance.

Theorem 1.1.3 Let the operator L satisfy (1.1.8)-(1.1.9), $a_{ij} \in C(\bar{\Omega})$, $\frac{\partial a_{ij}}{\partial x_i} \in C(\bar{\Omega})$, $b_i \in L_{\infty}$ and $c \leq 0$ almost everywhere (a.e.) in Ω . If $f \in L_p(\Omega)$, 1 , then the Dirichlet problem <math>(1.1.6)-(1.1.7) has a solution $u \in W_p^2(\Omega)$, this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and obeys the estimate

$$(1.1.10) || u ||_{p,\Omega}^{(2)} \le c^* || f ||_{p,\Omega}$$

where the constant c^* is independent of u.

A similar result concerning the unique solvability can be obtained regardless of the sign of the coefficient c. However, in this case the coefficients of the operator L should satisfy some additional restrictions such as, for example, the inequality

(1.1.11)
$$\frac{\nu}{2c_1(\Omega)} - \left(\|b\|_{\infty,\Omega} + \frac{1}{2\nu} \|c\|_{\infty,\Omega}^2 \right) > 0,$$

where $b = \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i^2(x)\right]^{1/2}$ and $c_1(\Omega)$ is the same constant as in (1.1.3).

For further motivations we cite here the weak principle of maximum for elliptic equations following the monograph of Gilbarg and Trudinger (1983), p. 170-173. To facilitate understanding, it will be convenient to introduce some terminology which will be needed in subsequent reasonings. A function $u \in W_2^1(\Omega)$ is said to satisfy the inequality $u \leq 0$ on $\partial\Omega$ if its positive part $u^+ = \max\{u, 0\}$ belongs to $\mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega)$. This definition permits us to involve inequalities of other types on $\partial\Omega$. Namely, $u \geq 0$ on $\partial\Omega$ if $-u \leq 0$ on $\partial\Omega$; functions u and v from $W_2^1(\Omega)$ satisfy the inequality $u \leq v$ on $\partial\Omega$ if $u - v \leq 0$ on $\partial\Omega$;

$$\sup_{\partial \Omega} u = \inf \left\{ k \in \mathbf{R} : \ u \le k \text{ on } \partial \Omega \right\}$$

We say that a function u satisfies the inequality $Lu \ge 0$ in Ω in the weak or generalized sense if

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x) \, u_{x_i} \, v_{x_j} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i(x) \, u_{x_i} \, v - c(x) \, u \, v \right) \, dx \, \leq \, 0$$

for all nonnegative functions $v \in C^1(\Omega)$ such that v(x) = 0 for $x \in \partial \Omega$.

Theorem 1.1.4 (the weak principle of maximum) Let the conditions of Theorem 1.1.3 hold for the operator L and let a function $u \in W_2^1(\Omega)$ satisfy the inequality $Lu \geq 0$ in Ω in a weak sense. Then

$$\sup_{\Omega} u \leq \sup_{\partial \Omega} u^+$$

Corollary 1.1.1 Let the operator L be in line with the premises of Theorem 1.1.3 and let a function $\varphi \in W_2^2(\Omega) \cap W_2^1(\Omega)$ comply with the conditions

 $\varphi(x) \geq 0$ a.e. in Ω and $\varphi(x) \not\equiv \text{const}$.

Then there exists a measurable set $\Omega' \subset \Omega$ with

$$\operatorname{mes}_n \Omega' > 0$$

such that $L\varphi < 0$ in Ω' .

Proof On the contrary, let $L\varphi \ge 0$ in Ω . If so, the theorem yields either $\varphi \le 0$ in Ω or $\varphi = \text{const}$ in Ω . But this contradicts the hypotheses of Corollary 1.1.1 and proves the current corollary.

Corollary 1.1.2 Let the operator L meet the requirements of Theorem 1.1.3 and let a function $\varphi \in W_2^2(Q_T) \cap W_2^1(\Omega)$ follow the conditions

 $\varphi(x) \geq 0$ a.e. in Ω and $L\varphi(x) \not\equiv \text{const}$ in Ω .

Then there exists a measurable set $\Omega' \subset \Omega$ with

$$\operatorname{mes}_{n} \Omega' > 0$$

such that $L\varphi < 0$ in Ω' .

Proof Since $L\varphi \neq 0$, we have $\varphi \neq 0$, giving either $\varphi \equiv \text{const} > 0$ or $\varphi \neq \text{const}$. If $\varphi \equiv \text{const} > 0$, then

$$(L\varphi)(x) \equiv c(x)\varphi(x)$$

and the above assertion is simple to follow. For $\varphi \not\equiv \text{const}$ applying Corollary 1.1.1 leads to the desired assertion.

For the purposes of the present chapter we refer to the **parabolic** equation

$$(1.1.12) \quad u_t(x,t) - (Lu)(x,t) = F(x,t), \qquad (x,t) \in Q_T = \Omega \times (0,T),$$

supplied by the initial and boundary conditions

- (1.1.13) $u(x,0) = a(x), \quad x \in \Omega,$
- (1.1.14) $u(x,t) = 0, \qquad (x,t) \in S_T \equiv \partial \Omega \times [0,T],$

where the operator L is supposed to be uniformly elliptic. The meaning of this property is that we should have

(1.1.15)
$$Lu \equiv \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} \left(A_{ij}(x) \, u_{x_{i}} \right) \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}(x) \, u_{x_{i}} + C(x) \, u \, ,$$
$$A_{ij} = A_{ji} \, , \quad 0 < \nu \, \sum_{i=1}^{n} \, \xi_{i}^{2} \leq \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \, A_{ij}(x) \, \xi_{i} \, \xi_{j} \leq \mu \, \sum_{i=1}^{n} \, \xi_{i}^{2} \, ,$$
$$\nu, \mu \equiv \text{const} \, > 0 \, .$$

In what follows we impose for the coefficients of the operator L the following constraints:

(1.1.16)
$$A_{ij} \in C(\bar{\Omega}), \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} A_{ij} \in C(\bar{\Omega}), \quad B_i \in L_{\infty}(\Omega), \quad C \in L_{\infty}(\Omega).$$

The direct problem for equation (1.1.12) consists of finding a solution u of the governing equation subject to the initial condition (1.1.13) and the boundary condition (1.1.14) when operating with the functions F and a, the coefficients of the operator L and the domain $\Omega \times (0, T)$.

Definition 1.1.1 A function u is said to be a solution of the direct problem (1.1.12)-(1.1.14) from the class $W_2^{2,1}(Q_T)$ if $u \in W_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T)$ and relations (1.1.12)-(1.1.14) are satisfied almost everywhere in the corresponding domains.

Theorem 1.1.5 Let the coefficients of the operator L satisfy (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) and let $F \in L_2(Q_T)$ and $a \in W_2^1(\Omega)$. Then the direct problem

1.1. Preliminaries

(1.1.12)-(1.1.14) has a solution $u \in W^{2,1}_{2,0}(Q_T)$, this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the following estimate is valid:

(1.1.17)
$$\| u \|_{2,Q_T}^{(2,1)} \le c^* \left(\| F \|_{2,Q_T} + \| a \|_{2,\Omega}^{(1)} \right),$$

where the constant c^* does not depend on u.

In subsequent studies of inverse problems some propositions on solvability of the direct problem (1.1.12)-(1.1.14) in the "energy" space $\mathring{V}_{2}^{1,0}(Q_T)$ will serve as a necessary background for important conclusions.

Definition 1.1.2 A function u is said to be a weak solution of the direct problem (1.1.12)–(1.1.14) from the class $\mathring{V}_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ if $u \in \mathring{V}_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ and the system (1.1.12)–(1.1.14) is satisfied in the sense of the following integral identity:

$$(1.1.18) \qquad \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \left(-u \Phi_{\tau} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} A_{ij} u_{x_j} \Phi_{x_i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} B_i u_{x_i} \Phi - C u \Phi \right) dx d\tau + \int_{\Omega} u(x,t) \Phi(x,t) dx - \int_{\Omega} a(x) \Phi(x,0) dx = \int_{\Omega}^{t} \int_{\Omega} F \Phi dx d\tau, \qquad 0 \le t \le T$$

where Φ is an arbitrary element of $W_2^{1,1}(Q_T)$ such that $\Phi(x,t) = 0$ for $(x,t) \in S_T$.

The following result is an excellent start in this direction.

Theorem 1.1.6 Let the coefficients of the operator L satisfy (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) and let $F \in L_{2,1}(Q_T)$ and $a \in L_2(\Omega)$. Then the direct problem (1.1.11)-(1.1.14) has a weak solution $u \in \mathring{V}_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$, this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the energy balance equation is valid:

(1.1.19)
$$\frac{1}{2} \| u(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} A_{ij} u_{x_{j}} u_{x_{i}} \right) \| u_{x_{j}} \| u_{x_{j$$

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{n} B_{i} u_{x_{i}} u - Cu^{2} dx d\tau$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} ||a||_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} F u dx d\tau,$$
$$0 \le t \le T.$$

Differential properties of a solution u ensured by Theorem 1.1.6 are revealed in the following proposition.

Lemma 1.1.1 If all the conditions of Theorem 1.1.6 are put together with $F \in L_2(Q_T)$, then

$$u \in W^{2,1}_{2,0}(\Omega \times (\varepsilon,T)) \bigcap C([\varepsilon,T], \check{W}^{1}_{2}(\Omega))$$

for any $\varepsilon \in (0, T)$.

For the further development we initiate the derivation of some estimates. If you wish to explore this more deeply, you might find it helpful first to establish the estimates for solutions $u \in \overset{\circ}{V}_{2}^{1,0}(Q_T)$ of the system (1.1.12). These are aimed to carry out careful analysis in the sequel.

Suppose that the conditions of Theorem 1.1.6 and Lemma 1.1.1 are satisfied. With this in mind, we are going to show that any solution of (1.1.12)-(1.1.14) from $\mathring{V}_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ admits for $0 \le t \le T$ the estimate

(1.1.20) $|| u(\cdot, t) ||_{2,\Omega} \le \exp\{-\alpha t\} || a ||_{2,\Omega}$

$$+\int_{0}^{t}\exp\left\{-\alpha\left(t-\tau\right)\right\}\left\|\left.F(\,\cdot\,,\tau)\right.\right\|_{2,\,\Omega}\,d\tau\,,$$

where
$$\alpha = \left[\frac{\nu}{2c_1(\Omega)} - \left(\mu_1 + \frac{\mu_1^2}{2\nu}\right) \right],$$

 $\mu_1 = \max\left\{ \underset{\Omega}{\operatorname{ess\,sup}} |C(x)|, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} \left[\sum_{i=1}^n B_i^2(x) \right]^{1/2} \right\}$

and $c_1(\Omega)$ is the constant from the Poincare-Friedrichs inequality (1.1.3). Observe that we imposed no restriction on the sign of the constant α .

1.1. Preliminaries

At the next stage, holding a number ε from the interval (0, T) fixed and taking $t = \varepsilon$, we appeal to identity (1.1.18). After subtracting the resulting expression from (1.1.18) we get

$$(1.1.21) \qquad \int_{\varepsilon}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \left(-u \Phi_{\tau} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} A_{ij} u_{x_{j}} \Phi_{x_{i}} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} B_{i} u_{x_{i}} \Phi - C(x) u \Phi \right) dx d\tau + \int_{\Omega} u(x,t) \Phi(x,t) dx - \int_{\Omega} u(x,\varepsilon) \Phi(x,\varepsilon) dx = \int_{\Omega}^{t} \int_{\Omega} F \Phi dx d\tau, \quad 0 < \varepsilon \le t \le$$

where Φ is an arbitrary element of $W_2^{1,1}(Q_T)$ that vanish on S_T . Due to the differential properties of the function u established in Lemma 1.1.1 we can rewrite (1.1.21) for $0 < \varepsilon \le t \le T$ as

(1.1.22)
$$\int_{\epsilon}^{t} \int_{\Omega} (u_{\tau} - Lu) \Phi \, dx \, d\tau = \int_{\epsilon}^{t} \int_{\Omega} F \Phi \, dx \, d\tau.$$

It is important for us that the preceding relation occurs for any $\Phi \in W_2^{1,1}(\Omega \times (\varepsilon, T))$ vanishing on $\partial \Omega \times [\varepsilon, T]$.

Let $\eta(t)$ be an arbitrary function from the space $\overset{\circ}{C}^{\infty}([\varepsilon, T])$. Obviously, the function $\Phi = u(x,t) \eta(t)$ belongs to the class of all admissible functions subject to relation (1.1.22). Upon substituting $\Phi = u(x,t) \eta(t)$ into (1.1.22) we arrive at

$$(1.1.23) \quad \int_{\varepsilon}^{t} \left[\int_{\Omega} \left(u_{\tau} - Lu \right) u \, dx \right] \eta(\tau) \, d\tau$$
$$= \int_{\varepsilon}^{t} \left[\int_{\Omega} F u \, dx \right] \eta(\tau) \, d\tau \,, \quad 0 < \varepsilon \le t \le T \,.$$

T,

It is worth noting here that $\mathring{C}^{\infty}([\varepsilon, T])$ is dense in the space $L_2([\varepsilon, T])$. By minor manipulations with relation (1.1.23) we are led to

$$(1.1.24) \quad \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} || u(\cdot, t) ||_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \int_{\Omega} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} A_{ij} u_{x_{j}} u_{x_{i}} dx$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}(x) u_{x_{i}} u + C(x) u^{2} \right) dx$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega} F(x, t) u dx, \quad 0 < \varepsilon \le t \le T.$$

By successively applying (1.1.2) and (1.1.15) to (1.1.24) we are led to

$$(1.1.25) \quad \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} || u(\cdot,t) ||_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \nu || u_{x}(\cdot,t) ||_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$

$$\leq \mu_{1} || u_{x}(\cdot,t) ||_{2,\Omega} \cdot || u(\cdot,t) ||_{2,\Omega}$$

$$+ \mu_{1} || u(\cdot,t) ||_{2,\Omega}^{2} + || F(\cdot,t) ||_{2,\Omega} \cdot || u(\cdot,t) ||_{2,\Omega},$$

$$0 < \varepsilon \leq t \leq T,$$

where

$$\mu_1 = \max\left\{ \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} |C(x)|, \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} \left[\sum_{i=1}^n B_i^2(x) \right]^{1/2} \right\}$$

The estimation of the first term on the right-hand side of (1.1.25) can be done relying on Young's inequality with p = q = 2 and $\delta^2 = \nu/\mu_1$, whose use permits us to establish the relation

$$(1.1.26) \quad \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| u(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \frac{\nu}{2} \| u_{x}(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$

$$\leq \left(\mu_{1} + \frac{\mu_{1}^{2}}{2\nu} \right) \| u(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$

$$+ \| F(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \| u(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}.$$

Applying the Poincare-Friedrichs inequality to the second term on the right-hand side of (1.1.26) yields

(1.1.27)
$$\frac{d}{dt} \| u(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} + \alpha \| u(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \le \| F(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega},$$
$$0 < \varepsilon \le t \le T,$$

1.1. Preliminaries

where

$$\alpha = \left[\frac{\nu}{2c_1(\Omega)} - \left(\mu_1 + \frac{\mu_1^2}{2\nu} \right) \right]$$

and $c_1(\Omega)$ is the same constant as in (1.1.3).

Let us multiply both sides of (1.1.27) by $\exp{\{\alpha t\}}$ and integrate then the resulting expression from ε to t. Further passage to the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0+$ leads to the desired estimate (1.1.20).

The second estimate for $u \in \overset{\circ}{V}_{2}^{1,0}(Q_{T})$ in question follows directly from (1.1.20):

•

(1.1.28)
$$\sup_{[0,t]} || u(\cdot,\tau) ||_{2,\Omega} \leq c_2(t) \left(|| a ||_{2,\Omega} + \int_0^t || F(\cdot,\tau) ||_{2,\Omega} d\tau \right), \\ 0 \leq t \leq T,$$

where

$$c_2(t) = \exp\left\{ \left| \alpha \right| t \right\}.$$

In the derivation of an alternative estimate we have to integrate relation (1.1.26) from ε to t with respect to t and afterwards pass to the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0+$. The outcome of this is

$$(1.1.29) \quad \frac{\nu}{2} \int_{0}^{t} || u_{x}(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2,\Omega}^{2} d\tau \leq \frac{1}{2} || u(\cdot, 0) ||_{2,\Omega} \times \sup_{[0,t]} || u(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2,\Omega} + \left(\mu_{1} + \frac{\mu_{1}^{2}}{2\nu}\right) t \sup_{[0,t]} || u(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \sup_{[0,t]} || u(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2,\Omega} \times \int_{0}^{t} || F(\cdot,t) ||_{2,\Omega} d\tau, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T.$$

Substituting estimate (1.1.28) into (1.1.29) yields that any weak solution
$u \in V_2^{0,1,0}(Q_r)$ of the direct problem (1.1.12)-(1.1.14) satisfies the estimate

(1.1.30)
$$\int_{0}^{t} \|u_{x}(\cdot,\tau)\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} d\tau \leq c_{3}(t) \left[\|a\|_{2,\Omega} + 2 \int_{0}^{t} \|F(\cdot,t)\|_{2,\Omega} d\tau \right],$$
$$0 \leq t \leq T,$$

where

$$c_{3}(t) = \frac{1}{\nu} c_{2}(t) \left[1 + 2t c_{2}(t) \left(\mu_{1} + \frac{\mu_{1}^{2}}{2\nu} \right) \right].$$

The next goal of our studies is to obtain the estimate of $||u_x(\cdot,t)||_{2,\Omega}$ for the solutions asserted by Theorem 1.1.6 in the case when $t \in (0, T]$. Before giving further motivations, one thing is worth noting. As stated in Lemma 1.1.1, under some additional restrictions on the input data any solution u of the direct problem (1.1.12)-(1.1.14) from $\mathring{V}_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ belongs to the space $W_{2,0}^{2,1}(\Omega \times (\varepsilon, T))$ for any $\varepsilon \in (0, T)$. This, in particular, means that the derivative $u_{x,i}(\cdot,t)$ belongs to the space $L_2(\Omega)$ for any $t \in (\varepsilon,T)$ and is really continuous with respect to t in the $L_2(\Omega)$ -norm on the segment $[\varepsilon, T]$.

Let t be an arbitrary number from the half-open interval (0, T]. Holding a number ε from the interval (0, t) fixed we deduce that there exists a moment $\tau^* \in [\varepsilon, t]$, at which the following relation occurs:

(1.1.31)
$$\int_{\varepsilon}^{t} \|u_{x}(\cdot,\xi)\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} d\xi = (t-\varepsilon) \|u_{x}(\cdot,\tau^{*})\|_{2,\Omega}^{2},$$
$$\tau^{*} \in [\varepsilon,t], \qquad 0 < \varepsilon < t \leq T.$$

In this line, it is necessary to recall identity (1.1.22). Since the set of admissible functions Φ is dense in the space $L_2(Q_T)$, this identity should be valid for any $\Phi \in L_2(Q_T)$. Because of this fact, the equation

(1.1.32)
$$u_t(x,t) - (Lu)(x,t) = F(x,t)$$

is certainly true almost everywhere in $Q \equiv \Omega \times (\varepsilon, t)$ and implies that

(1.1.33)
$$\int_{\tau^*}^t \int_{\Omega} (u_{\tau} - Lu) \, dx \, d\tau = \int_{\tau^*}^t \int_{\Omega} F^2 \, dx \, d\tau \, , \, \tau^* \in [\varepsilon, t],$$
$$0 < \varepsilon < t \le T \, ,$$

1.1. Preliminaries

if τ^* and t were suitably chosen in conformity with (1.1.31). One can readily see that (1.1.33) yields the inequality

(1.1.34)
$$\int_{\Omega} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} A_{ij}(x) u_{x_j}(x,t) u_{x_i}(x,t) dx$$
$$+ \int_{\tau^*}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \left[u_{\tau}^2 + (Lu)^2 \right] dx d\tau$$
$$\leq \int_{\Omega} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} A_{ij}(x) u_{x_j}(x,\tau^*) u_{x_i}(x,\tau^*) dx$$
$$+ 2 \left| \int_{\tau^*}^{t} \int_{\Omega} u_{\tau} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} B_i(x) u_{x_i} + C(x) u \right] dx d\tau \right| + \int_{\tau^*}^{t} \int_{\Omega} F^2 dx d\tau.$$

With the aid of Young's inequality (1.1.1) the second term on the righthand side of (1.1.34) can be estimated as follows:

$$(1.1.35) \quad 2 \left| \int_{\tau^*}^t \int_{\Omega} u_{\tau} \left[\sum_{i=1}^n B_i(x) u_{x_i} + C(x) u \right] dx d\tau \right|$$
$$\leq \mu_1 \int_{\tau^*}^t \int_{\Omega} \left[2\delta |u_{\tau}|^2 + \frac{1}{\delta} \left(|u_x|^2 + |u|^2 \right) \right] dx d\tau,$$

where

$$\mu_{1} = \max \left\{ \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} |C(x)|, \quad \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}^{2}(x) \right]^{1/2} \right\}$$

and δ is an arbitrary positive number.

By merely setting $\delta = 1/(4 \mu_1)$ we derive from (1.1.34)-(1.1.35) one

useful inequality

(1.1.36)
$$\| u_x(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 \leq \frac{\mu}{\nu} \| u_x(\cdot, \tau^*) \|_{2,\Omega}^2$$
$$+ \frac{4\mu_1^2 (1 + c_1(\Omega))}{\nu} \int_{\tau^*}^t \int_{\Omega} | u_x |^2 dx d\tau$$
$$+ \frac{1}{\nu} \int_{\tau^*}^t \int_{\Omega} F^2 dx d\tau ,$$

whose development is based on the Poincare-Friedrichs inequality (1.1.3) and conditions (1.1.15). Having substituted (1.1.31) into (1.1.36) we find that

$$\begin{split} \| u_x(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 &\leq c_4(t) \int\limits_0^t \int\limits_\Omega | u_x |^2 dx d\tau + \frac{1}{\nu} \int\limits_0^t \int\limits_\Omega F^2 dx d\tau \\ 0 &< \varepsilon < t \leq T \,, \end{split}$$

where

$$c_4(t) = \frac{\mu}{\nu(t-\varepsilon)} + \frac{4\,\mu_1^2\,(1+c_1(\Omega))}{
u}$$

and ε is an arbitrary positive number from the interval (0, t).

The first term on the right-hand side of the preceding inequality can be estimated on the basis of (1.1.30) as follows:

(1.1.37)
$$||u_x(\cdot,t)||_{2,\Omega}^2 \leq c_5(t) ||a||_{2,\Omega}^2 + c_6(t) \int_0^t ||F(\cdot,\tau)||_{2,\Omega}^2 d\tau,$$

 $t \in (0,T],$

where

$$c_5(t) = 2 c_3(t) c_4(t)$$

and

$$c_6(t) = \nu^{-1} + 8 t^2 c_3(t) c_4(t)$$

In this context, it is necessary to say that estimates (1.1.20), (1.1.28), (1.1.30) and (1.1.30) hold for any solution $u \in \overset{\circ}{V}_{2}^{1,0}(Q_T)$ of the direct problem (1.1.12)-(1.1.14) provided that the conditions of Theorem 1.1.6 and Lemma 1.1.1 hold.

Differential properties of a solution u ensured by Theorem 1.1.5 are established in the following assertion.

1.1. Preliminaries

Lemma 1.1.2 If, in addition to the premises of Theorem 1.1.5, $F_t \in L_2(Q_T)$ and $a \in W_2^2(\Omega)$, then the solution u(x,t) belongs to $C([0,T]; W_2^2(\Omega))$, its derivative $u_t(x,t)$ belongs to

$$C([0,T], L_2(\Omega)) \cap C([\varepsilon, T], \overset{\circ}{W}_2^1(\Omega)), \qquad 0 < \varepsilon < T.$$

Moreover, u_t gives in the space $\overset{\circ}{V}_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ a solution of the direct problem

(1.1.38)
$$\begin{aligned} & w_t(x,t) - (Lw)(x,t) = F_t(x,t), & (x,t) \in Q_T, \\ & w(x,0) = (La)(x) + F(x,0), & x \in \Omega, \\ & w(x,t) = 0, & x \in S_T. \end{aligned}$$

Roughly speaking, Lemma 1.1.2 describes the conditions under which one can "differentiate" the system (1.1.12)-(1.1.14) with respect to t.

Let us consider the system (1.1.38) arguing as in the derivation of (1.1.20), (1.1.28), (1.1.30) and (1.1.37). All this enables us to deduce that in the context of Lemma 1.1.2 a solution u of the system (1.1.12)-(1.1.14) has the estimates

$$(1.1.39) \qquad || u_{t}(\cdot, t) ||_{2,\Omega} \leq \exp \{-\alpha t\} || La + F(\cdot, 0) ||_{2,\Omega} + \int_{0}^{t} \exp \{-\alpha (t - \tau)\} || F_{\tau}(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2,\Omega} d\tau , 0 \leq t \leq T , (1.1.40) \qquad \sup_{[0,t]} || u_{\tau}(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2,\Omega} \leq c_{2}(t) \left[|| La + F(\cdot, 0) ||_{2,\Omega} + \int_{0}^{t} || F_{\tau}(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2,\Omega} d\tau \right], \quad 0 \leq t \leq T , (1.1.41) \qquad \int_{0}^{t} || u_{\tau x}(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2,\Omega}^{2} d\tau \leq c_{3}(t) \left[|| La + F(\cdot, 0) ||_{2,\Omega} + 2 \int_{0}^{t} || F_{\tau}(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2,\Omega} d\tau \right]^{2}, 0 \leq t \leq T ,$$

1. Inverse Problems for Equations of Parabolic Type

(1.1.42)
$$\| u_{tx}(\cdot,\tau) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \leq c_{5}(t) \left[\| La + F(\cdot,0) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + c_{6}(t) \int_{0}^{t} \| F_{\tau}(\cdot,\tau) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} d\tau \right]^{2} + c_{6}(t) \int_{0}^{t} \| F_{\tau}(\cdot,\tau) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} d\tau \right]^{2}$$

where α , $c_2(t)$, $c_3(t)$, $c_5(t)$ and $c_6(t)$ are involved in estimates (1.1.20), (1.1.28), (1.1.30) and (1.1.37), respectively.

In subsequent chapters we shall need, among other things, some special properties of the parabolic equation solutions with nonhomogeneous boundary conditions. Let a function $u \in V_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ be a generalized solution of the direct problem

- (1.1.43) $u_t(x,t) (Lu)(x,t) = F(x,t), \quad (x,t) \in Q_T,$
- (1.1.44) $u(x,0) = a(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$
- (1.1.45) u(x,t) = b(x,t), $(x,t) \in S_T,$

where the operator L is specified by (1.1.15)-(1.1.16), it being understood that the function u satisfies the integral identity

$$(1.1.46) \qquad \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \left(-u \Phi_{\tau} + \sum_{i, j=1}^{n} A_{ij}(x) u_{x_{j}} \Phi_{x_{i}} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}(x) u_{x_{i}} \Phi - C(x) u \Phi \right) dx d\tau + \int_{\Omega} u(x, t) \Phi(x, t) dx - \int_{\Omega} a(x) \Phi(x, 0) dx = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} F \Phi dx d\tau, \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where Φ is an arbitrary element of $W_2^{1,1}(Q_T)$ such that

$$\Phi(x,t)=0$$

for all $(x,t) \in S_T$.

1.1. Preliminaries

Note that we preassumed here that the function b(x,t) can be extended and defined almost everywhere in the cylinder \bar{Q}_T . The boundary condition (1.1.45) means that the boundary value of the function

$$u(x,t) - b(x,t)$$

is equal to zero on S_T . Some differential properties of the boundary traces of functions from the space $W_q^{2m,m}(Q_T)$ are revealed in Ladyzhenskaya et al. (1968).

Lemma 1.1.3 If $u \in W_q^{2m, m}(Q_T)$ and 2r + s < 2m - 2/q, then

$$D_t^r D_t^s u(\cdot, 0) \in W_q^{2m-2r-s-2/q}(\Omega).$$

Moreover, if 2r + s < 2m - 1/q, then

$$D_t^r D_t^s u|_{\text{on } S_T} \in W_q^{2m-2r-s-1/q, \ m-r-s/2-1/(2q)}(S_T)$$

In what follows we will show that certain conditions provide the solvability of the direct problem (1.1.43)-(1.1.45) in the space $V_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ (for more detail see Ladyzhenskaya et al. (1968)).

Theorem 1.1.7 There exists a solution $u \in V_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ of problem (1.1.43)–(1.1.45) for any $a \in L_2(\Omega)$, $b \in W_2^{2,1}(Q_T)$ and $F \in L_{2,1}(Q_T)$, this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the stability estimate is true:

 $\sup_{[0,T]} \| u(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega} + \| u_x \|_{2,Q_T} \leq c^* \left(\| F \|_{2,1,Q_T} + \| a \|_{2,\Omega} + \| b \|_{2,Q_T}^{(2,1)} \right).$

To decide for yourself whether solutions to parabolic equations are positive, a first step is to check the following statement.

Theorem 1.1.8 (Ladyzhenskaya et al. (1968) or Duvant and Lions (1972)) Let $F \in L_2(Q_T)$, $a \in L_2(\Omega)$, $b \in W_2^{2,1}(Q_T)$ and let

the coefficient $C(x) \leq 0$	for	$x \in \Omega$;
$a(x) \geq 0$	for	$x\in \Omega$;
$b(x,t) \ge 0$	for	$(x,t)\in S_T$;
$F(x,t) \geq 0$	for	$(x,t)\in Q_T$.

Then any solution $u \in V_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ of problem (1.1.43)-(1.1.45) satisfies the inequality $u(x,t) \geq 0$ almost everywhere in Q_T .

Our next step is to formulate two assertions revealing this property in more detail. In preparation for this, we introduce additional notations. The symbol $K(x_0, \rho)$ is used for a cube of the space \mathbb{R}^n centered at a point x_0 with ρ on edge. By subrectangles of a rectangle

$$R = K(x_0, \rho) \times (t_0 - \tau \rho^2, t_0)$$

we shall mean the following sets:

$$R^{-} = K(x_{0}, \rho') \times (t_{0} - \tau_{1} \rho^{2}, t_{0} - \tau_{0} \rho^{2}),$$

$$R^{*} = K(x_{0}, \rho'') \times (t_{0} - \tau \rho^{2}, t_{0} - \tau_{2} \rho^{2}),$$

where $0 < \rho' < \rho''$ and $0 \le \tau_0 < \tau_1 < \tau_2 < \tau_3 < \tau$.

Recall that a function $u \in V_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ is called a weak supersolution to the equation $u_t - Lu = 0$ in Q_T if this function satisfies the inequality

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \left(-u \Phi_{\tau} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} A_{ij}(x) u_{x_{i}} \Phi_{x_{j}} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}(x) u_{x_{i}} \Phi - C(x) u \Phi \right) dx d\tau$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega} u(x,t) \Phi(x,t) dx$$
$$- \int_{\Omega} u(x,0) \Phi(x,0) dx \ge 0, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

for all bounded functions Φ from the space $\in W_2^{1,1}(Q_T)$ such that

$$\Phi(x,t) \ge 0$$
 and $\Phi(x,t) = 0$

for all $(x, t) \in S_T$.

Lemma 1.1.4 (Trudinger (1968)) Let u(x,t) be a weak supersolution to the equation

$$u_t - Lu = 0$$

in $R \subset Q$ and $0 \le u \le M$ in R. Then

$$\rho^{-(n-2)} \| u \|_{1,R^*} \le \gamma \min_{(x,t) \in R^-} u(x,t),$$

where the constant γ is independent of the function u.

Lemma 1.1.5 Let all the conditions of Theorem 1.1.8 hold. Then the function $u \in \overset{\circ}{V}_{2}^{1,0}(Q_{T})$ possesses the following properties:

- (1) if $a(x) \neq 0$ in Ω , then u(x,t) > 0 in Ω for any $t \in (0,T]$;
- (2) if $a(x) \equiv 0$ in Ω and $F(x,t) \neq 0$ in Q_T , then $u(x,t) \geq 0$ in Q_T and u(x,T) > 0 in Ω .

Proof Let a function $v \in V_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ be a generalized solution of the direct problem

- (1.1.47) $v_t(x,t) (Lv)(x,t) = F(x,t), \quad (x,t) \in Q_T,$
- (1.1.48) $v(x,0) = a(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$
- (1.1.49) v(x,t) = 0, $(x,t) \in S_T$.

It is clear that the difference

$$u_1(x,t) = u(x,t) - v(x,t)$$

belongs to the space $V_2^{0,0}(Q_T)$ and by Theorem 1.1.8 we obtain for all $(x,t) \in Q_T$ the governing inequality

 $u_1(x,t) \geq 0$

or, what amounts to the same in Q_T ,

 $u(x,t) \geq v(x,t)$.

The lemma will be proved if we succeed in justifying assertions (1)-(2) for the function v(x,t) and the system (1.1.47)-(1.1.49) only.

We first choose monotonically nondecreasing sequences of nonnegative functions

$$\{F^{(k)}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$$
, $F^{(k)} \in C^2(\bar{Q}_T)$,

and

$$\{a^{(k)}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}, \qquad a^{(k)} \in \overset{\circ}{C}{}^{2}(\bar{\Omega}),$$

such that $F^{(k)} \to F$ as $k \to \infty$ almost everywhere in Q_T and $a^{(k)} \to a$ as $k \to \infty$ almost everywhere in Ω . They are associated with a sequence of direct problems

(1.1.50) $v_t^{(k)}(x,t) - (Lv^{(k)})(x,t) = F^{(k)}(x,t), \quad (x,t) \in Q_T,$

$$(1.1.51) v^{(k)}(x,0) = a^{(k)}(x), x \in \Omega,$$

$$(1.1.52) v^{(k)}(x,t) = 0, (x,t) \in S_T.$$

Using the results obtained in Ladyzhenskaya et al. (1968), Chapter 4, we conclude that there exists a unique solution $v^{(k)} \in W_q^{2,1}(Q_T)$, q > n+2, of problem (1.1.50)–(1.1.52). Therefore, the function $v^{(k)}$ and its derivatives $v_{x_i}^{(k)}$ satisfy Hölder's condition with respect to x and t in Q_T . This provides support for the view, in particular, that $v^{(k)}$ is continuous and bounded in Q_T and so the initial and boundary conditions can be understood in a classical sense. The stability estimate (1.1.20) implies that

(1.1.53)
$$\| (v - v^{(k)})(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \le c^* (\| a - a^{(k)} \|_{2,\Omega} + \| F - F^{(k)} \|_{2,Q_T}),$$

$$0 \le t \le T.$$

We proceed to prove item (1). When $a(x) \neq 0$ in Ω , we may assume without loss of generality that in Ω

 $a^{(k)} \not\equiv 0$

for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$. We have mentioned above that the function $v^{(k)}$ is continuous and bounded in Q_T . Under these conditions Theorem 1.1.8 yields in Q_T

 $v^{(k)}(x,t) \ge 0.$

From Harnack's inequality it follows that

$$v^{(k)}(x,t) > 0$$

for any $t \in (0,T]$, $x \in \Omega$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$. We begin by placing problem (1.1.50)-(1.1.52) with regard to

$$w(x,t) = v^{(k+1)}(x,t) - v^{(k)}(x,t)$$

It is interesting to learn whether $w(x,t) \ge 0$ in Q_T and, therefore, the sequence $\{v^{(k)}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is monotonically nondecreasing. It is straightforward to verify this as before. On the other hand, estimate (1.1.53) implies that for any $t \in (0,T]$ there exists a subsequence $\{v^{(k_p)}\}_{p=1}^{\infty}$ such that

$$v^{(k_p)}(x,t) \to v(x,t)$$

as $p \to \infty$ for almost all $x \in \Omega$. Since $\{v^{(k_p)}\}_{p=1}^{\infty}$ is monotonically nondecreasing, v(x,t) > 0 for almost all $x \in \Omega$ and any $t \in (0,T]$.

We proceed to prove item (2). When $a(x) \neq 0$ in Ω and $F(x,t) \neq 0$ in Q_T , we may assume that $F^{(k)} \neq 0$ in Q_T for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Arguing as in item (1) we find that $v^{(k)} > 0$ in Q_T and by Harnack's inequality deduce that $v^{(k)}(x,T) > 0$ for all $x \in \Omega$. What is more, we establish with the aid of (1.1.53) that v(x,T) > 0 almost everywhere in Ω and thereby complete the proof of Lemma 1.1.5.

1.1. Preliminaries

Other ideas in solving nonlinear operator equations of the second kind are connected with the **Birkhoff-Tarsky fixed point principle**. This principle applies equally well to any operator equation in a partially ordered space. Moreover, in what follows we will disregard metric and topological characteristics of such spaces.

Let E be a partially ordered space in which any bounded from above (below) subset $D \subset E$ has a least upper bound $\sup D$ (greatest lower bound $\inf D$). Every such set D falls in the category of conditionally complete lattices.

The set of all elements $f \in E$ such that $a \leq f \leq b$, where a and b are certain fixed points of E, is called an order segment and is denoted by [a, b]. An operator $A: E \mapsto E$ is said to be isotonic if $f_1 \leq f_2$ with $f_1, f_2 \in E$ implies that

$$Af_1 \leq Af_2$$
.

The reader may refer to Birkhoff (1967), Lyusternik and Sobolev (1982).

Theorem 1.1.9 (Birkhoff-Tarsky) Let E be a conditionally complete lattice. One assumes, in addition, that A is an isotonic operator carrying an order segment $[a, b] \subset E$ into itself. Then the operator A can have at least one fixed point on the segment [a, b].

1.2 The linear inverse problem: recovering a source term

In this section we consider inverse problems of finding a source function of the parabolic equation (1.1.12). We may attempt the function F in the form

(1.2.1)
$$F = f(x) h(x,t) + g(x,t),$$

where the functions h and g are given, while the unknown function f is sought.

Being concerned with the operators L, \mathcal{B} , l, the functions h, g, a, b and χ , and the domain Q_T we now study in the cylinder $Q_T \equiv \Omega \times (0, T)$ the inverse problem of finding a pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$, satisfying the equation

$$\begin{array}{ll} (1.2.2) & u_t(x,t) - (Lu)(x,t) \\ & = f(x) \, h(x,t) + g(x,t) \, , \quad (x,t) \in Q_T \, , \end{array}$$

the initial condition

(1.2.3)
$$u(x, 0) = a(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

the boundary condition

(1.2.4)
$$(\mathcal{B}u)(x,t) = b(x,t),$$
 $(x,t) \in S_T = \partial \Omega \times [0,T],$

and the overdetermination condition

(1.2.5)
$$(lu)(x) = \chi(x), \qquad x \in \Omega.$$

Here the symbol L is used for a linear uniformly elliptic operator, whose coefficients are independent of t for any $x \in \overline{\Omega}$:

(1.2.6)
$$(Lu)(x,t) \equiv \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \Big[A_{ij}(x) u_{x_j}(x,t) \Big] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} B_i(x) u_{x_i}(x,t) + C(x) u(x,t),$$

$$A_{ij} = A_{ji}, \quad 0 < \nu \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i^2 \le \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} A_{ij} \xi_i \xi_j \le \mu \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i^2, \quad \nu, \mu \equiv \text{const} > 0.$$

The meaning of an operator $\mathcal B$ built into the boundary condition (1.2.4) is that

(1.2.7)
either
$$(\mathcal{B}u)(x,t) \equiv u(x,t)$$

or $(\mathcal{B}u)(x,t) \equiv \frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial N} + \sigma(x) u(x,t),$

where

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial N} \equiv \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} A_{ij} u_{x_j}(x,t) \cos\left(\widehat{\mathbf{n}, Ox_i}\right)$$

and **n** is the external normal to $\partial\Omega$. Throughout the entire subsection, we will assume that the function σ is continuous on the boundary $\partial\Omega$ and $\sigma \geq 0$.

1.2. The linear inverse problem: recovering a source term

The expression for lu from (1.2.5) reduces to

$$ext{either} \hspace{0.5cm} (lu)(x) \equiv u(x,t_1)\,, \hspace{0.5cm} 0 < t_1 \leq T\,, \hspace{0.5cm} x \in \Omega\,,$$

(1.2.8) or
$$(lu)(x) \equiv \int_{0}^{T} u(x,\tau) \omega(\tau) d\tau, \quad x \in \Omega,$$

if t_1 is held fixed and ω is known in advance.

Although the complete theory could be recast in this case, we confine ourselves to the homogeneous conditions (1.2.3)-(1.2.4) and the function gequal to zero in (1.2.2). Indeed, consider the direct problem of recovering a function v from the relations

(1.2.9)
$$\begin{aligned} & v_t \left(x, t \right) - \left(L v \right) \left(x, t \right) = g(x, t) \,, & (x, t) \in Q_T \,, \\ & v(x, 0) = a(x) \,, & x \in \Omega \,, \\ & (\mathcal{B} v) \left(x, t \right) = b(x, t) \,, & (x, t) \in S_T \,, \end{aligned}$$

if the subsidiary information is available on the operators L and \mathcal{B} and the functions g, a and b. While solving problem (1.2.9) one can find a unique solution v in the corresponding class of functions. Therefore, (1.2.2)-(1.2.5) and (1.2.9) imply that a pair of the functions $\{u-v, f\}$ satisfies the equation

$$(1.2.10) \qquad (u-v)_t - L(u-v) = f(x) h(x,t), \qquad (x,t) \in Q_T,$$

the initial condition

$$(1.2.11) \quad (u-v)(x,0) = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

the boundary condition

(1.2.12)
$$[\mathcal{B}(u-v)](x,t) = 0,$$
 $(x,t) \in S_T,$

and the overdetermination condition

(1.2.13)
$$[l(u-v)](x) = \chi_1(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

where $\chi_1(x) = \chi(x) - (lv)(x)$ and v is the unknown function to be determined as a solution of the direct problem (1.2.9). This approach leads to the inverse problem of a suitable type.

More a detailed exposition is based on the inverse problem with Dirichlet boundary data corresponding to the first relation (1.2.7). The overdetermination here will be taken in the integral form associated with the second relation (1.2.8).

To get an improvement of such an analysis, we set up the inverse problem of finding a pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$ satisfying the set of relations

- (1.2.14) $u_t(x,t) (Lu)(x,t) = f(x) h(x,t), \quad (x,t) \in Q_T,$
- (1.2.15) u(x,0) = 0, $x \in \Omega$,
- (1.2.16) u(x,t) = 0, $(x,t) \in S_T$,
- (1.2.17) $\int_{0}^{T} u(x,\tau) \,\omega(\tau) \,d\tau = \varphi(x) \,, \qquad x \in \Omega \,,$

where the operator L, the functions h, ω, φ and the domain Ω are given.

A rigorous definition for a solution of the above inverse problem is presented for later use in

Definition 1.2.1 A pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$ is said to be a generalized solution of the inverse problem (1.2.14)-(1.2.17) if

 $u \in W^{2,1}_{2,0}(Q_T), \qquad f \in L_2(\Omega)$

and all of the relations (1.2.14)-(1.2.17) occur.

Let us briefly outline our further reasoning. We first derive an operator equation for the function f in the space $L_2(\Omega)$. Second, we will show that the equation thus obtained is equivalent, in a certain sense, to the inverse problem at hand. Just for this reason the main attention will be paid to the resulting equation. Under such an approach the unique solvability of this equation under certain restrictions on the input data will be proved and special investigations will justify the validity of Fredholm's alternative for it. Because of this, we can be pretty sure that the inverse problem concerned is of Fredholm's character, that is, the uniqueness of the solution implies its existence.

Following the above scheme we are able to derive an operator equation of the second kind for the function f assuming that the coefficients of the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) and

(1.2.18)
$$\begin{aligned} h, h_t \in L_{\infty}(Q_T), \\ \left| \int_0^T h(x, t) \,\omega(t) \, dt \right| \geq \delta > 0 \end{aligned}$$

for $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ $(\delta \equiv \text{const})$, $\omega \in L_2(0, T)$.

 $\mathbf{28}$

By regarding an arbitrary function f from the space $L_2(\Omega)$ to be fixed and substituting it into equation (1.2.14) we are now in a position on account of Theorem 1.1.5 to find $u \in W_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T)$ as a unique solution of the direct problem (1.2.14)-(1.2.16). If this happens, Lemma 1.1.2 guarantees that the function u in question possesses the extra smoothness:

$$u(\cdot,t) \in C([0,T]; W_2^2(\Omega))$$

and

$$u_t(\cdot,t) \in C([0,T]; L_2(\Omega))$$

In the light of these properties the intention is to use the linear operator

$$A_1: L_2(\Omega) \mapsto L_2(\Omega)$$

acting in accordance with the rule

(1.2.19)
$$(A_1 f)(x) = \frac{1}{h_1(x)} \int_0^T u_t(x,t) \omega(t) dt, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

where

$$h_1(x) = \int_0^T h(x,t) \,\omega(t) \,dt$$

Of special interest is a linear operator equation of the second kind for the function f over the space $L_2(\Omega)$:

(1.2.20)
$$f = A_1 f + \psi,$$

where a known function ψ belongs to the space $L_2(\Omega)$.

In the sequel we will assume that the Dirichlet (direct) problem for the elliptic operator

(1.2.21) $(Lv)(x) = 0, x \in \Omega, v(x) = 0, x \in \partial\Omega,$

has only a trivial solution unless the contrary is explicitly stated. Possible examples of the results of this sort were cited in Theorem 1.1.3.

The following proposition provides proper guidelines for establishing interconnections between the solvability of the inverse problem (1.2.14)–(1.2.17) and the existence of a solution to equation (1.2.20) and vice versa.

Theorem 1.2.1 One assumes that the operator L satisfies conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16), $h, h_t \in L_{\infty}(Q_T)$ and

$$\left|\int_{0}^{T}h(x,\tau)\,\omega(\tau)\,d\tau\right|\geq\delta>0$$

for $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ($\delta \equiv \text{const}$), $\omega \in L_2(0,T)$ and

$$\varphi \in W_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{W}_2^1(\Omega)$$
 .

Let the Dirichlet problem (1.2.21) have a trivial solution only. If we agree to consider

(1.2.22)
$$\psi(x) = -\frac{1}{h_1(x)} (L\varphi)(x), \qquad h_1(x) = \int_0^T h(x,\tau) \,\omega(\tau) \,d\tau,$$

then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) if the linear equation (1.2.20) is solvable, then so is the inverse problem (1.2.14)-(1.2.17);
- (b) if there exists a solution $\{u, f\}$ of the inverse problem (1.2.14)-(1.2.17), then the function f involved gives a solution to equation (1.2.20)

Proof We proceed to prove item (a) accepting (1.2.22) to be true and equation (1.2.20) to have a solution, say f. If we substitute the function f into (1.2.14), then (1.2.14)-(1.2.16) can be solved as a direct problem. On account of Theorem 1.1.5 there exists a unique solution $u \in W^{2,1}_{2,0}(Q_T)$ and Lemma 1.1.1 gives

$$u(\cdot,t) \in C([0,T]; W_2^2(\Omega))$$

and

$$u_t(\cdot,t) \in C([0,T]; L_2(\Omega)).$$

The assertion will be proved if we succeed in showing that the function u so constructed satisfies the supplementary overdetermination condition (1.2.17). By merely setting

(1.2.23)
$$\int_{0}^{T} u(x,\tau) \,\omega(\tau) \,d\tau = \varphi_{1}(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

it makes sense to bear in mind the above properties of the function u, by means of which we find out that

$$\varphi_1 \in W_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega)$$
.

Let us multiply both sides of (1.2.14) by the function $\omega(t)$ and integrate then the resulting expression with respect to t from 0 to T. After obvious rearranging we are able to write down

(1.2.24)
$$\int_{0}^{T} u_{t}(x,t) \omega(t) dt - (L\varphi_{1})(x) = f(x) h_{1}(x), \qquad x \in \Omega.$$

On the other hand, we must take into account that f is a solution of (1.2.20), meaning

(1.2.25)
$$h_1(x) (A_1 f)(x) - (L\varphi)(x) = f(x) h_1(x), \quad x \in \Omega$$

From (1.2.24)-(1.2.25) it follows that the function $\varphi - \varphi_1$ is just a solution of the direct stationary boundary value problem for the Laplace operator

(1.2.26)
$$[L(\varphi - \varphi_1)](x) = 0, \quad x \in \Omega, \qquad (\varphi - \varphi_1)(x) = 0, \quad x \in \partial\Omega,$$

having only a trivial solution by the assumption imposed at the very beginning. Therefore, $\varphi_1 = \varphi$ almost everywhere in Ω and the inverse problem (1.2.14)-(1.2.17) is solvable. Thus, item (a) is completely proved.

Let us examine item (b) assuming that there exists a pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$ solving the inverse problem (1.2.14)-(1.2.17). Relation (1.2.14) implies that

(1.2.27)
$$\int_{0}^{T} u_{t}(x,t) \omega(t) dt - \int_{0}^{T} (Lu)(x,t) \omega(t) dt = f(x) h_{1}(x),$$

where $h_1(x) = \int_0^T h(x, \tau) \,\omega(\tau) \,d\tau$.

With the aid of the overdetermination condition (1.2.17) and relation (1.2.22) one can rewrite (1.2.27) as

(1.2.28)
$$\int_{0}^{T} u_{t}(x,t) \omega(t) dt + \varphi(x) h_{1}(x) = f(x) h_{1}(x).$$

Recalling the definition of the operator A_1 (see (1.2.19)) we conclude that (1.2.28) implies that the function f is a solution to equation (1.2.20), thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

The following result states under what sufficient conditions one can find a unique solution of the inverse problem at hand.

Theorem 1.2.2 Let the operator L comply with (1.1.15)-(1.1.16), $h, h_t \in L_{\infty}(Q_T)$ and let

$$\left|\int_{0}^{T} h(x,t) \,\omega(t) \,dt \right| \geq \delta > 0 \qquad (\delta \equiv \text{const}),$$

 $\omega \in L_2([0,T]), \varphi \in W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W_2^1}(\Omega)$. One assumes, in addition, that the Dirichlet problem (1.2.21) has a trivial solution only and the inequality holds:

$$(1.2.29)$$
 $m_1 < 1$,

$$m_{1} = \delta^{-1} \|\omega\|_{2,(0,T)} \cdot \|m_{2}\|_{2,(0,T)},$$

$$m_{2}(t) = \exp\{-\alpha t\} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} |h(x,0)|$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \exp\left\{-\alpha(t-\tau)\right\} \operatorname{ess\,sup} \left|h_{\tau}(\cdot,\tau)\right| d\tau,$$
$$\alpha = \left[\frac{\nu}{2c_{1}(\Omega)} - \left(\mu_{1} + \frac{1}{2\nu} \ \mu_{1}^{2}\right)\right],$$
$$\mu_{1} = \max\left\{\operatorname{ess\,sup} \left|C(x)\right|, \ \operatorname{ess\,sup} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} \ B_{i}^{2}(x)\right]^{1/2}\right\}$$

and $c_1(\Omega)$ is the constant from the Poincare-Friedrichs inequality (1.1.3). Then there exists a solution $u \in W^{2,1}_{2,0}(Q_T)$, $f \in L_2(\Omega)$ of the inverse problem (1.2.14)-(1.2.17), this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the following estimates are valid with constant c^* from (1.1.17):

(1.2.30)
$$||f||_{2,\Omega} \leq \frac{\delta^{-1}}{1-m_1} ||L\varphi||_{2,\Omega},$$

(1.2.31)
$$||u||_{2,Q_T}^{(2,1)} \leq \frac{c^* \delta^{-1}}{1-m_1} ||L\varphi||_{2,\Omega}$$

 $\times \left(\int_{0}^{T} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} |h(x,t)|^2 dt\right)^{1/2}.$

1.2. The linear inverse problem: recovering a source term

Proof We begin our proof by considering equation (1.2.20). A case in point is one useful remark that if (1.2.20) has a solution, then Theorem 1.2.1 will ensure the solvability of the inverse problem concerned.

We are going to show that for the linear operator A_1 the estimate

(1.2.32)
$$||A_1 f||_{2,\Omega} \le m_1 ||f||_{2,\Omega}, \qquad f \in L_2(\Omega)$$

is valid with constant m_1 of the form (1.2.29). Really, (1.2.19) is followed by

$$(1.2.33) \qquad ||A_1 f||_{2,\Omega} \leq \delta^{-1} ||\omega||_{2,(0,T)} \left(\int_0^T ||u_t(\cdot,t)||_{2,\Omega}^2 dt \right)^{1/2}$$

On the other hand, as $f \in L_2(\Omega)$, the system (1.2.14)–(1.2.16) turns out to be of the same type as the system (1.1.12)–(1.1.14), making it possible to apply Lemma 1.1.2 and estimate (1.1.39) in the form

$$|| u_t(\cdot, t) ||_{2,\Omega} \le m_2(t) || f ||_{2,\Omega}, \quad t \in [0, T],$$

where

$$m_{2}(t) = \exp \left\{-\alpha t\right\} \operatorname{ess sup} \left|h(x,0)\right|$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \exp \left\{-\alpha (t-\tau)\right\} \operatorname{ess sup} \left|h_{\tau}(\cdot,\tau)\right| d\tau,$$
$$\alpha = \left[\frac{\nu}{2c_{1}(\Omega)} - \left(\mu_{1} + \frac{1}{2\nu} \mu_{1}^{2}\right)\right],$$
$$\mu_{1} = \max \left\{\operatorname{ess sup} \left|C(x)\right|, \operatorname{ess sup} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}^{2}(x)\right]^{1/2}\right\}$$

and the constant $c_1(\Omega)$ is involved in the Poincare-Friedrichs inequality (1.1.3). Now the desired estimate (1.2.32) follows directly from the combination of (1.2.33) and the last inequality.

As $m_1 < 1$, the linear equation (1.2.20) has a unique solution with any function ψ from the space $L_2(\Omega)$ and, in particular, we might agree with $\psi = -L\varphi/h_1$, what means that (1.2.22) holds. If so, estimate (1.2.30) is certainly true. Therefore, Theorem 1.2.1 (see item (a)) implies the existence of a solution of the inverse problem (1.2.14)-(1.2.17). In conclusion it remains to prove the uniqueness for the inverse problem (1.2.14)-(1.2.17) solution found above. Assume to the contrary that there were two distinct sets $\{u_1, f_1\}$ and $\{u_2, f_2\}$, each of them being a solution of the inverse problem at hand. When this is the case, the function f_1 cannot coincide with f_2 , since their equality would immediately imply (due to the uniqueness theorem for the direct problem (1.1.12)-(1.1.14)) the equality between u_1 and u_2 .

Item (b) of Theorem 1.2.1 yields that either of the functions f_1 and f_2 gives a solution to equation (1.2.20). However, this disagrees with the uniqueness of the equation (1.2.20) solution stated before. Just for this reason the above assumption concerning the nonuniqueness of the inverse problem (1.2.14)-(1.2.17) solution fails to be true. Now estimate (1.2.31) is a direct implication of (1.1.17) and (1.2.30), so that we finish the proof of the theorem.

We now turn our attention to the inverse problem with the final overdetermination for the parabolic equation

- (1.2.34) $u_t(x,t) (Lu)(x,t) = f(x) h(x,t), \quad (x,t) \in Q_T,$
- (1.2.35) u(x,0) = 0, $x \in \Omega$,
- (1.2.36) u(x,t) = 0, $(x,t) \in S_T$,
- (1.2.37) $u(x,T) = \varphi(x), \qquad x \in \Omega.$

In such a setting we have at our disposal the operator L, the functions h and φ and the domain $Q_T = \Omega \times (0, T)$.

To facilitate understanding, we give a rigorous definition for a solution of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37).

Definition 1.2.2 A pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$ is said to be a generalized solution of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) if $u \in W_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T)$, $f \in L_2(\Omega)$ and all of the relations (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) occur.

We outline briefly further treatment of the inverse problem under consideration. More a detailed exposition of final overdetermination will appear in Chapter 4 for the system of Navier-Stokes equations.

Assume that the coefficients of the operator L meet conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) and

(1.2.38)
$$h, h_t \in L_{\infty}(Q_T)$$
, $|h(x,T)| \ge \delta > 0$ for $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ($\delta \equiv \text{const}$).

Under this agreement, the collection of relations (1.2.34)-(1.2.36) can be treated as a direct problem by taking an arbitrary function f from the space

 $L_2(\Omega)$ and substituting it into equation (1.2.34). According to Theorem 1.1.5 there exists a unique solution $u \in W^{2,1}_{2,0}(Q_T)$ of the direct problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.36) with the extra smoothness property:

$$u(\cdot,t) \in C([0,T]; W_2^2(\Omega))$$

and

$$u_t(\cdot,t) \in C([0,T]; L_2(\Omega))$$
.

For further analysis we refer to the linear operator

$$A_2: L_2(\Omega) \mapsto L_2(\Omega)$$

acting in accordance with the rule

(1.2.39)
$$(A_2 f)(x) = \frac{1}{h(x,T)} u_t(x,T), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

and the linear operator equation of the second kind for the function f over the space $L_2(\Omega)$:

(1.2.40)
$$f = A_2 f + \psi$$
,

where a known function ψ belongs to the space $L_2(\Omega)$.

Theorem 1.2.3 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) and let h, $h_t \in L_{\infty}(Q_T)$, $|h(x,T)| \geq \delta > 0$ for $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ($\delta \equiv \text{const}$), $\varphi \in W_2^2(\Omega) \cap W_2^1(\Omega)$. Assuming that the Dirichlet problem (1.2.21) can have a trivial solution only, set

(1.2.41)
$$\psi(x) = -\frac{1}{h(x,T)} (L\varphi)(x).$$

Then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) if the linear equation (1.2.40) is solvable, then so is the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37);
- (b) if there exists a solution $\{u, f\}$ of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37), then the function f involved gives a solution to the linear equation (1.2.40).

Theorem 1.2.3 can be proved in the same manner as we carry out the proof of Theorem 1.2.1 of the present chapter or that of Theorem 4.2.1 from Chapter 4.

So, the question of the inverse problem solvability is closely connected with careful analysis of equation (1.2.40) of the second kind. By exactly the same reasoning as in the case of inequality (1.2.32) we deduce that the operator A_2 admits the estimate

(1.2.42)
$$||A_2 f||_{2,\Omega} \leq m_3 ||f||_{2,\Omega}, \qquad f \in L_2(\Omega),$$

where

$$m_{3} = \frac{1}{\delta} \left\{ \exp\left\{-\alpha T\right\} \operatorname{ess\,sup} |h(x,0)| + \int_{0}^{T} \exp\left\{-\alpha (T-\tau)\right\} \operatorname{ess\,sup} |h_{t}(\cdot,t)| \, dt \right\},$$
$$\alpha = \left[\frac{\nu}{2 \, c_{1}(\Omega)} - \left(\mu_{1} + \frac{1}{2 \, \nu} \, \mu_{1}^{2}\right)\right],$$
$$\mu_{1} = \max\left\{ \operatorname{ess\,sup} |C(x)|, \, \operatorname{ess\,sup} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}^{2}(x)\right]^{1/2}\right\}$$

and $c_1(\Omega)$ is the constant from the Poincare-Friedrichs inequality (1.1.3).

After that, applying estimate (1.2.42) and the fixed point principle to the linear operator A_2 with the subsequent reference to Theorem 1.2.3 we obtain an important result.

Theorem 1.2.4 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) and let $h, h_t \in L_{\infty}(Q_T), |h(x,T)| \ge \delta > 0$ for $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ($\delta \equiv \text{const}$) and

$$\varphi \in W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W}_2^1(\Omega)$$
.

One assumes, in addition, that the Dirichlet problem (1.2.21) has a trivial solution only. If the inequality

$$(1.2.43)$$
 $m_3 < 1$

is valid with constant m_3 arising from (1.2.42), then there exists a solution $u \in W_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T)$, $f \in L_2(\Omega)$ of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37), this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the following estimates

(1.2.44)
$$||f||_{2,\Omega} \leq \frac{\delta^{-1}}{1-m_3} ||L\varphi||_{2,\Omega},$$

(1.2.45)
$$\| u \|_{2,Q_T}^{(2,1)} \leq \frac{c^* \delta^{-1}}{1 - m_3} \| L\varphi \|_{2,\Omega}$$

$$\times \left(\int\limits_{0}^{T} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} \mid h(x,t) \mid^{2} dt\right)^{1/2}$$

are valid with constant c^* from (1.1.17).

Theorem 1.2.4 can be proved in a similar way as we did in the proof of Theorem 1.2.2.

We now present some remarks and examples illustrating the results obtained.

Remark 1.2.1 In dealing with the Laplace operator

$$(Lu)(x,t) \equiv \Delta u(x,t) \equiv \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^2 u(x,t)}{\partial x_i^2}$$

we assume that the function h depending only on t satisfies the conditions

$$h, h' \in C[0,T], \quad h(t), \quad h'(t) \ge 0, \quad h(T) \ne 0.$$

Plain calculations give

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{2 c_1(\Omega)} > 0$$
 and $m_3 = 1 - \tilde{m}_3$,

where

$$\tilde{m}_3 = \frac{1}{\alpha h(T)} \int_0^T h(t) \exp\left\{-\alpha \left(T-t\right)\right\} dt.$$

Since $m_3 > 0$, the inequality $\tilde{m}_3 < 1$ holds true. On the other hand, $\tilde{m}_3 > 0$ for an arbitrary function $h(t) \ge 0$ with $h(T) \ne 0$. Therefore, $0 < m_3 < 1$ for any T > 0 and, in that case, Theorem 1.2.4 turns out to be of global character and asserts the unique solvability for any T, $0 < T < \infty$.

Example 1.2.1 Let us show how one can adapt the Fourier method of separation of variables in solving inverse problems with the final overdetermination. With this aim, we now turn to the inverse problem of recovering the functions u(x) and f(x) from the set of relations

$$\begin{array}{ll} (1.2.46) & u_t(x,t) = u_{xx}(x,t) + f(x) \,, & 0 < x < \pi \,, & 0 < t < T \,, \\ (1.2.47) & u(x,0) = 0 \,, & 0 < x < \pi \,, \\ (1.2.48) & u(0,t) = u(\pi,t) = 0 \,, & 0 \le t \le T \,, \\ (1.2.49) & u(x,T) = \varphi(x) \,, & 0 < x < \pi \,, \end{array}$$

keeping $\varphi \in W_2^2(0,1)$ with the boundary values

$$\varphi(0) = \varphi(\pi) = 0.$$

It is worth noting here that in complete agreement with Remark 1.2.1 the inverse problem at hand has a unique solution for any T, $0 < T < \infty$. Following the standard scheme of separating variables with respect to the system (1.2.46)-(1.2.48) we arrive at

(1.2.50)
$$u(x,t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} f_{k} \exp\left\{-k^{2}(t-\tau)\right\} d\tau \sin kx$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_{k} k^{-2} \left[1 - \exp\left\{-k^{2}t\right\}\right] \sin kx ,$$

where

$$f_k = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi} f(x) \sin kx \ dx$$

The system $\{X_k(x) = \sin kx\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ and the sequence $\{\lambda_k = k^2\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ are found as the eigenfunctions and the eigenvalues of the Sturm-Liouville operator associated with the spectral problem

$$(1.2.51) \quad X_k''(x) + \lambda_k X(x) = 0, \quad 0 < x < \pi, \qquad X_k(0) = X_k(\pi) = 0.$$

Being a basis for the space $L_2(0, \pi)$, the system $\{\sin kx\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is orthogonal and complete in it. In this view, it is reasonable to look for the **Fourier** coefficients f_k of the unknown function f with respect to the system

1.2. The linear inverse problem: recovering a source term

 $\{\sin kx\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$. Subsequent calculations will be done formally by reasonings substantiated. Substituting (1.2.50) into (1.2.49) yields

(1.2.52)
$$\varphi(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_k k^{-2} \left(1 - \exp\left\{ -k^2 T \right\} \right) \sin kx.$$

The expansion in the Fourier series of the function φ with respect to the basis $\{\sin kx\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is as follows:

$$\varphi(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \varphi_k \sin kx$$
, $\varphi_k = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi} \varphi(x) \sin kx \, dx$.

Equating the corresponding coefficients we thus have

(1.2.53)
$$f_k = k^2 \left(1 - \exp\left\{-k^2 T\right\}\right)^{-1} \varphi_k,$$

thereby justifying that the function f in question can be expressed explicitly:

(1.2.54)
$$f(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^2 \left(1 - \exp\left\{-k^2 T\right\}\right)^{-1} \varphi_k \sin kx.$$

On account of (1.2.50) and (1.2.53) we conclude that this procedure works with another unknown function u. The outcome of this is

(1.2.55)
$$u(x,t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - \exp\{-k^2 T\})^{-1} (1 - \exp\{-k^2 t\}) \varphi_k \sin kx$$
.

The expansion (1.2.54) needs investigation. As far as the underlying orthogonal system is complete, **Parseval's equation** takes the form

$$\|f\|_{2,\Omega}^2 = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2}{\pi} k^4 (1 - \exp\{-k^2 T\})^{-2} \varphi_k^2.$$

Therefore, for the existence of a solution f in the space $L_2(0, \pi)$ it is necessary to have at your disposal a function φ such that the series on the right-hand side of the preceding equality would be convergent. With the relation

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2}{\pi} k^4 \left(1 - \exp\left\{-k^2 T\right\}\right)^{-2} \varphi_k^2 \le \frac{2}{\pi} \left(1 - \exp\left\{-T\right\}\right)^{-2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^4 \varphi_k^2$$

in view, the convergence of the series in (1.2.54) in the space $L_2(0, \pi)$ depends on how well the Fourier coefficients of the function φ behave when $k \to +\infty$. A similar remark concerns the character of convergence in (1.2.55). Special investigations of (1.2.54) and (1.2.55) can be conducted in the framework of the general theory of Fourier series. If, in particular, $\varphi(x) = \sin x$, then (1.2.54)-(1.2.55) obviously imply that

$$u(x,t) = (1 - \exp\{-T\})^{-1} (1 - \exp\{-t\})^{-1} \sin x,$$
$$f(x) = (1 - \exp\{-T\})^{-1} \sin x.$$

We would like to give a simple, from a mathematical point of view, example illustrating one interesting property of the inverse problem with the final overdetermination. Theorem 1.2.4, generally speaking, does not guarantee any global result for inverse problems of the type (1.2.34)-(1.2.37). Because the original assumptions include inequality (1.2.43) this theorem allows us to establish a local result only. However, the forthcoming example will demonstrate that the locality here happens to be of the so-called "inverse" character in comparison with that of direct problems. That is to say, the final observation moment T cannot be made as small (close to zero) as we like and vice versa the moment T can be taken at any level exceeding a certain fixed value T^* expressed in terms of input data.

Example 1.2.2 Being concerned with the functions h and φ , we are interested in the **one-dimensional inverse problem** for the heat conduction equation

$$u_t(x,t) = 2u_{xx}(x,t) + f(x)h(x,t), \qquad x \in (0, 1), \quad t \in (0, T),$$

$$u(x,0) = 0, \qquad \qquad x \in (0, 1),$$

$$u(0,t) = u(1,t) = 0, \qquad \qquad t \in [0, T],$$

$$u(x,T) = \varphi(x), \qquad \qquad x \in (0, 1).$$

Let h(x,t) = t + x and φ be an arbitrary function with the necessary smoothness and compatibility. It is required to indicate special cases in which Theorem 1.2.4 will quarantee the unique solvability of (1.2.56). Direct calculations of m_3 from (1.2.42) show that

$$m_3 = T^{-1}.$$

The inverse problem (1.2.56) will meet condition (1.2.43) if

(1.2.57) T > 1.

1.2. The linear inverse problem: recovering a source term

So, according to Theorem 1.2.4 the inverse problem (1.2.56) has a unique solution if the final moment of observation T satisfies (1.2.57). Just this inequality is aimed to substantiate why the final measurement of the function u should be taken at any moment T exceeding the fixed value $T^* = 1$. In the physical language, this is a way of saying that for the unique recovery of the coefficient f(x) in solving the inverse problem (1.2.56) in the framework of Theorem 1.2.4 it should be recommended to avoid the final measuring "immediately after" the initial (starting) moment of observation (monitoring).

In the above example we obtain a natural, from our standpoint, result concerning the character of locality in the inverse problem with the final overdetermination. Indeed, assume that there exists a certain moment \tilde{T} , at which we are able to solve the inverse problem (1.2.56) and thereby recover uniquely the coefficient f(x) with the use of the final value $u(x, \tilde{T})$. Because the source term f(x)h(x,t) is known, other ideas are connected with the transition to the related direct problem with the value $u(x, \tilde{T})$ as an initial condition and the determination of the function u(x, t) at any subsequent moment $t > \tilde{T}$. Summarizing, in context of the theory of inverse problems the principal interest here lies in a possibility to take the moment \tilde{T} as small as we like rather than as large as we like.

In subsequent investigations we will establish other sufficient conditions for the unique solvability of the inverse problem with the final overdetermination. In contrast to Theorem 1.2.4 the results stated below will guarantee the global existence and uniqueness of the solution.

Among other things, we will be sure that the inverse problem (1.2.56) has, in fact, a unique solution $\{u, f\}$ for any $T \in (0, +\infty)$ (see Theorem 1.3.5 below). However, the success of obtaining this result will depend on how well we motivate specific properties of the parabolic equation solutions established in Theorem 1.1.8 and Lemmas 1.1.4-1.1.5.

1.3 The linear inverse problem: the Fredholm solvability

This section places special emphasis on one interesting property of the inverse problem (1.2.2)-(1.2.5) that is related to its Fredholm character. A case in point is that the events may happen in which the uniqueness theorem implies the theorem of the solution existence. We outline further general scheme by considering the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) with the final overdetermination. In Theorem 1.2.3 we have proved that the solvability of this inverse problem follows from that of the operator equation (1.2.40) of the second kind and vice versa, so there is some reason to be concerned about this. In subsequent studies the linear operator specified

by (1.2.39) comes first. This type of situation is covered by the following assertion.

Theorem 1.3.1 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) and let $h, h_t \in L_{\infty}(Q_T), |h(x,T)| \geq \delta > 0$ for $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ($\delta \equiv \text{const}$). Then the operator A_2 is completely continuous on $L_2(\Omega)$.

Proof First of all we describe one feature of the operator A_2 emerging from Lemmas 1.1.1 and 1.1.2. As usual, this amounts to considering an arbitrary function f from the space $L_2(\Omega)$ to be fixed and substituting it into (1.2.34). Such a trick permits us to demonstrate that the system (1.2.34)-(1.2.36) is of the same type as the system (1.1.12)-(1.1.14). When solving problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.36) in the framework of Theorem 1.1.5 one finds in passing a unique function $u \in W_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_r)$ corresponding to the function having been fixed above. Lemma 1.1.2 implies that

$$u_t \in C([0,T]; L_2(\Omega)) \bigcap C([\varepsilon,T]; \check{W}_2^1(\Omega)), \qquad 0 < \varepsilon < T.$$

Therefore, the operator A_2 specified by (1.2.39) acts, in fact, from $L_2(\Omega)$ into $\hat{W}_2^1(\Omega)$.

In the estimation of $A_2(f)$ in the $\mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega)$ -norm we make use of inequality (1.1.42) taking in terms of the system (1.2.34)-(1.2.36) the form

$$(1.3.1) \quad || u_{tx}(\cdot, T) ||_{2,\Omega}^{2} \leq c_{5}(T) \left[|| f h(\cdot, 0) ||_{2,\Omega}^{2} + c_{6}(T) \int_{0}^{T} || f h_{t}(\cdot, t) ||_{2,\Omega}^{2} dt \right], \quad \forall f \in L_{2}(\Omega),$$

where c_5 and c_6 are the same as in (1.1.42) and do not depend on f. Combination of relations (1.2.39) and (1.3.1) gives the estimate

(1.3.2)
$$||(A_2 f)_x||_{2,\Omega} \leq c_7 ||f||_{2,\Omega}, \quad \forall f \in L_2(\Omega),$$

where

$$c_{7} = \left\{ c_{5}(T) \left[\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} \mid h(x,0) \mid^{2} + c_{6}(T) \int_{0}^{T} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} \mid h_{t}(x,t) \mid^{2} dt \right] \right\}^{1/2}.$$

Note that estimate (1.3.2) is valid for any function f from the space $L_2(\Omega)$ and the constant c_7 is independent of f.

1.3. The linear inverse problem: the Fredholm solvability

As can readily be observed, estimate (1.3.2) may be of help in establishing that the linear operator A_2 is completely continuous on $L_2(\Omega)$. Indeed, let \mathcal{D} be a bounded set of the space $L_2(\Omega)$. By virtue of the properties of the operator A_2 and estimate (1.3.2) the set $A_2(\mathcal{D})$ belongs to $\overset{\circ}{W}_2^1(\Omega)$ and is bounded in $\overset{\circ}{W}_2^1(\Omega)$. In that case Rellich's theorem (Theorem 1.1.2) implies that the set $A_2(\mathcal{D})$ is compact in the space $L_2(\Omega)$. In so doing any bounded set of the space $L_2(\Omega)$ is mapped onto a set which is compact in $L_2(\Omega)$. By definition, the operator A_2 is completely continuous on $L_2(\Omega)$ and the theorem is proved.

Corollary 1.3.1 Under the conditions of Theorem 1.3.1 the following Fredholm alternative is valid for equation (1.2.40): either a solution to equation (1.2.40) exists and is unique for any function ψ from the space $L_2(\Omega)$ or the homogeneous equation

(1.3.3)
$$f = A_2 f$$

can have a nontrivial solution.

The result cited above states, in particular, that if the homogeneous equation (1.3.3) has a trivial solution only, then equation (1.2.40) is uniquely solvable for any $\psi \in L_2(\Omega)$. In other words, Corollary 1.3.1 asserts that for (1.2.40) the uniqueness theorem implies the existence one. With regard to the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) we establish the following theorem.

Theorem 1.3.2 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) and let h, $h_t \in L_{\infty}(Q_T)$, $|h(x,T)| \ge \delta > 0$ for $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ($\delta \equiv \text{const}$),

$$\varphi \in W_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega)$$

If the Dirichlet problem (1.2.21) has a trivial solution only, then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) if the linear homogeneous equation (1.3.3) has a trivial solution only, then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions;
- (b) if the uniqueness theorem holds for the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37), then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions.

,

Proof We proceed to prove item (a). Let (1.3.3) have a trivial solution only. By Corollary 1.3.1 there exists a solution to the nonhomogeneous equation (1.2.40) for any $\psi \in L_2(\Omega)$ (and, in particular, for ψ of the form (1.2.41)) and this solution is unique. The existence of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) solution follows now from Theorem 1.2.3 and it remains to show only its uniqueness. Assume to the contrary that there were two distinct solutions $\{u_1, f_1\}$ and $\{u_2, f_2\}$ of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37). It is clear that f_1 cannot be equal to f_2 , since their coincidence would immediately imply the equality between u_1 and u_2 by the uniqueness theorem for the direct problem of the type (1.2.34)-(1.2.36). According to item (b) of Theorem 1.2.3 the function $f_1 - f_2$ is just a nontrivial solution to the homogeneous equation (1.3.3). But this disagrees with the initial assumption. Thus, item (a) is completely proved.

We proceed to examine item (b). Let the uniqueness theorem hold for the the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37). This means that the homogeneous inverse problem

(1.3.4) $u_t(x,t) - (Lu)(x,t) = f(x) h(x,t), \quad (x,t) \in Q_T,$

(1.3.5)
$$u(x,0) = 0$$
, $x \in \Omega$,

(1.3.6)
$$u(x,t) = 0$$
, $(x,t) \in S_T$

(1.3.7)
$$u(x,T) = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

might have a trivial solution only. Obviously, the homogeneous equation (1.3.3) is associated with the inverse problem (1.3.4)-(1.3.7) in the framework of Theorem 1.2.3.

Let us show that (1.3.3) can have a trivial solution only. On the contrary, let $f \in L_2(\Omega)$ be a nontrivial solution to (1.3.3). Substituting f into (1.3.4) and solving the direct problem (1.3.4)-(1.3.6) by appeal to Theorem 1.1.5, we can recover a function $u \in W_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T)$ with the extra smoothness property indicated in Lemma 1.1.2. It is straightforward to verify that the function u satisfies also the overdetermination condition (1.3.7) by a simple observation that equation (1.3.4) implies that

$$u_t(x,T) - (Lu)(x,T) = f(x) h(x,T), \qquad (x,t) \in \Omega.$$

On the other hand, the function f is subject to relation (1.3.3), that is,

$$h(x,T)(A_2 f)(x) = f(x) h(x,T), \qquad (x,t) \in \Omega$$

From definition (1.2.39) of the operator A_2 , two preceding relations in combination with the boundary condition (1.3.6) it follows that the function u(x, T) solves the Dirichlet problem

$$L[u(x,T)] = 0, \quad x \in \Omega; \qquad u(x,T) = 0, \quad x \in \partial\Omega;$$

1.3. The linear inverse problem: the Fredholm solvability

which possesses only a trivial solution under the conditions of the theorem. Therefore, u(x,T) = 0 for $x \in \Omega$ and the pair $\{u, f\}$ thus obtained is just a nontrivial solution of the inverse problem (1.3.4)–(1.3.7). But this contradicts one of the conditions of item (b) concerning the uniqueness theorem. Thus, the very assumption about the existence of a nontrivial solution to the homogeneous equation (1.3.3) fails to be true. Finally, equation (1.3.3) can have a trivial solution only and the assertion of item (b) follows from the assertion of item (a). Thus, we arrive at the statement of the theorem.

The result thus obtained gives a hint that the inverse problem with the final overdetermination is of the Fredholm character. Before placing the corresponding alternative, we are going to show that within the framework of proving the **Fredholm solvability** it is possible to get rid of the triviality of the Dirichlet problem (1.2.21) solution. In preparation for this, one should "shift" the spectrum of the operator L. This is acceptable if we assume that conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) are still valid for the operator L. Under this agreement there always exists a real number λ such that the stationary problem

(1.3.8)
$$L\chi(x) + \lambda\chi(x) = 0, \quad x \in \Omega; \qquad \chi(x) = 0, \quad x \in \partial\Omega;$$

has a trivial solution only. Via the transform

$$u(x,t) = \exp\left\{-\lambda t\right\} v(x,t)$$

we establish that the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) is equivalent to the following one:

(1.3.9)
$$v_t(x,t) - (Lv)(x,t) - \lambda v(x,t)$$

 $=f(x)\,\exp\left\{\lambda t
ight\}h(x,t)\,,\quad (x,t)\in Q_T\,,$

(1.3.10)
$$v(x,0) = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

(1.3.11)
$$v(x,t) = 0,$$
 $(x,t) \in S_T,$

(1.3.12) $v(x,T) = \exp\left\{\lambda T\right\}\varphi(x), \qquad x \in \Omega.$

Arguing as in specifying the operator A_2 we refer to a linear operator with the values

(1.3.13)
$$(\widetilde{A}_2 f)(x) = \frac{\exp\{-\lambda T\}}{h(x,T)} v_t(x,T), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

and consider the related linear equation of the second kind

(1.3.14)
$$f = \tilde{A}_2 f + \tilde{\psi}$$
, where $\tilde{\psi}(x) = -\frac{1}{h(x,T)} \left[(L\varphi)(x) + \lambda \varphi(x) \right]$.

For the inverse problem (1.3.9)-(1.3.12) and equation (1.3.14) it is possible to obtain a similar result as in Theorem 1.2.3 without the need for the triviality of the unique solution of the corresponding stationary direct problem (1.3.8). The well-founded choice of the parameter λ assures us of the validity of this property. By analogy with Theorem 1.3.1 the linear operator \tilde{A}_2 turns out to be compact. By exactly the same reasoning as in Theorem 1.3.2 we introduce a preliminary lemma.

Lemma 1.3.1 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) and let h, $h_t \in L_{\infty}(Q_T)$, $|h(x,T)| \geq \delta > 0$ for $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ($\delta \equiv \text{const}$) and

$$\varphi \in W_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \check{W}_2^1(\Omega)$$
.

Then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) if the linear equation $f = \tilde{A}_2 f$ has a trivial solution only, there exists a solution of the inverse problem (1.3.9)-(1.3.12) and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions;
- (b) if the uniqueness theorem holds for the inverse problem (1.3.9)-(1.3.12), there exists a solution of the inverse problem (1.3.9)-(1.3.12) and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions.

It is worth emphasizing once again that the inverse problems (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) and (1.3.9)-(1.3.12) are equivalent to each other from the standpoint of existence and uniqueness. With this equivalence in view, Lemma 1.3.1 permits us to prove the assertion of Theorem 1.3.2 once we get rid of the triviality of the inverse problem (1.2.21) solution after the appropriate "shift" of the spectrum of the operator L. This profound result is formulated below as an alternative.

Theorem 1.3.3 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)–(1.1.16) and let $h, h_t \in L_{\infty}(Q_T), |h(x,T)| \geq \delta > 0$ for $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ($\delta \equiv \text{const}$) and

$$\varphi \in W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \check{W}_2^1(\Omega)$$
.

Then the following alternative is true: either a solution of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) exists and is unique or the homogeneous inverse problem (1.3.4)-(1.3.7) has a nontrivial solution.

In other words, this assertion says that under a certain smoothness of input data (see Theorem 1.3.3) of the inverse problem with the final overdetermination the uniqueness theorem implies the existence one. **Remark 1.3.1** A similar alternative remains valid for the inverse problem of recovering the source function coefficient in the general setting (1.2.2)-(1.2.5) (see Prilepko and Kostin (1992a)).

We now raise the question of the solvability of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) with the final overdetermination in Hölder's classes.

Definition 1.3.1 A pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$ is said to be a classical solution of the inverse problem (1.2.34)–(1.2.37) if $u \in C^{2+\alpha,1+\alpha/2}(\bar{Q}_T)$, $f \in C^{\alpha}(\bar{\Omega})$ and all of the relations (1.2.34)–(1.2.37) occur.

In subsequent arguments the boundary $\partial\Omega$ happens to be of class $C^{2+\alpha}$, $0 < \alpha < 1$, and the coefficients of the uniformly elliptic operator L from (1.1.15) meet the smoothness requirements

(1.3.15)
$$A_{ij}, \ \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} A_{ij}, \ B_i, \ C \in C^{\alpha}(\bar{\Omega}).$$

Also, the compatibility conditions

(1.3.16)
$$\varphi(x) = 0$$
, $h(x, 0) \cdot (L\varphi)(x) = 0$, $x \in \partial \Omega$,

are imposed. By the way, the second relation is fulfilled if, for example, $\varphi \in C^{2+\alpha}(\overline{\Omega})$ and h(x,0) = 0 for all $x \in \partial \Omega$.

The study of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) in Hölder's classes can be carried out in just the same way as we did in the consideration of Sobolev's spaces. In this line, we obtain the following result.

Theorem 1.3.4 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15) and (1.3.8) and let $h, h_t \in C^{\alpha,\alpha/2}(\bar{Q}_T), |h(x,T)| \geq \delta > 0$ for $x \in \bar{\Omega}$ ($\delta \equiv \text{const}$), $\varphi \in C^{2+\alpha}(\bar{\Omega})$. Under the compatibility conditions (1.3.16) the following alternative is true: either a solution in the sense of Definition 1.3.1 of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) exists and is unique or the homogeneous inverse problem (1.3.4)-(1.3.7) has a nontrivial solution.

We should focus the reader's attention on one principal case where one can prove the global theorem of uniqueness (and hence of existence) for the inverse problem with the final overdetermination. Along with the assumptions of Theorem 1.3.4 we require that

(1.3.17)
$$h(x,t), h_t(x,t) \ge 0$$
 for $(x,t) \in Q_T, \quad C(x) \le 0, \quad x \in \Omega.$

Returning to the homogeneous inverse problem (1.3.4)-(1.3.7) we assume that there exists a nontrivial solution

$$u \in C^{2+\alpha, 1+\alpha/2}(\bar{Q}_T), \qquad f \in C^{\alpha}(\bar{\Omega}),$$

in which the function f involved cannot be identically equal to zero, since otherwise the uniqueness theorem related to the direct problem for parabolic equations would immediately imply the same property for the function u.

It is customary to introduce the well-established representation for the function f

(1.3.18)
$$f(x) = f^+(x) - f^-(x),$$

where

$$f^+(x) = \max\{0, f(x)\}\$$

and

$$f^{-}(x) = \max\{0, -f(x)\}$$

Let us substitute into the system (1.3.4) in place of f, first, the function f^+ and, second, the function f^- . When solving the direct problem (1.3.4)-(1.3.6) in either of these cases, we denote by u_1 and u_2 the solutions of (1.3.4)-(1.3.6) with the right-hand sides $f^+(x) h(x,t)$ and $f^-(x) h(x,t)$, respectively. Via the transform $f = f^+ - f^-$ we deduce by the linearity of the operator L and the uniqueness of the solution of (1.3.4)-(1.3.6) that

(1.3.19)
$$u(x,t) = u_1(x,t) - u_2(x,t), \quad (x,t) \in Q_T.$$

In addition to (1.3.4)-(1.3.6), the function u also satisfies (1.3.7). With this relation in view, we deduce from (1.3.7) and (1.3.19) that

(1.3.20)
$$u_1(x,t) = u_2(x,t) \equiv \mu(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

where the function μ is introduced as a common notation for the final values of the functions u_1 and u_2 . This provides reason enough for decision-making that several relations take place for i = 1, 2:

$$\begin{array}{ll} (1.3.21) & (u_i)_t(x,t) - (Lu_i)(x,t) = f^{\pm}(x) \, h(x,t) \,, & (x,t) \in Q_T \,, \\ (1.3.22) & u_i(x,0) = 0 \,, & x \in \Omega \,, \\ (1.3.23) & u_i(x,t) = 0 \,, & (x,t) \in S_T \,. \end{array}$$

In addition to the conditions imposed above, the solutions of (1.3.21)–(1.3.23) must satisfy (1.3.20).

It is clear that the functions f^+ and f^- cannot be identically equal to zero simultaneously. In this context, it is of interest three possible cases. Special investigations will be done separately.

48

Case 1. Let $f^+(x) \neq 0$ and $f^-(x) \equiv 0$. In that case $u_2(x,t) \equiv 0$ in Q_T and (1.3.20) implies that

(1.3.24)
$$u_1(x,T) = 0, \quad x \in \Omega.$$

On the other hand, since $f^+(x) h(x,t) \ge 0$ and $f^+h \not\equiv 0$ in Q_T , on account of Lemma 1.1.5 for $x \in \Omega$ we would have $u_1(x,T) > 0$, violating (1.3.24). For this reason case 1 must be excluded from further consideration.

Case 2. Let $f^-(x) \not\equiv 0$ and $f^+(x) \equiv 0$. By the linearity of the homogeneous inverse problem (1.3.4)-(1.3.7) that case reduces to the preceding.

Case 3. Suppose that f^+ and f^- both are not identically equal to zero. Observe that the functions $v_i = (u_i)_i$, i = 1, 2, give solutions of the direct problems

$$\begin{array}{ll} (1.3.25) & (v_i)_t(x,t) - (Lv_i)(x,t) = f^{\pm}(x) h_t(x,t) \,, & (x,t) \in Q_T \,, \\ (1.3.26) & v_i(x,0) = f^{\pm}(x) h(x,0) \,, & x \in \Omega \,, \\ (1.3.27) & v_i(x,t) = 0 \,, & (x,t) \in S_T \,, \end{array}$$

and in so doing the relations

(1.3.28)
$$v_i(x,T) = (L\mu)(x) + f^{\pm}(x)h(x,T), \qquad x \in \Omega, \ i = 1, 2,$$

occur. Let h and h_t belong to the space $C^{\alpha, \alpha/2}(\bar{Q}_T)$. Then by the Newton-Leibniz formula we can write

$$f^{\pm}(x) h(x,T) = f^{\pm}(x) h(x,0) + \int_{0}^{T} f^{\pm}(x) h_{t}(x,t) dt$$

With this relation established, one can verify that the right-hand side of equation (1.3.25) and the right-hand side of the initial condition (1.3.26) are not identically equal to zero simultaneously. Indeed, let

$$f^{\pm}(x) h(x,0) \equiv 0$$

 and

$$f^{\pm}(x)h_t(x,0)\equiv 0$$

simultaneously. Then the Newton-Leibniz formula implies that

$$f^{\pm}(x) h(x,T) \equiv 0$$

in Ω . However, neither f^+ nor f^- is identically equal to zero. Then $h(x,T) \equiv 0$ in Ω , violating one of the conditions of the theorem $|h(x,T)| \geq \delta > 0$.

After this remark we can apply Lemma 1.1.5 to the system (1.3.25)-(1.3.27) to derive the inequality

$$v_i(x,T) > 0$$
, $x \in \Omega$, $i = 1, 2$.

Let $x_0 \in \Omega$ be a maximum point of the function μ . Then $(L\mu)(x_0) \leq 0$ and, in view of (1.3.28), the inequality $f^{\pm}(x_0) > 0$ should be valid. Therefore,

$$f^+(x_0) f^-(x_0) \neq 0,$$

which is not consistent with the fact that $f^+(x) f^-(x) = 0$ for $x \in \Omega$. The contradiction obtained shows that the assumption about the existence of a nontrivial solution of the inverse problem (1.3.4)-(1.3.7) fails to be true and, therefore, the homogeneous inverse problem (1.3.4)-(1.3.7) has a trivial solution only. By virtue of the alternative from Theorem 1.3.4 another conclusion can be drawn concerning the solvability of the inverse problem under consideration.

Theorem 1.3.5 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15) and (1.3.15)and let the coefficient $C(x) \leq 0$ for $x \in \Omega$. One assumes, in addition, that $h, h_t \in C^{\alpha, \alpha/2}(\bar{Q}_T), h(x,t) \geq 0$ and $h_t(x,t) \geq 0$ for $(x,t) \in Q_T$, $h(x,T) \geq \delta > 0$ for $x \in \bar{\Omega}$ ($\delta \equiv \text{const}$), $\varphi \in C^{2+\alpha}(\bar{\Omega})$. Under the compatibility conditions (1.3.16) the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) possesses a solution

$$u \in C^{2+\alpha, 1+\alpha/2}(\bar{Q}_T), \qquad f \in C^{\alpha}(\bar{\Omega})$$

and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions.

Recall how we pursued a detailed exploration of the initial inverse problem (1.2.2)-(1.2.5) in Sobolev's spaces (see Definition 1.2.2) by relating the values r and p as

(1.3.29)
$$r = 2 \qquad \text{for} \qquad p = \infty,$$
$$r = \frac{2p}{p-2} \qquad \text{for} \qquad p \in (2, \infty),$$
$$r = \infty \qquad \text{for} \qquad p = 2.$$

As we have mentioned above, the question of the uniqueness of the inverse problem (1.2.2)-(1.2.4) solution is equivalent to decision-making whether the corresponding homogeneous inverse problem with g = b = 0 in Q_T and $a = \varphi = 0$ in Ω possesses a trivial solution only. In the case of the Dirichlet boundary data and the final overdetermination the answer to the latter is provided by the following proposition.

50

Theorem 1.3.6 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) and let the coefficient $C(x) \leq 0$ for $x \in \Omega$. One assumes, in addition, that h, $h_t \in L_{r,2}(Q_T)$, h(x,T) > 0 for $x \in \Omega$; $h(x,t) \geq 0$ and $h_t(x,t) \geq 0$ for $(x,t) \in Q_T$. Suppose that a pair of the functions $u \in W^{2,1}_{2,0}(Q_T)$ and $f \in L_p(\Omega)$ with r and p related by (1.2.39) gives a solution of the homogeneous inverse problem (1.3.4)-(1.3.7). Then u = 0 and f = 0 almost everywhere in Q_T and Ω , respectively.

Proof On the contrary, let $f \not\equiv 0$ and $u \not\equiv 0$. As before, it is customary to introduce the new functions

$$f^+(x) = \max\{0, f(x)\}\$$

and

$$f^{-}(x) = \max \{0, -f(x)\}.$$

Then, obviously, $f^{\pm} \in L_p(\Omega)$ and hf^{\pm} , $h_t f^{\pm} \in L_2(Q_T)$. When solving the direct problems (1.3.21)-(1.3.23) with the right-hand sides hf^+ and hf^- , respectively, as in Theorem 1.3.5, the functions u_1 and u_2 emerge as their unique solutions. Via the transform $f = f^+ - f^-$ we deduce by the linearity of the operator L and the uniqueness of the direct problem solution (compare (1.3.4)-(1.3.6) and (1.3.21)-(1.3.23)) that $u = u_1 - u_2$. Since the function u satisfies the condition of the final overdetermination (1.3.7), the values of the functions u_1 and u_2 coincide at the final moment t = T:

$$u_1(x,T) = u_2(x,T) \equiv \mu(x),$$

where μ is a known function. Due to the differential properties of the direct problem solution (see Lemma 1.1.2) the function μ belongs to the class $W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W}_2^1(\Omega)$. From such reasoning it seems clear that the functions f^+ and f^- cannot be identically equal to zero in Ω simultaneously. In this context, it is necessary to analyze three possible cases separately.

Case 1. Let $f^+(x) \not\equiv 0$ and $f^-(x) \equiv 0$ in Ω . Then $u_2(x,t) = 0$ almost everywhere in Q_T and $f(x) = f^+(x)$, $u(x,t) = u_1(x,t)$. Consequently, $u_1(x,T) = 0$ almost everywhere in Ω . On the other hand, it follows from Lemma 1.1.5 that $u_1(x,T) > 0$ in Ω if we deal in Q_T with $f^+h \ge 0$ and $f^-h \not\equiv 0$. The obtained contradiction shows that case 1 must be excluded from further consideration.

Case 2. Let $f^+(x) \equiv 0$ and $f^-(x) \not\equiv 0$ in Ω . By the linearity and homogeneity of the inverse problem (1.3.4)–(1.3.7) that case reduces to the preceding.

Case 3. Assume that $f^+(x) \neq 0$ and $f^-(x) \neq 0$ in Q_T . Applying Lemma 1.1.5 to the system (1.3.25)-(1.3.27) yields

(1.3.30)
$$u_i(x,T) \equiv \mu(x) > 0, \quad x \in \Omega, \quad i = 1, 2.$$
In complete agreement with Lemma 1.1.2 the functions

$$v_i(x,t) \equiv (u_i)_t(x,t), \qquad i = 1, 2,$$

belong to $\overset{\circ}{V}_2^{1,\,0}(Q_{\!_T})$ and the following relations

- $(1.3.31) \qquad (v_i)_t(x,t) (Lv_i)(x,t) = f^{\pm}(x) h_t(x,t) , \qquad (x,t) \in Q_T ,$
- $\begin{array}{ll} (1.3.32) & v_i(x,0) = f^{\pm}(x) \, h(x,0) \, , & x \in \Omega \, , \\ (1.3.33) & v_i(x,t) = 0 \, , & (x,t) \in S_T \, , \end{array}$

are valid in the sense of the corresponding integral identity.

Before we undertake the proof with the aid of Lemma 1.1.5, let us observe that the functions $f^{\pm}h(x,0)$ and $f^{\pm}h_t(x,t)$ can never be identically equal to zero once at a time. Indeed, assume to the contrary that $f^{\pm}h(x,0) \equiv 0$ and $f^{\pm}h_t(x,t) \equiv 0$ simultaneously. Then the Newton-Leibniz formula gives

$$f^{\pm}(x) h(x,T) = f^{\pm}(x) h(x,0) + \int_{0}^{T} f^{\pm}(x) h_{t}(x,t) dt,$$

yielding

$$f^{\pm}(x) h(x,T) \equiv 0$$

over Ω . However, by requirement,

 $f^+ \not\equiv 0$

 \mathbf{and}

$$f^- \not\equiv 0$$
.

This provides support for the view that $h(x,T) \equiv 0, x \in \Omega$, which disagrees with h(x,T) > 0.

In accordance with what has been said, Lemma 1.1.5 is needed to derive the inequality

 $(1.3.34) (u_i)_t(x,T) \equiv v_i(x,T) > 0, x \in \Omega, i = 1, 2.$

On the other hand, Lemma 1.1.2 implies that

 $u_i \in C([0,T]; W_2^2(\Omega))$

along with

$$(u_i)_t \in C([0,T]; L_2(\Omega))$$

Having stipulated these conditions, equation (1.3.21) leads to the relations (1.3.35) $(u_i)_t(x,T) - (L\mu)(x) = f^{\pm}(x) h(x,T)$, $x \in \Omega$, i = 1, 2. Here we used also that the values of u_1 and u_2 coincide at the moment t = T and were denoted by μ .

When $L\mu \neq 0$ in Ω , it follows from (1.3.30) and Corollary 1.1.2 that there exists a measurable set $\Omega' \subset \Omega$ such that

$$\operatorname{mes}_n \Omega' > 0$$

and

(1.3.36)
$$(L\mu)(x) < 0, \qquad x \in \Omega'.$$

By assumption, h(x,T) > 0. In view of this, relations (1.3.35)-(1.3.36)imply that $f^+(x) > 0$ and $f^-(x) > 0$ in Ω' . But this contradicts in Ω the identity $f^+ \cdot f^- \equiv 0$, valid for the functions f^+ and f^- of such constructions.

For the case $L\mu \equiv 0$ relation (1.3.35) can be rewritten as

$$(1.3.37) (u_i)_t(x,T) = f^{\pm}(x) h(x,T), x \in \Omega, i = 1,2$$

Therefore, relations (1.3.34) and (1.3.37) imply that again $f^+ > 0$ and $f^- > 0$ in Ω . As stated above, this disagrees with constructions of the functions f^+ and f^- . Thus, all possible cases have been exhausted and the theorem is completely proved.

Remark 1.3.2 A similar uniqueness theorem is still valid for the inverse problem of recovering the source term coefficient in the general statement (1.2.2)-(1.2.5) (see Prilepko and Kostin (1992a)).

Theorems 1.3.3 and 1.3.6 imply immediately the unique solvability of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37). We quote this result for the inverse problem (1.2.2)-(1.2.5) in a common setting.

Theorem 1.3.7 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)–(1.1.16) and the coefficient $C(x) \geq 0$ for $x \in \Omega$. One assumes, in addition, that h, $h_t \in L_{\infty}(Q_T), \ \sigma \in C(\partial\Omega), \ g \equiv 0, \ a \equiv 0, \ b \equiv 0, \ \omega \in L_2([0,T]), \ \chi \in W_2^2(\Omega)$ and $(\mathcal{B}\chi)(x) = 0$ for $x \in \partial\Omega$. Also, let $h(x,t) \geq 0$ and $h_t(x,t) \geq 0$ almost everywhere in Q_T ; $\sigma(x) \geq 0$ for $x \in \partial\Omega$; $\omega(t) \geq 0$ almost everywhere on (0,T) and $[l(h)](x) \geq \delta > 0$ for $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ($\delta \equiv \text{const}$). Then the inverse problem (1.2.2)–(1.2.5) has a solution $u \in W_2^{2,1}(Q_T), \ f \in L_2(\Omega)$, this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the estimate

$$|| u ||_{2,Q_T}^{(2,1)} + || f ||_{2,\Omega} \le c || \chi ||_{2,\Omega}^{(2)}$$

is true, where the constant c is expressed only in terms of the input data and does not depend on u and f.

1.4 The nonlinear coefficient inverse problem: recovering a coefficient depending on x

In this section we study the inverse problem of finding a coefficient at the function u involved in the equations of parabolic type.

Let us consider the inverse problem of recovering a pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$ from the equation

(1.4.1)
$$u_t(x,t) - (Lu)(x,t)$$

= $f(x)u(x,t) + g(x,t), \quad (x,t) \in Q_T \equiv \Omega \times (0,T),$

the initial condition

(1.4.2)
$$u(x,0) = 0$$
, $x \in \Omega$,

the boundary condition

(1.4.3)
$$u(x,t) = b(x,t),$$
 $(x,t) \in S_T,$

and the condition of final overdetermination

(1.4.4) $u(x,T) = \varphi(x), \qquad x \in \Omega.$

Here we have at our disposal the operator L, the functions g, b and φ and the domain Ω .

The linear operator L is supposed to be uniformly elliptic subject to conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16). In what follows we will use the notation

$$E = L_{\infty}(\Omega)$$

and

$$E_{-} = \{ f(x) \in E : f(x) \le 0, x \in \Omega \}$$

Definition 1.4.1 A pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$ is said to be a solution of the inverse problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.4) if $u \in W_2^{2,1}(Q_T)$, $f \in E_-$ and all of the relations (1.4.1)-(1.4.4) take place.

Recall that, in general, the boundary condition function b is defined on the entire cylinder Q_T . The boundary condition (1.4.3) is to be understood in the sense that the function u - b vanishes on S_T .

1.4. The nonlinear coefficient inverse problem

One can readily see that the present inverse problem of recovering the coefficient is nonlinear. This is due to the fact that the linear differential equation contains a product of two unknown functions. As a first step towards the solution of this problem, it is necessary to raise the question of the solution uniqueness. Assume that there were two distinct pairs of functions u_1 , f_1 and u_2 , f_2 , solving the inverse problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.4) simultaneously. Note that f_1 cannot coincide with f_2 , since otherwise the same would be valid for the functions u_1 and u_2 due to the direct problem uniqueness theorem with regard to (1.4.1)-(1.4.3). Since the functions $v = u_1 - u_2$ and $f = f_1 - f_2$ give the solutions of the inverse problem

$$\begin{array}{ll} (1.4.5) & v_t(x,t) - (Lv)(x,t) - f_1(x) \, v(x,t) \\ & = f(x) \, u_2(x,t) \, , & (x,t) \in Q_T \, , \\ (1.4.6) & v(x,0) = 0 \, , & x \in \Omega \, , \\ (1.4.7) & v(x,t) = 0 \, , & (x,t) \in S_T \, , \\ (1.4.8) & v(x,T) = 0 \, , & x \in \Omega \, , \end{array}$$

the way of proving the uniqueness for the nonlinear coefficient inverse problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.4) amounts to making a decision whether the linear inverse problem (1.4.5)-(1.4.6) has a trivial solution only.

In what follows we will assume that the coefficient C(x) of the operator L satisfies the inequality $C(x) \leq 0$ in Ω and

With these assumptions, joint use of Theorem 1.1.8 and Lemma 1.1.5 permits us to deduce that $u_2(x,t) \ge 0$ and $(u_2)_t(x,t) \ge 0$ in Q_T , and $u_2(x,T) > 0$ in Ω . This provides support for the view that the linear inverse problem (1.4.5)-(1.4.8) of finding a pair of the functions $\{v, f\}$ is of the same type as (1.3.4)-(1.3.7). Applying Theorem 1.3.6 yields that v = 0 and f = 0 almost everywhere in Q_T and Ω , respectively. Summarizing, we obtain the following result.

Theorem 1.4.1 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) and let the coefficient $C(x) \leq 0$ in Ω . One assumes, in addition, that condition (1.4.9) holds for the functions g and b. Then the inverse problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.4) can have at most one solution. In this regard, the question of the solution existence for the nonlinear inverse problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.4) arises naturally. We begin by deriving an operator equation of the second kind for the coefficient f keeping

(1.4.10)
$$g, b, g_t \in W_p^{2,1}(Q_T), \quad p \ge n+1; \quad L\varphi \in E;$$
$$\varphi(x) \ge \delta > 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega; \quad b(x,0) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \partial\Omega.$$

By relating a function f from E to be fixed we substitute it into equation (1.4.1). The well-known results of Ladyzhenskaya and Uraltseva (1968) guide the proper choice of the function u as a unique solution of the direct problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.3). It will be convenient to refer to the nonlinear operator

$$A: E \mapsto E$$

with the values

$$(1.4.11) \quad (Af)(x) = \frac{1}{\varphi(x)} \left[u_t(x,T) - (L\varphi)(x) - g(x,T) \right], \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

and consider over E the operator equation of the second kind associated with the function f:

$$(1.4.12) f = A f.$$

We will prove that the solvability of equation (1.4.12) implies that of the inverse problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.4).

Lemma 1.4.1 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16), the coefficient $C(x) \leq 0$ for $x \in \Omega$ and condition (1.4.10) hold. Also, let the compatibility condition

$$b(x,T) = \varphi(x)$$

be fulfilled for $x \in \partial \Omega$. One assumes, in addition, that equation (1.4.12) admits a solution lying within E_{-} . Then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.4).

Proof By assumption, equation (1.4.12) has a solution lying within E_{-} , say f. Substitution f into (1.4.1) helps find u as a solution of the direct problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.3) for which there is no difficulty to establish that $u_t \in W_p^{2,1}(Q_T), u_t(\cdot, T) \in E$ and $(Lu)(\cdot, T) \in E$ (see Ladyzhenskaya and Uraltseva (1968)). We will show that the function u so defined satisfies also the overdetermination condition (1.4.4). In preparation for this, set

$$u(x,T)=arphi_1(x)\,,\qquad x\in\Omega\,.$$

1.4. The nonlinear coefficient inverse problem

By the construction of the function u,

(1.4.13)
$$u_t(x,T) - (L\varphi_1)(x) - g(x,T) = f(x)\varphi_1(x).$$

On the other hand, the function f being a solution to equation (1.4.12) provides

(1.4.14)
$$\varphi(x) (Af)(x) = f(x) \varphi(x).$$

After subtracting (1.4.13) from (1.4.14) we conclude that the function $\varphi - \varphi_1$ satisfies the equation

(1.4.15)
$$[L(\varphi - \varphi_1)](x) + f(x)(\varphi - \varphi_1) = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega.$$

Combination of the boundary condition (1.4.3) and the compatibility condition gives

(1.4.16)
$$(\varphi - \varphi_1)(x) = 0, \quad x \in \partial \Omega.$$

As $C(x) \leq 0$ in Ω and $f \in E_{-}$, the stationary direct problem (1.4.15)-(1.4.16) has only a trivial solution due to Theorem 1.1.3. Therefore, the function u satisfies the final overdetermination condition (1.4.4) and the inverse problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.4) is solvable, thereby completing the proof of the lemma.

As we have already mentioned, the Birkhoff-Tarsky theorem is much applicable in solving nonlinear operator equations. A key role in developing this approach is to check whether the operator A is **isotonic**.

Lemma 1.4.2 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16), the coefficient $C(x) \leq 0$ in Ω , conditions (1.4.10) hold, $g(x,t) \geq 0$ and $g_t(x,t) \geq 0$ in Q_T . If, in addition, the compatibility conditions

$$b(x,T) = \varphi(x)$$
 and $b_t(x,0) = g(x,0)$

are fulfilled for any $x \in \partial \Omega$, then A is an isotonic operator on E_{-} .

Proof First of all we stress that E_{-} is a conditionally complete lattice. Let f_1 and f_2 be arbitrary elements of E_{-} with $f_1 \leq f_2$. One trick we have encountered is to substitute f_1 and f_2 both into equation (1.4.1) with further passage to the corresponding direct problems for i = 1, 2:

(1.4.17)
$$u_t^i(x,t) - (Lu^i)(x,t)$$
$$= f_i(x) u^i(x,t) + g(x,t), \quad (x,t) \in Q_T,$$
$$(1.4.18) \qquad u^i(x,0) = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

(1.4.19)
$$u^{i}(x,t) = b(x,t), \qquad (x,t) \in S_{T},$$

In this regard, the conditions of the lemma assure that the function $w^i\equiv u^i_t$ presents a solution of the direct problem

$$\begin{array}{ll} (1.4.20) & w_t^i(x,t) - (Lw^i)(x,t) \\ & = f_i(x) \, w^i(x,t) + g_t(x,t) \,, & (x,t) \in Q_T \,, \\ (1.4.21) & w^i(x,0) = g(x,0) \,, & x \in \Omega \,, \\ (1.4.22) & w^i(x,t) = b_t(x,t) \,, & (x,t) \in S_T \,. \end{array}$$

Being solutions of (1.4.17)-(1.4.19), the functions $v = u^2 - u^1$ and $h = f_2 - f_1$ are subject to the set of relations:

 $\begin{array}{ll} (1.4.23) & v_t(x,t) - (Lv)(x,t) - f_2(x) v(x,t) \\ & = h(x) u^1(x,t) \,, & (x,t) \in Q_T \,, \\ (1.4.24) & v(x,0) = 0 \,, & x \in \Omega \,, \\ (1.4.25) & v(x,t) = 0 \,, & (x,t) \in S_T \,. \end{array}$

Just now it is necessary to keep in mind that $f_1 \leq f_2$. On account of Theorem 1.1.8 and Lemma 1.1.5 the systems (2.4.17)-(2.4.19) and (2.4.20)-(2.4.22) provide that $h(x) u^1(x,t) \geq 0$ and $h(x) u^1_t(x,t) \geq 0$ for $(x,t) \in Q_T$. Once again, appealing to Theorem 1.1.8 and Lemma 1.1.5, we deduce that $v_t(x,T) \geq 0$ in Ω . By definition (1.4.11) of the operator $A, Af_1 \leq Af_2$, what means that A is isotonic on E_- . This proves the assertion of the lemma.

We now turn to a common setting and proving the principal global result concerning the unique solvability of the inverse problem at hand.

Theorem 1.4.2 Let the operator L satisfy conditions (1.1.15)-(1.1.16) and the coefficient $C(x) \leq 0$ in Ω . Let g, b, $b_t \in W_p^{2,1}(Q_T)$, $p \geq n+1$; $g(x,t) \geq 0$ and $g_t(x,t) \geq 0$ for $(x,t) \in Q_T$; $L\varphi \in E$; $\varphi(x) \geq \delta > 0$ in Ω ($\delta \equiv \text{const}$). Also, we take for granted the compatibility conditions

b(x,0) = 0, $b(x,T) = \varphi(x)$ and $b_t(x,0) = g(x,0)$ for $x \in \partial \Omega$

and require that

(1.4.26)
$$L\left[u^{0}(x,T)-\varphi(x)\right] \leq 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

where u^0 refers to a solution of problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.3) with $f \equiv 0$. Then the inverse problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.4) has a solution $u \in W_p^{2,1}(Q_T)$, $f \in E_$ and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions.

1.4. The nonlinear coefficient inverse problem

Proof First we are going to show that on E_{-} there exists an order segment which is mapped by the operator A onto itself. Indeed, it follows from the foregoing that (1.4.26) implies the inequality

(1.4.27)
$$A(0) \equiv \frac{1}{\varphi(x)} L[u^0(x,T) - \varphi(x)] \le 0, \qquad x \in \Omega$$

and, consequently,

$$A: E_- \mapsto E_-$$

Let us take a constant M from the bound

(1.4.28)
$$M \ge \frac{1}{\varphi(x)} \left[(L\varphi)(x) + g(x,T) \right], \qquad x \in \Omega$$

By definition (1.4.10) of the operator A,

(1.4.29)
$$A(-M) \equiv \frac{1}{\varphi(x)} \left[u_t(x,T) - (L\varphi)(x) - g(x,T) \right], \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

where u is a solution of the system (1.4.1)-(1.4.3) with constant -M standing in place of the coefficient f.

Before giving further motivations, let us recall that the coefficients of the operator L do not depend on t. For the same reason as before, the function u_t gives a solution from $\mathring{V}_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ of the direct problem

$$\begin{split} & w_t - Lw = -Mw + g_t , \qquad (x,t) \in Q_T , \\ & w(x,0) = g(x,0) , \qquad \qquad x \in \Omega , \\ & w(x,t) = b_t(x,t) , \qquad \qquad (x,t) \in S_T , \end{split}$$

whence by Theorem 1.1.8 and Lemma 1.1.5 it follows that in Ω

$$u_t(x,T) \equiv w(x,T) \ge 0$$
.

Thus, (1.4.28)–(1.4.29) imply the inequality

$$(1.4.30) A(-M) \ge -M$$

Because of (1.4.27) and (1.4.30), the operator A being isotonic carries the order segment

$$[-M, 0] = \{ f \in E_{-} : -M \le f \le 0 \}$$

of the conditionally complete and partially ordered set E_{-} into itself. By the Birkhoff-Tarsky theorem (Theorem 1.1.9) the operator A has at least one fixed point in $[-M, 0] \subset E_{-}$ and, therefore, equation (1.4.11) is solvable on E_{-} . In conformity with Lemma 1.4.1 the inverse problem (1.4.1)-(1.4.4) has a solution. The uniqueness of this solution follows immediately from Theorem 1.4.1 and thereby completes the proof of the theorem.

Remark 1.4.1 A similar theorem of existence and uniqueness is valid for the case where the boundary condition is prescribed in the general form (1.2.4) (see Prilepko and Kostin (1992b)).

1.5 The linear inverse problem: recovering the evolution of a source term

This section is devoted to inverse problems of recovering the coefficients depending on t. The main idea behind method here is to reduce the inverse problem to a certain integral equation of the Volterra type resulting in global theorems of existence and uniqueness. We consider the two types of overdetermination: pointwise and integral. In the case of a pointwise overdetermination the subsidiary information is the value of the function u at a point x_0 of the domain Ω at every moment within the segment [0, T]. In another case the function u is measured by a sensor making a certain averaging over the domain Ω . From a mathematical point of view the result of such measurements can be expressed in the form of integral overdetermination. We begin by placing the problem statement for the latter case.

Being concerned with the functions g, ω and φ , we study in the cylinder $Q_T \equiv \Omega \times (0, T)$ the inverse problem of finding a pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$ from the equation

(1.5.1)
$$u_t(x,t) - \Delta u(x,t) = f(t) g(x,t), \quad (x,t) \in Q_T,$$

the initial condition

(1.5.2)
$$u(x,0) = 0$$
, $x \in \Omega$,

the boundary condition

(1.5.3)
$$u(x,t) = 0$$
, $(x,t) \in S_T = \partial \Omega \times [0,T]$,

and the condition of integral overdetermination

(1.5.4)
$$\int_{\Omega} u(x,t) \,\omega(x) \, dx = \varphi(t) \,, \qquad t \in [0,T] \,.$$

A rigorous definition for a solution of this inverse problem is presented below.

Definition 1.5.1 A pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$ is said to be a generalized solution of the inverse problem (1.5.1)-(1.5.4) if $u \in W^{2,1}_{2,0}(Q_T)$, $f \in L_2(0,T)$ and all of the relations (1.5.1)-(1.5.4) occur.

In what follows we agree to consider

$$g \in C([0,T], L_2(\Omega)), \quad \omega \in W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \check{W}_2^1(\Omega), \quad \varphi \in W_2^1(0,T),$$

$$(1.5.5) \qquad \left| \int_{\Omega} g(x,t)\,\omega(x) \, dx \right| \ge g^* \equiv \text{const} > 0 \quad \text{for} \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

The first goal of our studies is to derive a linear second kind equation of the Volterra type for the coefficient f over the space $L_2(0,T)$. The well-founded choice of a function f from the space $L_2(0,T)$ may be of help in achieving this aim. Substitution into (1.5.1) motivates that the system (1.5.1)-(1.5.3) serves as a basis for finding the function $u \in W_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T)$ as a unique solution of the direct problem (1.5.1)-(1.5.3). The correspondence between f and u may be viewed as one possible way of specifying the linear operator

$$A: L_2(0,T) \mapsto L_2(0,T)$$

with the values

(1.5.6)
$$(Af)(t) = \frac{1}{g_1(t)} \int_{\Omega} u(x,t) \Delta \omega(x) dx$$

where

$$g_1(t) = \int_{\Omega} g(x,t)\omega(x) \ dx$$

In this view, it is reasonable to refer to the linear equation of the second kind for the function f over the space $L_2(0,T)$:

$$(1.5.7) f = A f + \psi,$$

where $\psi(t) = \varphi'(t) g_1(t)$.

Theorem 1.5.1 Let the input data of the inverse problem (1.5.1)-(1.5.4) satisfy (1.5.5). Then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) if the inverse problem (1.5.1)-(1.5.4) is solvable, then so is equation (1.5.7);
- (b) if equation (1.5.7) possesses a solution and the compatibility condition

$$(1.5.8)\qquad \qquad \varphi(0)=0$$

holds, then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (1.5.1)-(1.5.4).

Proof We proceed to prove item (a) assuming that the inverse problem (1.5.1)-(1.5.4) is solvable. We denote its solution by $\{u, f\}$. Multiplying both sides of (1.5.1) by the function $\omega(x)$ scalarly in $L_2(\Omega)$ we establish the relation

(1.5.9)
$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} u(x,t) \,\omega(x) \, dx + \int_{\Omega} u(x,t) \,\Delta\omega(x,t) \, dt$$
$$= f(t) \int_{\Omega} g(x,t) \,\omega(x) \, dx \, .$$

Because of (1.5.4) and (1.5.6), it follows from (1.5.9) that $f = Af + \varphi'/g_1$. But this means that f solves equation (1.5.7).

We proceed to prove item (b). By the original assumption equation (1.5.7) has a solution in the space $L_2(0,T)$, say f. When inserting this function in (1.5.1), the resulting relations (1.5.1)-(1.5.3) can be treated as a direct problem having a unique solution $u \in W_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T)$.

In this line, it remains to show that the function u satisfies also the integral overdetermination (1.5.4). Indeed, (1.5.1) yields

(1.5.10)
$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} u(x,t) \,\omega(x) \, dx + \int_{\Omega} u(x,t) \,\Delta\omega(x,t) \, dt = f(t) \,g_1(t) \,dx$$

On the other hand, being a solution to equation (1.5.7), the function u is subject to the relation

(1.5.11)
$$\varphi'(t) + \int_{\Omega} u(x,t) \Delta \omega(x,t) dt = f(t) g_1(t).$$

After subtracting (1.5.11) from (1.5.10) we finally get

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} u(x,t) \, \omega(x) \, dx - \varphi'(t) = 0 \, .$$

Integrating the preceding differential equation and taking into account the compatibility condition (1.5.8), we find out that the function u satisfies the overdetermination condition (1.5.4) and the pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$ is just a solution of the inverse problem (1.5.1)-(1.5.4). This completes the proof of the theorem.

Before considering details, it will be sensible to touch upon the properties of the operator A. In what follows the symbol A^s (s = 1, 2, ...) refers to the sth degree of the operator A.

Lemma 1.5.1 Let condition (1.5.5) hold. Then there exists a positive integer s_0 for which A^{s_0} is a contracting operator in $L_2(0,T)$.

Proof Obviously, (1.5.6) yields the estimate

(1.5.12)
$$||Af||_{2,(0,t)} \leq \frac{1}{g^*} ||\Delta\omega||_{2,\Omega} \cdot ||u||_{2,Q_t}, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T.$$

Multiplying both sides of (1.5.1) by u scalarly in $L_2(\Omega)$ and integrating the resulting expressions by parts, we arrive at the identity

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| u(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \| u_{x}(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} = \int_{\Omega} f(t) g(x,t) u(x,t) dx, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

and, subsequently, the inequality

$$\frac{d}{dt} || u(\cdot, t) ||_{2,\Omega} \le || f(t) g(\cdot, t) ||_{2,\Omega}, \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

In this line,

$$(1.5.13) \qquad || u(\cdot,t) ||_{2,\Omega} \le || u(\cdot,0) ||_{2,\Omega} + \sup_{[0,T]} || g(\cdot,t) ||_{2,\Omega} \int_{0}^{t} |f(\tau)| d\tau,$$

 $0 \leq t \leq T$.

Since u(x, 0) = 0, relations (1.5.12) and (1.5.13) are followed by the estimate

(1.5.14)
$$||Af||_{2,(0,t)} \le \mu \left(\int_{0}^{t} \left(||f||_{2,(0,\tau)}\right)^{2} d\tau\right)^{1/2}, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where

$$\mu \ = \frac{\sqrt{T}}{g^*} \parallel \Delta \omega \parallel_{2, \ \Omega} \ \sup_{[0, \ T]} \parallel g(\ \cdot \ , \tau) \parallel_{2, \ \Omega} .$$

It is worth noting here that μ does not depend on t.

It is evident that for any positive integer s the sth degree of the operator A can be defined in a natural way. In view of this, estimate (1.5.14) via the mathematical induction gives

(1.5.15)
$$||A^s f||_{2,(0,T)} \le \left(\frac{\mu^{2s} T^s}{s!}\right)^{1/2} ||f||_{2,(0,T)}, \quad s = 1, 2, \dots$$

It follows from the foregoing that there exists a positive integer $s = s_0$ such that

(1.5.16)
$$\left(\frac{\mu^{2s_0} T^{s_0}}{s_0!}\right)^{1/2} < 1.$$

This provides support for the view that the linear operator A^{s_0} is a contracting mapping on $L_2(0,T)$ and completes the proof of the lemma.

Regarding the unique solvability of the inverse problem concerned, the following result could be useful.

Theorem 1.5.2 Let (1.5.5) and the compatibility condition (1.5.8) hold. Then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) a solution $\{u, f\}$ of the inverse problem (1.5.1)-(1.5.4) exists and is unique;
- (b) with any initial iteration $f_0 \in L_2(0,T)$ the successive approximations

(1.5.17)
$$f_{n+1} = \widetilde{A} f_n, \qquad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$

converge to f in the $L_2(0,T)$ -norm (for \widetilde{A} see (1.5.18) below).

Proof We have occasion to use the nonlinear operator

$$\widetilde{A}$$
: $L_2(0,T) \mapsto L_2(0,T)$

acting in accordance with the rule

(1.5.18)
$$\widetilde{A} f = A f + \frac{\varphi'}{g_1},$$

where the operator A and the function g_1 arise from (1.5.6). From (1.5.18) it follows that equation (1.5.7) can be recast as

$$(1.5.19) f = \widetilde{A} f.$$

To prove the solvability of (1.5.19) it is sufficient to show that \tilde{A} has a fixed point in the space $L_2(0,T)$. With the aid of the relations

$$\widetilde{A}^{s} f_{1} - \widetilde{A}^{s} f_{2} = A^{s} f_{1} - A^{s} f_{2} = A^{s} (f_{1} - f_{2})$$

we deduce from estimate (1.5.15) that

$$(1.5.20) \|\widetilde{A}^{s_0} f_1 - \widetilde{A}^{s_0} f_2\|_{2,(0,T)} = \|A^{s_0} (f_1 - f_2)\|_{2,(0,T)}$$
$$\leq \left(\frac{\mu^{2s_0} T^{s_0}}{s_0!}\right)^{1/2} \|f_1 - f_2\|_{2,(0,T)},$$

where s_0 has been fixed in (1.5.16). By virtue of (1.5.16) and (1.5.20) it turns out that \tilde{A}^{s_0} is a contracting mapping on $L_2(0,T)$. Therefore, \tilde{A}^{s_0} has a unique fixed point f in $L_2(0,T)$ and the successive approximations (1.5.17) converge to f in the $L_2(0,T)$ -norm without concern for how the initial iteration $f_0 \in L_2(0,T)$ will be chosen.

Just for this reason equation (1.5.19) and, in turn, equation (1.5.7) have a unique solution f in $L_2(0,T)$. According to Theorem 1.5.1, this confirms the existence of the inverse problem (1.5.1)-(1.5.4) solution. It remains to prove the uniqueness of this solution. Assume to the contrary that there were two distinct solutions $\{u_1, f_1\}$ and $\{u_1, f_1\}$ of the inverse problem under consideration. We claim that in that case $f_1 \neq f_2$ almost everywhere on [0,T]. Indeed, if $f_1 = f_2$, then applying the uniqueness theorem to the corresponding direct problem (1.5.1)-(1.5.3) we would have $u_1 = u_2$ almost everywhere in Q_T .

Since both pairs satisfy identity (1.5.9), the functions f_1 and f_2 give two distinct solutions to equation (1.5.19). But this contradicts the uniqueness of the solution to equation (1.5.19) just established and proves the theorem.

Corollary 1.5.1 Under the conditions of Theorem 1.5.2 a solution to equation (1.5.7) can be expanded in a series

(1.5.21)
$$f = \psi + \sum_{s=1}^{\infty} A^s \psi$$

and the estimate

(1.5.22)
$$||f||_{2,(0,T)} \le \rho ||\psi||_{2,(0,T)}$$

is valid with

$$\psi = \frac{\varphi'}{g_1}$$
, $\rho = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{\mu^s T^{s/2}}{(s!)^{1/2}}$.

Proof The successive approximations (1.5.17) with $f_0 = \psi$ verify that

(1.5.23)
$$f_n = \tilde{A} f_{n+1} = \tilde{A}^n f_0 = \psi + \sum_{s=1}^{\infty} A^s \psi.$$

The passage to the limit as $n \to \infty$ in (1.5.23) leads to (1.5.21), since, by Theorem 1.5.2,

$$\|f - f_n\|_{2,(0,T)} \to 0$$

as $n \to \infty$.

Being concerned with A^s satisfying (1.5.12) we get the estimate

$$||f||_{2,(0,T)} \leq ||\psi||_{2,(0,T)} \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\mu^{2s} T^s}{s!}\right)^{1/2}.$$

By D'Alambert ratio test the series on the right-hand side converges, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

As an illustration to the result obtained, we will consider the inverse problem for the one-dimensional heat equation and find the corresponding solution in the explicit form.

Example 1.5.1 We are exploring the inverse problem of finding a pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$ from the set of relations

 $\begin{array}{ll} (1.5.24) & u_t(x,t) = u_{xx}(x,t) + F(x,t) \,, & (x,t) \in (0,\pi) \times (0,T) \,, \\ (1.5.25) & u(x,0) = 0 \,, & x \in [0,\pi] \,, \\ (1.5.26) & u(0,t) = u(\pi,t) = 0 \,, & t \in (0,T] \,, \\ (1.5.27) & \int\limits_0^\pi u(x,t) \sin x \, dx = \varphi(t) \,, & t \in [0,T] \,, \end{array}$

where

(1.5.28) $F(x,t) = f(t) \sin x$, $\varphi(t) = t$.

In trying to solve it we employ the Fourier method of separation of variables with regard to the system (1.5.24)-(1.5.26), making it possible to derive the formula

(1.5.29)
$$u(x,t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} F_{k}(\tau) \exp \left\{-k^{2}(t-\tau)\right\} d\tau \sin kx,$$

where

$$F_k(au) = rac{2}{\pi} \int\limits_0^\pi F(x, au) \sin kx \ dx$$

Because of (1.5.28) and (1.5.29), the function F is representable by

(1.5.30)
$$u(x,t) = \int_{0}^{t} f(\tau) \exp \{-(t-\tau)\} d\tau \sin x.$$

Substituting (1.5.30) into (1.5.24) and taking into account the overdetermination condition (1.5.27), we derive the second integral Volterra equation of the type (1.5.7). In principle, our subsequent arguments do follow the general scheme outlined above. However, in this particular case it is possible to perform plain calculations by more simpler reasonings. Upon substituting (1.5.30) into (1.5.27) we obtain the integral Volterra equation of the first kind for the function f

(1.5.31)
$$t = \frac{\pi}{2} \int_{0}^{t} f(\tau) \exp\{-(t-\tau)\} d\tau.$$

Here we used also that $\varphi(t) = t$ in view of (1.5.28). In order to solve equation (1.5.31) one can apply the well-known integral transform

(1.5.32)
$$\hat{f}(p) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \exp\{-pt\} f(t) dt,$$

where the function f(p) of one complex variable is termed the **Laplace** transform of the original function f(t). The symbol \div is used to indicate the identity between f(t) and $\hat{f}(p)$ in the sense of the Laplace transform. Within this notation, (1.5.32) becomes

$$f(t) \div \hat{f}(p)$$
.

Direct calculations by formula (1.5.32) show, for example, that

(1.5.33)
$$\exp\{-t\} \div \frac{1}{p+1}; \quad t^n \div \frac{n!}{p^{n+1}}, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

With a convolution of two functions one associates

(1.5.34)
$$\int_{0}^{t} f(\xi) g(t-\xi) d\xi \div \hat{f}(p) \hat{g}(p),$$

where $f(t) \div \hat{f}(p)$ and $g(t) \div \hat{g}(p)$. The outcome of taking the Laplace transform of both sides of (1.5.31) and using (1.5.34) is the algebraic equation for the function $\hat{f}(p)$:

(1.5.35)
$$\frac{1}{p^2} = \frac{\pi}{2} \hat{f} \frac{1}{p+1} ,$$

giving

(1.5.36)
$$\hat{f} = \frac{2}{\pi} \left(\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p^2} \right).$$

On the basis of (1.5.33) and (1.5.36) it is possible to recover the original function f(t) as follows:

(1.5.37)
$$f(t) = \frac{2}{\pi} (1+t) .$$

Then formula (1.5.30) immediately gives the function

(1.5.38)
$$u(x,t) = \frac{2}{\pi} t \sin x$$

From such reasoning it seems clear that the pair of functions (1.5.37)-(1.5.38) is just a solution of the inverse problem (1.5.24)-(1.5.27). But this solution was found by formal evaluation. However, due to the uniqueness theorems established above there are no solutions other than the pair (1.5.37)-(1.5.38).

We now turn our attention to the inverse problem of recovering a source term in the case of a pointwise overdetermination.

Assume that there exists a perfect sensor responsible for making measurements of exact values of the function u at a certain interior point $x_0 \in \Omega$ at any moment within the segment [0, T]. As a matter of fact, the pointwise overdetermination $u(x_0, t) = \varphi(t), t \in [0, T]$, of a given function φ arises in the statement of the inverse problem of finding a pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$, satisfying the equation

(1.5.39)
$$u_t(x,t) - \Delta u(x,t) = f(t) g(x,t), \quad (x,t) \in Q_T,$$

the initial condition

$$(1.5.40) u(x,0) = 0, x \in \Omega,$$

the boundary condition

$$(1.5.41) u(x,t) = 0, (x,t) \in S_T,$$

and the condition of pointwise overdetermination

(1.5.42)
$$u(x_0, t) = \varphi(t), \qquad t \in [0, T],$$

when the functions g and φ are known in advance.

We outline here only the general approach to solving this inverse problem. Having no opportunity to touch upon this topic we address the readers to Prilepko and Soloviev (1987a).

We are still in the framework of the Fourier method of separating variables with respect to the system of relations (1.5.39)-(1.5.41), whose use permits us to establish the expansion

(1.5.43)
$$u(x,t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} f(\tau) g_{k}(\tau) \exp \left\{-\lambda_{k} (t-\tau)\right\} d\tau X_{k}(x),$$

where

$$g_k(\tau) = \frac{1}{\|X_k\|_{2,\Omega}^2} \int_{\Omega} g(x,\tau) X_k(x) d\tau$$

and $\{\lambda_k, X_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ are the eigenvalues and the eigenfunctions of the Laplace operator emerging from the Sturm-Liouville problem (1.2.51). By inserting (1.5.43) in (1.5.42) we get a linear integral Volterra equation of the first kind

(1.5.44)
$$\varphi(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} f(\tau) g_{k}(\tau) \exp \left\{-\lambda_{k}(t-\tau)\right\} d\tau X_{k}(x_{0}).$$

Assuming the functions φ and g to be sufficiently smooth and accepting $|g(x_0,t)| \geq g^* > 0, t \in [0,T]$, we can differentiate both sides of (1.5.44) with respect to t, leading to the integral Volterra equation of the second kind

(1.5.45)
$$f(t) = \int_{0}^{t} K(t,\tau) f(\tau) d\tau + \psi(t),$$

where

$$\psi(t) = \frac{\varphi'(t)}{g(x_0, t)} ,$$

$$K(t, \tau) = \frac{1}{g(x_0, t)} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k g_k(\tau) \exp\left\{-\lambda_k(t-\tau)\right\} X_k(x_0) .$$

As can readily be observed, the solvability of the inverse problem (1.5.39)-(1.5.42) follows from that of equation (1.5.45) if the compatibility condition $\varphi(0) = 0$ was imposed (see a similar result in Theorem 1.5.1). The existence and uniqueness of the solution to the Volterra equation (1.5.45), in turn, can be established in the usual way. The above framework may be useful in obtaining a unique global solution of the inverse problem (1.5.39)-(1.5.42).

As an illustration of our approach we consider the following problem.

Example 1.5.2 It is required to recover a pair of the functions $\{u, f\}$ from the set of relations

- $(1.5.46) \qquad u_t(x,t) = u_{xx}(x,t) + f(t) \sin x \,, \quad (x,t) \in (0,\pi) \times (0,T) \,,$
- (1.5.47) u(x,0) = 0, $x \in [0,\pi]$, (1.5.48) $u(0,t) = u(\pi,t) = 0$, $t \in (0,T]$,
- (1.5.49) $u\left(\frac{\pi}{2}, t\right) = t, \qquad t \in (0, T].$

Now equation (1.5.44) becomes

(1.5.50)
$$t = \int_{0}^{t} f(\tau) \exp \{-(t-\tau)\} d\tau.$$

Because of its form, the same procedure works as does for equation (1.5.31). Therefore, the functions f(t) = 1 + t and $u(x, t) = t \sin x$ give the desired solution.

In concluding this chapter we note that the approach and results of this section carry out to the differential operators L of rather complicated and general form (1.1.8).

Chapter 2

Inverse Problems for Equations of Hyperbolic Type

2.1 Inverse problems for x-hyperbolic systems

Quite often, mathematical models for applied problems arising in natural sciences lead to hyperbolic systems of partial differential equations of the first order. This is especially true of hydrodynamics and aerodynamics. One more important case of such hyperbolic systems is connected with the system of Maxwell equations capable of describing electromagnetic fields. Until now the most profound research was devoted to systems of equations with two independent variables associated with one-dimensional models which do not cover fully the diversity of problems arising time and again in theory and practice. The situation becomes much more complicated in the case of multidimensional problems for which careful analysis requires a somewhat different technique. Moreover, the scientists were confronted with rather difficult ways of setting up and treating them on the same footing. Because of these and some other reasons choosing the most complete posing of several ones that are at the disposal of the scientists is regarded as one of the basic problems in this field. On the other hand, a one-dimensional problem can serve, as a rule, as a powerful tool for establishing the basic pattern and features of the behavior of solutions of hyperbolic systems. Some of them are of general character and remain valid for solutions of multidimensional problems. Adopting the arguments just mentioned it would be reasonable to restrict yourself to the study of linear hyperbolic systems of partial differential equations with two independent variables.

With this aim, we consider the system of the first order linear equations with two independent variables $x, t \in \mathbf{R}$:

(2.1.1)
$$A(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + B(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + C(x,t) u = F(x,t),$$

where

$$u = u(x,t) = (u_1(x,t),\ldots,u_n(x,t))$$

and

$$F(x,t) = (F_1(x,t),\ldots,F_n(x,t))$$

are vectors, A(x,t), B(x,t) and C(x,t) are $n \times n$ -matrices for any fixed xand t. The matrix A is assumed to be invertible and the matrix $A^{-1}B$ can always be diagonalized. Any such system is said to be x-hyperbolic.

Let a matrix T reduce $A^{-1}B$ to a diagonal matrix K, that is, $K = T^{-1}(A^{-1}B)T$. Substituting u = Tv and multiplying (2.1.1) by the matrix $T^{-1}A^{-1}$ from the left yields the **canonical form** of the x-hyperbolic system

(2.1.2)
$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial x} + K \frac{\partial v}{\partial t} + D v = G$$

where

$$D = T^{-1} \frac{\partial T}{\partial x} + T^{-1} A^{-1} B \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} + T^{-1} A^{-1} C T,$$

$$G = T^{-1} A^{-1} F.$$

In what follows we will always assume that any x-hyperbolic system under consideration admits the canonical form (2.1.2). Under such a formalization the method of integrating along the corresponding characteristics will be adopted as a basic technique for investigating the system (2.1.2) in solving inverse problems.

In order to understand nature a little better, we introduce as preliminaries the auxiliary inverse problem in which it is required to find a pair of the functions $v_1, v_2 \in C^1([0, L] \times [0, +\infty])$ and a pair of the functions $p_1, p_2 \in C[0, L]$, satisfying the system of relations

$$(2.1.3) \begin{cases} \frac{\partial v_1(x,t)}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial v_1(x,t)}{\partial x} = v_2(x,t) + p_1(x), & 0 \le x \le L, \quad t \ge 0, \\ \frac{\partial v_2(x,t)}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial v_2(x,t)}{\partial x} = v_1(x,t) + p_2(x), & 0 \le x \le L, \quad t \ge 0, \\ v_1(x,0) = \varphi_1(x), & v_2(x,0) = \varphi_2(x), & 0 \le x \le L, \\ v_1(L,t) = \psi_1(x), & v_2(0,t) = \psi_2(x), & t \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

In the general case a solution of problem (2.1.3) is not obliged to be unique. In this connection, we should raise the question of imposing additional restrictions if we want to ensure the uniqueness of a solution of the inverse problem under consideration.

There are various ways of taking care of these restrictions. For example, the conditions for the **exponential growth** of the derivatives of the functions v_1 and v_2 with respect to t, meaning

(2.1.4)
$$\left| \frac{\partial v_1(x,t)}{\partial t} \right| \le M_1 \exp\{a_1 t\}, \quad \left| \frac{\partial v_2(x,t)}{\partial t} \right| \le M_1 \exp\{a_1 t\},$$

fall within the category of such restrictions. One succeeds in showing that under a sufficiently small value L conditions (2.1.4) guarantee not only the uniqueness, but also the existence of a solution of the inverse problem (2.1.3). This type of situation is covered by the following assertion.

Theorem 2.1.1 Let φ_1 , φ_2 , ψ_1 and ψ_2 be continuously differentiable functions such that $\varphi_1(L) = \psi_1(0)$ and $\varphi_2(0) = \psi_2(0)$. One assumes, in addition, that there are positive constants a and M such that for any $t \ge 0$

$$|\psi_1'(t)| \le M \exp\{at\}$$

$$|\psi'_{2}(t)| \leq M \exp\{at\}.$$

Then there exists a value $L_0 = L_0(a) > 0$ such that for any $L < L_0$ the inverse problem (2.1.3) has a solution in the class of functions satisfying estimates (2.1.4). Moreover, there exists a value $L_1 = L_1(a_1) > 0$ such that for any $L_1 < L$ the inverse problem (2.1.3) can have at most one solution in the class of functions for which estimates (2.1.4) are true.

Theorem 2.1.1 follows from one more general theorem to be proved below. Here we only note that the value L_1 decreases with increasing a_1 . This property is of special interest and needs investigation. Accepting $\varphi_1 = 0$, $\varphi_2 = 0$, $\psi_1 = 0$ and $\psi_2 = 0$ we say that the nontrivial solutions v_1 and v_2 of the system (2.1.3) corresponding to certain p_1 and p_2 constitute the **eigenfunctions of the inverse problem** (2.1.3). The meaning of existence of eigenfunctions of this inverse problem is that its solution is not unique there. Some of them can be found by the well-established method of separation of variables. Let

(2.1.5)
$$v_i(x,t) = p_i(x) \int_0^t \exp\{\alpha \tau\} d\tau, \quad i = 1, 2, \quad \alpha \in \mathbf{R}.$$

By separating variables we get the system coming from problem (2.1.3) and complementing later discussions:

$$\begin{aligned} p_1'(x) + \alpha \, p_1(x) &= p_2(x) \,, & 0 \le x \le L \,, \\ p_2'(x) - \alpha \, p_2(x) &= -p_1(x) \,, & 0 \le x \le L \,, \\ p_1(L) &= 0 \,, & p_2(0) = 0 \,, \end{aligned}$$

followed by

(2.1.6)
$$\begin{cases} p_i'' + (1 - \alpha^2) p_i = 0, & i = 1, 2, \quad 0 \le x \le L, \\ p_1(L) = 0, & p_2(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

For the purposes of the present chapter we have occasion to use the function

(2.1.7)
$$L^{*}(\alpha) = \begin{cases} \frac{\arccos \alpha}{\sqrt{1 - \alpha^{2}}}, & |\alpha| < 1, \\ 1, & \alpha = 1, \\ \frac{\log (\alpha + \sqrt{1 - \alpha^{2}})}{\sqrt{1 - \alpha^{2}}}, & \alpha > 1. \end{cases}$$

One can readily see that problem (2.1.6) with $L = L^*(\alpha)$ possesses the nontrivial solution

$$p_{1}(x) = \begin{cases} \alpha \sin(\sqrt{1-\alpha^{2}} x) - \sqrt{1-\alpha^{2}} \cos(\sqrt{1-\alpha^{2}} x), & |\alpha| < 1, \\ x - 1, & \alpha = 1, \\ \alpha \sin(\sqrt{\alpha^{2} - 1} x) - \sqrt{\alpha^{2} - 1} \operatorname{ch}(\sqrt{\alpha^{2} - 1} x), & \alpha > 1, \end{cases}$$
$$p_{2}(x) = \begin{cases} \sin(\sqrt{1-\alpha^{2}} x), & |\alpha| < 1, \\ x, & \alpha = 1, \\ \operatorname{sh}(\sqrt{\alpha^{2} - 1} x), & \alpha > 1. \end{cases}$$

With these relations in view, we can specify by formulae (2.1.5) the eigenfunctions of the inverse problem (2.1.3).

The function $L^*(\alpha)$ is monotonically decreasing on the semi-axis $(-1, +\infty)$ and takes the following limiting values:

$$\lim_{\alpha \to -1+0} L^*(\alpha) = +\infty, \qquad \qquad \lim_{\alpha \to +\infty} L^*(\alpha) = 0.$$

From such reasoning it seems clear that for any L > 0 the inverse problem (2.1.3) has the eigenfunctions of exponential type $\alpha > -1$. Due to this fact another conclusion can be drawn that if the exponential type $\alpha > -1$ is held fixed and $L > L^*(\alpha)$, then a solution of the inverse problem turns out to be nonunique in the class of functions of this exponential type.

Returning to the x-hyperbolic system in the general statement (2.1.2) we assume now that the function G is representable by

(2.1.8)
$$G(x,t) = H(x,t) p(x),$$

where an $n \times n$ -matrix H(x,t) is known, while the unknown vector function p is sought. Under the approved form (2.1.2), we restrict ourselves to the case where det $K \neq 0$. Assume also that the eigenvalues k_1, \ldots, k_n of the matrix K are bounded and continuously differentiable in the domain $\{0 \le x \le L, t \ge 0\}$. In addition, let $k_i < 0$ for $1 \le i \le s$ and let $k_i > 0$ for $s < i \le n$ $(0 \le s \le n)$.

With these ingredients, we may set up the inverse problem of finding a pair of the functions

$$v(x,t) \in C^1, \qquad p(x) \in C,$$

which must satisfy relations (2.1.2) and (2.1.8) together with the supplementary conditions

(2.1.9)
$$\begin{cases} v(x,0) = \varphi(x), & 0 \le x \le L, \\ v_i(0,t) = \psi_i(t), & t \ge 0, & 1 \le i \le s, \\ v_i(L,t) = \psi_i(t), & t \ge 0, & s < i \le n. \end{cases}$$

Given a vector $v = (x_1, \ldots, v_n) \in \mathbf{R}^n$, the norm on that space is defined by

$$||v|| = \max_{1 \le i \le n} |v_i|.$$

The associated operator matrix norm ||A|| of an $n \times n$ -matrix A is specified by

$$||A|| = \sup_{\|v\|=1} ||Av||.$$

When providing the uniqueness of a solution, we should restrict ourselves to the class of functions being of great importance in the sequel and satisfying the condition of exponential growth like

(E)
$$||v_t(x,t)|| \le c \exp\{bt\}.$$

The following theorem is the precise formulation of one profound result.

Theorem 2.1.2 Let D, H, $\partial D/\partial t$ and $\partial H/\partial t$ be continuous functions. One assumes, in addition, that K and ψ are continuously differentiable and $||D|| \leq M$, $||\partial D/\partial t|| \leq M$, $||\partial H/\partial t|| \leq M$, $||\partial K/\partial t|| \leq M$, $||K|| \leq \beta$, $||\psi'(t)|| \leq a \exp{\{\alpha t\}}$

and

$$|\det H(x,0)| \geq \gamma > 0$$

with certain constants M, a, α , β and γ . Then there exist constants b, c and $L_0 > 0$ such that for $L < L_0$ and any continuously differentiable function φ satisfying the compatibility conditions

$$\varphi_i(0) = \psi_i(0), \qquad 1 \le i \le s,$$

and

$$\varphi_i(L) = \psi_i(0), \qquad s < i \le n,$$

the inverse problem (2.1.2), (2.1.8), (2.1.9) has a solution in the class of functions satisfying condition (E).

Proof A key role in the current proof is played by the characteristic $\tau_i(\xi; x, t)$ satisfying the system

(2.1.10)
$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\tau_i}{d\xi} = k_i(\xi, \tau_i), \\ \tau_i(x; x, t) = t, \end{cases}$$

and passing through a point (x, t). Because of the representation

$$\frac{d}{d\xi} v_i \big(\xi, \tau_i(\xi; x, t)\big) = \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x} + k_i \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial t}$$

,

we can integrate each component of (2.1.2). The outcome of this is

(2.1.11)
$$v_i(x,t) = \psi_i(T_i(x,t)) + \int_{\alpha_i}^x (-Dv + Hp)_i d\xi,$$

where

$$T_i(x,t) = au_i(lpha_i;x,t), \qquad lpha_i = \left\{egin{array}{cc} 0\,, & 1\leq i\leq s\,,\ L\,, & s< i\leq n\,. \end{array}
ight.$$

Putting these together with (2.1.9) we arrive at the relations

(2.1.12)
$$\varphi_i(x,t) - \psi_i(T_i(x,0)) = \int_{\alpha_i}^x (-Dv + Hp)_i d\xi,$$

which should be rearranged for the new functions

$$w_i(x,t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} v_i(x,t).$$

As a final result we get

(2.1.13)
$$v_i(x,t) = \varphi_i(x) + \int_0^t w_i(x,\tau) d\tau$$

By differentiating (2.1.11) and (2.1.12) with respect to t and x, respectively, and involving (2.1.13) we derive the system of equations

$$(2.1.14) w_i(x,t) = \Phi_i(x,t) + \int_{\alpha_i}^x (K_1 w)_i d\xi + \int_{\alpha_i}^x \int_0^{\tau_i} (K_2 w)_i d\tau d\xi + \int_{\alpha_i}^x (K_3 p)_i d\xi ,$$

$$(2.1.15) (H(x,0) p(x))_i = \tilde{\Phi}_i(x) + \int_{\alpha_i}^x (\tilde{K}_1 w)_i d\xi + \int_{\alpha_i}^x \int_0^{\tau_i} (\tilde{K}_2 w)_i d\tau d\xi + \int_{\alpha_i}^x (\tilde{K}_3 p)_i d\xi$$

related to the new variables

$$\Phi_i(x,t) = \psi_i'(T_i(x,t)) \frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial t} + \int_{\alpha_i}^x \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial D_{ij}}{\partial t} \frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial t} \varphi_j(\xi) d\xi,$$

$$\begin{split} (K_1)_{ij}(x,t,\xi) &= D_{ij}\left(\xi,\tau_i(\xi;x,t)\right) \frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial t}(\xi;x,t), \\ (K_2)_{ij}(x,t,\xi) &= \frac{\partial D_{ij}}{\partial t}\left(\xi,\tau_i(\xi;x,t)\right) \frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial t}(\xi;x,t), \\ (K_3)_{ij}(x,t,\xi) &= \frac{\partial H_{ij}}{\partial t}\left(\xi,\tau_i(\xi;x,t)\right) \frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial t}(\xi;x,t), \\ \widetilde{\Phi}_i(x) &= \varphi_i'(x) - \psi_i'(T_i(x,0)) \frac{\partial T_i(x,0)}{\partial x} \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^n D_{ij}(x,0) \varphi_j(x) \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{\alpha_i}^x \frac{\partial D_{ij}}{\partial t} \frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial t} \varphi_j(\xi) d\xi, \\ (\widetilde{K}_1)_{ij}(x,\xi) &= -D_{ij}\left(\xi,\tau_i(\xi;x,0)\right) \frac{\partial \tau_i(\xi;x,0)}{\partial x}, \\ (\widetilde{K}_2)_{ij}(x,\xi) &= -\frac{\partial D_{ij}}{\partial t}\left(\xi,\tau_i(\xi;x,0)\right) \frac{\partial \tau_i(\xi;x,0)}{\partial x} \\ (\widetilde{K}_3)_{ij}(x,\xi) &= -\frac{\partial H_{ij}}{\partial t}\left(\xi,\tau_i(\xi;x,0)\right) \frac{\partial \tau_i(\xi;x,0)}{\partial x} \end{split}$$

It is worth noting here two useful expressions for the derivatives

$$\frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial x} (\xi; x, t) = -k_i(x, t) \exp\left\{\int_x^{\xi} \frac{\partial k_i}{\partial t} (\xi, \tau_i(\xi; x, t)) d\xi\right\},\\$$
$$\frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial t} (\xi; x, t) = \exp\left\{\int_x^{\xi} \frac{\partial k_i}{\partial t} (\xi, \tau_i(\xi; x, t)) d\xi\right\}.$$

Under the conditions of the theorem the functions Φ_i , $\tilde{\Phi}_i$, $1 \leq i \leq n$, are really continuous and the matrices K_1 , K_2 , K_3 , \tilde{K}_1 , \tilde{K}_2 and \tilde{K}_3 are continuous and bounded in complete agreement with a simple observation that the inequalities

$$||K|| \leq \beta, \qquad ||K_t|| \leq M$$

assure us of the validity of the estimates

$$\left| \frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial x} \right| \le \beta \exp \left\{ M L \right\}, \qquad \left| \frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial t} \right| \le \exp \left\{ M L \right\}.$$

Most substantial is the fact that the system of the integral equations (2.1.14)-(2.1.15) in the class $w \in C$, $p \in C$ is equivalent (within the substitution formulae) to the inverse problem (2.1.2), (2.1.8), (2.1.9).

Let Ω be a half-strip $\{(x,t): 0 \le x \le L, t \ge 0\}$. The symbol $C(\Omega)$ is used for the space of all pairs of functions

$$r = (w, p) = (w_1, \ldots, w_n, p_1, \ldots, p_n),$$

whose components w_i , $1 \leq i \leq n$, are defined and continuous on the halfstrip Ω and p_i , $1 \leq i \leq n$, are defined and continuous on the segment [0, L]. It will be sensible to introduce in the space $C(\Omega)$ the system of **seminorms**

$$p_{T}(r) = \max_{\substack{0 \leq i \leq n \\ 0 \leq x \leq L \\ 0 \leq t < T}} \left\{ \max \left\{ \left| w_{i}(x,t) \right|, \left| p_{i}(x) \right| \right\} \right\}$$

and the operator A acting in accordance with the rule

$$\bar{r} = (\bar{w}, \bar{p}) = Ar = A(w, p),$$

where the components of a vector \bar{w} are defined by the last three terms in (2.1.14) and \bar{p} is a result of applying the matrix $H(x, 0)^{-1}$ to a vector, the components of which are defined by the last three terms in (2.1.15). Also, we initiate the construction of the vector

$$r_0 = (\Phi_1, \ldots, \Phi_n, \Psi_1, \ldots, \Psi_n), \qquad \Psi = H(x, 0)^{-1} \widetilde{\Phi},$$

by means of which the system of the integral equations (2.1.14)-(2.1.15) can be recast as

$$(2.1.16) r = r_0 + A r.$$

The **Neumann series** may be of help in solving the preceding equation by introducing

(2.1.17)
$$r = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} A^k r_0.$$

In the current situation the derivation of some estimates, making it possible to establish the convergence of (2.1.17) and showing that the sum of the

series in (2.1.17) solves equation (2.1.16), becomes extremely important. This can be done using the **operator of integration**

$$(If)(t) = \int_{0}^{t+\beta l} f(\tau) \ d\tau$$

and the function defined by the recurrence relation

 $I_0(t) = 1$, $I_k(t) = I(I_{k-1}(t))$.

The components of the image of the kth power of any operator A are denoted by

$$(\bar{w}_1^{(k)},\ldots,\bar{w}_n^{(k)},\bar{p}_1^{(k)},\ldots,\bar{p}_n^{(k)}n) = A^k(w_1^{(k)},\ldots,w_n^{(k)},p_1^{(k)},\ldots,p_n^{(k)}n)$$

With the obvious relation $||K|| \le \beta$ in view, the characteristic of (2.1.10) satisfies the inequality

$$\tau_i(\xi; x, t) \le t + \beta L, \qquad 1 \le i \le n.$$

As far as the function $I_k(t)$ is nondecreasing and nonnegative, the following estimates are true:

(2.1.18)
$$\int_{0}^{\tau_{i}(\xi;x,t)} d\tau \leq \int_{0}^{t+\beta L} d\tau = I_{1}(t),$$

(2.1.19)
$$\int_{\alpha_i}^x I_k\left(\tau_i(\xi; x, t) + (m-1)\beta L\right) d\xi$$

$$\leq \int_{\alpha_i}^x I_k(t+m\beta L) \ d\xi \leq LI_k(t+m\beta L) ,$$

(2.1.20)
$$\int_{\alpha_i}^x \int_0^{\tau_i} I_k \left(\tau + (m-1)\beta L\right) d\tau d\xi$$

$$\leq L \int_{0}^{t+\beta L} I_k(\tau + (m-1)\beta L) d\tau$$
$$= L \int_{(m-1)\beta L}^{t+m\beta L} I_k(\tau) d\tau \leq L \int_{0}^{(t+m\beta L)+\beta L} I_k(\tau) d\tau$$

$$= L I_{k+1}(t + m\beta L) \,.$$

2.1. Inverse problems for x-hyperbolic systems

It is straightforward to verify the estimates

(2.1.21)
$$|\bar{w}_{i}^{(k)}(x,t)| \leq B^{k} p_{T}(r) \sum_{s=0}^{k} C_{k}^{s} I_{s}(t+k\beta L),$$

(2.1.22)
$$|\bar{p}_i^{(k)}(x)| \le B^k p_T(r) \sum_{s=0}^k C_k^s I_s(t+k\beta L)$$

by appeal to (2.1.18)–(2.1.20) and the well-known recurrence relation for the binomial coefficients

$$C_n^{k-1} + C_n^k = C_{n+1}^k \,.$$

Observe that estimates (2.1.21) and (2.1.22) are valid with constants

$$B = 2 \widetilde{M} \max_{0 \le x \le L} \{ 1, || H(x, 0)^{-1} || \},$$

$$\widetilde{M} = \max_{(x,t) \in \Omega} \{ \max \{ || K_1 ||, || K_2 ||, || K_3 ||, || \widetilde{K}_1 ||, || \widetilde{K}_2 ||, || \widetilde{K}_3 || \} \}$$

as long as $0 \le t \le T - k \beta L$ if $T > k \beta L$. The preceding estimates can be derived by induction on k. We proceed as usual. For k = 1 and $0 \le t \le T - \beta L$ we are led by the replacement of $||K_i||$ and $||\widetilde{K}_i||$ both by their common upper bound \widetilde{M} to the following relations:

$$\begin{split} |\bar{w}_{i}^{(1)}| &\leq \widetilde{M} \, p_{T}(r) \, L + \widetilde{M} \, p_{T}(r) \, L \, I_{1} + \widetilde{M} \, p_{T}(r) \, L \\ &\leq 2 \, \widetilde{M} \, L p_{T}(r) \, (1 + I_{1}) \, , \\ |\bar{p}_{i}^{(1)}| &\leq \| \, H(x,0)^{-1} \, \| \left(\widetilde{M} \, p_{T}(r) \, L \right) \\ &\quad + \widetilde{M} \, p_{T}(r) \, L \, I_{1} + \widetilde{M} \, p_{T}(r) \, L \,) \\ &\leq 2 \, \widetilde{M} \, L \, \| \, H(x,0)^{-1} \, \| \, p_{T}(r) \, (1 + I_{1}) \, , \end{split}$$

which confirm (2.1.21)-(2.1.22) for k = 1. Suppose now that (2.1.21) and

(2.1.22) hold true for k = m - 1. With this in mind, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| \bar{w}_{i}^{(m)}(x,t) \right| &\leq \widetilde{M} \, B^{m-1} p_{T}(r) L \, \sum_{s=0}^{m-1} \, C_{m-1}^{s} \, I_{s}(t+m\beta L) \\ &+ \widetilde{M} \, B^{m-1} p_{T}(r) \, L \, \sum_{s=0}^{m-1} \, C_{m-1}^{s} \, I_{s+1}(t+m\beta L) \\ &+ \widetilde{M} \, B^{m-1} \, p_{T}(r) \, L \, \sum_{s=0}^{m-1} \, C_{m-1}^{s} \, I_{s}(t+m\beta L) \\ &\leq (2 \, \widetilde{M} \, L) \, B^{m-1} \, p_{T}(r) \, \sum_{s=0}^{m} \, \left(C_{m-1}^{s} + C_{m-1}^{s-1} \right) \, I_{s}(t+m\beta L) \\ &\leq B^{m} \, p_{T}(r) \, \sum_{s=0}^{m} \, C_{m}^{s} \, I_{s}(t+m\beta L) \, , \end{split}$$

thereby justifying the desired result for (2.1.21). The proof of (2.1.22) is similar to follow.

Furthermore, the function $I_k(t)$ admits the estimate

(2.1.23)
$$I_k(t) \leq \frac{(t+k\beta L)^k}{k!}$$
,

which can be established by induction on k as well. Letting k = 1 we conclude that (2.1.23) follows directly from the definition of $I_k(t)$. If (2.1.23) holds true for k = m - 1, then

$$I_m(t) = \int_0^{t+\beta L} I_{m-1}(\tau) \ d\tau \le \int_0^{t+\beta L} \frac{(\tau + (m-1)\beta L)^{m-1}}{(m-1)!} \ d\tau$$
$$= \frac{(t+m\beta L)^m}{m!} - \frac{((m-1)\beta L)^m}{m!} \le \frac{(t+m\beta L)^m}{m!}$$

This provides sufficient background for the conclusion that (2.1.23) is valid. The well-known inequality $C_k^s \leq 2^k$ for binomial coefficients leads to the chain of relations

$$\sum_{s=0}^{k} C_k^s I_s(t) \le \sum_{s=0}^{k} 2^k \frac{(t+s\beta L)^s}{s!}$$
$$\le \sum_{s=0}^{k} 2^k \frac{(t+k\beta L)^s}{s!}$$
$$\le 2^k \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{(t+k\beta L)^s}{s!}$$
$$= 2^k \exp\left\{t+k\beta L\right\}.$$

Putting $q = 2 B \exp \{3 \beta L\}$ and replacing T by $T + k\beta L$, we deduce from (2.1.21) and (2.1.22) that

(2.1.24)
$$p_T(A^k r) \le q^k e^T p_{T+k\beta L}(r).$$

We now proceed to estimate the seminorms of the element r_0 . As stated above,

$$\tau_i(\xi; x, t) \le t + k \,\beta \,L$$

and, therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi_i'(T_i(x,t))| &\leq a \exp{\{\alpha T_i\}} \\ &\leq a \exp{\{\alpha t + \alpha \beta L\}} \\ &= a \exp{\{\alpha \beta L\}} \exp{\{\alpha t\}} \end{aligned}$$

Since the values $\partial D_{ij}/\partial t$, $\partial \tau_i/\partial t$ and $\partial T_i/\partial t$ are bounded,

$$|\Phi_i(x,t)| \leq c_0 \exp\{\alpha t\},\$$

yielding

(2.1.25)
$$p_T(r_0) \le c_1 \exp\{\alpha T\}.$$

All this enables us to estimate the members of Neumann's series in (2.1.17). From (2.1.24)-(2.1.25) it follows that

$$p_T(A^k r_0) \le c_1 \exp\left\{\left(\alpha + 1\right)T\right\} \left[q \exp\left\{\alpha \beta L\right\}\right]^k.$$

With the aid of the last inequality we try to majorize the series in (2.1.17) by a convergent geometric progression keeping $q \exp{\{\alpha \beta L\}} < 1$. Having stipulated this condition, the series in (2.1.17) converges uniformly over $0 \le t \le T$ and

(2.1.26)
$$p_T(r) \le \frac{c_1 \exp\{(\alpha + 1)T\}}{1 - q \exp\{\alpha \beta L\}}$$

It follows from the foregoing that (2.1.17) is just a solution to equation (2.1.16) and this solution is of exponential growth in agreement with relation (2.1.26).

The quantity $q \exp{\{\alpha \beta L\}}$ of the form

4
$$\widetilde{M} L \max_{0 \le x \le L} \{1, || H(x, 0)^{-1} ||\} \exp\{3\beta L\} \exp\{\alpha \beta L\}$$

is continuous and monotonically increasing as a function of L and vanishes for L = 0. Hence there exists $L_0 > 0$ such that for $L < L_0$

$$q \exp\left\{\alpha \beta L\right\} < 1$$

and, therefore, the inverse problem at hand possesses a solution of proper form. Thus, the theorem is completely proved. \blacksquare

Theorem 2.1.3 Let D, H, D_t and H_t be continuous functions and let K be a continuously differentiable function. If

$$|| D || \le M, || D_t || \le M, || H_t || \le M,$$
$$|| K || \le \beta, || \det H(x, 0) |\ge \gamma > 0$$

with certain positive constants M, β and γ , then for any b > 0 there exists $L_1 > 0$ such that for $L < L_1$ the inverse problem (2.1.2), (2.1.8), (2.1.9) can have at most one solution in the class of functions satisfying the estimate

 $||v_t|| \le c \exp\left\{bt\right\}.$

Proof This assertion will be proved if we succeed in showing that the homogeneous equation corresponding to (2.1.16) has a trivial solution only. Let r = A r and

 $p_T(r) \leq c_1 \exp\left\{b T\right\}.$

Since $A^k r = r$, relation (2.1.24) implies that

$$(2.1.27) p_T(r) = p_T(A^k r) \le c_1 \left[q \exp\left\{ b \beta L \right\} \right]^k \exp\left\{ (b+1) T \right\}.$$

Hence, if we choose L_1 so as to satisfy $q \exp\{b \beta L\} < 1$ for $L < L_1$, then the relation $p_T(r) = 0$ is attained by letting $k \to \infty$ in (2.1.27) and is valid for any T. But it is possible only if r = 0 and thereby the theorem is completely proved. Of particular interest is the situation in which the matrix K has fixed sign. Under the assumption imposed above the existence and uniqueness of a solution of the inverse problem concerned are obtained for any L. For the sake of definiteness, the case of negative eigenvalues will appear in more a detailed exposition.

Theorem 2.1.4 Let D, H, D_t and H_t be continuous functions and let φ , ψ and K be continuously differentiable functions. One assumes, in addition, that

$$\begin{split} \|D\| &\leq M , \quad \|D_t\| \leq M , \quad \|H_t\| \leq M , \quad \|K_t\| \leq M , \quad \|K\| \leq \beta , \\ \|\psi'(t)\| &\leq a \, \exp\{\alpha t\} , \quad |\det H(x,0)| \geq \gamma > 0 , \quad \varphi(0) = \psi(0) , \\ &-k_i(x,t) \geq \gamma \quad in \quad \Omega \qquad (1 \leq i \leq n) \end{split}$$

with certain constants M, β , γ and a. Then in the domain Ω the inverse problem (2.1.2), (2.1.8), (2.1.9) has a solution

$$v \in C^1, \qquad p \in C, \qquad ||v_t|| \le c \exp\left\{b\,t\right\}$$

and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions.

Proof The proof of the existence of a solution under the above agreements is carried out as usual. This amounts to fixing a point $(x, t) \in \Omega$ and considering characteristic (2.1.10). Upon integrating along this characteristic we arrive at relations (2.1.11) and (2.1.12), where all the α_i 's are equal to zero. After differentiating we get the system of equations (2.1.14)-(2.1.15) of the second kind which can be rewritten in the concise form (2.1.16).

The idea behind derivation of the estimates in question is to refer, in addition to the operator I, to another integration operator J with the values

$$(Jf)(x) = \int_0^x f(\xi) d\xi$$

The symbol $J_k(x)$ stands for the functions defined by the recursion

$$J_0(x) \equiv 1$$
, $J_k(x) = J(J_{k-1}(x))$.

Using the well-known expression

$$J_k(x) = \frac{x^k}{k!} ,$$

we replace (2.1.21)-(2.1.22) by the following estimates:

$$|\bar{w}_{i}^{(k)}(x,t)| \leq B^{k} p_{T}(r) J_{k}(x) \sum_{s=0}^{k} C_{k}^{s} I_{s}(t+k\beta L),$$
$$|\bar{p}_{i}^{(k)}(x)| \leq B^{k} p_{T}(r) J_{k}(x) \sum_{s=0}^{k} C_{k}^{s} I_{s}(t+k\beta L).$$

In this line, one useful inequality

$$p_T(A^k r) \le \frac{q^k L^k}{k!} \exp T p_{T+k\beta L}(r)$$

will be involved in place of (2.1.24) and will be useful in the estimation of the sum of Neumann's series:

$$p_T(r) \le c_1 \exp\left\{(\alpha+1)T\right\} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left[q \exp\left\{\alpha \beta L\right\}\right]^k}{k!}$$
$$= c_1 \exp\left\{q \exp\left\{\alpha \beta L\right\}\right\} \exp\left\{(\alpha+1)T\right\}.$$

Further reasoning is similar to the proof of Theorem 2.1.2.

To prove the uniqueness here one should reproduce almost word for word the corresponding arguments adopted in proving Theorem 2.1.3 by replacing the value $[q \exp \{b \beta L\}]^k$ by $[q \exp \{b\beta L\}]^k / k!$. As $k \to \infty$, the last sequence tends to 0 for any L, thereby justifying the assertion of the theorem.

In view of the solution uniqueness established for the inverse problem of finding the right-hand side function, one can easily prove the uniqueness theorem for inverse problems of recovering other coefficients of the governing equations. The methodology of the considered problem provides proper guidelines for subsequent investigations.

Let us consider the nonlinear inverse problem of finding a matrix D = D(x) built into the system (2.1.2). As the total number of unknown coefficients $d_{ij}(x)$, $1 \le i \le n$, $1 \le j \le n$, of the matrix D is equal to n^2 , it is reasonable to absorb more information on the boundary behavior of n solutions of the system

$$(2.1.28) \quad \begin{cases} v^{(k)}(x,0) = \varphi^{(k)}(x), & 0 \le x \le L, & 1 \le k \le n, \\ v^{(k)}_i(0,t) = \psi^{(k)}_i(x), & t \ge 0, & 1 \le i \le s, & 1 \le k \le n, \\ v^{(k)}_i(L,t) = \psi^{(k)}_i(x), & t \ge 0, & s < i \le n, & 1 \le k \le n. \end{cases}$$

In general, the solutions sought correspond to different right-hand side functions

$$G(x,t) = G^{(k)}(x,t), \qquad 1 \le k \le n,$$

which are assumed to be available.

Other ideas are connected with some reduction (within the aspect of uniqueness) of the nonlinear coefficient inverse problem in view to the linear inverse problem we have resolved earlier. In preparation for this, we introduce the vector function $\mathbf{v} = (v^{(1)}, v^{(2)}, \ldots, v^{(n)})$ and the diagonal hypermatrix \widehat{K} with *n* blocks on the main diagonal, each of which coincides with the matrix *K*. We deal also with the partitioned matrix \widehat{D} composed of $n \times n$ -blocks \widehat{D}_{ij} , $1 \le i \le n$, $1 \le j \le n$. In the block \widehat{D}_{ij} the *j*th row coincides with the vector $v^{(i)}$ and the others are taken to be zero. By a vector **G** we mean one whose components are identical with vectors $G^{(k)}$, that is, $\mathbf{G} = (G^{(1)}, G^{(2)}, \ldots, G^{(n)})$. By merely setting

$$\mathbf{p} = (d_{11}, d_{12}, \dots, d_{1n}, d_{21}, d_{22}, \dots, d_{2n}, \dots, d_{n1}, d_{n2}, \dots, d_{nn})$$

the augmented system for the vector \mathbf{v} reduces to

(2.1.29)
$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x} + \hat{K} \; \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t} + \hat{D} \mathbf{p} = \mathbf{G} \; .$$

Assume that the inverse problem of recovering a matrix D has two distinct solutions $(\mathbf{v}^{(1)}, \mathbf{p}^{(1)})$ and $(\mathbf{v}^{(2)}, \mathbf{p}^{(2)})$, where the vectors $\mathbf{p}^{(1)}$ and $\mathbf{p}^{(2)}$ are put in correspondence with the matrices $D^{(1)}$ and $D^{(2)}$, respectively. By introducing $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{v}^{(2)} - \mathbf{v}^{(1)}$ we subtract equation (2.1.29) written for $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}^{(2)}$ from the same equation but written for $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}^{(1)}$. As a final result we get the inverse problem to be investigated:

$$(2.1.30) \qquad \begin{cases} \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial x} + \widehat{K} \ \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} + \widehat{D}^{(2)} \mathbf{u} = \widehat{H} \mathbf{\Phi}, \\ \mathbf{u}(x,0) = 0, \qquad 0 \le x \le L, \\ u_i^{(k)}(0,t) = 0, \qquad t \ge 0, \quad 1 \le i \le s, \quad 1 \le k \le n, \\ u_i^{(k)}(L,t) = 0, \qquad t \ge 0, \quad s < i \le n, \quad 1 \le k \le n, \end{cases}$$

where $\widehat{D}^{(2)}$ stands for the diagonal hypermatrix with *n* blocks on the main diagonal, each of which coincides with the matrix $D^{(2)}$; \widehat{H} denotes the matrix $-\widehat{D}$ associated with $\mathbf{v}^{(1)}$ and

$$\mathbf{\Phi} = \mathbf{p}^{(2)} - \mathbf{p}^{(1)}.$$
It is appropriate to mention that, because of its statement, the coefficient inverse problem can be treated as a linear inverse problem of the type (2.1.2), (2.1.8), (2.1.9). Note that the determinant of the matrix $\hat{H}(x, 0)$ is of the form

$$\det \widehat{H}(x,0) = \left[\det \begin{pmatrix} \varphi_1^{(1)}(x) & \dots & \varphi_n^{(1)}(x) \\ \dots & \dots & \dots \\ \varphi_1^{(n)}(x) & \dots & \varphi_n^{(n)}(x) \end{pmatrix} \right]^n$$

The following corollary can easily be deduced by applying Theorem 2.1.3 to b = 0.

Corollary 2.1.1 Let $K \in C^1$, $||K|| \leq \beta$, $||K_t|| \leq M$ and let $\det(\varphi_j^{(i)}(x)) \neq 0$. Then there exists a number $L_0 > 0$ such that for $L < L_0$ the inverse problem (2.1.2), (2.1.28) can have at most one solution in the class of functions

 $v^{(k)} \in C^1$, $||v_t^{(k)}|| \le M$, $1 \le k \le n$; $D(x) \in C$.

2.2 Inverse problems for t-hyperbolic systems

In this section the system (2.1.1) is supposed to be **t-hyperbolic**. By definition, this means an alternative form of writing

(2.2.1)
$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} + K \frac{\partial v}{\partial x} + D v = G$$

where K is a diagonal matrix with entries $k_{ij} = k_i \delta_{ij}$ and δ_{ij} is, as usual, **Kronecker's delta**. We agree to consider the right-hand side function in the form

$$G(x,t) = H(x,t) p(t),$$

where an $n \times n$ -matrix H is known and the unknown vector function p is sought. When recovering a pair of the functions $\{v, p\}$ in such a setting, equation (2.2.1) has to be supplied by the boundary condition

$$(2.2.2) v|_{\partial\Omega} = \varphi,$$

where $\partial \Omega$ designates the boundary of the half-strip

$$\Omega = \{ (x,t) \colon 0 \le x \le L, \ t \ge 0 \} \,.$$

2.2. Inverse problems for t-hyperbolic systems

The function $\varphi(x,t)$ is assumed to be continuous on $\partial\Omega$ and the functions $\varphi(0,t)$, $\varphi(x,0)$ and $\varphi(L,t)$ are supposed to be continuously differentiable. Let the eigenvalues of the matrix K obey the same properties as before. Recall that $k_i(x,t)$, $1 \leq i \leq n$, are bounded and continuously differentiable in Ω , $k_i < 0$ for $1 \leq i \leq s$ and $k_i > 0$ for $s < i \leq n$. In addition, they are supposed to be bounded away from zero, that is, there exists a positive constant c such that $|k_i(x,t)| \geq c$, $1 \leq i \leq n$, for all $(x,t) \in \Omega$.

Along with the function $\tau_i(\xi; x, t)$ being a solution of problem (2.1.10) we deal with the function $\xi_i(\tau; x, t)$, which for fixed values x and t gives the inverse function of $\tau_i(\xi; x, t)$ and satisfies the system

(2.2.3)
$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\xi_i}{d\tau} = k_i(\xi_i, \tau), \\ \xi_i(t; x, t) = x. \end{cases}$$

After integrating along the characteristics specified by (2.2.3) the inverse problem (2.2.1)-(2.2.2) reduces to a system of integral equations. Let $(\alpha_i(x,t), \beta_i(x,t)), 1 \leq i \leq n$, indicate a point at which the characteristic (2.2.3) intersects the boundary $\partial\Omega$ and $\beta_i(x,t) \leq t$. Putting

$$\Phi_i(x,t) = \varphi_i\Big(\alpha_i(x,t),\beta_i(x,t)\Big), \qquad 1 \le i \le n \,,$$

we integrate the equations of the system (2.2.1) along the characteristic to establish the representations

(2.2.4)
$$v_i(x,t) - \Phi_i(x,t) = \int_{\beta_i(x,t)}^t (-Dv + Hp)_i d\tau, \qquad 1 \le i \le n.$$

The next step is to define the numbers γ_i as follows: $\gamma_i = 0$ for $1 \le i \le s$ and $\gamma_i = L$ for $s < i \le n$ and then set $\varepsilon_i(t) = \varphi_i(\gamma_i, t), \ 1 \le i \le n$. Furthermore, substituting into (2.2.4) x = 0 for $1 \le i \le s$ and x = L for $s < i \le n$ yields

(2.2.5)
$$\varepsilon_i(t) - \Phi_i(\gamma_i, t) = \int_{\beta_i(\gamma_i, t)}^t (-Dv + Hp)_i d\tau, \quad 1 \le i \le n.$$

The new variables

$$w_i = \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x}$$
, $1 \le i \le n$,

are involved in the following relationships:

(2.2.6)
$$v_i(x,t) = \int_{\gamma_i}^x w_i(\xi,t) \ d\xi + \varepsilon_i(t) \ , \qquad 1 \le i \le n \ .$$

Let us differentiate (2.2.4) with respect to x and (2.2.5) with respect to t and eliminate then the functions v_i $(1 \le i \le n)$ from the resulting expressions with the aid of (2.2.6). The tacks and tricks demonstrated permit us to derive the equations

$$(2.2.7) \qquad w_{i}(x,t) = F_{i}(x,t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\int_{\beta_{i}(x,t)}^{t} A_{ij} w_{j} d\tau \right) \\ + \int_{\beta_{i}(x,t)}^{t} \int_{\gamma_{j}}^{\xi_{i}} B_{ij} w_{j} d\xi d\tau + \int_{\beta_{i}(x,t)}^{t} C_{ij} p_{j} d\tau \\ - \sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{ij} (\alpha_{i}(x,t), \beta_{i}(x,t)) \\ \times p_{j} (\beta_{i}(x,t)) \frac{\partial \beta_{i}}{\partial x}(x,t) ,$$

$$(2.2.8) \qquad \sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{ij}(\gamma_{i},t) p_{j}(t) = \widetilde{F}_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{ij} (\alpha_{i}(\gamma_{i},t), \beta_{i}(\gamma_{i},t)) \\ \times p_{j} (\beta_{i}(\gamma_{i},t)) \frac{\partial \beta_{i}}{\partial \tau} (\gamma_{i},t) \\ + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\int_{\beta_{i}(\gamma_{i},t)}^{t} \widetilde{A}_{ij} w_{j} d\tau \right) \\ + \int_{\beta_{i}(\gamma_{i},t)}^{t} \widetilde{C}_{ij} p_{j} d\tau \right)$$

by introducing the set of new notations

$$\begin{split} F_{i}(x,t) &= \frac{\partial \Phi_{i}}{\partial x}(x,t) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{\beta_{i}(x,t)}^{t} \frac{\partial d_{ij}}{\partial x} \frac{\partial \xi_{i}}{\partial x} \varepsilon_{j}(\tau) d\tau \\ &+ \left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij} \left(\alpha_{i}(x,t), \beta_{i}(x,t)\right) \Phi_{j}(x,t)\right] \frac{\partial \beta_{i}}{\partial x} ,\\ A_{ij} &= -d_{ij} \left(\xi_{i}(\tau;x,t),\tau\right) \frac{\partial \xi_{i}}{\partial x} ,\\ B_{ij} &= -\frac{\partial d_{ij}}{\partial x} \frac{\partial \xi_{i}}{\partial x} , \qquad C_{ij} &= \frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial x} \frac{\partial \xi_{i}}{\partial x} ,\\ \widetilde{F}_{i}(t) &= \varepsilon'(t) - \frac{\partial \Phi_{i}}{\partial t}(\gamma_{i},t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}(\gamma_{i},t) \varphi_{j}(\gamma_{i},t) \\ &- \left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij} \left(\alpha_{i}(\gamma_{i},t), \beta_{i}(\gamma_{i},t)\right) \Phi_{j}(\gamma_{i},t)\right] \frac{\partial \beta_{i}}{\partial t} ,\\ \widetilde{A}_{ij} &= d_{ij} \left(\xi_{i}(\tau;\gamma_{i},t),\tau\right) \frac{\partial \xi_{i}}{\partial t} ,\\ \widetilde{B}_{ij} &= \frac{\partial d_{ij}}{\partial x} \frac{\partial \xi_{i}}{\partial t} , \qquad \widetilde{C}_{ij} &= -\frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial x} \frac{\partial \xi_{i}}{\partial t} ,\\ \delta_{i} &= \left\{ \begin{array}{c} L, & 1 \leq i \leq s , \\ 0, & s < i \leq n . \end{array} \right. \end{split}$$

Here d_{ij} and h_{ij} refer to the elements of the matrices D and H, respectively.

In what follows we will assume that the matrices D, H, D_x and H_x are continuous. Under this premise the coefficients of equation (2.2.7) may have discontinuities only on the characteristics $\xi_i(t; \delta_i, 0)$, $1 \leq i \leq n$ (it may happen only with $\partial \Phi_i / \partial x$ and $\partial \beta_i / \partial x$ because other coefficients are continuous). In equation (2.2.8) only the coefficients $\partial \Phi_i / \partial x$ and $\partial \beta_i / \partial x$ may have discontinuities at a single point $T_i = \tau_i(\gamma_i; \delta_i, 0)$. Moreover, all discontinuities appear to be of the first kind. In that case the system of equations (2.2.7)-(2.2.8) being viewed in the class $w \in C$, $p \in C$ with regard to relations (2.2.6) will be equivalent to the inverse boundary value problem (2.2.1)-(2.2.2) in the class $u \in C^1$, $p \in C$.

Let us make the substitution

$$z_i(x,t) = w_i(x,t) + \sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij}\left(\alpha_i(x,t), \beta_i(x,t)\right) p_j\left(\beta_i(x,t)\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \beta_i(x,t),$$

which is inverted by the transform

(2.2.9)
$$w_i(x,t) = z_i(x,t)$$
$$-\sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij}(\alpha_i(x,t),\beta_i(x,t)) p_j(\beta_i(x,t)) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \beta_i(x,t).$$

This yields the following system as far as the functions \boldsymbol{z}_i and \boldsymbol{p}_i are concerned:

$$(2.2.10) z_i(x,t) = F_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \left(\int_{\beta_i}^t A_{ij} z_j d\tau + \int_{\beta_i}^t C_{ij} p_j d\tau \right) \\ + \int_{\beta_i}^t \int_{\gamma_j}^{\xi_i} B_{ij} z_j d\xi d\tau + \int_{\beta_i}^t C_{ij} p_j d\tau \\ - \sum_{j=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^n \left(\int_{\beta_i}^t A_{ij} h_{jk} \frac{\partial \beta_j}{\partial x} p_k d\xi d\tau \right) , \\ (2.2.11) \sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij}(\gamma_i,t) p_j(t) = \widetilde{F}_i(t) \\ + \left[\sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij}(\alpha_i(\gamma_i,t), \beta_i(\gamma_i,t)) p_j(\beta_i(\gamma_i,t)) \right] \frac{\partial \beta_i}{\partial t} \\ + \sum_{j=1}^n \left(\int_{\beta_i}^t \widetilde{A}_{ij} z_j d\tau + \int_{\beta_i}^t \int_{\gamma_j}^{\xi_i} \widetilde{B}_{ij} z_j d\xi d\tau \\ + \int_{\beta_i}^t \widetilde{C}_{ij} p_j d\tau \right) - \sum_{j=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^n \left(\int_{\beta_i}^t \widetilde{A}_{ij} h_{jk} \frac{\partial \beta_j}{\partial x} p_k d\tau \right)$$

2.2. Inverse problems for t-hyperbolic systems

$$+\int\limits_{\beta_i}^t\int\limits_{\gamma_j}^{\xi_i}\widetilde{B}_{ij}h_{jk}\frac{\partial\beta_j}{\partial x}p_k d\xi d\tau\bigg).$$

In trying to derive necessary compatibility conditions one should consider the *i*th equation of the governing system (2.2.1) at the points $(\gamma_i, 0)$ and $(\delta_i, 0)$ and then set $E_i(t) = \varphi_i(L, t)$ for $1 \le i \le s$, $E_i(t) = \varphi_i(0, t)$ for $s < i \le n$ and $\chi(x) = \varphi(x, 0)$. Retaining only the terms containing $p_i(t)$, $1 \le i \le n$, we are led to the relations

(2.2.12)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{ij}(\gamma_i, 0) p_j(0) = \varepsilon'_i(0) + k_i(\gamma_i, 0) \chi'_i(\gamma_i)$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^n d_{ij}(\gamma_i,0)\,\varepsilon_j(0)\,,$$

(2.2.13)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{ij}(\delta_i, 0) p_j(0) = E'_i(0) + k_i(\delta_i, 0) \chi'_i(\delta_i)$$

+
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}(\delta_i, 0) E_j(0)$$

Observe that the right-hand side of (2.2.12) coincides with the values of the function $\tilde{F}_i(t)$ at the point t = 0. Assuming the matrix

$$H_0 \equiv \left(h_{ij}(\gamma_i, t)\right)$$

to be nonsingular and composing the vector $\tilde{\Phi} = H_0^{-1} \tilde{F}$, we conclude that (2.2.12) and (2.2.13) imply the relations

$$(2.2.14) \quad E'_{i}(0) + k_{i}(\delta_{i}, 0) \chi'_{i}(\delta_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}(\delta_{i}, 0) E_{j}(0)$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{ij}(\delta_{i}, 0) \widetilde{\Phi}_{j}(0), \qquad 1 \le i \le n.$$

Theorem 2.2.1 Let $K \in C^1$, $||K|| \leq M$, $k_i < 0$ for $1 \leq i \leq s$, $k_i > 0$ for $s < i \leq n$ and let $|k_i(x,t)| \geq c > 0$, $\varphi \in C$, $\varphi(0,t)$, $\varphi(L,t)$, $\varphi(x,0) \in C^1$ and D, H, D_x , $H_x \in C$. Suppose that det $(h_{ij}(\gamma_i, t)) \neq 0$ and the compatibility conditions (2.2.14) hold. Then there exists a solution $u \in C^1$, $p \in C$ of the inverse problem (2.2.1)-(2.2.2) and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions. **Proof** To prove the theorem, it suffices to establish the existence and uniqueness of the solution of the system of the **integro-functional equations** (2.2.10)-(2.2.11). One way of proceeding is to compose the set of all vector functions

$$r = (z, p) = (z_1, \ldots, z_n, p_1, \ldots, p_n),$$

where the first *n* components are defined in Ω and the remaining ones have the semi-axis $[0, \infty)$ as the common domain of definition. Each such set with the usual operations of addition and multiplication on numbers is a vector space. Let us define there a linear operator *U* acting in accordance with the following rule: the first *n* components of the vector function Urare taken to be the right-hand sides of (2.2.10) with F_i omitted and the last *n* components make up a vector obtained by multiplying the matrix H_0^{-1} by the initial vector, whose components are identical with the right-hand sides of (2.2.11) with \tilde{F}_i omitted. By involving one more vector function

$$r_0 = (F_1, \ldots, F_n, \widetilde{\Phi}_1, \ldots, \widetilde{\Phi}_n)$$

the system of equations (2.2.10)-(2.2.11) can be rewritten as

$$(2.2.15) r = r_0 + U r \,.$$

Let $t_0 = 0$ and $t_1 > 0$. We claim that it is sufficient to solve problem (2.2.1)-(2.2.2) in the rectangle

$$G_1 = \{(x,t): 0 \le x \le L, t_0 \le t \le t_1\}.$$

Indeed, if we have at our disposal a solution of the problem in G_1 , our subsequent reasonings will be connected with further transition from the domain Ω to the domain

$$\Omega_1 = \{ (x, t) \colon 0 \le x \le L, \ t \ge t_1 \} \,.$$

In that case the problem of the same type arises once again. However, we will be concerned with a new boundary function $\varphi_1(x,t)$, which can be constructed as follows: $\varphi_1(x,t)$ is identical with $\varphi(x,t)$ on $\partial\Omega \cap \partial\Omega_1$ and at $t = t_1$ is equal to the problem (2.2.1)-(2.2.2) solution we have found in the domain G_1 . Since equations (2.2.1) are satisfied at the points $(0,t_1)$ and (L,t_1) , the boundary function $\varphi_1(x,t)$ does follow the compatibility conditions as desired. Because of this fact, the inverse problem at hand can be solved in the domain

$$G_2 = \{(x,t): \ 0 \le x \le L, \ t_1 \le t \le t_1\},\$$

where $t_2 > t_1$, etc. By regarding the spacing

$$h = t_1 - t_0 = t_2 - t_1 = \dots = t_k - t_{k-1} = \dots$$

to be fixed we look for a solution of the inverse problem in every domain

$$G_k = \{ (x,t): \ 0 \le x \le L, \ t_{k-1} \le t \le t_k \} \,,$$

by means of which it is possible to construct a solution of (2.2.1)-(2.2.2) from the required class everywhere over Ω .

Setting

$$\mu = \sup_{\substack{x, t \in D \\ 1 \le i \le n}} |k_i(x, t)|$$

we are exploring the inverse problem (2.2.1)-(2.2.2) in the rectangle

$$G = \{ (x,t): \ 0 \le x \le L, \ 0 \le t \le L/\mu \},\$$

bearing in mind that the boundary function is unknown at the point $t = L/\mu$. Now $\beta_i(\gamma_i, t) \equiv 0$ $(1 \le i \le n)$ and this considerably simplifies equations (2.2.11) responsible, in the present framework, for the development of the Volterra integral equations of the second kind.

The system of equations (2.2.10)-(2.2.11) written in the vector form (2.2.15) can be solved by means of successive approximations satisfying the recurrence relations

$$r^{(0)} = r_0$$
, $r^{(k)} = r_0 + U r^{(k-1)}$.

Owing to the choice of the initial approximation and further iterations the functions $z_i^{(k)}(x,t)$ may have discontinuities of the first kind on the characteristic

$$x = \xi_i(t; \delta_i, 0) \,,$$

whereas the functions $\tilde{\Phi}(t)$ and all the approximations $p_i^{(k)}(t)$ should be continuous on the segment $[0, L/\mu]$.

In mastering the difficulties involved due possible discontinuities of the functions $z_i^{(k)}(x,t)$, we try to adapt the functions $w_i^{(k)}(x,t)$ specified by (2.2.9):

$$(2.2.9') \qquad w_i^{(k)}(x,t) = z_i^{(k)}(x,t) - \sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij}(\alpha_i(x,t),\beta_i(x,t))$$
$$\times p_j^{(k)}(\beta_i(x,t)) \ \frac{\partial\beta_i}{\partial x} \ .$$

Observe that they are really continuous on G. To prove this assertion, it is sufficient to reveal the continuity of $w_i^{(k)}(x,t)$ in t at the point (\bar{x},\bar{t}) , lying on the characteristic passing through the point $(\delta_i, 0)$. Via some transform in which the functions $p_j(t)$, $1 \leq j \leq n$, on the left-hand side of (2.2.11) are taken to be $p_j^{(k)}(t)$ and those on the right-hand one are replaced by $p_j^{(k-1)}(t)$ it is not difficult to establish this property. In addition, we write $z_j^{(k-1)}$ instead of z_j and put t = 0. The transform just considered permits us to reduce to zero the terms containing integrals. Consequently, by appeal to the explicit formulae for $\tilde{F}_i(t)$, $1 \leq i \leq n$, we arrive at the recurrence relations

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{ij}(\gamma_{i}, 0) \, p_{j}^{(k)}(0) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{ij}(\gamma_{i}, 0) \, p_{j}^{(k-1)}(0) \,, \qquad 1 \le i \le n \,,$$

which assure us of the validity of the equality

$$p^{(k)}(0) = p^{(k-1)}(0)$$

for any positive integer k. Here we take into account that the matrices $(h_{ii}(\gamma_i, 0))$ are nonsingular. Since $p^{(0)}(t) = \widetilde{\Phi}(t)$, we obtain for any k

$$p^{(k)}(0) = \widetilde{\Phi}(0) \, .$$

Below the symbol Δ is used to indicate the value of the jump with respect to t of a function u defined in the domain G:

$$\Delta u(\bar{x},\bar{t}) = \lim_{t \to \bar{t}+0} u(\bar{x},t) - \lim_{t \to \bar{t}-0} u(\bar{x},t) + U(\bar{x$$

Now by relation (2.2.9') we derive the following expression for the jump of the function $w^{(k)}(x,t)$:

$$\Delta w_i^{(k)} = \Delta z_i^{(k)} - \sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij} p_j^{(k)} \left(\Delta \frac{\partial \beta_i}{\partial x} \right), \qquad 1 \le i \le n$$

From the recurrence relation obtained for the functions $z_i^{(k)}$ by attaching the superscripts k and k-1 to the function z_i on the left-hand and right-hand sides of (2.2.10), respectively, it follows that

$$\Delta z_i^{(k)} = \Delta F_i$$

and, therefore,

$$(2.2.16) \quad \Delta w_i^{(k)} = \Delta F_i - \sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij} p_j^{(k)} \left(\Delta \frac{\partial \beta_i}{\partial x} \right), \qquad 1 \le i \le n.$$

If the point (\bar{x}, \bar{t}) lies on the characteristic $x = \xi_i(t; \delta_i, 0)$, then $\beta_i(\bar{x}, \bar{t}) = 0$ and the variation of the function $p_j^{(k)}$ in (2.2.16) is equal to zero. Consequently, the value of this function equals $\tilde{\Phi}(0)$ and a minor manipulation in (2.2.16) yields

$$(2.2.17) \qquad \Delta w_i^{(k)}(\bar{x},\bar{t}) = E_i'(0) \ \frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial x} (\delta_i\,;\bar{x},\bar{t}) - \chi_i'(\delta_i) \ \frac{\partial \xi_i}{\partial x} (0;\bar{x},\bar{t}) + \sum_{j=1}^n d_{ij}(\delta_i\,,0) E_j(0) \ \frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial x} (\delta_i\,;\bar{x},\bar{t}) - \sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij}(\delta_i\,,0) \widetilde{\Phi}_j(0) \ \frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial x} (\delta_i\,;\bar{x},\bar{t}) .$$

Recall one useful result from mathematical analysis: if x = g(y, p) is the inverse function of a differentiable function y = f(x, p), then

$$f'_x g'_p = -f'_p$$

This formula immediately follows by letting to zero the coefficient at dp on the right-hand side of the identity

$$dy = f'_x \left[g'_y dy + g'_p dp \right] + f'_p dp ,$$

which can be established by formal differentiating of the equality

$$y = f(g(y, p), p)$$

The above remark implies that

$$\frac{\partial \xi_i}{\partial \tau} \cdot \frac{\partial \tau_i}{\partial x} = - \frac{\partial \xi_i}{\partial x}$$

However, $\partial \xi_i / \partial \tau = k_i$ and, given the compatibility conditions (2.2.14), the right-hand side of (2.2.17) equals zero. This provides support for the view that the functions $w_i^{(k)}(x,t)$ should be continuous.

To complete the proof, we introduce a Banach space M(G) consisting of all vector functions

$$r = (z, p) = (z_1, \ldots, z_n, p_1, \ldots, p_n),$$

the first *n* components of which are measurable and bounded in the domain *G* and the remaining *n* components are measurable and bounded on the segment $[0, L/\mu]$. Developing the recurrence relations for $(\bar{z}^{(k)}, \bar{p}^{(k)})$ and $(\bar{z}^{(k-1)}, \bar{p}^{(k-1)})$ from equations (2.2.10)–(2.2.11) and putting

$$U^{k} r = (\bar{z}^{(k)}, \bar{p}^{(k)}),$$

we get the standard Volterra estimates

$$\|\bar{z}^{(k)}\| \leq \frac{(M_0 t)^k}{k!} \|r, M(G)\|,$$

$$\|\bar{p}^{(k)}\| \leq \frac{(M_0 t)^k}{k!} \|r, M(G)\|,$$

where the norm of an element r = (z, p) on that space is defined by

$$|r, M(G)| = \max \{ \sup_{G} ||z||, \sup_{[0, L/\mu]} ||p|| \}.$$

All this enables us to estimate the norm of the kth power of the operator U in the space M(G) as follows:

(2.2.18)
$$||U^k|| \leq \frac{(M_0 T)^k}{k!}$$

where $T = L/\mu$. From (2.2.18) it is clear that for all sufficiently large k the operator U^k becomes a contracting mapping. In turn, this property ensures the convergence of the sequence $\{r^{(k)}\}$ to an element $(z, p) \in M(G)$ in the M(G)-norm. That is to say, the uniform convergence of the sequence $\{z^{(k)}(x,t)\}$ to the function z(x,t) over the domain G and the uniform convergence of the sequence $\{p^{(k)}(t)\}$ to the function p(t) over the segment $[0, t_1]$ occur as $k \to \infty$. In view of (2.2.9'), the functions $\{w^{(k)}(x,t)\}$ converge uniformly over G and the limiting function w(x,t) will be related with z(x,t) and p(t) by (2.2.9). The latter can be derived from (2.2.9') by passing to the limit. The functions w(x,t) and p(t) being continuous must satisfy (2.2.7)-(2.2.8). This proves the existence of the inverse problem solution. The uniqueness here follows from the contraction mapping principle.

2.2. Inverse problems for t-hyperbolic systems

The result obtained applies equally well, in its uniqueness aspect, to the question of uniqueness in the study of problems of recovering other coefficients of the equations concerned. If you wish to explore this more deeply, you might find it helpful first to study the problem of finding a matrix D = D(t) of the system (2.2.1). Additional information is available on the behavior of n solutions of this system on the boundary of the domain Ω . With this, we are looking for the set of functions

$$\left\{v^{(1)}(x,t),\ldots,v^{(n)}(x,t)\right\}$$

and a matrix D(t) from the system

(2.2.19)
$$\frac{\partial v^{(k)}}{\partial t} + K \frac{\partial v^{(k)}}{\partial x} + Dv^{(k)} = g^{(k)}, \qquad 1 \le k \le n,$$

supplied by the boundary condition

(2.2.20)
$$v^{(k)}|_{\partial\Omega} = \varphi^{(k)}, \qquad 1 \le k \le n.$$

The inverse problem so formulated will be reduced to problem (2.2.1)-(2.2.2) once we pass to the augmented system related to the function

$$\mathbf{v} = (v^{(1)}, v^{(2)}, \dots, v^{(n)})$$

and the unknown vector

$$\mathbf{p} = (d_{11}, d_{12}, \ldots, d_{1n}, d_{21}, d_{22}, \ldots, d_{2n}, \ldots, d_{n1}, d_{n2}, \ldots, d_{nn}).$$

Assume that the inverse problem (2.2.19)-(2.2.20) has two solutions $(\mathbf{v}^{(1)}, \mathbf{p}^{(1)})$ and $(\mathbf{v}^{(2)}, \mathbf{p}^{(2)})$. Putting $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}^{(2)} - \mathbf{v}^{(1)}$ we subtract the system (2.2.19) written for $\mathbf{v}^{(2)}$ from the same system but written for $\mathbf{v}^{(1)}$. The outcome of this is

(2.2.21)
$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t} + \widehat{K} & \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x} + \widehat{D} \, \mathbf{v} = \widehat{H} \, \mathbf{p} \,, \\ \mathbf{v}|_{\partial \Omega} = 0 \,, \end{cases}$$

where \hat{K} is a diagonal hypermatrix with *n* blocks on the main diagonal each of which coincides with the matrix K, \hat{D} is a diagonal hypermatrix with *n* blocks on the main diagonal each of which coincides with the matrix $D^{(2)}$ corresponding to the vector $\mathbf{p}^{(2)}$ and \hat{H} is a hypermatrix consisting of $n \times n$ -blocks H_{ij} , $1 \le i \le n$, $1 \le j \le n$. In the block \hat{H}_{ij} the *j*th row coincides with the vector $-\mathbf{v}^{(i)(1)}$ and the others are taken to be zero. Here also $\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{p}^{(2)} - \mathbf{p}^{(1)}$.

In what follows the main object of investigation is a pair of the functions (\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{p}) , for which relations (2.2.21) occur. The determinant arising from the conditions of Theorem 2.2.1 is equal to

$$\begin{bmatrix} \det \begin{pmatrix} \varphi_1^{(1)}(0,t) & \dots & \varphi_n 1^{(1)}(0,t) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \varphi_1^{(n)}(0,t) & \dots & \varphi_n 1^{(n)}(0,t) \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}^s \cdot \\ \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \det \begin{pmatrix} \varphi_1^{(1)}(L,t) & \dots & \varphi_n 1^{(1)}(L,t) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \varphi_1^{(n)}(L,t) & \dots & \varphi_n 1^{(n)}(L,t) \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}^{n-s}, \\ 1 \le i \le n, \quad 1 \le k \le n, \end{bmatrix}$$

where $\varphi^{(k)}$, $1 \le k \le n$, are the vectors of the boundary conditions (2.2.20). But in this respect a profound result has been derived from Theorem 2.2.1 with the following corollary.

Corollary 2.2.1 Let $K \in C^1$, $||K|| \leq M$, $k_i < 0$ for $1 \leq i \leq s$, $k_i > 0$ for $s < i \leq n$ and $|k_i(x,t)| \geq c > 0$, $1 \leq i \leq n$. One assumes, in addition, that det $(\varphi_i^{(k)}(L,t)) \neq 0$ for s = 0, det $(\varphi_i^{(k)}(0,t)) \neq 0$ and det $(\varphi_i^{(k)}(L,t)) \neq 0$ for 0 < s < n and det $(\varphi_i^{(k)}(0,t)) \neq 0$ for s = n. Then the inverse problem (2.2.19)-(2.2.20) can have at most one solution in the class of functions

$$v^{(k)} \in C^1, \qquad 1 \le k \le n; \qquad D \in C.$$

Let us dwell on the question of existence of the inverse problem (2.2.19)-(2.2.20) solution. By employing the methods developed above the existence can be achieved for sufficiently small values of the variable t. Most of the relations established in the proof of Theorem 2.2.1 remain valid if the function v will be replaced by $v^{(k)}$, $1 \le k \le n$, and $g^{(k)}$ will stand in place of Hp. Integrating the equations of the system (2.2.19) along the characteristics yields

(2.2.22)
$$v_i^{(k)}(x,t) - \Phi_i^{(k)}(x,t) = \int_{\beta_i(x,t)}^t (-D v^{(k)} + g^{(k)}) d\tau,$$

(2.2.23)
$$\varepsilon_i^{(k)}(t) - \Phi_i^{(k)}(\gamma_i, t) = \int_{\beta_i(\gamma_i, t)}^t (-D v^{(k)} + g^{(k)}) d\tau .$$

The first step is to insert in the above calculations

$$w_i^{(k)}(x,t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} v_i^{(k)}(x,t),$$

which are inverted by the formulae

(2.2.24)
$$v_i^{(k)}(x,t) = \int_{\gamma_i}^x w_i^{(k)}(\xi,t) \ d\xi + \varepsilon_i^{(k)}(t) \ .$$

The next step in this direction is to differentiate (2.2.22) with respect to x and (2.2.23) with respect to t. Via transform (2.2.24) it is possible to eliminate the functions $v_i^{(k)}$ from the resulting relations and derive the following equations:

$$(2.2.25) \quad w_i^{(k)}(x,t) = F_i^{(k)}(x,t)$$

$$-\sum_{j=1}^n \int_{\beta_i(x,t)}^t d_{ij}(\tau) w_j^{(k)}(\xi_i(\tau;x,t),\tau) \frac{\partial \xi_i}{\partial x} d\tau$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^n d_{ij}(\beta_i(x,t)) \Phi_j^{(k)}(x,t) \frac{\partial \beta_i(x,t)}{\partial x} ,$$

$$(2.2.26) \sum_{j=1}^n d_{ij}(t)\varphi_j^{(k)}(\gamma_i t) = \widetilde{F}_i^{(k)}(t)$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^n d_{ij}(\beta_i(\gamma_i,t)) \Phi_j^{(k)}(\gamma_i,t) \frac{\partial \beta_i}{\partial t}$$

$$-\sum_{j=1}^n \int_{\beta_i(\gamma_i,t)}^t d_{ij}(\tau) w_j^{(k)}(\xi_i(\tau;\gamma_i,t),\tau) \frac{\partial \xi_i}{\partial \tau} d\tau,$$

where

$$F_i^{(k)}(x,t) = \frac{\partial \Phi_i^{(k)}(x,t)}{\partial x} + \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{\beta_i(x,t)}^t \frac{\partial g_i^{(k)}}{\partial x} \frac{\partial \xi_i}{\partial x} d\tau$$
$$- g_i^{(k)}(\alpha_i(x,t), \beta_i(x,t)) \frac{\partial \beta_i}{\partial x}(x,t),$$

2. Inverse Problems for Equations of Hyperbolic Type

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{F}_{i}^{(k)}(t) &= \frac{\partial \Phi_{i}^{(k)}(\gamma_{i}, t)}{\partial t} + g_{i}^{(k)}(\gamma_{i}, t) \\ &- g_{i}^{(k)}(\alpha_{i}(\gamma_{i}, t), \beta_{i}(\gamma_{i}, t)) \frac{\partial \beta_{i}}{\partial t}(\gamma_{i}, t) \\ &+ \int_{\beta_{i}(\gamma_{i}, t)}^{t} \frac{\partial g_{i}^{(k)}}{\partial x} \frac{\partial \xi_{i}}{\partial t} d\tau - \varepsilon_{i}^{(k)'}(t) \end{split}$$

and the functions $\Phi_i^{(k)}(x,t)$ and $\varepsilon_i^{(k)}(t)$ are of the same form as the functions $\Phi_i(x,t)$ and $\varepsilon_i(t)$ involved in (2.2.7)–(2.2.8) once written for the function $v(x,t) = v^{(k)}(x,t), 1 \le k \le n$.

When considered only in the specified domain G, the system of equations (2.2.25)–(2.2.26) is much more simpler, since $\beta_i(\gamma_i, t) \equiv 0, 1 \leq i \leq n$. Replacing the unknown functions with the aid of substitutions

$$(2.2.27) \quad w_i^{(k)}(x,t) = z_i^{(k)}(x,t) + \sum_{j=1}^n d_{ij} \left(\beta_i(x,t)\right) \Phi_j^{(k)}(x,t) \quad \frac{\partial \beta_i(x,t)}{\partial x}$$

we arrive at the system of the Volterra equations

$$(2.2.28) z_i^{(k)}(x,t) = F_i^{(k)}(x,t) + \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{\beta_i(x,t)}^t a_{ij}(\tau) \\ \times z_j^{(k)}(\xi_i,\tau) \frac{\partial \xi_i}{\partial x} d\tau \\ - \sum_{j=1}^n \sum_{m=1}^n \int_{\beta_i(x,t)}^t a_{ij}(\tau) a_{jm}(\beta_j(\xi_i,\tau)) \\ \times \Phi_m^{(k)}(\xi_i,\tau) \frac{\partial \beta_i}{\partial x} \frac{\partial \xi_i}{\partial x} d\tau,$$

$$(2.2.29) \quad \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}(t) \varphi_{j}^{(k)}(\gamma_{i}, t) = \widetilde{F}_{i}^{(k)}(t) \\ - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{\beta_{i}(\gamma_{i}, t)}^{t} d_{ij}(\tau) z_{j}^{(k)}(\xi_{i}, \tau) \frac{\partial \xi_{i}}{\partial \tau} d\tau$$

$$-\sum_{j=1}^{n}\sum_{m=1}^{n}\int_{\beta_{i}(\gamma_{i},t)}^{t}d_{ij}(\tau)d_{jm}\left(\beta_{j}(\xi_{i},\tau)\right)$$
$$\times\Phi_{m}^{(k)}(\xi_{i},\tau)\frac{\partial\beta_{j}}{\partial\tau}\frac{\partial\xi_{i}}{\partial\tau}d\tau.$$

In the derivation of compatibility conditions one should consider the *i*th equation of the governing system (2.2.19) at the points $(\gamma_i, 0)$ and $(\delta_i, 0)$, $1 \leq i \leq n$. By $E_i^{(k)}(t)$ and $\chi_i^{(k)}(x)$ we denote the functions coinciding with $E_i(t)$ and $\chi_i(x)$ introduced above in establishing the compatibility conditions (2.2.12)-(2.2.13). The superscript k there indicates that the functions have been constructed for

$$v(x,t) = v^{(k)}(x,t) .$$

Equations (2.2.19) imply that

(2.2.30)
$$\varepsilon_{i}^{(k)'}(0) + k_{i}(\gamma_{i}, 0) \chi_{i}^{(k)'}(\gamma_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}(0) \varphi_{j}^{(k)}(\gamma_{i}, 0) = g_{i}^{(k)}(\gamma_{i}, 0)$$

and

(2.2.31)
$$E_{i}^{(k)'}(0) + k_{i}(\delta_{i}, 0) \chi_{i}^{(k)'}(\delta_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}(0) \varphi_{j}^{(k)}(\delta_{i}, 0) = g_{i}^{(k)}(\delta_{i}, 0).$$

When the subscript i of the ingredients of (2.2.30) is held fixed, the preceding relations for the unknowns

$$a_{i1}(0), a_{i2}(0), \ldots, a_{in}(0)$$

constitute a system of linear equations with the matrix coinciding with $(\varphi_j^{(k)}(0,0))$ for $1 \leq i \leq s$ and $(\varphi_j^{(k)}(L,0))$ for $s < i \leq n$. Being concerned with invertible matrices we can find the elements a_{ij} for $1 \leq i \leq n, 1 \leq j \leq n$. Consequently, the compatibility conditions are convenient to be presented by relations (2.2.31), whose elements $a_{ij}(0), 1 \leq i \leq n, 1 \leq j \leq n$, should be replaced by their values known from equations (2.2.30).

Theorem 2.2.2 Let $K \in C^1$, $||K|| \leq M$, $k_i < 0$ for $1 \leq i \leq s$, $k_i > 0$ for $s < i \leq n$, and let $|k_i(x,t)| \geq c > 0$, $1 \leq i \leq n$. Let $\varphi^{(k)}(x,t) \in C$, $\varphi^{(k)}(0,t)$, $\varphi^{(k)}(L,t)$, $\varphi^{(k)}(x,0) \in C^1$; $g^{(k)}$, $g_x^{(k)} \in C$ and, in addition, det $(\varphi_i^{(k)}(L,t)) \neq 0$ for s = 0, det $(\varphi_i^{(k)}(0,t)) \neq 0$ and det $(\varphi_i^{(k)}(L,t)) \neq 0$ for 0 < s < n, det $(\varphi_i^{(k)}(0,t)) \neq 0$ for s = n. One assumes that the compatibility conditions (2.2.31), whose ingredients $a_{ij}(0)$ are replaced by their values from equations (2.2.30), hold. Then there exist a time T > 0such that for $t \leq T$ the inverse problem (2.2.19)-(2.2.20) has a solution in the class of functions

$$v^{(k)} \in C^1, \qquad 1 \le k \le n; \qquad D \in C.$$

Proof By exactly the same reasoning as in the proof of Theorem 2.2.1 it is convenient to operate in the domain

$$\Omega_T = \left\{ (x, t) \colon (x, t) \in \Omega, \, t \le T \right\}$$

and the space $M(\Omega_{\tau})$ of all bounded measurable functions

$$r = \left\{ z^{(1)}(x,t), \dots, z^{(n)}(x,t), D(t) \right\}$$

with the norm

$$|r, M(\Omega_T)| = \max_{(x,t)\in\Omega_T} \left\{ \|z^{(1)}(x,t)\|, \dots, \|z^{(n)}(x,t)\|, \|D(t)\| \right\}.$$

Let an operator U be defined by integral terms in relations (2.2.28)–(2.2.29). We choose the "initial" element r_0 in such a way that the system of equations (2.2.28)–(2.2.29) can be written in the form (2.2.15), making it possible to solve the governing system by appeal to the successive approximations

$$r^{(0)} = r_0$$
, $r^{(m)} = r_0 + U r^{(m-1)}$, $m = 1, 2, ...$

Observe that the functions $z^{(k)(m)}(x,t)$ may have discontinuities of the first kind on the characteristics, while the functions $D^{(m)}(t)$ should be continuous. By merely setting t = 0 in (2.2.29) it is easily verified that the values $D^{(m)}(0)$ do not depend on m and coincide with the system (2.2.30) solution. With the aid of (2.2.27) we construct the approximations for $w^{(k)}(x,t), 1 \leq k \leq n$, and observe that the new functions turn out to be continuous in Ω_T by virtue of the compatibility conditions (2.2.31).

The current proof differs from that carried out in the preceding theorem, since the system (2.2.28)-(2.2.29) is nonlinear and its solution can be shown to exist, generally speaking, only for sufficiently small values of the variable t. This completes the proof.

2.2. Inverse problems for t-hyperbolic systems

It seems worthwhile to consider a particular case of problem (2.2.19)–(2.2.20) to help motivate what is done. It is required to find the functions v(x,t) and d(t) from the system of relations

(2.2.32)
$$\begin{cases} v_t + v_x = d(t) v, & 0 \le x \le 1, \quad t \ge 0, \\ v(x,0) = \varphi(x), & 0 \le x \le 1, \\ v(0,t) = 0, & t \ge 0, \\ v(1,t) = 1, & t \ge 0, \end{cases}$$

where

$$arphi(x) = \left\{ egin{array}{ll} 0\,, & 0 \leq x \leq 1-arepsilon\,, \ \left(rac{x+arepsilon-1}{arepsilon}
ight)^2, & 1-arepsilon < x \leq 1\,, \end{array}
ight.$$

and $0 < \varepsilon < 1$. The function $\varphi(x)$ so constructed is continuously differentiable. By the replacement

$$v(x,t) = u(x,t) \exp \left\{ \int_{0}^{t} d(\tau) d\tau \right\}$$

we obtain the equation

$$u_t + u_x = 0,$$

making it possible to derive for the inverse problem (2.2.32) solution the explicit formulae

$$v(x,t) = \begin{cases} 0, & 0 \le x \le 1 - \varepsilon, \\ 0, & x > 1 - \varepsilon, & t \ge x - 1 + \varepsilon, \\ \left(\frac{x - t + \varepsilon - 1}{t - \varepsilon}\right)^2, & x > 1 - \varepsilon, & t < x - 1 + \varepsilon, \\ d(t) = \frac{2}{(t - \varepsilon)^2}, \end{cases}$$

Unfortunately, this solution cannot be continuously extended to the domain $t \ge \varepsilon$ in spite of the fact that all the conditions of Theorem 2.2.2 are satisfied. This example shows that usually a solution of (2.2.19)-(2.2.20) exists only for sufficiently small values t during which we could make the interval of the solution existence as small as we like. We will not pursue analysis of this: the ideas needed to do so have been covered.

2.3 Inverse problems for hyperbolic equations of the second order

Linear hyperbolic partial differential equations of the second order find a wide range of applications in mathematical physics problems. As a rule, they are involved in describing oscillating and wave processes in elastic and electromagnetic mediums. Certain types of hyperbolic systems of the first order can also be reduced to the wave equation. On the other hand, a hyperbolic equation of the second order is, in turn, treated as a hyperbolic system of the first order. In preceding subsections much progress has been achieved for inverse problems with hyperbolic systems. Common practice involves the reduction of the wave equation to such a system.

We now consider in the strip

$$\Omega_T = \left\{ (x, t) \colon x \in \mathbf{R}, \ 0 \le t \le T \right\}$$

the hyperbolic equation of the second order

(2.3.1)
$$u_{tt} = a^2 u_{xx} + b u_x + c u_t + du + F$$

with the supplementary Cauchy data

(2.3.2)
$$\begin{cases} u(x,0) = \varphi(x), & x \in \mathbf{R}, \\ u_t(x,0) = \psi(x), & x \in \mathbf{R}. \end{cases}$$

The subsidiary information about the problem (2.3.1)-(2.3.2) solutions is

$$(2.3.3) u(x_i, t) = \chi_i(t), 0 \le t \le T, 1 \le i \le n.$$

We begin by placing the problem statement for finding a function F(x,t) from (2.3.1)-(2.3.3) under the approved decomposition

(2.3.4)
$$F(x,t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} g_i(x,t) p_i(t) + h(x,t),$$

where $g_i(x,t)$ and h(x,t) are the known functions, while the unknown functions $p_i(t)$, $1 \le i \le n$, are sought. In what follows the coefficient b(x,t) in equations (2.3.1) will be taken to be zero without loss of generality. Indeed, having performed the standard substitution

(2.3.5)
$$u(x,t) = v(x,t) \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2} \int_{x_0}^x \frac{b(\xi,t)}{a^2(\xi,t)} d\xi\right\}$$

we can always come to the same result. For the sake of definiteness, let

$$(2.3.6) x_1 < x_2 < \dots < x_{n-1} < x_n$$

and let the function a(x,t) be positive, bounded and twice continuously differentiable. Currently the object of investigation is the equation of the characteristics $\xi = \xi_i(\tau; x, t)$ passing through a point (x, t)

(2.3.7)
$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\xi_i}{d\tau} = \varepsilon_i a(\xi_i, \tau), \\ \xi_i(t; x, t) = x, \end{cases}$$

where i = 1, 2; $\varepsilon_1 = -1$ and $\varepsilon_2 = 1$.

Theorem 2.3.1 Let a(x,t) > 0, $|a(x,t)| \le M$, $a(x,t) \in C^2$, b(x,t) = 0, $\psi(x) \in C^1$ and let $\varphi(x)$, $\chi_i(t) \in C^2$, $1 \le i \le n$. One assumes, in addition, that $\varphi(x_i) = \chi_i(0)$ and $\psi(x_i) = \chi'_i(0)$ for $1 \le i \le n$. Let c(x,t), d(x,t), $g_i(x,t)$ and h(x,t) be continuous along with their first x-derivatives in the domain Ω_T and let det $(g_i(x_j,t)) \ne 0$. Then in the domain Ω_T there exists a solution of the inverse problem (2.3.1)–(2.3.3) in the class

 $u \in C^2, \qquad p_i \in C, \qquad 1 \le i \le n \,,$

and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions.

Proof There is a need to emphasize the following fact. If the continuous functions p_1 , p_2 and p_3 are known, then the Cauchy (direct) problem (2.3.1)–(2.3.2) will be uniquely solvable in the class of functions $u \in C^2(\Omega_T)$. This feature of the direct problem enables us to consider the inverse problem (2.3.1)–(2.3.3) in any subdomain $\Omega \subset \Omega_T$, for which the functions p_1 , p_2 and p_3 can uniquely be recovered. More specifically, by Ω we mean a bounded closed domain, whose boundary consists of two straight lines t = 0 and t = T, and two graphs of the functions $x = \xi_1(t; x_n, T)$ and $x = \xi_2(t; x_1, T)$.

A possibility of this inverse problem to be localized is based on the assumptions that the functions p_1 , p_2 and p_3 in question depend only on t. Let us show that in the specified domain Ω these functions can uniquely be recovered.

Equation (2.3.1) can be viewed as a system of differential equations related to the replacements $u_t = v$ and $u_x = w$. Writing this as a vector equality we arrive at

$$\begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \\ w \end{pmatrix}_{t} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & a^{2} \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \\ w \end{pmatrix}_{x} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ d & c & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \\ w \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ F \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

107

By the replacements

$$r_1 = u$$
, $r_2 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{v}{a} + w \right)$, $r_2 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{v}{a} - w \right)$

we are led to the canonical form

$$r_t = K r_x + D r + \Phi \,,$$

where

$$r = \begin{pmatrix} r_1 \\ r_2 \\ r_3 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad K = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & a & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -a \end{pmatrix},$$
$$D = \frac{1}{2a} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 2a^2 & 2a^2 \\ d & ac + aa_x - a_t & ac + aa_x - a_t \\ d & ac - aa_x - a_t & ac - aa_x - a_t \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Phi = \frac{1}{2a} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ F \\ F \end{pmatrix}.$$

Additional information provides the validity of the relations

$$v(x_i, t) = u_t(x_i, t) = \chi'_i(t), \qquad 0 \le i \le n,$$

yielding

(2.3.8)
$$a(x_i, t) \left[r_2(x_i, t) + r_3(x_i, t) \right] = \chi'_i(t), \qquad 1 \le i \le n.$$

Keeping the integral along the characteristic

$$\int_{L_i(x,t)} (\varphi) = \int_0^t \varphi(\xi_i(\tau; x, t), \tau) d\tau, \qquad i = 1, 2,$$

and the new parameters

$$B = \frac{d}{2a} , \qquad C = \frac{ac + aa_x - a_t}{2a^2} ,$$
$$E = \frac{ac - aa_x - a_t}{2a^2} , \qquad H = \frac{1}{2a} ,$$
$$\mathbf{p} = (p_1, \dots, p_n) , \qquad \mathbf{g} = (g_1, \dots, g_n) , \qquad \mathbf{p} \mathbf{g} = \sum_{i=1}^n p_i g_i ,$$

108

we prefer to deal with concise expressions which are good enough for our purposes. Other ideas are connected with integral equations which are capable of elucidating many of the facets of current problems. The first equation is obtained by integrating the equality $u_t = v$ as follows:

(2.3.9)
$$u(x,t) = \varphi(x) + \int_{0}^{t} v(x,\tau) d\tau.$$

Let us integrate the second and third equations of the system (2.3.8) along the corresponding characteristics and then add one to another. Multiplying the resulting expressions by a(x,t) and taking into account the relation $a(r_1 + r_3) = v$, we arrive at

(2.3.10)
$$v(x,t) = R(x,t) + a(x,t)$$
$$\times \left[\int_{L_1(x,t)} (Bu + Cv + H\mathbf{g}\mathbf{p}) + \int_{L_2(x,t)} (Bu + Ev + H\mathbf{g}\mathbf{p}) \right],$$

where

$$R(x,t) = a(x,t) \left[r_2(\xi_1, 0) + r_3(\xi_2, 0) \right] + a(x,t) \left[\int_{L_1(x,t)} \left(\frac{h}{2a} \right) + \int_{L_2(x,t)} \left(\frac{h}{2a} \right) \right].$$

Since

$$r_2(x,0) = \frac{1}{2a} \ \psi(x) + \frac{1}{2} \ \varphi'(x)$$

and

$$r_3(x,0) = \frac{1}{2a} \ \psi(x) - \frac{1}{2} \ \varphi'(x) \,,$$

one might expect that the function R(x,t) is known. The remaining integral equations can be derived by merely inserting $x = x_i$, $1 \le i \le n$, in (2.3.10). By the same token,

(2.3.11)
$$\chi'_{i}(t) = R(x_{i}, t) + a(x_{i}, t)$$
$$\times \left[\int_{L_{1}(x_{i}, t)} (Bu + Cv + Hg \mathbf{p}) + \int_{L_{2}(x_{i}, t)} (Bu + Ev + Hg \mathbf{p}) \right].$$

Our further step is to differentiate relations (2.3.9)-(2.3.11). To avoid cumbersome expressions, it is reasonable to introduce the following notations for the function $\mathcal{F}(x,t)$ of two independent variables:

(2.3.12)
$$\mathcal{F}_i(\tau, x, t) = \frac{d}{dx} \mathcal{F}(\xi_i(\tau; x, t), \tau),$$

(2.3.13)
$$\mathcal{F}_{i+2}(\tau, x, t) = \mathcal{F}(\xi_i, \tau) \frac{d\xi_i}{dx}$$

(2.3.14)
$$\mathcal{F}_{i+4}(\tau, x, t) = \frac{d}{dt} \mathcal{F}(\xi_i, \tau),$$

(2.3.15)
$$\mathcal{F}_{i+6}(\tau, x, t) = \mathcal{F}(\xi_i, \tau) \frac{d\xi_i}{d\tau}$$

In formulae (2.3.12)-(2.3.15) the subscript *i* takes the values 1 and 2. The intervention of a new unknown function $z(x,t) = v_x(x,t) = u_{xt}(x,t)$ complements the notation of the integral along characteristics. If $\mathcal{F}(\tau, x, t)$ is an arbitrary function of three variables and X(x,t) refers to each of the functions u, v, w, z and p, one trick we have encountered is to adopt

$$\int_{L_i(x,t)} (\mathcal{F}X) = \int_0^t \mathcal{F}(\tau, x, t) X(\xi_i(\tau; x, t), \tau) d\tau, \qquad i = 1, 2.$$

Ē

Differentiating relation (2.3.9) with respect to x yields

(2.3.16)
$$w(x,t) = \varphi'(x) + \int_{0}^{t} z(x,\tau) \ d\tau \ .$$

One more relation, namely,

$$(2.3.17) \quad z(x,t) = \frac{\partial R(x,t)}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial a(x,t)}{\partial x} \left[\int_{L_1(x,t)} (Bu + Cv + H\mathbf{g}\mathbf{p}) + \int_{L_2(x,t)} (Bu + Ev + H\mathbf{g}\mathbf{p}) \right] + a(x,t)$$

$$\times \left[\int_{L_1(x,t)} (B_1 u + C_1 v + (H\mathbf{g})_1 \mathbf{p} + B_3 w + C_3 z) + \int_{L_2(x,t)} (B_2 u + E_2 v + (H\mathbf{g})_2 \mathbf{p} + B_4 w + D_4 z) \right]$$

is a result of differentiating equation (2.3.10) with respect to x.

Let us introduce one of the integration operators acting in accordance with the rule

$$I[\mathcal{F}(x,t)] = \int_{x_1}^x \mathcal{F}(\xi,t) \ d\xi \ .$$

By definition,

$$u(x,t) = I[w(x,t)] + \chi_1(t)$$

and

$$v(x,t) = I[z(x,t)] + \chi'_1(t)$$

and equation (2.3.17) takes the form

$$(2.3.18) z(x,t) = \psi(x,t) + \frac{\partial a(x,t)}{\partial x} \left[\int_{L_1(x,t)} (BIw + CIz + Hg \mathbf{p}) + \int_{L_2(x,t)} (BIw + EIz + Hg \mathbf{p}) \right] \\ + a(x,t) \left[\int_{L_1(x,t)} (B_1 Iw + C_1 Iz + (Hg)_1 \mathbf{p} + B_3 w + C_3 z) + \int_{L_2(x,t)} (B_2 Iw + E_2 Iz + (Hg)_2 \mathbf{p} + B_4 w + E_4 z) \right],$$

where

$$\psi(x,t) = \frac{\partial R(x,t)}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial a(x,t)}{\partial x}$$
$$\times \left[\int_{L_1(x,t)} (B\chi_1 + C\chi_1') \right]$$

$$+ \int_{L_{2}(x,t)} (B\chi_{1} + E\chi'_{1}) \bigg] \\+ a(x,t) \bigg[\int_{L_{1}(x,t)} (B_{1}\chi_{1} + C_{1}\chi'_{1}) \\+ \int_{L_{2}(x,t)} (B_{2}\chi_{1} + E_{2}\chi'_{1}) \bigg].$$

Differentiating (2.3.11) with respect to t and denoting by $G_{ij}(t)$, $1 \le i \le n$, $1 \le j \le n$, the elements of the inverse of $(g_i(x_j, t))$, the resulting equations are solved with respect to the values $p_i(t)$, $1 \le i \le n$, leading to the decompositions

$$(2.3.19) p_i(t) = H_i(t) - \sum_{j=1}^n G_{ij}(t) \left\{ \frac{\partial a(x_j, t)}{\partial t} \\ \times \left[\int_{L_1(x_j, t)} (BIw + CIz + (Hg) \mathbf{p}) \\ + \int_{L_2(x_j, t)} (BIw + EIz + (Hg) \mathbf{p}) \right] \\ + a(x_j, t) \left[\int_{L_1(x_j, t)} (B_5 Iw + C_5 Iz) \\ + (Hg)_5 \mathbf{p} + B_7 w + C_7 z) \\ + \int_{L_2(x_j, t)} (B_6 Iw + E_6 Iz) \\ + (Hg)_6 \mathbf{p} + B_8 w + E_9 z) \right] \right\},$$

where

$$H_i(t) = \sum_{j=1}^n G_{ij}(t) \left[\chi_i''(t) - \frac{\partial R(x_j, t)}{\partial t} - d(x_j, t) \chi_j(t) \right]$$

2.3. Inverse problems for hyperbolic equations of the second order

$$-\left(a(x_{j},t)c(x_{j},t)-\frac{\partial a(x_{j},t)}{\partial t}\right)\frac{\chi_{j}'(t)}{a(x_{j},t)}$$
$$-\frac{\partial a(x_{j},t)}{\partial t}\left[\int_{L_{1}(x_{j},t)}(B\chi_{1}+C\chi_{1}')\right]$$
$$+\int_{L_{2}(x_{j},t)}(B\chi_{1}+E\chi_{1}')\right]$$
$$-a(x_{j},t)\left[\int_{L_{1}(x_{j},t)}(B_{5}\chi_{1}+C_{5}\chi_{1}')\right]$$
$$+\int_{L_{2}(x_{j},t)}(B_{6}\chi_{1}+E_{6}\chi_{1}')\right].$$

Let us assure ourselves that the system (2.3.16), (2.3.18), (2.3.19) in the class $w, z, \mathbf{p} \in C$ is equivalent to the inverse problem (2.3.1)–(2.3.4) in the class $u \in C^2$, $\mathbf{p} \in C$. Assume that the functions w, z and p satisfy the system (2.3.16), (2.3.18), (2.3.19). Furthermore, setting

$$u(x,t) = \int_{x_1}^x w(\xi,t) \ d\xi + \chi_1(t) \ , \quad v(x,t) = \int_{x_1}^x z(\xi,t) \ d\xi + \chi_1'(t)$$

we integrate equation (2.3.16) over x. After scrutinising the compatibility conditions we deduce that $v = u_t$, $w = u_x$, $z = u_{xt}$, $v(x_1, t) = \chi'_1(t)$, $u(x_1, t) = \chi_1(t)$ and $u(x, 0) = \varphi(x)$. Hence equality (2.3.9) holds true.

Observe that relations (2.3.19) are equivalent to those derived from (2.3.11) by differentiation. Just for this reason (2.3.11) can be recovered up to constants equal to zero by virtue of the compatibility conditions

$$\chi'_1(0) = R(x_i, 0), \qquad 1 \le i \le n.$$

Similarly, equation (2.3.10) is reconstructed from (2.3.18) up to a function depending on t. It turns out that a vanishing function happens to be at our disposal if we assume here $x = x_i$ and apply equality (2.3.11) to i = 1. Therefore, the system (2.3.9)–(2.3.11) is an implication of the system (2.3.16), (2.3.18), (2.3.19). Moreover,

$$v(x,0) = R(x,0) = \psi(x)$$
.

113

Substituting $x = x_i$ into (2.3.10) and recalling (2.3.11) yield $v(x_i, t) = \chi'_i(t)$ for $1 \le i \le n$. Whence the compatibility conditions

$$\varphi(x_i) = \chi_i(0), \qquad 1 \le i \le n,$$

provide $u(x_i, t) = \chi_i(t)$, thus causing the occurrence of relations (2.3.2)-(2.3.3).

It remains to verify whether the function u(x,t) satisfies equation (2.3.1). We proceed as usual. This amounts to inserting the new functions

(2.3.20)

$$r_{1}(x,t) = u(x,t),$$

$$r_{2}(x,t) = R_{2}(x,t)$$

$$+ \int_{L_{1}(x,t)} \left(Bu + Cv + Hg \mathbf{p} + \frac{h}{2a} \right),$$

$$r_{3}(x,t) = R_{3}(x,t)$$

$$+ \int_{L_{2}(x,t)} \left(Bu + Ev + Hg \mathbf{p} + \frac{h}{2a} \right)$$

with

$$R_{2}(x,t) = \frac{1}{2 a(\xi_{1}(0;x,t),0)} \psi(\xi_{1}(0;x,t)) + \frac{1}{2} \varphi'(\xi_{1}(0;x,t)),$$

$$R_{3}(x,t) = \frac{1}{2 a(\xi_{2}(0;x,t),0)} \psi(\xi_{2}(0;x,t)) - \frac{1}{2} \varphi'(\xi_{2}(0;x,t))$$

and establishing the following relationships:

$$a (r_1 + r_2) = v$$
, $r_2(x, 0) = \frac{1}{2 a(x, 0)} \psi(x) + \frac{1}{2} \varphi'(x)$

and

$$r_3(x,0) = {1 \over 2 a(x,0)} \psi(x) - {1 \over 2} \varphi'(x)$$

Upon differentiating (2.3.20)–(2.3.21) along the corresponding characteristics it is easily seen that the functions r_1 , r_2 and r_3 solve equations (2.3.8). Subtracting the third equation (2.3.8) from the second yields one useful relation

$$(r_2 - r_3)_t = a (r_2 + r_3)_x + a_x (r_2 + r_3),$$

which, with v/a substituted for $r_2 + r_3$, reduces to

$$(r_2 - r_3)_t = v_x = z$$

115

Since $w_t = z$ and

$$r_2(x,0) - r_3(x,0) = \varphi'(x) = w(x,0),$$

we might have

$$r_2 - r_3 = w$$

and, therefore, the system of equations written initially is a corollary of (2.3.8) and can be derived from it by the inverse replacements

$$u = r_1$$
, $v = a(r_2 + r_3)$, $w = r_2 - r_3$.

However, the second equation of this system represents an alternative form of writing equation (2.3.1). Thus, the equivalence between the system (2.3.16), (2.3.18), (2.3.19) and the inverse problem concerned is proved.

The system of equations (2.3.16), (2.3.18), (2.3.19) can be solved by the method of successive approximations. This can be done using the space $C(\Omega)$ of all vector functions having the form $\mathbf{a} = (w, z, \mathbf{p})$, where w and z are defined and continuous in the domain Ω and the vector $\mathbf{p}(t)$ of the dimension n possesses the same smoothness on the segment [0, T]. The norm on that space is defined by

(2.3.22)
$$\|\mathbf{a}\| = \max \left\{ \max_{\Omega} |w|, \max_{\Omega} |z|, \max_{\substack{[0,T]\\1 \le i \le n}} |p_i| \right\}.$$

We refer to the vector

 $\mathbf{a}_0 = \big(\varphi'(x), \psi(x,t), \mathbf{H}(t)\big)$

and an operator L in the space $C(\Omega)$ to be defined by the group of uniform terms on the right-hand sides of relations (2.3.16), (2.3.18) and (2.3.19), by means of which the system of integral equations can be recast as

$$\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{a}_0 + L \mathbf{a}$$

In the light of the theorem premises the coefficients of equations (2.3.16), (2.3.18) and (2.3.19) are really continuous and, therefore, bounded in the domain Ω . Taking into account the obvious inequality

$$\left| I[\mathcal{F}(x,t)] \right| \leq (\beta - \alpha) \max_{\Omega} \left| \mathcal{F}(x,t) \right|$$

one can derive the usual estimates for the Volterra equations:

$$\|L^{k}\mathbf{a}\| \leq \frac{(NT)^{k}}{k!} \|\mathbf{a}\|,$$

which can be justified by induction on k. The use of the contraction mapping principle implies the existence and uniqueness of the equation (2.2.3) solution. With the equivalence established above, the same will be valid for the inverse problem (2.3.1)-(2.3.4), thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

By means of substitution (2.3.5) from Theorem 2.3.1 we derive one useful corollary.

Corollary 2.3.1 Let 0 < a(x,t) < M, $a(x,t) \in C^2$, $\psi(x) \in C^1$ and let $\varphi(x), \chi_i(t) \in C^2$, $1 \le i \le n$. One assumes, in addition, that $\varphi(x_i) = \chi_i(0)$ and $\chi'_i(0) = \psi(x_i)$, $1 \le i \le n$. Let the functions c(x,t), d(x,t), h(x,t) and $g_i(x,t)$, $1 \le i \le n$, be continuous along with their first x-derivatives in the domain Ω and let $b(x,t) \in C^2$, det $(g_i(x_j,t)) \ne 0$. Then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (2.3.1)-(2.3.4) in the class

$$u \in C^2$$
, $p_i \in C$, $1 \le i \le n$,

and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions.

The results obtained permit us to give a definite answer concerning the uniqueness of recovering other coefficients of equation (2.3.1). Two lines of research in the study of second order hyperbolic equations are evident in available publications in this area over recent years. Not much is known in the case of the combined recovery of the coefficients a(t), c(t), d(t) and the function u(x, t) satisfying the relations

(2.3.24)
$$\begin{cases} u_{tt} = a^2 u_{xx} + c \, u_t + d \, u \, , \\ u(x,0) = \varphi(x) \, , \\ u_t(x,0) = \psi(x) \, , \\ u(x_i \, , t) = \chi_i(t) \, , \qquad 1 \le i \le 3 \, , \end{cases}$$

where the variables x and t are such that the point (x, t) should belong to the domain Ω_T described at the very beginning of this section.

Let both collections

$$(u^{(1)}, a^{(1)}, c^{(1)}, d^{(1)})$$

and

$$(u^{(2)}, a^{(2)}, c^{(2)}, d^{(2)})$$

solve the inverse problem we have posed above. Setting $A^{(i)} = [a^{(i)}]^2$ and $v = u^{(2)} - u^{(1)}$ and subtracting relations (2.3.24) written for $u = u^{(1)}$ and $u = u^{(2)}$ one from another, we derive the system

(2.3.25)
$$\begin{cases} v_{tt} = A^{(2)}v_{xx} + c^{(2)}v_t + d^{(2)}v + F, \\ v(x,0) = 0, \\ v_t(x,0) = 0, \\ v_t(x,0) = 0, \\ v(x_i,t) = 0, \end{cases} \quad 1 \le i \le 3, \end{cases}$$

where

$$F(x,t) = (d^{(2)} - d^{(1)}) u^{(1)} + (c^{(2)} - c^{(1)}) u^{(1)}_t + (A^{(2)} - A^{(1)}) u^{(1)}_{xx}$$

It remains to note that relations (2.3.25) constitute what is called an inverse problem of the type (2.3.1)-(2.3.4) under the following agreements:

$$g_1(x,t) = u^{(1)}(x,t), \qquad g_2(x,t) = u^{(1)}_t(x,t), \qquad g_3(x,t) = u^{(1)}_{xx}(x,t),$$
$$p_1(t) = d^{(2)}(t) - d^{(1)}(t), \quad p_2(t) = c^{(2)}(t) - c^{(1)}(t), \quad p_3(t) = A^{(2)}(t) - A^{(1)}(t),$$
$$h(x,t) = 0, \qquad n = 3.$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} g_1(x_j, t) &= \chi_j(t), & 1 \le j \le 3, \\ g_2(x_j, t) &= \chi_j'(t), & 1 \le j \le 3, \\ g_3(x_j, t) &= u_{xx}^{(1)}(x_j, t), & 1 \le j \le 3. \end{split}$$

The last value can be expressed by (2.3.24) in terms of the functions $\chi_j(t)$ and their derivatives as follows:

$$u_{xx}^{(1)}(x_j,t) = \frac{\chi_j''(t)}{A^{(1)}(t)} - \frac{c^{(1)}(t)\chi_j'(t)}{A^{(1)}(t)} - \frac{d^{(1)}(t)\chi_j(t)}{A^{(1)}(t)} , \qquad 1 \le j \le 3 \,.$$

Due to the determinant properties we thus have

$$\det (g_i(x_j, t)) = \frac{1}{A^{(1)}(t)} W(\chi_1, \chi_2, \chi_3) ,$$

where $W(\chi_1, \chi_2, \chi_3)$ is the Wronskian of the system

$$\{\chi_1(t),\chi_2(t),\chi_3(t)\}.$$

It is clear that the system (2.3.25) satisfying the conditions of Theorem 2.3.1 has no solutions other than a trivial solution. This is just the clear indication that a solution of the inverse problem (2.3.24) is unique. This profound result is established in the following assertion.

Corollary 2.3.2 When $W(\chi_1, \chi_2, \chi_3) \neq 0$, a solution of problem (2.3.24) is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^2$$
, $u_{xxx} \in C$, $a \in C^2$, $a > 0$, $c \in C$, $d \in C$.

A similar way of investigating can be approved in solving the inverse problem of finding the functions u(x,t), c(t) and d(t) from one more system

(2.3.26)
$$\begin{cases} u_{tt} = a^2 u_{xx} + c \, u_t + d \, u \, ,\\ u(x,0) = \varphi(x) \, , \qquad u_t(x,0) = \psi(x) \, ,\\ u(x_i \, , t) = \chi_i(t) \, , \qquad 1 \le i \le 2 \, , \end{cases}$$

where $(x,t) \in \Omega_T$.

Corollary 2.3.3 Let $a(x,t) \in C^2$ and $0 < a(x,t) \leq M$. If the Wronskian $W(\chi_1, \chi_2) \neq 0$, then a solution of the inverse problem (2.3.26) is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^2$$
, $c \in C$, $d \in C$.

It is desirable to have at own disposal some recommendations and rules governing what can happen. The rest of the present chapter focuses on the problem of recovering a single coefficient d = d(t) from the following relations over Ω_{τ} :

(2.3.27)
$$\begin{cases} u_{tt} = a^2 u_{xx} + b u_x + c u_t + d u + F, \\ u(x, 0) = \varphi(x), \quad u_t(x, 0) = \psi(x), \\ u(x_1, t) = \chi(t). \end{cases}$$

Theorem 2.3.1 yields the uniqueness condition for the problem at hand.

Corollary 2.3.4 Let $a(x,t) \in C^2$, $0 < a(x,t) \leq M$, $b(x,t) \in C^2$ and let c(x,t), $c_x(x,t) \in C$ and $\chi(t) \neq 0$. Then a solution of problem (2.3.27) is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^2, \qquad d \in C.$$

Under the same assumptions one can prove the local solvability of problem (2.3.27) by employing the method developed in Theorem 2.3.1 for $b(x,t) \equiv 0$ (or otherwise recalling substitution (2.3.5)). The system of equations related to the functions

$$w(x,t) = u_x(x,t)$$

and

$$z(x,t) = u_{xt}(x,t)$$

can be derived in a similar manner. Relation (2.3.16) remains unchanged, whereas (2.3.18) should be replaced by

$$(2.3.18') \qquad z(x,t) = \tilde{\psi}(x,t) + \frac{\partial a(x,t)}{\partial x}$$

$$\times \left[\int_{L_1(x,t)} (BIw + CIz + B\chi) + \right] + a(x,t)$$

$$+ \int_{L_2(x,t)} (BIw + EIz + B\chi) + \right] + a(x,t)$$

$$\times \left[\int_{L_1(x,t)} (B_1 Iw + C_1 Iz + B_3 w + B_1 \chi) + \int_{L_2(x,t)} (B_2 Iw + E_2 Iz + B_4 w + E_4 z + B_2 \chi) \right],$$

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\psi}(x,t) &= \frac{\partial \widetilde{R}(x,t)}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial a(x,t)}{\partial x} \\ &\times \left[\int_{L_1(x,t)} (C\chi') + \int_{L_2(x,t)} (E\chi') \right] \\ &+ a(x,t) \left[\int_{L_1(x,t)} (C_1 \chi') + \int_{L_2(x,t)} (E_2 \chi') \right], \\ \widetilde{R}(x,t) &= a(x,t) \left[r_2(\xi_1(0;x,t),0) + r_3(\xi_2(0;x,t),0) \right. \\ &+ \int_{L_1(x,t)} \left(\frac{F}{2a} \right) + \int_{L_2(x,t)} \left(\frac{F}{2a} \right) \right]. \end{split}$$

119

Instead of (2.3.19) we arrive at the equation

$$(2.3.19') \qquad d(t) = d_0(t) - \frac{a_t(x_1, t)}{\chi(x, t)} \\ \times \left[\int_{L_1(x_1, t)} (BIw + CIz + B\chi) + \int_{L_2(x_1, t)} (BIw + EIz + B\chi) \right] \\ - \frac{a(x_1, t)}{\chi(t)} \left[\int_{L_1(x_1, t)} (B_5 Iw + C_5 Iz) + B_7 w + C_7 z + B_5 \chi) + \int_{L_2(x_1, t)} (B_6 Iw + E_6 Iz) + B_8 w + E_8 z + B_6 \chi) \right],$$

where

$$d_{0}(t) = \frac{\chi''(t) - \tilde{R}_{t}(x_{1}, t)}{\chi(t)} - \frac{a(x_{1}, t)c(x_{1}, t) - a_{t}(x_{1}, t)\chi'(t)}{a(x_{1}, t)\chi(t)} - \frac{a_{t}(x_{1}, t)}{\chi(t)} \left[\int_{L_{1}(x_{1}, t)} (C\chi') + \int_{L_{2}(x_{1}, t)} (E\chi') \right] - \frac{a(x_{1}, t)}{\chi(t)} \left[\int_{L_{1}(x_{1}, t)} (C_{5}\chi') + \int_{L_{2}(x_{1}, t)} (D_{6}\chi') \right].$$

Evidently, relations (2.3.16), (2.3.18') and (2.3.19') constitute a system of the second kind nonlinear integral Volterra equations. If the coefficients of the preceding equations are continuous, this system possesses a unique continuous solution for all sufficiently small t. In concluding the chapter we give the precise formulation of this fact.

Corollary 2.3.5 Let $a(x,t) \in C^2$, $0 < a(x,t) \leq M$; $b(x,t) \in C^2$; c(x,t), $c_x(x,t)$, F(x,t), $F_x(x,t) \in C$ and let $\varphi(x) \in C^2$, $\psi(x) \in C^1$ and $\chi(t) \in C^2$. One assumes, in addition, that $\varphi(x_1) = \chi(0)$, $\psi(x_1) = \chi'(0)$ and $\chi(t) \neq 0$. Then, for sufficiently small t, there exists a solution of the inverse problem (2.3.27) in the class of functions

$$u(x,t) \in C^2, \qquad \qquad d(t) \in C.$$

We have nothing worthwhile to add to such discussions, so will leave it at this.

Chapter 3

Inverse Problems for Equations of the Elliptic Type

3.1 Introduction to inverse problems in potential theory

The first section of this chapter deals with inverse problems in potential theory and places special emphasis on questions of existence, uniqueness and stability along with further development of efficient methods for solving them. As to the question of existence, we are unaware of any criterion providing its global solution. There are a number of the existence theorems "in the small" for inverse problems related to a body differing only slightly from a given one as it were. And even in that case the problems were not completely solved because of insufficient development of the theory of nonlinear equations capable of describing inverse problems. That is why, it is natural from the viewpoint of applications to preassume in most cases the existence of global solutions beforehand and pass to deeper study of the questions of uniqueness and stability. Quite often, solutions of inverse problems turn out to be nonunique, thus causing difficulties. It would be most interesting to learn about extra restrictions on solutions if we want to ensure their uniqueness. The main difficulty involved in proving uniqueness lies, as a rule, in the fact that the inverse problems of interest
are equivalent to integral equations of the first kind with the Urysohn-type kernel for which the usual ways of solving are unacceptable. The problem of uniqueness is intimately connected with the problem of stability of the inverse problem solutions. For the inverse problems in view, because they are stated by means of first kind equations, arbitrarily small perturbations of the right-hand side function may, generally speaking, be responded by a finite variation of a solution. The requirement of well-posedness necessitates imposing additional restrictions on the behavior of a solution.

Special attention is paid throughout to the important questions of uniqueness and stability of solutions of inverse problems related to potentials of elliptic equations of the second order.

This section is of auxiliary character and introduces the basic notations necessary in the sequel. We begin by defining the potentials which are in common usage and list their main properties. Denote by $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_n)$ the points in the space \mathbb{R}^n and by Ω a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n with boundary $\partial\Omega$ of class C^2 , $\bar{\Omega} = \Omega \cup \partial\Omega$. For an arbitrary vector field **w** of the class $C^1(\bar{\Omega})$ the following relation ascribed to Gauss and Ostrogradsky appears very useful in the future:

(3.1.1)
$$\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \mathbf{w} \, dy = \int_{\partial \Omega} \left(\mathbf{w} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu}_y \right) \, ds_y \,$$

where ds_y is an (n-1)-dimensional surface element on $\partial\Omega$ and ν_y is a unit external normal to the boundary $\partial\Omega$.

Let us consider a pair of the functions u = u(y) and v = v(y), each being of the class $C^2(\overline{\Omega})$. Substituting $\mathbf{w} = v \cdot \nabla u$ into (3.1.1) yields the first Green formula

(3.1.2)
$$\int_{\Omega} v \cdot \Delta u \, dy + \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \, dy = \int_{\partial \Omega} v \cdot \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_y} \, ds_y \, ,$$

where the symbols ∇u and ∇v stand for the gradients of the functions u and v, respectively.

By successively interchanging the functions u and v in (3.1.2) and subtracting the resulting relation from (3.1.2) we derive the second Green formula

(3.1.3)
$$\int_{\Omega} \left(v \cdot \Delta u - u \cdot \Delta v \right) \, dy = \int_{\partial \Omega} \left(v \cdot \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu_y} - u \cdot \frac{\partial v}{\partial \nu_y} \right) \, ds_y \, .$$

Recall that the Laplace equation $\Delta u = 0$ has the radially symmetric solution r^{2-n} for n > 2 and $\log \frac{1}{r}$ for n = 2, where r is the distance

to a fixed point, say the origin of coordinates. Holding a point $x \in \Omega$ fixed we introduce the normalized fundamental solution of the Laplace equation by means of the relations

(3.1.4)
$$E(x,y) = E(|x-y|) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2\pi} \log \frac{1}{|x-y|}, & n=2, \\ \frac{1}{\omega_n (n-2)} \frac{1}{|x-y|^{n-2}}, & n\geq 3, \end{cases}$$

where $\omega_n = \frac{2 \pi^{n/2}}{\Gamma(n/2)}$ is the area of unit sphere of the space \mathbf{R}^n and

$$\Gamma(\alpha) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} t^{\alpha-1} \exp\left\{-t\right\} dt$$

is the Euler gamma-function.

Evidently, the function E(x, y) is harmonic whenever $y \neq x$. However, because of the singularity at the point y = x, it is impossible to substitute the function E into the Green formula (3.1.3) in place of the function v. One way of proceeding is to "move" from the domain Ω to the domain $\Omega \setminus \overline{B(x,\varepsilon)}$, where $B(x,\varepsilon)$ is a ball of a sufficiently small radius ε with center x.

All this enables us to write down (3.1.3) for the domain $\Omega \setminus B(x, \varepsilon)$ by substituting E(x, y) for the function v(y) and regarding the point x to be fixed. The usual manipulations may be of help in estimating the behavior of the integrals on $\partial B(x, \varepsilon)$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Adopting the above arguments for the different locations of $x: x \in \Omega, x \in \partial\Omega$ or $x \notin \overline{\Omega}$, we can derive the **third Green formula**

$$(3.1.5) \int_{\partial\Omega} \left(E(x,y) \frac{\partial u(y)}{\partial \nu_y} - u(y) \frac{\partial E(x,y)}{\partial \nu_y} \right) ds_y$$
$$- \int_{\Omega} E(x,y) \Delta u(y) dy = \begin{cases} u(x), & x \in \Omega, \\ \frac{1}{2}u(x), & x \in \partial\Omega, \\ 0, & x \notin \overline{\Omega}. \end{cases}$$

Having no opportunity to touch upon this topic, we address the readers to Bitsadze (1966), (1976), Vladimirov (1971), Tikhonov and Samarskii (1963) and others.

Let us now introduce the potentials to be involved in further considerations. For any bounded and integrable in Ω function $\mu(y)$ we adopt the function

$$u(x,y) = \int_{\Omega} E(x,y) \,\mu(y) \, dy$$

as the potential of a volume mass with density μ under the natural premise that $\mu(y) \neq 0$ almost everywhere in Ω . It is known that the volume potential u so defined obeys the following properties:

- (3.1.6) if $\mu \in L_{\infty}(\Omega)$ then $u \in C^{1+h}(\mathbf{R}^{n})$; (3.1.7) if $\mu \in C^{h}(\bar{\Omega})$, 0 < h < 1, then $\Delta u(x) = \begin{cases} -\mu(x), & x \in \Omega, \\ 0, & x \notin \bar{\Omega}. \end{cases}$
- $\begin{cases} \left(\log \frac{1}{|x|}\right)^{-1} u(x) \to M , \quad n = 2 , \\ |x|^{n-2} u(x) \to M , \quad n \ge 3 , \end{cases}$ (3.1.8) As $|x| \to \infty$,

where

$$M = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Omega} \mu(y) \, dy \,, & n = 2 \,, \\ \\ \frac{1}{\omega_n(n-2)} \int_{\Omega} \mu(y) \, dy \,, & n \ge 3 \,. \end{cases}$$

Here the symbol $C^h(\overline{\Omega})$ is used for the Hölder space formed by all continuous on $\overline{\Omega}$ functions satisfying Hölder's condition with exponent h, 0 < h <1. The norm on that space is defined by

(3.1.9)
$$||u||_{C^{h}(\bar{\Omega})} = \sup_{x \in \Omega} |u(x)| + H^{h}(u),$$

where $H^{h}(u)$ is Hölder's constant and, by definition,

$$H^{h}(u) = \sup_{x_{1}, x_{2} \in \Omega} \left\{ |u(x_{1}) - u(x_{2})| \cdot |x_{1} - x_{2}|^{-h} \right\}.$$

In addition, $C^{l+h}(\bar{\Omega}), l \in \mathbb{N}, 0 < h < 1$, is a space comprising all the functions with the first l derivatives which are Hölder's continuous with exponent h.

The potential of a simple layer is given by the relation

(3.1.10)
$$v(x) = \int_{\partial \Omega} E(x, y) \rho(y) \, ds_y \, g$$

where the integrable density $\rho(y) \neq 0$ almost everywhere on $\partial \Omega$. The function v(x) defined for $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \partial \Omega$ is twice continuously differentiable and satisfies the Laplace equation, that is, $\Delta v(x) = 0$ for $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \partial \Omega$. Moreover, in the case where $\rho \in L_{\infty}(\partial \Omega)$ the function v belongs to $C^{h}(\mathbf{R}^{n})$

for any h, 0 < h < 1. Note that if the function ρ is continuous on $\partial\Omega$, then for the simple layer potential the **jump formulae** are valid:

(3.1.11)
$$\left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial \nu_{x_0}}\right)^{\pm}(x_0) = \pm \frac{\rho(x_0)}{2} + \int\limits_{\partial\Omega} \frac{\partial E(x_0, y)}{\partial \nu_{x_0}} \rho(y) \ ds_y$$

where $\left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial \nu_{x_0}}\right)^+(x_0)$ and $\left(\frac{\partial v}{\partial \nu_{x_0}}\right)^-(x_0)$ denote the limits of $\frac{\partial v}{\partial \nu_{x_0}}$ as $x \to x_0$ $(x_0 \in \partial \Omega)$ taken along the external and internal normal ν_{x_0} with respect to Ω , respectively.

3.2 Necessary and sufficient conditions for the equality of exterior magnetic potentials

This section focuses on establishing several preliminary assertions which will be used in the sequel.

Let finite domains Ω_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, be bounded by piecewise smooth surfaces $\partial\Omega_{\alpha}$, $\bar{\Omega}_{\alpha} \subset D_0$, where D_0 is a bounded domain in the space \mathbb{R}^n with a piecewise smooth boundary $\partial\Omega_{\alpha}$. The potentials of volume masses and the potentials of simple layers are defined as follows:

(3.2.1)
$$u^{\alpha}(x) = u(x; \Omega_{\alpha}, \mu_{\alpha}) = \int_{\Omega_{\alpha}} E(x, y) \, \mu_{\alpha}(y) \, dy$$

and

(3.2.2)
$$v^{\alpha}(x) = v(x; \partial \Omega_{\alpha}, \rho_{\alpha}) = \int_{\partial \Omega_{\alpha}} E(x, y) \rho_{\alpha}(y) \, dy$$

Let real numbers β and γ be such that $\beta^2 + \gamma^2 \neq 0$. By a generalized magnetic potential we mean the function

(3.2.3)
$$w^{\alpha}(x) = w(x; \Omega_{\alpha}, \partial \Omega_{\alpha}, \mu_{\alpha}, \rho_{\alpha}) = \beta u^{\alpha}(x) + \gamma v^{\alpha}(x).$$

If A_1 and A_2 , $\bar{A}_{\alpha} \subset D_0$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, are open bounded sets, each being a union of a finite number of domains

(3.2.4)
$$A_1 = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m_1} \Omega_1^j, \qquad A_2 = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m_2} \Omega_2^j,$$

where m_1 and m_2 are fixed numbers, $\partial \Omega_1^j$ and $\partial \Omega_2^j$ are piecewise smooth boundaries, ∂A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, is the boundary of A_{α} , we will replace Ω_{α} and $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$ by A_{α} and ∂A_{α} everywhere in (3.2.1)-(3.2.3).

Let D be an arbitrary domain (in general, multiply connected) and let

$$(3.2.5) D_0 \supset \bar{D}.$$

The symbol D_1 stands for a domain having a piecewise smooth boundary such that

$$(3.2.6) D \supset \tilde{D}_1, mtext{mes} (\partial D_1 \cap \partial A_\alpha) = 0, \alpha = 1, 2.$$

Let h(y) be a regular in D solution of the Laplace equation

$$(3.2.7) \qquad \qquad \Delta h(y) = 0, \qquad \qquad y \in D.$$

For the purposes of the present chapter we have occasion to use the functional J(h) with the values

$$(3.2.8) J(h) = \beta \left[\int_{A_1 \setminus (D_0 \setminus \overline{D}_1)} \mu_1(y) h(y) dy - \int_{A_2 \setminus (D_0 \setminus \overline{D}_1)} \mu_2(y) h(y) dy \right] + \gamma \left[\int_{\partial A_1 \setminus (D_0 \setminus \overline{D}_1)} \rho_1(y) h(y) ds_y - \int_{\partial A_2 \setminus (D_0 \setminus \overline{D}_1)} \rho_2(y) h(y) ds_y \right],$$

where μ_{α} and ρ_{α} are bounded integrable functions.

Lemma 3.2.1 If h(y) is any of the regular in D solutions to equation (3.2.7), then the functional J(h) specified by (3.2.8) admits the representation

(3.2.9)
$$J(h) = -\int_{\partial D_1} M_x \big[w(x); h(x) \big] \, ds_x$$

128

(3.2.10)
$$w(x) = w^1(x) - w^2(x)$$
,

where $w^{\alpha}(x)$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, are the generalized magnetic potentials defined by (3.2.3) and the domains D and D₁ satisfy conditions (3.2.5)-(3.2.6). Here the symbol $M_x[w;h]$ denotes the integrand on the right-hand side of the second Green formula (3.1.3):

$$M_x[w;h] = h(x) \frac{\partial w(x)}{\partial \nu_x} - w(x) \frac{\partial h(x)}{\partial \nu_x}$$

Proof If h(y) is any solution to equation (3.2.7), then formula (3.1.5) gives in combination with relations (3.2.5)–(3.2.6) the representation:

(3.2.11)
$$-\int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[E(x,y); h(x) \right] \, ds_x = \begin{cases} h(y), & y \in D_1, \\ 0, & y \in D_0 \setminus \overline{D}_1, \end{cases}$$

where E(x, y) is the fundamental solution (3.1.4) to the Laplace equation. Multiplying (3.2.11) by $\mu_{\alpha}(y)$ and integrating over A_{α} yield

$$(3.2.12) \int_{A_{\alpha} \setminus (D_{0} \setminus \overline{D}_{1})} \mu_{\alpha}(y) h(y) dy$$
$$= \int_{A_{\alpha}} \mu_{\alpha}(y) \left\{ -\int_{\partial D_{1}} M_{x} \left[E(x,y); h(x) \right] ds_{x} \right\} dy.$$

Changing the order of integration (this operation is correct, since the integrals on the right-hand side of (3.2.12) have weak singularity; for more detail see Hunter (1953)) and retaining notation (3.2.1), we arrive at

(3.2.13)
$$\int_{A_{\alpha} \setminus (D_{0} \setminus \bar{D}_{1})} \mu_{\alpha}(y) h(y) dy = \int_{\partial D_{1}} M_{x} \left[u^{\alpha}(x); h(x) \right] ds_{x}$$

If (3.2.11) is multiplied by $\rho_{\alpha}(y)$ and subsequently integrated over ∂A_{α} with (3.2.6) involved, we thus have

$$(3.2.14) \int_{\partial A_{\alpha} \setminus (D_{0} \setminus \bar{D}_{1})} \rho_{\alpha}(y) h(y) ds_{y} = -\int_{\partial A_{\alpha}} \rho_{\alpha}(y) \left\{ \int_{\partial D_{1}} M_{x} \left[E(x,y); h(x) \right] ds_{x} \right\} ds_{y}$$
$$= -\int_{\partial D_{1}} M_{x} \left[\left\{ \int_{\partial A_{\alpha}} \rho_{\alpha}(y) E(x,y) ds_{y} \right\}; h(x) \right] ds_{x}$$
$$= -\int_{\partial D_{1}} M_{x} \left[v^{\alpha}(x); h(x) \right] ds_{x}.$$

From (3.2.13) and (3.2.14) it follows that

$$(3.2.15) \quad \beta \int_{A_{\alpha} \setminus (D_{0} \setminus \overline{D}_{1})} \mu_{\alpha}(y) h(y) \, dy + \gamma \int_{\Gamma_{\alpha} \setminus (D_{0} \setminus \overline{D}_{1})} \rho_{\alpha}(y) h(y) \, ds_{y}$$
$$= -\int_{\partial D_{1}} M_{x} \left[w^{\alpha}(x); h(x) \right] \, ds_{x} \, .$$

Finally, subtracting (3.2.15) with $\alpha = 1$ from (3.2.15) with $\alpha = 2$ we get the assertion of the lemma.

Of great importance is the functional

(3.2.16)
$$J(h, A_{\alpha}, \mu_{\alpha}, \partial A_{\alpha}, \rho_{\alpha}) = \beta \int_{A_{\alpha}} \mu_{\alpha}(y) h(y) \, dy + \gamma \int_{\partial A_{\alpha}} \rho_{\alpha}(y) h(y) \, ds_{y},$$

where μ_{α} and ρ_{α} are bounded measurable functions.

Lemma 3.2.2 For the equality of exterior magnetic potentials

(3.2.17)
$$w(x, A_1, \mu_1, \partial A_1, \rho_1) = w(x, A_2, \mu_2, \partial A_2, \rho_2),$$
$$x \in D_0 \setminus (\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2),$$

to be valid it is necessary and sufficient that functional (3.2.16) satisfies the relation

$$(3.2.18) J(h, A_1, \mu_1, \partial A_1, \rho_1) = J(h, A_2, \mu_2, \partial A_2, \rho_2),$$

where h(y) is any regular solution to the equation

$$(3.2.19) \qquad \qquad \Delta h(y) = 0, \qquad y \in D.$$

Here D is an arbitrary domain for which the following inclusions occur:

$$(3.2.20) D_0 \supset \overline{D} \supset D \supset (\overline{A}_1 \cup \overline{A}_2)$$

Proof First of all observe that if (3.2.18) holds, then for $x \in D_0 \setminus \tilde{D}$ and $y \in D$ with h(y) = E(x, y) the combination of relation (3.2.18) and representation (3.2.16) gives (3.2.17).

3.2. Necessary and sufficient conditions

Granted (3.2.17), we pass to a domain D_1 ordered with respect to inclusion:

$$(3.2.21) D \supset \overline{D}_1 \supset D_1 \supset (\overline{A}_1 \cup \overline{A}_2).$$

Any domains D and D_1 , arising from (3.2.20)–(3.2.21), must satisfy (3.2.5)–(3.2.6) and, moreover,

Therefore, the properties of the potential of a volume mass and those of the potential of a single layer along with (3.2.17) imply that in (3.2.9)-(3.2.10)

$$(3.2.23) M_x[w(x);h(x)] = 0 ext{ for } x \in \partial D_1.$$

Together (3.2.8), (3.2.9) and (3.2.22) lead to (3.2.18) and the lemma is completely proved. \blacksquare

In auxiliary lemmas we agree to consider

 $(3.2.24) B = (A_1 \cup A_2) \setminus \overline{A}_0, A_0 = A_1 \cap A_2,$

$$(3.2.25) J(h, A_{\alpha} \setminus A_{0}, \mu_{\alpha}, \partial A_{\alpha}, \rho_{\alpha}) = \beta \int_{A_{\alpha} \setminus A_{0}} \mu_{\alpha}(y) h(y) dy + \gamma \int_{\partial A_{\alpha}} \rho_{\alpha}(y) h(y) ds_{y}$$

Lemma 3.2.3 For the equality

 $(3.2.26) \quad w(x; A_1, \mu_1, \partial A_1, \rho_1) = w(x; A_2, \mu_2, \partial A_2, \rho_2), \qquad x \in D_0 \setminus \overline{B},$ to be valid it is necessary and sufficient that the relations

 $(3.2.27) \mu_1(y) = \mu_2(y) for y \in A_0 (if \beta \neq 0),$

 $(3.2.28) \quad J(h, A_1 \setminus A_0, \mu_1, \partial A_1, \rho_1) = J(h, A_2 \setminus A_0, \mu_2, \partial A_2, \rho_2)$

hold, where h(y) is any regular solution to the equation

 $(3.2.29) \qquad \qquad \Delta h(y) = 0, \qquad y \in D,$

and D is an arbitrary domain involved in the chain of inclusions

 $(3.2.30) D_0 \supset \overline{D} \supset D \supset \overline{B}.$

Here the set B and the functional J built into (3.2.28) are given by formulae (3.2.24)-(3.2.25).

Proof The statement of the lemma will be proved if we succeed in showing that (3.2.26) implies (3.2.27)-(3.2.28). The converse can be justified in just the same way as we did in Lemma 3.2.2.

From (3.2.24), (3.2.3) and (3.2.26) it follows that

$$(3.2.31) w^1(x) = w^2(x), x \in A_0,$$

and thereby we might have for the Laplace operator

$$(3.2.32) \qquad \qquad \Delta w^1(x) = \Delta w^2(x) \,, \qquad x \in A_0 \,.$$

On the other hand, the properties of the volume mass potential and the simple layer potential guarantee that

$$(3.2.33) \qquad \Delta w^{\alpha}(x) = \beta \,\Delta u^{\alpha}(x) + \gamma \,\Delta v^{\alpha}(x) = -\beta \,\mu_{\alpha}(x) \,, \qquad x \in A_0 \,,$$

where u^{α} , v^{α} and w^{α} have been specified by (3.2.1)-(3.2.3). Consequently, (3.2.32)-(3.2.33) are followed by (3.2.27) and one useful relation

(3.2.34)
$$\int_{A_0} \mu_1(y) E(x,y) \, dy = \int_{A_0} \mu_2(y) E(x,y) \, dy \, , \qquad x \in D_0 \, .$$

Other ideas are connected with the transition to a domain D_1 having a piecewise smooth boundary ∂D_1 such that

$$(3.2.35) D \supset \overline{D}_1 \supset D_1 \supset \overline{B}.$$

Any domains D and D_1 involved in (3.2.30) and (3.2.35) satisfy (3.2.5)-(3.2.6) during which

$$\partial A_{\alpha} \cap (D_0 \setminus \overline{D}_1) = \varnothing$$
.

Under condition (3.2.6) associated with functional (3.2.8) representation (3.2.9)-(3.2.10) gives

$$(3.2.36) J(h) = 0.$$

With the aid of relation (3.2.34) and the properties of the domains D

and D_1 that we have mentioned the functional J(h) can be rewritten as

$$(3.2.37) J(h) = \beta \left[\int_{A_1 \setminus (A_0 \cap \bar{D}_1)} \mu_1(y) h(y) dy - \int_{A_2 \setminus (A_0 \cap \bar{D}_1)} \mu_2(y) h(y) dy \right] + \gamma \left[\int_{\partial A_1} \rho_1(y) h(y) ds_y - \int_{\partial A_2} \rho_2(y) h(y) ds_y \right]$$

under the natural premise $\partial A_{\alpha} \cap (D_0 \setminus \overline{D}_1) = \emptyset$. Since the right-hand side of (3.2.36) is independent of D_1 , we are led to (3.2.28) by merely choosing a sequence of domains $\{D_1^n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ satisfying (3.2.35) such that $\operatorname{mes}(A_0 \cap D_1^n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Thus, the lemma is completely proved.

Before giving further motivations, it will be convenient to introduce the new notations as they help avoid purely technical difficulties. Denote by $\overline{\Gamma}^e$ the boundary of the set $\overline{A}_1 \cup \overline{A}_2$. In the case $\Omega_1^j \neq \Omega_2^j$ we thus have

(3.2.38)
$$\begin{split} \Gamma_1^i &= \partial A_1 \cap \bar{A}_1 \cap \bar{A}_2 \,, \qquad \bar{\Gamma}_1^e &= \partial A_1 \setminus \Gamma_1^i \,, \\ \bar{\Gamma}_2^e &= \partial A_2 \cap \bar{\Gamma}^e \,, \qquad \qquad \Gamma_2^i &= \partial A_\alpha \setminus \bar{\Gamma}_2^e \,. \end{split}$$

In what follows we accept $\overline{\Gamma}^e_{\alpha} = \partial A_{\alpha}$ for $\alpha = 1, 2$ if $A_1 = A_2$.

Let B_0 be any connected component of the open set $B = (A_1 \cup A_2) \setminus \overline{A}_0$ with ∂B_0 being the boundary of B_0 and set

(3.2.39)
$$\Gamma^i_{\Delta} = \Gamma^i_1 \cap \Gamma^i_2.$$

Assume that the sets A_1 and A_2 are located in such a way that

(3.2.40)
$$\operatorname{mes}\left(\partial B_0 \cap \Gamma_{\Delta}^i\right) = 0$$

for at least one of the domains B_0 . Without loss of generality we may suppose that $B_0 \subset (\bar{A}_1 \setminus \bar{A}_0)$. Within notation (3.2.38), the set $\bar{\Gamma}_1^e \cup \Gamma_2^i$ represents the boundary of $\bar{A}_1 \setminus \bar{A}_0$. A simple observation may be of help as further developments occur:

(3.2.41)
$$\partial B_0 \cap \overline{\Gamma}_1^e = (\partial B_0)^e, \qquad \partial B_0 \cap \Gamma_2^i = (\partial B_0)^i.$$

With these relations established, it is plain to show that

(3.2.42)
$$\partial B_0 = (\partial B_0)^e \cup (\partial B_0)^i.$$

The following lemma is devoted to an arbitrary domain D ordered with respect to inclusion:

$$(3.2.43) D_0 \supset \overline{D} \supset D \supset \overline{B}_0.$$

Lemma 3.2.4 Let (3.2.40) hold for the sets A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$. One assumes, in addition, that the bounded functions $\mu_{\alpha}(y)$ and $\rho_{\alpha}(y)$ and the functions $w^{\alpha}(x)$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, defined by (3.2.3) coincide:

$$(3.2.44) w1(x) = w2(x) \quad for \quad x \in D_0 \setminus \overline{B}.$$

Then

$$(3.2.45) \quad \beta \int_{B_0} \mu_1(y) h(y) \, dy + \gamma \int_{(\partial B_0)^e} \rho_1(y) h(y) \, ds_y$$
$$= \gamma \int_{(\partial B_0)^i} \rho_2(y) h(y) \, ds_y$$

for any solution h(y) of the Laplace equation regular in a domain D from inclusions (3.2.43).

Proof One thing is worth noting here. As in Lemma 3.2.3 relation (3.2.45) can be derived with the aid of Lemma 3.2.1. But we prefer the direct way of proving via representation (3.1.5). This amounts to deep study of D_1 , having a piecewise smooth boundary ∂D_1 and satisfying the conditions

$$(3.2.46) \quad D \supset \tilde{D}_1 \supset D_1 \supset B_0, D_1 \cap (B \setminus \bar{B}_0) = \emptyset, \partial D_1 \cap \partial B_0 = \partial B_0 \cap \Gamma_{\Delta}^i.$$

Formula (3.1.5) for any regular solution h(y) to the equation

$$(3.2.47) \qquad \qquad \Delta h(y) = 0, \qquad y \in D,$$

3.2. Necessary and sufficient conditions

implies that

(3.2.48)
$$-\int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[E(x,y), h(x) \right] \, ds_x = \begin{cases} h(y), & y \in D_1, \\ 0, & y \in D_0 \setminus \bar{D}_1 \end{cases}$$

Let us multiply (3.2.48) by $\mu_{\alpha}(x)$ and integrate then the resulting relation over the set $A_{\alpha} \setminus A_0$. Changing the order of integration and retaining notations (3.2.39)-(3.2.43), we arrive at

$$(3.2.49) \quad -\int\limits_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[\left(\int\limits_{A_1 \setminus A_0} E(x, y) \,\mu_1(y) \, dy \right); h(x) \right] \, ds_x$$
$$= \int\limits_{B_0} h(y) \,\mu_1(y) \, dy$$

 and

(3.2.50)
$$-\int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[\left(\int_{A_2 \setminus A_0} E(x, y) \, \mu_2(y) \, dy \right); h(x) \right] ds_x = 0$$

Furthermore, let (3.2.48) be multiplied by $\rho_{\alpha}(y)$ and integrated over ∂A_{α} with regard to (3.2.39)-(3.2.43). Since $B_0 \subset (A_1 \setminus \overline{A}_1)$, we thus have

$$(3.2.51) \quad -\int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[\left(\int_{\partial A_1} E(x, y) \rho_1(y) \, ds_y \right); h(x) \right] ds_x$$
$$= \int_{(\partial B_0)^e} \rho_1(y) h(y) \, ds_y$$

and

$$(3.2.52) \quad -\int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[\left(\int_{\partial A_2} E(x, y) \rho_2(y) \ ds_y \right); h(x) \right] ds_x$$
$$= \int_{(\partial B_0)^i} \rho_2(y) h(y) \ ds_y .$$

Multiplying (3.2.49) and (3.2.51) by β and γ , respectively, one can add the results, whose use permits us to obtain the relation

$$(3.2.53) \quad -\int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[w(x, A_1 \setminus A_0, \mu_1, \partial A_1, \rho_1); h(x) \right] \, ds_x$$
$$= \beta \int_{B_0} h(y) \, \mu_1(y) \, dy + \gamma \int_{(\partial B_0)^e} \rho_1(y) \, h(y) \, ds_y \, .$$

Likewise, it follows from (3.2.50) and (3.2.52) that

$$(3.2.54) \quad -\int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[w(x, A_2 \setminus A_0, \mu_2, \partial A_2, \rho_2); h(x) \right] \, ds_x$$
$$= \gamma \int_{(\partial B_0)^i} \rho_2(y) \, h(y) \, ds_y \, .$$

In conformity with (3.2.44) the proof of Lemma 4.2.3 serves as a basis for (3.2.34), thereby justifying that the combination of (3.2.34) and (3.2.45) gives

$$(3.2.55) \quad w(x; A_1 \setminus A_0, \mu_1, \partial A_1, \rho_1) = w(x; A_2 \setminus A_0, \mu_2, \partial A_2, \rho_2)$$

for $x \in D_0 \setminus \overline{B}$.

Therefore, the left-hand sides of (3.2.53) and (3.2.54) are equal by virtue of (3.2.55) and the properties of the potentials of volume masses and simple layers. Thus, the equality of the right-hand sides of (3.2.53)-(3.2.54) is established. This proves the assertion of the lemma.

In what follows we shall need the concept of generalized solution to the Laplace equation in the sense of Wiener (for more detail see Keldysh and Lavrentiev (1937), Keldysh (1940)). In preparation for this, we refer to the boundary $\partial\Omega$ of a domain Ω (in general, multiply connected) such that a neighborhood of any point of $\partial\Omega$ contains the points of the set $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$. Any domain Ω enabling the solvability of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation with any continuous boundary data falls into the category of standard domains.

Let a function f(x) be continuous and defined on the boundary $\partial\Omega$ of a domain Ω , which is multiply connected and bounded. The intention is to use a continuous function $\varphi(x)$ defined everywhere in the space \mathbb{R}^n and identical with f(x) on $\partial\Omega$ (for more detail see Keldysh and Lavrentiev (1937)). In what follows we involve a sequence of domains

$$D_1, D_2, \ldots, D_m, \ldots$$

with boundaries

$$\partial D_1, \partial D_2, \ldots, \partial D_m, \ldots,$$

containing the closed set $\Omega \cup \partial \Omega$ and converging to the domain Ω , so that from a certain number m_0 and on any closed subset of $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$ will be out D_{m_0} . We may assume that the components of ∂D_m are analytical with

136

3.2. Necessary and sufficient conditions

 $\overline{D}_{m+1} \subset D_m$ for any m. The symbol $h_{m\varphi}$ indicates the solution of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation in D_m with the boundary data $\varphi|_{\partial D_m}$. Following the papers of Keldysh and Lavrentiev (1937), Keldysh (1940) one succeeds in showing that the sequence of functions

 $h_{1\varphi}, h_{2\varphi}, \ldots, h_{m\varphi}, \ldots$

converges in the closed domain $\overline{\Omega}$ and $\{h_{m\varphi}\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$ converges uniformly over a closed subdomain $\overline{\Omega}' \subset \Omega$. The limiting function $h_f(x)$ satisfies the Laplace equation without concern for how the domains D_m and the function $\varphi(x)$ will be chosen.

Definition 3.2.1 The function $h_f(x)$ constructed is said to be a generalized solution of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation in the domain Ω with the boundary data f(x) continuous on $\partial\Omega$.

Let the domain Ω and its boundary $\partial \Omega$ be given in Definition 3.2.1 and let $\mu(y)$ be a summable bounded function.

Lemma 3.2.5 Let the density $\mu(y)$ be such that $u(x, \Omega, \mu) = 0$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$. Then any generalized solution h_f of the Dirichlet problem in the domain Ω satisfies the relation

(3.2.56)
$$\int_{\Omega} \mu(y) h_f(y) \, dy = 0 \, .$$

Proof The main idea behind proof is to extract a sequence of domains

$$D_1, D_2, \ldots, D_m, \ldots, \qquad \overline{D}_{m+1} \subset D_m,$$

containing $\Omega \cup \partial \Omega$ and having the analytic boundaries ∂D_m . As stated above, there exists a sequence of solutions of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation, when the boundary data are prescribed by a sequence of the continuous on $\partial \Omega$ functions, say

$$\left\{h_{m\varphi}\right\}_{m=1}^{\infty}, \qquad h_{m\varphi} \longrightarrow h_f, \qquad m \to \infty.$$

Because the function $h_{m\varphi}$ is harmonic in the domain \overline{D}_{m+1} , Lemma 3.2.2 implies that

(3.2.57)
$$\int_{\Omega} \mu(y) h_{m\varphi}(y) dy = 0.$$

As far as the function f(x) is bounded, the extended function $\varphi(x)$ can be so chosen as to satisfy

$$|\varphi|, |f| \leq M \equiv \text{const} \text{ in } \mathbf{R}^n,$$

yielding

$$|h_{m\varphi}|, |h_f| \leq M$$
 in $\overline{\Omega}$ for any $m = 1, 2, ...$

This is due to the principle of maximum modulus. The function $\mu(y)$ being bounded in $\overline{\Omega}$ provides the validity of the estimate

$$|\mu(y) h_{m\varphi}| \le c_1 \equiv \text{const}$$
,

which is uniform in m. Therefore, by the Lebesque theorem the limit relation

(3.2.58)
$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \mu(y) h_{m\varphi}(y) \, dy = \int_{\Omega} \mu(y) h_f(y) \, dy$$

takes place. From (3.2.57) it follows that the left-hand side of (3.2.58) equals zero. Thus, (3.2.56) is true and thereby the lemma is completely proved.

To assist the readers in applications, we are going to show how the assertions of Lemmas 3.2.2-3.2.4 can be extended to cover the generalized solution h_f of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation by using Lemma 3.2.4 as one possible example. True, it is to be shown for the problem

(3.2.59)
$$\begin{cases} \Delta h(x) = 0, & x \in B_0, \\ h(x) = \varphi(x), & x \in \partial B_0, \end{cases}$$

where B_0 arose from (3.2.39)–(3.2.41), that any continuous on ∂B_0 function φ can be put in correspondence with a function h_{φ} . Being a generalized solution of the Dirichlet problem (3.2.59) in the sense of Wiener, the function h_{φ} is subject to the relation

$$(3.2.60) \qquad \qquad \Delta h_{\varphi}(x) = 0, \qquad x \in B_0,$$

and takes the values $\varphi(x)$ at regular points of the boundary ∂B_0 , what means that

$$\lim_{x \to x_0} h_{\varphi}(x) = \varphi(x_0), \quad x_0 \in \partial B_0 \quad (x_0 \text{ is a regular point}),$$

irrelevant to the choice of a continuous function φ (see Landis (1971)).

Note that the generalized solution h_{φ} is identical with the solution of the Dirichlet problem (3.2.59) itself, if any.

138

Lemma 3.2.6 Under the conditions of Lemma 3.2.4 any generalized solution h_f of the Dirichlet problem (3.2.59) satisfies the relation

(3.2.61)
$$\beta \int_{B_0} h_{\varphi}(y) \mu_1(y) \, dy + \gamma \int_{(\partial B_0)^e} h_{\varphi}(y) \rho_1(y) \, ds_y$$
$$= \gamma \int_{(\partial B_0)^i} h_{\varphi}(y) \rho_2(y) \, ds_y \, d$$

The proof of Lemma 3.2.6 is omitted here, since it is similar to Lemma 3.2.4 with minor refinements identical with those of Lemma 3.2.5.

3.3 The exterior inverse problem for the volume potential with variable density for bodies with a "star-shaped" intersection

We cite here a simplified version of the statement of an inverse problem of finding the shape of a body from available values of its volume potential. Let D_0 be an arbitrary domain in the space \mathbb{R}^n enclosing the origin of coordinates and let Ω be an open bounded set with boundary $\partial\Omega$ such that $\overline{\Omega} \subset D_0$. In the general case the set Ω is representable as the union of a finite number of domains Ω^j with piecewise boundaries $\partial\Omega^j$ in conformity with (3.2.4). Special investigations involve a pair of functions with the following properties:

- (1) the function $\mu(x)$ is measurable and bounded in D_0 ;
- (2) the function h(x) is harmonic everywhere except for the origin of coordinates or a certain bounded domain D^* , $\overline{D}^* \subset D_0$.

In each such case the function h(x) is assumed to behave at infinity as the fundamental solution E(x, 0) of the Laplace equation.

In dealing with the functions h and μ the inverse problem for the potential of volume masses

$$u(x;\Omega,\mu) = \int\limits_{\Omega} E(x,y)\,\mu(y)\,\,dy = h(x)$$

consists of finding the domain Ω enclosing the origin of coordinates or, correspondingly, the domain D^* , $\overline{D}^* \subset \Omega$.

This section examines the uniqueness of solution of the aforementioned inverse problem. In other words, the main goal of our study is to find out the conditions under which the equality of the exterior volume potentials implies the coincidence of the emerging domains.

We now proceed to a more rigorous statement of the uniqueness problem. Let Ω_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, be unknown open bounded sets with boundaries $\partial\Omega_{\alpha}$. The set $\partial\Omega_{\alpha}$ is the boundary of $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}_{\alpha}$ and $\overline{\Omega}_{\alpha} \subset D_0$, where D_0 is a certain domain in the space \mathbf{R}^n . The volume mass potentials $u^{\alpha}(x)$ are defined by (3.2.1) with a common density $\mu(y)$ as follows:

$$u^{lpha}(x) = u(x;\Omega_{lpha},\mu) = \int\limits_{\Omega_{lpha}} E(x,y)\,\mu(y)\,\,dy\,.$$

Problem 1 It is required to formulate the conditions under which the equality of exterior volume potentials

$$\int_{\Omega_1} E(x, y) \mu(y) \, dy = \int_{\Omega_2} E(x, y) \mu(y) \, dy \quad \text{for} \quad x \in D_0 \setminus (\bar{\Omega}_1 \cup \bar{\Omega}_2)$$

implies the coincidence of Ω_1 and Ω_2 .

Denote by s^e the boundary of the set $\overline{\Omega}^e = \overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2$. Under the natural premise $\Omega_1 \neq \Omega_2$ one can readily show that $s^e = s_1^e \cup s_2^e$ within the notations

(3.3.1)
$$s_{1}^{i} = \partial \Omega_{1} \cap \bar{\Omega}_{1} \cap \bar{\Omega}_{2}, \qquad s_{1}^{e} = \partial \Omega_{1} \setminus s_{1}^{i},$$
$$s_{2}^{e} = \partial \Omega_{2} \cap s^{e}, \qquad s_{2}^{i} = \partial \Omega_{2} \setminus s_{2}^{e}.$$

When $\Omega_1 = \Omega_2$ we put $s^e_{\alpha} = \partial \Omega_{\alpha}$ for $\alpha = 1, 2$. It is worth noting here two things. First, some of the sets s^e_{α} , s^i_{α} may be empty. Second, notation (3.3.1) coincides with (3.2.38) in the case where $A_{\alpha} = \Omega_{\alpha}$. In the sequel it will be always preassumed that the boundary $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, is piecewise smooth.

The symbol \mathbf{R}_y is used for the vector directed from the origin of coordinates O to a point $y \ (n \ge 2)$. Let

$$r = |y| = |\mathbf{R}_y|.$$

We might attempt the function $\mu(y)$ in the form

(3.3.2)
$$\mu(y) = \xi(y) \, \delta(y) \, ,$$

where

(a) the function $\delta(y)$ (in general, of nonconstant sign) is continuously differentiable and satisfies the condition

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{\partial \delta}{\partial r} = 0 \ ; \end{aligned}$$
(b) $\xi(y) > 0$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial r} \left(r^n \xi \right) > 0$ for all $y \in \bar{\Omega}_o$

Theorem 3.3.1 Let the origin of coordinates O be enclosed in the set $\overline{\Omega}_1 \cap \overline{\Omega}_2$ and

(1) the radius vector \mathbf{R}_y obey the inequality

$$(3.3.3) \qquad \qquad (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \ge 0 \quad for \quad y \in s_1^i, \ s_2^i,$$

where \mathbf{n}_y is a unit external normal to the boundary $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, and $(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)$ signifies the scalar product of the vectors \mathbf{R}_y and \mathbf{n}_y ;

(2) the exterior volume potentials of the Laplace equation generated by the domains Ω_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, with density μ of class (3.3.2) satisfy the equality

(3.3.4)
$$u(x;\Omega_1,\mu) = u(x;\Omega_2,\mu) \quad for \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2)$$

Then $\Omega_1 = \Omega_2$.

Proof We agree to consider $\overline{\Omega}_0 = \overline{\Omega}_1 \cap \overline{\Omega}_2$ with $\operatorname{mes} \Omega_0 \neq 0$. We spoke above about Ω^e denoting the domain bounded by the surface s^e , for which the relation $\overline{\Omega}^e = \overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2$ takes place.

Together condition (3.3.4) and Lemma 3.2.2 with $\beta = 1$ and $\gamma = 0$ imply the relation

(3.3.5)
$$\int_{\Omega_1} \mu(y) h(y) \, dy - \int_{\Omega_2} \mu(y) h(y) \, dy = 0$$

for any function h(y) harmonic in the domain $D \supset (\overline{\Omega}_1 \cap \overline{\Omega}_2)$.

In further reasoning the contradiction arguments may be of help in achieving the final aim. We are first interested in the case where $\delta(y) = 1$, which admits comparatively simple proof. To put it differently, the positive function $\mu(y) \in C^1(\bar{\Omega}_1 \cap \bar{\Omega}_2)$ must satisfy the inequality

(3.3.6)
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial r} (r^n \mu) > 0, \quad r \neq 0, \quad y \in \overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2, \quad n \ge 2.$$

By merely setting h = 1 in (3.3.5) it is easily verified that the masses of the bodies Ω_1 and Ω_2 are equal in that case. Therefore, due to the positiveness of the density neither of the domains Ω_{α} will be strictly inside another. Because of this fact, another conclusion can be drawn for the domains Ω_1 and Ω_2 with different connectedness that their mutual location together with (3.3.3) guarantees that either of the sets s_{α}^e , $\alpha = 1, 2$, will be nonempty. If for one reason or another it is known that a function H(y) is harmonic in D, then so is the function

(3.3.7)
$$h = \sum_{k=1}^{n} y_k \frac{\partial H}{\partial y_k} .$$

After that, substituting (3.3.7) into (3.3.5) yields the relation

$$(3.3.8) \quad \int_{\Omega_1} \mu(y) \left[\sum_{k=1}^n y_k \frac{\partial H}{\partial y_k} \right] dy \\ - \int_{\Omega_2} \mu(y) \left[\sum_{k=1}^n y_k \frac{\partial H}{\partial y_k} \right] dy = 0,$$

which can be rewritten as

(3.3.9)
$$\int_{\Omega_{1}} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{k}} (\mu(y) y_{k} H) \right] dy$$
$$- \int_{\Omega_{2}} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{k}} (\mu(y) y_{k} H) \right] dy$$
$$- \int_{\Omega_{1}} H \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{k}} (\mu(y) y_{k}) \right] dy$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega_{1}} H \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{k}} (\mu(y) y_{k}) \right] dy = 0$$

Other ideas are connected with transformations of the first and second volume integrals of (3.3.9) into the surface ones. By such manipulations we arrive at

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_{1}} H \mu \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{k} \cos\left(\widehat{\mathbf{y}_{k}; \mathbf{n}_{y}}\right) \right] ds_{y}$$

$$\cdot$$

$$-\int_{\partial\Omega_{2}} H \mu \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} y_{k} \cos\left(\widehat{\mathbf{y}_{k}; \mathbf{n}_{y}}\right) \right] ds_{y}$$

3.3. The exterior inverse problem for the volume potential

$$-\int_{\Omega_2} H\left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu(y) y_k)\right] dy$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega_2} H\left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu(y) y_k)\right] dy = 0$$

All this enables us to write down the equation

(3.3.10) J(H) = 0

for

$$\begin{split} J(H) &= \int_{\partial \Omega_1} H \,\mu\left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) \, ds_y \\ &- \int_{\partial \Omega_2} H \,\mu\left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) \, ds_y \\ &- \int_{\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_0} H \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] \, dy \\ &+ \int_{\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_0} H \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] \, dy \end{split}$$

Let the function f(y) be defined on the surface s^{e} by the relations

(3.3.11)
$$f(y) = \begin{cases} 1, & y \in s_1^e, \\ 0, & y \in s_2^e, \end{cases}$$

under the natural premise mes $s^e_{\alpha} \neq 0$, $\alpha = 1, 2$.

The function so constructed is aimed at extending relation (3.3.10) to involve the function H_f being harmonic in Ω^e and taking the values f(y) on the boundary surface s^e except for a set of zero surface measure, by means of a sequence of surface patches $\{(s_1^e)_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ such that $\overline{(s_1^e)_k} \subset (s_1^e)_{k+1}$ and $\varepsilon_k \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$, where

(3.3.12)
$$\varepsilon_k = \operatorname{mes}\left[s_1^e \setminus (s_1^e)_k\right].$$

Putting

(3.3.13)
$$f_{k}(y) = \begin{cases} 1, & y \in (s_{1}^{e})_{k}, \\ 0, & y \in s_{2}^{e}, s_{1}^{e} \setminus (s_{1}^{e})_{k+1}, \\ \gamma_{k}(y), & y \in (s_{1}^{e})_{k+1} \setminus (s_{1}^{e})_{k}, \end{cases}$$

we might select a monotonically increasing sequence of functions $\{f_k(y)\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ being continuous on s^e such that

$$f_{k+1}(y) \ge f_k(y)$$

Here $\gamma_k(y)$ refers to a continuous function whose values range from 0 to 1.

For every continuous on s^e function $f_k(y)$ the generalized solution H_{f_k} of the Dirichlet problem is introduced to carry out more a detailed exploration. Since

$$f_{k+1}(y) \ge f_k(y), \qquad y \in s^e$$

the principle of maximum modulus with respect to the domain $\overline{\Omega}^e$ implies that

 $(3.3.14) H_{f_{k+1}}(y) \ge H_{f_k}(y), y \in \bar{\Omega}_1 \cup \bar{\Omega}_2.$

In so doing, $|H_{f_k}| < 1$.

As a matter of fact, $\{H_{f_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is an increasing sequence of functions which are bounded in $\overline{\Omega^e}$ and harmonic in Ω^e . By Harnack's theorem this sequence converges to a function H_f uniformly over Ω^e and the limiting function appears to be harmonic in Ω^e . The convergence $H_{f_k}(y) \to H_f(y)$ occurs for all $y \in \overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2$. Using the results ascribed to Keldysh and Lavrentiev (1937), Keldysh (1940) we see that the function H_{f_k} takes the values $f_k(y)$ on s^e at any point of the stability boundary. Due to this property the construction of $f_k(y)$ guarantees that the limiting function $H_f(y)$ takes the values f(y) on the boundary s^e except for a set of zero measure.

When k is held fixed, the sequence $\{H_{m\varphi_k}\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$, by means of which we have defined the function H_{f_k} in Section 1.2, converges in the closed domain $\overline{\Omega^e}$ and $|H_{m\varphi_k}| < 1$ for $m = 1, 2, \ldots$. Hence the Lebesque theorem on the passage to the limit yields

$$\lim_{m\to\infty} J(H_{m\varphi_k}) = J(H_{f_k})$$

for any fixed k.

The function H_{f_k} , in turn, converges to H_f in the closed domain $\overline{\Omega^e}$ and $|H_{f_k}| < 1$ for $k = 1, 2, \ldots$ On the same grounds as before, we find by the Lebesque theorem that

$$\lim_{k\to\infty} J(H_{f_k}) = J(H_f).$$

Because of (3.3.10),

$$J(H_{m\varphi_k}) = 0$$

144

3.3. The exterior inverse problem for the volume potential

for any fixed k and m = 1, 2, ... Consequently, $J(H_{f_k}) = 0$ for any k, so that

$$(3.3.15) J(H_f) = 0,$$

where the function H_f is harmonic in Ω^e and takes the boundary values equal to f(y) from (3.3.11) almost everywhere. Moreover,

$$(3.3.16) 0 < H_f < 1.$$

In continuation of such an analysis we refer to the functional $J(H_f)$ with the values

(3.3.17)

$$J(H_f) = \int_{s_1^e \cup s_1^i} H_f \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{s_2^e \cup s_1^i} H_f \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_0} H_f \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] \, dy$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_0} H_f \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] \, dy$$

Since

(3.3.18)
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial r} (r^n \mu) = r^{n-1} \left(n \mu + r \frac{\partial \mu}{\partial r} \right)$$
$$= r^{n-1} \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu y_k),$$

condition (3.3.6) assures us of the validity of the inequality

(3.3.19)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu y_k) > 0, \quad \text{when} \quad r \neq 0 \quad \text{for } y \in \bar{\Omega}_1 \cup \bar{\Omega}_2.$$

In the estimation of the quantity $J(H_f)$ with the aid of (3.3.16), (3.3.19) and (3.3.17) we derive in passing the inequality

$$J(H_f) > \int_{S_1^e \cup S_1^i} H_f \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y$$

$$- \int_{S_2^e \cup S_2^i} H_f \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y$$

$$- \int_{\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_0} 1 \cdot \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] \, dy$$

$$+ \int_{\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_0} H_f \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] \, dy,$$

so that we arrive at one useful relation

$$\begin{aligned} J(H_f) &> \int\limits_{s_1^e \cup s_1^i} H_f \,\mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) \, ds_y \\ &- \int\limits_{s_2^e \cup s_1^i} H_f \,\mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) \, ds_y \\ &- \int\limits_{s_1^e} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) \, ds_y \\ &+ \int\limits_{s_2^i} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) \, ds_y \\ &+ \int\limits_{s_2^i} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) \, ds_y \\ &+ \int\limits_{\Omega_2 \,\setminus\, \Omega_0} H_f \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] \, dy \end{aligned}$$

.

3.3. The exterior inverse problem for the volume potential

The preceding manipulations are based on the well-known decomposition

$$\int_{\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_0} \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] dy = \int_{s_1^e} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y \right) ds_y \\ - \int_{s_2^i} \mu \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y \right) ds_y ,$$

where \mathbf{n}_y is a unit external normal to the boundary $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$ for $\alpha = 1, 2$.

In accordance with what has been said, the function H_f takes the boundary values f(y) almost everywhere on $s^e = s_1^e \cup s_2^e$. In view of this, substituting the data of (3.3.11) into the preceding inequality yields

$$(3.3.20) J(H_f) > \int_{s_1^i} H_f \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y + \int_{s_2^i} (1 - H_f) \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y + \int_{\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_0} H_f \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] \, dy.$$

Putting these together with relations (3.3.15) and (3.3.19) we deduce that

$$\int_{\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_0} H_f \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu y_k) \right] dy > 0.$$

Since $\mu(y) > 0$ for any $y \in \overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2$, the combination of the second condition of the theorem with (3.3.16) gives

$$\int_{s_1^i} H_f \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) \, ds_y \ge 0 \,,$$
$$\int_{s_2^i} \left(1 - H_f\right) \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) \, ds_y \ge 0$$

meaning $J(H_f) > 0$, which disagrees with (3.3.15). Thus, the theorem in its first part is proved.

The situation in which the density $\mu(y)$ happens to be of nonconstant sign and satisfies (3.3.2) with items (a) and (b) comes second. In case (b) condition (3.3.4) written for an arbitrary function H(y) harmonic in Dimplies relation (3.3.10), that is,

$$(3.3.21) J(H) = 0,$$

where

$$J(H) = \int_{\partial \Omega_1} H(y) \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{\partial \Omega_2} H(y) \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_0} H(y) \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] \, dy$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_0} H(y) \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] \, dy$$

The well-established decomposition

$$J(H) = J_{\mu+}(H) + J_{\mu-}(H)$$

applies equally well to the following members: the first term $J_{\mu^+}(H)$ comprises those parts of integrals in (3.3.21) which are taken over $\partial\Omega_{\alpha}$ and $\Omega_{\alpha} \setminus \Omega_0$, where $\mu(y) > 0$ for all $y \in \overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2$. The second term $J_{\mu^-}(H)$ corresponds to those parts of integrals in (3.3.21) which are taken over $\partial\Omega_{\alpha}$ and $\Omega_{\alpha} \setminus \Omega_0$, where $\mu(y) \leq 0$ for all $y \in \overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2$.

Let

(3.3.22)
$$\begin{aligned} \partial \Omega_{\mu^+} &= \left\{ y \in \partial \Omega, \ \mu(y) > 0 \right\}; \\ \Omega_{\mu^+} &= \left\{ y \in \Omega, \ \mu(y) > 0 \right\}; \\ \Omega_{\mu^+} &= \left\{ y \in \Omega, \ \mu(y) > 0 \right\}; \\ \end{aligned}$$

Bearing in mind (3.3.1) and the way notation (3.3.22) has been introduced above, it is possible to produce a number of the new symbols. In particular, it is fairly common to use

$$s^{e}_{\alpha\mu^{+}} = \left\{ y \in s^{e}_{\alpha} : \mu(y) > 0 \right\}, \qquad \alpha = 1, 2.$$

Within these notations, we introduce the function f(y) defined on the surface $s^e = s_1^e \cup s_2^e$ by the relations

(3.3.23)
$$f(y) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } y \in s_{1\mu^+}^e, \ s_{2\mu^-}^e, \\ 0 & \text{for } y \in s_{1\mu^-}^e, \ s_{2\mu^+}^e. \end{cases}$$

Under the premises of the theorem it follows from the foregoing that $f(y) \neq$ const for $y \in s^e$. As in the first part of the proof it is necessary to extend relation (3.3.10) in order to involve the solution $H_f(y)$ of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation. The boundary values taken by $H_f(y)$ on s^e coincide with those from (3.2.3) almost everywhere. In this line, we obtain

$$(3.3.24) J(H_f) = 0,$$

where

$$J(H_f) = J_{\mu^+}(H_f) + J_{\mu^-}(H_f)$$

and

$$(3.3.25) J_{\mu+}(H_f) = \int_{s_{1\mu+}^{e}} 1 \cdot \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) ds_y \\ + \int_{s_{1\mu+}^{i}} H_f(y) \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) ds_y \\ - \int_{s_{2\mu+}^{i}} H_f(y) \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) ds_y \\ - \int_{(\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_0)_{\mu+}} H_f(y) \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu y_k) \right] dy \\ + \int_{(\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_0)_{\mu+}} H_f(y) \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu y_k) \right] dy;$$

3. Inverse Problems for Equations of the Elliptic Type

$$(3.3.26) \quad J_{\mu-}(H_f) = \int_{s_{1\mu-}^{i}} H_f(y) \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{s_{2\mu-}^{e}} 1 \cdot \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{s_{2\mu-}^{i}} H_f(y) \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{(\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_0)_{\mu-}} H_f(y) \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] \, dy$$
$$+ \int_{(\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_0)_{\mu-}} H_f(y) \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] \, dy.$$

Conditions (3.3.2) in terms of (3.3.22) imply the chain of inequalities

(3.3.27)
$$\left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{k}} (\mu y_{k})\right] > 0 \quad \text{for } y \in (\Omega_{\alpha} \setminus \Omega_{0})_{\mu^{+}}, \quad \alpha = 1, 2;$$

(3.3.28)
$$\left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{k}} (\mu y_{k})\right] < 0 \quad \text{for } y \in (\Omega_{\alpha} \setminus \Omega_{0})_{\mu^{-}}, \quad \alpha = 1, 2.$$

In view of the bounds $0 < H_f < 1$ for any $y \in \Omega^e$, we are led by relations (3.3.2), (3.3.27) and (3.3.28) to the estimates

$$(3.3.29) \qquad -\int\limits_{(\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_0)_{\mu^+}} H_f(y) \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] dy$$
$$\geq -\int\limits_{s_{1\mu^+}^e} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) \, ds_y$$
$$+ \int\limits_{s_{2\mu^+}^i} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) \, ds_y \,,$$

150

3.3. The exterior inverse problem for the volume potential

(3.3.30)
$$\int_{(\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_0)_{\mu^-}} H_f(y) \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu \, y_k) \right] dy$$
$$\geq \int_{s_{2\mu^-}^e} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y \right) ds_y$$
$$- \int_{s_{1\mu^-}^i} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y \right) ds_y .$$

From (3.3.27)-(3.3.30) it follows that

$$(3.3.31) J_{\mu+}(H_f) \ge \left[\int_{s_{1\mu^+}^i} H_f(y) \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) ds_y \right] \\ + \left[\int_{s_{2\mu^+}^i} \left(1 - H_f(y) \right) \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) ds_y \right] \\ + \left[\int_{(\Omega_2 \setminus \Omega_0)_{\mu^+}} H_f(y) \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu y_k) dy \right], \\ (3.3.32) J_{\mu^-}(H_f) \ge \left[\int_{s_{1\mu^-}^i} \left(H_f(y) - 1 \right) \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) ds_y \right] \\ + \left[- \int_{s_{2\mu^-}^i} H_f(y) \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y\right) ds_y \right] \\ + \left[- \int_{(\Omega_1 \setminus \Omega_0)_{\mu^-}} H_f(y) \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\mu y_k) dy \right]$$

Taking into account (3.3.3), the properties of the function $\mu(y)$ specified by (3.3.2) and the properties of the function $H_f(y)$ revealed in estimates

151

•

(3.3.23), we deduce that every term in square brackets on the right-hand sides of (3.3.31)–(3.3.32) is nonnegative and, moreover, at least one of them is strictly positive. Thus, we should have $J(H_f) > 0$, violating (3.3.24). The obtained contradiction proves the assertion of the theorem.

Remark 3.3.1 Condition (3.3.3) of Theorem 3.3.1 is satisfied if $\overline{\Omega}_1 \cap \overline{\Omega}_2$ is a "star-shaped" set with respect to the point $O \in \overline{\Omega}_1 \cap \overline{\Omega}_2$. For each such set, $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\overline{\Omega}_1 \cap \overline{\Omega}_2)$ appears to be a one-component set. In particular, when either of the sets $\overline{\Omega}_1$ and $\overline{\Omega}_2$ is "star-shaped" with respect to a common point O, we thus have (3.3.3).

3.4 Integral stability estimates for the inverse problem of the exterior potential with constant density

As we have already mentioned in preliminaries to this chapter, the question of uniqueness of inverse problem solutions is intimately connected with their stability. The general topological criterion of stability ascribed to Tikhonov (1943) and based on the corresponding uniqueness theorems implies the qualitative stability tests.

In this section several stability estimates for the inverse problem of the exterior potential for $n \geq 3$ will be derived in the class of "non-star-shaped" bodies that consists of the so-called "absolutely star-ambient" and "absolutely projectively-ambient" bodies including those with "star-shaped" intersections and, correspondingly, with boundaries having intersections only at two points by a straight line parallel to a known direction.

We denote by $u(x; A_{\alpha}) \equiv u(x; A_{\alpha}, 1)$ the volume potential of the body A_{α} with unit density. Throughout this section, we retain the notations given by formulae (3.2.1)-(3.2.4), (3.2.38) and (3.3.1) and attempt the fundamental solution of the Laplace equation in the form (3.1.4). In particular, we agree to consider

(3.4.1)
$$E(x,y) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{1}{r_{xy}}$$

for n = 3 and $r_{xy} = |x - y|$.

As we will see a little later, it will be convenient to deal with

(3.4.2)
$$w(x) = w(x; A_1) - w(x; A_2),$$

where

$$(3.4.3) w(x; A_{\alpha}) = 2 \gamma_1 u(x; A_{\alpha})$$

$$-\sum_{k=1}^n \left(\gamma_1 x_k + \beta_1 q_k\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} u(x; A_\alpha),$$

 γ_1 and β_1 are real numbers, $\gamma_1^2 + \beta_1^2 \neq 0$, and $\mathbf{q} = (q_1, \dots, q_n)$ is a constant vector.

For $A_1 \neq A_2$ the traditional tool for carrying out this work involves

(3.4.4)
$$F^{e} = \int_{\Gamma_{1}^{e}} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_{y} + \int_{\Gamma_{2}^{e}} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_{y} ,$$

(3.4.5)
$$F^{i} = \int_{\Gamma_{1}^{i}} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_{y} + \int_{\Gamma_{2}^{i}} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_{y} ,$$

where the function

(3.4.6)
$$\Phi(y) = \left(\gamma_1 \mathbf{R}_y + \beta_1 \mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y\right)$$

is adopted as the scalar product of the vectors $\gamma_1 \mathbf{R}_y + \beta_1 \mathbf{q}$ and \mathbf{n}_y . Here \mathbf{n}_y denotes a unit exterior normal to the boundary ∂A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$. In what follows we accept $A_{\alpha} = \Omega_{\alpha}$ unless otherwise is explicitly stated, where Ω_{α} is a simply connected domain with a piecewise smooth boundary $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$. Also, either of the sets $\Omega_0 = \Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2$ and $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{\Omega}_1 \cup \bar{\Omega}_2)$ is supposed to be simply connected.

Theorem 3.4.1 Let $U(x; \Omega_{\alpha})$ be the volume mass potentials of domains $\Omega_{\alpha}, n \geq 3, \alpha = 1, 2$, whose constant density is equal to 1. One assumes, in addition, that the potentials $U(x, \Omega_{\alpha})$ can harmonically be extended from $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}_{\alpha}$ for $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus D^*$, where D^* is a simply connected domain with a smooth boundary $\partial D^*, \overline{D^*} \subset \Omega^e$. Then, within notations (3.4.2)-(3.4.6), the estimate

(3.4.7)
$$F^e - F^i \le c_1 \max_{x \in \partial D^*} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} w(x) \right|$$

is valid with $c_1 = \text{const} > 0$ depending only on the configuration of the boundary ∂D^* and $\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial n_x}w(x)\right]\Big|_{\partial D^*}$ denoting the external normal derivative at a point $x \in \partial D^*$ of the function w(x), which has been harmonically extended to the boundary ∂D^* .

Proof Let D and D_1 be arbitrary domains with piecewise smooth boundaries ∂D and ∂D_1 such that

$$D \supset \overline{D}_1 \supset D_1 \supset (\overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2)$$
.

A simply connected domain $D^{*'}$ with a smooth boundary $\partial D^{*'}$ is much involved in further reasoning to avoid cumbersome calculations under the agreements that $D_1 \supset \overline{D^{*'}}$ and none of the singular points of both functions $u(x; \Omega_{\alpha}), \alpha = 1, 2$, lies within the domain $D^{*'}$.

One way of proceeding is to refer to the functional

(3.4.8)
$$J(H) = \int_{\partial \Omega_1} H(y) \Phi(y) \ ds_y - \int_{\partial \Omega_2} H(y) \Phi(y) \ ds_y ,$$

where H(y) is an arbitrary harmonic in D function, $\Phi(y)$ has been defined in (3.4.6) and $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$ is the boundary of $\Omega_{\alpha} \subset \mathbf{R}^{n}$, $n \geq 3$, $\alpha = 1, 2$. Before we undertake the proof of the theorem, a preliminary lemma will be introduced.

Lemma 3.4.1 The functional J(H) specified by (3.4.8) admits the estimate

(3.4.9)
$$|J(H)| \leq c_2 \max_{y \in \partial D_1} |H(y)| \max_{x \in \partial D^{*'}} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} w(x) \right|,$$

where $c_2 = \text{const} > 0$ depends on the boundary $\partial D^{*'}$.

Proof Indeed, any function H(y) harmonic in the domain $D \supset \overline{D}_1$ can be represented in the form

(3.4.10)
$$\int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[E(x,y); H(x) \right] ds_x = \begin{cases} H(y), & y \in D_1, \\ 0, & y \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{D}_1, \end{cases}$$

where E(x, y) stands for the fundamental solution of the Laplace equation for $n \ge 3$. The expression for M[u; v] is as follows:

(3.4.11)
$$M[u;v] = v(x) \frac{\partial u}{\partial n_x} - \frac{\partial v}{\partial n_x} u(x)$$

with \mathbf{n}_x denoting a unit external normal to ∂D_1 at point x. Furthermore, we will use as a tool in achieving important results a functional and a harmonic function which carry out the following actions:

(3.4.12)
$$\bar{J}(h) = \int_{\Omega_1} h(y) \, dy - \int_{\Omega_2} h(y) \, dy$$

and

(3.4.13)
$$h(y) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} \left[(\gamma_1 y_k + \beta_1 q_k) H(y) \right].$$

Here H(y) is harmonic in D and the numbers γ_1 , β_1 and q_k have been defined in (3.4.6). Via representation (3.4.10) for the function H(y) we might have

$$(3.4.14) \qquad \int_{\Omega_{\alpha}} h(y) \, dy = \int_{\Omega_{\alpha}} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{k}} \left[(\gamma_{1}y_{k} + \beta_{1}q_{k}) H(y) \right] \, dy$$
$$= \int_{\Omega_{\alpha}} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{k}} \left\{ (\gamma_{1}y_{k} + \beta_{1}q_{k}) \right.$$
$$\times \int_{\partial D_{1}} M_{x} \left[E(x,y); H(x) \right] \, ds_{x} \right\} \, dy$$
$$= \int_{\partial D_{1}} M_{x} \left[\left\{ \int_{\Omega_{\alpha}} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{k}} (\gamma_{1}y_{k} + \beta_{1}q_{k}) \right.$$
$$\times \left. E(x,y) \, dy \right\}; H(x) \right] \, ds_{x}$$

for $\alpha = 1, 2$. Using the well-established decomposition for $n \geq 3$

$$(3.4.15) \quad \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{k}} \left[(\gamma_{1}y_{k} + \beta_{1}q_{k}) E(x, y) \right]$$
$$= 2 \gamma_{1} E(x, y) - \sum_{k=1}^{n} (\gamma_{1}y_{k} + \beta_{1}q_{k}) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{k}} E(x, y)$$

we rewrite the expression in curly brackets from the last formula (3.4.14) as

(3.4.16)
$$\int_{\Omega_{\alpha}} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{k}} (\gamma_{1}y_{k} + \beta_{1}q_{k}) E(x, y) dy = w(x; \Omega_{\alpha}),$$

where the function $w(x; \Omega_{\alpha})$ has been defined in (3.4.3). Therefore, with the aid of (3.4.14) and (3.4.16) we establish for any pair of the functions h(y) and H(y) built into (3.4.13) the relation

(3.4.17)
$$\int_{\Omega_{\alpha}} h(y) \, dy = \int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[w(x; \Omega_{\alpha}); H(x) \right] \, ds_x \, .$$

Some progress will be achieved if the function h(y) will be taken in the form (3.4.13) with further substitution into (3.4.12). As a final result we get the equality

(3.4.18)
$$\bar{J}(H) = J(H),$$

where the functional J(H) has been defined by (3.4.8). On the other hand, (3.4.12), (3.4.17) and (3.4.18) imply that

(3.4.19)
$$J(H) = \int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[w(x); H(x) \right] \, ds_x$$

with w(x) being still subject to (3.4.2)-(3.4.3).

Via representation (3.4.19) one can derive an upper bound for the absolute value of the functional J(H). In the light of the premises of the lemma the function w(x) is harmonically extendable from $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}_{\alpha}$ to the domain $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus D^{*'}$. When solving the exterior boundary value Neymann problem, one can find on the surface $\partial D^{*'}$ the density $\omega(y)$ of the simple layer potential

(3.4.20)
$$v(x) = \int_{\partial D^{*'}} \omega(y) E(x, y) \, ds_y \, ,$$

for which

(3.4.21)
$$\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} v(x)\right]^- = \frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} w(x) \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \partial D^{*'},$$

where $\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial n_x}v(x)\right]^-$ denotes the limiting value of $\frac{\partial}{\partial n_x}v(x')$ as $x' \to x$ ($x \in \partial D^{*'}$)

along a unit external normal \mathbf{n}_x to $D^{*'}$. In conformity with the uniqueness of a solution of the exterior boundary value Neymann problem $(n \geq 3)$, relation (3.4.21) yields

(3.4.22)
$$w(x) = v(x) \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus D^{*'},$$

showing the notation w(x) to be a sensible one. Consequently, (3.4.19), (3.4.20) and (3.4.22) serve to motivate the representations

$$(3.4.23) J(H) = \int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[\int_{\partial D^{*\prime}} \omega(y) E(x, y) \, ds_y; \, H(x) \right] \, ds_x$$
$$= \int_{\partial D^{*\prime}} \omega(y) \left\{ \int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[E(x, y); \, H(x) \right] \, ds_x \right\} \, ds_y \, ds_$$

With (3.4.10) in view, the latter becomes much more simpler:

(3.4.24)
$$J(H) = \int_{\partial D^{\star'}} \omega(y) H(y) \, ds_y \, .$$

Thus, the functional J(H) can be estimated as follows:

$$(3.4.25) |J(H)| \le \max_{y \in \partial D^{\star'}} |H(y)| \int_{\partial D^{\star'}} |\omega(y)| ds_y$$
$$\le \max_{y \in \partial D_1} |H(y)| \int_{\partial D^{\star'}} |\omega(y)| ds_y.$$

On the other hand, we should take into account that the function $\omega(y)$ solves the integral Fredholm equation of the second kind

$$(3.4.26) (I-T)\omega = f$$

on the basis of (3.4.20)-(3.4.21) and the formulae for the jump of the normal derivative of the potential of the simple layer. Here I is, as usual, the identity operator. The operator T and the function f act in accordance with the following rules:

(3.4.27)
$$T \omega = \int_{\partial D^{*'}} 2 \frac{\partial E(x, y)}{\partial n_x} \omega(y) \, ds_y;$$
$$f(x) = -2 \frac{\partial w(x)}{\partial n_x}, \qquad x \in \partial D^{*'}.$$

On the strength of the uniqueness of a solution of the exterior Neymann problem $(n \ge 3)$ the inverse operator $(I - T)^{-1}$ should be bounded in the space of all continuous functions. Thus, (3.4.26) and (3.4.27) imply the inequality

(3.4.28)
$$\max_{y \in \partial D^{*'}} |\omega(y)| \le c_2 \max_{\substack{x \in \partial D^{*'}}} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} w(x) \right|, \qquad c_2 \equiv \text{ const } > 0.$$

Estimate (3.4.9) is an immediate implication of (3.4.26) and (3.4.28) and this proves the assertion of the lemma.

157

We return to proving the theorem by appeal to a function f(y) defined on the surface $s^e = s_1^e \cup s_2^e$ by the relations

(3.4.29)
$$f(y) = \begin{cases} -\operatorname{sign} \Phi(y) & \text{for } y \in s_1^e, \\ \operatorname{sign} \Phi(y) & \text{for } y \in s_2^e. \end{cases}$$

By means of the function f(y) one can produce a generalized solution $H_f(y)$ of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation in such a way that $H_f(y)$ will be harmonic within Ω^e , $|H_f(y)| \leq 1$ will occur for $y \in \Omega^e$ and the boundary values of $H_f(y)$ on the boundary s^e will coincide almost everywhere with f(y) involved in (3.4.29). All tricks and turns remain unchanged as in the proof of Theorem 3.3.1. The way its result is used here is to select a sequence of functions $\{H_{m\varphi_k}\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$, $|H_{m\varphi_k}| \leq 1$, which makes it possible to find a function H_{f_k} with relevant properties:

$$|H_{f_k}| \leq 1$$
 and H_{f_k} converges to H_f in Ω^e

Under the conditions of the theorem we are now in a position to consider the domain D^* , $\overline{D^*} \subset \Omega^e$, instead of the domain $D^{*'}$, arising from the preceding lemma. Since $\overline{D}^* \subset \Omega^e$, estimate (3.4.9) implies that

(3.4.30)
$$J(H_{m\varphi_k}) \leq |J(H_{m\varphi_k})| \leq c_2 \max_{x \in \partial D^*} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} w(x) \right|$$

Holding k fixed and passing to the limit in (3.4.30) as $m \to \infty$, we derive the estimates

(3.4.31)
$$J(H_{f_k}) \leq |J(H_{f_k})| \leq c_2 \max_{x \in \partial D^*} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} w(x) \right|,$$

which after another passage to the limit as $k \to \infty$ look as follows:

(3.4.32)
$$J(H_f) \leq |J(H_f)| \leq c_2 \max_{x \in \partial D^*} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} w(x) \right|.$$

On the other hand, the boundary values of H_f on s^e have been defined by (3.4.29), so that (3.4.8) gives

(3.4.33)
$$\int_{s_{1}^{e}} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_{y} + \int_{s_{2}^{e}} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_{y}$$
$$+ \int_{s_{1}^{i}} H_{f}(y) \Phi(y) \, ds_{y}$$
$$- \int_{s_{1}^{i}} H_{f}(y) \Phi(y) \, ds_{y} = J(H_{f}).$$

Since $|H_f| \leq 1$, inequality (3.4.33) is followed by

(3.4.34)
$$\int_{s_1^e} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_y + \int_{s_2^e} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_y - \int_{s_1^e} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{s_2^i} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_y \le J(H_f) \, .$$

Now estimate (3.4.7) is an immediate implication of (3.4.32) and (3.4.34) with notations (3.4.4)-(3.4.6). This completes the task of motivating the desired estimate.

We give below several corollaries to Theorem 3.4.1 that furnish the justification for what we wish to do.

Corollary 3.4.1 Let $\Omega_1 \neq \Omega_2$. If there exist a point O, numbers γ_1 , β_1 and a vector \mathbf{q} such that

$$(3.4.35) \int_{s_1^i} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_y + \int_{s_2^i} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_y < \int_{s_1^e} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_y + \int_{s_2^e} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_y \, ,$$

then the exterior potentials $u(x; \Omega_{\alpha})$ of a constant density cannot coincide, that is, the set $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2)$ encloses a point \hat{x} such that

$$(3.4.36) u(\hat{x};\Omega_1) \neq u(\hat{x};\Omega_2).$$

Remark 3.4.1 In the case where $\gamma_1 = 1$ and $\beta_1 = 0$ we might have $\Phi(y) = (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)$ and

$$(3.4.37) \qquad \int\limits_{s_1^i} |(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y + \int\limits_{s_2^i} |(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y$$
$$\leq \int\limits_{s_1^e} |(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y$$
$$+ \int\limits_{s_2^e} |(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y$$
instead of condition (3.4.35).

Note that Corollary 3.4.1 is still valid if (3.4.37) is replaced by

$$(3.4.38) \quad \int_{s_1^i} |(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y + \int_{s_2^i} |(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y$$
$$< \int_{s_1^e} |(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y + \int_{s_2^e} |(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y + \int_{s_2^e} |(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y \, .$$

It is obvious that (3.4.37) follows from (3.4.38). We claim that (3.4.38) holds if, in particular, the set $\bar{\Omega}_1 \cap \bar{\Omega}_2$ is "star-shaped" with respect to a certain point $O \in \bar{\Omega}_1 \cap \bar{\Omega}_2$, both sets s^e_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, are not empty with $\operatorname{mes}(s^i_1 \cap s^i_2) = 0$. To avoid generality for which we have no real need, we will consistently confine ourselves to a domain $D \subset \mathbf{R}^n$ bounded by the surface ∂D . Then the volume of D can be expressed by

$$\operatorname{mes} D = \int_{D} dy = \frac{1}{n} \int_{D} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial y_{k}}{\partial y_{k}} \right] dy = \frac{1}{n} \int_{\partial D} (\mathbf{R}_{y}, \mathbf{n}_{y}) ds_{y}$$

yielding

(3.4.39)
$$\operatorname{mes} D = \frac{1}{n} \int_{\partial D} \left(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y \right) \, ds_y$$

In particular, if the set $\bar{\Omega}_1 \cap \bar{\Omega}_2$ is "star-shaped" with respect to at least one point $O \in \bar{\Omega}_1 \cap \bar{\Omega}_2$, mes $(s_1^i \cap s_2^i) = 0$ and mes $s_{\alpha}^e \neq 0$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, then $(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \geq 0$ on s_{α}^i , $\alpha = 1, 2$. Because of (3.4.39), the meaning of relation (3.4.38) is that we should have

 $\operatorname{mes}\left(\bar{\Omega}_{1}\cup\bar{\Omega}_{2}\right) > \operatorname{mes}\left(\bar{\Omega}_{1}\cap\bar{\Omega}_{2}\right).$

Remark 3.4.2 If $\gamma_1 = 0$ and $\beta_1 = 1$, then $\Phi(y) = (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y)$ and condition (3.4.35) can be replaced by

$$(3.4.40) \quad \int\limits_{s_1^i} |(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y + \int\limits_{s_2^i} |(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y$$
$$\leq \int\limits_{s_1^e} |(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y + \int\limits_{s_2^e} |(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y)| \, ds_y \, .$$

The preceding inequality holds true if, in particular,

$$\operatorname{mes}\left(s_{1}^{i}\cap s_{2}^{i}\right)=0$$

and the intersection of the set $s_1^i \cup s_2^i$ by a straight line, parallel to the vector \mathbf{q} , contains at most two points or two whole segments.

Remark 3.4.3 A geometric interpretation for conditions (3.4.37) and (3.4.40) is connected with introduction of a surface piece

$$\hat{s} = \hat{s}^1 \cup \hat{s}^2 \cup \ldots \cup \hat{s}^m$$

such that a ray originating from the point O intersects every part \hat{s}^{γ} either at one point or by one whole segment. Let

$$||V_{K(\hat{s})}|| = |V_{K(\hat{s}^{1})}| + |V_{K(\hat{s}^{2})}| + \cdots + |V_{K(\hat{s}^{m})}|,$$

where $|V_{K(\hat{s}^j)}|$ means the absolute value of the volume of the cone constructed over the piece \hat{s}^j with vertex O. Within this notation, condition (3.4.37) can be rewritten as

$$(3.4.41) || V_{K(s_2^i)} || + || V_{K(s_2^i)} || < || V_{K(s_2^e)} || + || V_{K(s_2^e)} ||.$$

Likewise, let the piece $\hat{s} = \hat{s}^1 \cup \ldots \cup \hat{s}^m$ be such that every part \hat{s}^γ can uniquely be projected onto a plane $N \perp \mathbf{q}$ by straight lines parallel to the vector \mathbf{q} . If so, it is reasonable to try to use the quantity

$$(3.4.42) \|\sigma_{\pi(\hat{s})}\| = |\sigma_{\pi(\hat{s}^1)}| + |\sigma_{\pi(\hat{s}^2)}| + \cdots + |\sigma_{\pi(\hat{s}^m)}|,$$

where $|\sigma_{\pi(\hat{s}^j)}|$ means the absolute value of the surface area of $\pi(\hat{s}^j)$, the projection of the dimension n-1 of \hat{s}^j onto the plane N. Therefore, condition (3.4.40) becomes

$$(3.4.43) \|\sigma_{\pi(s_2^i)}\| + \|\sigma_{\pi(s_2^i)}\| < \|\sigma_{\pi(s_2^e)}\| + \|\sigma_{\pi(s_2^e)}\|.$$

Under condition (3.4.41) the bodies Ω_1 and Ω_2 fall within the category of "absolutely star-ambient" domains. The bodies Ω_1 and Ω_2 are said to be "absolutely projectively-outwards-ambient" provided condition (3.4.43) holds.

If, in particular, under the initial conditions the set $\bar{\Omega}_1 \cap \bar{\Omega}_2$ is "starshaped" with respect to an inner point, then the domains Ω_{α} are referred to as "absolutely star-ambient". Such domains Ω_{α} turn out to be "absolutely projectively-outwards-ambient" when a straight line, parallel to the vector **q**, will intersect the boundary of the set $\Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2$ at most at two points.

Remark 3.4.4 Because of (3.4.7), we might have

$$0 \leq F^e - F^i$$

for any "absolutely star-ambient" or "absolutely projectively-ambient" domains.

Other stability estimates given below are asserted by Theorem 3.4.1.

Corollary 3.4.2 Let a set P contain all singular points of the potentials $u(x; \Omega_{\alpha}), \alpha = 1, 2$, and let

$$\bar{P} \subset D^* \subset \overline{D^*} \subset \Omega^e.$$

If

$$(3.4.44) |u(x;\Omega_1) - u(x;\Omega_2)| < \varepsilon, x \in \partial D^*,$$

then

$$(3.4.45) F^e - F^i \le c_3 \frac{\varepsilon}{l^2} ,$$

where $c_3 = c_3(\partial D^*) \equiv \text{const} > 0$ and $l = \text{dist}(\partial D^*, s^e)$ denotes the distance between ∂D^* and s^e .

Indeed, the function $u(x) \equiv u(x; \Omega_1) - u(x; \Omega_2)$ is harmonic in the domain $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{P}$ and, consequently, is uniformly bounded in a domain G ordered with respect to inclusion: $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus D \subset G \subset \overline{G} \subset \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{P}$. Therefore, estimate (3.4.45) follows from (3.4.7) and (3.4.44) on the basis of the well-known estimates for the derivatives of the function u.

Assuming mes $(\partial \Omega_1 \cap \partial \Omega_2) = 0$ and retaining notations (3.4.40) and (3.4.42), we recast estimate (3.4.7) as

$$\gamma_1 \left[\| V_{K(\hat{s}^e)} \| - \| V_{K(\hat{s}^i)} \| \right] + \beta \left[\| \sigma_{\pi(\hat{s}^e)} \| - \| \sigma_{\pi(\hat{s}^i)} \| \right]$$
$$\leq c_1 \max_{x \in \partial D^*} \left[\frac{\partial w(x)}{\partial n_x} \right].$$

Our next step is to define for the domains Ω_1 and Ω_2 the distance function by means of the relation

(3.4.46) $\operatorname{dist}\left(\Omega_{1},\Omega_{2}\right)=\operatorname{mes}\left(\Omega_{1}\odot\Omega_{2}\right),$

where $\Omega_1 \odot \Omega_2 = (\Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2) \setminus (\Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2)$ designates the symmetric difference between the domains Ω_1 and Ω_2 . Once equipped with the distance function defined by (3.4.46), the union of domains becomes a metric space. For more detail we refer the readers to Sobolev (1988).

Corollary 3.4.3 If $\Omega_0 = \Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2$ is a "star-shaped" set with respect to a point $O \in \Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2$ and all the conditions of Theorem 3.4.1 (or Corollary 3.4.2) hold, then the estimates

(3.4.47)
$$d(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) \le c_4 \max_{x \in \partial D^*} \left| \begin{array}{c} \frac{\partial w(x)}{\partial n_x} \end{array} \right|$$

and

 $(3.4.48) d(\Omega_1, \Omega_2) \le c_5 \frac{\varepsilon}{l^2}$

are true.

162

Proof Indeed, if the domain Ω_0 is supposed to be "star-shaped" with respect to a point $O \in \Omega_0$, then on account Remark 3.4.1

$$F^e - F^i \ge n \operatorname{mes}\left(\Omega_1 \odot \Omega_2\right)$$

and $F^i < F^e$, so that estimates (3.4.47) and (3.4.48) follow from (3.4.7) and (3.4.44).

Corollary 3.4.4 If under the premices of Corollary 3.4.2 any straight line, parallel to the vector \mathbf{q} , may intersect the boundary of the set $\Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2$ either at most at two points or by two whole segments, then

$$\mathrm{mes}\left(\,\Omega_1\odot\Omega_2
ight)\longrightarrow 0 \quad \mathrm{as} \quad arepsilon
ightarrow 0$$
 .

Proof We proceed to establish this relation by inserting $\gamma_1 = 0$ and $\beta_1 = 0$. Since any straight line parallel to **q** may intersect s_1^i and s_2^i at most at two points, the inequality $F^e - F^i \ge 0$ is certainly true. On account of Remark 3.4.2 estimate (3.4.45) implies the above corollary.

Remark 3.4.5 Under the conditions of Theorem 3.4.1 we might have

(3.4.49)
$$F^e - F^i \leq \int_{\partial D^*} |w(y)| \, ds_y \, ,$$

where the function $\omega(y)$ and the function $\frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} w(x)$ for $x \in \partial D^*$ are related by the integral equation

(3.4.50)
$$-\frac{1}{2} \omega(x) + \int_{\partial D^*} \frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} E(x, y) \omega(y) \, ds_y = \frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} w(x) \, .$$

A preliminary step in establishing the preceding relationship is to pass to the limit in (3.4.25) with respect to k and m in order to demonstrate that the functional $J(H_f)$ satisfies the estimate

$$|J(H_f)| \leq \int_{\partial D^*} |w(y)| ds_y$$

whose use permits us to show that (3.4.49) becomes an implication of (3.4.34).

It is worth noting here two things. With the aid of relations (3.4.49)-(3.4.50) one can derive various estimates of the integral type. Some of them are more sharper than (3.4.7) and (3.4.47).

Being concerned with the difference of the potentials

(3.4.51)
$$u(x) = u(x, \Omega_1) - u(x, \Omega_2)$$

and the sphere S_R of radius R, we will assume that either of the domains $\bar{\Omega}_{\alpha}$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, lies entirely within the sphere S_R and the subsidiary Cauchy data can be estimated as follows:

$$(3.4.52) | u(x) |_{G(R)} \le \varepsilon_1, | \frac{\partial u}{\partial n_x} \Big|_{G(R)} \le \varepsilon_1,$$

where G(R) is a part of S_R . Relying on the well-known estimates for a solution to the integral equation (3.4.50) in terms of the right-hand function and exploiting some facts from Lavrentiev (1956), (1957), we can write out explicitly a function $\psi(\varepsilon_1)$ giving the upper bound for the right-hand side of (3.4.49) such that $\psi(\varepsilon_1) \to 0$ as $\varepsilon_1 \to 0$.

Similar remarks are still valid with regard to inequalities (3.4.7) and (3.4.45), whose right-hand sides are estimated in terms of the Cauchy data (3.4.52) like $c_6 \varphi(\varepsilon_1)$. For example, if ε emerged from (3.4.44), each such number admits the expansion $\varepsilon = \text{const } \varphi(\varepsilon_1)$, where ε_1 arose from estimates (3.4.52) and $\varphi(\varepsilon_1) \rightarrow 0$ as $\varepsilon_1 \rightarrow 0$. Also, it is possible to represent $\varphi(\varepsilon_1)$ in the explicit form.

Other ideas are connected with the derivation of stability estimates. Let open bounded sets A_1 and A_2 be so chosen as to keep the notations given by (3.2.38). For the potentials $u(x; A_{\alpha})$ of the sets A_{α} with unit density it would be possible to get stability estimates and uniqueness theorems similar to those stated above.

As an example we cite below an assertion similar to Corollary 3.4.1.

Theorem 3.4.2 Let there exist a point O, the numbers γ_1 and β_1 , $\gamma_1^2 + \beta_1^2 \neq 0$, and a constant vector **q** such that

$$(3.4.53) \int_{\Gamma_1^i} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_y + \int_{\Gamma_2^i} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_y < \int_{\bar{\Gamma}_1^e} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_y + \int_{\bar{\Gamma}_2^e} |\Phi(y)| \, ds_y \, .$$

If the potentials $u(x; A_{\alpha})$ satisfy the equality

$$(3.4.54) u(x;A_1) = u(x;A_2) \quad for \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2),$$

then $A_1 = A_2$.

Proof As usual, this amounts to taking into consideration the union $\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2$. When that set is not connected, we initiate another construction

$$A^* \subset \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2),$$

for which $\overline{A^*} \cap (\overline{A}_1 \cup \overline{A}_2)$ consists of a finite number of points. The set A^* can be regarded as a union of domains with piecewise boundaries except for a finite number of points. Moreover, by construction, the set $\overline{A}_1 \cup \overline{A}_2 \cup \overline{A^*}$ will be connected.

Set

$$(3.4.55) \qquad \bar{B}_1 = \bar{A}_1 \bigcup \overline{A^*}, \qquad \bar{B}_2 = \bar{A}_2 \bigcup \overline{A^*}.$$

Let us denote by $u(x; A^*)$ the potential of the set A^* with density $\mu \equiv 1$. Condition (3.4.53) implies that

$$u(x; A_1) + u(x; A^*) = u(x; A_2) + u(x; A^*)$$
 for $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\overline{A_1} \cup \overline{A_2} \cup \overline{A^*})$,

so that we obtain

(3.4.56)
$$u(x;B_1) = u(x;B_2) \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{B}_1 \cup \bar{B}_2).$$

Since $\bar{B}_1 \cup \bar{B}_2$ is a connected closed set, Lemma 3.2.2 yields the relation

(3.4.57)
$$\int_{B_1} h(y) \, dy = \int_{B_2} h(y) \, dy$$

which is valid for an arbitrary function h harmonic in $D \supset \overline{B}_1 \cup \overline{B}_2$. In view of (3.4.55), the last equality becomes

(3.4.58)
$$\int_{A_1} h(y) \, dy = \int_{A_2} h(y) \, dy$$

As in the proof of Theorem 3.4.1 we need the function

(3.4.59)
$$f(y) = \begin{cases} -\operatorname{sign} \Phi(y) & \text{for } y \in \overline{\Gamma}_1^e, \\ \operatorname{sign} \Phi(y) & \text{for } y \in \overline{\Gamma}_2^e, \\ 0 & \text{for } y \in \partial A^*, \end{cases}$$

and insert in place of h

$$h(y) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (\gamma_1 y_k + \beta_1 q_k) H .$$

Adopting the arguments of Theorem 3.4.1 we arrive at the relation

$$\int_{A_1} H_f \Phi(y) \ ds_y - \int_{A_2} H_f \Phi(y) \ ds_y = 0 \,,$$

which can be rewritten for later use as

$$(3.4.60) \int_{\Gamma_{1}^{e}} H_{f} \Phi(y) \, ds_{y} - \int_{\Gamma_{2}^{e}} H_{f} \Phi(y) \, ds_{y}$$
$$= \int_{\Gamma_{2}^{i}} H_{f} \Phi(y) \, ds_{y} - \int_{\Gamma_{1}^{i}} H_{f} \Phi(y) \, ds_{y} \, .$$

Since $|H_f| \leq 1$ on $\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2$, the boundary data (3.4.59) and relation (3.4.60) assure us of the validity of the estimate

$$\int\limits_{\bar{\Gamma}_1^e} |\Phi(y)| \ ds_y + \int\limits_{\bar{\Gamma}_2^e} |\Phi(y)| \ ds_y \leq \int\limits_{\Gamma_1^i} |\Phi(y)| \ ds_y + \int\limits_{\Gamma_2^i} |\Phi$$

which contradicts (3.4.53) and thereby proves the theorem.

3.5 Uniqueness theorems for the harmonic potential of "non-star-shaped" bodies with variable density

Unlike Section 3.3 we will prove in the sequel the uniqueness theorems for the volume potential of the Laplace equation

$$(3.5.1) \qquad \qquad \Delta h = 0$$

related to "non-star-shaped" bodies. Also, in contrast to Section 3.4 the available densities do not have constant signs.

Let A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, be open bounded sets satisfying conditions (3.2.38).

Theorem 3.5.1 If there exists at least one constant vector \mathbf{q} , for which the following conditions hold:

(1) either of the sets $(s_1^e)^j (j = 1, ..., j_1)$ and $(s_2^e)^j (j = 1, ..., j_2)$ is not empty and any straight line, parallel to the vector \mathbf{q} , may intersect the set $\Gamma_1^i \cup \Gamma_2^i$ either at most at two points or by two whole segments;

166

- (2) the function $\mu(y)$ is subject to the relation $\partial \mu(y)/\partial y_n = 0$, where the axis Oy_n is directed along the vector \mathbf{q} and the function $\mu(y)$ does not have, in general, constant sign for all $y \in \overline{A}_1 \cup \overline{A}_2$;
- (3) the harmonic potentials $u(x; A_{\alpha}, \mu)$ with density μ possess the property

$$(3.5.2) u(x; A_1, \mu) = u(x; A_2, \mu) \quad for \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (A_1 \cup A_2);$$

then $A_1 = A_2$.

Proof To avoid cumbersome calculations, we confine ourselves to the case $A_{\alpha} = \Omega_{\alpha}$, which admits comparatively simple proof. Condition (3) just formulated and Lemma 3.2.2 with $\beta = 1$ and $\gamma = 0$ imply that any function h(y) being harmonic in a domain $D, D \supset (\overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2)$, complies with the relation

(3.5.3)
$$\int_{\Omega_1} \mu(y) h(y) \, dy - \int_{\Omega_2} \mu(y) h(y) \, dy = 0$$

The meaning of this is that h(y) represents a regular solution to equation (3.5.1) over D. To do the same amount of work, the function h will be taken to be

$$h(y) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} q_k \frac{\partial H}{\partial y_k}$$
, $\mathbf{q} = (q_1, \dots, q_n)$,

where H(y) is an arbitrary harmonic in D function. Upon substituting the last expression into (3.5.3) we see that condition 2) of the present theorem may be of help in transforming the volume integrals to the surface ones, whose use permits us to establish the relation

(3.5.4)
$$\int_{\partial \Omega_1} \mu(y) H(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) ds_y - \int_{\partial \Omega_2} \mu(y) H(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) ds_y = 0,$$

where $(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y)$ is the scalar product of the vectors \mathbf{q} and \mathbf{n}_y . Here, as usual, \mathbf{n}_y is a unit external normal to $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, at point y.

Good judgment in the selection of notations

$$\begin{split} s_{1}^{+} &= \left\{ y \in \partial \Omega_{1}, \left[\mu(y) , (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_{y}) \right] > 0 \right\}; \qquad \qquad s_{1}^{-} &= \partial \Omega_{1} \setminus s_{1}^{+}; \\ s_{2}^{-} &= \left\{ y \in \partial \Omega_{2}, \left[\mu(y) \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_{y} \right) \right] < 0 \right\}; \qquad \qquad s_{2}^{+} &= \partial \Omega_{2} \setminus s_{2}^{-}; \end{split}$$

with saving (3.3.1) may improve the clarity of the exposition. In particular, we are led by relation (3.5.4) to

(3.5.5)
$$\int H(y) \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) ds_y$$
$$- \int s_1^{e^+} \cup s_1^{i^-} - \int H(y) \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) ds_y = 0.$$

What is more, it is supposed that a function f(y) is defined on the surface s^e by means of the relations

(3.5.6)
$$f(y) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } y \in s_1^{e^+}, s_2^{e^-}, \\ 0 & \text{for } y \in s_1^{e^-}, s_2^{e^+}, \end{cases}$$

provided that $f(y) \neq \text{const}$ for $y \in s^e$.

As in the proof of Theorem 3.3.1 relation (3.5.5) can be extended to cover a generalized solution H_f of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation. In that case the boundary values of the function H_f will coincide almost everywhere on the boundary s^e with f involved in (3.5.6). Under such a formalization, (3.5.5) and (3.5.6) together imply that

$$(3.5.7) J(H_f) = 0,$$

where

$$(3.5.8) J(H_f) = \int_{s_1^{e^+}} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \\ + \int_{s_1^{i^+}} H_f \, \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \\ + \int_{s_1^{i^-}} H_f \, \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \\ - \int_{s_2^{e^-}} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y$$

$$-\int_{s_2^{i+}} H_f \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) ds_y$$
$$-\int_{s_2^{i-}} H_f \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) ds_y.$$

Under the agreements $f(y) \neq \text{const}$ and $0 < h_f < 1$ for $y \in \Omega^e$, we are now in a position to evaluate the integral

(3.5.9)
$$J_1 = \int_{s_1^{i+}} H_f \,\mu(y) \,(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y - \int_{s_2^{i-}} H_f \,\mu(y) \,(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \,.$$

Indeed, by construction, $\left[\mu(y)\left(\mathbf{q},\mathbf{n}_{y}\right)\right] > 0$ on s_{1}^{i+} and $\left[\mu(y)\left(\mathbf{q},\mathbf{n}_{y}\right)\right] \leq 0$ on s_{2}^{i-} and, therefore, $J_{1} \geq 0$.

The next step is the estimation of another integral

(3.5.10)
$$J_2 = \int_{s_1^{e^+}} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y - \int_{s_2^{i^+}} H_f \, \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \, ds_y$$

In what follows y' will denote the point with components $(y_1, y_2, \ldots, y_{n-1}, 0)$ and dy' will stand for a volume element of the dimension n-1. If $(s_1^{e+})'$ is a piece of the surface s_1^{e+} , for which there exists a unique projection onto a hyperplane N perpendicular to the vector \mathbf{q} , then it does so to the axis Oy_n and (3.5.10) can be rewritten as

$$(3.5.11) J_2 = \int_{s_1^{e^+} \setminus (s_2^{e^+})'} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \\ + \int_{(s_1^{e^+})'} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \\ - \int_{s_2^{i^+}} H_f \, \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \, .$$

In the case where $\operatorname{mes} \pi(s_2^{i+}) \neq 0$ we thus have

$$\int_{s_1^{e+} \setminus (s_1^{e+})'} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y\right) \, ds_y \ge 0$$

and

$$\int_{(s_1^{e^+})'} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y - \int_{s_2^{i^+}} H_f \, \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y$$
$$= \int_{\pi(s_2^{i^+})} \mu(y') [1 - H_f] \, dy' > 0.$$

The same procedure works for the integral $J_2 > 0$ under the constraint $\operatorname{mes} \pi(s_2^{i+}) \neq 0$. By exactly the same reasoning as before we can deduce that $J_3 > 0$ for the integral

(3.5.12)
$$J_{3} = \int_{s_{1}^{i-}} H_{f} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_{y}) \, ds_{y} - \int_{s_{2}^{e-}} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_{y}) \, ds_{y}$$

under the natural premise mes $\pi(s_2^{i-}) \neq 0$.

With the obvious decomposition $J = J_1 + J_2 + J_3$ in view, we obtain the inequality $J(H_f) > 0$ for the case where

$$\operatorname{mes} \pi(s_1^i \cup s_2^i) \neq 0.$$

If it is not so, that is, $\operatorname{mes} \pi(s_1^i \cup s_2^i) = 0$, we can state under the conditions of the theorem that $\operatorname{mes} s_{\alpha}^e \neq 0$ for every set s_{α}^e , $\alpha = 1, 2$. Then at least one of the integrals J_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, should be strictly positive. But this fact is not consistent with (3.5.7). We have a contradiction and finish the proof in the case where $f(y) \not\equiv \operatorname{const}$ for $y \in s^e$. On the contrary, let $f \equiv 1$ for $y \in s^e$, it being understood that $\mu(y) > 0$, $s^e = s_1^{e+} \cup s_2^{e-}$, $s_1^i = s_1^{i-}$ and $s_2^i = s_2^{i+}$. It follows from the foregoing that the condition $\partial \mu/\partial y_n = 0$ assures us of the validity of the relation

$$(3.5.13) \qquad \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_n} = -\int_{\partial \Omega_1} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) E(x, y) \, ds_y$$
$$+ \int_{\partial \Omega_2} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) E(x, y) \, ds_y \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \Omega^e$$

with

$$u(x)=u(x;\Omega_1,\mu)-u(x;\Omega_2,\mu)$$
 .

170

Furthermore, the combination of (3.5.13) and (3.5.4) with $H(y)|_{y \in s^e} = E(x, y)|_{y \in s^e}$ gives

(3.5.14)
$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_n} = \int_{s_1^{i-}} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) G_0(x, y) \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{s_2^{i+}} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) G_0(x, y) \, ds_y \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \Omega^e,$$

where

$$H(y) - E(x, y) = G_0(x, y)$$

is Green's function. This serves as a basis that for $x \in \Omega^e$ we would have $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_n} > 0$, violating the relation $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_n} = 0$, valid for all $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}^e$, $\overline{\Omega}^e = \overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2$. The obtained contradiction proves the assertion of the theorem.

3.6 The exterior contact inverse problem for the magnetic potential with variable density of constant sign

This section is devoted to the problem of finding the shape of a contact body from available values of its magnetic potential represented as a sum of potentials generated by a volume mass and a simple layer.

Recall that, in conformity with (3.2.3), the magnetic potential is defined to be

$$\begin{split} w^{\alpha}(x) &= w(x; A_{\alpha}, \partial A_{\alpha}, \mu_{\alpha}, \rho_{\alpha}) \\ &= \beta \int_{A_{\alpha}} E(x, y) \, \mu_{\alpha}(y) \, dy + \gamma \int_{\partial A_{\alpha}} E(x, y) \, \rho_{\alpha}(y) \, ds_{y} \, , \end{split}$$

where β and γ are real numbers such that $\beta^2 + \gamma^2 \neq 0$ and E(x, y) is the fundamental solution of the Laplace equation. The symbol A_{α} will stand for an open set satisfying the standard requirements imposed in Section 3.2. Throughout the entire section, we retain the notations of Section 3.2.

The main goal of our study is to show the uniqueness of a solution of the exterior inverse problem for the magnetic potentials of **contact bodies** with variable densities of constant signs. Although the new important theorems will be postponed until the sequel to this section, let us stress that these imply, as a corollary, more general results for the volume potential with $\beta = 1$ and $\gamma = 0$ in (3.2.3) as opposed to the propositions of the preceding sections saying about **noncontact bodies**.

Following established practice we introduce in agreement with (3.2.24)

$$B = (A_1 \cup A_2) \setminus A_0, \qquad A_0 = A_1 \cap A_2.$$

The next theorem asserts the uniqueness of the solution when the magnetic potentials coincide outside the domains A_{α} as well as inside their intersection; meaning the validity of two equalities between exterior and interior magnetic potentials, respectively.

Theorem 3.6.1 Let for arbitrary domains A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, imposed above the functions $\mu_{\alpha} \in C^{1}(\bar{A}_{\alpha})$ and $\rho_{\alpha} \in C(\partial A_{\alpha})$ must be nonnegative. If the functions $w^{\alpha}(x)$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, with positive coefficients β and γ , $\beta^{2} + \gamma^{2} \neq 0$, satisfy the equality

(3.6.1)
$$w^1(x) = w^2(x) \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \bar{B},$$

then

$$(3.6.2) A_1 = A_2$$

and

(3.6.3)
$$\begin{array}{c} \mu_1(x) = \mu_2(x), \quad x \in A_1, \quad \text{if} \quad \beta \neq 0; \\ \rho_1(x) = \rho_2(x), \quad x \in \partial A_1, \quad \text{if} \quad \gamma \neq 0. \end{array}$$

Proof Let $A_1 \neq A_2$. Observe that for such sets A_{α} all the conditions of Section 3.2 are satisfied. This is certainly true for (3.2.40), making it possible to rely on Lemma 3.2.4 from which it follows that any regular in a domain D solution h(y) to the Laplace equation satisfies equality (3.2.45) taking now the form

$$(3.6.4) J(H) = 0,$$

where

$$(3.6.5) J(H) = \beta \int_{B_0} h(y) \mu_1(y) dy + \gamma \int_{(\partial B_0)^e} \rho_1(y) h(y) ds_y - \gamma \int_{(\partial B_0)^i} \rho_2(y) h(y) ds_y.$$

Before giving further motivations, it will be sensible to define on ∂B_0 (see (3.2.39)-(3.2.42)) the function f(y) by means of the relations

(3.6.6)
$$f(y) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } y \in (\partial B_0)^e, \\ 0 & \text{if } y \in (\partial B_0)^i. \end{cases}$$

Because of (3.6.1), $f(y) \not\equiv \text{const}$ for $y \in \partial B_0$. As in the proof of Theorem 3.3.1 equality (3.6.4) can be extended to involve a generalized solution $h_f(y)$ of the Dirichlet problem with the boundary data (3.6.6). The function $h_f(y)$ is just a regular solution to the equation

$$(\Delta h_f)(y) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad y \in B_0$$

and takes the values of the function f(y) specified by (3.6.6) at almost all points of ∂B_0 , so that

$$(3.6.7) J(h_f) = 0,$$

where, by definition (3.6.6),

(3.6.8)
$$J(h_f) = \beta \int_{B_0} h_f(y) \,\mu_1(y) \,\,dy + \gamma \int_{(\partial B_0)^e} \rho_1(y) \,h(y) \,\,ds_y \,.$$

The **Hopf principle** asserts that a nonconstant solution $h_f(y)$ cannot attain a negative relative minimum in the interior of the domain and

$$(3.6.9) 0 < h_f < 1 ext{ for almost all } y \in B_0.$$

From (3.6.8) and (3.6.9) it follows that $J(h_f > 0)$, which disagrees with (3.6.7) and provides support for the view that

$$(3.6.10) A_1 = A_2 = A_0.$$

Using notations (3.2.24), (3.2.3) together with condition (3.6.1) we find that

$$w^1(x) = w^2(x)$$
 for $x \in A_0$.

Applying the Laplace operator to the preceding equality yields

(3.6.11)
$$(\Delta w^1)(x) = (\Delta w^2)(x)$$
 for $x \in A_0$.

The properties of the potentials of volume masses and simple layers provide sufficient background for the relationships

(3.6.12)
$$(\Delta w^{\alpha})(x) = -\beta \,\mu_{\alpha}(x) \quad \text{for} \quad x \in A_{\alpha} \,, \quad \alpha = 1, 2 \,.$$

When $\beta \neq 0$, (3.6.10) and (3.6.12) are followed by

(3.6.13)
$$\mu_1(x) = \mu_2(x)$$
 for $x \in A_0 = A_1 = A_2$.

For $\gamma \neq 0$ the combination of (3.6.10) and (3.6.13) gives

(3.6.14)
$$v^1(x) = v^2(x) \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus A_1.$$

In conformity with (3.6.10),

(3.6.15)
$$v^{\alpha}(x) = \int_{\partial A_1} \rho_{\alpha}(y) E(x,y) \, ds_y \, ds_y$$

The formula for the jump of the derivative of the simple layer potential $v^{\alpha}(x)$ allows us to deduce that

(3.6.16)
$$\left(\frac{\partial v^{\alpha}}{\partial \nu_{x_0}}\right)^+ - \left(\frac{\partial v^{\alpha}}{\partial \nu_{x_0}}\right)^- = \rho_{\alpha}(x_0), \quad x \in \partial A_1,$$

where $\left(\frac{\partial v^{\alpha}}{\partial \nu_{x_0}}\right)^{\pm}$ stand for the limiting values of $\frac{\partial v^{\alpha}(x)}{\partial \nu_{x_0}}$ as $x \to x_0, x_0 \in$

 ∂A_1 , along the interior and exterior normal ν_{x_0} to the set A_1 , respectively $(x \in A_1 \text{ and } x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \tilde{A}_1)$. Within these notations, relation (3.6.14) implies that

(3.6.17)
$$\left(\frac{\partial v^1}{\partial \nu_{x_0}}\right)^{\pm} = \left(\frac{\partial v^2}{\partial \nu_{x_0}}\right)^{\pm},$$

so that (3.6.17) with $\gamma \neq 0$ assures us of the validity of the equality $\rho_1(x_0) = \rho_2(x_0)$ at any point $x_0 \in \partial A_1$. This proves the assertion of the theorem.

Definition 3.6.1 Two sets A_1 and A_2 are said to be externally contact in the sense of Prilepko (1968b) if the boundary of any connected component of the set $A_0 = A_1 \cap A_2$ (mes $A_0 \neq 0$) contains an (n-1)-dimensional part $\bar{\Gamma}_*$ (mes $\Gamma_* \neq 0$) being common with boundary of a certain component of the set $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2)$.

Here the sets A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, are again supposed to satisfy (3.2.40). We state a number of results with respect to

(3.6.18)
$$\bar{w}^{\alpha}(x) = \beta u(x; A_{\alpha}, \mu) + \gamma v(x; \partial A_{\alpha}, \rho),$$

where γ and β are real numbers such that $\beta^2 + \gamma^2 \neq 0$, that furnish the justification for what we wish to do.



 A_1 and A_2 are externally contact

 A_1 and A_2 are not externally contact

Theorem 3.6.2 Let A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, be externally contact sets. If nonnegative functions $\mu \in C^1(\tilde{A}_{\alpha})$ and $\rho \in C(\partial A_{\alpha})$ and nonnegative numbers β and γ are such that the equality

(3.6.19)
$$\bar{w}^1(x) = \bar{w}^2(x), \qquad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2),$$

holds, then $A_1 = A_2$.

As a preliminary the following assertion is introduced.

Lemma 3.6.1 Let externally contact sets A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, be in line with (3.2.40). If the functions $\mu \in C^1(\bar{A}_{\alpha})$ and $\rho \in C(\partial A_{\alpha})$ involved in (3.6.18) admit a representation of the type (3.6.19), which appears below, then the equality

$$\bar{w}^1(x) = \bar{w}^2(x)$$

is valid for all $x \in A_0$.

Proof As before, it will be convenient to have at our disposal the function

(3.6.20)
$$\bar{w}(x) = \bar{w}^1(x) - \bar{w}^2(x),$$

for which the properties of the potentials under consideration imply that

(3.6.21)
$$(\Delta \bar{w})(x) = 0 \text{ for } x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \bar{B},$$

where the set B has been defined by (3.2.24). By the same token,

$$(3.6.22) \qquad \qquad \bar{w}(x) \in C^{0+h}(\mathbf{R}^n)$$

with any h, 0 < h < 1.

In what follows the symbol Γ_* will stand for the collection of all interior points of the set $\overline{\Gamma}_*$, $\overline{\Gamma}_* \subset \partial A_1 \cap \partial A_2$. Since the sets A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, are externally contact, the open set Γ_* is nonempty and can be decomposed into connected, open and piecewise smooth surfaces. As such, the boundary ∂A_0 of the set A_0 contains the set Γ_* .

By successively applying (3.2.18), the formulae of the jump for the derivative of the simple layer potential $v(x; A_{\alpha}, \rho)$ and the properties of the volume mass potential $u(x; A_{\alpha}, \mu)$ we establish the relationship

(3.6.23)
$$\left(\frac{d\bar{w}^{\alpha}}{d\nu_{x_0}}\right)^+ - \left(\frac{d\bar{w}^{\alpha}}{d\nu_{x_0}}\right)^- = \gamma \rho(x_0), \qquad x \in \Gamma_*,$$

where the symbols

$$\left(\frac{d\bar{w}^{\alpha}}{d\nu_{x_{0}}}\right)^{\pm}$$

denote the limiting values of

$$\frac{d\bar{w}^{\alpha}(x)}{d\nu_{x_{0}}}$$

as $x \to x_0$, $x_0 \in \Gamma_*$, along the normal ν_{x_0} in the cases when $x \in A_0$ and $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2)$, respectively.

We next consider an open ball $Q = Q_{x_0}$ with center $x_0 \in \Gamma_*$ such that $\bar{Q} \cap (\bar{B} \setminus \Gamma_*) = 0$. As usual, ∂Q designates the boundary of Q. It is convenient to introduce further entries defined by

$$(3.6.24) \qquad (\partial Q)^+ = \partial Q \cap A_0, \qquad \Gamma'_* = Q \cap \Gamma_*$$

and

(3.6.25)
$$\left\{ M_x[\bar{w}(x); E(y, x)] \right\}^+ = E(y, x) \left[\frac{d\bar{w}(x)}{d\nu_x} \right]^+ - \frac{\partial E(y, x)}{\partial\nu_x} [\bar{w}(x)]^+$$

From (3.1.5), (3.6.21) and the last notation it follows that

(3.6.26)
$$\int_{(\partial Q)^{+}} M_{x}[\bar{w}(x); E(y, x)] ds_{x} + \int_{\Gamma'_{\bullet}} \left\{ M_{x}[\bar{w}(x); E(y, x)] \right\}^{+} ds_{x}$$
$$= \begin{cases} \bar{w} & \text{for } y \in Q \cap A_{0}, \\ 0 & \text{for } y \in Q \cap \left(\mathbf{R}^{n} \setminus \bar{A}_{1} \cup \bar{A}_{2}\right). \end{cases}$$

176

3.6. The exterior contact inverse problem for the magnetic potential 177

It is straightforward to verify that the combination of (3.6.20)-(3.6.26) gives

(3.6.27)
$$\bar{w}(y) = 0, \qquad y \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2),$$

whose use permits us to find by formula (3.6.23) that

(3.6.28)
$$\left(\begin{array}{c} d\bar{w} \\ d\nu_{x_0} \end{array}\right)^+ = 0 \quad \text{if} \quad x_0 \in \Gamma_* \; .$$

With the aid of (3.6.22) and (3.6.28) we deduce from relation (3.6.26) that

(3.6.29)
$$\{M_x[\bar{w}(x); E(y, x)]\}^+ = 0 \text{ for } x_0 \in \Gamma_*.$$

Substitution of (3.6.29) into (3.6.26) yields

$$(3.6.30) \int_{(\partial Q)^+} M_x[\bar{w}(x); E(y, x)] ds_x$$
$$= \begin{cases} \bar{w}(y) & \text{for } y \in Q \cap A_0, \\ 0 & \text{for } y \in Q \cap (\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2). \end{cases}$$

We note in passing that the function

(3.6.31)
$$F(y) = \int_{(\partial Q)^+} M_x[\bar{w}(x); E(y, x)] \, ds_x$$

is just a regular solution to the equation

(3.6.32)
$$(\Delta F)(y) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad y \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\partial Q)^+.$$

Relations (3.6.30) and (3.6.31) are followed by

(3.6.33)
$$F(y) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad y \in Q \cap \left(\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{A}_1 \cup \overline{A}_2\right),$$

which means that the function F(y) and its normal derivative are equal to zero on Γ'_* . Due to the uniqueness of the Cauchy problem solution relations (3.6.32)-(3.6.33) imply that

$$(3.6.34) F(y) = 0 for y \in Q \cap A_0.$$

On the other hand, (3.6.30) yields

(3.6.35)
$$F(y) = \overline{w}(y) \quad \text{for} \quad y \in Q \cap A_0.$$

Putting these together with (3.6.34) we conclude that

$$(3.6.36) \qquad \qquad \bar{w}(y) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad y \in Q \cap A_0 .$$

It is worth bearing in mind here the uniqueness of the solution of the Cauchy problem for (3.6.21). Because of this fact, it follows from the foregoing that

(3.6.37)
$$\bar{w}(y) = 0 \text{ for } y \in A_0,$$

so that the combination of (3.6.20) and (3.6.37) gives the equality

(3.6.38)
$$\bar{w}^1(x) = \bar{w}^2(x) \text{ for } y \in A_0$$
,

thereby justifying the assertion of the lemma. \blacksquare

A simple observation that (3.6.19) and (3.6.38) together imply the equality

(3.6.39)
$$\bar{w}^1(x) = \bar{w}^2(x) \text{ for } y \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \bar{B}$$

may be useful in the further development. Whence it is clear that all the conditions of Theorem 3.6.1 are satisfied in such a setting. In view of this, equality (3.6.2) is true and this proves the assertion of the theorem.

Corollary 3.6.1 If for externally contact sets A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, the volume mass potentials $u(x; A_{\alpha}, \mu)$ of a given nonnegative density $\mu \in C^{1}(\bar{A}_{\alpha})$ satisfy the condition

$$u(x; A_1, \mu) = u(x; A_2, \mu)$$
 for $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\overline{A}_1 \cup \overline{A}_2)$,

then $A_1 = A_2$.

Corollary 3.6.2 If for externally contact sets A_{α} with boundaries ∂A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, the simple layer potentials $v(x; \partial A_{\alpha}, \mu)$ of a nonnegative density $\rho \in C(\partial A_{\alpha})$ satisfy the condition

$$v(x;\partial A_1,\rho) = v(x;\partial A_2,\rho) \quad for \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{A}_1 \cup A_2),$$

then $\partial A_1 = \partial A_2$.

178

3.7 Integral equation for finding the density of a given body via its exterior potential

In this section we state the theorems on the solution uniqueness for the problem of finding the density of a given body from the available information about its exterior potential. In passing we try to write out explicitly its solutions for certain configurations of domains and bodies and offer one possible way of deriving the explicit formulae.

In a common setting an open set A is supposed to be a union of a finite number of bounded domains Ω_j with piecewise smooth boundaries $\partial\Omega_j$, on which the function

(3.7.1)
$$u(x; A, \mu_{\alpha}) = \int_{A} E(x, y) \mu_{\alpha}(y) \, dy, \qquad \alpha = 1, 2,$$

represents the volume mass potential of a given set A with density $\mu_{\alpha}(y) \neq 0$ for almost all $y \in A$. As before, the function E(x, y) is used for the fundamental solution of the Laplace equation.

Before giving further motivations, it will be sensible to describe the class of functions $\mu_{\alpha}(y) \in C^{1}(\bar{A})$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, satisfying the condition

(3.7.2)
$$\mu_{\alpha}(y) = \eta(y) \nu_{\alpha}(y),$$

where

- (a) $\nu_{\alpha}(y)$ is continuously differentiable on \bar{A} and $\partial \nu_{\alpha}/\partial y_{k_1} = 0$, where a positive integer k_1 is kept fixed;
- (b) $\eta(y) > 0$ and either for $y \in \overline{A}$

$$\partial \eta(y) / \partial y_{k_1} \ge 0$$

or for $y \in \overline{A}$

$$\partial \eta(y) / \partial y_{k,} \leq 0$$
.

Theorem 3.7.1 The equality $\mu_1(y) = \mu_2(y)$ holds for all $y \in A$ when the functions $\mu_{\alpha}(y)$ happen to be of class (3.7.2) and the condition

(3.7.3)
$$u(x; A, \mu_1) = u(x; A, \mu_2), \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \bar{A},$$

is satisfied for the exterior potentials of a given set A.

Proof Although the complete theory we have presented could be recast in this case, we confine ourselves to the set A consisting of a single bounded domain Ω , whose boundary $\partial\Omega$ is piecewise smooth.

From condition (3.7.3) it seems clear that any function h(y) being harmonic in a domain $D \supset \overline{\Omega}$ is subject to the relation

(3.7.4)
$$\int_{\Omega} (\mu_1 - \mu_2) h(y) \, dy = 0.$$

Here we apply Lemma 3.2.2 to $A = A_1 = A_2$ and $\beta = 1$, $\gamma = 0$.

Furthermore, set $\mu(y) = \mu_1(y) - \mu_2(y)$ and assume to the contrary that $\mu(y) \neq 0$ for $y \in \overline{\Omega}$. From item (a) of condition (3.7.2) and (3.7.4) it is easily seen that the function

$$\nu(y) = \nu_1(y) - \nu_2(y)$$

does not have constant sign on the boundary $\partial\Omega$. Indeed, if the function $\nu(y)$ is, for example, positive on the boundary $\partial\Omega$, then so is the function $\nu(y)$ in the domain Ω , since

$$\partial \nu / \partial y_{k_1} = 0$$
.

Therefore, the function $\mu(y)$ would be strictly positive in Ω . But this disagrees with (3.7.4) due to the fact that the function h(y) can be replaced there by a positive solution to the Laplace equation, by means of which the left-hand side of (3.7.4) becomes strictly positive. Hence,

sign
$$\nu(y) \not\equiv \text{const}$$

and, thereby, on the boundary $\partial \Omega$

$$\operatorname{sign} \mu(y) \not\equiv \operatorname{const}$$
 .

Under the natural premise $\nu(y) \neq 0$ we insert in (3.7.4) the function $h(y) = \partial H(y) / \partial y_{k_1}$, where H(y) is a harmonic function in $D \supset \overline{\Omega}$, by means of which the following relation is attained:

(3.7.5)
$$\int_{\partial\Omega} H(y) \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y - \int_{\Omega} H(y) \, \frac{\partial \mu(y)}{\partial y_{k_1}} \, dy = 0$$

Here $(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y)$ is the scalar product of a unit vector \mathbf{q} along the Oy_{k_1} -axis and a vector \mathbf{n}_y , which coincides with a unit external normal at point $y \in \partial \Omega$. In this context, it is of interest several possible cases.

Case 1. Let

$$\partial \eta(y) / \partial y_{k_1} \ge 0$$

for $y \in \overline{\Omega}$ and let a function f(y) defined on $\partial \Omega$ be such that

(3.7.6) $f(y) = \operatorname{sign} \mu(y) \text{ for } y \in \partial\Omega$.

Observe that

 $f(y) \not\equiv \text{const}$

on $\partial\Omega$. Let (3.7.5) be extended to involve in subsequent reasonings the function $H_f(y)$, which is harmonic in the domain Ω and takes values (3.7.6) almost everywhere on $\partial\Omega$. In this line,

$$(3.7.7) J(H_f) = 0,$$

where

(3.7.8)
$$J(H_f) = \int_{\partial\Omega} |\mu(y)| (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y - \int_{\Omega'} H_f(y) \, \frac{\partial\mu(y)}{\partial y_{k_1}} \, dy$$

and

$$\Omega' = \left\{ y \in \Omega \colon \frac{\partial \eta(y)}{\partial y_{k_1}} > 0 \right\}.$$

It is clear that the set Ω' so constructed is a subset of Ω and contains only those points for which $\partial \eta(y)/\partial y_{k_1} > 0$. To simplify the rest of the proof, we will assume that Ω' is a domain with a piecewise boundary $\partial \Omega'$ and $\operatorname{mes} \Omega' \neq 0$.

Since $|H_f(y)| < 1$ for any $y \in \Omega$, item (a) of condition (3.7.2) and the configuration of the domain Ω' imply the inequality

(3.7.9)
$$\int_{\Omega'} H_f(y) \frac{\partial \mu(y)}{\partial y_{k_1}} dy < \int_{\partial \Omega'} |\mu(y)| (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) ds_y.$$

For $\Omega' = \Omega$ the preceding formulae (3.7.8)-(3.7.9) give $J(H_f) > 0$. If $\Omega' \subset \Omega$ and any straight line, parallel to a vector \mathbf{q} , may intersect either of the boundaries $\partial\Omega$ and $\partial\Omega'$ at most at two points, then the combination of (3.7.8)-(3.7.9) gives

$$(3.7.10) \quad J(H_f) \geq \left[\int_{\partial\Omega} |\mu(y)| (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y - \int_{\partial\Omega'} |\mu(y)| (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \right]$$
$$= \left[\int_{S^+} |\mu(y)| (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y - \int_{S'^+} |\mu(y)| (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \right]$$
$$+ \left[-\int_{S'^-} |\mu(y)| (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y - \int_{S^-} |\mu(y)| (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \right],$$

where the new sets

$$\begin{split} S^+ &= \left\{ y \in \partial \Omega \colon \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y \right) > 0 \right\}; \qquad S^- &= \left\{ y \in \partial \Omega \colon \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y \right) \le 0 \right\}; \\ S'^+ &= \left\{ y \in \partial \Omega' \colon \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y \right) > 0 \right\}; \qquad S'^- &= \left\{ y \in \partial \Omega' \colon \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y \right) \le 0 \right\} \end{split}$$

make our exposition more transparent. From item (a) of condition (3.7.2) it follows that every expression in square brackets on the right of (3.7.10) is nonnegative and at least one of them is strictly positive. This provides support for the view that $J(H_f) > 0$.

When no additional restriction on the structure of the boundaries $\partial \Omega'$ and $\partial \Omega$ is imposed, a minor adaptation of fragmentation implies the inequality

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} |\mu(y)|(\mathbf{q},\mathbf{n}_y) \ ds_y - \int_{\partial\Omega'} |\mu(y)|(\mathbf{q},\mathbf{n}_y) \ ds_y > 0,$$

so that $J(H_f) > 0$. Adopting similar arguments we are led to the same inequality for other possible configurations of Ω' . But the strict positiveness of $J(H_f)$ disagrees with (3.7.7). This proves the assertion of the theorem in the first case.

Case 2. When $\partial \eta(y)/\partial y_{k_1} \leq 0$ for $y \in \overline{\Omega}$, it will be convenient to introduce the new sets

$$S^{+} = \{ y \in \partial \Omega: \mu(y)(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_{y}) > 0 \}; \quad \Omega_{\nu^{+}} = \{ y \in \Omega: \nu(y) \ge 0 \};$$

$$S^{-} = \{ y \in \partial \Omega: \mu(y)(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_{y}) \le 0 \}; \quad \Omega_{\nu^{-}} = \{ y \in \Omega: \nu(y) < 0 \};$$

and the function f(y) defined on the boundary by means of the relations

(3.7.12)
$$f(y) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } y \in S^+, \\ 0 & \text{for } y \in S^-. \end{cases}$$

It is worth noting here that $\nu \equiv 0$ for $f(y) \equiv \text{const}$ on the boundary $\partial \Omega$.

As before, equality (3.7.5) can be extended in any convenient way. The function H_f being harmonic in Ω and having the boundary values (3.7.12) almost everywhere on $\partial\Omega$ applies equally well to such an extension, thus causing

$$(3.7.13) J(H_f) = 0,$$

where

$$(3.7.14) J(H_f) = \int_{S^+} \mu(y) (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \\ - \int_{\Omega_{\nu^+}} H_f(y) \, \frac{\partial \mu(y)}{\partial y_{k_1}} \, dy \\ \cdot \quad - \int_{\Omega_{\nu^-}} H_f(y) \, \frac{\partial \mu(y)}{\partial y_{k_1}} \, dy$$

We are only interested in special investigations for the case $\Omega_{\nu^-}=\Omega_{\nu^-}',$ where

(3.7.15)
$$\Omega'_{\nu^{-}} = \left\{ y \in \Omega_{\nu^{-}} : \frac{\partial \eta(y)}{\partial y_{k_1}} < 0 \right\},$$

since the others can be treated in a similar manner.

By virtue of (3.7.11) and (3.7.15) and the properties of the function $\mu(y)$ we find that

(3.7.16)
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \mu(y)}{\partial y_{k_1}} &> 0 \quad \text{for} \quad y \in \Omega_{\nu^-} ,\\ \frac{\partial \mu(y)}{\partial y_{k_1}} &\leq 0 \quad \text{for} \quad y \in \Omega_{\nu^+} . \end{aligned}$$

We put for the boundary $\partial \Omega_{\nu}$ - of Ω_{ν} -

$$S_{\nu^{-}}^{+} = \left\{ y \in \partial \Omega_{\nu^{-}} : (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_{y}) > 0 \right\};$$

$$S_{\nu^{-}}^{-} = \left\{ y \in \partial \Omega_{\nu^{-}} : (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_{y}) \le 0 \right\}.$$

As far as $0 < H_f < 1$ for any $y \in \Omega$, it is not difficult to establish the chain of relations

$$(3.7.17) \quad -\int_{\Omega_{\nu^{-}}} H_{f}(y) \; \frac{\partial \mu(y)}{\partial y_{k_{1}}} \; dy > -\int_{\partial\Omega_{\nu^{-}}} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_{y}\right) \, ds_{y}$$
$$= -\int_{s_{\nu^{-}}^{+}} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_{y}\right) \, ds_{y} - \int_{s_{\nu^{-}}^{-}} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_{y}\right) \, ds_{y} \, ,$$

yielding

$$(3.7.18) J(H_f) \ge \left[\int_{S^+} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y\right) ds_y - \int_{S^{-}_{\nu^-}} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y\right) ds_y \right] + \left[- \int_{S^{+}_{\nu^+}} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y\right) ds_y \right] + \left[- \int_{S^{+}_{\nu^+}} \mu(y) \left(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y\right) ds_y \right] + \left[- \int_{\Omega_{\nu^+}} H_f(y) \frac{\partial \mu(y)}{\partial y_{k_1}} dy \right]$$

Here we used also (3.7.17). With the aid of relations (3.7.16) and (3.7.11)and the properties of the functions $\nu(y)$ and $\eta(y)$ we deduce that each of the terms in square brackets on the right-hand side of (3.7.18) is nonnegative. Moreover, at least one of those terms is strictly positive. In view of this, we would have $J(H_f) > 0$, which disagrees with (3.7.13). The obtained contradiction proves the assertion of the theorem.

We now focus our attention on one more possible case in connection with spherical coordinates (ρ, θ) of $y \in \mathbf{R}^n$ $(n \geq 2)$, where ρ means the length of the radius-vector of y. The symbol θ is used as a common notation for all angular coordinates in the space \mathbf{R}^n . This follows established practice and does not lead to any ambiguity. Of special interest is the class of functions $\mu_{\alpha}(y) \in C^1(\bar{A}), \alpha = 1, 2$, satisfying the condition

(3.7.19)
$$\mu_{\alpha}(y) = \xi(y) \,\delta_{\alpha}(y) \,,$$

where

- (a) $\delta_{\alpha}(y)$ ($\alpha = 1, 2$) is continuously differentiable for $y \in \overline{A}$ and $\partial \delta_{\alpha} / \partial \rho = 0$;
- (b) ξ(y) > 0 and either ∂(ρⁿξ)/∂ρ ≥ 0 or ∂(ρⁿξ)/∂ρ ≤ 0 for y ∈ Ā, where ρ is the length of the radius-vector of a point y with the origin O ∈ ℝⁿ \ Ā.

If under the conditions of item (b) the origin $O \in \overline{A}$, then $\xi(y)$ is supposed to be positive along with $\partial(\rho^n\xi)/\partial\rho \geq 0$ for $\rho < \rho_0$ and $\partial(\rho^n\xi)/\partial\rho \geq 0$ for $\rho \geq \rho_0$, where ρ_0 is kept fixed, sufficiently small and positive.

Theorem 3.7.2 If the functions $\mu_{\alpha}(y)$ satisfy condition (3.7.19) and the exterior potentials of the set A are such that

$$(3.7.20) u(x;A,\mu_1) = u(x;A,\mu_2) \quad for \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \bar{A},$$

then $\mu_1 = \mu_2$ for $y \in A$.

Proof The proof of this theorem is similar to that carried out in Theorem 3.7.1. In this line, let $A = \Omega$. Consider the case when $\xi(y) > 0$ and $\partial(\rho^n \xi)/\partial\rho > 0$ for $y \in \overline{\Omega}$. By virtue of (3.7.20) any function H(y) being harmonic in $D \supset \overline{\Omega}$ implies that

$$(3.7.21) J(H) = 0,$$

where

(3.7.22)
$$J(H) = \int_{\partial \Omega} H(y) \mu(y) (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \\ - \int_{\Omega} H(y) \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (y_k \mu) \right] \, dy$$

and $(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)$ is the scalar product of the radius-vector \mathbf{R}_y on \mathbf{n}_y . Having in our disposal the difference of functions $\mu(y) = \mu_1(y) - \mu_2(y)$, we conclude that $\mu(y) \not\equiv \text{const}$ on $\partial\Omega$ if $\mu(y) \not\equiv 0$ in Ω . Let a function f(y) be defined on the boundary $\partial\Omega$ by the relation

(3.7.23)
$$f(y) = \operatorname{sign} \mu(y) \quad \text{for} \quad y \in \partial \Omega$$

Equation (3.7.21) is again extended to involve in subsequent reasonings the function $H_f(y)$ being harmonic in Ω and having the boundary values (3.7.23) almost everywhere on $\partial\Omega$. All this enables us to write down the equation

$$(3.7.24) J(H_f) = 0,$$

where

$$(3.7.25) J(H_f) = \int_{\partial\Omega} |\mu(y)| (\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y) \, ds_y \\ - \int_{\Omega} H_f(y) \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} (y_k \, \mu) \right] \, dy.$$

Observe that $|H_f(y)| < 1$. In light of the properties of the function $\mu(y)$ expression (3.7.25) implies $J(H_f) > 0$, violating (3.7.24). In order to carry out the proof of Theorem 3.7.2 in the remaining cases we adopt the arguments used in the proof of Theorem 3.7.1 by replacing $(\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y)$ and $\partial \mu(y)/\partial y_k$ by $(\mathbf{R}_y, \mathbf{n}_y)$ and $\sum_{k=1}^n \partial (\mu y_k)/\partial y_k$, respectively.

Finally, we proceed to the third class of functions $\mu_{\alpha}(y)$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, represented by

(3.7.26)
$$\mu_{\alpha}(y) = \gamma \,\xi(y) \,\delta_{\alpha}(y) + \beta \,\eta(y) \,\nu_{\alpha}(y) \,,$$

where γ and β are positive constants, $\gamma^2 + \beta^2 \neq 0$, the functions $\delta_{\alpha}(y)$ and $\nu_{\alpha}(y)$ are so chosen as to satisfy (3.7.2), the functions $\eta(y)$ and $\xi(y)$ obey the following properties:

$$\eta(y) > 0 \,, \quad rac{\partial}{\partial y_{k_1}} \eta(y) \ge 0 \,, \quad \xi(y) > 0 \,, \quad rac{\partial}{\partial
ho} \, \left(\,
ho^n \xi \,
ight) > 0 \quad ext{for} \quad y \in A \,.$$

Combination of appropriate expedients from the proofs of Theorems 3.7.1-3.7.2 gives the following result.

Theorem 3.7.3 Let the functions $\mu_{\alpha}(y)$ admit decomposition (3.7.26). If the exterior potentials of a given set $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{j_1} \Omega_j$ are such that

$$u(x; A, \mu_1) = u(x; A, \mu_2) \quad for \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus A,$$

then the function

$$\mu(y)=\mu_1(y)-\mu_2(y)$$

has constant sign on the boundaries $\partial \Omega_j$.

Our next goal is to develop an integro-differential equation of the first kind for the density of the potential assuming that the function $\mu(y) \in C^{1+h}(\bar{\Omega})$ does not vanish almost everywhere on $\bar{\Omega}$ and the boundary $\partial\Omega$ is piecewise smooth. The intention is to use the volume mass potential

(3.7.27)
$$u(x) = \int_{\Omega} \mu(y) E(x, y) \, dy$$

where E(x, y) is the fundamental solution of the Laplace equation. As a matter of fact, the inverse problem of finding a density via the exterior potential amounts to recovering the function $\mu(x), x \in \Omega$, involved in (3.7.1) from available values of the function u(x) for $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$.

Other ideas are connected with introduction of the function w(x) by means of the relations

$$\int 2\gamma_1 u(x) - \sum_{k=1}^n (\gamma_1 x_k + \beta_1 q_k) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} u(x) \qquad \text{for } n > 2,$$

$$(3.7.28) \quad w(x) = \begin{cases} 2\gamma_1 u(x) - \gamma_1 - \sum_{k=1}^n (\gamma_1 x_k + \beta_1 q_k) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} u(x) & \text{for } n = 2, \end{cases}$$

3.7. Integral equation for finding the density

where constants β_1 and γ_1 are such that $\gamma_1^2 + \beta_1^2 \neq 0$ and $\mathbf{q} = (q_1, \ldots, q_n)$ is a unit vector along the Oy_{k_1} -axis.

With the aid of the decompositions

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k=1}^{n} & \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{k}} \left[\left(\gamma_{1}y_{1} + \beta_{1}q_{k} \right) E(x,y) \right] = \\ & \left\{ \begin{array}{l} 2 \gamma_{1} E(x,y) - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\gamma_{1}x_{k} + \beta_{1}q_{k} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{k}} E(x,y) , \quad n > 2 , \\ 2 \gamma_{1} E(x,y) - \gamma_{1} - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\gamma_{1}x_{k} + \beta_{1}q_{k} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{k}} E(x,y) , \quad n = 2 , \end{array} \right. \end{split}$$

the function w(x) can be rewritten as

(3.7.29)
$$w(x) = \int_{\partial\Omega} \mu(y) \Phi(y) E(x, y) \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{\Omega} \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \left(\gamma_1 y_k + \beta_1 q_k \right) \frac{\partial \mu}{\partial y_k} \right] E(x, y) \, dy$$

where

$$\Phi(y) = (\gamma_1 \mathbf{R}_y + \beta_1 \mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_y)$$

is the scalar product of the vectors $\gamma_1 \mathbf{R}_y + \beta_1 \mathbf{q}$ and \mathbf{n}_y .

Let \mathbf{n}_{x_0} be a unit external normal to the surface $\partial\Omega$ at point x_0 and let $(\widehat{\mathbf{n}_{x_0}, \mathbf{r}_{xy}})$ be the angle between \mathbf{n}_{x_0} and \mathbf{r}_{xy} , where \mathbf{r}_{xy} is the vector joining x and y provided that x lies on the normal \mathbf{n}_{x_0} and $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$. We thus have

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial w(x)}{\partial n_{x_0}} &= \int\limits_{\partial \Omega} \frac{\cos\left(\widehat{\mathbf{n}_{x_0}}, \widehat{\mathbf{r}_{xy}}\right)}{(n-2)\,\omega_n \,|\, x-y\,|^{n-1}} \,\,\mu(y)\,\Phi(y)\,\,ds_y \\ &- \int\limits_{\Omega} \frac{\cos\left(\widehat{\mathbf{n}_{x_0}}, \widehat{\mathbf{r}_{xy}}\right)}{(n-2)\,\omega_n \,|\, x-y\,|^{n-1}} \\ &\times \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \left(\gamma_1 y_k + \beta_1 q_k\right) \frac{\partial \mu}{\partial y_k} \right] \,dy\,. \end{split}$$

Recall that the normal derivative of the simple layer potential undergoes a jump, while the first derivatives of the Newtonian potential (3.7.27) are really continuous on the entire space. With this in mind, we obtain

(3.7.30)
$$A(\mu\Phi) = f + P(\mu), \quad n > 2,$$

where

$$(3.7.31) \qquad A(\mu \Phi) = \frac{1}{2} \mu \Phi - \int_{\partial \Omega} \frac{\cos\left(\widehat{\mathbf{n}_{x}}, \widehat{\mathbf{r}_{xy}}\right)}{(n-2)\omega_{n} |x-y|^{n-1}} \\ \times \mu(y) \Phi(y) \, ds_{y} \,, \quad x \in \partial \Omega \,,$$

$$(3.7.32) \qquad P(\mu) = -\int_{\Omega} \frac{\cos\left(\widehat{\mathbf{n}_{x}}, \widehat{\mathbf{r}_{xy}}\right)}{(n-2)\omega_{n} |x-y|^{n-1}} \\ \times \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\gamma_{1}y_{k} + \beta_{1}q_{k}\right) \frac{\partial \mu}{\partial y_{k}}\right] dy \,, \quad x \in \partial \Omega \,,$$

(3.7.33) $f(x) = \frac{\partial w}{\partial n_x} \Big|^- = \lim_{x' \to x} \frac{\partial w(x')}{\partial n_x} \,.$

In formula (3.7.33) the points $x' \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$ are located on the normal \mathbf{n}_x taken at $x \in \partial \Omega$. Summarizing, the following statement is established.

Lemma 3.7.1 If a potential u(x) of the type (3.7.27) is given for all $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$, then its density $\mu(x)$ satisfies the integro-differential equation (3.7.30).

Lemma 3.7.1 implies a number of useful corollaries for certain types of densities. Indeed, consider one more class of functions $\mu(y)$ satisfying the condition

(3.7.34)
$$\frac{\partial \mu}{\partial \rho} = 0, \qquad (\rho, \theta) = y \in \overline{\Omega}.$$

By merely setting $\gamma_1 = 0$ and $\beta_1 = 0$ in (3.7.30)–(3.7.33) it is possible to derive the equation

(3.7.35)
$$A(\mu \Phi) = f$$
,

where $\Phi(x) = (\mathbf{R}_x, \mathbf{n}_x)$ for $x \in \partial \Omega$.

In certain functional spaces both equations (3.7.30) and (3.7.35) admit alternative forms. For example, one can consider a space B, whose norm is equivalent to the C^{1+h} -norm (for more detail see Prilepko (1965a)). When the boundary $\partial\Omega$ happens to be of class C^{2+h} and the function μ satisfying (3.7.34) belongs to the class $C^{1+h}(\partial\Omega)$, all the ingredients of (3.7.35) belong to the space B in light of the properties of the potential. Due to the

188

uniqueness of a solution of the exterior Neymann problem for the Laplace equation $(n \ge 3)$ and the Banach theorem on inverse operator, for any operator A in the space B there exists the bounded inverse A^{-1} , by means of which equation (3.7.35) reduces to the equivalent one:

(3.7.36)
$$\mu \Phi = A^{-1}(f) \,.$$

Having involved the preceding equation in later discussions we arrive at the following assertions.

Corollary 3.7.1 If potential (3.7.27), whose density is of the type (3.7.34), satisfies the condition

$$u(x) = 0$$
 for $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$, $n \ge 3$,

then $\mu(y) = 0$ for $y \in \Omega$.

Corollary 3.7.2 Let $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^n$, $n \geq 3$, be a "star-shaped" domain with respect to an inner point and let (3.7.34) hold. Then the values of the function $\mu(x)$ for $x \in \partial \Omega$ can be expressed in terms of the exterior potential u(x) by

$$\mu(x) = A^{-1}(f) \, \Phi^{-1}(x) \, ,$$

where $\Phi(x) = (\mathbf{R}_x, \mathbf{n}_x)$ for all $x \in \partial \Omega$ and the function f(x) is given by formulae (3.7.33) and (3.7.28).

For another formulae expressing the values of μ via the corresponding potential in the cases of a "star-shaped" domain and a density of the type (3.7.34) we refer the readers to Antokhin (1966).

Of special investigation is the class of functions $\mu(y)$ satisfying the condition

(3.7.37)
$$\frac{\partial \mu(y)}{\partial y_{k_1}} = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad y \in \bar{\Omega} \,.$$

Upon substituting $\beta_1 = 1$ and $\gamma_1 = 0$ into (3.7.30)-(3.7.33) we derive the equation

(3.7.38)
$$A(\mu \Phi) = f$$
,

where $\Phi(x) = (\mathbf{q}, \mathbf{n}_x)$ for $x \in \partial \Omega$. Equation (3.7.38) implies the following result.

Corollary 3.7.3 If potential (3.7.27) has a density μ of the type (3.7.37) and

$$u(x) = 0$$
 for $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \Omega$, $n \ge 2$,

then $\mu(y) = 0$ for $y \in \Omega$.

In what follows we are in a new framework making it possible to determine in the domain Ω the density $\mu(y)$ of a given potential u(x) for $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$ in the class of functions $\mu(y)$ solving the equation

$$(3.7.39) L \mu = 0,$$

where L is a differential operator of the second order acting on $y \in \Omega$. Under some appropriate restrictions on the smoothness of the function $\mu(y)$ and the boundary $\partial\Omega$, the properties of the potential u(x) imply that

$$(3.7.40) [L \Delta u] = 0 for x \in \Omega.$$

The new functions $\varphi(x_0)$ and $\psi(x_0)$ are defined on the boundary $\partial\Omega$ by

$$(3.7.41) \quad \varphi(x_0) = \lim_{x \to x_0} u(x) , \qquad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega} , \quad x_0 \in \partial\Omega ,$$

$$(3.7.42) \quad \psi(x_0) = \lim_{x \to x_0} \sum_{k=1}^n a_k \frac{\partial u(x)}{\partial x_k} , \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega} , \quad x_0 \in \partial\Omega ,$$

where the known functions $a_k = a_k(x_0)$ are defined on $\partial\Omega$. One thing is worth noting here. If we have at our disposal the function u(x) defined by (3.7.27) everywhere in $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$, it is possible to assign the values of u(x) and $\frac{\partial u(x)}{\partial x_k}$ for $x \in \partial\Omega$. The problem here is to find the function $h(x), x \in \Omega$, being a solution to the equation

$$[L\Delta h](x) = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

supplied by the boundary conditions

$$(3.7.44) h(x_0) = \varphi(x_0), x_0 \in \partial\Omega,$$

(3.7.45)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} a_k \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} h(x_0) = \psi(x_0), \qquad x_0 \in \partial\Omega.$$

Having resolved (3.7.43)-(3.7.45) we need a suitably chosen form of writing, namely

$$\mu(x) = \Delta h(x)$$
 for $x \in \Omega$.

When the Laplace operator is considered in place of L, we give as one possible example the class of functions $\mu(y)$ satisfying the Laplace equation in the domain Ω :

$$(3.7.46) \qquad \qquad \Delta \mu = 0$$

In such a setting the function h(x) involved in (3.7.43)-(3.7.45) should be recovered from the set of relations

- $(3.7.47) \qquad \Delta^2 h = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$
- $(3.7.48) h(x) = u(x), x \in \partial\Omega,$

(3.7.49)
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} h(x) = \frac{\partial}{\partial n_x} u(x), \quad x \in \partial \Omega.$$

It is worth emphasizing once again that the values of u(x) and $\frac{\partial u(x)}{\partial n_x}$ do exist on $\partial\Omega$, since the exterior potential was defined by (3.7.27) everywhere on $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$. As we have mentioned above, the solution of problem (3.7.47)–(3.7.49) is one of the ways of finding the function $\mu(x), x \in \Omega$. Moreover, due to the uniqueness of this solution we obtain the following result.

Corollary 3.7.4 If potential (3.7.27) has a density μ of the type (3.7.46) and the condition u(x) = 0 holds for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$, then $\mu(y) = 0$ for all $y \in \Omega$.

In addition, we formulate the relevant existence theorem which will be used in later discussions.

Theorem 3.7.3 When the density μ of potential (3.7.27) happens to be of the type (3.7.46), there exists a solution of the problem of finding the density of a given body via its exterior potential, this solution is unique and

$$\mu(x) = \Delta h(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

where h(x) is a unique solution of the direct problem (3.7.47)-(3.7.49).

When the function $\mu(y)$ happens to be of class (3.7.37), Corollary 3.7.3 formulated above can be proved in another way for $L \equiv \partial/\partial x_k$. In that case the density $\mu(y)$ evidently satisfies (3.7.37). Then any potential u(x) of the type (3.7.27) gives a solution to the equation

(3.7.50)
$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}\Delta u\right)(x) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \Omega.$$

By merely setting $Z(x) = \partial u(x) / \partial x_k$ we recast equation (3.7.50) as

$$(\Delta Z)(x) = 0$$
 for $x \in \Omega$.

From the premises of Corollary 3.7.3 we know that the exterior potential u(x) vanishes for $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}$. This provides reason enough to conclude that the boundary condition

$$Z(x) = 0, \qquad x \in \partial\Omega,$$

is fulfilled. We thus have Z(x) = 0 for all $x \in \Omega$ and, thereby, $\partial u(x)/\partial x_k = 0$ for all $x \in \Omega$. Together, the preceding and the condition

$$u(x) = 0$$
, $x \in \partial \Omega$,

which is a corollary of the initial assumption, assure us of the validity of the relation u(x) = 0 for all $x \in \Omega$ and, in turn, $\mu(x) = 0$ for all $x \in \Omega$.

3.8 Uniqueness of the inverse problem solution for the simple layer potential

This section is devoted to the exterior inverse problem of recovering the shape of a given body from available values of the exterior potential of a simple layer. First, the uniqueness theorems will be proved for potentials of arbitrary contact bodies with variable densities having no constant signs. These results differ markedly from the preceding assertions emerging from the uniqueness theorems for magnetic potentials of contact bodies with densities having constant signs. Second, we will prove the uniqueness theorems for noncontact bodies.

Let A_1 and A_2 be open bounded sets under the agreement that either of these sets is a union of a finite number of domains; meaning, as further developments occur,

(3.8.1)
$$A_{1} = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m_{1}} \Omega_{1}^{j}, \qquad A_{2} = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m_{2}} \Omega_{2}^{j},$$

(3.8.2)
$$\bar{\Gamma}_{1}^{i} = \partial A_{1} \cap \bar{A}_{1} \cap \bar{A}_{2}, \qquad \bar{\Gamma}_{1}^{e} = \partial A_{1} \setminus \Gamma_{1}^{i},$$

$$\bar{\Gamma}_{2}^{e} = \partial A_{2} \cap \bar{\Gamma}^{e}, \qquad \Gamma_{2}^{i} = \partial A_{2} \setminus \bar{\Gamma}_{2}^{e},$$

where m_1 and m_2 are fixed numbers and $\overline{\Gamma}^e = \partial(\overline{A}_1 \cup \overline{A}_2)$ (for more detail we refer to (3.2.4) and (3.2.38)). Within these notations, we now consider the simple layer potential v defined by

(3.8.3)
$$v(x;\partial A_{\alpha},\rho_{\alpha}) = \int_{\partial A_{\alpha}} E(x,y) \rho_{\alpha}(y) \, ds_{y},$$

where $\rho_{\alpha} \neq 0$ almost everywhere on ∂A_{α} . Recall that the definition of externally contact set is available in Section 3.6.

Theorem 3.8.1 Let A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, be externally contact sets and the simple layer potentials $v(x; \partial A_{\alpha}, \rho)$ with density $\rho \in C(\partial A_{\alpha})$ satisfy the condition

$$(3.8.4) v(x; \partial A_1, \rho) = v(x; \partial A_2, \rho), x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2).$$

Then $A_1 = A_2$.

Proof Observe that we imposed no restriction on the sign of the function ρ . For this reason it is necessary to examine two possible cases. If the function $\rho(y)$ has constant sign, the assertion in question is an immediate implication of Theorem 3.6.2 with $\gamma = 1$ and $\beta = 0$. If $\rho(y)$ does not have constant sign and $A_1 \neq A_2$, then Lemma 3.2.4 with $\beta = 0$ and $\gamma = 1$ implies that a solution h(y) of the Laplace equation

(3.8.5)
$$(\Delta h)(y) = 0, \quad y \in D,$$

being regular in a domain $D \subset \mathbf{R}^n$, $\overline{D} \supset D \supset \overline{B}_0$, satisfies the equality

(3.8.6)
$$\int_{(\partial B_0)^e} h(y) \rho(y) \, ds_y - \int_{(\partial B_0)^e} h(y) \rho(y) \, ds_y = 0.$$

Here the domain B_0 was taken from (3.2.39)-(3.2.42).

The function f(y) is defined on $\partial B_0 = (\partial B_0)^e \cup (\partial B_0)^i$ by the relations

$$f(y) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{sign} \rho(y), & y \in (\partial B_0)^e, \\ -\operatorname{sign} \rho(y), & y \in (\partial B_0)^i. \end{cases}$$

As in the proof of Theorem 3.3.1 equality (3.8.6) can be extended to involve a generalized solution h_f of the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation with the boundary values associated with f(y). In this line,

$$J(h_f) = 0,$$

where

$$J(h_f) = \int_{(\partial B_0)^e} h_f(y) \rho(y) \ ds_y - \int_{(\partial B_0)^i} h_f(y) \rho(y) \ ds_y$$

The function h_f being a regular solution to the equation

$$(\Delta h_f)(y) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad y \in B_0$$

takes the values of f(y) almost everywhere on ∂B_0 and ensures the decomposition

$$J(h_f) = \int_{(\partial B_0)^e} |\rho(y)| \, ds_y + \int_{(\partial B_0)^i} |\rho(y)| \, ds_y \, ,$$

yielding $J(h_f) > 0$, which disagrees with the equality $J(h_f) = 0$. The obtained contradiction proves the assertion of the theorem.

It is worth bearing in mind that the sets in the above theorem were contact and this restriction cannot be relaxed. There is an example describing two different bodies with a constant density, whose exterior logarithmic potentials of a simple layer are equal to each other.

We now raise the question of the solution uniqueness for the problem of recovering the shape of a body from available values of its potential.

Theorem 3.8.2 Let bounded sets A_{α} and functions $\rho_{\alpha} \in C(\partial A_{\alpha})$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, be such that

(3.8.7)
$$\int_{\Gamma_{1}^{i}} |\rho_{1}(y)| \, ds_{y} + \int_{\Gamma_{2}^{i}} |\rho_{2}(y)| \, ds_{y}$$
$$< \int_{\bar{\Gamma}_{1}^{e}} |\rho_{1}(y)| \, ds_{y} + \int_{\bar{\Gamma}_{2}^{e}} |\rho_{2}(y)| \, ds_{y} \, .$$

If $A_1 \neq A_2$, then the exterior potentials $v(x; \partial A_1, \rho_1)$ and $v(x; \partial A_2, \rho_2)$ of a simple layer are different, that is, there is a point $\hat{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus (\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2)$ at which

(3.8.8)
$$v(\hat{x};\partial A_1,\rho_1) \neq v(\hat{x};\partial A_2,\rho_2).$$

Proof Let $A_1 \neq A_2$ and

(3.8.9)
$$v(x; \partial A_1, \rho_1) = v(x; \partial A_2, \rho_2)$$
 for all $x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (A_1 \cup A_2)$.

194

3.8. Uniqueness of solution for the simple layer potential

Then by Lemma 3.2.2 with $\beta = 0$ and $\gamma = 1$ the equality

$$(3.8.10) J(h) = 0$$

is valid with

(3.8.11)
$$J(h) = \int_{\partial A_1} \rho_1(y) h(y) \, ds_y - \int_{\partial A_2} \rho_2(y) h(y) \, ds_y \, ,$$

where h(y) is an arbitrary regular solution to the equation

$$(3.8.12) \qquad (\Delta h)(y) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad y \in D.$$

Here D is ordered with respect to inclusion:

(3.8.13)
$$\mathbf{R}^n \supset \bar{D} \supset D \supset (\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2).$$

Our subsequent arguments are based on the use of the function f(y) defined on the surface $\overline{\Gamma}^e = \overline{\Gamma}_1^e \cup \overline{\Gamma}_2^e = \partial(\overline{A}_1 \cup \overline{A}_2)$ by means of the relations

(3.8.14)
$$f(y) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{sign} \rho_1(y), & y \in \bar{\Gamma}_1^e, \\ -\operatorname{sign} \rho_2(y), & y \in \bar{\Gamma}_2^e. \end{cases}$$

As in the proof of Theorem 3.3.1 equality (3.8.10) should be extended to be valid for a generalized solution $h_f(y)$ of the Dirichlet problem for the equation

(3.8.15)
$$(\Delta h_f)(y) = 0 \text{ for } y \in A^e, \qquad A^e = \overline{A_1 \cup A_2} \setminus \Gamma^e,$$

with the boundary data (3.8.14). It follows from the foregoing that

$$(3.8.16) J(h_f) = 0$$

where

(3.8.17)
$$J(h_f) = \int_{\Gamma_1^e} |\rho_1(y)| \, ds_y + \int_{\Gamma_2^e} |\rho_2(y)| \, ds_y$$
$$+ \int_{\Gamma_1^i} h_f(y) \, \rho_1(y) \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{\Gamma_2^i} h_f(y) \, \rho_2(y) \, ds_y \, .$$
Since the function $h_f(y)$ is a solution of (3.8.15) with the boundary values (3.8.14), the **Hopf principle** yields the estimate

$$(3.8.18) |h_f| \le 1 \quad \text{for} \quad y \in \bar{A}^e,$$

where $\overline{A}^e = \overline{A}_1 \cup \overline{A}_2$. From (3.8.17)–(3.8.18) it follows that

(3.8.19)
$$J(h_f) \ge \int_{\bar{\Gamma}_1^e} |\rho_1(y)| \, ds_y + \int_{\bar{\Gamma}_2^e} |\rho_2(y)| \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{\Gamma_1^i} |\rho_1(y)| \, ds_y - \int_{\Gamma_2^i} |\rho_2(y)| \, ds_y \, .$$

Because of (3.8.7), the right-hand side of (3.8.19) is strictly positive, meaning $J(h_f) > 0$. But this contradicts (3.8.16) and thereby completes the proof of the theorem.

Theorem 3.8.3 One assumes that A_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, are open sets and either of these sets is a union of the same finite number of convex domains Ω_{α}^{j} . If the exterior potentials $v(x; A_{\alpha}, 1)$ of a simple layer with densities $\rho_{\alpha} \equiv 1$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, coincide, that is,

$$(3.8.20) v(x; A_1, 1) = v(x; A_2, 1) for x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{A}_1 \cup \bar{A}_2),$$

then

$$(3.8.21) A_1 = A_2 \, .$$

Proof Assume to the contrary that $A_1 \neq A_2$. The domains Ω_{α}^j being convex imply that

(3.8.22)
$$\operatorname{mes} \overline{\Gamma}_1^e + \operatorname{mes} \overline{\Gamma}_2^e > \operatorname{mes} \Gamma_1^i + \operatorname{mes} \Gamma_2^i.$$

With the relation $\rho_{\alpha} \equiv 1$ in view, we deduce (3.8.7) from (3.8.22). Now Theorem 3.8.2 becomes valid, so that equality (3.8.8) holds true. But this contradicts condition (3.8.20). Thus, the theorem is completely proved.

As an immediate implication of the above result we quote

Theorem 3.8.4 If for two convex domains Ω_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, the exterior potentials $v(x; \partial \Omega_{\alpha}, 1)$ of a simple layer with densities $\rho_{\alpha} \equiv 1, \alpha = 1, 2$, coincide, that is,

$$\int_{\partial \Omega_1} E(x,y) \ ds_y = \int_{\partial \Omega_2} E(x,y) \ ds_y \quad for \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{\Omega}_1 \cup \bar{\Omega}_2) \,,$$

then $\Omega_1 = \Omega_2$.

196

3.9 Stability in inverse problems for the potential of a simple layer in the space \mathbb{R}^n , $n \geq 3$

In this section some stability estimates will be derived for the exterior inverse problem related to the potential of a simple layer in the case of recovering the shape of a given body.

Let Ω_{α} be bounded domains with boundaries $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$, $\alpha = 1, 2$. Within notation (3.2.38), it will be sensible to introduce

$$(3.9.1) \qquad s^{e} = \partial(\bar{\Omega}_{1} \cup \bar{\Omega}_{2}), \quad s^{i}_{1} = \partial\Omega_{1} \cap (\bar{\Omega}_{1} \cap \bar{\Omega}_{2}), \quad s^{e}_{1} = \partial\Omega_{1} \setminus s^{i}_{1},$$
$$s^{e}_{2} = \partial\Omega_{2} \cap s^{e}, \qquad s^{i}_{2} = \partial\Omega_{2} \setminus s^{e}_{2}.$$

In the case when $\Omega_1 = \Omega_2$, the boundaries s^e_{α} will be taken to be $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$, $\alpha = 1, 2$. Unless otherwise is explicitly stated, Ω_{α} are supposed to be simply connected domains for the reader's convenience only. Then so are both sets

$$\Omega_{\alpha} = \Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2 \neq \emptyset$$

and

 $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus (\bar{\Omega}_1 \cup \bar{\Omega}_2)$

for $n \geq 3$.

As we will see a little later, the function

(3.9.2)
$$v(x) = v(x; \partial \Omega_1, \rho_1) - v(x; \partial \Omega_2, \rho_2),$$

where $v(x; \partial\Omega_{\alpha}, \rho_{\alpha})$ is the potential of a simple layer over the boundary $\partial\Omega_{\alpha}$ with density $\rho_{\alpha} \in C(\partial\Omega_{\alpha})$, finds a wide range of applications in this field (see (3.2.2)).

For $\Omega_1 \neq \Omega_2$ further numbers are defined by

(3.9.3)
$$G^{e} = \int_{s_{1}^{e}} |\rho_{1}(y)| \, ds_{y} + \int_{s_{2}^{e}} |\rho_{2}(y)| \, ds_{y}$$

(3.9.4)
$$G^{i} = \int_{s_{1}^{i}} |\rho_{1}(y)| \, ds_{y} + \int_{s_{2}^{i}} |\rho_{2}(y)| \, ds_{y}$$

Theorem 3.9.1 One assumes that the simple layer potentials $v(x; \partial \Omega_{\alpha}, \rho_{\alpha})$ can be extended from $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus \overline{\Omega}_{\alpha}$ onto $\mathbf{R}^n \setminus D^*$ as a regular solution to the equation

$$(3.9.5) \qquad \Delta v(x; \partial \Omega_{\alpha}, \rho_{\alpha}) = 0 \quad for \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus D^*, \quad n \ge 3, \quad \alpha = 1, 2,$$

where D^* is a simply connected domain, whose boundary ∂D^* is of class C^{2+h} , $\overline{D^*} \subset \Omega^e$ and $\Omega^e \cup \partial \Omega^e = \overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2$. Then the estimate

(3.9.6)
$$G^e - G^i \le c_1 \max_{x \in \partial D^*} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu_x} v(x) \right|$$

is valid, where $c_1 = \text{const} > 0$ depends only on the configuration of the boundary ∂D^* and the values of $\partial v(x)/\partial v_x$ are taken at points $x \in \partial D^*$.

Proof Let D and D_1 be domains with boundaries ∂D and ∂D_1 of class C^{1+h} which can be ordered with respect to inclusion:

 $D \supset \overline{D}_1 \supset D_1 \supset (\overline{\Omega}_1 \cup \overline{\Omega}_2)$.

We refer to the functional with the values

(3.9.7)
$$J(h) = \int_{\partial \Omega_1} \rho_1(y) h(y) \, ds_y - \int_{\partial \Omega_2} \rho_2(y) h(y) \, ds_y ,$$

where h is a regular in D solution to the equation

(3.9.8)
$$(\Delta h)(y) = 0, \quad y \in D.$$

An auxiliary lemma may be useful in the sequel.

Lemma 3.9.1 The functional J(h) specified by (3.9.7) admits the estimate

(3.9.9)
$$|J(h)| \le c_2 \max_{y \in \partial D_1} |h(y)| \max_{y \in \partial D^*} \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu_y} v(y) \right|.$$

Proof Indeed, any regular in D solution h(y) to equation (3.9.8) is representable by

(3.9.10)
$$\int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[E(x,y); h(x) \right] \, ds_x = \begin{cases} h(y) \, , \quad y \in D_1 \, , \\ 0 \, , \qquad y \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus \bar{D}_1 \, , \end{cases}$$

where E(x, y) is the fundamental solution of the Laplace equation and the expression for $M[\cdot; \cdot]$ amounts to (3.2.9). Multiplying relation (3.9.10) by $\rho_{\alpha}(y)$ and integrating the resultig expression over $\partial\Omega_{\alpha}$, we arrive at

(3.9.11)
$$\int_{\partial \Omega_{\alpha}} \rho_{\alpha}(y) h(y) \, ds_{y}$$
$$= \int_{\partial D_{1}} M_{x} \left[\int_{\partial \Omega_{\alpha}} \rho_{\alpha}(y) E(x, y) \, ds_{y}; h(x) \right] \, ds_{x} \, .$$

3.9. Stability in inverse problems

From (3.9.1)-(3.9.11) it follows that the functional J(h) can be rewritten as

(3.9.12)
$$J(h) = \int_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[v(x); h(x) \right] \, ds_x \, .$$

Recalling that v(x) is a regular solution to the equation

(3.9.13)
$$(\Delta v)(x) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus D^*,$$

we now turn to the simple layer potential

(3.9.14)
$$\tilde{v}(x) = \int_{\partial D^*} \omega(y) E(x, y) \, ds_y \, ,$$

which solves the exterior Neymann problem

(3.9.15)
$$\Delta \tilde{v}(x) = 0, \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus D^*, \quad n \ge 3,$$
$$\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial \nu_x} \tilde{v}(x) \right]^- = \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu_x} \left[v(x) \right]^-, \quad x \in \partial D^*,$$
$$\tilde{v}(x) \to 0, \qquad |x| \to \infty.$$

Here $\boldsymbol{\nu}_x$ is a normal at point $x \in \partial D^*$ and

$$(3.9.16) \quad \left[\begin{array}{c} \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu_x} \tilde{v}(x) \end{array} \right]^- = \lim_{\hat{x} \to x} \begin{array}{c} \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu_x} \tilde{v}(\hat{x}) \\ \text{for} \quad \hat{x} \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus D^*, \qquad x \in \partial D^*. \end{array}$$

Therefore, the density $\omega(y)$ of potential (3.9.14) will satisfy an integral Fredholm equation of the second kind, whose solution does exist and is obliged to be unique.

By the uniqueness of a solution of the exterior Neymann problem $(n \ge 3)$,

(3.9.17)
$$v(x) = \tilde{v}(x) \text{ for } \hat{x} \in \mathbf{R}^n \setminus D^*.$$

Relations (3.9.17) and (3.9.12) are followed by

$$\begin{split} J(h) &= \int\limits_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[\tilde{v}(x); h(x) \right] \, ds_x \\ &= \int\limits_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[\int\limits_{\partial D^*} \omega(y) \, E(x, y) \, ds_y; h(x) \right] \, ds_x \\ &= \int\limits_{\partial D^*} \omega(y) \Biggl\{ \int\limits_{\partial D_1} M_x \left[E(x, y); , h(x) \right] \, ds_x \Biggr\} \, ds_y \, , \\ &= \int\limits_{\partial D_1} \omega(y) \, h(y) \, ds_y \, , \end{split}$$

so that

(3.9.18)
$$J(h) = \int_{\partial D^*} \omega(y) h(y) \, ds_y \, ,$$

which serves to motivate the estimate

(3.9.19)
$$J(h) \leq \max_{y \in \partial D^*} |h(y)| \int_{\partial D^*} |\omega(y)| ds_y,$$

where the function $\omega(y)$ is a solution to the integral equation

(3.9.20)
$$-\omega(y) + \int_{\partial D^*} K(y,\xi) \,\omega(\xi) \, ds_{\xi} = f_1(y) \,, \qquad y \in \partial D^* \,,$$

with

(3.9.21)
$$f_1(y) = 2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu_y} v(y),$$

 $K(y,\xi) = 2 \left(\frac{\partial E(y,\xi)}{\partial \nu_y} \right)^{-}, \quad y, \xi \in \partial D^*$

Now estimate (3.9.9) is a corollary of (3.9.19)-(3.9.21) and thereby the lemma is completely proved.

200

With this result established, we return to the proof of the theorem involving the function f(y), which is defined on the surface s^e by the relations

(3.9.22)
$$f(y) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{sign} \rho_1(y), & y \in s_1^e, \\ -\operatorname{sign} \rho_2(y), & y \in s_2^e. \end{cases}$$

It is obvious that $|h_f| \leq 1$. By exactly the same reasoning as in the derivation of (3.4.32) from (3.4.25) we should take into account the preceding inequality $|h_f| \leq 1$ and appeal to (3.9.19), whose use permits us to find that

$$(3.9.23) \qquad |J(h_f)| \leq \int_{\partial D^*} |\omega(y)| \, ds_y \, .$$

On the other hand, when treating (3.9.22) as the boundary data for the function h_f , the following expansion arises from (3.9.22):

(3.9.24)
$$\int_{s_1^e} |\rho_1(y)| \, ds_y + \int_{s_2^e} |\rho_2(y)| \, ds_y$$
$$+ \int_{s_1^i} h_f(y) \rho_1(y) \, ds_y$$
$$- \int_{s_2^i} h_f(y) \rho_2(y) \, ds_y = J(h_f)$$

To demonstrate this decomposition, we should adopt the arguments used in Theorem 3.7.2.

Recall that $|h_f| \leq 1$. Then the combination of relations (3.9.2)-(3.9.4) and (3.9.23) gives

(3.9.25)
$$G^e - G^i \le J(h_f)$$
.

Estimates (3.9.23) and (3.9.25) together yield

(3.9.26)
$$G^e - G^i \leq \int_{\partial D^*} |\omega(y)| \, ds_y \, ,$$

where $\omega(y)$ is a unique solution $(n \geq 3)$ to the integral Fredholm equation (3.9.20), whose right-hand side is expressed in terms of the values of the normal derivative of the function v(x) on ∂D^* with the aid of the first formula (1.9.21). Estimate (3.9.6) follows from (3.9.26) in light of the well-known properties of the function $\omega(y)$ being a solution to equation (3.9.20). This proves the assertion of the theorem.

Remark 3.9.1 Under the assumptions of Theorem 3.9.1 estimate (3.9.6) can be replaced by (3.9.26).

We cite now some assertions afforded by the above results.

Corollary 3.9.1 Let a set P contain all of the singular points of the potentials $v(x; \partial A_{\alpha}, \rho_{\alpha})$, $\alpha = 1, 2$, and let D^* will be ordered with respect to inclusion:

$$\tilde{P} \subset D^* \subset \overline{D^*} \subset \Omega^e$$
.

If

$$(3.9.27) |v(x;\partial A_1,\rho_1)-v(x;\partial A_2,\rho_2)|<\varepsilon, \forall x\in s^e,$$

then

$$(3.9.28) G^e - G^i \le c_2 \frac{\varepsilon}{l} ,$$

where $c_2 = \text{const} = c_2(\partial D^*) > 0$ and $l = \text{dist}(\partial D^*, s^e)$ is the distance between the boundaries ∂D^* and s^e .

This assertion is a corollary to Theorem 3.8.3 and the relevant properties of harmonic functions.

Corollary 3.9.2 Let all the conditions of Theorem 3.9.1 or Corollary 3.9.1 hold. If $\rho_{\alpha} \equiv 1$ and Ω_{α} , $\alpha = 1, 2$, are convex domains, then the estimate

$$\operatorname{mes} s^{e} - \operatorname{mes} s^{i} \leq c_{4} \max_{x \in \partial D^{*}} \left| \frac{\partial v(x)}{\partial \nu_{x}} \right|$$

is valid or, what amounts to the same,

$$\operatorname{mes} s^e - \operatorname{mes} s^i \leq c_5 \; \frac{\varepsilon}{l} \; .$$

Chapter 4

Inverse Problems in Dynamics of Viscous Incompressible Fluid

4.1 Preliminaries

We begin our exposition with a brief survey of the facts regarding the solvability of direct problems for linearized and nonlinear Navier-Stokes equations. It is worth noting here that we quote merely the theorems which will serve in the sequel as a necessary background for special investigations of plenty of inverse problems.

We give a number of definitions for functional spaces which will be encountered throughout the entire chapter. Let Ω be a bounded domain in the space \mathbb{R}^n with boundary $\partial\Omega$ of class \mathcal{C}^2 .

The space $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ consists of all vector functions $\mathbf{v}(x)$ with components $v_i(x) \in L_2(\Omega), i = 1, 2, ..., n$, and is equipped with the scalar product

$$(\mathbf{u},\mathbf{v})_{2,\Omega} = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{u}(x) \cdot \mathbf{v}(x) dx, \qquad \mathbf{u}(x) \cdot \mathbf{v}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_i(x) v_i(x).$$

The associated norm on that space is defined by

$$\|\mathbf{v}\|_{2,\Omega} = \sqrt{(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v})_{2,\Omega}}$$
.

204 4. Inverse Problems in Dynamics of Viscous Incompressible Fluid

The space $\mathbf{W}_2^1(\Omega)$ comprises all vector functions \mathbf{v} with components $v_i(x) \in W_2^1(\Omega)$, $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$, and the norm

$$\|\mathbf{v}\|_{2,\Omega}^{(1)} = \sqrt{\int_{\Omega} |\mathbf{v}| + |\mathbf{v}_x|^2 dx}, \qquad |\mathbf{v}_x| = \sqrt{\sum_{i,j=1}^n \left(\frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j}\right)^2}$$

Let $\mathbf{J}(\Omega)$ be the closure in the $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ -norm of the set of all smooth solenoidal and compactly supported vectors. It is well-known that $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega) = \mathbf{J}(\Omega) \oplus \mathbf{G}(\Omega)$, where $\mathbf{G}(\Omega)$ is the orthogonal complement of $\mathbf{J}(\Omega)$ to $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$. The space $\mathbf{G}(\Omega)$ consists of all vectors having the form $\nabla \psi$, where ψ is a single-valued, measurable and square summable function, whose first derivatives belong to the space $L_2(\Omega)$. The norms on the functional spaces $\mathbf{L}_q(\Omega)$, $\mathbf{W}_l^p(\Omega)$, $\mathbf{L}_{q,r}(Q_r)$ and $\mathbf{W}_p^{l_1,l_2}(Q_r)$ of vector functions are defined in the usual way. As before, it is convenient to introduce the notations

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{q,\Omega} = \|\|\mathbf{u}_x\|\|_{q,\Omega},$$
$$\|\mathbf{u}_{xx}\| = \sqrt{\sum_{i,j=1}^n \left(\frac{\partial^2 u_i}{\partial x_k \partial x_j}\right)^2},$$
$$\|\|\mathbf{u}_{xx}\|_{q,\Omega} = \|\|\mathbf{u}_{xx}\|\|_{q,\Omega}.$$

Let $\mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T)$ be a subspace of Sobolev's space $\mathbf{W}_2^{2,1}(Q_T)$, which consists of all vector functions vanishing on $S_T \equiv \partial \Omega \times [0, T]$. The space $\mathbf{\mathring{J}}(Q_T)$ comprises all vectors from $\mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$ that belong to $\mathbf{\mathring{J}}(\Omega)$ for almost all $t \in [0, T]$.

We now focus our attention on the formulations of some results concerning the solvability of stationary and nonstationary **direct problems** in hydrodynamics.

The following assertion is valid for the linear stationary direct problem of finding a pair of the functions $\{\mathbf{u}, \nabla q\}$, which satisfy in the domain Ω the system of equations

(4.1.1)
$$-\nu \Delta \mathbf{u} = -\nabla q + \mathbf{h}, \qquad \text{div } \mathbf{u} = 0,$$

and the boundary condition

$$\mathbf{u}(x) = 0, \qquad x \in \partial \Omega.$$

Theorem 4.1.1 (Temam (1979), p. 37) For $\mathbf{h} \in \mathbf{L}_m(\Omega)$, m > 1, problem (4.1.1)-(4.1.2) has a solution $\mathbf{u} \in \mathbf{W}_m^2(\Omega)$, $\nabla q \in \mathbf{L}_m(\Omega)$, this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the estimate

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{m,\Omega}^{(2)} + \|\nabla q\|_{m,\Omega} \leq c \|\mathbf{h}\|_{m,\Omega}$$

is valid with constant c depending only on m and Ω .

Consider now the linear nonstationary direct problem of recovering a pair of the functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$, which satisfy in Q_T the system of **linearized** Navier-Stokes equations along with the incompressibility equation

(4.1.3)
$$\mathbf{v}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + \mathbf{F}_1$$
, div $\mathbf{v} = 0$, $(x, t) \in Q_T \equiv \Omega \times (0, T)$,

the initial condition

(4.1.4)
$$\mathbf{v}(x, 0) = \mathbf{a}_1(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

and the boundary condition

(4.1.5)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,t) = 0, \qquad (x,t) \in S_T \equiv \partial \Omega \times [0,T],$$

where the vector functions \mathbf{F}_1 , \mathbf{a}_1 and the coefficient ν are given.

Theorem 4.1.2 (Ladyzhenskaya (1970), p. 109) For $\mathbf{F}_1 \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$ and $\mathbf{a}_1 \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$ a solution $\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(Q_T)$, $\nabla p \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$ of the direct problem (4.1.3)-(4.1.5) exists and is unique and the following estimate is true:

(4.1.6)
$$\|\mathbf{v}\|_{2,Q_T}^{(2,1)} + \|\nabla p\|_{2,Q_T} \leq \tilde{C} \left(\|\mathbf{F}_1\|_{2,Q_T} + \|\mathbf{a}_1\|_{2,\Omega}^{(1)}\right).$$

Theorem 4.1.3 (Ladyzhenskaya (1970), p. 112) For $\mathbf{a}_1 \in \mathbf{J}(\Omega)$ and $\mathbf{F}_1 \in \mathbf{L}_{2,1}(Q_T)$ there always exists a solution \mathbf{v} of problem (4.1.3)-(4.1.5) that belongs to $\mathbf{\tilde{V}}_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$. This solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the estimate

$$(4.1.7) || \mathbf{v}(\cdot, t) ||_{2,\Omega}^{2} + 2\nu \int_{0}^{t} || \mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2,\Omega}^{2} d\tau$$

$$\leq 2 || \mathbf{a}_{1} ||_{2,\Omega}^{2} + 3 \left(\int_{0}^{t} || \mathbf{F}_{1}(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2,\Omega} d\tau \right)^{2}, \qquad 0 \leq t \leq T,$$

is valid.

Here $\overset{\mathfrak{o}}{\mathbf{V}_2}^{1,0}(Q_T)$ is a Banach space which is the closure in the norm

$$\uparrow \mathbf{v} \uparrow_{\mathbf{\hat{V}}_{2}^{1,0}(Q_{T})}^{\bullet} = \max_{t \in [0,T]} \| \mathbf{v}(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega} + \| \mathbf{v}_{x} \|_{2,Q_{T}}$$

of the set of all smooth vectors vanishing in a neighborhood of S_r .

Of special interest is the direct problem of finding a pair of the functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$, which satisfy in Q_T the nonlinear time-dependent Navier-Stokes system

(4.1.8)
$$\mathbf{v}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} + (\mathbf{v}, \nabla) \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + \mathbf{F}_2, \quad \text{div } \mathbf{v} = 0, \quad (x, t) \in Q_T,$$

the initial condition

(4.1.9)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,0) = \mathbf{a}_2(x), \qquad x \in \Omega$$

and the boundary condition

(4.1.10)
$$\mathbf{v}(x, t) = 0, \qquad (x, t) \in S_T,$$

where the functions \mathbf{F}_2 , \mathbf{a}_2 and the coefficient ν are known in advance and

$$(\mathbf{v}, \nabla) \mathbf{v} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} v_i \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial x_i}$$

We begin by considering the case of a three-dimensional flow, that is, the case when $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^{3}$.

Theorem 4.1.4 (Ladyzhenskaya (1970), p. 202) Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, $\mathbf{F}_2 \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$, $(\mathbf{F}_2)_t \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$, $\mathbf{a}_2 \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$ and let the inequality

(4.1.11)
$$M_4 = \nu - \left(\frac{4}{3}\right)^{3/4} \left[c_1(\Omega)\nu^{-1}M_1\left(M_2 + M_3\right)\right]^{1/2} > 0$$

be valid with

$$M_{1} = || \mathbf{a}_{2} ||_{2, \Omega} + \int_{0}^{T} || \mathbf{F}_{2}(\cdot, t) ||_{2, \Omega} dt,$$

$$M_{2} = || P_{\mathbf{J}} [\nu \Delta \mathbf{a}_{2} - (\mathbf{a}_{2}, \nabla) \mathbf{a}_{2} + \mathbf{F}_{2}(\cdot, 0)] ||_{2, \Omega}$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{T} || (\mathbf{F}_{2})_{t}(\cdot, t) ||_{2, \Omega} dt,$$

206

 $P_{\mathbf{J}}$ being the orthogonal projector of $\mathbf{L}_{2}(\Omega)$ onto $\mathring{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$ and $c_{1}(\Omega)$ appearing in the Poincaré-Friedrichs inequality (see (4.2.21) below). Then problem (4.1.8)-(4.1.10) has in Q_{T} a generalized solution \mathbf{v} such that $|\mathbf{v}|^{2}$, \mathbf{v}_{x} , \mathbf{v}_{t} , $\mathbf{v}_{tx} \in \mathbf{L}_{2}(Q_{T})$ and $\mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t)$ is an element of $\mathring{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$ continuously depending on $t \in [0, T]$ in the weak topology of $\mathring{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$. Moreover, this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the function \mathbf{v} satisfies for each $t \in [0, T]$ the estimates

$$(4.1.12) || \mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t) ||_{2,\Omega} \leq [\nu^{-1} M_{1} (M_{2} + M_{3})]^{1/2},$$

$$(4.1.13) ||| \mathbf{v}_t(\,\cdot\,,\,t) ||_{2,\,\Omega} \leq M_2\,,$$

$$(4.1.14) \quad 2 \ M_4 \int_0^t \| \mathbf{v}_{tx}(\,\cdot\,,\tau) \|_{2,\,\Omega}^2 \ d\tau$$

$$\leq \left\| P_{\mathbf{J}} \left[\nu \Delta \mathbf{a}_2 - (\mathbf{a}_2,\nabla) \mathbf{a}_2 + \mathbf{F}_2(\,\cdot\,,0) \right] \right\|_{2,\,\Omega}^2 + 2 M_2^2 \,.$$

Theorem 4.1.5 (Ladyzhenskaya (1970), p. 209) Under the conditions of Theorem 4.1.4 the function $\mathbf{v}(\cdot, t)$ is continuous with respect to $t \in [0, T]$ in the $\mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega)$ -norm, the function $\mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t)$ is continuous with respect to $t \in [0, T]$ in the $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ -norm and the following estimate holds:

(4.1.15) $\|\mathbf{v}(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}^{(2)} \leq M_5, \qquad 0 \leq t \leq T,$

where

$$M_{5} = c_{1}^{*} \left\{ \left[\sup_{t \in [0, T]} \| \mathbf{F}_{2}(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega} + M_{2} \right] \right.$$
$$\times \left\{ 1 + c_{2}^{*} \left[\nu^{-1} M_{1} (M_{2} + M_{3}) \right]^{1/2} \right\}$$
$$+ c_{3}^{*} \left[M_{1} \nu^{-1} (M_{2} + M_{3}) \right]^{3/2} \right\}$$

and c_1^* , c_2^* , c_3^* are constants depending only on Ω , ν and T.

It is worth noting here that M_5 does not depend on t.

In the case of a **two-dimensional flow**, that is, the case when $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ the direct problem for the nonstationary nonlinear system (4.1.8) is, in general, uniquely solvable. This profound result is revealed in the following theorem.

Theorem 4.1.6 (Ladyzhenskaya (1970), p. 198) Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, $\mathbb{F}_2 \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$, $(\mathbb{F}_2)_t \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$ and $\mathbf{a}_2 \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$. Then problem (4.1.8)-(4.1.10) has in Q_T a generalized solution \mathbf{v} such that $|\mathbf{v}|^2, \mathbf{v}_x, \mathbf{v}_t$, $\mathbf{v}_{tx} \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$ and $\mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t)$ is an element of $\overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$ continuously depending on $t \in [0, T]$ in the weak topology of $\overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$. This solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the function \mathbf{v} satisfies for $0 \leq t \leq T$ the estimates

(4.1.16)
$$\|\mathbf{v}(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega} \leq \|\mathbf{a}_2\|_{2,\Omega} + \int_0^t \|\mathbf{F}_2(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega} dt, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T,$$

$$(4.1.17) \quad \nu \| \mathbf{v}_{x} \|_{2, Q_{T}}^{2} \leq \| \mathbf{a}_{2} \|_{2, \Omega}^{2} + \frac{3}{2} \left(\int_{0}^{T} \| \mathbf{F}_{2}(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega} dt \right)^{2},$$

(4.1.18)
$$\|\mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega} \leq M_2 \exp\{M_6 \nu^{-2}\}, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T,$$

(4.1.19)
$$\nu \int_{0}^{t} \|\mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot,\tau)\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} d\tau \leq M_{2}^{2} \times \left[1+2\exp\left\{M_{6}\nu^{-2}\right\}\right]$$
$$+2 M_{6}\nu^{-2}\exp\left\{2M_{6}\nu^{-2}\right\},$$

where

$$M_{2} = || P_{\mathbf{J}} \left[\nu \Delta \mathbf{a}_{2} - (\mathbf{a}_{2}, \nabla) \mathbf{a}_{2} + \mathbf{F}_{2}(\cdot, 0) \right] ||_{2,\Omega} + \int_{0}^{T} || (\mathbf{F}_{2})_{t}(\cdot, t) ||_{2,\Omega} dt,$$

$$M_{6} = \frac{1}{2} \|\mathbf{a}_{2}\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \left(\|\mathbf{a}_{2}\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|\mathbf{F}_{2}(\cdot,t)\|_{2,\Omega} dt\right) \int_{0}^{T} \|\mathbf{F}_{2}(\cdot,t)\|_{2,\Omega} dt.$$

Theorem 4.1.7 Under the conditions of Theorem 4.1.6 the function $\mathbf{v}(\cdot, t)$ is continuous with respect to $t \in [0, T]$ in the $\mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega)$ -norm, the function $\mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t)$ is continuous with respect to $t \in [0, T]$ in the $\mathbf{J}(\Omega)$ -norm

4.1. Preliminaries

and the following estimates hold:

(4.1.20)
$$\nu \| \mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \leq \left(\| \mathbf{a}_{2} \|_{2,\Omega} + \| \mathbf{F}_{2} \|_{2,1,Q_{T}} \right) \\ \times \left(M_{2} \exp \left\{ M_{6} \nu^{-2} \right\} + \| \mathbf{F}_{2}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \right), \\ 0 \leq t \leq T,$$

(4.1.21) $\|\mathbf{v}(\cdot,t)\|_{2,\Omega}^{(2)} \leq M_7, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T,$

where

$$M_{7} = c_{1}^{*} \left[\sup_{t \in [0, T]} \| \mathbf{F}_{2}(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega} + M_{2} \exp \{M_{6} \nu^{-2}\} \right]$$

$$\times \left\{ 1 + c_{2}^{*} \left(\| \mathbf{a}_{2} \|_{2, \Omega} + \| \mathbf{F}_{2} \|_{2, 1, Q_{T}} \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\times \left(M_{2} \exp \{M_{6} \nu^{-2}\} + \sup_{t \in [0, T]} \| \mathbf{F}_{2}(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega} \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\times \left[1 + \left(\| \mathbf{a}_{2} \|_{2, \Omega} + \| \mathbf{F}_{2} \|_{2, 1, Q_{T}} \right)^{1/2} \right] \right\}$$

and c_1^* , c_2^* are constants depending only on Ω , ν and T.

The proof of this assertion is similar to that carried out in Theorem 4.1.5. One can see that M_7 does not depend on t.

4.2 Nonstationary linearized system of Navier–Stokes equations: the final overdetermination

The main goal of our studies is to consider the inverse problem with the final overdetermination for nonstationary linearized Navier-Stokes equations. All the methods we develop throughout this section apply equally well to systems which can arise in various approaches to the linearization of nonlinear Navier-Stokes equations. For more a detailed outline of the results obtained we offer the linearization type presented by the system (4.1.3).

Before considering details, we are interested in a common setting of the inverse problem. For this, suppose that an unknown external force function $\mathbf{F}_1(x, t)$ is sought on the basis of indirect measurements. Our approach is connected with a suitably chosen statement of the inverse problem and some restriction on the input data making it possible to treat an initial problem as a well-posed one for which

- (i) a solution exists and is unique;
- (ii) the solution is stable in the norm of the corresponding space of functions.

Without loss of generality we may assume that the function v satisfies the homogeneous initial condition (4.1.2) almost everywhere in Ω , that is, we accept $\mathbf{a}_1 = 0$.

Additional information is available here on a solution of the system (4.1.3)-(4.1.5) as the condition of final overdetermination in which the traces of the velocity **v** and the pressure gradient ∇p are prescribed at the final moment t = T of the segment [0, T] under consideration.

The vector \mathbf{F}_1 is taken to be

$$\mathbf{F}_1 = \mathbf{f}(x) \ g(x, t) \,,$$

where the vector $\mathbf{f}(x)$ is unknown and the scalar g(x, t) is given.

With these ingredients, we are led to the inverse problem of finding a collection of the vector functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \mathbf{f}\}$, which satisfy the system

(4.2.2)
$$\mathbf{v}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + \mathbf{f}(x) g(x, t),$$
$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0, \qquad (x, t) \in Q_T,$$

the initial condition

(4.2.3)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,0) = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

the boundary condition

(4.2.4)
$$\mathbf{v}(x, t) = 0, \qquad (x, t) \in S_T,$$

and the conditions of final overdetermination

(4.2.5)
$$\mathbf{v}(x, T) = \boldsymbol{\varphi}(x), \qquad \nabla p(x, T) = \nabla \psi(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

provided that the functions $g, \varphi, \nabla \psi$ and the coefficient ν are given.

We list the basic trends of further development. As a first step towards the solution of this problem, we are going to derive an operator equation of the second kind for f. If we succeed in showing that the resulting equation is equivalent to the inverse problem posed above, the question of the solvability of the inverse problem and the uniqueness of its solution will reduce to the study of an operator equation of the second kind.

In this regard, it is necessary to give a rigorous definition for a solution of the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5).

Definition 4.2.1 A collection of functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \mathbf{f}\}$ is called a generalized solution of the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5) if (4.2.2)-(4.2.5) are fulfilled, $\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T) \cap \mathbf{J}(Q_T)$, $\mathbf{f} \in \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$, $\nabla p(\cdot, t) \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega)$ for each t from the segment [0, T] and continuously depends on t in the $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ -norm on [0, T].

Furthermore, assume that $g, g_t \in C(\bar{Q}_T)$ and $|g(x, T)| \geq g_T > 0$ for each $x \in \bar{\Omega}$. By relating $\mathbf{f} \in \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ to be fixed we might treat (4.2.2)– (4.2.4) as the system corresponding to the direct problem of finding a pair of the vector functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$. Theorem 4.1.2 implies that $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ with this property exists and is unique. Observe that the function $\mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t)$ is continuous in the $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ -norm on the segment [0, T], since

$$(\mathbf{F}_1)_t = \mathbf{f} g_t \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$$

This provides reason enough to appeal in subsequent studies to the linear operator

$$A: \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega) \mapsto \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$$

with the values

where **v** has been found as the function involved in the solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ of the system (4.2.2)-(4.2.4) in the sense indicated above and associated with the function **f**.

We now consider in $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ a linear operator equation of the second kind for such a function \mathbf{f} :

$$\mathbf{f} = A \mathbf{f} + \boldsymbol{\chi},$$

where $\boldsymbol{\chi}$ from the space $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ is given.

The first theorem provides a framework in which the solvability of equation (4.2.7) implies that of the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5) and vice versa.

Theorem 4.2.1 Let

$$\begin{split} g,\,g_t &\in \mathcal{C}(\bar{Q}_{_T})\,, \quad |\,g(x,\,T)\,| \geq g_{_T} > 0 \quad for \quad x \in \bar{\Omega}\,, \\ \varphi &\in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}{}_2^1(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)\,, \qquad \nabla\,\psi \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega)\,, \end{split}$$

and

(4.2.8)
$$\boldsymbol{\chi} = \frac{1}{g(\boldsymbol{x}, T)} \left(-\nu \Delta \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \right).$$

Then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) if the linear equation (4.2.7) is uniquely solvable, then so is the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5);
- (b) if there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5) and this solution is unique, then the linear equation has a unique solution.

Proof To prove item a) we assume that (4.2.8) holds and (4.2.7) has a unique solution, say **f**. Upon substituting **f** into (4.2.2) we make use of the system (4.2.2)-(4.2.4) for finding a pair of the functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ as the solution of the direct problem corresponding to the external force function $\mathbf{F}_1 = \mathbf{f}(x) g(x, t)$.

Theorem 4.1.2 yields the existence of a unique pair $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ solving the direct problem at hand. By the same token, $\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T) \cap \mathbf{\mathring{J}}(Q_T)$ and $\nabla p \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$. As $\mathbf{F}_1, (\mathbf{F}_1)_t \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$, the functions \mathbf{v} and ∇p obey some nice properties such as $\mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t), \Delta \mathbf{v}(\cdot, t) \in \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ and $\nabla p(\cdot, t) \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega)$, which fit our purposes. Moreover, $\mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t), \Delta \mathbf{v}(\cdot, t)$ and $\nabla p(\cdot, t)$ are continuous in the $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ -norm as the functions of the argument t on the segment [0, T].

We claim that v and ∇p so constructed are subject to the conditions of the final overdetermination (4.2.5). Indeed,

$$\varphi_1 \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega), \qquad \nabla \psi_1 \in \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$$

and

(4.2.9)
$$\mathbf{v}_t(x, T) - \nu \Delta \varphi_1 = -\nabla \psi_1 + \mathbf{f}(x) g(x, T)$$

if we agree to consider

$$\mathbf{v}(x,\,T)=\boldsymbol{\varphi}_1(x)$$

 and

$$abla p(x, T) =
abla \psi_1(x)$$

On the other hand, (4.2.7)-(4.2.8) together imply that

(4.2.10)
$$g(x, T) A \mathbf{f} - \nu \Delta \varphi = -\nabla \psi + \mathbf{f}(x) g(x, T).$$

By successively applying (4.2.6), (4.2.9) and (4.2.10) it is not difficult to verify that the functions $\varphi - \varphi_1$ and $\nabla(\psi - \psi_1)$ satisfy the system of stationary linear equations

(4.2.11)
$$-\nu \Delta (\varphi - \varphi_1) = -\nabla (\psi - \psi_1), \quad \operatorname{div} (\varphi - \varphi_1) = 0, \quad x \in \Omega,$$

supplied by the boundary condition

(4.2.12)
$$(\boldsymbol{\varphi} - \boldsymbol{\varphi}_1)(x) = 0, \quad x \in \partial \Omega.$$

Taking the scalar product of both sides of the first equation (4.2.11) and $\varphi - \varphi_1$ in $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$, we obtain $\nu || (\varphi - \varphi_1)_x ||_{2,\Omega}^2 = 0$, what means that $\varphi = \varphi_1$ and $\nabla \psi = \nabla \psi_1$ almost everywhere in Ω . This provides support for decision-making that the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5) is solvable.

Assuming that the solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \mathbf{f}\}$ of the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5) is nonunique, it is plain to show the nonuniqueness of the solution of (4.2.7) when $\boldsymbol{\chi}$ happens to be of the form (4.2.8). But this contradicts the initial assumption.

We proceed to prove item b). Let the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5) have a unique solution, say $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \mathbf{f}\}$. Since $\mathbf{F}_1 = \mathbf{f} g$ and $(\mathbf{F}_1)_t = \mathbf{f} g_t$ belong to the space $\mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$, we shall need as yet the smoothness properties of $\mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t)$, $\Delta \mathbf{v}(\cdot, t)$ and $\nabla p(\cdot, t)$ arguing as in the proof of item a).

When system (4.2.2) is considered at t = T, we have

$$\mathbf{v}_t(x, T) - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v}(x, T) = -\nabla p(x, T) + \mathbf{f}(x) g(x, T)$$

and, because of (4.2.5),

$$\mathbf{v}_t(x, T) -
u \Delta \varphi = -
abla \psi + \mathbf{f}(x) g(x, T)$$

From (4.2.6) it follows that $A \mathbf{f} = \mathbf{f} + \boldsymbol{\chi}$, where

$$\boldsymbol{\chi} = \frac{1}{g(\boldsymbol{x}, T)} \left(\nu \Delta \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \nabla \psi \right).$$

With this relation established, we can deduce that there exists a solution of (4.2.7). On the contrary, let (4.2.7) will have more than one solution. In just the same way as we did in item a) there is no difficulty to find that problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5) can have more than one solution. But this contradicts the initial assumption and thereby proves the assertion of the theorem.

In the following theorem we impose rather mild restrictions on the input data and prove on their basis the existence and uniqueness of the solution of problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5).

Theorem 4.2.2 Let

$$\begin{split} g, \ g_t &\in \mathcal{C}(\bar{Q}_T) \,, \quad | \ g(x, T) \,| \ge g_T > 0 \quad for \quad x \in \bar{\Omega} \,, \\ \varphi &\in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}{}_2^1(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}{}^1(\Omega) \,, \qquad \nabla \ \psi \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega) \end{split}$$

and let

$$(4.2.13) m_1 < 1,$$

where

$$m_{1} = \frac{1}{g_{T}} \left[\sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, 0)| \exp \{-\nu T/c_{1}(\Omega)\} + \int_{0}^{T} -\exp \{-\nu (T-t)/c_{1}(\Omega)\} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g_{t}(x, t)| dt \right]$$

and $c_1(\Omega)$ is the constant from the Poincaré-Friedrichs inequality (see (4.2.21) below). Then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5), this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the estimates

(4.2.14)
$$\|\mathbf{f}\|_{2,\Omega} \leq \frac{1}{(1-m_1)g_T} \| -\nu\Delta\varphi + \nabla\psi\|_{2,\Omega},$$

(4.2.15) $\|\mathbf{v}\|_{2,Q_T}^{(2,1)} + \|\nabla p\|_{2,Q_T} \leq \frac{\tilde{c}}{(1-m_1)g_T} \| -\nu\Delta\varphi + \nabla\psi\|_{2,\Omega}$
 $\times \left(\int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x\in\Omega} |g(x,t)|^2 dt\right)^{1/2}$

are valid with constant \tilde{c} from (4.1.6).

Proof Before we undertake the proof, it will be useful to reveal some remarkable properties of the direct problem (4.1.3)-(4.1.5), due to which an important a priori estimate for the operator A is obtained.

If the conditions of Theorem 4.1.2 are supplied by

$$\left(\mathbf{F}_{1}\right)_{t} \in \mathbf{L}_{2,1}(Q_{T}), \qquad \mathbf{a}_{1} \in \mathbf{W}_{2}^{2}(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$$

then **v** will possess extra differential properties. When this is the case, we know from Ladyzhenskaya (1966) that the derivative $\mathbf{v}_t \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{V}}_2^{1,0}(Q_T)$ gives

a solution of the system

(4.2.16) $\mathbf{w}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{w} = \nabla q + \mathbf{F}^*$, div $\mathbf{w} = 0$, $(x, t) \in Q_T$, (4.2.17) $\mathbf{w}(x, 0) = \mathbf{a}^*(x)$, $x \in \Omega$, (4.2.18) $\mathbf{w}(x, t) = 0$, $x \in S_T$,

which is satisfied by \mathbf{v}_t in the sense of the integral identity:

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} (-\mathbf{w} \cdot \Phi_{\tau} + \nu \mathbf{w}_{x} \cdot \Phi_{x}) dx d\tau$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{w}(x,t) \cdot \Phi(x,t) dx - \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{a}^{*} \cdot \Phi(x,0) dx$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{F}^{*} \cdot \Phi dx d\tau, \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

 $\forall \Phi: \Phi \in \mathbf{W}_{2}^{1,1}(Q_{T}) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(Q_{T}), \qquad \Phi(x, t) = 0, \qquad (x, t) \in S_{T}.$

Here we accepted

$$\mathbf{F}^* = \left(\mathbf{F}_1\right)_t, \qquad \mathbf{a}^* = P_{\mathbf{J}}(\nu \Delta \mathbf{a}_1 + \mathbf{F}_1(x, 0))$$

and $P_{\mathbf{J}}$ is the orthogonal projector of $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ onto $\mathbf{\ddot{J}}(\Omega)$.

Moreover, any solution **w** of problem (4.2.16)-(4.2.18) from $\overset{\circ}{\mathbf{V}}_{2}^{1,0}(Q_T)$ possesses the generalized derivatives \mathbf{w}_t and $\mathbf{w}_{x_ix_j}$, which are square summable on $\Omega \times [\varepsilon, T]$ for any ε from the interval (0, T) and the derivatives $\mathbf{w}_{x_i}(\cdot, t)$ are elements of $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ continuously depending on t in the $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ -norm for all $t \in [\varepsilon, T]$.

Let ε be an arbitrary fixed number from (0, T). In the light of differential properties of solutions to (4.2.16)-(4.2.18) we establish with the aid of the preceding integral identity the energy relation

$$(4.2.19) \quad \frac{1}{2} \quad \frac{d}{dt} \quad \| \mathbf{w}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \nu \| \mathbf{w}_{x}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} g_{t}(x,t) \mathbf{f}(x) \cdot \mathbf{w}(x,t) \, dx \,, \qquad 0 < \varepsilon \le t \le T \,,$$

4. Inverse Problems in Dynamics of Viscous Incompressible Fluid 216

from which it follows for $0 < \varepsilon \leq t \leq T$ that

$$(4.2.20) \quad \frac{d}{dt} \parallel \mathbf{w}(\cdot, t) \parallel_{2,\Omega} + \frac{\nu}{c_1(\Omega)} \parallel \mathbf{w}(\cdot, t) \parallel_{2,\Omega} \leq \parallel \mathbf{f}(\cdot) g_t(\cdot, t) \parallel_{2,\Omega}.$$

Here we used also the Poincaré-Friedrichs inequality

(4.2.21)
$$\| \mathbf{u} \|_{2,\Omega}^2 \leq c_1(\Omega) \| \mathbf{u}_x \|_{2,\Omega}^2$$

which is valid for any $\mathbf{u} \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}{}_{2}^{1}(\Omega)$ (see Temam (1979), Chapter 1, (1.9)) and a constant $c_1(\Omega)$ depending solely on Ω and bounded by the value $4 (\operatorname{diam} \Omega)^2$.

Multiplying both sides of (4.2.20) by exp $\{-\nu (T-t)/c_1(\Omega), \text{ integrat-}\}$ ing the resulting expressions with respect to t from ε to T and letting $\varepsilon \rightarrow 0$, we deduce that any solution of the system (4.2.16)-(4.2.18) satisfies the inequality

$$(4.2.22) \| \mathbf{w}(\cdot, T) \|_{2,\Omega} \leq \| \mathbf{a}^* \|_{2,\Omega} \exp \{ -\nu T/c_1(\Omega) \} \\ + \int_0^T \| \mathbf{f}(\cdot) g_t(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \exp \{ -\nu (T-t)/c_1(\Omega) \} dt.$$

Since $v_t \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{V}}_2^{1,0}(Q_r)$ solves problem (4.2.16)-(4.2.18), we thus have

$$\mathbf{w}(x,T) = \mathbf{v}_{t}(x,T),$$
 $\mathbf{a}^{*} = P_{\mathbf{J}}(\mathbf{f}(x) g(x,0)).$

Therefore, (4.2.22) implies that the linear operator A specified by (4.2.6)is bounded and admits the estimate

(4.2.23)
$$||A \mathbf{f}||_{2,\Omega} \leq m_1 ||\mathbf{f}||_{2,\Omega}, \qquad \mathbf{f} \in \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega).$$

where m_1 is taken from (4.2.13).

As $m_1 < 1$, the linear operator equation (4.2.7) has a unique solution for any χ from the space $L_2(\Omega)$ and, in particular, we might agree with

$$\boldsymbol{\chi} = (-\nu \,\Delta \,\boldsymbol{\varphi} + \nabla \,\psi)/g(x, \,T)\,,$$

for which (4.2.14) holds true and Theorem 4.2.1 implies the existence and uniqueness of the solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \mathbf{f}\}$ of the inverse problem (4.2.2)–(4.2.5). Estimate (4.2.15) immediately follows from (4.1.6) and (4.2.14). This completes the proof of the theorem.

To illustrate the results obtained it is worth noting three things.

Remark 4.2.1 Suppose that under the conditions of Theorem 4:2.2 the function g depends only on t under the constraints

 $g, g' \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]), \qquad g(t) \ge 0, \qquad g'(t) \ge 0, \qquad g(T) \ne 0.$

In this case $m_1 < 1$ for any T > 0 and Theorem 4.2.2 turns out to be of global character. That is to say, the inverse problem (4.2.2)–(4.2.5) with these input data is uniquely solvable for any T, $0 < T < \infty$.

Remark 4.2.2 If

$$g = g(t), \qquad g, g' \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]), \qquad g(T) \neq 0,$$

then the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5) can be investigated by the method of separating variables by means of which it is plain to expand its solution in the Fourier series with respect to the eigenfunctions of the **Stokes operator** $\nu P_{\mathbf{J}} \Delta$. If this happens, the function **f** is sought in the space $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ assuming that both components $P_{\mathbf{J}}\mathbf{f}$ and $P_{\mathbf{G}}\mathbf{f}$ in the subspaces $\mathbf{\hat{J}}(\Omega)$ and $\mathbf{G}(\Omega)$, respectively, are, generally speaking, nontrivial (recall that $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega) = \mathbf{\hat{J}}(\Omega) \oplus \mathbf{G}(\Omega)$).

Remark 4.2.3 Once the function g depends only on t, it will be possible to impose the condition of the final overdetermination (4.2.5) omitting the information about the final value of the pressure gradient $\nabla p(x,T)$. In other words, the final overdetermination contains $\mathbf{v}(x,T) = \varphi(x)$ and no more. However, in this case we look for the function \mathbf{f} in the space $\mathbf{J}(\Omega)$.

In conclusion an example is given as one possible application.

Example 4.2.1 Consider the inverse problem of determining a collection of functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \mathbf{f}\}$, which satisfy the set of relations

- (4.2.24) $\mathbf{v}_t \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + \mathbf{f}(x), \quad \text{div } \mathbf{v} = 0, \quad (x, t) \in Q_T,$
- (4.2.25) $\mathbf{v}(x,0) = 0$, $x \in \Omega$,
- (4.2.26) $\mathbf{v}(x, t) = 0,$ $(x, t) \in S_{r},$
- $(4.2.27) \mathbf{v}(x, T) = \boldsymbol{\varphi}(x), x \in \Omega.$

In the case where $g(x, t) \equiv 1$ one can see that $m_1 < 1$. Therefore, Theorem 4.2.2 implies that there exists a unique solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \mathbf{f}\}$, which is of global character. The condition of the final overdetermination (4.2.27) contains only the value of \mathbf{v} at the final moment t = T. Therefore, according to Remark 4.2.3, the function \mathbf{f} should be sought in $\mathbf{J}(\Omega)$. We employ the method of separating variables that provides a powerful tool for finding a unique solution of the inverse problem (4.2.24)–(4.2.27) in an explicit form. It is well-known that all the eigenvalues of the Stokes operator are nonnegative, have finite multiplicity and tend to $-\infty$. The eigenfunctions of the Stokes operator $\{\mathbf{X}_k(x)\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ constitute a complete and orthogonal system in the metrics of the spaces $\mathbf{J}(\Omega)$ and $\mathbf{W}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{J}(\Omega)$. In the framework of the method of separating variables for the system (4.2.24)–(4.2.26) we thus have

(4.2.28)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{X}_k(x) \int_0^t f_k \exp\left\{-\lambda_k \left(t-\tau\right)\right\} d\tau$$

with

$$f_k = \int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{f}(x) \cdot \mathbf{X}_k(x) \ dx$$
.

With the aid of (4.2.27) and (4.2.28) we derive the expansion

(4.2.29)
$$\varphi(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda_k} \left[1 - \exp\left\{-\lambda_k T\right\} \right] f_k \mathbf{X}_k(x),$$

which implies that

$$(4.2.30) f_k = \lambda_k \varphi_k (1 - \exp\{-\lambda_k T\})^{-1},$$

where

$$arphi_k = \int\limits_{\Omega} \, arphi(x) \, \cdot \, \mathbf{X}_k(x) \, \, dx$$

Consequently, using (4.2.30) we find the formula

$$\mathbf{f}(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda_k}{1 - \exp\{-\lambda_k T\}} \varphi_k \mathbf{X}_k(x),$$

thereby representing the function \mathbf{f} only in terms of the input data of the inverse problem (4.2.24)-(4.2.27). The function \mathbf{v} admits for now expansion (4.2.28), so that the pressure gradient ∇p can be found from (4.2.24) by merely inserting \mathbf{v} and \mathbf{f} both.

More a detailed exploration of the properties of the operator A allows us to establish the following result. **Theorem 4.2.3** Let $g, g_t \in C(\bar{Q}_T)$ and $|g(x, T)| \ge g_T > 0$ for $x \in \bar{\Omega}$. Then the operator A is completely continuous on the space $L_2(\Omega)$.

Proof We again appeal to the differential properties of the solution **w** of problem (4.2.16)-(4.2.18) arguing as in the proof of Theorem 4.2.2. As usual, an arbitrary number ε from (0, T) is considered to be fixed. As far as $||\mathbf{w}_x(\cdot, t)||_{2,\Omega}$ is continuous on the segment $[\varepsilon, T]$, there is $\tau^* \in [\varepsilon, T]$ such that

(4.2.31)
$$\int_{\varepsilon}^{T} \|\mathbf{w}_{x}(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} dt = (T - \varepsilon) \|\mathbf{w}_{x}(\cdot, \tau^{*})\|_{2,\Omega}^{2}.$$

By means of the element $\mathbf{F}^* = \mathbf{f} g_t$ from the space $\mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$ it is straightforward to verify that the system (4.2.16) implies that

(4.2.32)
$$\int_{\tau^*}^T \int_{\Omega} \left| \mathbf{w}_t - \nu P_{\mathbf{J}} \Delta \mathbf{w} \right|^2 dx \ dt = \int_{\tau^*}^T \int_{\Omega} \left| P_{\mathbf{J}} \mathbf{F}^* \right|^2 dx \ dt \ .$$

With the aid of the equality

$$\int_{\tau^{\bullet}}^{T} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{w}_{t} \cdot \nu P_{\mathbf{J}} \Delta \mathbf{w} \, dx \, dt = -\frac{\nu}{2} \int_{\tau^{\bullet}}^{T} \frac{d}{dt} \| \mathbf{w}_{x}(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega}^{2} \, dt$$

it is reasonable to recast (4.2.32) as

$$(4.2.33) \quad \nu \| \mathbf{w}_{x}(\cdot, T) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \int_{\tau^{*}}^{T} \int_{\Omega} \left(|\mathbf{w}_{t}|^{2} + |\nu| P_{\mathbf{J}} \Delta \mathbf{w}|^{2} \right) dx \, dt$$
$$= \int_{\tau^{*}}^{T} \int_{\Omega} |P_{\mathbf{J}} \mathbf{F}^{*}|^{2} dx \, dt + \nu \| \mathbf{w}_{x}(\cdot, \tau^{*}) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$

From (4.2.31) and (4.2.33) we derive the inequality

(4.2.34)
$$\nu \| \mathbf{w}_{x}(\cdot, T) \|_{2, \Omega}^{2} \leq \| \mathbf{F}^{*} \|_{2, Q_{T}}^{2} + \frac{\nu}{T - \varepsilon} \| \mathbf{w}_{x} \|_{2, Q_{T}}^{2}.$$

As stated in Ladyzhenskaya (1970, p. 113]), (4.2.19) implies the estimate

(4.2.35)
$$\nu \| \mathbf{w}_x \|_{2, Q_T}^2 \leq \| \mathbf{a}^* \|_{2, \Omega}^2 + \frac{3}{2} \left(\int_0^T \| \mathbf{F}^*(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega}^2 dt \right)^2$$

with $\mathbf{F}^* = \mathbf{f}(x) g_t(x,t)$, $\mathbf{a}^* = P_{\mathbf{J}}(\mathbf{f}(x) g(x,0))$ and $\mathbf{w}(\cdot, T) = \mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, T)$. Using (4.2.34)-(4.2.35) behind we establish the relation

(4.2.36)
$$\|\mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot, T)\|_{2,\Omega}^2 \leq m_2 \|\mathbf{f}\|_{2,\Omega}^2,$$

yielding

$$(4.2.37) || (A \mathbf{f})_x ||_{2,\Omega}^2 \leq m_3 || \mathbf{f} ||_{2,\Omega},$$

where the constants m_2 and m_3 are independent of \mathbf{f} . On the other hand, the operator A acts, in fact, from $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ into $\overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega)$. In view of this, Rellich's theorem on compactness of the imbedding $\overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \subset \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ yields that the linear operator A is completely continuous on $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$, thereby proving the assertion of the theorem.

Corollary 4.2.1 Under the conditions of Theorem 4.2.3 the Fredholm alternative is true for equation (4.2.7).

It is to be hoped that this result adds interest and aim in understanding one specific property of the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5). It turns out that under certain restrictions on the input data the uniqueness of the solution of the inverse problem at hand implies its existence and stability. This property is known as the **Fredholm-type property** of the inverse problem and is much involved in subsequent reasoning.

Theorem 4.2.4 Let

$$\begin{split} g, \ g_t \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{Q}_T) \,, \quad | \ g(x, T) \, | \ge g_T > 0 \quad for \quad x \in \bar{\Omega} \,, \\ \varphi \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega) \,, \qquad \qquad \nabla \, \psi \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega) \,. \end{split}$$

Then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) if the linear homogeneous equation $A \mathbf{f} = \mathbf{f}$ admits a trivial solution only, then the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5) has a solution and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions;
- (b) if the uniqueness theorem for the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5) holds, then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.2.2)-(4.2.5) and this solution is unique.

The proof of Theorem 4.2.4 follows immediately from Theorem 4.2.1 and Corollary 4.2.1.

4.3 Nonstationary linearized system of Navier–Stokes equations: the integral overdetermination

We are much interested in the inverse problem involving the nonstationary linearized system of Navier–Stokes equations when the overdetermination condition is given in a certain integral form.

As in Subsection 4.2 an unknown vector function of the external force \mathbf{F}_1 is sought via the measurement of its indirect indications: the velocity of the flow \mathbf{v} and (or) the pressure gradient ∇p . In addition, \mathbf{F}_1 is taken to be

(4.3.1)
$$\mathbf{F}_1 = f(t) \mathbf{g}(x, t),$$

where f(t) is unknown, while g(x, t) is given.

With these assumptions, we may set up the inverse problem in which it is required to find a triple of the functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, f\}$, which satisfy the system

(4.3.2)
$$\mathbf{v}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + f(t) \mathbf{g}(x, t), \quad \text{div } \mathbf{v} = 0, \quad (x, t) \in Q_T,$$

the initial condition

(4.3.3)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,0) = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

the boundary condition

(4.3.4)
$$\mathbf{v}(x, t) = 0, \qquad (x, t) \in S_T,$$

and the integral overdetermination condition

(4.3.5)
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx = \varphi(t), \qquad 0 \leq t \leq T,$$

provided that the functions $\mathbf{g}, \boldsymbol{\omega}, \varphi$ and the coefficient ν are known in advance. We look for a solution of the inverse problem (4.3.2)-(4.3.5) in the class of functions

$$\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T) \bigcap \mathbf{\mathring{J}}(Q_T), \qquad \nabla p \in \mathbf{G}(Q_T), \qquad f \in C([0,T]).$$

The norm of the space C([0, T]) is defined by

(4.3.6)
$$||f||_C = \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\exp\{-\gamma t\} f(t)|,$$

where γ is a positive number which will be specified below.

In tackling problem (4.3.2)-(4.3.5) one might reasonably try to adapt the method ascribed to Prilepko and Vasin (1989a). Their methodology guides the derivation of a linear operator equation of the second kind for fand necessitates imposing the extra restrictions

$$\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}\left([0, T], \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)\right), \qquad \boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega), \qquad \varphi, \, \varphi' \in C([0, T]),$$
$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx \right| \ge g_0 > 0 \quad \text{for} \quad 0 \le t \le T \quad (g_0 \equiv \text{const})$$

When an arbitrary function f from $\mathcal{C}([0, T])$ is held fixed, the system (4.3.2)-(4.3.4) serves as a basis for recovering a pair of the functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ as a solution of the direct problem with the prescribed function \mathbf{g} and coefficient ν . In agreement with Theorem 4.1.2 there exists a unique solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ of problem (4.3.2)-(4.3.4)

$$\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{W}_{2,\,0}^{2,\,1}(Q_T) \, \bigcap \, \mathring{\mathbf{J}}(Q_T) \,, \qquad \qquad \nabla \, p \in \mathbf{G}(Q_T) \,,$$

it being understood that any function f from the space C([0, T]) is associated with the unique function \mathbf{v} thus obtained. The traditional way of covering this is to introduce the linear operator

$$A_1: C([0, T]) \mapsto C([0, T])$$

acting in accordance with the rule

(4.3.7)
$$(A_1 f)(t) = -\frac{\nu}{g_1(t)} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega} \, dx \, ,$$

where

$$g_1(t) = \int\limits_{\Omega} g(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \ dx$$

and **v** is the function involved in the solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ of the system (4.3.2)-(4.3.4), the meaning of which we have discussed above.

Our further step is to consider the linear operator equation of the second kind over the space C([0, T]):

(4.3.8)
$$f = A_1 f + h_1$$
, where $h_1 = \frac{\varphi'(t)}{g_1(t)}$.

Theorem 4.3.1 Let

$$\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}\left([0, T], \mathbf{L}_{2}(\Omega)\right), \qquad \boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_{2}^{2}(\Omega) \bigcap \mathbf{\mathring{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \bigcap \mathbf{\mathring{J}}(\Omega),$$
$$\varphi, \varphi' \in C([0, T]), \varphi(0) = 0, \quad \left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx \right| \ge g_{0} > 0 \text{ for } t \in [0, T].$$

Then for a solution of the inverse problem (4.3.2)-(4.3.5) to exist it is necessary and sufficient that equation (4.3.8) is solvable.

Proof We first prove the necessity. Let the inverse problem (4.3.2)–(4.3.5) possess a solution, say $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, f\}$. Taking the scalar product in $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ between $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ and both sides of the first equation (4.3.2) we arrive at

(4.3.9)
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_t \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega} \, dx - \nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega} \, dx = f(t) \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega} \, dx,$$

recalling that

$$\int\limits_{\Omega}
abla p(x, t) \cdot oldsymbol{\omega}(x) \ dx = 0 \quad ext{for} \quad oldsymbol{\omega} \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega) \, .$$

From (4.3.9), (4.3.5) and (4.3.7) we conclude that f solves the equation

$$f = A_1 f + h_1.$$

But this means that (4.3.8) is solvable.

Proceeding to the proof of the sufficiency we suppose that equation (4.3.8) possesses a solution, say $f \in C([0, T])$. By Theorem 4.1.2 on the unique solvability of the direct problem we are able to recover $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ as the solution of (4.3.2)-(4.3.4) associated with f, so that it remains to show that the function \mathbf{v} satisfies the overdetermination condition (4.3.5). Under the agreement

$$\int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,\,t)\,\cdot\,oldsymbol{\omega}(x)\,\,dx=arphi_1(t)\,,\qquad t\in [0,\,T]\,,$$

it is not difficult to check that the initial condition (4.3.3) gives $\varphi_1(0) = 0$. By exactly the same reasoning as in the derivation of (4.3.9) we find that

(4.3.10)
$$f = A_1 f + \varphi_1'(t)/g_1(t).$$

4. Inverse Problems in Dynamics of Viscous Incompressible Fluid

On the other hand,

(4.3.11)
$$f = A_1 f + \varphi'(t)/g_1(t),$$

which is consistent with the initial assumption.

From such reasoning it seems clear that the combination of (4.3.10) and (4.3.11) gives

$$\varphi_1'(t) = \varphi'(t)$$

for $t \in [0, T]$. By the same token,

$$\varphi_1(0) = \varphi(0) = 0 \,,$$

yielding

$$\varphi_1(t) = \varphi(t)$$

for $t \in [0, T]$. This provides support for the view that $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, f\}$ is just a solution of the inverse problem (4.3.2)–(4.3.5).

In the next theorem we establish sufficient conditions under which the inverse problem solution can be shown to exist and to be unique.

Theorem 4.3.2 Let

$$\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}\left([0, T], \mathbf{L}_{2}(\Omega)\right), \qquad \boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_{2}^{2}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega),$$
$$\varphi, \varphi' \in C([0, T]), \varphi(0) = 0, \quad \left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx \right| \ge g_{0} > 0 \text{ for } t \in [0, T].$$

Then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.3.2)-(4.3.5), this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the estimates hold:

- $(4.3.12) ||f||_C \leq m_1 ||\varphi'||_C,$
- $(4.3.13) \|\mathbf{v}\|_{2,Q_T}^{(2,1)} + \|\nabla p\|_{2,Q_T} \leq m_2 \|\varphi'\|_C,$

where the constants m_1 and m_2 depend only on the input data of the inverse problem under consideration.

Proof It follows from relation (4.3.7) specifying the operator A_1 that

$$(4.3.14) ||A_1 f||_C \leq \frac{1}{g_0} \nu ||\Delta \omega||_{2,\Omega} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left(\exp\{-\gamma t\} ||\mathbf{v}(\cdot,t)||_{2,\Omega} \right).$$

Taking the scalar product in the space $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ between \mathbf{v} and the first equation (4.3.2) we establish the relation known as the **energy identity**:

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| \mathbf{v}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 + \nu \| \mathbf{v}_x(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 = f(t) \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, dx$$

which implies the inequality

$$\frac{d}{dt} \| \mathbf{v}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \leq \| f(t) \mathbf{g}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}, \qquad 0 \leq t \leq T.$$

Integrating over τ from 0 to t the resulting expression yields

 $(4.3.15) \quad \| \mathbf{v}(\,\cdot\,,t) \,\|_{2,\,\Omega}$

$$\leq \|\mathbf{v}(\,\cdot\,,\,0)\,\|_{2,\,\Omega} + \sup_{t\in[0,\,T]} \|\mathbf{g}(\,\cdot\,,\,t)\,\|_{2,\,\Omega} \int_{0}^{t} |f(\tau)| \,\,d\tau\,.$$

Putting these together with the initial condition (4.3.3) we obtain the estimate

$$(4.3.16) || A_1 f ||_C \le m_3 || f ||_C,$$

where

$$m_{3} = \frac{\nu}{\gamma g_{0}} \|\Delta \mathbf{w}\|_{2,\Omega} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{g}(\cdot,t)\|_{2,\Omega}.$$

For the moment, we choose γ so that

$$(4.3.17)$$
 $m_3 < 1$

From (4.3.16) and (4.3.17) we deduce that there exists a unique solution to equation (4.3.8) in $\mathcal{C}([0, T])$ and (4.3.12) holds true. Relations (4.1.6) and (4.3.12) imply estimate (4.3.13). Due to Theorem 4.3.1 the inverse problem (4.3.2)-(4.3.5) has a solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, f\}$. In order to prove its uniqueness, assume to the contrary that there were two distinct collections $\{\mathbf{v}_1, \nabla p_1, f_1\}$ and $\{\mathbf{v}_2, \nabla p_2, f_2\}$ both solving the inverse problem (4.3.2)-(4.3.5). We claim that f_1 does not coincide with f_2 , since otherwise \mathbf{v}_1 and ∇p_1 would be equal to \mathbf{v}_2 and ∇p_2 , respectively, due to the uniqueness theorem for the direct problem related to the system (4.3.2)-(4.3.4). Repeating the same arguments adopted in the development of (4.3.9) for these specific cases we see that both functions f_1 and f_2 satisfy (4.3.8). But this contradicts the solution uniqueness established above for the governing equation, thereby completing the proof of the theorem. In practical applications of advanced theory one could require to measure the pressure gradient ∇p instead of the flow velocity **v**. In that case the statement of the inverse problem is somewhat different (see Vasin (1992b)) and necessitates seeking a collection of the functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, f\}$, which satisfy in Q_T the system

$$(4.3.18) \quad \mathbf{v}_t - \nu \,\Delta \,\mathbf{v} = -\nabla \,p + f(t) \,\mathbf{g}(x, t), \quad \text{div } \mathbf{v} = 0, \quad (x, t) \in Q_T,$$

the initial condition

(4.3.19)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,0) = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

the boundary condition

(4.3.20)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,t) = 0, \qquad (x,t) \in S_{r},$$

and the condition of integral overdetermination

(4.3.21)
$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla p(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\chi}(x) \, dx = \psi(t)$$

provided that the functions g, χ, ψ and the coefficient ν are given.

In a common setting we look for a solution of (4.3.18)–(4.3.21) in the class of functions

$$\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T) \cap \mathbf{J}(Q_T), \qquad f \in C([0,T]), \qquad \nabla p \in \mathbf{G}(Q_T),$$

under the agreement that the integral

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla p(x,t) \Phi(x) \ dx$$

is continuous in $t \in [0, T]$ for any $\Phi \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}{}_{2}^{1}(\Omega)$. In addition, one supposes that

$$\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}\left([0, T], \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)\right), \qquad \boldsymbol{\chi} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega), \qquad \psi \in C([0, T]),$$
$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\chi}(x) \, dx \right| \ge g_0 > 0, \qquad 0 \le t \le T \qquad (g_0 \equiv \text{const}).$$

4.3. Navier-Stokes equations: the integral overdetermination

On the same grounds as in the derivation of (4.3.8), we involve in the further development the linear operator

$$A_2: C([0, T]) \mapsto C([0, T])$$

acting in accordance with the rule

(4.3.22)
$$(A_2 f)(t) = -\frac{\nu}{g_2(t)} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x, t) \cdot \Delta \chi(x) dx$$

where

$$g_2(t) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\chi}(x) \ dx$$

In the theorem below we establish the conditions under which the linear operator equation of the second kind

$$(4.3.23) f = A_2 f + h_2$$

with $h_2 = -\psi(t)/g_2(t)$ is equivalent to the inverse problem at hand.

Theorem 4.3.3 Let

$$\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}\left([0, T], \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)
ight), \quad \boldsymbol{\chi} \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega),$$
 $\psi \in C([0, T]), \quad \left| \int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\chi}(x) \ dx \right| \ge g_0 > 0, \quad 0 \le t \le T.$

Then for a solution of the inverse problem (4.3.18)-(4.3.21) to exist it is necessary and sufficient that there exists a solution to equation (4.3.23).

Proof We proceed to prove the necessity. Let the inverse problem (4.3.18)–(4.3.21) admit a solution, say $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, f\}$. In dealing with $\mathbf{v}_t \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(Q_T)$ and $\boldsymbol{\chi} \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega)$ we can show that the system (4.3.18) implies that

(4.3.24)
$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla p(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\chi}(x) \, dx = \nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \Delta \boldsymbol{\chi}(x) \, dx + f(t) \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\chi}(x) \, dx,$$

since

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_t(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\chi}(x) \ dx = 0 \, .$$

Observe that the function on the left-hand side of (4.3.24) is continuous on the segment [0, T]. This is due to the fact that

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\Omega} \left(\nabla p(x, t + \Delta t) - \nabla p(x, t) \right) \cdot \chi(x) \, dx \right| \\ & \leq \nu \left\| \Delta \chi \right\|_{2, \Omega} \cdot \left\| \mathbf{v}(\cdot, t + \Delta t) - \mathbf{v}(\cdot, t) \right\|_{2, \Omega} \\ & + \left\| f(t + \Delta t) \right\| \left\| \chi \right\|_{2, \Omega} \cdot \left\| \mathbf{g}(\cdot, t + \Delta t) - \mathbf{g}(\cdot, t) \right\|_{2, \Omega} \\ & + \left\| \mathbf{g}(\cdot, t) \right\|_{2, \Omega} \cdot \left\| \chi \right\|_{2, \Omega} \left\| f(t + \Delta t) - f(t) \right\|, \end{split}$$

where $f \in C([0, T])$ and $\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T)$.

With relation (4.3.22) in view, which specifies the operator A_2 , we deduce that (4.3.24) yields $f = A_2 f + h_2$. This proves the necessity.

The sufficiency can be established in a similar way as in the proof of Theorem 4.3.1 and the details are omitted here. Thus, the theorem is completely proved. \blacksquare

Theorem 4.3.4 Let

$$\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}\left([0, T], \mathbf{L}_{2}(\Omega)\right), \qquad \qquad \boldsymbol{\chi} \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{W}_{2}^{2}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega),$$
$$\psi \in C([0, T]), \qquad \left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\chi}(x) \ dx \right| \ge g_{0} > 0, \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.3.18)-(4.3.21), this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and the estimates hold:

- $(4.3.25) || f ||_C \le m_4 || \psi ||_C,$
- $(4.3.26) \|\mathbf{v}\|_{2,Q_T}^{(2,1)} + \|\nabla p\|_{2,Q_T} \le m_5 \|\psi\|_C,$

where m_4 and m_5 are the constants depending only on the input data of the inverse problem under consideration.

4.3. Navier-Stokes equations: the integral overdetermination

Proof We rely on the estimate for the operator A_2 specified by (4.3.22):

(4.3.27)
$$|(A_2 f)(t)| \leq \frac{\nu}{g_0} ||\Delta \chi||_{2,\Omega} \cdot ||\mathbf{v}(\cdot, t)||_{2,\Omega}.$$

Relations (4.3.16) and (4.3.27) together imply the inequality

$$(4.3.28) || A_2 f ||_C \le m_6 || f ||_C,$$

where

$$m_6 = \frac{\nu}{\gamma g_0} \|\Delta \boldsymbol{\chi}\|_{2,\Omega} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\mathbf{g}(\cdot,t)\|_{2,\Omega}.$$

Arguing as in the proof of Theorem 4.3.2 we conclude that the inverse problem (4.3.18)–(4.3.21) has a solution and this solution is unique. Estimate (4.3.26) follows from (4.1.4) and (4.3.25).

It is worth noting here that the results set forth in this section can easily be generalized for the linearized Navier–Stokes equations of rather general form where the system (4.3.2) will be replaced by

(4.3.29)
$$\mathbf{v}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} + \sum_{k=1}^n B_k(x,t) \mathbf{v}_{x_k} + A(x,t) \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + f(t) \mathbf{g}(x,t),$$
$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0, \qquad (x,t) \in Q_T,$$

where B_k and A are given $(n \times n)$ -matrices with entries b_k^{ij} and a^{ij} , respectively. Once again, the initial and boundary conditions as well as the overdetermination condition are prescribed by (4.3.3)-(4.3.5). As an axample we cite here the theorem proved by Vasin (1992a).

Theorem 4.3.5 Let b_k^{ij} , $a^{ij} \in C([0, T], L_4(\Omega))$, $\mathbf{b}^{ij} \in \mathbf{J}(Q_T)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\varphi \in C^1([0, T])$, $\varphi(0) = 0$, $\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega))$ and let the inequality

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x,t) \, \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx \right| \geq g_0 > 0 \qquad (g_0 = \mathrm{const}), \quad 0 \leq t \leq T,$$

hold. Then a solution

$$\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T) \cap \mathbf{\mathring{J}}(Q_T), \qquad \nabla p \in \mathbf{G}(Q_T), \qquad f \in C([0,T])$$

of the inverse problem (4.3.29), (4.3.3)-(4.3.5) exists, is unique and has estimates (4.3.12)-(4.3.13).

A similar result is still valid in the case where the overdetermination condition is of the form (4.3.21). Here \mathbf{b}^{ij} refers to the vector with components b_k^{ij} (k = 1, 2 or k = 1, 2, 3). The symbol $\mathbf{J}(Q_T)$ stands for the subspace of $\mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$ consisting of all vector functions belonging to $\mathbf{J}(\Omega)$ for almost all $t \in [0, T]$. The space $\mathbf{J}(\Omega)$ contains the $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ -vectors being orthogonal to all vectors like $\nabla \psi$ for $\psi \in \mathbf{W}_2^1(\Omega)$.

4.4 Nonstationary nonlinear system of Navier–Stokes equations: three-dimensional flow

We begin by placing the statement of the inverse problem for the system (4.1.8) assuming that the vector function \mathbf{F}_2 involved in (4.1.8) is representable by

$$\mathbf{F}_2 = \mathbf{f}(x) \ g(x, t) \,,$$

where g(x, t) is a given scalar function and f(x) is an unknown vector function.

The inverse problem here is to find a triple of the vector functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \mathbf{f}\}$, which satisfy in Q_T the nonstationary nonlinear Navier-Stokes system

(4.4.1)
$$\mathbf{v}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} + (\mathbf{v}, \nabla) \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + \mathbf{f}(x) g(x, t),$$
$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0, \qquad (x, t) \in Q_T,$$

the initial condition

$$(4.4.2) \mathbf{v}(x, 0) = \mathbf{a}(x), x \in \Omega,$$

the boundary condition

(4.4.3)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,t) = 0, \qquad (x,t) \in S_T,$$

and the final overdetermination conditions

(4.4.4)
$$\mathbf{v}(x, T) = \boldsymbol{\varphi}(x), \qquad \nabla p(x, T) = \nabla \psi(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

provided that the functions $\mathbf{a}, \varphi, \nabla \psi, g$ and the coefficient ν are given. By a solution of the inverse problem (4.4.1)–(4.4.4) we mean a triple $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \mathbf{f}\}$ such that

$$\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T) \bigcap \mathring{\mathbf{J}}(Q_T), \qquad \mathbf{f} \in \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega), \qquad \nabla p(\,\cdot\,,\,t) \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega)$$

4.4. Navier-Stokes equations: three-dimensional flow

for any $t \in [0, T]$ and it continuously depends on t in the $L_2(\Omega)$ -norm on the segment [0, T] and, in addition, all of the relations (4.4.1)-(4.4.4) occur.

Throughout Section 4.4, we will assume that the dimension of the domain of spatial variables Ω is equal to 3, that is, $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^3$. First, we are going to derive some stability estimates for the solutions of the system (4.1.8)-(4.1.10). Let $\mathbf{v}' = \mathbf{v}'(x, t)$ and $\mathbf{v}'' = \mathbf{v}''(x, t)$ be the solutions of the system (4.1.8)-(4.1.10) corresponding to the initial velocities \mathbf{a}_2' , \mathbf{a}_2'' and the external forces \mathbf{F}_2' , \mathbf{F}_2'' , respectively. The function \mathbf{v}' is subject to the integral identity

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_{t}' \cdot \Phi \ dx + \nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_{x}' \cdot \Phi_{x} \ dx + \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{v}', \nabla) \mathbf{v}' \cdot \Phi \ dx = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{F}_{2}' \cdot \Phi \ dx ,$$

where Φ is an arbitrary function from the space $\mathbf{W}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{J}(\Omega)$.

A similar relation remains valid with regard to the function \mathbf{v}'' . Therefore, by subtracting the first identity from the second we deduce that

$$(4.4.5) \qquad \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')_t \cdot \Phi \, dx + \nu \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')_x \cdot \Phi_x \, dx$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{v}', \nabla) (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'') \cdot \Phi \, dx$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'', \nabla) \mathbf{v}'' \cdot \Phi \, dx$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{F}_2' - \mathbf{F}_2'') \cdot \Phi \, dx, \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Since $\mathbf{v}'(\cdot, t)$ and $\mathbf{v}''(\cdot, t)$ both are located in $\mathring{\mathbf{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, it is meaningful to substitute $\Phi = \mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}''$ into (4.4.5). The outcome of this is

(4.4.6)
$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega}^{2} + \nu \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')_{x}(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega}^{2}$$

$$= -\int_{\Omega} \left(\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'', \nabla \right) \mathbf{v}'' \cdot \left(\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'' \right) \, dx + \int_{\Omega} \left(\mathbf{F}_2' - \mathbf{F}_2'' \right) \cdot \left(\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'' \right) \, dx \, .$$

With the aid of the relation

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\mathbf{v}', \nabla \right) \left(\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'' \right) \cdot \left(\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'' \right) \, dx = 0$$
4. Inverse Problems in Dynamics of Viscous Incompressible Fluid we estimate the first term on the right-hand side of (4.4.6) by

(4.4.7)
$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \left(\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'', \nabla \right) \mathbf{v}'' \cdot \left(\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'' \right) dx \right|$$
$$\leq \left\| \mathbf{v}_{x}''(\cdot, t) \right\|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \left\| \left(\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'' \right)(\cdot, t) \right\|_{4,\Omega}^{2}.$$

Recall that, being an element of the space $\mathring{\mathbf{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega)$ (see Ladyzhenskaya (1970, p. 20)), any function \mathbf{u} (if $\Omega \in \mathbf{R}^{3}$) is subject to the following relation:

(4.4.8)
$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{4,\Omega}^4 \leq (4/3)^{3/2} \|\mathbf{u}\|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \|\mathbf{u}_x\|_{2,\Omega}^3.$$

This approach applies equally well to the second factor on the right-hand side of (4.4.7). As a final result we get

(4.4.9)

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'', \nabla) \mathbf{v}'' \cdot (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'') dx \right|$$

$$\leq \left(\frac{4}{3} \right)^{3/2} \|\mathbf{v}_{x}''(\cdot, t)\|_{2, \Omega} \cdot \|(\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')(\cdot, t)\|_{2, \Omega}^{1/2}$$

$$\times \|(\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')_{x}(\cdot, t)\|_{2, \Omega}^{3/2}$$

$$\leq \frac{3}{4} \varepsilon^{4/3} \|(\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')_{x}(\cdot, t)\|_{2, \Omega}^{2}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4\varepsilon^{4}} \left(\frac{4}{3} \right)^{3} \|\mathbf{v}_{x}''(\cdot, t)\|_{2, \Omega}^{4}$$

$$\times \|(\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')(\cdot, t)\|_{2, \Omega}^{2},$$

where ε is free to be chosen among positive constants.

In the derivation of the last estimate in (4.4.9) we used Young's inequality

$$ab \leq m^{-1} \varepsilon^m a^m + (m-1) m^{-1} \varepsilon^{-m/(m-1)} b^{m/(m-1)}$$

which is valid for any positive a, b, ε and m > 1. Upon substituting (4.4.9)

into (4.4.6) with
$$\varepsilon = \left(\frac{\nu}{2} \cdot \frac{4}{3}\right)^{3/4}$$
 we arrive at the chain of relations
(4.4.10) $\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 + \nu \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')_x(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2$
 $\leq \frac{\nu}{2} \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')_x(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2$
 $+ \frac{2}{\nu^3} \| \mathbf{v}_x''(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^4 \cdot \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2$
 $+ \| (\mathbf{F}_2' - \mathbf{F}_2'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2$

which imply that

$$(4.4.11) \qquad \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \frac{\nu}{2} \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')_{x}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$

$$\leq \frac{2}{\nu^{3}} \| \mathbf{v}_{x}''(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{4} \cdot \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$

$$+ \| (\mathbf{F}_{2}' - \mathbf{F}_{2}'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}.$$

By appeal to Gronwall's lemma we obtain from (4.4.11) the first stability estimate

$$(4.4.12) \quad \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \leq \exp\left\{\frac{2}{\nu^3} \int_0^t \| \mathbf{v}_x''(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2,\Omega}^4 d\tau\right\} \\ \times \left(\| \mathbf{a}_2' - \mathbf{a}_2'' \|_{2,\Omega} + \int_0^t \| (\mathbf{F}_2' - \mathbf{F}_2'')(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2,\Omega} d\tau \right).$$

On the other hand, the integration of (4.4.10) over t from 0 to T allows to construct the second stability estimate

$$(4.4.13) \qquad \frac{\nu}{2} \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')_x \|_{2, Q_T}^2 \leq \frac{2}{\nu^3} \int_0^T \| \mathbf{v}_x''(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega}^4 \\ \times \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega}^2 dt \\ + \int_0^T \| (\mathbf{F}_2' - \mathbf{F}_2'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega} dt \\ \times \| (\mathbf{v}' - \mathbf{v}'')(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega} dt \\ + \frac{1}{2} \| \mathbf{a}_2' - \mathbf{a}_2'' \|_{2, \Omega}^2 .$$

All this enables us to explore the inverse problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.4) more deeply by means of a subset $D \subset \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ such that

$$D = \left\{ \mathbf{f} \in \mathbf{L}_{2}(\Omega) : \| \mathbf{f} \|_{2, \Omega} \leq 1 \right\}.$$

In the sequel we will always assume that **a** and φ belong to $\mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$ and

$$\begin{split} \nabla\,,\psi \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega)\,, \qquad g\,,\,g_t \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{Q}_T)\,,\\ |g(x,\,T)| \geq g_T > 0 \quad \text{for} \quad x \in \bar{\Omega} \quad (g_T \equiv \text{const}\,) \end{split}$$

and

$$(4.4.14) m_1 m_2 < \nu^3 (4 \beta^2)^{-1},$$

where

$$\beta = (4/3)^{3/4} (c_1(\Omega))^{1/4},$$

$$m_1 = \left[\left\| \mathbf{a}_2 \right\|_{2,\Omega} + \int_0^T \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, t)| dt \right],$$

$$m_{2} = \| \nu \Delta \mathbf{a} - (\mathbf{a}, \nabla) \mathbf{a} \|_{2, \Omega} + \sup_{(x, t) \in Q_{T}} |g(x, t)|$$
$$+ \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, 0)| + \int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g_{t}(x, t)| dt$$

and $c_1(\Omega)$ is the constant from the Poincaré-Friedrichs inequality (4.2.21).

The system (4.4.1)-(4.4.3) with $\mathbf{f} \in D$ can be viewed as a system of the type (4.1.8)-(4.1.10). It is clear that for any \mathbf{f} lying within D either of the functions $\mathbf{F}_2 = \mathbf{f} g$ and $(\mathbf{F}_2)_t = \mathbf{f} g_t$ belongs to the space $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega_T)$. Granted (4.4.14), the function $\mathbf{F}_2 = \mathbf{f} g$ satisfies condition (4.1.11) for any \mathbf{f} from D. Consequently, by Theorem 4.1.4 one can find a unique pair of the functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ as a solution of the direct problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.3) corresponding to a suitably chosen function $\mathbf{f} \in D$. In the framework of Theorems 4.1.4-4.1.5 we refer to the nonlinear operator

$$A: D \mapsto \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$$

acting in accordance with the rule

$$(A \mathbf{f})(x) = \mathbf{v}_t(x, T), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

where **v** is the function entering the set $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ and solving the direct problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.3).

One more nonlinear operator

$$B: D \mapsto \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$$

with the values

complements careful analysis of the nonlinear operator equation of the second kind for \mathbf{f} :

$$\mathbf{f} = B \mathbf{f} + \boldsymbol{\chi}$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{\chi} = \frac{1}{g(\boldsymbol{x}, T)} \left[-\nu \,\Delta \,\boldsymbol{\varphi} + (\boldsymbol{\varphi}, \,\nabla) \,\boldsymbol{\varphi} + \nabla \,\psi \right].$$

Theorem 4.4.1 Let

$$\begin{split} \Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^3, \quad g, \, g_t \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{Q}_T) \,, \qquad | \, g(x, \, T) | \geq g_T > 0 \quad for \quad x \in \bar{\Omega} \,, \\ \mathbf{a} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\mathbf{o}}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\mathbf{o}}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega) \,. \end{split}$$

If (4.4.14) holds, then the operator B is completely continuous on D.

Proof The theorem will be proved if we succeed in showing that the operator A is completely continuous on D. Choosing **f** in D arbitrarily we consider a sequence $\{\mathbf{f}_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ of elements $\mathbf{f}_k \in D$ such that

$$\|\mathbf{f} - \mathbf{f}_k\|_{2,\Omega} \longrightarrow 0, \qquad k \to \infty.$$

Let $\{\mathbf{v}_k, \nabla p_k\}$ be the solution of the direct problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.3) corresponding to the external force function $\mathbf{f}_k g$ and the initial velocity **a**

and let $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ be the solution of the same problem corresponding to the external force function $\mathbf{f} g$ and the initial velocity \mathbf{a} . Then the functions $\mathbf{v}_k - \mathbf{v}$ and $\nabla(p_k - p)$ satisfy the system

(4.4.17)
$$(\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{t} - \nu \Delta (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})$$
$$= -\nabla (p_{k} - p) + \mathbf{F}_{k}, \quad \operatorname{div} (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v}) = 0,$$
$$(4.4.18) \qquad (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v}) (x, 0) = 0, \quad x \in \Omega,$$

(4.4.19)
$$(\mathbf{v}_k - \mathbf{v})(x, t) = 0, \quad (x, t) \in S_T,$$

where

$$\mathbf{F}_{k} = (\mathbf{f}_{k} - \mathbf{f})g + (\mathbf{v}_{k}, \nabla)(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_{k}) + (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_{k}, \nabla)\mathbf{v}.$$

We note in passing that the norm of \mathbf{F}_k can be estimated as follows:

(4.4.20)
$$\|\mathbf{F}_{k}\|_{2,Q_{T}} \leq \|(\mathbf{f}_{k}-\mathbf{f})g\|_{2,Q_{T}} + \|(\mathbf{v}_{k},\nabla)(\mathbf{v}-\mathbf{v}_{k})\|_{2,Q_{T}} + \|(\mathbf{v}-\mathbf{v}_{k},\nabla)\mathbf{v}\|_{2,Q_{T}}.$$

The Cauchy-Schwarz inequality is involved in the estimation of the second and third terms on the right-hand side of (4.4.20). The same procedure works with a great success in establishing the relations

$$(4.4.21) \quad \| \left(\mathbf{v}_{k}, \nabla \right) \left(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_{k} \right) \|_{2, Q_{T}}$$

$$\leq \left[3 \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} |\mathbf{v}_{k}|^{2} \left| (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{x} \right|^{2} dx dt \right]^{1/2}$$

$$\leq \left\{ \sup_{t \in [0, T]} \left[\sup_{x \in \Omega} |\mathbf{v}_{k}(x, t)| \right] \right\}$$

$$\times \sqrt{3} \| (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{x} \|_{2, Q_{T}}$$

and

$$(4.4.22) \quad \| (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_k, \nabla) \mathbf{v} \|_{2, Q_T} \\ \leq \left[3 \int_0^T \| (\mathbf{v}_k - \mathbf{v})(\cdot, t) \|_{4, \Omega}^2 \cdot \| \mathbf{v}_x(\cdot, t) \|_{4, \Omega}^2 dt \right]^{1/2}.$$

The estimation of the first factor on the right-hand side of (4.4.21) can be done using (4.1.15) and the theorem of embedding $\mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega)$ into $\mathcal{C}^{1/2}(\bar{\Omega})$ (see Ladyzhenskaya et al. (1968, p. 78)), due to which we thus have

(4.4.23)
$$\| (\mathbf{v}_k, \nabla) (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_k) \|_{2, Q_T} \le c^* \widetilde{M}_5(\mathbf{f}_k) \| (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_k)_x \|_{2, Q_T}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{M}_{5}(\mathbf{f}_{k}) &= \left\{ \left[\sup_{(x,t)\in Q_{T}} |g(x,t)| \| \mathbf{f}_{k} \|_{2,\Omega} + \widetilde{M}_{2}(\mathbf{f}_{k}) \right] \right. \\ &\times \left\{ 1 + c^{*} \left[\widetilde{M}_{1}(\mathbf{f}_{k}) \left(\widetilde{M}_{2}(\mathbf{f}_{k}) + \widetilde{M}_{3}(\mathbf{f}_{k}) \right) \right]^{1/2} \right\} \\ &+ c^{*} \left[\widetilde{M}_{1}(\mathbf{f}_{k}) \left(\widetilde{M}_{2}(\mathbf{f}_{k}) + \widetilde{M}_{3}(\mathbf{f}_{k}) \right) \right]^{3/2} \right\}, \\ \widetilde{M}_{1}(\mathbf{f}_{k}) &= \left\| \mathbf{a} \right\|_{2,\Omega} + \left\| \mathbf{f}_{k} \right\|_{2,\Omega} \int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x\in\Omega} |g(x,t)| dt , \\ \widetilde{M}_{2}(\mathbf{f}_{k}) &= \left\| \nu \Delta \mathbf{a} - (\mathbf{a}, \nabla) \mathbf{a} \right\|_{2,\Omega} + \left\| \mathbf{f}_{k} \right\|_{2,\Omega} \sup_{x\in\Omega} |g(x,0)| \\ &+ \left\| \mathbf{f}_{k} \right\|_{2,\Omega} \int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x\in\Omega} |g_{t}(x,t)| dt , \\ \widetilde{M}_{3}(\mathbf{f}_{k}) &= \left\| \mathbf{f}_{k} \right\|_{2,\Omega} \sup_{(x,t)\in Q_{T}} |g(x,t)| . \end{split}$$

The symbol c^* denotes the constant depending on T, Ω and ν . In what follows the same symbol c^* will stand for different constants. It is to be hoped that this should cause no confusion. It is straightforward to verify that the values of $\widetilde{M}_5(\mathbf{f}_k)$, $\widetilde{M}_1(\mathbf{f}_k)$, $\widetilde{M}_2(\mathbf{f}_k)$ and $\widetilde{M}_3(\mathbf{f}_k)$ are bounded as $k \to \infty$, since the sequence $\{\mathbf{f}_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ converges to \mathbf{f} in the $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ -norm.

By (4.1.15), (4.2.21) and the theorem of embedding from $\mathbf{W}_2^1(\Omega)$ into $\mathbf{L}_4(\Omega) (\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^3)$, we see that (4.4.22) implies the estimate

$$(4.4.24) \quad \left\| \left(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_k, \, \nabla \right) \mathbf{v} \, \right\|_{2, \, Q_T}$$

4. Inverse Problems in Dynamics of Viscous Incompressible Fluid

$$\leq c^{*} \left\{ \int_{0}^{T} \left[\| \left(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_{k} \right) \left(\cdot, t \right) \|_{2,\Omega}^{(1)} \right]^{2} \left[\| \mathbf{v} \left(\cdot, t \right) \|_{2,\Omega}^{(2)} \right]^{2} dt \right\}^{1/2}$$

$$\leq c^{*} \left\{ \int_{0}^{T} \| \left(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_{k} \right)_{x} \left(\cdot, t \right) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \left[\| \mathbf{v} \left(\cdot, t \right) \|_{2,\Omega}^{(2)} \right]^{2} dt \right\}^{1/2}$$

$$\leq c^* M_5(\mathbf{f}) \left\| (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_k)_x \right\|_{2, Q_T},$$

where

С

$$\begin{split} M_{5}(\mathbf{f}) &= \left\{ \left[\sup_{(x,t) \in Q_{T}} |g(x,t)| \| \mathbf{f} \|_{2,\Omega} + M_{2}(\mathbf{f}) \right] \\ &\times \left\{ 1 + c^{*} \left[M_{1}(\mathbf{f}) \left(M_{2}(\mathbf{f}) + M_{3}(\mathbf{f}) \right) \right]^{1/2} \right\} \\ &+ c^{*} \left[M_{1}(\mathbf{f}) (M_{2}(\mathbf{f}) + M_{3}(\mathbf{f})) \right]^{3/2} \right\}, \\ M_{1}(\mathbf{f}) &= \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2,\Omega} + \| \mathbf{f} \|_{2,\Omega} \int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x,t)| dt, \\ M_{2}(\mathbf{f}) &= \| \nu \Delta \mathbf{a} - (\mathbf{a}, \nabla) \mathbf{a} \|_{2,\Omega} + \| \mathbf{f} \|_{2,\Omega} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x,0)| \\ &+ \| \mathbf{f} \|_{2,\Omega} \int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g_{t}(x,t)| dt, \\ M_{3}(\mathbf{f}) &= \| \mathbf{f} \|_{2,\Omega} \sup_{(x,t) \in Q_{T}} |g(x,t)|. \end{split}$$

Substituting (4.4.23) and (4.4.24) into (4.4.20) yields

$$(4.4.25) \quad \|\mathbf{F}_{k}\|_{2, Q_{T}} \leq \left[\int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, t)|^{2} dt\right]^{1/2} \|\mathbf{f}_{k} - \mathbf{f}\|_{2, \Omega} + c^{*} \left(\widetilde{M}_{5}(\mathbf{f}_{k}) + M_{5}(\mathbf{f})\right) \|(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_{k})_{x}\|_{2, Q_{T}}.$$

238

4.4. Navier-Stokes equations: three-dimensional flow

We now apply the stability estimates (4.4.12)-(4.4.13) with $\mathbf{F}_k = \mathbf{f}_k g$ and $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{f} g$ standing in place of the functions \mathbf{F}'_2 and \mathbf{F}'_1 , respectively, thus causing $\mathbf{v}' = \mathbf{v}_k$, $\mathbf{v}'' = \mathbf{v}$ and $\mathbf{a}'_2 = \mathbf{a}''_2 = \mathbf{a}$. With these relations in view, (4.4.12) implies that

$$(4.4.26) \quad \|(\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega} \leq \exp\left\{ \frac{2}{\nu^{3}} \int_{0}^{T} \|\mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, \tau)\|_{2,\Omega}^{4} d\tau \right\}$$
$$\times \left[\int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, \tau)| d\tau \right] \|\mathbf{f}_{k} - \mathbf{f}\|_{2,\Omega}$$

and (4.4.13) is followed by

$$(4.4.27) \quad \|(\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{x}\|_{2, Q_{T}}^{2} \leq \frac{4}{\nu^{3}} \left[\sup_{t \in [0, T]} \|\mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t)\|_{2, \Omega} \right]^{4} \\ \times \|\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v}\|_{2, Q_{T}}^{2} + \sup_{(x, t) \in Q_{T}} \|g(x, t)\| \\ \times \|\mathbf{f}_{k} - \mathbf{f}\|_{2, \Omega} T^{1/2} \|\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v}\|_{2, Q_{T}}.$$

If one squares both sides of (4.4.26) and integrates the resulting expressions over t from 0 to T, then

(4.4.28)
$$\|\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v}\|_{2, Q_{T}} \leq T \exp \left\{ \frac{4}{\nu^{3}} \int_{0}^{T} \|\mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, \tau)\|_{2, \Omega}^{4} d\tau \right\}$$

 $\times \left[\int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x \in \Omega} \|g(x, \tau)\| d\tau \right]^{2} \|\mathbf{f}_{k} - \mathbf{f}\|_{2, \Omega}.$

Since the sequence $\{\mathbf{f}_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ converges to \mathbf{f} in the $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ -norm, inequality (4.4.28) implies the convergence

$$(4.4.29) \|\mathbf{v}_k - \mathbf{v}\|_{2, Q_T} \longrightarrow 0, k \to \infty,$$

which in combination with (4.4.27) gives

(4.4.30)
$$\| (\mathbf{v}_k - \mathbf{v})_x \|_{2, Q_T} \longrightarrow 0, \qquad k \to \infty.$$

By successively applying (4.4.28), (4.4.30) and (4.4.25) we arrive at the limit relation

 $(4.4.31) || \mathbf{F}_k ||_{2, Q_T} \longrightarrow 0, k \to \infty.$

As $\mathbf{F}_k \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_r)$, the system (4.4.17)–(4.4.19) can be viewed as a system of the type (4.1.3)–(4.1.5), for which estimate (4.1.6) is certainly true and admits an alternative form of writing

$$\|\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v}\|_{2, Q_{T}}^{(2, 1)} \leq c^{*} \|\mathbf{F}_{k}\|_{2, Q_{T}}.$$

Whence, due to convergence (4.4.31), it follows that

(4.4.32)
$$\| (\mathbf{v}_k - \mathbf{v})_t \|_{2, Q_T} \longrightarrow 0, \qquad k \to \infty.$$

We proceed to the estimation of $(\mathbf{F}_k)_t$ in the $\mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$ -norm. The preliminary expressions may be of help in preparation for this:

$$\| (\mathbf{v}_{t}, \nabla) \mathbf{v} \|_{2, Q_{T}} + \| (\mathbf{v}, \nabla) \mathbf{v}_{t} \|_{2, Q_{T}}$$

$$(4.4.33) \leq \left(3 \int_{0}^{T} \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{4, \Omega}^{2} \cdot \| \mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t) \|_{4, \Omega}^{2} dt \right)^{1/2}$$

$$+ \left(3 \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} |\mathbf{v}|^{2} |\mathbf{v}_{tx}|^{2} dx dt \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq c_{1}^{*} \left\{ 3 \int_{0}^{T} \left[\| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega}^{(1)} \right]^{2} \left[\| \mathbf{v}(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega}^{(2)} \right]^{2} dt \right\}^{1/2}$$

$$+ \sqrt{3} c_{2}^{*} M_{5}(\mathbf{f}) \| \mathbf{v}_{tx} \|_{2, Q_{T}} \leq c^{*} M_{5}(\mathbf{f}) \| \mathbf{v}_{tx} \|_{2, Q_{T}}.$$

It is worth recalling here that

$$(\mathbf{F}_k)_t = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\mathbf{f}_k g - \mathbf{f} g \right) - \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[(\mathbf{v}_k, \nabla) \mathbf{v}_k - (\mathbf{v}, \nabla) \mathbf{v} \right].$$

In just the same way as in the derivation of (4.4.33) we majorize the norm of $(\mathbf{F}_k)_t$ as follows:

$$(4.4.34) || (\mathbf{F}_k)_t ||_{2, Q_T} \le || \mathbf{f}_k g_t ||_{2, Q_T} + || \mathbf{f} g_t ||_{2, Q_T} + c^* \widetilde{M}_5(\mathbf{f}_k) || (\mathbf{v}_k)_{tx} ||_{2, Q_T} + c^* M_5(\mathbf{f}) || \mathbf{v}_{tx} ||_{2, Q_T} ,$$

where the explicit formulae for $\widetilde{M}_5(\mathbf{f}_k)$ and $M_5(\mathbf{f})$ are given by (4.4.23) and (4.4.24), respectively.

In the case where $\mathbf{f}_k \in D$, the norm of $(\mathbf{v}_k)_{tx}$ can be estimated with the aid of (4.1.14) as follows:

$$(4.4.35) \quad \left[\nu - \beta \left(\nu^{-1} m_{1} m_{2} \right)^{1/2} \right] \| (\mathbf{v}_{k})_{tx} \|_{2, Q_{T}}^{2} \\ \leq \| \nu \Delta \mathbf{a} - (\mathbf{a}, \nabla) \mathbf{a} \|_{2, \Omega}^{2} + \| \mathbf{f}_{k} \|_{2, \Omega}^{2} \left[\sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, 0)| \right]^{2} \\ + \left[\| \nu \Delta \mathbf{a} - (\mathbf{a}, \nabla) \mathbf{a} \|_{2, \Omega} + \| \mathbf{f}_{k} \|_{2, \Omega} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, 0)| \right. \\ \left. + \| \mathbf{f}_{k} \|_{2, \Omega} \int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g_{t} (x, t)| dt \right]^{2},$$

where m_1 , m_2 and β have been introduced in (4.4.14). From such manipulations it seems clear that the first factor on the left-hand side of (4.4.35) does not depend on k and is strictly positive by virtue of (4.4.14). Moreover, estimate (4.4.35) implies that the norm $||(\mathbf{v}_k)_{tx}||_{2,Q_T}^2$ is bounded as $k \to 0$. With this in mind, we conclude on the basis of estimate (4.4.34) that the norm $||(\mathbf{F}_k)_t||_{2,Q_T}$ is also bounded as $k \to 0$.

Being concerned with \mathbf{F}_k and $(\mathbf{F}_k)_t$ from the space $\mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$ we can treat the system (4.4.17)-(4.4.19) as a system of the type (4.1.3)-(4.1.5). Just for this reason all the assertions of Theorem 4.2.2 remain valid when expression (4.2.19) is considered in terms of the solutions of (4.4.17)-(4.4.19):

$$(4.4.36) \quad \int_{\varepsilon}^{T} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{t} (\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \nu \| (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{tx} (\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \right) dt$$
$$= \int_{\varepsilon}^{T} \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{F}_{k})_{t} \cdot (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{t} dx dt, \quad 0 < \varepsilon \leq T.$$

Relation (4.4.36) implies that

$$\int_{\varepsilon}^{T} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{t} (\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \frac{\nu}{c_{1}(\Omega)} \| (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{x} (\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \right) dt$$

$$\leq \int_{\varepsilon}^{T} \| (\mathbf{F}_{k})_{t} (\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \cdot \| (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{t} (\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} dt, \qquad 0 < \varepsilon \leq T,$$

yielding

$$\frac{1}{2} \| (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{t} (\cdot, T) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \leq \| (\mathbf{F}_{k})_{t} \|_{2,Q_{T}} \cdot \| (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{t} \|_{2,Q_{T}} + \frac{1}{2} \| (\mathbf{v}_{k} - \mathbf{v})_{t} (\cdot, \varepsilon) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$

Because $\|(\mathbf{v}_k - \mathbf{v})_t(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}$ is continuous on the segment [0, T], we are able to pass in the preceding inequality to the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$ and, as a final result, get the estimate

$$\begin{array}{l} (4.4.37) \qquad \| (\mathbf{v}_k - \mathbf{v})_t (\cdot, T) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 \leq \| (\mathbf{F}_k)_t \|_{2,Q_T} \cdot \| (\mathbf{v}_k - \mathbf{v})_t \|_{2,Q_T} , \\ \text{assuming that the boundary condition } (4.4.18) \text{ is homogeneous.} \end{array}$$

As stated above, the norm $||(\mathbf{F}_k)_t||_{2,Q_T}$ is bounded as $k \to \infty$. Applying estimate (4.4.37), relation (4.4.32) and the definition of the operator A we establish

$$\|A\mathbf{f}_k - A\mathbf{f}\|_{2,\Omega} = \|(\mathbf{v}_k - \mathbf{v})_t(\cdot, T)\|_{2,\Omega} \longrightarrow 0, \qquad k \to \infty.$$

This provides support for the view that the nonlinear operator A is continuous on D.

Let us show that any bounded subset of the set D is carried by the operator A into a set being compact in the space $L_2(\Omega)$. To that end, we rewrite the system (4.4.1)-(4.4.3) as

(4.4.38)
$$\mathbf{v}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + \mathbf{F}_1, \quad \text{div } \mathbf{v} = 0, \quad (x, t) \in Q_T,$$

$$(4.4.39) \mathbf{v}(x, 0) = \mathbf{a}(x), \quad x \in \Omega, \quad \mathbf{v}(x, t) = 0, \quad (x, t) \in S_{\!\!T},$$
 where

 $\mathbf{F}_1 = \mathbf{f}(x) \ g(x, t) - (\mathbf{v}, \nabla) \mathbf{v}.$

As in the derivation of (4.4.25) and (4.4.34) we make use of the estimates

$$\|\mathbf{F}_{1}\|_{2,Q_{T}} \leq \left[\int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, t)|^{2} dt\right]^{1/2} \|\mathbf{f}\|_{2,\Omega} + c^{*} M_{5}(\mathbf{f}) \|\mathbf{v}_{x}\|_{2,Q_{T}},$$

(4.4.40)

$$\| (\mathbf{F}_{1})_{t} \|_{2, Q_{T}} \leq \left[\int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g_{t}(x, t)|^{2} dt \right]^{1/2} \| \mathbf{f} \|_{2, \Omega} + c^{*} M_{5}(\mathbf{f}) \| \mathbf{v}_{tx} \|_{2, Q_{T}},$$

where $M_5(\mathbf{f})$ has been introduced in (4.4.24).

Further treatment of (4.4.38)–(4.4.39) as a system of the type (4.1.3)–(4.1.4) with reference to the proof of Theorem 4.2.3 permits us to deduce, keeping $\mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, T) \in \mathbf{\hat{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{\hat{J}}(\Omega)$ and holding ε from the interval (0, T) fixed, that (4.2.34) yields

(4.4.41)
$$\|\mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot, T)\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{\nu} \|(\mathbf{F}_{1})_{t}\|_{2,Q_{T}}^{2} + \frac{1}{\nu(T-\varepsilon)}$$

 $\times \left[\|\nu\Delta\mathbf{a} - (\mathbf{a}, \nabla)\mathbf{a} + \mathbf{F}(\cdot, 0)\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \frac{3T^{2}}{2} \|(\mathbf{F}_{1})_{t}\|_{2,Q_{T}}^{2}\right].$

Finally, we get from (4.1.14), (4.4.40) and (4.4.41) the estimate for the nonlinear operator A

$$(4.4.42) \qquad \| (A \mathbf{f})_{x} \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \leq 2 \left[\frac{1}{\nu} + \frac{3 T^{2}}{2 \nu (T - \varepsilon)} \right] \\ \times \left[1 + \frac{3 c^{*} M_{5}^{2}(\mathbf{f}) \nu^{2}}{\nu^{3} - \beta \sqrt{m_{1} m_{2}}} \right] . \\ \times \left\| \mathbf{f} \right\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g_{t}(x,t)|^{2} dt \\ + \left\{ 8 \left[\frac{1}{\nu} + \frac{3 T^{2}}{2 \nu (T - \varepsilon)} \right] \right] \\ \times \frac{c^{*} M_{5}^{2}(\mathbf{f}) \nu^{2}}{\nu^{3} - \beta \sqrt{m_{1} m_{2}}} + \frac{2}{\nu (T - \varepsilon)} \right\} \\ \times \left(\| \nu \Delta \mathbf{a} - (\mathbf{a}, \nabla) \mathbf{a} \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \\ + \| \mathbf{f} \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x,0)|^{2} \right).$$

Let an arbitrary bounded subset D_1 of the set D be given. Recall that

$$D = \{ \mathbf{f} \in \mathbf{L}_{2}(\Omega) : \| \mathbf{f} \|_{2,\Omega} \le 1 \}$$

is referred to as the range of the operator A.

Estimate (4.4.42) implies that the nonlinear operator A acts from $D \subset \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ into $\mathring{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega)$ and maps D_1 into a certain set \tilde{D}_1 being bounded in the space $\mathring{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega)$.

On account of Rellich's theorem, the set \tilde{D}_1 is compact in the space $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ and, therefore, the operator A is continuous on D and carries any bounded subset of D into a set being compact in the space $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$. From such reasoning it seems clear that A is completely continuous on D and the operator B specified by (4.4.15) is completely continuous as the composition of a nonlinear completely continuous operator and a linear bounded one. This proves the desired assertion.

In the following theorem we try to establish an interconnection between the nonlinear equation (4.4.16) and the inverse problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.4).

Theorem 4.4.2 Let

$$\begin{split} \Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^3, \quad g, \, g_t \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{Q}_T) \,, \quad | \, g(x, \, T) | \ge g_T > 0 \quad for \quad x \in \bar{\Omega} \\ \mathbf{a} \,, \, \varphi \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega) \,, \qquad \qquad \nabla \, \psi \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega) \,. \end{split}$$

,

One assumes, in addition, that inequality (4.4.14) is valid and

(4.4.43)
$$\sqrt{\beta} \|\varphi\|_{4,\Omega} < \nu,$$

where $\beta = (4/3)^{3/4} c_1^{1/4}(\Omega)$ and $c_1(\Omega)$ is the constant from (4.2.21). If equation (4.4.16) has a solution lying within D, then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.4).

Proof By assumption, the nonlinear equation (4.4.16) has a solution lying within D, say \mathbf{f} . As stated above, inequality (4.4.16) implies that the function $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{f} g$ admits estimate (4.1.11). When treating (4.4.1)-(4.4.3) as a system of the type (4.1.8)-(4.1.10), we look for a set $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ as the unique solution of the direct problem associated with the external force function $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{f} g$ and the initial velocity \mathbf{a} in complete agreement with Theorem 4.1.4.

In order to prove that \mathbf{v} and ∇p satisfy the overdetermination condition (4.4.4) we agree to consider $\mathbf{v}(x, T) = \varphi_1$ and $\nabla p(x, T) = \nabla \psi_1$. It is evident that the new functions $\varphi^* = \varphi - \varphi_1$ and $\nabla \psi^* = \nabla(\psi - \psi_1)$ satisfy the system of equations

(4.4.44)
$$\begin{aligned} -\nu \,\Delta \varphi^* + (\varphi^*, \,\nabla) \,\varphi + (\varphi, \,\nabla) \,\varphi^* &= -\nabla \,\psi^* \\ \operatorname{div} \varphi^* &= 0 \,, \qquad x \in \Omega \,, \end{aligned}$$

supplied by the boundary condition

(4.4.45)
$$\varphi^* = 0, \qquad x \in \partial \Omega.$$

Furthermore, we multiply both sides of the first equation by φ^* scalarly in $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$. Integrating by parts yields

(4.4.46)
$$\nu \| \varphi_x^* \|_{2,\Omega}^2 = -\int_{\Omega} (\varphi^*, \nabla) \varphi \cdot \varphi^* dx,$$

since

$$\int\limits_{\Omega} \left(oldsymbol{arphi}_1 \,,\,
abla
ight) oldsymbol{arphi}^{st} \cdot \,oldsymbol{arphi}^{st} \, dx = 0 \,.$$

In view of (4.4.8), relation (4.4.46) assures us of the validity of the estimate

(4.4.47)
$$\nu \| \varphi_x^* \|_{2,\Omega}^2 \le \sqrt{\beta} \| \varphi \|_{4,\Omega} \cdot \| \varphi_x^* \|_{2,\Omega}^2$$

with $\beta = (4/3)^{3/4} c_1^{1/4}(\Omega)$. Here we used also the inequality

$$\left| \int\limits_{\Omega} \left(arphi^{*}, \,
abla
ight) arphi \, \cdot \, arphi^{*} \, dx
ight| \leq || \, arphi^{*} \, ||_{4, \, \Omega} \, \cdot \, || \, arphi \, ||_{4, \, \Omega} \, \cdot \, || \, arphi^{*}_{x} \, ||_{2, \, \Omega} \, \cdot$$

When φ is recovered from (4.4.43), $\varphi_1 = \varphi$ and $\nabla \psi_1 = \nabla \psi$, valid almost everywhere in Ω , are ensured by estimate (4.4.47). Eventually, we deduce that the collection of the functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, f\}$ satisfies (4.4.1)–(4.4.4), that is, there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.4.1)–(4.4.4), thereby justifying the assertion of the theorem.

In the next theorem we establish sufficient conditions under which the inverse problem under consideration will be solvable. It is worth noting here that all of the restrictions imposed above are formulated in terms of the input data.

Theorem 4.4.3 Let

$$\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^{3}, \quad g, g_{t} \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{Q}_{T}), \quad |g(x, T)| \ge g_{T} > 0 \quad for \quad x \in \bar{\Omega},$$
$$\mathbf{a}, \varphi \in \mathbf{W}_{2}^{2}(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega), \qquad \nabla \psi \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega)$$

and relations (4.4.14) and (4.4.43) occur. One assumes, in addition, that the estimate

$$(4.4.48) m_4 = m_3 + \|\chi\|_{2,\Omega} < 1$$

is valid with

$$m_{3} = \left[\inf_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, T)|\right]^{-1} \left\{ \left[\|\nu \Delta \mathbf{a} - (\mathbf{a}, \nabla) \mathbf{a}\|_{2, \Omega} + \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, 0)| \exp\left[-\frac{\nu T}{2c_{1}(\Omega)}\right] \right] + \int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g_{t}(x, t)| \exp\left[-\frac{\nu (T-t)}{2c_{1}(\Omega)}\right] dt \right\}$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\chi} = \frac{1}{g(x, T)} \left[-\nu \Delta \boldsymbol{\varphi} + (\boldsymbol{\varphi}, \nabla) \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \nabla \psi \right].$$

Then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.4).

Proof We proceed to derive an a priori estimate for the nonlinear operator B on D. The energy identity (see Ladyzhenskaya (1970), p. 184) suits us perfectly after rewriting it in terms of (4.4.1):

$$(4.4.49) \quad \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| \mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 + \nu \| \mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2$$
$$= -\int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{v}_t, \nabla) \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v}_t \, dx + \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{f} \, g_t) \cdot \mathbf{v}_t \, dx.$$

We are led by evaluating the first term on the right-hand side of (4.4.49) with the aid of (4.2.21) and (4.4.8) to

$$(4.4.50) \qquad \left| \int_{\Omega} \left(\mathbf{v}_{t}, \nabla \right) \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{t} \, dx \right| \leq \left\| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \right\|_{4, \Omega}^{2} \cdot \left\| \mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t) \right\|_{2, \Omega}$$
$$\leq (4/3)^{3/4} c_{1}^{1/2}(\Omega) \left\| \mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot, t) \right\|_{2, \Omega}^{2}$$
$$\times \left\| \mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t) \right\|_{2, \Omega}.$$

Upon substituting (4.4.49) into (4.4.50) we can estimate the second term on the right by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and then apply (4.1.12). As a final result we get

$$(4.4.51) \qquad \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \nu \| \mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$

$$\leq \| \mathbf{f}(\cdot) g_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}$$

$$+ \beta \left(\nu^{-1} m_{1} m_{2} \right)^{1/2} \| \mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$

with $\mathbf{f} \in D$ incorporated.

Provided that (4.4.14) holds and the norm $\|\mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}$ has been bounded by (4.2.21), expression (4.4.51) implies that

$$\frac{d}{dt} \| \mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} - \frac{\nu}{2c_1(\Omega)} \| \mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \le \| \mathbf{f}(\cdot) g_t(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}, \quad \mathbf{f} \in D.$$

Whence by Gronwall's lemma it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, T)\|_{2,\Omega} &\leq \|\mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, 0)\|_{2,\Omega} \exp\left[-\frac{\nu T}{2c_{1}(\Omega)}\right] \\ &+ \int_{0}^{T} \|\mathbf{f}(\cdot)g_{t}(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega} \exp\left[-\frac{\nu (T-t)}{2c_{1}(\Omega)}\right] dt, \quad \mathbf{f} \in D, \end{aligned}$$

With this relation established, it is plain to show that the nonlinear operator B admits the estimate

$$\| B \mathbf{f} \|_{2,\Omega} \leq m_3 \quad ext{for any} \quad \mathbf{f} \in D$$
 .

Further, we refer to a nonlinear operator B_1 acting in D in accordance with the rule

$$B_1 \mathbf{f} = B \mathbf{f} + \chi \,,$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{\chi} = \frac{1}{g(\boldsymbol{x}, T)} \left[-\nu \Delta \boldsymbol{\varphi} + (\boldsymbol{\varphi}, \nabla) \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \nabla \psi \right].$$

It is clear that (4.4.16) takes now the form

$$(4.4.52) \mathbf{f} = B_1 \mathbf{f}, \mathbf{f} \in D.$$

Because of (4.4.48), the operator B_1 admits the estimate

$$||B_1 \mathbf{f}||_{2,\Omega} \le m_3 + ||\chi||_{2,\Omega} = m_4 < 1$$

and, consequently, maps the set D onto itself.

Theorem 4.4.1 implies that B_1 is completely continuous on $D \subset \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$. In conformity with Schauder's fixed-point principle, valid for nonlinear operators, equation (4.4.52) has a solution lying within D. Hence there exists a solution to equation (4.4.16) and this solution also belongs to D. Finally, by Theorem 4.4.2 we deduce that there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.4), thereby justifying the desired assertion.

As possible illustrations we give several remarks.

Remark 4.4.1 Let in the conditions of Theorem 4.4.3 $\mathbf{a} = 0$ and the function g will be independent of x. If $g \in C^1([0, T]), g(t) \ge 0, g'(t) \ge 0$ and $g(T) \ne 0$, then inequality (4.4.14) is valid as long as

$$2g^2(T) < \nu^3 (4\beta^2)^{-1}.$$

Note that $m_3 < 1$ for any T, $0 < T < \infty$. We choose the functions φ and $\nabla \psi$ so as to satisfy (4.4.43) and provide the validity of the estimate

$$\| - \nu \Delta \varphi + (\varphi, \nabla) \varphi + \nabla \psi \|_{2,\Omega} \le (1 - m_3) g(T)$$

Then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.4) with these input data and the final moment t = T with the bounds

$$0 < T < \nu^{3} \left\{ 8 \left[\beta g(T) \right]^{2} \right\}^{-1}$$

Remark 4.4.2 In the study of the inverse problem (4.4.1)–(4.4.4) we do follow proper guidelines of Remark 4.2.1. The relevant results are available in Prilepko and Vasin (1991).

4.5 Nonstaionary nonlinear system of Navier–Stokes equations: two-dimensional flow

We now focus the reader's attention on the inverse problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.4)when the fluid flow is plane-parallel, that is, $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^2$. The main feature of the two-dimensional case is that Theorem 4.1.6 on solvability of the corresponding nonlinear direct problem (4.1.8)-(4.1.10) is of global character in contrast to Theorem 4.1.4 with regard to $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$. The basic trends and tools of research rely essentially on the arguments similar to those adopted earlier in the three-dimensional case.

Let us derive a nonlinear operator equation associated with the function **f**. Holding **f** from the space $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ fixed and arguing as in Section 4.4, we refer to the nonlinear operator

$$B: \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega) \mapsto \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$$

with the values

where the function \mathbf{v} is determined as a unique generalized solution of the direct problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.3), which exists and possesses the required smoothness in accordance with Theorems 4.1.6 and 4.1.7, respectively.

Unlike the three-dimensional case the nonlinear operator B is usually defined on the entire space $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$.

Consider the nonlinear equation of the second kind for the function f over the space $L_2(\Omega)$:

$$\mathbf{f} = B \mathbf{f} + \boldsymbol{\chi},$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{\chi} = \frac{1}{g(\boldsymbol{x}, T)} \left[-\nu \Delta \boldsymbol{\varphi} + (\boldsymbol{\varphi}, \nabla) \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \right].$$

Theorem 4.5.1 Let

$$\begin{split} \Omega \in \mathbf{R}^2, \quad g, \, g_t \subset \mathcal{C}(\bar{Q}_T) \,, \quad | \, g(x, \, T) \, | \geq g_T > 0 \quad for \quad x \in \bar{\Omega} \,, \\ \mathbf{a} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \mathbf{\mathring{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \bigcap \mathbf{\mathring{J}}(\Omega) \,. \end{split}$$

Then the nonlinear operator B is completely continuous on the space $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$.

Arguing as in the proof of Theorem 4.4.1 we can arrive at the assertion of the theorem. More specifically, in this case the norms $\|\mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}$ and $\|\mathbf{v}_x(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}$ should be majorized with the aid of (4.1.18) and (4.1.17) rather than of (4.1.13) and (4.1.12) (for more detail see Prilepko and Vasin (1989b)). Theorem 4.5.2 Let

$$\begin{split} \Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^2, \quad g, \, g_t \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{Q}_T) \,, \quad | \, g(x, \, T) | \ge g_T > 0 \quad for \quad x \in \bar{\Omega} \\ \mathbf{a}, \, \varphi \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega) \,, \qquad \nabla \, \psi \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega) \end{split}$$

,

and let

(4.5.3)
$$\|\varphi\|_{4,\Omega} \left[2c_1(\Omega)\right]^{1/4} < \nu$$

where $c_1(\Omega)$ is the constant from (4.2.21). If equation (4.5.2) is solvable, then so is the inverse problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.4).

Proof In establishing this result we approve the scheme of proving Theorem 4.4.2 with minor changes. In particular, (4.4.46) should be estimated as follows:

$$\begin{split} \nu \| \varphi_x^* \|_{2,\Omega}^2 &\leq \left| \int_{\Omega} (\varphi^*, \nabla) \varphi \cdot \varphi^* dx \right| \\ &\leq \| \varphi^* \|_{4,\Omega} \cdot \| \varphi \|_{4,\Omega} \cdot \| \varphi_x^* \|_{2,\Omega} \\ &\leq \left[2 c_1(\Omega) \right]^{1/4} \| \varphi \|_{4,\Omega} \cdot \| \varphi_x^* \|_{2,\Omega}^2 \end{split}$$

This is due to the fact that any function $\mathbf{u} \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}{}_{2}^{1}(\Omega), \ \Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^{2}$, is subject to the relation

$$(4.5.4) \|\mathbf{u}\|_{4,\Omega}^4 \leq 2 \|\mathbf{u}\|_{2,\Omega}^2 \cdot \|\mathbf{u}_x\|_{2,\Omega}^2.$$

Theorem 4.5.3 Let

$$\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^2, \quad g, g_t \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{Q}_T), \quad |g(x, T)| \ge g_T > 0 \quad for \quad x \in \bar{\Omega}$$

$$\mathbf{a}, \, \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \mathbf{W}_{2}^{2}(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega) \,, \qquad \nabla \, \psi \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega)$$

and let estimate (4.5.3) be true. If

$$(4.5.5) mtextbf{m}_6 = m_5 + || \chi ||_{2,\Omega} < 1,$$

where

$$m_{5} = \left[\inf_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, T)|\right]^{-1} \left\{ \left[\|\nu \Delta \mathbf{a} - (\mathbf{a}, \nabla) \mathbf{a}\|_{2, \Omega} + \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, 0)| \exp\left[-\frac{\nu T}{2 c_{1}(\Omega)}\right] \right] + \int_{0}^{T} \exp\left[-\frac{\nu (T-t)}{2 c_{1}(\Omega)}\right] |g_{t}(x, t)| dt \right\} \\ \times \exp\left\{ \frac{1}{\nu^{2}} \left[\|\mathbf{a}\|_{2, \Omega}^{2} + \frac{3}{2} \left(\int_{0}^{T} \sup_{x \in \Omega} |g(x, T)| dt \right)^{2} \right] \right\},$$

 $c_1(\Omega)$ is the same constant as in (4.2.21) and

$$\boldsymbol{\chi} = \frac{1}{g(\boldsymbol{x},\,T)} \left[-\nu \,\Delta \, \boldsymbol{\varphi} + (\boldsymbol{\varphi},\,
abla) \, \boldsymbol{\varphi} +
abla \, \psi
ight],$$

then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.4).

Proof For the same reason as in proving Theorem 4.4.3 we employ identity (4.4.49). With the aid of (4.5.3) the first term on the right-hand side of (4.4.49) can be estimated as follows:

$$(4.5.6) \qquad \left| \int_{\Omega} \left(\mathbf{v}_{t}, \nabla \right) \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{v}_{t} \, dx \right| \leq \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{4,\Omega}^{2} \cdot \| \mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}$$
$$\leq \sqrt{2} \| \mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}$$
$$\times \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \| \mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}.$$

Substituting (4.5.6) into (4.4.49) yields

$$(4.5.7) \quad \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \nu \| \mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$

$$\leq \| \mathbf{f}(\cdot) g_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}$$

$$+ \sqrt{2} \| \mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \| \mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}.$$

252 4. Inverse Problems in Dynamics of Viscous Incompressible Fluid

In rearranging the right-hand side of (4.5.7) we need the inequality

$$2 a b < \delta a^2 + \delta^{-1} b^2,$$

which is valid for arbitrary $\delta > 0$ and yields

(4.5.8)
$$\|\mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \|\mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \|\mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}$$

 $\leq \frac{1}{2} \,\delta \|\mathbf{v}_{tx}(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \,\delta^{-1} \|\mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \cdot \|\mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}^{2}.$

We substitute (4.5.8) with $\delta = \nu/\sqrt{2}$ into (4.5.7) and take into account (4.2.21). As a final result we get

$$(4.5.9) \quad \frac{d}{dt} \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} + \frac{\nu}{2c_{1}(\Omega)} \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\nu} \| \mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \cdot \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} + \| \mathbf{f}(\cdot) g_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}.$$

Multiplying both sides of (4.5.9) by $\exp\left[-\frac{\nu(T-t)}{2c_1(\Omega)}\right]$ and introducing the new functions

$$y(t) = \exp\left[-\frac{\nu (T-t)}{2 c_1(\Omega)}\right] \|\mathbf{v}_t(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}^{\cdot},$$

$$\alpha_1(t) = \frac{1}{\nu} \|\mathbf{v}_x(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}^{2},$$

$$\alpha_2(t) = \exp\left[-\frac{\nu (T-t)}{2 c_1(\Omega)}\right] \|\mathbf{f}(\cdot) g_t(\cdot, t)\|_{2,\Omega}$$

one can rewrite (4.5.9) as

(4.5.10)
$$\frac{d y(t)}{dt} \leq \alpha_1(t) y(t) + \alpha_2(t)$$

It is easily seen that (4.5.10) satisfies Gronwall's lemma. In the preceding notations,

$$(4.5.11) \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} \leq \exp\left[\frac{1}{\nu} \| \mathbf{v}_{x} \|_{2,Q_{T}}^{2}\right] \\ \times \left\{ \| \mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot, 0) \|_{2,\Omega} \exp\left[-\frac{\nu t}{2c_{1}(\Omega)}\right] \right. \\ \left. + \int_{0}^{t} \| \mathbf{f}(\cdot) g_{\tau}(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2,\Omega} \exp\left[-\frac{\nu (T-\tau)}{2c_{1}(\Omega)}\right] d\tau \right\}.$$

Because of (4.1.17), inequality (4.5.11) assures us of the validity of the estimate

$$(4.5.12) \|\mathbf{v}_{t}(\cdot,T)\|_{2,\Omega} \leq \exp\left\{\frac{1}{\nu^{2}}\left[\|\mathbf{a}\|_{2,\Omega}^{2}\right] + \frac{3}{2}\left(\int_{0}^{T}\sup_{x\in\Omega}|g(x,t)|\,dt\right)^{2}\|\mathbf{f}\|_{2,\Omega}^{2}\right]\right\}$$
$$\times \left\{\left[\|\nu\Delta\mathbf{a}-(\mathbf{a},\nabla)\mathbf{a}\|_{2,\Omega}\right] + \sup_{x\in\Omega}|g(x,0)|\,\|\mathbf{f}\|_{2,\Omega}\right] \exp\left[-\frac{\nu T}{2c_{1}(\Omega)}\right] + \int_{0}^{T}\sup_{x\in\Omega}|g_{t}(x,t)|\exp\left[-\frac{\nu(T-t)}{2c_{1}(\Omega)}\right]dt\|\mathbf{f}\|_{2,\Omega}\right\}.$$

Relation (4.5.12) serves to motivate that the nonlinear operator B specified by (4.5.1) admits the estimate

(4.5.13) $|| B \mathbf{f} ||_{2,\Omega} \le m_5, \qquad \mathbf{f} \in D,$

where

$$D = \left\{ \mathbf{f} \in \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega) \colon \| \mathbf{f} \|_{2, \Omega} \le 1 \right\}.$$

We refer to the nonlinear operator

$$B_1: \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega) \mapsto \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$$

with the values

 $(4.5.14) B_1 \mathbf{f} = B \mathbf{f} + \boldsymbol{\chi},$

where

$$\boldsymbol{\chi} = \frac{1}{g(\boldsymbol{x}, T)} \left[-\nu \,\Delta \,\boldsymbol{\varphi} + (\boldsymbol{\varphi}, \,\nabla) \,\boldsymbol{\varphi} + \nabla \,\psi \right].$$

Theorem 4.5.1 guarantees that the operator B is completely continuous on $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$. Then so is the operator B_1 on $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$. From (4.5.5) and (4.5.13) it follows that

$$(4.5.15) || B_1 \mathbf{f} ||_{2,\Omega} \le m_5 + || \boldsymbol{\chi} ||_{2,\Omega} = m_6 < 1$$

for arbitrary $f \in D$.

This provides enough reason to conclude that the nonlinear operator B_1 is completely continuous and carries the closed bounded set D into itself. Schauder's fixed-point principle implies that B_1 has a fixed point lying within D. In the language of operator equations, this means that the equation

$$\mathbf{f} = B_1 \mathbf{f}$$

possesses a solution and this solution belongs to D. True, it is to be shown that the same remains valid for equation (4.5.2). Then Theorem 4.5.2 yields that there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.4.1)-(4:4.4), thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

Remark 4.5.1 Of special interest is one possible application to $\mathbf{a} = 0$ and $g(x, t) \equiv 1$. In that case $m_1 < 1$ for any T from the interval $(0, \nu^3/[3c_1(\Omega)])$. The functions φ and $\nabla \psi$ can be so chosen as to satisfy (4.5.3) and the inequality

$$(4.5.17) \| - \nu \Delta \varphi + (\varphi, \nabla) \varphi + \nabla \psi \|_{2,\Omega} < 1 - m_1,$$

thereby providing the validity of estimate (4.5.5). Therefore, Theorem 4.5.3 yields that there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.4.1)-(4.4.4) with these input data once we take the final moment t = T from the interval $(0, \nu^3/[3c_1(\Omega)])$.

4.6 Nonstationary nonlinear system of Navier–Stokes equations: the integral overdetermination

Given a bounded domain Ω in the plane \mathbb{R}^2 with boundary $\partial\Omega$ of class C^2 , the system consisting of the nonstationary nonlinear Navier-Stokes equations and the incompressibility equation

(4.6.1)
$$\mathbf{v}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} + (\mathbf{v}, \Delta) \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + \mathbf{F}(x, t),$$
$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0,$$

will be of special investigations for $(x, t) \in Q_T \equiv \Omega \times (0, T), 0 < T < \infty$, provided that the vector external force function **F** is representable by

$$\mathbf{F} = f(t) \mathbf{g}(x, t),$$

where the vector \mathbf{g} is known in advance, while the unknown scalar coefficient f is sought.

The nonlinear inverse problem consists of finding a set of the functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, f\}$, which satisfy the system (4.6.1)-(4.6.2) and the function \mathbf{v} involved complies also with the initial condition

(4.6.3)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,0) = \mathbf{a}(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

the boundary condition

$$\mathbf{v}(x,t) = 0, \qquad (x,t) \in S_T = \partial \Omega \times [0,T],$$

and the condition of integral overdetermination

(4.6.5)
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx = \varphi(t) \,, \qquad 0 \leq t \leq T \,,$$

when operating with the functions $\mathbf{g}, \boldsymbol{\omega}, \mathbf{a}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}$ and the coefficient ν .

Definition 4.6.1 A pair of the functions $\{v, f\}$ is said to be a weak generalized solution of the nonlinear inverse problem concerned if

$$\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{\mathring{J}}(\Omega)) \cap \mathbf{L}_{2}([0, T]; \mathbf{\mathring{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{\mathring{J}}(\Omega));$$
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x, t) \cdot \mathbf{\Phi}(x) \ dx \in \mathbf{W}_{2}^{1}(0, T), \ \forall \mathbf{\Phi} \in \mathbf{\mathring{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{\mathring{J}}(\Omega); \ f \in L_{2}(0, T),$$

and they satisfy for any $\Phi \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}{}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$ the integral identity

$$(4.6.6) \qquad \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \mathbf{\Phi}(x) \, dx \\ + \nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_x(x,t) \cdot \mathbf{\Phi}_z(x) \, dx \\ + \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{v}(x,t), \nabla) \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \mathbf{\Phi}(x) \, dx \\ = \int_{\Omega} f(t) \, \mathbf{g}(x,t) \cdot \mathbf{\Phi}(x) \, dx$$

along with the initial condition (4.6.3) and the overdetermination condition (4.6.5).

It is worth emphasizing here the incompressibility of the fluid and the boundary condition (4.6.4) are taken into account in Definition 4.6.1 in the sense that the function $\mathbf{v}(\cdot, t)$ belongs to the space $\mathbf{\hat{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{\hat{J}}(\Omega)$ for almost all $t \in [0, T]$.

Later discussions of the inverse problem at hand are based on the paper by Vasin (1993). In the sequel we will assume that the domain Ω of space variables is plane and the input data functions meet the requirements

$$\mathbf{a} \in \mathbf{J}(\Omega), \quad \mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T], \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)), \quad \boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{W}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{J}(\Omega),$$

$$\varphi \in \mathbf{W}_2^1(0, T), \ \left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \ dx \right| \ge g_0 > 0, \ 0 \le t \le T \ (g_0 \equiv \text{const}).$$

With these assumptions, we proceed to derive an operator equation of the second kind for the scalar function f. This amounts to holding an arbitrary function f from the space $L_2(0, T)$ fixed and substituting it into the system (4.6.1) and identity (4.6.6) both. Combination of identity (4.6.6) written above and the initial condition (4.6.3) constitutes what is called a weak statement of the direct problem (4.6.1)-(4.6.4) of finding a function \mathbf{v} .

Since $\mathbf{F} = f \mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$, $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbf{J}(\Omega)$ and $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^2$, there exists a unique function \mathbf{v} satisfying identity (4.6.6) with the coefficient f fixed and the initial condition (4.6.3). In every such case the function \mathbf{v} should belong to the desired spaces of functions (see Temam (1979)) and any function f from the space $L_2(0, T)$ can uniquely be put in correspondence with the vector function

$$\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{\mathring{J}}(\Omega)) \cap \mathbf{L}_{2}([0, T]; \mathbf{\mathring{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{\mathring{J}}(\Omega))$$

The traditional way of covering this is to refer to the nonlinear operator

$$A: L_2(0, T) \mapsto L_2(0, T)$$

acting in accordance with the rule

(4.6.7)
$$(A f)(t) = \left\{ \int_{\Omega} \left[\nu \mathbf{v}_x \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_x + (\mathbf{v}, \nabla) \mathbf{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega} \right] dx + \varphi'(t) \right\} / g_1(t) ,$$

where **v** has been already found as a weak solution of the system (4.6.1)-(4.6.4) and

$$g_1(t) = \int\limits_\Omega {f g}(x,t) \,\cdot\, {m \omega}(x) \,\,dx$$
 .

We proceed to study the operator equation of the second kind over the space $L_2([0, T])$:

(4.6.8)
$$f = A f$$
.

An interrelation between the inverse problem (4.6.1)–(4.6.5) and the nonlinear equation (4.6.8) from the viewpoint of their solvability is revealed in the following assertion.

Theorem 4.6.1 Let $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^2$, $\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T], \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega))$, $\mathbf{a} \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$ and $\varphi \in \mathbf{W}_2^1(0, T)$,

$$\left|\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx \right| \geq g_0 > 0, \qquad 0 \leq t \leq T.$$

Then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) if the inverse problem (4.6.1)-(4.6.5) is solvable, then so is equation (4.6.8);
- (b) if equation (4.6.8) has a solution and the compatibility condition

(4.6.9)
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{a}(x) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx = \varphi(0)$$

holds, then there exists a solution of the inverse problem (4.6.1)-(4.6.5).

Proof We proceed to prove item (a). Let the inverse problem (4.6.1)–(4.6.5) have a solution, say $\{\mathbf{v}, f\}$. By Definition 4.6.1 the pair $\{\mathbf{v}, f\}$ satisfies (4.6.6) with any $\mathbf{\Phi}$ from $\mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{\mathring{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{\mathring{J}}(\Omega)$. By merely setting $\mathbf{\Phi}(x) = \boldsymbol{\omega}(x)$ we obtain

$$(4.6.10) \quad \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx + \nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_x(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_x(x) \, dx \\ + \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{v}(x,t), \nabla) \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx = f(t) \, g_1(t) \, ,$$

257

where

$$g_1(t) = \int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \ dx$$

From definition (4.6.7) of the operator A and the overdetermination condition (4.6.5) it follows that the left-hand side of relation (4.6.10) is equal to $g_1(t)(A f)(t)$, leading by (4.6.10) to

$$Af = f$$
.

This means that the function f solves equation (4.6.8) and thereby item (a) is completely proved.

We proceed to item (b). Let equation (4.6.8) have a solution belonging to the space $L_2(0, T)$. We denote this solution by f and substitute it into (4.6.1)-(4.6.2). After minor manipulations the system (4.6.1)-(4.6.4) may be treated in the context of Theorems 4.1.6-4.1.7 and a function \mathbf{v} is obtained as a unique weak solution of the direct problem for the nonlinear nonstationary Navier-Stokes equations in the case when the domain Ω of space variables is plane. The system (4.6.1) is satisfied by the function \mathbf{v} in the sense of identity (4.6.6). Under such an approach we have found the functions \mathbf{v} and f, which belong to the class of functions from Definition 4.6.1 and satisfy relations (4.6.6) and (4.6.3) both. Let us show that the function \mathbf{v} meets the integral overdetermination (4.6.5) as well. By inserting $\Phi(x) = \omega(x)$ in (4.6.6) we arrive at

$$(4.6.11) \quad \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx + \nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_x(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_x(x) \, dx \\ + \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{v}(x,t), \nabla) \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx = f(t) g_1(t)$$

On the other hand, the function f being a solution to equation (4.6.8) implies that

(4.6.12)
$$\varphi'(x) + \nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_x(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_x(x) dx$$

 $+ \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{v}(x,t), \nabla) \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) dx = f(t) g_1(t).$

Subtracting (4.6.12) from (4.6.11) yields

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \ dx - \varphi'(x) = 0 \ .$$

258

4.6. Navier-Stokes equations: the integral overdetermination

If, with the compatibility condition (4.6.9) in view, one integrates the preceding relation from 0 to t, then from the resulting expression it seems clear that the function \mathbf{v} does follow the integral overdetermination (4.6.5). Because of this, the collection $\{\mathbf{v}, f\}$ is just a weak solution of the inverse problem (4.6.1)-(4.6.5) and this proves the assertion of the theorem.

We should raise the question of the solvability of the inverse problem (4.6.1)-(4.6.5). For this, we have occasion to use a closed ball D in the space $L_2(0, T)$ with center φ'/g_1 such that

(4.6.13)
$$\mathcal{D} = \left\{ f \in L_2(0, T) \colon \| f - \varphi' / g_1 \|_{2, (0, T)} \le r \right\},$$

where

$$g_1(t) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx$$

In what follows the symbol A^k will stand for the kth degree of the operator A for $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Theorem 4.6.2 Let
$$\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^2$$
, $\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T], \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega))$, $\mathbf{a} \in \dot{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$
 $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega}_x \in \mathbf{L}_\infty(\Omega)$, $\varphi \in \mathbf{W}_2^1(0, T)$ and
 $\left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) dx \right| \ge g_0 > 0 \quad (g_0 \equiv \text{const}), \quad 0 \le t \le T.$

One assumes, in addition, that the nonlinear operator A carries the ball \mathcal{D} into itself. Then there exists a positive integer k such that the operator A^k is a contraction mapping in the ball \mathcal{D} .

Proof Let either of the functions f_1 and f_2 belong to the ball \mathcal{D} . By the definition of the operator A,

$$(4.6.14) ||A f_1 - A f_2||_{2,(0,t)} = \int_0^t |A f_1 - A f_2|^2 d\tau$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{g_0} \int_0^t \left| \int_{\Omega} [\nu(\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)_x \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_x(x) + (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2, \nabla) \mathbf{v}_1 \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) + (\mathbf{v}_2, \nabla) (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x)] dx \right|^2 d\tau,$$

n

where the functions \mathbf{v}_1 and \mathbf{v}_2 are associated with the coefficients f_1 and f_2 , respectively.

The absolute value on the right-hand side of (4.6.14) can be estimated as follows:

$$(4.6.15) \qquad \left| \int_{\Omega} \left[\nu \left(\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2} \right)_{x} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_{x}(x) + \left(\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2}, \nabla \right) \mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \right. \\ \left. + \left(\mathbf{v}_{2}, \nabla \right) \left(\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2} \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \right] dx \right| \\ \leq \nu \left\| \left(\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2} \right) \left(\cdot, t \right) \right\|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \left\| \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega} \right\|_{2,\Omega} \\ \left. + \left| \int_{\Omega} \sum_{k=1}^{2} \left(v_{1k} - v_{2k} \right) \left(\mathbf{v}_{1} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_{x_{k}} \right) dx \right| \right. \\ \left. + \left| \int_{\Omega} \sum_{k=1}^{2} v_{2k} \left[\left(\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2} \right) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_{x_{k}} \right] dx \right| \\ \leq \nu \left\| \left(\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2} \right) \left(\cdot, t \right) \right\|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \left\| \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega} \right\|_{2,\Omega} \\ \left. + \left| \int_{\Omega} \left| \mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2} \right| \left| \mathbf{v}_{1} \right| \left| \boldsymbol{\omega}_{x} \right| dx \right| \right. \\ \left. + \left| \int_{\Omega} \left| \mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2} \right| \left| \mathbf{v}_{1} \right| \left| \boldsymbol{\omega}_{x} \right| dx \right| ,$$

where v_{1k} and v_{2k} are the components of the vector functions \mathbf{v}_1 and \mathbf{v}_2 , respectively. We substitute (4.6.15) into (4.6.14) and, by obvious rearrangements, led to

$$(4.6.16) ||A f_{1} - A f_{2}||_{2,(0,t)} \leq \frac{1}{g_{0}} \int_{0}^{t} ||(\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2})(\cdot, \tau)||_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$

$$\times [\nu ||\Delta \omega||_{2,\Omega} + \underset{x \in \Omega}{\operatorname{ess \, sup}} |\omega_{x}|$$

$$\times (||\mathbf{v}_{1}(\cdot, \tau)||_{2,\Omega} + ||\mathbf{v}_{2}(\cdot, \tau)||_{2,\Omega})]^{2} d\tau.$$

In subsequent calculations we shall need as yet the estimate

$$(4.6.17) || (\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2})(\cdot, t) ||_{2, \Omega} \leq \int_{0}^{t} || f_{1}(\tau) \mathbf{g}(\cdot, \tau) - f_{2}(\tau) \mathbf{g}(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2, \Omega}$$
$$\times \exp \left\{ \frac{1}{\nu} \int_{0}^{t} || (v_{1})_{x}(\cdot, \xi) ||_{2, \Omega}^{2} d\xi \right\} d\tau,$$
$$0 \leq t \leq T,$$

which can be derived in just the same way as we obtained estimate (4.4.12). The only difference here lies in the presence of (4.5.4) instead of (4.5.8).

From (4.6.16) and (4.6.17) it follows that

(4.6.18)
$$||Af_1 - Af_2||_{2,(0,t)}^2 \le m_1 \int_0^t ||f_1 - f_2||_{2,(0,\tau)}^2 d\tau$$

where

$$m_{1} = \frac{T}{g_{0}} \sup_{t \in [0, T]} ||g(\cdot, t)||_{2, \Omega}^{2} \exp\left(\frac{2}{\nu} ||(\mathbf{v}_{1})_{x}||_{2, Q_{T}}^{2}\right)$$

$$\times \left[\nu ||\Delta\omega||_{2, \Omega} + \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \Omega} |\omega_{x}| \left(\sup_{t \in [0, T]} ||\mathbf{v}_{1}(\cdot, t)||_{2, \Omega} + \sup_{t \in [0, T]} ||\mathbf{v}_{2}(\cdot, t)||_{2, \Omega}\right)\right]^{2}.$$

The quantity m_1 can be bounded by

$$(4.6.19) mtextsymbol{m_1} \leq \frac{T}{g_0} \left\{ \nu \| \Delta \omega \|_{2,\Omega} + \underset{x \in \Omega}{\operatorname{ess sup}} \| \omega_x \| [2 \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2,\Omega} + \sqrt{T} \underset{t \in [0,T]}{\operatorname{sup}} \| \mathbf{g}(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega} \\ \times \left(\| f_1 \|_{2,(0,T)} + \| f_2 \|_{2,(0,T)} \right) \right\}^2 \exp \left\{ \left(2 \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2,\Omega}^2 + 3T \right) \\ \times \underset{t \in [0,T]}{\operatorname{sup}} \| \mathbf{g}(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 \| f_1 \|_{2,(0,T)}^2 \right\}^2.$$

4. Inverse Problems in Dynamics of Viscous Incompressible Fluid Here we used also the following estimates with reference to (4.1.16)-(4.1.17):

(4.6.20)
$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \| \mathbf{v}(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega} \le \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2,\Omega} + \int_{0}^{t} \| f(t) \mathbf{g}(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega} d\tau,$$

(4.6.21)
$$2\nu \|\mathbf{v}_{x}\|_{2,Q_{T}}^{2} \leq 2\|\mathbf{a}\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + 3\left(\int_{0}^{t} \|f(t)\mathbf{g}(\cdot,t)\|_{2,\Omega} d\tau\right)^{2}.$$

Since either of the functions f_1 and f_2 lies within the ball \mathcal{D} , the combination of inequalities (4.6.18) and (4.6.19) gives the estimate

$$(4.6.22) ||A f_1 - A f_2||_{2,(0,t)} \le \left(m_2 \int_0^t ||f_1 - f_2||_{2,(0,\tau)}^2 d\tau\right)^{1/2}, \\ 0 \le t \le T,$$

where

$$m_{2} = \frac{T}{g_{0}} \left[\nu \| \Delta \omega \|_{2,\Omega} + \operatorname{ess\,sup} | \omega_{x} | \right]$$

$$\times \left(2 \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2,\Omega} + 2\sqrt{T} \, \tilde{r} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \| g(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega} \right)^{2}$$

$$\times \exp \left\{ \nu^{-2} \left(2 \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \right)$$

$$+ 3 \, T \, \tilde{r}^{2} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \| g(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \right)^{2},$$

$$\tilde{r} = r + \| \varphi' / g_{1} \|_{2,(0,T)}$$

and r is the radius of the ball \mathcal{D} .

It is worth noting here that m_2 is expressed only in terms of input data and does not depend on t.

By assumption, the operator A carries the ball \mathcal{D} into itself that makes it possible to define for any positive integer k the kth degree of the operator A. In what follows this operator will be denoted by the symbol A^k . Via the

4.6. Navier-Stokes equations: the integral overdetermination

mathematical induction on k inequality (4.6.22) assures us of the validity of the estimate

$$(4.6.23) ||A^k f_1 - A^k f_2||_{2,(0,T)} \le \left(\frac{m_2^k T^k}{k!}\right)^{1/2} ||f_1 - f_2||_{2,(0,T)}.$$

It is clear that

$$\left(\,m_2^k \, T^k\,\right) \,/\,k\,! \,\rightarrow\, 0$$

as $k \to \infty$ and, therefore, there exists a positive integer k_0 such that

$$(m_2^{k_0} T^{k_0} / k_0 !)^{1/2} < 1$$
.

Due to estimate (4.6.23) the operator A^{k_0} is a contracting mapping in the ball \mathcal{D} . This proves the assertion of the theorem.

Sufficient conditions under which the operator A will carry the closed ball \mathcal{D} into itself are established in the following theorem.

Theorem 4.6.3 Let $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^2$, $\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T], \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega))$, $\mathbf{a} \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega}_x \in \mathbf{L}_{\infty}(\Omega)$, $\varphi \in \mathbf{W}_2^1(0, T)$ and

$$\left|\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx\right| \geq g_0 > 0 \quad (g_0 \equiv \text{const}), \quad 0 \leq t \leq T.$$

If

$$(4.6.24)$$
 $m_3 < r$

where

$$m_{3} = \frac{T}{g_{0}} \left[\nu \|\Delta \omega\|_{2,\Omega} \left(\|\mathbf{a}\|_{2,\Omega} + \sqrt{T} \, \tilde{r} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|g(\cdot,t)\|_{2,\Omega} \right) + \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \Omega} \|\omega_{x}\| \left(2\|\mathbf{a}\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + 2T \, \tilde{r}^{2} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|g(\cdot,t)\|_{2,\Omega}^{2} \right) \right],$$
$$\tilde{r} = r + \|\varphi'/g_{1}\|_{2,(0,T)}$$

and r is the radius of the ball D, then the operator A carries the closed ball D into itself.

Proof We proceed as usual. This amounts to fixing an arbitrary function f from \mathcal{D} and stating, by definition (4.6.13) of the ball \mathcal{D} , that

$$(4.6.25) || f ||_{2,(0,T)} \le \tilde{r}.$$

The norm of the function $A f - \varphi'/g_1$ can be estimated as follows:

$$(4.6.26) ||Af - \varphi'/g_1||_{2,(0,T)} = \left(\int_0^t |Af - \varphi'/g_1|^2 dt\right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{g_0} \left[\int_0^t (\nu ||\mathbf{v}(\cdot,t)||_{2,\Omega} \cdot ||\Delta\omega||_{2,\Omega} + \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in\Omega} |\omega_x| ||\mathbf{v}(\cdot,t)||_{2,\Omega}^2 dt\right]^{1/2}.$$

By appeal to (4.6.20) and (4.6.25) one can readily see that (4.6.26) yields

$$(4.6.27) || A f - \varphi' / g_1 ||_{2,(0,T)} \le m_3,$$

where m_3 is the same as before.

By virtue of (4.6.24), we have $m_3 < r$. With this relation in view, estimate (4.6.27) immediately implies that the nonlinear operator A carries the ball \mathcal{D} into itself, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

Regarding the unique solvability of the inverse problem concerned, we obtain the following result.

Theorem 4.6.4 Let $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^2$, $\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T], \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega))$, $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbf{J}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{W}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{J}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega}_x \in \mathbf{L}_\infty(\Omega)$, $\varphi \in \mathbf{W}_2^1(0, T)$ and

$$\left| \int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \ dx \right| \geq g_0 > 0 \quad (g_0 \equiv \mathrm{const}), \quad 0 \leq t \leq T.$$

If the compatibility condition (4.6.9) and estimate (4.6.24) hold, then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) the inverse problem (4.6.1)-(4.6.5) has a solution $\{\mathbf{v}, f\}$ with $f \in \mathcal{D}$ incorporated;
- (b) there are no two distinct solutions $\{\mathbf{v}_i, f_i\}$, i = 1, 2, of the inverse problem (4.6.1)-(4.6.5) such that both satisfy the condition $f_i \in \mathcal{D}$.

Proof In proving item (a) we begin by placing the operator equation (4.6.8) and note in passing that within the input assumptions the nonlinear operator A carries the closed ball \mathcal{D} into itself on account of Theorem 4.6.3, whose use is justified. Consequently, the operator A does follow the conditions of Theorem 4.6.2 and there exists a positive integer k such that the operator A^k is a contraction on \mathcal{D} . By the well-known generalization of the principle of contracting mappings we conclude that A has a unique fixed point in \mathcal{D} . In the language of operator equations, the nonlinear equation (4.6.8) possesses a solution lying within the ball \mathcal{D} and, moreover, this solution is unique in \mathcal{D} . In this framework Theorem 4.6.1 implies the existence of a solution of the inverse problem (4.6.1)-(4.6.5) and item (a) is completely proved.

We proceed to item (b). Assume to the contrary that there were two distinct solutions $\{\mathbf{v}_1, f_1\}$ and $\{\mathbf{v}_2, f_2\}$ of the inverse problem such that f_1 and f_2 both lie within the ball \mathcal{D} .

It is necessary to emphasize that under the present agreement f_1 cannot coincide with f_2 almost everywhere on [0, T]. Indeed, if f_1 is equal to f_2 almost everywhere on [0, T], then \mathbf{v}_1 coincide with \mathbf{v}_2 in Q_T in accordance with the uniqueness theorem for the direct problem solution.

Initially, look at the first pair $\{\mathbf{v}_1, f_1\}$. Arguing as in the proof of item (a) from Theorem 4.6.1 we draw the conclusion that the function f_1 represents a solution to equation (4.6.8). Similar arguments serve to motivate that the function f_2 solves the same equation (4.6.8). But we have just established that equation (4.6.8) possesses in \mathcal{D} only one solution. Thus, we have shown that the assumption about the existence of two distinct solutions $\{\mathbf{v}_i, f_i\}$, i = 1, 2, fails to be true, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

Before concluding this section, we demonstrate that the class of functions satisfying the conditions of Theorem 4.6.4 is not empty.

Example 4.6.1 Let $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^2$, $\mathbf{g} = \mathbf{g}(x)$, $\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega}_x \in \mathbf{L}_{\infty}(\Omega)$, $\mathbf{a} \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$ and

$$\left|\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \ dx\right| = g_0 > 0 \, .$$

If we agree to consider

$$\varphi(t) \equiv \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{a}(x) \, \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx \, ,$$

that is, $\varphi \equiv \text{const}$ and set r = 1, it is easily seen that $\tilde{r} = 1$ and inequality (4.6.24) takes the form

$$(4.6.28) \quad \frac{\sqrt{T}}{g_0} \left[\nu \| \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega} \|_{2,\Omega} \left(\| \mathbf{a} \|_{2,\Omega} + \sqrt{T} \| g \|_{2,\Omega} \right) + \underset{x \in \Omega}{\operatorname{ess sup}} \| \boldsymbol{\omega}_x \| \left(2 \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2,\Omega}^2 + 2T \| g \|_{2,\Omega}^2 \right) \right] < 1.$$

Obviously, the left-hand side of (4.6.28) approaches zero as $T \to 0+$. Consequently, there exists a time T^* such that for any T from the half-open interval $(0, T^*]$ estimate (4.6.28) will be true. From such reasoning it seems worthwhile to consider the inverse problem (4.6.1)-(4.6.5), keeping $T \in (0, T^*]$ and taking r = 1, the radius of the ball \mathcal{D} . It is easily comprehended that the inverse problem with these input data satisfies the conditions of Theorem 4.6.4.

4.7 Nonstationary linearized system of Navier–Stokes equations: adopting a linearization via recovering a coefficient

The main object of investigation is the system consisting of the nonstationary linearized Navier-Stokes equations in the general form and the incompressibility equation

(4.7.1)
$$\mathbf{v}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} + \sum_{k=1}^n B_k(x,t) \mathbf{v}_{x_k} + A(x,t) \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + \mathbf{F}(x,t),$$
$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0, \qquad (x,t) \in Q_r,$$

where B_k and A are given $(n \times n)$ -matrices with entries b_k^{ij} and a^{ij} , n = 2, 3, the function **F** is known in advance and the velocity **v** meets the initial condition

$$\mathbf{v}(x,0) = \mathbf{a}(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

and the boundary condition

$$\mathbf{v}(x,t) = 0, \qquad (x,t) \in S_T.$$

In the present problem statement with the available functions \mathbf{a} and \mathbf{F} it is interesting to ask whether the choice of a special type is possible within the general class of linearizations (4.7.1) that enables the fluid flow to

4.7. Navier-Stokes equations: linearization

satisfy certain conditions in addition to the initial and boundary data. One needs to exercise good judgment in deciding which to consider. When more information is available, there arises a problem of adopting a linearization and recovering the corresponding coefficients on the left-hand side of the first equation (4.7.1).

We offer one of the approaches to adopting a linearization through a common setting with further careful analysis of the corresponding coefficient inverse problem. Here the subsidiary information about the flow is of the integral overdetermination form

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \, \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx = \varphi(t) \,, \qquad 0 \leq t \leq T \,,$$

where the functions ω and φ are known in advance. In that case one might expect the unique recovery only of a single scalar function depending on t.

There are many ingredients necessary for the well-posedness of the initial problem. One should make a number of assumptions in achieving this property. Let A be a diagonal matrix, whose elements a^{ij} of the main diagonal are independent of x and coincide. Consequently, we might attempt the matrix A in the form

$$A(x,t) = \alpha(t) I,$$

where I is the unit matrix of the appropriate size and $\alpha(t)$ is a scalar coefficient. This provides support for an alternative form of writing

$$A(x,t)\mathbf{v} \equiv \alpha(t)\mathbf{v},$$

where the unknown coefficient $\alpha(t)$ is sought. In order to simplify some of the subsequent manipulations we set $B_k(x,t) \equiv \beta_k(x,t) I$, where $\beta_k(x,t)$ is a scalar function. It follows from the foregoing that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} B_{k}(x,t) \mathbf{v}_{x_{k}} \equiv \sum_{k=1}^{n} \beta_{k}(x,t) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{k}} \mathbf{v} \equiv \left(\beta(x,t), \nabla \right) \mathbf{v},$$

where β stands for a vector function with the components β_k .

Being concerned with the coefficients ν and β and the functions **a**, **F**, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ and φ we are now in a position to set up the nonlinear inverse problem of finding the velocity $\mathbf{v}(x,t)$, the pressure gradient $\nabla p(x,t)$ and the coefficient $\alpha(t)$ from the system of equations

(4.7.2)
$$\mathbf{v}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} + (\boldsymbol{\beta}(x,t), \nabla) \mathbf{v} + \alpha(t) \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + \mathbf{F}(x,t),$$
$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0, \qquad (x,t) \in Q_T,$$
the initial condition

(4.7.3)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,0) = \mathbf{a}(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

the boundary condition

(4.7.4)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,t) = 0, \qquad (x,t) \in S_T,$$

and the condition of integral overdetermination

(4.7.5)
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \, \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx = \varphi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

In the sequel a solution of the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5) is sought in the class of functions

$$\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T), \qquad \nabla p \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T), \qquad \alpha \in C([0,T]),$$

where C([0, T]) is the space of all continuous on [0, T] functions. Recall that the norm of the space C([0, T]) is defined by

(4.7.6)
$$\|\alpha\|_{C} = \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\alpha(t) \exp\{-\gamma t\}|,$$

where a proper choice of the constant γ will be justified below. While studying the inverse problem at hand we employ once again certain devices for deriving several a priori estimates for the norms of the functions sought in terms of input data and follow Prilepko and Vasin (1993).

Assuming $\mathbf{F} \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$, $\boldsymbol{\beta} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{L}_4(\Omega))$ and $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbf{W}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{J}(\Omega)$, we choose an arbitrary function α from C(0, T) and substitute it into (4.7.2). Being concerned with the functions $\boldsymbol{\beta}$, \mathbf{a} and \mathbf{F} we involve the system for finding a set of the vector functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$. The corresponding theorem on existence and uniqueness of the solution of the direct problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.4) asserts that the pair $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$, which interests us (see Ladyzhenskaya (1967) and Solonnikov (1973)), can uniquely be recovered.

Upon receipt of the function \mathbf{v} we can refer to the nonlinear operator

$$A: C([0, T]) \mapsto C([0, T])$$

with the values

$$(4.7.7) \quad (A\,\alpha)(t) = \left\{ \int_{\Omega} \left[\nu \, \mathbf{v} \, \cdot \, \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega} - (\boldsymbol{\beta}, \, \nabla) \, \mathbf{v} \, \cdot \, \boldsymbol{\omega} + \mathbf{F} \, \cdot \, \boldsymbol{\omega} \right] \, dx \\ - \, \varphi'(x) \right\} / \varphi(t) \,, \qquad 0 \le t \le T \,,$$

where the new functions ω and φ obey the restrictions

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega), \quad \boldsymbol{\varphi} \in C^1(0, T), \quad |\boldsymbol{\varphi}(t)| \ge \boldsymbol{\varphi}_T > 0, \quad \boldsymbol{\varphi}_T \equiv \text{const}$$

Common practice involves the nonlinear operator equation of the second kind for the function $\alpha(t)$ over the space C([0, T]):

$$(4.7.8) \qquad \qquad \alpha = A \alpha$$

The result we present below establishes an interrelation between the solvability of the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5) and solvability of the operator equation (4.7.8).

Theorem 4.7.1 Let $\mathbf{F} \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$, $\boldsymbol{\beta} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{L}_4(\Omega)) \cap \mathbf{J}(Q_T)$, $\mathbf{a} \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}_2^1}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}_2^1}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in C^1([0, T])$ and $|\boldsymbol{\varphi}(t)| \geq \varphi_T > 0$ ($\varphi_T \equiv \text{const}$), $0 \leq t \leq T$. Then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) if the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.3) has a solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha\}$, then the function α involved satisfies equation (4.7.8);
- (b) if equation (4.7.8) is solvable and the compatibility condition

(4.7.9)
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{a}(x) \,\boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx = \varphi(0)$$

holds, then the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5) is solvable.

Proof We proceed to prove item (a). Let the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5) possess a solution, say $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha\}$. Multiplying the first equation (4.7.2) by the function $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ scalarly in $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$ and making a standard rearrangement, we arrive at the identity

$$(4.7.10) \qquad \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx - \nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx \\ + \int_{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{\beta}(x,t), \nabla) \, \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx \\ + \alpha(t) \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx \\ = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{F}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx , \quad 0 \le t \le T .$$

Substituting (4.7.5) into (4.7.10) and taking into account (4.7.7), we establish the relation

$$\alpha = A \alpha ,$$

meaning that α gives a solution to equation (4.7.8). Thus, the assertion of item (a) is completely proved.

We proceed to item (b). Let (4.7.8) have a solution belonging to the space C([0, T]). We denote it by α and substitute into (4.7.2). Having resolved the system (4.7.2)-(4.7.4) one can find a pair of the functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p\}$ as a unique solution of the direct problem. It is necessary to prove that the function \mathbf{v} thus obtained satisfies the overdetermination condition (4.7.5) as well. For further motivations it is convenient to deal with

$$\int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \,\cdot\, oldsymbol{\omega}(x) \;dx \,=\, arphi_1(t)\,, \qquad 0 \leq t \leq T\,.$$

From (4.7.3) it follows that

(4.7.11)
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{a}(x) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx = \varphi_1(0)$$

By the same reasoning as in the derivation of (4.7.10) we establish the relation

(4.7.12)
$$\varphi'_{1}(t) - \nu \int_{\Omega} \left[\mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega} + (\boldsymbol{\beta}, \nabla) \, \mathbf{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega} \right] dx$$

 $+ \alpha(t) \, \varphi_{1}(t) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{F} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega} \, dx , \qquad 0 \le t \le T ,$

showing the notation $\varphi_1(t)$ to be a sensible one. The function $\alpha(t)$ being a solution of (4.7.8) implies that

$$(4.7.13) \quad \varphi'(t) - \nu \int_{\Omega} \left[\mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega} + (\boldsymbol{\beta}, \nabla) \, \mathbf{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega} \right] \, dx \\ + \alpha(t) \, \varphi(t) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{F} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega} \, dx \,, \qquad 0 \le t \le T \,,$$

Subtracting (4.7.12) from (4.7.13) yields the differential equation

$$(\varphi - \varphi_1)' + \alpha(t)(\varphi - \varphi_1) = 0,$$

whose general solution is of the form

(4.7.14)
$$(\varphi - \varphi_1)(t) = c \exp\left\{-\int_0^t \alpha(\tau) d\tau\right\}, \qquad c = \text{const}.$$

From (4.7.9) and (4.7.11) we deduce that

$$(\varphi-\varphi_1)(0) = 0,$$

leading by formula (4.7.14) to

$$(\varphi - \varphi_1)(t) \equiv 0.$$

This means that the function **v** satisfies (4.7.5) and thereby the triple $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha\}$ with these members is just a solution of the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5). Thus, the theorem is completely proved.

Remark 4.7.1 One circumstance involved should be taken into account with regard to the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5). If the functions **a** and **F** both are equal to zero almost everywhere in Ω and Q_T , respectively, then, in complete agreement with the corresponding theorem, the direct problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.4) has only a trivial solution for any β and α from the indicated classes. For this reason it would be impossible to recover the coefficient α . However, the presence of relation (4.7.5) in the input conditions and the inequality $|\varphi(t)| \ge \varphi_T > 0$ in the assumptions of Theorem 4.7.1 excludes that case from further consideration in the present statement of the inverse problem.

At the next stage we examine the properties of the nonlinear operator A, whose use permits us to justify a possibility of applying the **contraction mapping principle**. In preparation for this, we consider in the space C([0, T]) the closed ball

$$D_r = \{ \alpha \in C([0, T]) : \| \alpha \|_C \le r \}.$$

Lemma 4.7.1 Let $\mathbf{F} \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$, $\boldsymbol{\beta} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{L}_4(\Omega)) \cap \mathbf{J}(Q_T)$, $\mathbf{a} \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in C^1([0, T])$ and $|\boldsymbol{\varphi}(t)| \geq \varphi_T > 0$ ($\varphi_T \equiv \text{const}$), $0 \leq t \leq T$. If the radius of D_r is taken to be

(4.7.15)
$$r = (2T)^{-1} \exp\{-\gamma t\}$$

then the nonlinear operator A admits the estimate

$$(4.7.16) || A \alpha_1 - A \alpha_2 ||_C \le m \gamma^{-1} || \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 ||_C, \alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in D_r,$$

where

$$m = 4 \varphi_T^{-1} \left(\|\mathbf{a}\|_{2,\Omega} + \|\mathbf{F}\|_{2,1,Q_T} \right)$$
$$\times \left(\nu \|\Delta \boldsymbol{\omega}\|_{2,\Omega} + \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\boldsymbol{\beta}(\cdot,t)\|_{4,\Omega} \|\boldsymbol{\omega}_x\|_{4,\Omega} \right).$$

Proof Let α_1 and α_2 be arbitrary distinct elements of D_r . By the definition of the operator A,

$$(4.7.17) ||A \alpha_{1} - A \alpha_{2}|$$

$$= \frac{1}{|\varphi(t)|} \left| \int_{\Omega} \left[\nu (\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2}) \cdot \Delta \omega - (\beta, \nabla) (\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2}) \cdot \omega \right] dx \right|$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\varphi_{T}} \left(\nu ||\Delta \omega ||_{2,\Omega} + ||\beta(\cdot, t)||_{4,\Omega} \cdot ||\omega_{x}||_{4,\Omega} \right)$$

$$\times ||(\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2})(\cdot, t)||_{2,\Omega}, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where \mathbf{v}_1 and \mathbf{v}_2 are the solutions of the direct problems (4.7.2)-(4.7.4) with the coefficients α_1 and α_2 , respectively.

Let us estimate the last factor on the right-hand side of (4.7.17).

Obviously, the function $\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2$ gives a solution of the direct problem

(4.7.18)

$$(\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2})_{t} - \nu \Delta (\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2}) + (\boldsymbol{\beta}, \nabla) (\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2}) + \alpha_{2} (\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2}) + (\alpha_{1} - \alpha_{2}) \mathbf{v}_{1} = -\nabla (p_{1} - p_{2}),$$

$$\operatorname{div} (\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2}) = 0, \quad (x, t) \in Q_{T},$$
(4.7.19)

$$(\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2})(x, 0) = 0, \quad x \in \Omega,$$

(4.7.20)
$$(\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(x, t) = 0, \quad (x, t) \in S_T.$$

Let us write the corresponding energy identity

$$(4.7.21) \quad \frac{1}{2} \quad \frac{d}{dt} \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 + \nu \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)_x(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 + \alpha_2(t) \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 = (\alpha_2 - \alpha_1) \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_1 \cdot (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2) dx$$

with reference to the relation

$$\int_{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{\beta}, \nabla) \left(\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2 \right) \cdot \left(\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2 \right) \, dx = 0 \,,$$

which is valid for any $\beta \in \mathbf{J}(Q_T)$.

Combination of identity (4.7.21) and the Poincaré-Friedrichs inequality (1.2.21) gives the estimate

$$(4.7.22) \qquad \frac{d}{dt} \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} + \frac{\nu}{c_1(\Omega)} \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}$$
$$\leq |\alpha_2(t)| \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}$$
$$+ \| \mathbf{v}_1(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega} |(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)(t)|,$$
$$0 \leq t \leq T,$$

with constant $c_1(\Omega)$ arising from (4.2.21).

Estimate (4.7.21), in turn, leads to

$$(4.7.23) \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2,\Omega} \leq \int_0^\tau |\alpha_2(\xi)| \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, \xi) \|_{2,\Omega} d\xi + \int_0^\tau \| (\mathbf{v}_1)(\cdot, \xi) \|_{2,\Omega} |(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)(\xi)| d\xi , 0 \leq \tau \leq t \leq T ,$$

yielding

(4.7.24) $\| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2,\Omega}$

$$\leq \sup_{\xi \in [0, t]} \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, \xi) \|_{2, \Omega} \int_0^t |\alpha_2(\xi)| d\xi$$
$$+ \sup_{\xi \in [0, t]} \| \mathbf{v}_1(\cdot, \xi) \|_{2, \Omega} \int_0^t |(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)(\xi)| d\xi$$
$$0 \leq \tau \leq t \leq T.$$

From (4.7.24) it follows that

$$(4.7.25) \quad \sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega}$$

$$\leq \sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega}$$

$$\times \| \alpha_2 \|_C T \exp \{\gamma T\}$$

$$+ \sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| \mathbf{v}_1(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega}$$

$$\times \int_0^t |(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)(\tau)| d\tau, \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Since $\alpha_2 \in D_r$, having stipulated (4.7.25), the estimate becomes valid:

(4.7.26)

$$\sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} || (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2, \Omega} \leq 2 \sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} || \mathbf{v}_1(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2, \Omega}$$

$$\times \int_0^t |(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)(\tau)| d\tau,$$

$$0 \leq t \leq T.$$

Here we used also the relation

$$rT \exp{\{\gamma T\}} = \frac{1}{2}$$

as an immediate implication of (4.7.15).

If the system (4.7.2)-(4.7.4) is written for α_1 and \mathbf{v}_1 , then by a similar reasoning as before we derive the estimate

$$(4.7.27) \sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| \mathbf{v}_{1}(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} \leq \sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| \mathbf{v}_{1}(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} \| \alpha_{1} \|_{C} T \exp \{\gamma T\} + \int_{0}^{t} \| \mathbf{F}(\cdot, \xi) \|_{2, \Omega} d\xi + \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2, \Omega}, \\ 0 \leq t \leq T.$$

Since $\alpha_1 \in D_r$, we might have

(4.7.28)
$$\sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| \mathbf{v}_{1}(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} \le 2 \left(\| \mathbf{a} \|_{2, \Omega} + \| \mathbf{F} \|_{2, 1, Q_{t}} \right), \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Substituting (4.7.28) into (4.7.26) yields the estimate

(4.7.29)
$$\sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} \leq 4 \left(\| \mathbf{a} \|_{2, \Omega} + \| \mathbf{F} \|_{2, 1, Q_t} \right) \\ \times \int_{0}^{t} |(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)(\tau)| \ d\tau ,$$
$$0 \leq t \leq T ,$$

which is valid for any α_1 and α_2 taken from the ball D_r .

From (4.7.17) and (4.7.29) it follows that

(4.7.30)
$$|(A\alpha_1 - A\alpha_2)(t)| \le m \int_0^t |(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)(\tau)| d\tau, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where m is the same as in (4.7.16). In the light of definition (4.7.6) we establish from (4.7.30) the desired estimate

$$(4.7.31) || A \alpha_1 - A \alpha_2 ||_C$$

$$\leq m \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left| \exp \{-\gamma t\} \int_0^t |(\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)(\tau)| d\tau \right|$$

$$\leq m || \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 ||_C \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left[\exp \{-\gamma t\} \int_0^t \exp \{\gamma \tau\} d\tau \right]$$

$$\leq \frac{m}{\gamma} || \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 ||_C, \quad \forall \alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in D_r,$$

thereby completing the proof of the lemma.

Corollary 4.7.1 Let all the conditions of Lemma 4.7.1 hold. One assumes, in addition, that the constant γ involved in definition (4.7.6) of the norm is of the form

$$(4.7.32) \qquad \qquad \gamma = m + \varepsilon \,,$$

where ε is any positive number. Then the operator A is a contraction in the ball D_r of radius

$$r = (2T)^{-1} \exp\left\{-(m+\varepsilon)T\right\}$$

and the corresponding contraction coefficient is equal to $m/(m+\varepsilon)$.

Proof The proof amounts to substituting relation (4.7.32) into (4.7.15) and (4.7.16) both.

Let us find out under what assumptions the operator A carries the ball D_r into itself. In the following lemma we try to give a definite answer.

Lemma 4.7.2 Let $\mathbf{F} \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$, $\boldsymbol{\beta} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{L}_4(\Omega)) \cap \mathbf{J}(Q_T)$, $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbf{W}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{J}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{W}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{J}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in \dot{C}^1([0, T])$ and $|\boldsymbol{\varphi}(t)| \geq \varphi_T > 0$ ($\varphi_T \equiv \text{const}$), $0 \leq t \leq T$. If the radius of D_r is taken from (4.7.15), then

(4.7.33) $||A\alpha||_C \leq \frac{1}{2}m + \varphi_T^{-1}||f - \varphi'||_C, \quad \forall \alpha \in D_r,$

where

$$f(t) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{F}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \ dx$$

and m is the same as in (4.7.16).

Proof Because of (4.7.7),

$$(4.7.34) \qquad |A\alpha| \leq \varphi_T^{-1} \left[\left(\nu \| \Delta \omega \|_{2,\Omega} + \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \| \beta(\cdot,t) \|_{4,\Omega} \| \omega_x \|_{4,\Omega} \right] \\ \times \| \mathbf{v}(\cdot,t) \|_{2,\Omega} + |f(t) - \varphi'(t)| \right],$$

where

$$f(t) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{F}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \ dx$$

On the other hand, any solution of (4.7.2)-(4.7.4) admits the estimate

(4.7.35) $\sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| \mathbf{v}(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} \le 2 \left(\| \mathbf{a} \|_{2, \Omega} + \| \mathbf{F} \|_{2, 1, Q_T} \right), \ 0 \le t \le T,$

which can be derived in the same manner as we did in the consideration of (4.7.28) by appeal to the coefficient α from the ball D_r .

Estimating the right-hand side of (4.7.34) by means of (4.7.35) and substituting the result into (4.7.6), we obtain (4.7.33) and this proves the lemma.

4.7. Navier-Stokes equations: linearization

For the sake of definiteness, we accept $\gamma = m + 1$ in subsequent arguments. Joint use of Lemmas 4.7.1-4.7.2 and Theorem 4.7.1 makes it possible to establish sufficient conditions under which a solution of the inverse problem at hand exists and is unique.

Theorem 4.7.2 Let $\mathbf{F} \in \mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$, $\boldsymbol{\beta} \in \mathbf{C}([0,T];\mathbf{L}_4(\Omega)) \cap \mathbf{J}(Q_T)$, $\mathbf{a} \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\boldsymbol{\varphi} \in C^1([0,T])$ and $|\boldsymbol{\varphi}(t)| \geq \boldsymbol{\varphi}_T > 0$ ($\boldsymbol{\varphi}_T \equiv \text{const}$), $0 \leq t \leq T$. One assumes, in addition, that the compatibility condition (4.7.9) holds and the radius of the ball D_r is equal to

(4.7.36)
$$r = (2T)^{-1} \exp\{-(m+1)T\}$$

If the input data of the inverse problem satisfy the inequality

(4.7.37)
$$T\left(m+2\varphi_{T}^{-1} \| f-\varphi' \|_{C}\right) \leq \exp\left\{-(m+1)T\right\},$$

where

$$\begin{split} m &= 4 \, \varphi_T^{-1} \left(\, \| \, \mathbf{a} \, \|_{2,\,\Omega} + \| \, \mathbf{F} \, \|_{2,\,1,\,Q_T} \right) \, \left(\, \nu \, \| \, \Delta \omega \, \|_{2,\,\Omega} \right. \\ &+ \sup_{t \in [0,\,T]} \, \| \, \boldsymbol{\beta}(\,\cdot\,,\,t) \, \|_{4,\,\Omega} \, \| \, \boldsymbol{\omega}_x \, \|_{4,\,\Omega} \right), \\ f(t) &= \int_{\Omega} \, \mathbf{F}(x,t) \, \cdot \, \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx \,, \end{split}$$

then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5) has a solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha\}$ with $\alpha \in D_r$;
- (b) there are no two distinct solutions {v_i, ∇p_i, α_i}, i = 1, 2, of the inverse problem (4.7.1)-(4.7.5) such that both satisfy the condition α_i ∈ D_r, i = 1, 2.

Proof First, we are going to show that the nonlinear operator A specified by (4.7.7) can be considered in the context of the contraction mapping principle. Indeed, by Corollary 4.7.1 the operator A appears to be a contraction in the closed ball D_r of radius (4.7.36) and the contraction coefficient therewith is equal to m/(m+1) (recall that $\gamma = m+1$).

On the other hand, since $\gamma = m+1$, Lemma 4.7.2 and estimate (4.7.37) together imply that the operator A carries D_r into itself and, therefore,

A has a unique fixed point in the ball D_r . To put it differently, we have proved that (4.7.8) has in the same ball D_r a unique solution, say α . Under the compatibility condition (4.7.9) Theorem 4.7.1 implies that there exists a solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha\}$ of the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5), where α is exactly the same function which solves (4.7.8) and belongs to D_r . Item (a) is proved.

We proceed to item (b). Assume to the contrary that there were two distinct solutions

$$(4.7.38) \qquad \{\mathbf{v}_1, \nabla p_1, \alpha_1\} \qquad \text{and} \quad \{\mathbf{v}_2, \nabla p_2, \alpha_2\}$$

of the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5) such that α_1 and α_2 both lie within the ball D_r . As noted above, if the collections in (4.7.38) are different, then so are the functions α_1 and α_2 . Indeed, if $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ then, due to the uniqueness theorem for the direct problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.4), the functions \mathbf{v}_1 and ∇p_1 coincide almost everywhere in Q_T with \mathbf{v}_2 and ∇p_2 , respectively.

The collection $\{\mathbf{v}_1, \nabla p_1, \alpha_1\}$, whose functions obey (4.7.2)-(4.7.5), comes first. By Theorem 4.7.1 the function α_1 is just a solution to equation (4.7.8). A similar remark shows that α_2 also satisfies (4.7.8). At the very beginning both functions α_1 and α_2 were taken from the ball D_r . Therefore, we have found in D_r two distinct functions satisfying one and the same equation (4.7.8). But this disagrees with the uniqueness property of the fixed point of the operator A in the ball D_r that has been proved earlier.

Consequently, the assertion of item (b) is true and this completes the proof of the theorem. \blacksquare

Let us consider an example illustrating the result obtained.

Example 4.7.1 Let $\mathbf{F} \equiv 0$ and $\boldsymbol{\beta} \equiv 0$. The functions **a** and $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ are arbitrarily chosen in the corresponding classes so that

$$\left|\int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{a} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega} \, dx\right| > 0.$$

If we agree to consider

$$arphi(t)\equiv igg| \int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{a}\,\cdot\,oldsymbol{\omega}\,\,dx\,igg|>0\,,$$

then $\varphi_T \equiv \varphi(t) \equiv \text{const} > 0$, the compatibility condition (4.7.9) holds and inequality (4.7.37) takes now the form

(4.7.39)
$$T m \leq \exp\{-(m+1)T\},\$$

where

$$m = 4 \nu \|\mathbf{a}\|_{2,\Omega} \cdot \|\Delta \boldsymbol{\omega}\|_{2,\Omega} \left(\int_{\Omega} |\mathbf{a} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}| dx > 0\right)^{-1}.$$

Obviously, for any m > 0 the left-hand side of (4.7.39) tends to 0 as $T \rightarrow 0+$, while the right-hand side has 1 as its limit. Consequently, there exists a time T_1 , for which (4.7.39) becomes true. For $T = T_1$ and the input data we have imposed above it makes sense to turn to the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5), which, by Theorem 4.7.2, possesses a solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha\}$ with $\alpha \in D_r$ and

$$r = (2T_1)^{-1} \exp\{-(m+1)T_1\}.$$

Moreover, there are no two distinct solutions $\{\mathbf{v}_i, \nabla p_i, \alpha_i\}, i = 1, 2$, such that both satisfy the condition $\alpha_i \in D_r$.

The example cited permits us to recognize that Theorem 4.7.2 is, generally speaking, of local character. The uniqueness in item (b) was proved as a corollary to the principle of contracting mapping. However, by another reasoning we obtain the following global uniqueness result.

Theorem 4.7.3 Let $\beta \in \mathbf{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{L}_4(\Omega))$, $\boldsymbol{\omega} \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \mathring{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\varphi \in C([0, T])$ and $|\varphi(t)| \geq \varphi_T > 0$ ($\varphi_T \equiv \text{const}$), $0 \leq t \leq T$. Then the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5) can have at most one solution.

Proof Let us prove this assertion by reducing to a contradiction. Assume that there were two distinct solutions

$$\{\mathbf{v}_1, \nabla p_1, \alpha_1\}$$

and

$$\{\mathbf{v}_2, \nabla p_2, \alpha_2\}$$

of the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5). As noted above, if these are different, then so are the functions α_1 and α_2 involved.

Let us subtract the system (4.7.2)-(4.7.5) written for $\{\mathbf{v}_1, \nabla p_1, \alpha_1\}$ from the same system but written for $\{\mathbf{v}_2, \nabla p_2, \alpha_2\}$. By introducing the new functions $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2$, $\nabla q = \nabla p_1 - \nabla p_2$ and $\mu(t) = \alpha_1(t) - \alpha_2(t)$ it is plain to show that the members of the collection $\{\mathbf{u}, \nabla q, \mu\}$ solve the linear inverse problem

(4.7.40)
$$\mathbf{u}_{t} - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} + (\beta, \nabla) \mathbf{u} + \alpha_{1} \mathbf{u} = -\nabla q + \mu(t) \mathbf{v}_{2}(x, t),$$

div $\mathbf{u} = 0, \quad (x, t) \in Q_{T},$
(4.7.41) $\mathbf{u}(x, 0) = 0, \quad x \in \Omega,$
(4.7.42) $\mathbf{u}(x, t) = 0, \quad (x, t) \in S_{T},$
(4.7.43) $\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{u}(x, t) \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) dx = 0, \quad t \in [0, T].$

Obviously, it has at least the trivial solution $\mathbf{u} \equiv 0$, $\nabla q \equiv 0$, $\mu \equiv 0$. To decide for yourself whether the solution thus obtained is the unique solution of (4.7.40)-(4.7.43), a first step is to appeal to Theorem 4.3.5. Indeed, the restrictions on the smoothness of input data are satisfied for the linear inverse problem at hand and so it remains to analyze the situation with condition (4.3.30) taking now the form

(4.7.44)
$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_2(x,t) \boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx \right| \ge g_0 > 0, \qquad t \in [0,T].$$

Recall that the function \mathbf{v}_2 is involved in the solution $\{\mathbf{v}_2, \nabla p_2, \alpha_2\}$ of the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5) and, consequently, satisfies the integral overdetermination (4.7.5), what means that

 $\mathbf{v}_{2} \in \mathbf{C} \big([0, T]; \overset{\mathbf{o}}{\mathbf{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\mathbf{o}}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega) \big)$

and

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_2(x,t) \,\boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \, dx = \varphi(t) \,, \qquad t \in [0,\,T] \,.$$

By assumption,

 $|\varphi(t)| \ge \varphi_T > 0$

for any $t \in [0, T]$ and inequality (4.7.44) holds true. Thus, the inverse problem (4.7.40)-(4.7.43) meets all the requirements of Theorem 4.3.5 from which another conclusion can be drawn saying that there are no solutions other than the trivial solution of (4.7.40)-(4.7.43). Consequently, the assumption about the existence of two distinct solutions of the inverse problem (4.7.2)-(4.7.5) fails to be true, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

280

4.8 Nonstationary linearized system of Navier–Stokes equations: the combined recovery of two coefficients

This section is devoted once again to the linearized Navier–Stokes equations of the general form (4.7.1). For the moment, the set of unknowns contains not only the differential operator on the left-hand side of (4.7.1), for which at least one coefficient needs recovery, but also the vector function of the external force by means of which the motion of a viscous incompressible fluid is produced.

For more a detailed exploration we deal with the system of equations

(4.8.1)
$$\mathbf{v}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} + \alpha(t) \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + \mathbf{F}(x, t),$$
$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0, \qquad (x, t) \in Q_T = \Omega \times (0, T)$$

where Ω is a bounded domain in the space \mathbb{R}^n , n = 2, 3, with boundary $\partial \Omega$ of class C^2 .

Let the function \mathbf{F} admit the representation

$$\mathbf{F} = f(t) \, \mathbf{g}(x, t) \, ,$$

where **g** is a given vector function and f is an unknown coefficient. Assume that the coefficient α is also unknown and is sought along with the coefficient f, the velocity **v** and the pressure gradient ∇p .

A common setting of the inverse problem concerned necessitates imposing more information on the solution in addition to the initial and boundary conditions. On the other hand, in trying to treat the inverse problem at hand as a well-posed one it is worth bearing in mind that, since the total number of unknown coefficients is equal to 2, the number of available overdeterminations should be the same.

For example, one is to measure the velocity and the pressure gradient by the data units making a certain averaging with weights over the domain of space variables x. In such a case the conditions of integral overdetermination as a mathematical description of such measurements are good enough for the purposes of the present section.

So, the nonlinear inverse problem of the combined recovery of the evolution of the coefficients α and f amounts to recovering the vector functions **v** and ∇p and the scalar coefficients α and f from the system of equations

(4.8.2)
$$\mathbf{v}_t - \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} + \alpha(t) \mathbf{v} = -\nabla p + f(t) \mathbf{g}(x, t),$$
$$\mathbf{v}_t = 0, \qquad (x, t) \in Q_\tau,$$

4. Inverse Problems in Dynamics of Viscous Incompressible Fluid

the initial condition

(4.8.3)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,0) = \mathbf{a}(x), \qquad x \in \Omega$$

the boundary condition

(4.8.4)
$$\mathbf{v}(x,t) = 0, \qquad (x,t) \in S_T = \partial \Omega \times [0,T],$$

and the conditions of integral overdeterminations

(4.8.5)
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_{1}(x) \, dx = \varphi(t), \qquad t \in [0, T],$$

(4.8.6)
$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla p(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_{2}(x) \, dx = \psi(t), \qquad t \in [0, T],$$

where the functions \mathbf{g} , \mathbf{a} , $\boldsymbol{\omega}_1$, $\boldsymbol{\omega}_2$, φ , ψ and the coefficient ν are known in advance.

Definition 4.8.1 A collection of the functions $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha, f\}$ is said to be a generalized solution of the inverse problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6) if

$$\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T) \cap \mathbf{\mathring{J}}(Q_T), \qquad \alpha \in C([0, T]),$$
$$f \in C([0, T]), \qquad \nabla p \in \mathbf{G}(Q_T),$$

the integral

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla p(x,t) \cdot \mathbf{\Phi}(x) \ dx$$

is continuous with respect to t on the segment [0, T] for any $\Phi \in \mathring{W}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{G}(\Omega)$ and all of the relations (4.8.2)-(4.8.6) occur.

It is worth recalling here that the spaces $\mathbf{J}(Q_T)$ and $\mathbf{G}(Q_T)$ comprise all the vectors of the space $\mathbf{L}_2(Q_T)$ belonging, respectively, to $\mathbf{J}(\Omega)$ and $\mathbf{G}(\Omega)$ for almost all $t \in [0, T]$ and that the space $\mathbf{C}([0, T]) = C([0, T]) \times C([0, T])$ is equipped with the norm

$$\uparrow \mathbf{u} \uparrow_{\mathbf{C}([0, T])} = || u_1 ||_C + || u_2 ||_C,$$

where u_1 and u_2 are the components of the vector **u** and

$$|| u_i ||_C = \sup_{t \in [0, T]} | \exp \{-\gamma t\} u_i(t) |, \qquad \gamma = \text{const}.$$

4.8. Navier-Stokes equations: the combined recovery

Taking the input data from the classes

$$\begin{aligned} (4.8.7) \qquad \mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T], \mathbf{L}_{2}(\Omega)) \,, \quad \mathbf{a} \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega) \,, \\ \boldsymbol{\omega}_{1} \in \mathbf{W}_{2}^{2}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega) \,, \quad \boldsymbol{\omega}_{2} \in \mathbf{W}_{2}^{2}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{G}(\Omega) \,, \\ \varphi \in C^{1}([0, T]) \,, \quad \psi \in C([0, T]) \,, \quad \left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_{2}(x) \, dx \right| \geq g_{T} > 0 \,, \\ |\varphi(t)| \geq \varphi_{T} > 0 \,, \qquad t \in [0, T] \qquad \left(g_{T}, \varphi_{T} \equiv \text{const} \, \right) \,, \end{aligned}$$

and keeping the notations

$$oldsymbol{\chi} = \{ lpha(t), f(t) \},$$

 $g_1(t) = \int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x,t) \cdot oldsymbol{\omega}_1(x) \, dx,$
 $g_2(t) = \int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x,t) \cdot oldsymbol{\omega}_2(x) \, dx,$

we begin the study of the inverse problem concerned by deriving a system of two operator equations of the second kind for the coefficients $\alpha(t)$ and f(t). To that end, we choose an arbitrary vector $\{\alpha(t), f(t)\}$ from the space $\mathbf{C}([0, T])$ and substitute then α and f into (4.8.2). Since other input functions involved in (4.8.2)-(4.8.4) meet (4.8.7), the velocity $\mathbf{v} \in$ $\mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T) \cap \mathbf{\hat{J}}(Q_T)$ and the pressure gradient $\nabla p \in \mathbf{G}(Q_T)$ are determined as a unique solution of the direct problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.4). As such, it also will be useful to refer the nonlinear operator

$$\mathbf{A}: \mathbf{C}([0, T]) \mapsto \mathbf{C}([0, T])$$

acting on every vector $\boldsymbol{\chi} = \{\alpha(t), f(t)\}$ as follows:

(4.8.8)
$$[\mathbf{A}(\boldsymbol{\chi})](t) = \{ [A_1(\alpha, f)](t), [A_2(\alpha, f)](t) \}, \quad t \in [0, T],$$

where

$$\begin{split} \left[A_1(\alpha, f)\right](t) &= \left[\widetilde{A}_1(\alpha, f)\right](t) + \frac{g_1(t)}{\varphi(t)} \\ &\times \left\{ \left[\widetilde{A}_2(\alpha, f)\right](t) + \frac{\psi(t)}{g_2(t)} \right\} - \frac{\varphi'(t)}{\varphi(t)} , \\ \left[A_2(\alpha, f)\right](t) &= \left[\widetilde{A}_2(\alpha, f)\right](t) + \frac{\psi(t)}{g_2(t)} , \\ \left[\widetilde{A}_1(\alpha, f)\right](t) &= \frac{1}{\varphi(t)} \left[\nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x, t) \cdot \Delta \omega_1 \ dx \right], \\ \left[\widetilde{A}_2(\alpha, f)\right](t) &= -\frac{1}{g_2(t)} \left[\nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x, t) \cdot \Delta \omega_2 \ dx \right]. \end{split}$$

Let us consider a nonlinear operator equation of the second kind over the space C([0, T]):

$$(4.8.9) \chi = A \chi,$$

which, obviously, is equivalent to the system of two nonlinear equations related to the two unknowns functions

(4.8.10)
$$\begin{cases} \alpha = \widetilde{A}_1(\alpha, f) + \frac{g_1}{\varphi} \widetilde{A}_2(\alpha, f) + \frac{g_1 \psi}{g_2 \varphi} - \frac{\varphi'}{\varphi} ,\\ f = \widetilde{A}_2(\alpha, f) + \frac{\psi}{g_2} . \end{cases}$$

Theorem 4.8.1 Let the input data of the inverse problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6) comply with (4.8.7). Then the following assertions are valid:

- (a) if the inverse problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6) has a solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha, f\}$, then the vector $\boldsymbol{\chi} = \{\alpha, f\}$ gives a solution to equation (4.8.9);
- (b) if equation (4.8.9) is solvable and the compatibility condition

(4.8.11)
$$\varphi(0) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{a}(x) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_1(x) \, dx$$

holds, then the inverse problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6) is solvable.

284

Proof We proceed to prove item (a). Let $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha, f\}$ constitute a solution of problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6). Taking the scalar product of both sides of the first equation (4.8.2) and the function $\boldsymbol{\omega}_1 \in \mathbf{J}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{W}_2^1(\Omega)$ from the space $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$, we arrive at

$$(4.8.12) \quad \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_{1} \, dx - \nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega}_{1} \, dx \\ + \alpha(t) \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_{1} \, dx = f(t) \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_{1} \, dx$$

Via a similar transform with

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_2 \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega) \bigcap \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega)$$

we obtain the identity

(4.8.13)
$$-\nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega}_2 \ dx = -\int_{\Omega} \nabla p \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_2 \ dx + f(t) \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_2 \ dx$$

Provided the overdetermination conditions (4.8.5)-(4.8.6) hold, we deduce from (4.8.12)-(4.8.13) that

(4.8.14)
$$\begin{cases} \alpha(t) = \widetilde{A}_1(\alpha, f) + \frac{1}{\varphi(t)} \left[f(t) g_1 - \varphi'(t) \right], \\ f(t) = \widetilde{A}_2(\alpha, f) + \frac{\psi(t)}{g_2(t)}, \end{cases}$$

where $\widetilde{A}_1(\alpha, f)$ and $\widetilde{A}_2(\alpha, f)$ take the same values as in (4.8.8).

Upon substituting the second equation (4.8.14) into the first it is easily seen that the functions $\alpha(t)$ and f(t) solve the system (4.8.10) and, consequently, the vector $\chi = \{\alpha, f\}$ satisfies the operator equation (4.8.9).

We proceed to item (b). Let χ be a solution to equation (4.8.9). For later use, we denote by $\alpha(t)$ and f(t) its first and second components, respectively. So, in what follows we operate with $\chi = \{\alpha, f\}$.

Let us substitute α and f into (4.8.2) and look for $\mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{W}_{2,0}^{2,1}(Q_T) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(Q_T)$ and $\nabla p \in \mathbf{G}(Q_T)$ as a unique solution of the direct problem (4.8.2)–(4.8.4). It is easy to verify that for the above function $\nabla p(x,t)$ the integral

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla p(x,t) \cdot \mathbf{\Phi}(x) \ dx$$

is continuous with respect to t on the segment [0, T] for any $\mathbf{\Phi} \in \mathbf{G}(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{\hat{W}}_2^1(\Omega)$. Indeed, the first equation (4.8.2) implies the identity

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla p(x,t) \cdot \mathbf{\Phi}(x) \ dx = -\nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_x \cdot \mathbf{\Phi}_x(x) \ dx + \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g} \cdot \mathbf{\Phi} \ dx,$$

yielding

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \left[\nabla p(x, t + \Delta t) - \nabla p(x, t) \right] \cdot \mathbf{\Phi}(x) dx \right|$$

$$\leq \nu \| \mathbf{\Phi}_x \|_{2, \Omega} \cdot \| \mathbf{v}_x(\cdot, t + \Delta t) - \mathbf{v}_x(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega}$$

$$+ |f(t + \Delta t)| \| \mathbf{\Phi} \|_{2, \Omega} \cdot \| \mathbf{g}(\cdot, t + \Delta t) - \mathbf{g}(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega}$$

$$+ |f(t + \Delta t) - f(t)| \| \mathbf{g}(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega} \cdot \| \mathbf{\Phi} \|_{2, \Omega},$$

whence the desired property follows immediately.

Let us find out whether the above functions \mathbf{v} and ∇p satisfy the overdetermination conditions (4.8.5)-(4.8.6). For later use, put

(4.8.15)
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_1(x) \, dx = \varphi_1(t), \quad t \in [0, T],$$

(4.8.16)
$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla p(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_2(x) \, dx = \psi_1(t), \quad t \in [0,T].$$

Since v satisfies the initial condition (4.8.3), we thus have

(4.8.17)
$$\varphi_1(0) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{a}(x) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_1(x) \, dx$$

By exactly the same reasoning as in the derivation of (4.8.12)-(4.8.13) we arrive at

(4.8.18)
$$\alpha(t) \varphi_1(t) = \nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \omega_1(x) \, dx + f(t) g_1(t) - \varphi_1'(t)$$

and

(4.8.19)
$$f(t) = \frac{1}{g_2(t)} \left[-\nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \omega_2(x) \, dx + \psi_1(t) \right],$$

286

where

$$g_1(t) = \int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_1(x) \ dx \,, \qquad g_2(t) = \int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_2(x) \ dx \,.$$

Substitution of (4.8.19) into (4.8.18) yields

(4.8.20)
$$\alpha(t) \varphi_{1}(t) = \nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega}_{1}(x) \, dx + \frac{g_{1}(t)}{g_{2}(t)}$$
$$\times \left[-\nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega}_{2}(x) \, dx + \psi_{1}(t) \right] - \varphi_{1}'(t) \, ,$$
(4.8.21)
$$f(t) = \frac{1}{g_{2}(t)} \left[-\nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \boldsymbol{\omega}_{2}(x) \, dx + \psi_{1}(t) \right] \, ,$$

showing the notations $\varphi_1(t)$ and $\psi_1(t)$ to be sensible ones.

On the other hand, since the vector $\chi = \{\alpha, f\}$ gives a solution to equation (4.8.9), both functions α and f satisfy the system

(4.8.22)
$$\alpha(t) \varphi(t) = \nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \omega_{1}(x) \, dx + \frac{g_{1}(t)}{g_{2}(t)} \\ \times \left[-\nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \dot{\omega_{2}}(x) \, dx + \psi(t) \right] - \varphi'(t) \,,$$

(4.8.23)
$$f(t) = \frac{1}{g_{2}(t)} \left[-\nu \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v} \cdot \Delta \omega_{2}(x) \, dx + \psi(t) \right] \,.$$

Subtracting (4.8.22) and (4.8.23) from (4.8.20) and (4.8.23), respectively, leads to the system

(4.8.24)
$$\alpha(t) \left[\varphi_{1}(t) - \varphi(t)\right] = \frac{g_{1}(t)}{g_{2}(t)} \left[\psi_{1}(t) - \psi(t)\right] - \left[\varphi_{1}'(t) - \varphi'(t)\right],$$

(4.8.25) $\psi_1(t) = \psi(t), \quad t \in [0, T],$

followed by the differential equation

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[\varphi(t) - \varphi_1(t)\right] + \alpha(t) \left[\varphi(t) - \varphi_1(t)\right] = 0, \qquad t \in [0, T],$$

having the general solution in the form

(4.8.26)
$$\varphi(t) - \varphi_1(t) = c \exp\left\{-\int_0^t \alpha(\tau) d\tau\right\}, \qquad c \equiv \text{const}.$$

From (4.8.11), (4.8.17) and (4.8.26) we find that

(4.8.27)
$$\varphi_1(t) = \varphi(t), \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$

With relations (4.8.25) and (4.8.27) in view, it is straightforward to verify that the functions \mathbf{v} and ∇p satisfy the overdetermination conditions (4.8.5)-(4.8.6), respectively. This provides support for decision-making that the collection $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha, f\}$ gives a solution of the inverse problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6), thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

Before proceeding to deeper study, it is reasonable to touch upon the properties of the nonlinear operator \mathbf{A} , which complements special investigations. Let D_r be a closed ball in the space $\mathbf{C}([0, T])$ such that

$$D_r = \left\{ \boldsymbol{\chi} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T]): \uparrow \boldsymbol{\chi} \uparrow_{\mathbf{C}([0, T])} \leq r \right\}.$$

Lemma 4.8.1 Let the input data of the inverse problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6) comply with (4.8.7). If the radius of the ball D_r is taken to be

(4.8.28)
$$r = (2T)^{-1} \exp\{-\gamma T\},$$

then the nonlinear operator A admits in the ball D_r the estimate

$$(4.8.29) \qquad \uparrow \mathbf{A}\chi_1 - \mathbf{A}\chi_2 \uparrow_{\mathbf{C}([0,T])} \leq \gamma^{-1} \ m \uparrow \chi_1 - \chi_2 \uparrow_{\mathbf{C}([0,T])},$$

where the constant γ arose from the definition of the norm of the space C([0, T]) and

$$m = 2 \nu \left[\sup_{t \in [0, T]} \| \mathbf{g}(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega} + 2 \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2, \Omega} \right]$$
$$\times \left[\varphi_T^{-1} \| \Delta \omega_1 \|_{2, \Omega} + g_T^{-1} \left(1 + \varphi_T^{-1} \right)$$
$$\times \sup_{t \in [0, T]} |g_1(t)| \| \Delta \omega_2 \|_{2, \Omega} \right],$$
$$g_1(t) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \omega_1(x) \, dx \, .$$

Proof For more clear understanding of relation (4.8.29) we first derive some auxiliary estimates for the system (4.8.2) solutions. In particular, we are going to show that

(4.8.30)
$$\sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| \mathbf{v}(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} \leq \sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| \mathbf{g}(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} + 2 \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2, \Omega}, \qquad t \in [0, T],$$

if $\chi = \{\alpha(t), f(t)\}$ lies within the ball D_r of radius r specified by (4.8.28). Taking the scalar product of both sides of the first equation (4.8.2) and the function **v** from the space $\mathbf{L}_2(\Omega)$, we get

(4.8.31)
$$\frac{d}{dt} \| \mathbf{v}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2} + \nu \| \mathbf{v}_{x}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$
$$+ \alpha(t) \| \mathbf{v}(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^{2}$$
$$= f(t) \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x,t) \cdot \mathbf{v}(x,t) \, dx \, , \quad t \in [0, T] \, .$$

Identity (4.8.31) implies that

1

(4.8.32)
$$\|\mathbf{v}(\cdot, \tau)\|_{2,\Omega} \leq \int_{0}^{\tau} |\alpha(\xi)| \|\mathbf{v}(\cdot, \xi)\|_{2,\Omega} d\xi$$

 $+ \int_{0}^{\tau} |f(\xi)| \|\mathbf{g}(\cdot, \xi)\|_{2,\Omega} d\xi + \|\mathbf{a}\|_{2,\Omega}.$

By the same token,

(4.8.33)
$$\|\mathbf{v}(\cdot, \tau)\|_{2,\Omega} \leq \sup_{\tau \in [0,t]} \|\mathbf{v}(\cdot, \xi)\|_{2,\Omega}^{*} \int_{0}^{t} |\alpha(\xi)| d\xi$$

 $+ \sup_{\tau \in [0,t]} \|\mathbf{g}(\cdot, \xi)\|_{2,\Omega} \int_{0}^{t} |f(\xi)| d\xi$
 $+ \|\mathbf{a}\|_{2,\Omega}, \quad 0 \leq \tau \leq t \leq T.$

Estimate (4.8.33) allows us to derive the inequality (4.8.34) $\sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} || \mathbf{v}(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2, \Omega} \leq \sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} || \mathbf{v}(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2, \Omega} || \alpha ||_{C} T \exp \{\gamma T\}$ $+ \sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} || \mathbf{g}(\cdot, \tau) ||_{2, \Omega} || f ||_{C} T \exp \{\gamma T\}$ $+ || \mathbf{a} ||_{2, \Omega}, \quad t \in [0, T].$ If the vector $\boldsymbol{\chi} = \{\alpha(t), f(t)\}$ lies within the ball D_r of radius r specified by (4.8.28), then (4.8.34) immediately implies the first auxiliary estimate (4.8.30).

The second auxiliary estimate for the solutions of (4.8.2) is as follows:

(4.8.35)
$$\sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega}$$

$$\leq 2 \gamma^{-1} [\exp \{\gamma t\} - 1]$$

$$\times [\sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| \mathbf{g}(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} + \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2, \Omega}]$$

$$\times (\| \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 \|_C + \| f_1 - f_2 \|_C), \ t \in [0, T],$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{\chi}_1 = \{\alpha_1, f_1\}$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\chi}_2 = \{\alpha_2, f_2\}$$

both lie within the ball D_r of radius r specified by (4.8.28). Here \mathbf{v}_1 and \mathbf{v}_2 are the solutions of the direct problems

(4.8.36) $(\mathbf{v}_1)_t - \nu \,\Delta \mathbf{v}_1 + \alpha_1(t) \,\mathbf{v}_1 = -\nabla p_1 + f_1(t) \,\mathbf{g}(x, t) \,,$ div $\mathbf{v}_1 = 0 \,, \qquad (x, t) \in Q_T \,,$ (4.8.37) $\mathbf{v}_1(x, 0) = \mathbf{a}(x) \,, \qquad x \in \Omega \,; \qquad \mathbf{v}_1(x, t) = 0 \,, \qquad (x, t) \in S_T \,;$

and

(4.8.38)
$$(\mathbf{v}_2)_t - \nu \,\Delta \mathbf{v}_2 + \alpha_2(t) \,\mathbf{v}_2 = -\nabla p_2 + f_2(t) \,\mathbf{g}(x,t) \,,$$

div $\mathbf{v}_2 = 0 \,, \qquad (x,t) \in Q_T \,;$

(4.8.39)
$$\mathbf{v}_2(x,0) = \mathbf{a}(x), \quad x \in \Omega;$$

$$\mathbf{v}_2(x,t)=0, \quad (x,t)\in S_T;$$

where the coefficients

$$\set{lpha_1,\,f_1}$$

 $\{\alpha_2, f_2\}$

and

are suitably chosen in the space C([0, T]) subject to condition (4.8.35).

A simple observation may be of help in establishing estimate (4.8.35) saying that (4.8.36)-(4.8.39) lead to the system

(4.8.40)
$$(\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)_t - \nu \Delta (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)$$

+ $[\alpha_1(t) - \alpha_2(t)] \mathbf{v}_1 + \alpha_2(t) (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)$
= $-\nabla (p_1 - p_2) + [f_1(t) - f_2(t)] \mathbf{g}(x, t) ,$
div $(\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2) = 0, \qquad (x, t) \in Q_T ,$

supplied by the initial and boundary conditions

(4.8.41) $(\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(x, 0) = 0, \qquad x \in \Omega,$

(4.8.42) $(\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(x, t) = 0, \quad (x, t) \in S_T.$

The first equation of the system (4.8.40) implies the energy identity

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} & \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 + \nu \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)_x(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 \\ &+ \alpha_2(t) \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, t) \|_{2,\Omega}^2 \\ &+ [\alpha_1(t) - \alpha_2(t)] \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}_1 \cdot (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2) \, dx \\ &= [f_1(t) - f_2(t)] \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g} \cdot (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2) \, dx \,, \\ &t \in [0, T] \,, \end{split}$$

which assures us the validity of the estimate for $t \in [0, T]$

$$(4.8.43) \quad ||(\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2})(\cdot, t)||_{2,\Omega} \leq \int_{0}^{t} |\alpha_{2}(\tau)| ||(\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2})(\cdot, \tau)||_{2,\Omega} d\tau$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{t} |\alpha_{1}(\tau) - \alpha_{2}(\tau)| ||\mathbf{v}_{1}(\cdot, \tau)||_{2,\Omega} d\tau$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{t} |f_{1}(\tau) - f_{2}(\tau)| ||\mathbf{g}(\cdot, \tau)||_{2,\Omega} d\tau.$$

Here the initial condition (4.8.41) was taken into account as well. It follows from (4.8.43) that

$$(4.8.44) \sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| (\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2})(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega}$$

$$\leq \sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| (\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2})(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} \| \alpha_{2} \|_{C} T \exp \{\gamma T\}$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{T} \exp \{\gamma T\} d\tau \left[\sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| \mathbf{v}_{1}(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} \| \alpha_{1} - \alpha_{2} \|_{C}$$

$$+ \sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| \mathbf{g}(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} \| f_{1} - f_{2} \|_{C} \right].$$

Recalling that the pairs

$$\boldsymbol{\chi}_1 = \{ \alpha_1, f_1 \}$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\chi}_2 = \{ \alpha_2, f_2 \}$$

belong to the ball D_r , whose radius r is specified by (4.8.28), we place estimate (4.8.30) in (4.8.40) as we did for the function \mathbf{v}_1 , thereby justifying the inequality

$$\sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| (\mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2)(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} \leq 2 \int_0^t \exp \{\gamma T\} d\tau$$

$$\times \left[\sup_{\tau \in [0, t]} \| \mathbf{g}(\cdot, \tau) \|_{2, \Omega} + \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2, \Omega} \right]$$

$$\times \left(\| \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 \|_C + \| f_1 - f_2 \|_C \right),$$

$$t \in [0, T],$$

which immediately implies the second auxiliary estimate (4.8.35).

4.8. Navier-Stokes equations: the combined recovery

Returning to the proof of estimate (4.8.29) we find that

(4.8.45)

$$\uparrow \mathbf{A}\chi_{1} - \mathbf{A}\chi_{2} \uparrow_{\mathbf{C}([0,T])} = ||A_{1}(\alpha_{1}, f_{1}) - A_{1}(\alpha_{2}, f_{2})||_{C} + ||A_{2}(\alpha_{1}, f_{1}) - A_{2}(\alpha_{2}, f_{2})||_{C} \leq ||\widetilde{A}_{1}(\alpha_{1}, f_{1}) - \widetilde{A}_{1}(\alpha_{2}, f_{2})||_{C} + \left[1 + \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |g_{1}(t)|\varphi_{T}^{-1}\right] \times ||\widetilde{A}_{2}(\alpha_{1}, f_{1}) - \widetilde{A}_{2}(\alpha_{2}, f_{2})||_{C}$$

and, in turn,

(4.8.46)
$$\| \tilde{A}_{1}(\alpha_{1}, f_{1}) - \tilde{A}_{1}(\alpha_{2}, f_{2}) \|_{C}$$

$$\leq \nu \varphi_{T}^{-1} \| \Delta \omega_{1} \|_{2, \Omega} \sup_{t \in [0, T]} \left[\exp \{-\gamma t\} \| (\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2})(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega} \right]$$

and

(4.8.47)
$$\| \widetilde{A}_{2}(\alpha_{1}, f_{1}) - \widetilde{A}_{2}(\alpha_{2}, f_{2}) \|_{C}$$

$$\leq \nu g_{T}^{-1} \| \Delta \omega_{2} \|_{2, \Omega} \sup_{t \in [0, T]} \left[\exp \{-\gamma t\} \| (\mathbf{v}_{1} - \mathbf{v}_{2})(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega} \right].$$

Recall that the functions A_1 , A_2 , \tilde{A}_1 and \tilde{A}_2 were introduced earlier in (4.8.8) and help motivate what is done.

Having involved (4.8.35) in estimation of the right-hand sides of (4.8.46)-(4.8.47) and substituted the final result into (4.8.45) we can be pretty sure that the operator **A** acts on D_r by the governing rule (4.8.29), thereby completing the proof of the lemma.

Remark 4.8.1 Let us show that $m \neq 0$ because of (4.8.7). At first glance, the value

$$\sup_{t \in [0, T]} \| \mathbf{g}(\cdot, t) \|_{2, \Omega} + 2 \| \mathbf{a} \|_{2, \Omega}$$

is positive, since

$$\left|\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_2(x) \ dx \right| \geq g_T > 0$$

for any $t \in [0, T]$. A similar remark is still valid for the second multiplier in the formula for m (see (4.8.29)). This is due to the fact that $||\Delta\omega_1||_{2,\Omega} \neq 0$ in the context of (4.8.7). Indeed, having preassumed the contrary we obtain $\omega_1(x) = 0$ almost everywhere in Ω as a corollary to the basic restriction on the input data $\omega_1 \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{W}_2^1(\Omega)$ and the maximum principle with regard to the components of the function ω_1 . In this line,

$$arphi(t) = \int\limits_{\Omega} \mathbf{v}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_1(x) \ dx \equiv 0 \,,$$

which disagrees with the constraint $|\varphi(t)| \ge \varphi_T > 0$ imposed at the very beginning for any $t \in [0, T]$.

Corollary 4.8.1 Let the conditions of Lemma 4.8.1 hold. If γ is representable by

(4.8.48)
$$\dot{\gamma} = m + \varepsilon$$
,

where ε is an arbitrary positive number, then the operator A is a contraction in the ball D_r of radius

$$r = (2T)^{-1} \exp\{-(m+\varepsilon)T\}$$

and the relevant contraction coefficient is equal to $m/(m + \varepsilon)$.

Proof The proof reduces to inserting (4.8.48) in (4.8.28)–(4.8.29). After that, the statement we must prove is simple to follow.

The next step is to find out under what sufficient conditions the operator **A** carries the ball D_r into itself. We are in receipt of the answer from the following lemma.

Lemma 4.8.2 Let the input data of the inverse problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6) satisfy (4.8.7). If the radius of D_r is given by formula (4.8.28), then the operator **A** admits the estimate

(4.8.49)
$$\uparrow \mathbf{A}\chi \uparrow_{\mathbf{C}([0,T])} \leq 2^{-1} m + \varphi_T^{-1} \|\varphi'\|_C + g_T^{-1} \|\psi\|_C + \varphi_T^{-1} g_T^{-1} \|g_1\psi\|_C + \varphi_T^{-1} \|g_1\psi\|_C$$

where $\chi \in D_r$ and m is of the same form as we approved in Lemma 4.8.1.

Proof In conformity with (4.8.8) we write down (4.8.50) $\uparrow \mathbf{A}\chi \uparrow_{\mathbf{C}([0,T])} = ||A_1(\alpha, f)||_C + ||A_2(\alpha, f)||_C$

$$\leq \| \widetilde{A}_{1}(\alpha, f) \|_{C} + \left(1 + \varphi_{T}^{-1} \right) \\ \times \sup_{t \in [0, T]} \| g_{1}(t) \| = 0 \\ + \varphi_{T}^{-1} \| \varphi' \|_{C} + g_{T}^{-1} \| \psi \|_{C} \\ + (\varphi_{T} g_{T})^{-1} \| g_{1} \psi \|_{C}$$

and, in turn,

(4.8.51) $|\widetilde{A}_{1}(\alpha, f)| \leq \nu \varphi_{T}^{-1} ||\Delta \omega_{1}||_{C} \cdot ||\mathbf{v}(\cdot, t)||_{2,\Omega}, \quad t \in [0, T],$

$$(4.8.52) |A_2(\alpha, f)| \le \nu g_T^{-1} ||\Delta\omega_2||_C \cdot ||\mathbf{v}(\cdot, t)||_{2,\Omega}, \quad t \in [0, T].$$

Estimating the right-hand sides of inequalities (4.8.51)-(4.8.52) on the basis of (4.8.30) and substituting the resulting expressions into (4.8.50), we obtain (4.8.49) and the lemma is completely proved.

The principal result of this section is the following.

Theorem 4.8.2 Let $\mathbf{g} \in \mathbf{C}([0, T], \mathbf{L}_2(\Omega))$, $\mathbf{a} \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\omega_1 \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{J}}(\Omega)$, $\omega_2 \in \mathbf{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{\mathbf{W}}_2^1(\Omega) \cap \mathbf{G}(\Omega)$, $\varphi \in C^1([0, T])$, $\psi \in C([0, T])$, $\left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \omega_2(x) \, dx \right| \geq g_T > 0$, $|\varphi(t)| \geq \varphi_T > 0$ $(g_T, \varphi_T \equiv \text{const})$ for $t \in [0, T]$ and let the compatibility condition (4.8.11) hold. With respect to the ball D_T of radius

(4.8.53)
$$r = (2T)^{-1} \exp\{-(m+1)T\},\$$

where

$$m = 2\nu \left[\sup_{t \in [0, T]} \|\mathbf{g}(\cdot, t)\|_{2, \Omega} + 2\|\mathbf{a}\|_{2, \Omega}\right]$$
$$\times \left[\varphi_T^{-1} \|\Delta \omega_1\|_{2, \Omega} + g_T^{-1} (1 + \varphi_T^{-1}$$
$$\times \sup_{t \in [0, T]} \|g_1(t)|)\|\Delta \omega_2\|_{2, \Omega}\right],$$
$$g_1(t) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x, t) \cdot \omega_1(x) dx,$$

the estimate

$$(4.8.54) \quad 2T\left(2^{-1}m + \varphi_{T}^{-1} \|\varphi'\|_{C} + g_{T}^{-1} \|\psi\|_{C} + (\varphi_{T}g_{T}) - 1\|g_{1}\psi\|_{C}\right) \\ \leq \exp\left\{-(m+1)T\right\}$$

is supposed to be true. Then:

(a) the inverse problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6) has a solution

$$\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha, f\}$$

and the vector $\boldsymbol{\chi} = \{\alpha, f\}$ lies within D_r ;

(b) there are no two distinct solutions {v_i, ∇p_i, α_i, f_i}, i = 1, 2, of the inverse problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6) such that both satisfy the condition χ_i = {α_i, f_i} ∈ D_r, i = 1, 2.

Proof First, we are going to show that the principle of contracting mapping is acceptable for the nonlinear operator **A** specified by (4.8.8) on account of Corollary 4.8.1 with $\varepsilon = 1$ and, consequently, $\gamma = m + 1$ (see (4.8.48)). Having this remark done, it is straightforward to verify that the operator **A** is a contraction on the closed ball D_r of radius r specified by (4.8.53). If so, the contraction coefficient equals m/(m+1).

On the other hand, since $\gamma = m+1$, Lemma 4.8.2 and estimate (4.8.54) together imply that the operator **A** carries the ball D_r into itself. Therefore, the operator **A** has a unique fixed point in D_r . To put it differently, we have established earlier that the nonlinear equation (4.8.9) has in D_r a unique solution, say χ , whose first and second components will be denoted by $\alpha(t)$ and f(t), respectively, that is,

$$\boldsymbol{\chi} \equiv \{ \alpha, f \}$$
.

Since the compatibility condition (4.8.11) holds, Theorem 4.8.1 yields that there exists a solution $\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha, f\}$ of the inverse problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6). The location of the vector $\boldsymbol{\chi} = \{\alpha, f\}$ in the ball D_r was established before. Thus, item (a) is completely proved.

We proceed to item (b). Assume to the contrary that there were two distinct solutions

 $\{\mathbf{v}_1, \nabla p_1, \alpha_1, f_1\}$

and

$$\{\mathbf{v}_2, \nabla p_2, \alpha_2, f_2\}$$

of the inverse problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6) such that both vectors

$$\boldsymbol{\chi}_1 = \{ \alpha_1, f_1 \}$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\chi}_2 = \{ \alpha_2, f_2 \}$$

lie within the ball D_r .

We claim that if the collections

$$\{\mathbf{v}_1, \nabla p_1, \alpha_1, f_1\}$$

and

$$\{\mathbf{v}_2, \nabla p_2, \alpha_2, f_2\}$$

are different, then so are the vectors χ_2 and χ_2 . Indeed, let $\chi_1 \equiv \chi_2$. Then $\alpha_1 \equiv \alpha_2$ and $f_1 \equiv f_2$. Consequently, by the uniqueness theorem for the direct problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.4) the functions \mathbf{v}_1 and ∇p_1 should coincide almost everywhere in Q_T with \mathbf{v}_2 and ∇p_2 , respectively.

Consider the first collection $\{\mathbf{v}_1, \nabla p_1, \alpha_1, f_1\}$: By assumption, these satisfy the system (4.8.2)-(4.8.6). Then the first assertion of Theorem 4.8.1 ensures that the vector

$$\boldsymbol{\chi}_1 = \{\alpha_1, f_1\}$$

gives a solution to equation (4.8.9). A similar reasoning shows that the vector

$$\boldsymbol{\chi}_2 = \{ \alpha_2, f_2 \}$$

satisfies the same equation (4.8.9).

On the other hand, we preassumed that both vectors χ_1 and χ_2 lie within the ball D_r , thus causing the appearance of two distinct solutions to equation (4.8.9) that belong to D_r . But this disagrees with the uniqueness of the fixed point of the operator **A** in D_r that has been established before. Consequently, an assumption violating the assertion of item (b) fails be true and thereby the theorem is completely proved.

In conclusion we give an example illustrating the result obtained.

Example 4.8.1 We are concerned with functions g, a, ω_1 and ω_2 suitably chosen in the appropriate classes in such a way that

$$\left|\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{g}(x,t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_{2}(x) \ dx\right| \geq g_{T} > 0, \quad \left|\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{a}(x) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_{1}(x) \ dx\right| > 0.$$

Accepting $\varphi(t) \equiv \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{a}(x) \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega}_1(x) dx$ and $\psi(t) \equiv 0$ we obtain $\varphi(t) \equiv \text{const}$ and check that the compatibility condition (4.8.11) is satisfied. Estimate (4.8.54) is rewritten as

(4.8.55)
$$T m \le \exp\{-(m+1)T\},\$$

where m is of the form (4.8.53). Obviously, as $T \rightarrow 0+$, the left-hand side of (4.8.53) tends to 0, while the right-hand side has 1 as its limit. Consequently, for any m > 0 there exists a time moment T_1 , at which estimate (4.8.55) becomes true. We consider (4.8.2)-(4.8.6) with $T = T_1$ and the input data being still subject to the conditions imposed above. In such a setting Theorem 4.8.2 asserts that the inverse problem (4.8.2)-(4.8.6) possesses a solution

$$\{\mathbf{v}, \nabla p, \alpha, f\}$$

with $\{\alpha, f\} \in D_r$, where

$$r = (2T_1)^{-1} \exp\{-(m+1)T_1\}.$$

What is more, there are no two distinct solutions $\{\mathbf{v}_i, \nabla p_i, \alpha_i, f_i\}, i = 1, 2$, such that both satisfy the condition $\{\alpha_i, f_i\} \in D_r, i = 1, 2$.

Chapter 5

Some Topics from Functional Analysis and Operator Theory

5.1 The basic notions of functional analysis and operator theory

Contemporary methods for solving inverse problems are gaining the increasing popularity. They are being used more and more in solving applied problems not only by professional mathematicians but also by investigators working in other branches of science. In order to make this book accessible not only to specialists but also to graduate and post-graduate students, we give a complete account of notions and definitions which will be used in the sequel. The concepts and theorems presented below are of an auxiliary nature and are included for references rather than for primary study. For this reason the majority of statements are quoted without proofs. We will also cite bibliographical sources for further, more detailed, information.

A set V is called a vector space over the field of real numbers \mathbf{R} or complex numbers \mathbf{C} if

- (A) the sum $x + y \in V$ is defined for any pair of elements $x, y \in V$;
- (B) the operation of multiplication $\alpha x \in V$ is defined for any element

 $x \in V$ and any number $\alpha \in \mathbf{R}$;

- (C) the operations of addition and multiplication just introduced are subject to the following conditions:
- (1) x + y = y + x for any $x, y \in V$;
- (2) (x + y) + z = x + (y + z) for any $x, y, z \in V$;
- (3) in V there exists a zero element θ such that x + θ = x for any x ∈ X;
- (4) every element $x \in V$ has a negative element $(-x) \in V$ such that $x + (-x) = \theta$;
- (5) $1 \cdot x = x$ for any $x \in V$;
- (6) $\alpha(\beta x) = (\alpha \beta) x$ for any $x \in V$ and any $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbf{R}$;
- (7) $(\alpha + \beta) x = \alpha x + \beta x$ for any $x \in V$ and any $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbf{R}$;
- (8) $\alpha(x+y) = \alpha x + \beta x$ for any $x, y \in V$ and any $\alpha \in \mathbf{R}$.

In this context, let us stress that in any vector space the zero and negative elements are unique. Also, by the difference x - y we mean the sum of elements x and (-y). An element y is called a **linear combination** of elements x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n with coefficients $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_n$ if

$$y = \alpha_1 x_1 + \alpha_2 x_2 + \cdots + \alpha_n x_n .$$

Any subset V_1 of the vector space V is termed a **subspace** of this space if it can be treated as a vector space once equipped with the usual operations of addition and multiplication by a number. For any subset V_1 of the vector space V a **linear span** $L(V_1)$ is defined as the set of all linear combinations of elements from V_1 . It is clear that the span $L(V_1)$ is always a linear subspace of the space V.

Elements x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n from the space V are said to be linearly dependent if some linear combination with at least one non-zero coefficient gives a zero element of this space. A system of elements x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n is said to be linearly independent if there is no linear combination of this type. Likewise, a subset V_1 of the vector space V is said to be linearly independent if each finite system of its elements is linearly independent. A subset V_1 of the space V is called complete if $L(V_1) = V$. Any linearly independent and complete subset is termed a **Hamel** or an **algebraic basis**. Cardinalities of various basises of one and the same space coincide. By the choice axiom the existence of an algebraic basis is established in any vector space. If such a basis contains only a finite number of elements, the basic space is said to be finite-dimensional. Otherwise, it turns out to be infinite-dimensional.

Banach spaces, being the most general ones, are given first. A space V is called **normed** if with each element $x \in V$ one can associate a real-valued function ||x|| with the following properties:

- (1) $||x|| \ge 0$ for any $x \in V$ and ||x|| = 0 if and only if $x = \theta$;
- (2) for any $x, y \in V$ the triangle inequality $||x + y|| \le ||x|| + ||y||$ holds;
- (3) $||\alpha x|| = |\alpha| \cdot ||x||$ for any $x \in V$ and any number $\alpha \in \mathbf{R}$.

Any such function is called a **norm** on the space V. The number ||x|| with the indicated properties refers to the norm of an element x. The proximity between elements of a normed space V is well-characterized by means of the function

$$\rho(x,y) = ||x-y||,$$

possessing the standard three properties of the distance ρ :

- (1) $\rho(x, y) \ge 0$ for all $x, y \in V$ and $\rho(x, y) = 0$ if and only if x = y;
- (2) $\rho(x, y) = \rho(y, x)$ for any $x, y \in V$;
- (3) $\rho(x, y) + \rho(y, z) \ge \rho(x, z)$ for any $x, y, z \in V$.

In any normed space the convergence of a sequence $\{x_n\}$ to an element x amounts to the convergence in norm: $x = \lim_{n \to \infty} x_n$ if

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}||x_n-x||=0.$$

This limit is always unique (if it exists). What is more, any convergent sequence $\{x_n\}$ is bounded, that is, there exists a constant M > 0 such that $||x_n|| \leq M$ for all $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ All linear operations and the associated norm are continuous in the sense that

$$\begin{array}{ccc} x_n \to x \; , \; y_n \to y \implies x_n + y_n \to x + y \; ; \\ x_n \to x \; , \; \alpha_n \to \alpha \implies \alpha_n \; x_n \to \alpha \; x \; ; \\ & x_n \to x \implies || \; x_n \, || \to || \; x \, || \; . \end{array}$$

A sequence $\{x_n\}$ is termed a **Cauchy sequence** if the convergence $\rho(x_n, x_m) \to 0$ occurs as $n, m \to \infty$. Any normed space in which every Cauchy sequence has a limit is referred to as a **Banach space**.

In a normed space V the next object of investigation is a series

(5.1.1)
$$x = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n$$
.

We say that the series in (5.1.1) converges to an element x if x is a limit of the sequence of partial sums $s_n = x_1 + x_2 + \cdots + x_n$. In the case of Banach spaces the convergence of the series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||x_n||$$

implies the convergence of the series in (5.1.1). Using the notion of series it will be sensible to introduce the concept of **topological basis** known in the modern literature as **Shauder's basis**. A sequence of elements $\{x_n\}$ of the space V constitutes what is called a topological or Shauder basis if any element $x \in V$ can uniquely be representable by

$$x=\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_n x_n$$
 .

The availability of Shauder's basis is one of the principal peculiarities of Banach spaces. Common practice involves a Shauder basis when working in Banach spaces. A necessary condition for the existence of Shauder's basis is the separability of the Banach space V, that is, the existence of a countable and everywhere dense set in the space V. Due to Shauder it is interesting to learn whether any separable Banach space possesses a topological (Shauder) basis. This question has been open for a long time. The negative answer is now known. It was shown that there exists a separable Banach space without Shauder basis.

Subsequent studies need as yet the notion of Euclidean space. A real vector space V becomes an Euclidean space upon receipt of a function (x, y) of two variables. This function known as an **inner product** possesses the following properties:

(1)
$$(x, y) = (y, x)$$
 for any $x, y \in V$;

- (2) $(\alpha x + \beta y, z) = \alpha(x, z) + \beta(y, z)$ for any $x, y, z \in V$ and all numbers α, β ;
- (3) $(x, x) \ge 0$ for any $x \in V$ and (x, x) = 0 if and only if x = 0.

When operating in a complex vector space V, the equality in condition (1) should be replaced by $(x, y) = \overline{(y, x)}$, where over-bar denotes conjunction. Being elements of an Euclidean space, $x, y \in V$ are subject to the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality:

$$|(x, y)| \leq \sqrt{(x, x)} \sqrt{(y, y)}.$$

The function $||x|| = \sqrt{(x, x)}$ complies with the properties of the norm we have mentioned above. In view of this, it is always presupposed that any

Euclidean space is normed with respect to that norm. When an Euclidean space becomes a Banach space, we call it a **Hilbert space**. Any inner product is continuous in the sense of the following relation: $(x_n, y_n) \rightarrow (x, y)$ as $x_n \rightarrow x$ and $y_n \rightarrow y$.

It is worth noting here that for any normed space V there exists a Banach space V_1 , containing V as a subspace and relating to a **completion** of the space V. In turn, the space V is everywhere dense in V_1 and the norms of each element in the spaces V and V_1 coincide. Since any normed space has a completion, such a trick permits the reader to confine yourself to Banach spaces only. In what follows by a normed space we shall mean a Banach space and by an Euclidean space – a Hilbert space. The notion of **orthogonal decomposition** in a Hilbert space is aimed at constructing **orthogonal projections**. Two elements x and y of a Hilbert space V are said to be orthogonal if (x, y) = 0. Let V_1 be a closed subspace of V. We initiate the construction of the set of elements from the space V that are orthogonal to all of the elements of the space V_1 . Such a set is also a closed subspace of V and is called the **orthogonal complement** to V_1 in the space V. With the orthogonal complement V_2 introduced, we may attempt the Hilbert space V in the form

$$V = V_1 \oplus V_2.$$

The meaning of **direct sum** is that each element $x \in V$ can uniquely be decomposed as

$$x=y+z\,,$$

where $y \in V_1$, $z \in V_2$. These members are orthogonal and are called the orthogonal projections of the element x on the subspaces V_1 and V_2 , respectively.

Separable Hilbert spaces will appear in later discussions. Unlike Banach spaces, any separable Hilbert space possesses a Shauder basis. Moreover, in any separable Hilbert space there exists an **orthonormal basis**, that is, a basis in which all of the elements have the unit norm and are orthogonal as couples. This profound result serves as a background for some analogy between separable Hilbert spaces and finite-dimensional Euclidean spaces as further developments occur. With this aim, let us fix an orthogonal basis $\{x_n\}$, that is, a basis in which all of the elements, being arranged in pairs, are orthogonal. Then each element can be represented in the **Fourier series** as follows:

$$x = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n x_n$$

with Fourier coefficients

$$c_n = \frac{(x, x_n)}{||x_n||^2},$$
giving

$$||x||^2 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |c_n|^2 ||x_n||^2.$$

We now turn to the concept of linear operator. Recall that an operator A from X into Y is said to be linear if

$$A(\alpha x + \beta y) = \alpha A x + \beta A y$$

for any elements $x, y \in X$ and all numbers α, β . In the case of normed spaces X and Y we say that a linear operator A: $X \mapsto Y$ is **bounded** if there is a constant $C \ge 0$ such that the inequality

 $||Ax|| \le C ||x||$

holds for each $x \in X$ and adopt the value

(5.1.2)
$$||A|| = \sup_{x \neq 0} \frac{||Ax||}{||x||}$$

as the norm of the linear operator A. Once equipped with norm (5.1.2) the space of all linear bounded operators acting from X into Y becomes a normed vector space and will be denoted by the symbol $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. If Y is a Banach space, then so is the space $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. We write, as usual, $\mathcal{L}(X)$ for the space $\mathcal{L}(X, X)$. If $A \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ and $B \in \mathcal{L}(Y, Z)$, then $B A \in \mathcal{L}(X, Z)$, so that the estimate

$$||BA|| \le ||B|| \cdot ||A||$$

is valid.

The symbol Ker A designates the **kernel** of a linear operator A, that is, the set of all elements on which the operator A equals the zero element. In the case of a bounded operator the kernel is always closed. By Im A we denote the **image** of an operator A, that is, the set of its possible values.

An operator A is said to be **continuous** at a point x if $Ax_n \to Ax$ as $x_n \to x$. Recall that any linear operator defined on an entire normed space X with values in a normed space Y is continuous at a certain fixed point if and only if this operator is continuous at each point. Furthermore, the continuity of such a linear operator is equivalent to being bounded.

The following results are related to linear operators and find a wide range of applications in functional analysis.

Theorem 5.1.1 (the **Banach–Steinhaus theorem**) Let a sequence of linear operators $A_n \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ be bounded in $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ and a subset $X_1 \subset X$ be dense. One assumes, in addition, that the limit $A_n x$ exists for each $x \in X_1$. Then the limit $A x = \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n x$ exists for each $x \in X$ and the inclusion $A \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ occurs.

Theorem 5.1.2 (the principle of uniform boundedness) Let $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ be such that for any $x \in X$ the set $\{Ax: A \in \mathcal{A}\}$ is bounded in the space Y. Then \mathcal{A} is bounded in the space $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$.

The property that an operator A is **invertible** means not only the existence of the **inverse** A^{-1} in a sense of mappings, but also the boundedness of the operator A^{-1} on the entire space Y. If the operator A^{-1} is invertible and the inequality

$$||B - A|| < ||A^{-1}||^{-1}$$

holds, then the operator B is invertible, too. Moreover, the representation

(5.1.3)
$$B^{-1} = A^{-1} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left((A-B) A^{-1} \right)^n$$

takes place. The series on the right-hand side of (5.1.3) converges in the space $\mathcal{L}(Y, X)$.

Being concerned with a linear operator $A \in \mathcal{L}(X)$, we call $\rho(A)$ the **resolvent set** of the operator A if $\rho(A)$ contains all of the complex numbers λ for which the operator $\lambda I - A$ is invertible. In that case the operator $R(\lambda, A) = (\lambda I - A)^{-1}$ is called the **resolvent** of the operator A. Here I stands, as usual, for the **identity operator** in the space X. The complement of the resolvent set $\rho(A)$ is referred to as the **spectrum** of the operator A and is denoted in the sequel by $\sigma(A)$. The spectrum of the operator A lies within a closed circle with center at zero and radius ||A||. We agree to consider

$$R(\lambda, A) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \lambda^{-n-1} A^n$$

as long as $|\lambda| > ||A||$. As can readily be observed, the resolvent set is always open. More specifically, if the inclusion $\lambda \in \rho(A)$ occurs, then a circle with center at the point λ and radius $||R(\lambda, A)||^{-1}$ is completely covered by the resolvent set and for any μ from that circle the representation

(5.1.4)
$$R(\mu, A) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (\lambda - \mu)^n R(\lambda, A)^{n+1}$$

can be established without difficulty. This provides enough reason to conclude that the spectrum of each bounded operator A is closed and its resolvent set is not empty. It is easy to show that its spectrum is not empty, too. The value

$$r(A) = \sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(A)} |\lambda|$$

is called the spectral radius of the operator A. The spectral radius of any linear bounded operator A is given by the formula

(5.1.5)
$$r(A) = \lim_{n \to \infty} ||A^n||^{1/n}.$$

It is worth noting here that it is possible to split up the spectrum of the operator A into three nonintersecting parts: the point spectrum, the continuous spectrum and the residual spectrum. The **point spectrum** is formed by all the eigenvalues of the operator A. In the case of a finite-dimensional space the spectrum of the operator A coincides with its point spectrum. But this property may be violated in an arbitrary Banach space and so the remaining part of the spectrum can be separated once again into two nonintersecting parts: the **continuous spectrum** $\sigma_c(A)$ and the **residual spectrum** $\sigma_r(A)$. In so doing the continuous spectrum $\sigma_c(A)$ is formed by all of the points λ for which the range of the operator $\lambda I - A$ is dense in the space X.

It is fairly common to call linear operators from a normed space X into real numbers **R** or complex numbers **C** linear functionals. The collection of all linear continuous functionals over the space X with norm (5.1.2) is called the **dual space** and is denoted by the symbol X^* . It is worth mentioning here that the dual space X^* is always a Banach space even if the basic normed space X does not fall within the category of Banach spaces.

Let now $A \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ and $f \in X^*$. A linear operator A^* is defined by the relation

$$(A^*f)(x) = f(Ax).$$

It is straightforward to verify that the functional $A^* f \in X^*$. The operator so defined is called the **adjoint** of A. It is plain to show that for any linear continuous operator A its own adjoint A^* is continuous with $||A^*|| = ||A||$. Moreover, the spectrums of the operators A^* and A coincide.

In the case of a Hilbert space for any element $f \in X$ the functional

(5.1.6)
$$\hat{f}(x) = (x, f)$$

belongs to the space X^* and $||\hat{f}|| = ||f||$. The converse is established in the following theorem.

Theorem 5.1.3 (the **Riesz theorem**) Let X be a Hilbert space and a functional $\hat{f} \in X^*$. Then there exists an element $f \in X$ such that equality (5.1.6) holds for each $x \in X$. Moreover, this element is unique and $\|\hat{f}\| = \|f\|$.

5.1. The basic notions

In agreement with the Riesz theorem formula (5.1.6) describes a general form of any linear continuous functional in a Hilbert space. Just for this reason the functional \hat{f} in the Hilbert space X is associated with the element f given by formula (5.1.6). Because of this fact, the space X^* is identified with X and the adjoint A^* acts in the space X as well. With this in mind, the operator A^* can be defined by the relation

$$(Ax, f) = (x, A^*f),$$

which is valid for all $x, f \in X$. In this case the equality $||A|| = ||A^*||$ continues to hold, but the spectrum of the operator A^* becomes complex conjugate to the spectrum of the operator A.

Under such an approach it is possible to introduce a notion of selfadjoint operator. An operator A is said to be self-adjoint if $A^* = A$. The spectrum of any self-adjoint operator lies on the real line, while its residual spectrum is empty.

In the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ of all linear bounded operators in a Banach space Xit will be sensible to distinguish a subspace of compact operators. A linear operator $A \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ is said to be **compact** or **completely continuous** if any bounded subset of the space X contains a sequence which is carried by the operator A into a converging one. The subspace of compact operators is closed in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$. By multiplying a compact operator from the left as well as from the right by a bounded operator belonging to the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ we obtain once again a compact operator. The last properties of compact operators are often formulated as follows: the set of all compact operators forms in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ a closed two-sided ideal. If the operator A is compact, then so is the operator A^* . The structure of the spectrum of a compact operator is known from the following assertion.

Theorem 5.1.4 When an operator A from the space $\hat{L}(X)$ is compact, its spectrum is at most countable and does not have any non-zero limiting points. Furthermore, each number $\lambda \in \sigma(A), \lambda \neq 0$, falls within eigenvalues of finite multiplicity for the operator A and is one of the eigenvalues of the same multiplicity for the operator A^* . If the basic space X is infinitedimensional, then the inclusion $0 \in \sigma(A)$ occurs.

One thing is worth noting in this context. As a matter of fact, when X becomes a Hilbert space, the dual X^* will be identified with X. The outcome of this is that the operator A^* acts in the space X and its spectrum passes through a procedure of complex conjugation. In this connection the second item of Theorem 5.1.4 should be restated as follows: each number $\lambda \in \sigma(A), \lambda \neq 0$, is one of the eigenvalues of finite multiplicity for the operator A^* is one of the eigenvalues of the same multiplicity for the operator A^* .

The theories of compact self-adjoint operators in a Hilbert space Xand of symmetric operators in a finite-dimensional space reveal some analogy. If the space X is separable, then the collection of eigenvectors of any self-adjoint compact operator constitutes an orthonormal basis in the space X. But sometimes the space X is not separable, thus causing difficulties. This issue can be resolved following established practice. Let A be a linear self-adjoint operator. Then the orthogonal complement to its kernel coincides with the closure of its image. If one assumes, in addition, that the operator A is compact, then the closure of its image will be separable. That is why the subspace generated by all the eigenvectors associated with non-zero eigenvalues of any compact self-adjoint operator A will be also separable and may be endowed with an orthonormal basis consisting of its eigenvectors. At the same time the orthogonal complement to the subspace includes all of its eigenvectors relating to the zero eigenvalue. The facts we have outlined above can be formulated in many ways. We cite below one possible statement known as the Hilbert-Schmidt theorem.

Theorem 5.1.5 (the Hilbert-Schmidt theorem) Let A be a compact self-adjoint operator in a Hilbert space X. Then for each $x \in X$ the element A x is representable by a convergent Fourier series with respect to an orthonormal system formed by eigenvectors of the operator A.

The Hilbert-Schmidt theorem can serve as a basis for solving the following equation by the Fourier method:

$$(5.1.7) A x = y.$$

Equation (5.1.7) as well as the integral equation

$$\int_{a}^{b} A(t,s) x(s) \ ds = y(t)$$

fall within the category of equations the first kind. Observe that a solution to equation (5.1.7) can be found up to elements from the kernel Ker A of the operator A. So, the requirement Ker A = 0 is necessary for this solution to be unique. If the operator A is compact and self-adjoint and its kernel consists of a single zero point only, then the space X can be equipped with the orthonormal basis $\{e_n\}$ formed by eigenvectors of the operator A, that is,

$$A e_n = \lambda_n e_n, \qquad \lambda_n \neq 0.$$

5.1. The basic notions

Involving such a basis we turn to (5.1.4) and write down the Fourier expansions for the elements x and y:

(5.1.8)
$$x = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n e_n, \qquad x_n = (x, e_n),$$

(5.1.9)
$$y = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} y_n e_n, \qquad y_n = (x, e_n)$$

All this enables us to accept the decomposition

$$Ax = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x_n e_n.$$

From (5.1.7) we deduce by the uniqueness of the Fourier series that $\lambda_n x_n = y_n$ for any element y and, therefore,

$$(5.1.10) x_n = \frac{y_n}{\lambda_n} .$$

For the series in (5.1.8) to be convergent in the space X it is necessary and sufficient that the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |x_n|^2$ is convergent. Summarizing, we obtain the following result.

Theorem 5.1.6 Let an operator A in a Hilbert space X be compact and self-adjoint with zero kernel and expansion (5.1.9) hold. Then equation (5.1.7) has a solution if and only if

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| \frac{y_n}{\lambda_n} \right|^2 < \infty.$$

Moreover, this solution is unique and is given by formulae (5.1.8) and (5.1.10).

Any equation of the form

(5.1.11)
$$x - Ax = y$$

falls within the category of equations of the second kind. If $A \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ and ||A|| < 1, then the operator B = I - A is invertible, so that

(5.1.12)
$$(I-A)^{-1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n,$$

thereby justifying that a solution to equation (5.1.11) exists and is unique for any $y \in X$. Furthermore, this solution is given by the formula

(5.1.13)
$$x = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n y$$

Both series from expansions (5.1.12) and (5.1.13) are called the **Neumann** series.

The method of successive approximations may be of help in studying equation (5.1.11) with the aid of a sequence

 $(5.1.14) x_{n+1} = A x_n + y, n = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$

The essence of the matter would be clear from the following assertion.

Theorem 5.1.7 Let $A \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ and ||A|| < 1. Then a solution to equation (5.1.11) exists and is unique for any $y \in X$. Moreover, for any initial data $y \in X$ the successive approximations specified by (5.1.14) converge to an exact solution x to equation (5.1.11) and the estimate is valid:

(5.1.15)
$$||x_n - x|| \leq \frac{||A||^n}{1 - ||A||} ||Ax_0 - x_0||.$$

Observe that the partial sums of the Neumann series in (5.1.13) will coincide with the successive approximations specified by (5.1.14) for the case $x_0 = y$. In some cases it is possible to weaken the condition ||A|| < 1. This is due to the fact from the following proposition.

Theorem 5.1.8 Let an operator $A \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ and there exist a positive integer k such that $||A^k|| < 1$. Then a solution to equation (5.1.11) exists and is unique for any $y \in X$. Furthermore, for any initial data $x_0 \in X$ the successive approximations

$$x_{n+1} = A^k x_n + \sum_{s=0}^{k-1} A^s y, \qquad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$

converge to an exact solution x of equation (5.1.11) and the estimate is valid:

$$||x_n - x|| \le \frac{||A^k||^n}{1 - ||A^k||} ||x_1 - x_0||.$$

The method of successive approximations being used in solving equation (5.1.11) applies equally well to equations with a **nonlinear operator** A. Let an operator A (generally speaking, nonlinear) map a Banach space X into itself. We say that the operator A is a **contraction** on a set Y if there exists a number $q \in (0, 1)$ such that the inequality

$$(5.1.16) || A x - A y || \le q || x - y ||$$

holds true for any $x, y \in Y$.

Theorem 5.1.9 (the contraction mapping principle) Let Y be a closed subset of the Banach space X, the inclusion $Ax + y \in Y$ occur for any $x \in Y$ and an operator A be a contraction on the space Y. Then a solution x to equation (5.1.11) that lies within Y exists and is unique. Moreover, the successive approximations specified by (5.1.14) converge to x and the estimate

$$||x_n - x|| \le \frac{q^n}{1-q} ||x_1 - x_0||$$

is valid with constant g arising from (5.1.16).

Equation (5.1.11) is an **abstract counterpart** of the Fredholm integral equation of the second kind

(5.1.17)
$$x(t) - \int_{a}^{b} A(t,s) x(s) \ ds = y(t) .$$

Fredholm's theory of integral equations of the type (5.1.17) is based on the fact that the integral operator in (5.1.17) is compact in an appropriate functional space. F. Riesz and J. Schauder have extended the results of Fredholm's theory to cover the abstract equation (5.1.11) with a compact operator $A \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ involved. Along with (5.1.11) we shall need as yet the following equations:

(5.1.18) x - A x = 0,

$$(5.1.19) x - A^* x = y,$$

$$(5.1.20) x - A^* x = 0.$$

Some basic results concerning Fredholm's theory of operator equations of the second kind are quoted in the following proposition.

Theorem 5.1.10 Let an operator $A \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ be compact. Then the following assertions are true:

- (1) equation (5.1.11) is solvable for any $y \in X$ if and only if equation (5.1.18) has a trivial solution only;
- (2) the spaces of solutions to equations (5.1.18) and (5.1.20) have the same finite dimension;
- (3) for a given element $y \in X$ equation (5.1.11) is solvable if and only if each solution to equation (5.1.20) equals zero at the element y on the right-hand side of (5.1.11).

Theorem 5.1.10 implies that the solvability of equation (5.1.11) for any right-hand side element is equivalent to being unique for its solution. Because of this fact, the problem of existence of a solution amounts to the problem of its uniqueness and could be useful in applications. As we have mentioned above, if the operator A is compact, then so is the operator A^* . In view of this, the solvability of equation (5.1.11) for any right-hand side element is equivalent not only to being unique for a solution to equation (5.1.11), but also to being solvable for each right-hand side $y \in X^*$ of equation (5.1.19).

In addition to Theorem 5.1.10 we might indicate when equation (5.1.19) has a solution. For a given element $y \in X^*$ equation (5.1.19) is solvable if and only if this element equals zero at each solution of equation (5.1.18).

In the case of a Hilbert space X the dual X^* will be identified with X under the inner product structure (x, f), where (x, f) is the value of f at an element x if f is treated as a functional. With this in mind, one can restate assertion (3) of Theorem 5.1.10 by imposing the requirement for the element y to be orthogonal to each solution of equation (5.1.20). When the operator A happens to be self-adjoint, some procedures with equations (5.1.11) and (5.1.18) become much more simpler, making it possible to reformulate Theorem 5.1.10 in simplified form.

Theorem 5.1.11 Let X be a Hilbert space and a linear operator A be compact and self-adjoint. Then the following assertions are true:

- (1) equation (5.1.11) is solvable for any $y \in X$ if and only if equation (5.1.18) has a trivial solution only;
- (2) the space of solutions to equation (5.1.18) is of finite dimension;
- (3) for a given element $y \in X$ equation (5.1.11) is solvable if and only if this element is orthogonal to each solution of equation (5.1.18).

From the viewpoint of applications, differential operators are of great importance. When these operators are considered within the framework of the theory of Banach spaces, they may be unbounded and their domains do not necessarily coincide with the entire space. In mastering difficulties connected with unbounded operators, some notions we have introduced above need generalization. With this aim, consider a linear operator A in a Banach space X. The symbol $\mathcal{D}(A)$ stands, as usual, for the domain of A. It is supposed that $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is a linear subspace of X and for all numbers α, β and all elements $x, y \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ the equality

$$A(\alpha x + \beta y) = \alpha Ax + \beta Ay$$

holds. Also, we would be agreeable with the assumption that the subspace $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is always dense in the space X. In this case the operator A is said to be densely defined. The sum A + B of operators A and B is defined by means of the relation

$$(A+B)(x) = Ax + Bx$$

and the domain here is

$$\mathcal{D}(A+B) = \mathcal{D}(A) \cap \mathcal{D}(B).$$

The product BA of operators A and B is defined by the equality

$$(BA)(x) = B(Ax)$$

and the domain of this operator consists of all elements $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ such that $A x \in \mathcal{D}(B)$. It should be taken into account that the domains of the operators A + B and B A may coincide with the zero subspace even if the domains of the operators A and B are dense in the space X.

Let an operator A, whose domain is dense, be bounded. In this case there is a constant C such that $||Ax|| \leq C ||x||$ for all $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$. Therefore, the operator A can uniquely be extended up to the operator \overline{A} , which is defined on the entire space X and belongs to the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$. The operator \overline{A} so constructed is called a continuous extension of the operator A.

Furthermore, the concept of closed operator takes the central place in the theory of linear unbounded operators. An operator A is said to be closed if $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and y = Ax for a sequence $x_n \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ such that $x_n \to x$ and $Ax_n \to y$. As can readily be observed, the concept of closeness permits one to give the extended concept of continuity in a certain sense. It is worth noting here that each operator A from the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ is closed. As such, it also will be useful to give an equivalent definition of the operator closeness which will be used in the sequel. With this aim, let us consider the Cartesian product $X \times X$. That space equipped with the norm

$$|(x, y)|| = ||x|| + ||y||$$

becomes a Banach space. A manifold $\Gamma(A)$ regards to the graph of an operator A if, we set, by definition,

$$\Gamma(A) = \left\{ (x, y) \in X \times X \colon x \in \mathcal{D}(A), y = A x \right\}.$$

Then the operator A is closed if and only if the graph $\Gamma(A)$ is closed in the space $X \times X$.

The theory of linear unbounded operators is based on several wellknown results given below as the closed graph theorem, the open mapping theorem and the Banach theorem on the inverse operator. **Theorem 5.1.12** (the closed graph theorem) Let A be a linear operator in a Banach space X. If the operator A is closed and the domain $\mathcal{D}(A) = X$, then A is bounded.

Theorem 5.1.13 (the open mapping theorem) If $A \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ and the range of the operator A is the entire Banach space X, then for any open subset of the Banach space X its image obtained by the operator A is open in the space Y.

Theorem 5.1.14 (the **Banach theorem on inverse**) If a one-to-one correspondence between Banach spaces X and Y was established by means of an operator A so that the range of the operator A coincides with the space Y, then the inverse $A^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(Y, X)$.

Some spectral properties of closed operators need investigation. Let A be a closed operator in a Banach space X. By definition, the resolvent set $\rho(A)$ of the operator A consists of all complex numbers λ such that $(\lambda I - A)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$. Recall that the operator $R(\lambda, A) = (\lambda I - A)^{-1}$ is known as the **resolvent** of the operator A and establishes a one-to-one correspondence between the space X and the domain of the operator A. The complement of the resolvent set is called the **spectrum** of the operator A and denoted by $\sigma(A)$. It may happen that the resolvent set or spectrum of an unbounded operator is empty. Nevertheless, its resolvent set is open, while the spectrum is closed. If $\lambda \in \rho(A)$, then the resolvent set contains the entire circle with radius $||R(\lambda, A)||^{-1}$ and center λ . Moreover, for any point μ from that circle the series in (5.1.4) converges in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ to the resolvent $R(\mu, A)$. Note that for all $\lambda, \mu \in \rho(A)$ the resolvent identity

(5.1.21)
$$R(\lambda, A) - R(\mu, A) = (\mu - \lambda) R(\lambda, A) R(\mu, A)$$

holds true.

In the case of an unbounded operator it is possible to split up its spectrum again into three parts. By definition, the point spectrum of an operator A is formed by all of its eigenvalues and is denoted by $\sigma_p(A)$. The remaining part of the spectrum can be divided into two nonintersecting parts: the continuous spectrum $\sigma_c(A)$ and the residual spectrum $\sigma_r(A)$, where the continuous spectrum $\sigma_c(A)$ consists of all points λ , for which the range of the operator $\lambda I - A$ is dense in the space X.

As we will see later, it will be sensible to introduce the notion of adjoint operator in the case of an unbounded operator. In preparation for this, let A be a linear operator, whose domain $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is dense in a Banach space X. The domain of the adjoint is composed by such elements $f \in X^*$

that there exists an element $f^* \in X^*$ satisfying for each $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ the relation

$$f(A x) = f^*(x)$$

Since the domain $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is dense in the space X, the unknown element f^* can uniquely be found. Set, by definition,

$$A^*f = f^*.$$

The adjoint A^* will always be linear. Moreover, A^* is closed even if the operator A is not closed. It is plain to explain when the operator A has a closure by means of its own adjoint. An operator \overline{A} is called the **closure** of the operator A if \overline{A} is a minimal (in a sense of closing domains) closed operator being an extension of the operator A. The operator A has the closure if and only if its own adjoint A^* is densely defined in the above sense.

In the case of a Hilbert space X the spaces X and X^* will be identified as usual and the adjoint acts in the space X. If the domain of A^* is dense, then a new operator $A^{**} = (A^*)^*$ coincides with the closure \overline{A} of the operator A. We say that the operator A is self-adjoint if $A^* = A$. Some things are worth noting here:

each self-adjoint operator is densely defined and closed;

the spectrum of any self-adjoint operator lies on the real line;

the residual spectrum of any self-adjoint operator is empty;

each self-adjoint operator is associated with a certain operator function $E(\lambda)$ defined for all $\lambda \in \mathbf{R}$ with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$. This function known as the **spectral family** or the **spectral resolution** of unity is subject to the following conditions:

(1) $E^*(\lambda) = E(\lambda)$ for each $\lambda \in \mathbf{R}$;

(2)
$$E(\lambda) E(\mu) = E(\min(\lambda, \mu))$$
 for all $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbf{R}$;

- (3) $\lim_{\mu \to \lambda + 0} E(\mu) x = E(\lambda) x$ for any $\lambda \in \mathbf{R}$ and each $x \in X$;
- (4) $\lim_{\lambda \to -\infty} E(\lambda) x = 0$ and $\lim_{\lambda \to +\infty} E(\lambda) x = x$ and each $x \in X$.

For any $x, y \in X$ the function $\sigma(\lambda) = (E(\lambda)x, y)$ being of bounded variation satisfies the relation

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\big(E(\lambda) x, y \big) = (x, y),$$

where the integral on the right-hand side is of Stieltjes' type. The domain of the operator A consists of all elements $x \in X$, for which

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \lambda^2 d(E(\lambda) x, x) < \infty$$

If $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, then for each $y \in X$

(5.1.22)
$$(A x, y) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \lambda d(E(\lambda) x, y).$$

By formula (5.1.22) an alternative symbolic form of writing the operator A looks like this:

(5.1.23)
$$A = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \lambda \ dE(\lambda) \,.$$

For each resolution of unity there exists a unique self-adjoint operator A satisfying (5.1.22). In turn, any self-adjoint operator A specifies uniquely the corresponding resolution of unity. Formula (5.1.23) is called the **spectral decomposition** of the operator A. It is plain to show that items (1) and (2) of the above definition of the function $E(\lambda)$ imply the existence of the strong one-sided limits of $E(\lambda)$ from the right and from the left for any λ . Therefore, item (3) has a sense of scaling and is needed for further support of a one-to-one correspondence between self-adjoint operators and resolutions of the identity. Let us stress that item (3) can be replaced by the condition for the function to be continuous from the left.

The function $E(\lambda)$ may be of help in deeper study of the spectrum of the operator A. The inclusion $\lambda_0 \in \rho(A)$ occurs if and only if the function $E(\lambda)$ is constant in some neighborhood of the point λ_0 . A number λ_0 is one of the eigenvalues of the operator A if and only if λ_0 is a discontinuity point of the function $E(\lambda)$.

The next step is to touch upon the functions of one real variable with values in a Banach space. As known, this notion is much applicable in functional analysis. Being concerned with a function $f: [a, b] \mapsto X$, we call an element A of a Banach space X a limit of the function f as $t \to t_0$ and write this fact as

$$A = \lim_{t \to t_0} f(t)$$

if for any sequence $t_n \in [a, b]$, $t_n \neq t_0$, $t_n \rightarrow t_0$, the sequence $f(t_n)$ converges to A in the space X. The function f is continuous at a point $t_0 \in [a, b]$ if

$$\lim_{t \to t_0} f(t) = f(t).$$

5.1. The basic notions

The function f is said to be continuous on the segment [a, b] if it is continuous at each point of this segment. Any continuous function f on the segment [a, b] is bounded thereon, that is, there exists a constant M > 0such that $||f(t)|| \leq M$ for all $t \in [a, b]$. The collection of all functions with values in a Banach space X that are continuous on the segment [a, b] is denoted by C([a, b]; X). The set C([a, b]; X) with the usual operations of addition and multiplication by a number forms a vector space. Under the norm structure

(5.1.24)
$$||f||_{C([a,b];X)} = \sup_{t \in [a,b]} ||f(t)||$$

the space C([a, b]; X) becomes a Banach space. In what follows it is always preassumed that the norm on the space C([a, b]; X) is defined by means of relation (5.1.24).

Let A be a closed linear operator in a Banach space X. When the subspace $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is equipped with the graph norm

$$||x||_{\Gamma} = ||x|| + ||Ax||,$$

we operate in a Banach space. Further treatment of $\mathcal{D}(A)$ as a Banach space necessitates imposing the graph norm on that subspace. In particular, just this norm is presupposed in the notation $C([a, b]; \mathcal{D}(A))$. The presence of a function f in the space $C([a, b]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ means that for each $t \in [a, b]$ the value f(t) belongs to $\mathcal{D}(A)$ and $f, A f \in C([a, b]; X)$.

Riemann integral is defined as a limit in the space X of the corresponding Riemann sums

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(t) dt = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^{n} (t_{k} - t_{k-1}) f(\xi_{k}).$$

If the function f is continuous on the segment [a, b], then it is integrable thereon and

(5.1.25)
$$\left\| \int_{a}^{b} f(t) dt \right\| \leq \int_{a}^{b} ||f(t)|| dt$$

Having at our disposal $f \in C([a, b]; X)$ and $A \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ we arrive at the relation

(5.1.26)
$$A \int_{a}^{b} f(t) dt = \int_{a}^{b} A f(t) dt$$

This property can be generalized to cover closed linear operators as well. Let an operator A be closed and linear. If $f \in C([a, b]; \mathcal{D}(A))$, then

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(t) dt \in \mathcal{D}(A)$$

and

$$A \int_{a}^{b} f(t) dt = \int_{a}^{b} A f(t) dt.$$

We say that the function f has a derivative at a point t_0 if there exists the limit

$$f'(t_0) = \lim_{t \to t_0} \frac{f(t) - f(t_0)}{t - t_0}$$

which is to be understood as a limit in the space X. If the function f has a derivative at a point t_0 , then it is continuous at this point. Each function, whose derivative is continuous on the segment [a, b], is said to be continuously differentiable on the segment [a, b]. The set of all continuously differentiable on [a, b] functions with values in the space X forms a vector space which is denoted by the symbol $C^1([a, b]; X)$. This space equipped with the norm

(5.1.27)
$$||f||_{C^{1}([a,b];X)} = ||f||_{C([a,b];X)} + ||f'||_{C([a,b];X)}$$

becomes a Banach space.

By analogy, the symbol $C^k([a, b]; X)$ is used for the space of all functions with values in the space X, whose derivatives of the first k order exist and are continuous on the segment [a, b]. The space $C^k([a, b]; X)$ becomes a Banach space upon receipt of the norm

$$||f||_{C^{k}([a,b];X)} = \sum_{n=0}^{k} ||f^{(n)}||_{C([a,b];X)}.$$

It is known that the Newton-Leibnitz formula

(5.1.28)
$$\int_{a}^{b} f'(t) dt = f(b) - f(a)$$

is valid for any function $f \in C^1([a, b]; X)$. If the function f is differentiable, that is, has a derivative at any point of the segment [a, b], then the mean value formula reduces to

(5.1.29)
$$||f(b) - f(a)|| \le \sup_{t \in (a, b)} ||f'(t)|| (b - a).$$

5.1. The basic notions

Let $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. We say that a function f with values in the space X satisfies on the segment [a, b] Hölder's condition with exponent α if there exists a constant C such that

(5.1.30)
$$|| f(t) - f(s) || \le C |t - s|^{\alpha}$$

for all $t, s \in [a, b]$. If the function f satisfies on the segment [a, b] Hölder's condition with exponent α , then it is continuous thereon. The set of all functions satisfying on [a, b] Hölder's condition with exponent α forms a vector space $C^{\alpha}([a, b]; X)$. The norm on that space is defined by

$$\|f\|_{C^{\alpha}([a,b];X)} = \sup_{t,s\in[a,b],t\neq s} \frac{\|f(t)-f(s)\|}{|t-s|^{\alpha}},$$

thus causing a Banach space. Any function f with values in the space X falls within the category of Lipschitz functions if it satisfies relation (5.1.30) with exponent $\alpha = 1$. The set of all Lipschitz functions on the segment [a, b] forms a vector space Lip([a, b]; X). The space Lip([a, b]; X) becomes a Banach space once equipped with the norm

$$\|f\|_{\operatorname{Lip}([a,b]; X)} = \sup_{t, s \in [a,b], t \neq s} \frac{\|f(t) - f(s)\|}{|t - s|}$$

Of special interest is the concept of strongly continuous operator function. Let us consider on the segment [a, b] an operator function A(t) with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. The function A(t) is said to be strongly continuous at a point $t_0 \in [a, b]$ if for each $x \in X$ the function A(t) x is continuous in the norm of the space Y at this point t_0 . We say that the function A(t) is strongly continuous on the segment [a, b] if it is strongly continuous at any point of this segment, that is, for each $x \in X$ the function A(t) x is continuous on the segment [a, b] in the norm of the space Y. Theorem 5.1.2 implies that if the function A(t) is strongly continuous on the segment [a, b], then it is bounded in the space $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. Therefore, there exists a constant M > 0 such that $||A(t)|| \leq M$ for all $t \in [a, b]$. For any strongly continuous function A the integral

$$\mathcal{A} = \int\limits_{a}^{b} A(t) \ dt$$

is well-defined. In this line we set, by definition,

$$\mathcal{A} x = \int_{a}^{b} A(t) x dt$$

for each $x \in X$. The operator \mathcal{A} so constructed is called the strong integral or the integral in a strong sense. If the function A(t) with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ is strongly continuous on the segment [a, b] and the inclusion $f \in C([a, b]; X)$ occurs, then the function A(t) f(t) is continuous on the segment [a, b] in the norm of the space Y.

If the derivative of the function A(t)x exists for each $x \in X$, then an operator function A'(t) acting in accordance with the rule

$$A'(t) x = (A(t) x)'$$

is called the strong derivative of A(t). Suppose now that the operator function A(t) with values in the space X has a strong derivative $A'(t_0)$ at some point $t_0 \in [a, b]$. Due to Theorems 5.1.1-5.1.2 the derivative $A'(t_0)$ belongs to the space $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. The function A(t) is said to be strongly continuously differentiable on the segment [a, b] if the strong derivative of the function A(t) exists for all $t \in [a, b]$ and is strongly continuous theron. If the function A(t) is strongly continuously differentiable on the segment [a, b], then it is strongly continuous thereon.

In subsequent chapters we shall need, among other things, the following assertions.

Theorem 5.1.15 Let a function A(t) with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ be strongly continuously differentiable on the segment [a, b] and

$$f \in \mathcal{C}^1([a,b];X)$$
.

Then the function $A(t) f(t) \in C^1([a, b]; Y)$ and

(5.1.31) (A(t) f(t))' = A'(t) f(t) + A(t) f'(t).

Theorem 5.1.16 If a function A(t) with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ be strongly continuously differentiable on the segment [a, b] and for each $t \in [a, b]$ the inclusion $A^{-1}(t) \in \mathcal{L}(Y, X)$ occurs and the function $A^{-1}(t)$ is strongly continuous on the segment [a, b], then the function $A^{-1}(t)$ is strongly continuously differentiable on the segment [a, b] and

(5.1.32)
$$(A^{-1}(t))' = -A^{-1}(t) A'(t) A^{-1}(t) .$$

5.1. The basic notions

In this context, it is worth noting that Theorem 5.1.15 implies the formula of integrating by parts

(5.1.33)
$$\int_{a}^{b} A(t) f'(t) dt = A(b) f(b) - A(a) f(a) - \int_{a}^{b} A'(t) f(t) dt,$$

which is valid for any strong continuously differentiable on [a, b] operator function A(t) with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ and any function $f \in C^1([a, b]; X)$.

We are now interested in learning more about Volterra integral equations. Let X be a Banach space. Consider a function A(t, s) defined in the triangle

(5.1.34)
$$\Delta = \{ (t,s) \in \mathbf{R}^2 : a \le t \le b, a \le s \le t \}$$

with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$. The equations

(5.1.35)
$$\int_{a}^{t} A(t,s) f(s) ds = g(t), \qquad a \le t \le b,$$

and

(5.1.36)
$$f(t) - \int_{a}^{t} A(t,s) f(s) \, ds = g(t), \qquad a \le t \le b,$$

with the operator kernel A(t, s) are called the Volterra integral equations of the first and second kind, respectively. In what follows we restrict ourselves only to continuous solutions of these equations. That is to say, the function f is always sought in the class of functions C([a, b]; X).

We first consider equation (5.1.36) of the second kind under the agreement that the kernel A(t, s) is strongly continuous in the triangle Δ . This means that for each $x \in X$ the function A(t, s) x is continuous on the triangle Δ in the norm of the space X. In other words, for any sequence $(t_n, s_n) \in \Delta$ converging to $(t, s) \in \Delta$ as $n \to \infty$ the sequence $A(t_n, s_n) x$ would converge to A(t, s) x in the norm of the space X. It should be taken into account that the properties of strongly continuous functions of two variables are similar to those of one variable. In particular, if the function A(t, s) is strongly continuous on the triangle Δ , then it is bounded thereon in the norm of the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$.

If the operator kernel A(t, s) is strongly continuous on the triangle Δ , then for any function $f \in C([a, b]; X)$ the left part of equation (5.1.36) is

continuous. Therefore, the requirement $g \in C([a,b]; X)$ is necessary for a solution of equation (5.1.36) to exist in the class of continuous functions. It is plain to show that the same condition is sufficient, too. Approach to solving equation (5.1.36) in the case of operator kernels is similar to that in the scalar case. In the Banach space

$$(5.1.37) \mathcal{X} = C([a,b];X)$$

we consider the integral operator

(5.1.38)
$$(\mathcal{A} f)(t) = \int_{a}^{t} A(t,s) f(s) \, ds$$

The operator \mathcal{A} is bounded in the space \mathcal{X} . However, unlike the scalar case, this operator may be noncompact. Because of (5.1.38), the integral equation (5.1.36) acquires the form of a second kind operator equation over the Banach space \mathcal{X} :

$$(5.1.39) f - \mathcal{A} f = g.$$

Each power of the operator \mathcal{A} can be written as

$$\left(\mathcal{A}^{k}f\right)(t) = \int_{a}^{t} A_{k}(t,s)f(s) ds$$

and regards again to an integral operator whose kernel $A_k(t,s)$ is strongly continuous. Each such kernel $A_k(t,s)$ can be defined by the recurrence relations

$$A_k(t,s) = \int_s^t A(t,\tau) A_{k-1}(\tau,s) d\tau, \qquad A_1(t,s) = A(t,s).$$

These functions $A_k(t, s)$ are called **iterated kernels**.

Since the kernel A(t, s) is strongly continuous, the value

$$M = \sup_{(t,s)\in\Delta} ||A(t,s)||$$

is finite and the iterated kernels $A_k(t,s)$ satisfy the estimate

$$||A_k(t,s)|| \leq M^k (t-s)^{k-1} / (k-1)!,$$

yielding

(5.1.40)
$$||\mathcal{A}^{k}|| \leq M^{k} (b-a)^{k} / k!$$

From inequality (5.1.40) we deduce that there exists some k such that $||\mathcal{A}^{k}|| < 1$. So, according to Theorem 5.1.8 equation (5.1.36) has a solution for any function $g \in C([a, b]; \dot{X})$ and this solution is unique in the class of functions C([a, b]; X). Moreover, one can show that the successive approximations

(5.1.41)
$$f_{n+1}(t) = \int_{a}^{t} A(t, \dot{s}) f_n(s) \, ds + g(t)$$

converge in the space \mathcal{X} to a solution of equation (5.1.36) for any initial data $f_0 \in \mathcal{X}$.

The series

(5.1.42)
$$B(t,s) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k(t,s)$$

composed by the iterated kernels converges in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ uniformly with respect to $(t, s) \in \Delta$. The sum of the series in (5.1.42) will be a strongly continuous function with values in the space X and a solution to equation (5.1.36) can be written as

(5.1.43)
$$f(t) = g(t) + \int_{a}^{t} B(t,s) g(s) \, ds$$

Estimate (5.1.40) and formula (5.1.5) indicate that the spectrum of the operator \mathcal{A} consists of the single point $\lambda = 0$ only. Consider in the space \mathcal{X} one more integral operator

(5.1.44)
$$(\mathcal{B}f)(t) = \int_{a}^{t} B(t,s) f(s) \, ds$$

As can readily be observed, for each $\lambda \neq 0$ the resolvent of the operator A is defined with the aid of the relation

(5.1.45)
$$R(\lambda, \mathcal{A}) = \frac{1}{\lambda} I + \mathcal{B}.$$

The next object of investigation is equation (5.1.35) of the first kind under the natural premise that the kernel A(t,s) of this equation is strongly continuous. Because of this, we are led to an operator equation of the first kind

$$(5.1.46) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{A}f = g$$

in the Banach space \mathcal{X} defined by (5.1.37). The operator \mathcal{A} involved in (5.1.46) acts in accordance with rule (5.1.38) and is bounded. The number $\lambda = 0$ belongs to the spectrum of the operator \mathcal{A} , thus causing some difficulties in solving equation (5.1.46). It should be noted that the solution of equation (5.1.35) with an arbitrary strongly continuous kernel is one of the most difficult problems in functional analysis.

The situation becomes much more simpler if the operator kernel A(t, s) is strongly continuously differentiable in t. Due to this property the left part of (5.1.35) is continuously differentiable for each continuous function f and

(5.1.47)
$$\left(\int_{a}^{t} A(t,s) f(s) ds\right)' = A(t,t) f(t) + \int_{a}^{t} A_{t}(t,s) f(s) ds,$$

where $A_t(t,s)$ denotes the strong derivative of the operator kernel A(t,s) with respect to t. This fact implies that the conditions

(5.1.48)
$$g \in C^1([a,b]; X), \quad g(a) = 0$$

are necessary for equation (5.1.35) to be solvable in the class of continuous functions.

Assume that the function $A(t,t)^{-1}$ with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ is strongly continuous on the segment [a, b]. Therefore, with the aid of relations (5.1.47)-(5.1.48) equation (5.1.35) reduces to the operator equation of the second kind

$$f(t) + \int_{a}^{t} A(t,t)^{-1} A_t(t,s) f(s) \ ds = A(t,t)^{-1} g'(t),$$

which is equivalent to (5.1.35). Thus, we have occasion to use the preceding results. Summarizing, we formulate the following assertions.

Theorem 5.1.17 Let a function A(t, s) with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ be strongly continuous on the specified triangle Δ and $g \in C([a, b]; X)$. Then a solution to equation (5.1.36) exists and is unique in the class of functions $f \in C([a, b]; X)$. Moreover, the successive approximations (5.1.41) converge in the norm of the space C([a, b]; X) to a solution of equation (5.1.36) for any initial data $f_0 \in C([a, b]; X)$. **Theorem 5.1.18** Let a function A(t, s) with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ be strongly continuous and strongly continuously differentiable with respect to t on the specified triangle Δ . If for each $t \in [a, b]$

$$A(t,t)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X) \,,$$

the operator function $A(t,t)^{-1}$ is strongly continuous on the segment [a, b]and the function g is in line with (5.1.48), then a solution to equation (5.1.35) exists, is unique in the class of functions $f \in C([a,b]; X)$ and the successive approximations

$$f_{n+1}(t) = -\int_{a}^{t} A(t,t)^{-1} A_t(t,s) f_n(s) ds + A(t,t)^{-1} g'(t)$$

converge in the norm of the space C([a,b]; X) to a solution of equation (5.1.35) for any initial data $f_0 \in C([a,b]; X)$.

The results concerning the solvability of the linear equation (5.1.36) can be generalized to cover the nonlinear Volterra equation

(5.1.49)
$$f(t) - \int_{a}^{t} A(t,s) F(s, f(s)) ds = g(t), \qquad a \le t \le b.$$

However, we have to realize that equation (5.1.49) has some peculiarities. In particular, for each solution of equation (5.1.49) the point (t, f(t)) should belong to the domain of the function F for all $t \in [a, b]$. Moreover, even if the function F is defined on the entire manifold $[a, b] \times X$ equation (5.1.49) may not possess a continuous solution defined on the whole segment [a, b]. Therefore, one of the principal issues related to equation (5.1.49) is concerned with its local solvability. It is necessary to establish some conditions under which the existence of a continuous solution to equation (5.1.49) is ensured on the segment [a, a + h], h > 0, if a number h is small enough. Denote by $\overline{S}(y, R) = \{x \in X : ||x - y|| \le R\}$ a closed ball of radius R with center y.

The following assertions are true.

Theorem 5.1.19 Let a function A(t, s) with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ by strongly continuous on the specified triangle Δ and $g \in C([a,b]; X)$. If there is a number R > 0 such that the function F is continuous on the manifold $U = [a, b] \times \overline{S}(g(a), R)$ and satisfies thereon the Lipschitz

condition with respect to the second variable, that is, there is a constant L > 0 such that for all $(t, u), (t, v) \in U$

$$||F(t, u) - F(t, v)|| \le L ||u - v||,$$

then there exist a number h > 0 and a function $f \in C([a, a + h]; X)$ such that f solves equation (5.1.49) on the segment [a, a + h]. Moreover, if two functions f_1 and f_2 give solutions to equation (5.1.49) on a segment [a, c], then they coincide on this segment. Furthermore, if a continuous function satisfies equation (5.1.49) on a segment [a, d] and cannot be extended up to a continuous solution to equation (5.1.49) on any segment [a, e] such that $[a, d] \subset [a, e]$, then the point (d, f(d)) lies on the boundary of the specified set U.

A study of properties of solutions of abstract differential equations is based on the notion of distribution with values in a Banach space. Let Ω be an open set on the real line **R** and $D(\Omega)$ denote the collection of all infinite differentiable functions whose supports are contained in Ω . Recall that the support of any continuous function is defined as the closure of the set of all points at which this function does not equal zero. With regard to convergence on $D(\Omega)$ we say that a sequence { φ_n } converges to a function φ if the following conditions hold:

- (1) there exists a compact set $K \subset \Omega$ such that it contains the supports of all functions φ_n ;
- (2) for each k the sequence of the kth derivatives $\varphi_n^{(k)}$ converges as $n \to \infty$ to the kth derivative of the function φ uniformly in k.

A linear operator f acting from $D(\Omega)$ into a Banach space X is called a **distribution** with values in the space X if this operator is continuous in the sense that $f(\varphi_n) \to f(\varphi)$ as $n \to \infty$ in the space X for any sequence $\varphi_n \to \varphi$ in $D(\Omega)$. The set of all distributions with values in the space Xwill be denoted by $D'(\Omega; X)$. Any function $f \in C([a, b]; X)$ can be put in correspondence with a linear operator from D((a, b)) into X

(5.1.50)
$$\hat{f}(\varphi) = \int_{a}^{b} \varphi(t) f(t) dt,$$

which falls within the distributions with values in the space X. Formula (5.1.50) could be useful in specifying a distribution even if the function f is not continuous. A distribution is said to be regular if we can attempt it in the form (5.1.50). Note that for any regular distribution \hat{f} the function f involved in formula (5.1.50) can uniquely be recovered up to its values on a set of zero measure. Just for this reason the distribution \hat{f} and the

function f related to each other by (5.1.50) will be identified in the sequel. Under the approved identification the symbol f(t) is in common usage to denote formally any distribution f (even if it is not regular), where t refers to the argument of test functions φ , which constitute the domain $\mathcal{D}(\Omega)$ of the operator f.

We give below one possible example of singular distributions in which the well-known Dirac delta function $\delta(t-t_0) x$ is specified by a point $t_0 \in \Omega$ and an element $x \in X$. By definition, the aforementioned function does follow the governing rule $\delta(t-t_0) x(\varphi) = \varphi(t_0) x$.

Every distribution $f \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; X)$ and its generalized derivative $f' \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega; X)$ are related by $f'(\varphi) = -f(\varphi')$. If a distribution f is regular and continuously differentiable, then the above definition is consistent with the definition of standard derivative.

We now consider two Banach spaces X and X_1 equipped with norms $\|\cdot\|$ and $\|\cdot\|_1$, respectively. The space X_1 is supposed to be continuously embedded into the space X; meaning $X_1 \subset X$ and that there is a constant c > 0 such that the inequality

$$||x|| \le c ||x||_1$$

holds for any $x \in X_1$. In each such case any distribution with values in the space X_1 falls within the category of distributions with values in the space X. In dealing with an operator $A \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ related to the Banach spaces X and Y, the operator A f is a distribution with values in the space Y for every distribution f with values in the space X.

Let X be a Banach space and A be a linear closed operator in X. When X is equipped with the norm

$$||x||_{\Gamma} = ||x|| + ||Ax||,$$

the domain $\mathcal{D}(A)$ becomes a Banach space embedded continuously into the space X. In so doing,

$$A \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{D}(A); X)$$

which justifies that for every distribution f with values in $\mathcal{D}(A)$ the operator A f is a distribution with values in X. Under such an approach the generalized derivative f' is treated as a distribution with values in $\mathcal{D}(A)$ and a distribution with values in X simultaneously.

Being concerned with a sequence of elements $c_n \in X$, we begin by investigating the power series

(5.1.51)
$$f(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n (t - t_0)^n,$$

where t and t_0 are real or complex numbers. By definition, the domain of convergence of the series in (5.1.51) contains all of those points t at which the series in (5.1.51) is convergent, and will be denoted by the symbol D. The value

$$R = \sup_{t \in D} \| t - t_0 \|$$

is referred to as the **radius of convergence** of the series in (5.1.51). When the space X is considered over the field of complex numbers, the power series in (5.1.51) is meaningful for real and complex values of t with a common radius of convergence. Also, formula (5.1.51) gives one natural way of extending the function f from the real axis onto the complex plane. By the Cauchy-Hadamard formula,

(5.1.52)
$$R = \frac{1}{\lim_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\|c_n\|}}$$

If the radius of convergence of the series in (5.1.51) differs from zero, then the sum f is infinite differentiable in the open circle (or interval) $|t-t_0| < R$, so that

$$f^{(k)}(t) = \sum_{n=k}^{\infty} n(n-1) \cdots (n-k+1) c_n (t-t_0)^{n-k}.$$

In particular, this yields

$$c_n = \frac{1}{n!} f^{(n)}(t_0).$$

We say that the function f is **analytic** at point t_0 if there is a neighborhood of this point within which f coincides with the sum of the power series from (5.1.51) with a nonzero radius of convergence. By definition, the function f is analytic on a set Ω if it is analytic at every point of this set.

We have occasion to use an operator $A \in \mathcal{L}(X)$, by means of which the exponential function is defined to be

(5.1.53)
$$e^{A t} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{A^n}{n!} t^n$$

Observe that the series in (5.1.53) is convergent for every t regardless of the choice of a complex or a real value. For the exponential function we thus have

$$e^{At} e^{As} = e^{At+s},$$

which serves to motivate the following expansion in power series:

(5.1.54)
$$e^{A t} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{A^n e^{A t_0}}{n!} (t - t_0)^n$$

with any t_0 incorporated. Since the series in (5.1.54) converges for any t, the exponent function is analytic everywhere in the complex plane.

In concluding this section we refer to a closed linear operator A acting in a Banach space. If the resolvent set of the operator A is nonempty, the resolvent of the operator \tilde{A}

$$R(t,A) = (t I - A)^{-1}$$

arranges itself into a power series

(5.1.55)
$$R(t,A) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n R(t_0, A)^{n+1} (t-t_0)^n,$$

whose radius of convergence is no less than $||R(t_0, A)||^{-1}$. Because of this fact, the resolvent of any closed linear operator is analytic on the corresponding resolvent set.

5.2 Linear differential equations of the first order in Banach spaces

This section is devoted to abstract differential equations of the first order. There is plenty of fine books in this theory such as Arendt et al. (1986), Babin and Vishik (1989), Balakrishnan (1976), Belleni-Morante (1979), Clément et al. (1987), Davies (1980), Fattorini (1969a,b, 1983), Gajewski et al. (1974), Goldstein (1969, 1985), Henry (1981), Hille and Phillips (1957), Ivanov et al. (1995), Kato (1953, 1956, 1961, 1966), Krein (1967), Krein and Khazan (1983), Ladas and Laksmihanthan (1972), Lions (1957, 1961), Mizohata (1977), Pazy (1983), Solomyak (1960), Sova (1977), Tanabe (1960, 1979), Trenogin (1980), Vishik and Ladyzhenskaya (1956), Yosida (1956, 1963, 1965).

We now consider in a Banach space X a closed linear operator A, whose domain $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is dense. With regard to an element $u_0 \in X$ and a function $f: [0, T] \mapsto X$ the object of investigation is the **abstract Cauchy problem**

(5.2.1)
$$u'(t) = A u(t) + f(t), \quad 0 < t < T,$$

$$(5.2.2) u(0) = u_0.$$

There seem to be at least two principal approaches to the concept of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1)–(5.2.2) solution. This is concerned with notions of strong and weak solutions. One assumes that f is a **distribution** with values in the space X. A distribution u with values in the space X is said to be a **weak solution** of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1)–(5.2.2) if it satisfies equation (5.2.1) in the sense of the equality between elements of the space $\mathcal{D}'((0,T); X)$. It is required, in addition, that u is a **regular function** belonging to the space $\mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ and satisfies the initial condition (5.2.2) as a continuous function with values in the space X. It is worth noting here that a weak solution of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1)–(5.2.2) as an element only of the space $\mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ does not necessarily possess a standard derivative or take on the values from $\mathcal{D}(A)$.

A function $u \in C^1([0, T]; X) \cap C([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ is said to be a strong solution of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1)–(5.2.2) if it satisfies in a pointwise manner equation (5.2.1) supplied by the initial condition $u(0) = u_0$. When u is treated as a distribution, each strong solution of the Cauchy problem at hand turns out to be a weak solution of the same problem. A necessary condition for a strong solution of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1)–(5.2.2) to exist amounts to the two inclusions

$$u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A), \qquad f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X).$$

However, in the general case these conditions are insufficient. In what follows we deal mainly with strong solutions. Therefore, the term "solution" will be meaningful for strong solutions unless otherwise is explicitly stated.

In the sequel especial attention is being paid to necessary and sufficient conditions under which one can determine a unique solution of the Cauchy problem at hand and find out when this solution depends continuously on the input data. In preparation for this, the abstract Cauchy problem for the **homogeneous equation** comes first:

(5.2.3)
$$u'(t) = A u(t), \quad 0 < t < T,$$

$$(5.2.4) u(0) = u_0$$

We say that the Cauchy problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) is uniformly well-posed if the following conditions hold:

- (1) there is a dense subspace D of the space X such that for any $u_0 \in D$ a strong solution of the Cauchy problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) exists and is unique;
- (2) if a sequence of strong solutions $u_n(t)$ to equation (5.2.3) is such that $u_n(0) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ in the norm of the space X, then $u_n(t) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ in the norm of the space $\mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$.

Necessary and sufficient conditions for the Cauchy problem concerned to be uniformly well-posed admit several alternative forms. The **Hille**-**Phillips-Yosida-Miyadera theorem** is in common usage for these conditions. One of the possible statements is as follows.

Theorem 5.2.1 The Cauchy problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) is uniformly wellposed if and only if the resolvent set of the operator A contains a ray $\lambda > \omega$ of the real axis and the resolvent

$$R(\lambda, A) = (\lambda I - A)^{-1}$$

of the operator A satisfies for all $\lambda > \omega$ the system of inequalities

(5.2.5)
$$|| R(\lambda, A)^k || \le \frac{M}{(\lambda - \omega)^k}$$
, $k = 1, 2, 3, \dots$

Quite often one can encounter the situations in which the resolvent $R(\lambda, A)$ obeys for $\lambda > \omega$ the estimate

(5.2.6)
$$||R(\lambda, A)|| \leq \frac{1}{\lambda - \omega},$$

which is sufficient for the validity of estimate (5.2.5) with M = 1 for all numbers k.

With regard to solving the abstract Cauchy problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) a key role is played by the notion of strongly continuous semigroup of the linear operator. A family of linear operators V(t) belonging to $\mathcal{L}(X)$ and defined for all $t \geq 0$ is called a strongly continuous semigroup if the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) V(0) = I;

(2)
$$V(t+s) = V(t) V(s)$$
 for all $t, s \ge 0$;

(3) for each $x \in X$ the function V(t)x is continuous with respect to t in the norm of the space X for all $t \ge 0$.

As we will see later, any solution of the abstract Cauchy problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) can be expressed in terms of strongly continuous semigroups. For any uniformly well-posed Cauchy problem of the type (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) there exists a strongly continuous semigroup V(t) such that we are led by the formula

(5.2.7)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0$$

to either a weak solution (if $u_0 \in X$) or a strong solution (if $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$) of problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4). Observe that for any $t \geq 0$ each operator of the semigroup V(t) thus obtained and the operator A are commuting. Furthermore, the semigroup V(t) itself is uniquely defined by the operator A. The converse is certainly true. That is to say, for any strongly continuous semigroup V(t) there exists a closed linear operator known as the **semigroup generator** with a dense domain such that the related Cauchy problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) is uniformly well-posed and its solution is given by formula (5.2.7). What is more, the generator A can uniquely be recovered.

For the purposes of the present chapter we shall need as yet several useful formulae expressing the semigroup V(t) via its generator A and vice versa. The operator and its semigroup V(t) are involved in the following relationships:

$$\mathcal{D}(A) = \left\{ x \in X : \exists \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{V(t)x - x}{t} \right\},\$$
$$A x = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{V(t)x - x}{t}.$$

The semigroup V(t) and its generator A are related by

$$V(t) x = \lim_{\lambda \to +\infty} \exp \left\{ \left(\lambda^2 R(\lambda, A) - \lambda I \right) t \right\} x.$$

For any strongly continuous semigroup V(t) there are two constants M and ω such that for all $t \ge 0$ the estimate

$$(5.2.8) ||V(t)|| \le M \exp(\omega t)$$

is valid. Since V(0) = I, the bound $M \ge 1$ is attained. However, it may happen that the constant ω is negative. This provides support for the view that the semigroup V(t) is exponentially decreasing. There is a direct link between the semigroup V(t) and the **resolvent** $R(\lambda, A)$ of its generator A. True, it is to be shown that for each $\lambda > \omega$ the relation

$$R(\lambda, A) = \int_{0}^{\infty} V(t) e^{-\lambda t} dt$$

holds. Here the integral is meant in a strong sense.

Formula (5.2.7) serves as a basis for resolving the uniformly well-posed Cauchy problem at hand. A weak solution exists for each element $u_0 \in X$. The condition $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ is necessary and sufficient for a strong solution to exist. It is not difficult to show that for the uniformly well-posed Cauchy problem a weak solution is unique. Then so is a strong solution.

One thing is worth noting here. When imposing the definition of the Cauchy problem (5.2.3)–(5.2.4) to be uniformly well-posed, it is presupposed that its solution is defined on the segment [0, T] only. Nevertheless, formula (5.2.7) may be of help in giving a unique solution on the entire semiaxis. This fact is stipulated by the **autonomy** of equation (5.2.3), meaning the independence of the operator A on the variable t. If the Cauchy problem (5.2.3)–(5.2.4) is uniformly well-posed, then the same property will be true on any segment [a, b] for another problem

$$u'(t) = A u(t), \qquad a < t < b,$$

 $u(a) = u_0.$

Furthermore, the function

$$u(t) = V(t-a) u_0$$

solves the Cauchy problem posed above. The solvability of the nonhomogeneous Cauchy problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2) will be of special investigations in the sequel. This type of situation is covered by the following result.

Theorem 5.2.2 Let the Cauchy problem (5.2.3)–(5.2.4) be uniformly wellposed. One assumes, in addition, that

$$u_0 \in X$$
 and $f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$.

Then a weak solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2) exists and is unique. Also, this solution is representable by

(5.2.9)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s) \, ds \, ,$$

where V(t) refers to the semigroup generated by the operator A.

One might expect that formula (5.2.9) should specify a strong solution too, because any strong solution is, at the same time, a weak one. Indeed, as we have established above, the inclusions $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ are necessary for a strong solution to exist. It is interesting to derive sufficient conditions acceptable for this case. Recall that for $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ formula (5.2.7) gives a strong solution to the homogeneous equation (5.2.3). To decide for yourself whether or not a strong solution to equation (5.2.1) exists, a first step is to check the continuous differentiability of the integral term on the right-hand side of formula (5.2.9). On the other hand, there are examples showing that the unique restriction on the function f to be continuous would not be sufficient in that case. The following result confirms this statement and allows to formulate some conditions under which one can find a unique strong solution to a **nonhomogeneous equation**.

Theorem 5.2.3 Let the Cauchy problem (5.2.3)–(5.2.4) be uniformly wellposed. One assumes, in addition, that $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and

$$f \in C^1([0, T]; X) + C([0, T]; D(A)).$$

Then a strong solution of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2) exists and is unique. Moreover, this solution u is given by formula (5.2.9).

We note in passing that for a strong solution u(t) of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2) the functions u'(t) and Au(t) are continuous. This property may be of help in deriving their simple expressions in terms of the input data. Via the **decomposition** $f = f_1 + f_2$, where $f_1 \in C^1([0, T]; X)$ and $f_2 \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$, we finally get

(5.2.10)
$$u'(t) = V(t) \left[A u_0 + f_1(0) \right] + \int_0^t V(t-s) \left[f_1'(s) + A f_2(s) \right] ds + f_2(t)$$

and

(5.2.11)

$$A u(t) = V(t) \left[A u_0 + f_1(0) \right] + \int_0^t V(t-s) \left[f_1'(s) + A f_2(s) \right] ds - f_1(t).$$

Let us stress that representations (5.2.10)-(5.2.11) permit us to improve the solution smoothness. Let $f \in C^1([0, T]; X)$. By merely inserting v = u' we rewrite (5.2.10) as

$$v(t) = V(t) v_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) g(s) \, ds \, ,$$

where $v_0 = A u_0 + f(0)$ and g(t) = f'(t). The resulting expression shows that the function v gives a weak solution of the Cauchy problem

(5.2.12)
$$\begin{cases} v'(t) = A v(t) + g(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ v(0) = v_0. \end{cases}$$

Applying the condition of the existence of a strong solution to the Cauchy problem (5.2.12) yields a test for a solution of the original Cauchy problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2) to be twice continuously differentiable.

Theorem 5.2.4 Let the Cauchy problem (5.2.3)–(5.2.4) be uniformly wellposed. One assumes, in addition, that the inclusions

$$u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A), \qquad f \in \mathcal{C}^2([0, T]; X)$$

and $Au_0 + f(0) \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ occur. Then a solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2) satisfies the condition

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^2([0, T]; X).$$

It is worth noting here that following this procedure in just the same way as we did before, it is possible to achieve the desired smoothness of the solution. Such an approach may be of help in establishing some conditions known as the "spatial" smoothness. This terminology reflects a link between abstract differential equations and partial differential equations and is used to indicate when the solution obtained belongs to the domain for some power of the operator A. Let $f \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$. The meaning of this is that both functions f and A f are continuous in the norm of the space X. With regard to the function w(t) = A u(t) we recast (5.2.11) with regard to $w_0 = A u_0$ and h(t) = A f(t) as

$$w(t) = V(t) w_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) h(s) \, ds \, ,$$

which means that the function w is a weak solution of the Cauchy problem

(5.2.13)
$$\begin{cases} w'(t) = A w(t) + h(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ w(0) = w_0. \end{cases}$$

As far as the functions $w_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and $h \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ are concerned, the function w becomes a strong solution of the Cauchy problem (5.2.13), thereby justifying the following assertion.

Theorem 5.2.5 Let the Cauchy problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) be uniformly wellposed and let

$$u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^2), \qquad f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A^2))$$

Then a solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2) satisfies the condition

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A^2))$$

The same procedure leads to the gain of the "spatial" smoothness of a solution as high as necessary. Combination of both directions provides proper guidelines for the derivation of conditions of the so-called "mixed" smoothness.

The **nonlinear Cauchy problem** helps motivate what is done and is completely posed as follows:

(5.2.14) $u'(t) = A u(t) + f(t, u(t)), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$

$$(5.2.15) u(0) = u_0.$$

A peculiarity of this problem is connected with the obstacle that, as a rule, its solution will not be defined on the whole segment [0, T]. The interval within which a solution exists depends on the operator A, the function fand the initial element u_0 . In this regard, some modification of the concept of solution is needed to require the existence of a real number $T^* > 0$ such that a solution exists on the segment $[0, T^*]$ only.

When a generalized solution is considered in this context, one more problem arises naturally.

Since equation (5.2.14) contains the substitution operator, the properties of the function f need investigation. Let $\bar{S}(y, R)$ be a closed ball in the space X of radius R > 0 with center y and

$$U = [0, T] \times \tilde{S}(u_0, R).$$

We confine ourselves to the classical case only. For the reader's convenience this restriction is labeled by (5.2.16). Summarizing,

the function f is continuous on the set U with respect to the totality of variables and satisfies thereon the Lipschitz condition with respect to the second variable, thereby providing that there is a constant L > 0such that for all $(t, u), (t, v) \in U$

$$(5.2.16) || f(t, u) - f(t, v) || \le L || u - v ||.$$

There are several ingredients necessary for further successful development. Denote by u an arbitrary function from the class of continuous on $[0, T^*]$ functions. We assume also that the graph of u belongs to the set U. As far as the function f is continuous on the set U, the superposition f(t, u(t)) is continuous on the segment $[0, T^*]$. All this enables us to carry over without any difficulty the concepts of weak and strong solutions to the Cauchy problem (5.2.14)-(5.2.15) with continuous nonlinearity.

The first stage is devoted to weak solutions of the nonlinear Cauchy problem under the agreement that the homogeneous Cauchy problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) is uniformly well-posed. By appeal to formula (5.2.9) it is not difficult to show that the Cauchy problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) is equivalent to the integral equation

(5.2.17)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s, u(s)) ds,$$

where V(t) refers to the semigroup generated by the operator A. By applying Theorem 5.1.19 to equation (5.2.17) we obtain the following result.

Theorem 5.2.6 Let the Cauchy problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) be uniformly wellposed, $u_0 \in X$ and the function f comply with condition (5.2.16). Then there exists a number $T^* > 0$ such that the nonlinear Cauchy problem (5.2.14)-(5.2.15) has a weak solution u on the segment $[0, T^*]$. Also, if there is no way of extending this solution on a more wide segment, then the point $(T^*, u(T^*))$ belongs to the boundary of the set U. Moreover, any two weak solutions of problem (5.2.14)-(5.2.15) will coincide on a common part of the segments of their existence.

The question of existence of a strong solution of the Cauchy problem (5.2.14)-(5.2.15) amounts to the problem of differentiability of a solution to the integral equation (5.2.17). With this in mind, we may assume that the function f is Frechet differentiable. By definition, the function f(t, u) is said to be **Frechet differentiable at point** (t_0, u_0) if the increment of the function f can be split up as follows:

$$f(t, u) - f(t_0, u_0) = f_t(t - t_0) + f_u(u - u_0) + \alpha(t, u)(|t - t_0| + ||u - u_0||)$$

where $f_t \in X$, $f_u \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ and $\alpha(t, u) \to 0$ as $(t, u) \to (t_0, u_0)$. In this case the element f_t and the operator f_u are known as the **partial derivatives** of the function f at the point (t_0, u_0) . We say that the function f is **Frechet differentiable on the set** U if it is differentiable at each point of this set. The restrictions on the partial derivatives are imposed in just the same way as we did in the consideration of the functions themselves and are labeled by (5.2.18) for the reader's convenience. When done with this sense of purpose,

(5.2.18) the function f is Frechet differentiable on the set U; its partial derivatives f_t and f_u are continuous on this set and satisfy thereon U the Lipschitz condition with respect to the second argument.

If the function f is Frechet differentiable and the function u(t) is differentiable in t, then the superposition f(t, u(t)) is differentiable in t, so that

$$\frac{d}{dt} f(t, u(t)) = f_t + f_u u'.$$

Exploiting this fact and allowing $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, one can formally differentiate equation (5.2.17) with the aid of formula (5.2.10). As a final result we get the equation related to the function v = u':

(5.2.19)
$$v(t) = V(t) v_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f_t(s, u(s)) ds + \int_0^t V(t-s) f_u(s, u(s)) v(s) ds,$$

where $v_0 = A u_0 + f(0, u_0)$. When the function u is kept fixed, equation (5.2.19) may be viewed as the linear Volterra integral equation of the second kind for the function v. Moreover, the segment on which equation (5.2.19) has a continuous solution coincides with the same segment for equation (5.2.17). In this case one succeeds in showing without any difficulty that the solution to equation (5.2.19) is just the derivative of the solution to equation (5.2.17), thereby revealing the local solvability of the Cauchy problem (5.2.14)-(5.2.15) in the class of strong solutions. Thus, we arrive at the following result.

Theorem 5.2.7 Let the Cauchy problem (5.2.3)–(5.2.4) be uniformly wellposed, $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and the function f comply with conditions (5.2.16) and (5.2.18). Then there exists a number $T^* > 0$ such that the nonlinear Cauchy problem (5.2.14)–(5.2.15) has a strong solution u on the segment $[0, T^*]$. Also, if there is no way of extending this solution on a more wide segment, then the point $(T^*, u(T^*))$ belongs to the boundary of the set U. Moreover, any two strong solutions of problem (5.2.14)–(5.2.15) will coincide on a common part of the segments of their existence.

Our next step is to consider on the semi-axis $t \ge 0$ the Cauchy problem for the nonhomogeneous equation

- (5.2.20) $u'(t) = A u(t) + f(t), \quad t > 0,$
- $(5.2.21) u(0) = u_0,$

and the related Cauchy problem for the homogeneous equation

(5.2.22)
$$u'(t) = A u(t), \quad t > 0,$$

$$(5.2.23) u(0) = u_0,$$

A continuous function u defined for all $t \ge 0$ is said to be a weak solution of problem (5.2.20)-(5.2.21) if for any T > 0 this function gives a weak solution of problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2). We say that a function is a strong solution of problem (5.2.20)-(5.2.21) if this function is continuously differentiable on the semi-axis $t \ge 0$ and for any T > 0 satisfies problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2) as one possible strong solution. The homogeneous Cauchy problem (5.2.22)-(5.2.23) is said to be uniformly well-posed if the Cauchy problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) is uniformly well-posed for any T > 0. Recall that the well-posedness of problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) will be ensured for all T > 0 if we succeed in showing this property at least for one value T > 0. Thus, in agreement with Theorem 5.2.1 the Cauchy problem (5.2.22)-(5.2.23) is uniformly well-posed if and only if the operator A generates a strongly continuous semigroup V(t).

Suppose that for every $u_0 \in X$ the function f is continuous on the semi-axis $t \ge 0$. If problem (5.2.22)-(5.2.23) is uniformly well-posed, then a weak solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.2.20)-(5.2.21) exists, is unique and is given by formula (5.2.9). Under the additional assumptions that $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and f is a sum of two functions: the first is continuously differentiable in the norm of the space X for $t \ge 0$ and the second is continuous in the norm of $\mathcal{D}(A)$ for $t \ge 0$, a strong solution of problem (5.2.20)-(5.2.21) is specified by formula (5.2.9). We will not pursue analysis of this: the ideas needed to do so have been covered.

Among all uniformly well-posed problems it is possible to extract a class of problems possessing solutions with extra smoothness. It is fairly common to call the problems of this kind parabolic. Before proceeding to a rigorous definition of the parabolic equation, it will be sensible to introduce a notion of classical solution. We say that a function u is a classical solution of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2) if this function is continuous on the segment [0, T] in the norm of the space X and is continuously differentiable on (0, T] in the norm of the space X, the values of u on (0, T]belong to $\mathcal{D}(A)$ and equation (5.2.1) is satisfied on (0, T] with the supplementary condition $u(0) = u_0$. Along similar lines, a function u can be adopted as a classical solution of the Cauchy problem (5.2.20)-(5.2.21) on the semi-axis t > 0 if u is a classical solution of problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2) for any T > 0. Here the difference between the classical and strong solutions is connected with the obstacle that the classical one may be nondifferentiable at the point t = 0 and the governing differential equation fails to be true at the point t = 0.
5. Some Topics from Functional Analysis and Operator Theory

When classifying the problem to be parabolic, there are various approaches to this notion. In some cases problem (5.2.22)-(5.2.23) is known as a parabolic one if any weak solution of this problem turns out to be classical. In what follows this notion will be used in another sense, the meaning of which is that

(5.2.24) any weak solution of the abstract Cauchy problem (5.2.24) (5.2.22)-(5.2.23) is an analytic function on the semi-axis t > 0.

Common practice involves the symbol V(t) for the semigroup generated by the operator A. Within this notation, it is straightforward to verify that condition (5.2.24) is equivalent to the property that for each $x \in X$ the function V(t)x is analytic on the semi-axis t > 0.

Condition (5.2.24) can be formulated in terms of the **resolvent** of the operator A. We proceed as usual. Let $S(\varphi, \omega)$ be a sector of the complex plane, that is,

(5.2.25)
$$S(\varphi,\omega) = \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbf{C} \colon |\arg(\lambda - \omega)| < \varphi, \lambda \neq \omega \right\},\$$

where ω is a real number and $0 < \varphi < \pi$. As we have mentioned above, there are various ways of defining the problem to be parabolic. In view of this, it would be more convenient to involve in subsequent assertions the notion of analytic semigroup. By this we mean that the semigroup V(t) generated by the operator A is **analytic** if and only if condition (5.2.24) holds true.

Theorem 5.2.8 Let X be a Banach space and A be a closed linear operator, whose domain is dense in X. If the operator A generates a strongly continuous analytic semigroup in the space X, then there are constants $\omega \in \mathbf{R}, \varphi \in (\pi/2, \pi)$ and C > 0 such that the sector specified by (5.2.25) is contained in the resolvent set $\rho(A)$ and the estimate

(5.2.26)
$$||R(\lambda, A)|| \leq \frac{C}{|\lambda - \omega|}$$

is valid for each $\lambda \in S(\varphi, \omega)$. Conversely, if estimate (5.2.26) is valid in a certain half-plane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega$, then the operator A generates a strongly continuous analytic semigroup in the space X.

Denoting, as usual, by V(t) the strongly continuous analytic semigroup generated by the operator A, we claim that the operator AV(t)belongs to the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ for each t > 0. Moreover, the estimate

(5.2.27)
$$||AV(t)|| \leq \frac{M}{t}, \quad t \to 0,$$

is valid in some neighborhood of the point t = 0. It is worth noting here that estimate (5.2.27) may be true with constant M < 1/e, where e refers to the base of natural logarithms. In that case the operator A appears to be bounded. Let us consider the nonhomogeneous Cauchy problem (5.2.20)-(5.2.21) and confine ourselves to classical solutions only. Such a trick allows to involve the concept of analytic semigroup, thereby making the premises of Theorem 5.2.3 less restrictive. All this enables us to obtain the following result.

Theorem 5.2.9 Let X be a Banach space and the operator A generate in X a strongly continuous analytic semigroup V(t). If $u_0 \in X$ and $f \in C^{\alpha}([0, T]; X), 0 < \alpha < 1$, then a classical solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2) exists and is unique. Moreover, the function u is given by formula (5.2.9).

By minor modifications formulae (5.2.10) and (5.2.11) related to u'(t)and Au(t) become

(5.2.28)
$$u'(t) = A V(t) u_0 + V(t) f(t) + \int_0^t A V(t-s) [f(s) - f(t)] ds,$$

(5.2.29)
$$A u(t) = A V(t) u_0 + (V(t) - I) f(t) + \int_0^t A V(t-s) [f(s) - f(t)] ds,$$

which are valid for each $u_0 \in X$ and any function f satisfying Hölder's condition on the segment [0, T]. The integrals in relations (5.2.28)-(5.2.29) should be regarded as improper ones. Due to estimate (5.2.27) the singularities of the expressions to be integrated in (5.2.28)-(5.2.29) are summable for s = t as long as the function f is of Hölder's type. Therefore, the integral terms in (5.2.28)-(152.29) are continuous in the norm of the space X on the whole segment [0, T].

When the semigroup V(t) is analytic, one can restate the existence of strong solutions, thereby making the corresponding assertion less restrictive.

Theorem 5.2.10 Let X be a Banach space and the operator A generate a strongly continuous analytic semigroup V(t) in the space X. If $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and $f \in C^{\alpha}([0, T]; X), 0 < \alpha < 1$, then a strong solution u of the Cauchy

problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.2) exists and is unique. Moreover, the function u is given by formula (5.2.9).

5.3 Linear differential equations of the second order in Banach spaces

The rapid development of the theory of the Cauchy problem for differential equations of the second order during the last two decades stems from the necessity of solving the new scientific and technical problems and is presented in Fattorini (1969a,b, 1985), Ivanov et al. (1995), Kisynski (1972), Kurepa (1982), Lutz (1982), Sova (1966, 1975, 1977), Travis and Webb (1978), Vasiliev et al. (1990). In this section we consider direct problems for abstract differential equations of the second order in a Banach space X. Let A be a closed linear operator in the space X with a dense domain. At present we have at our disposal two elements $u_0, u_1 \in X$ and a function

$$f\colon [0,T] \mapsto X$$

and set up the Cauchy problem for an abstract equation in which it is required to find the function u(t) from the set of relations

- (5.3.1) $u''(t) = A u(t) + f(t), \quad 0 < t < T,$
- $(5.3.2) u(0) = u_0, u'(0) = u_1.$

With regard to problem (5.3.1)-(5.3.2) we confine ourselves to the cases of weak and strong solutions only. A distribution u with values in the space $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is said to be a **weak solution** of the Cauchy problem (5.3.1)-(5.3.2)if it satisfies (5.3.1) in the sense of the equality between elements of the space $\mathcal{D}'((0,T); X)$. Also, it is required that the function u should fall into the category of regular functions from the space $\mathcal{C}^1([0,T]; X)$ and satisfy the initial conditions (5.3.2) as a continuously differentiable function. In this context, it is worth noting that the weak solution u as an element only of the space $\mathcal{C}^1([0,T]; X)$ does not necessarily possess a standard second derivative or take the values from the space $\mathcal{D}(A)$. We say that a function u gives a **strong solution** of problem (5.3.1)-(5.3.2) when it belongs to the class

$$\mathcal{C}^2([0, T]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$

and is still subject to both relations (5.3.1)-(5.3.2) in a standard sense. Once treated as a distribution, each strong solution of the Cauchy problem at hand is always a weak solution of the same problem. The conditions $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ are necessary for a strong solution to exist. However, these conditions are insufficient.

Our subsequent studies are mainly devoted to strong solutions. For this reason by a "solution" we mean in the sequel a strong solution unless otherwise is explicitly stated.

As preliminaries to the solution of the original problem, the object of investigation is the Cauchy problem for the homogeneous equation

(5.3.3)
$$u''(t) = A u(t), \quad 0 < t < T,$$

$$(5.3.4) u(0) = u_0, u'(0) = u_1.$$

We say that the Cauchy problem (5.3.3)–(5.3.4) is uniformly well-posed if the following conditions hold:

- (1) there exists a dense subspace D of the space X such that for all elements $u_0, u_1 \in D$ a strong solution of problem (5.3.3)-(5.3.4) exists and is unique;
- (2) if a sequence of strong solutions u_n(t) to equation (5.3.3) is such that u_n(0) → 0 and u'_n(0) → 0 as n → ∞ in the norm of the space X, then u_n(t) → 0 as n → ∞ in the norm of the space C([0, T]; X).

Necessary and sufficient conditions for the homogeneous Cauchy problem concerned to be uniformly well-posed are established in the following assertion.

Theorem 5.3.1 The Cauchy problem (5.3.3)–(5.3.4) is uniformly wellposed if and only if there are constants M and ω such that for each $\lambda > \omega$ the value λ^2 is contained in the resolvent set $\rho(A)$ of the operator A and for the same value λ the estimate is valid:

(5.3.5)
$$\left\| \frac{d^n}{d\lambda^n} \left(\lambda R(\lambda^2, A) \right) \right\| \leq \frac{M n!}{(\lambda - \omega)^{n+1}}, \qquad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

Before proceeding to the second order equations, it is reasonable to introduce the concept of strongly continuous cosine function which will be of crucial importance in the sequel. An operator function C(t) defined for all real t with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ is called a **strongly continuous cosine function** if it possesses the following properties:

- (1) C(0) = I;
- (2) C(t+s) + C(t-s) = 2C(t)C(s) for all $t, s \in \mathbf{R}$;
- (3) for any fixed $x \in X$ the function C(t)x is continuous with respect to t in the norm of the space X for all $t \in \mathbf{R}$.

344 5. Some Topics from Functional Analysis and Operator Theory

Strongly continuous cosine functions may be of help in the further derivation of explicit expressions for the Cauchy problem solutions in terms of the input data. However, the relationships between the Cauchy problem solutions and the cosine functions for the second order equations are rather complicated than those for the first order equations and semigroups. Several new notions are aimed to refine the character of these relationships.

Every strongly continuous cosine function C(t) can be associated with the corresponding sine function S(t), which is specified by means of the integral

(5.3.6)
$$S(t) = \int_{0}^{t} C(s) \, ds \, .$$

It is worth noting here that the integral in (5.3.6) is understood in a strong sense. The very definition implies that the strong derivative of any sine function coincides with the associated cosine function. We are interested in learning more about the space

$$(5.3.7) E = \left\{ x \in X \colon C(t) \, x \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbf{R}) \right\},$$

containing all the elements of the space X for which the cosine function is strongly differentiable. The space E so defined becomes a Banach space with associated norm

(5.3.8)
$$||x||_E = ||x|| + \sup_{0 \le t \le 1} ||C'(t)x||.$$

Each uniformly well-posed Cauchy problem of the type (5.3.3)-(5.3.4) can be put in correspondence with a suitable strongly continuous cosine function C(t), whose use permits us to write a solution u of problem (5.3.3)-(5.3.4) as follows:

(5.3.9)
$$u(t) = C(t) u_0 + S(t) u_1,$$

where S(t) refers to the sine function given by formula (5.3.6). In particular, for $u_0 \in E$ and $u_1 \in X$ we specify a weak solution by appeal to (5.3.9). The condition $u_0 \in E$ is necessary and sufficient for the existence of a weak solution of problem (5.3.3)-(5.3.4). The same problem has a strong solution if and only if $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and $u_1 \in E$ and, in so doing,

$$u'(t) = A S(t) u_0 + C(t) u_1,$$

$$u''(t) = C(t) A u_0 + A S(t) u_1.$$

The operators C(t) and S(t) both are commuting with the operator A for any real t. The operator S(t) carries X into E and E into $\mathcal{D}(A)$, thus causing the inclusion

$$AS(t) \in \mathcal{L}(E,X)$$
.

It is worth bearing in mind here that the cosine function C(t) is uniquely determined by the operator A known as the generator of the cosine function. The converse is certainly true. More precisely, for any strongly continuous cosine function C(t) there exists a closed linear operator Asuch that the domain $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is dense in the space X and the related Cauchy problem (5.3.3)-(5.3.4) is uniformly well-posed. Also, formula (5.3.9) is valid and the generator A of the cosine function C(t) can uniquely be recovered.

One can derive several useful formulae, making it possible to express the cosine function C(t) via its generator A and vice versa. The operator A is the strong second order derivative of the cosine function C(t) at zero:

$$A x = \left[C(t) x \right]'' \Big|_{t=0}$$

with the domain

$$\mathcal{D}(A) = \left\{ x \in X \colon C(t) \, x \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{R}) \right\}.$$

In turn, the cosine function C(t) is representable by

$$C(t) x = \lim_{k \to \infty} \left. \frac{(-1)^k}{k!} \left(\frac{k}{t} \right)^{k+1} \left[\left. \frac{d^k}{d \lambda^k} \left(\lambda R(\lambda^2, A) x \right) \right] \right|_{\lambda = k/t}$$

For any strongly continuous cosine function C(t) there are constants $M \ge 1$ and $\omega \ge 0$ such that for all real t

(5.3.10)
$$||C(t)|| \leq M \exp(\omega |t|).$$

Combination of definition (5.3.6) of the cosine function and estimate (5.3.10) gives the inequality

(5.3.11)
$$||S(t)|| \le M |t| \exp(\omega |t|).$$

For $\lambda > \omega$ the operator functions C(t), S(t) and the resolvent $R(\lambda, A)$ of the operator A are related as follows:

$$\lambda R(\lambda^2, A) = \int_0^\infty C(t) e^{-\lambda t} dt,$$
$$R(\lambda^2, A) = \int_0^\infty S(t) e^{-\lambda t} dt.$$

Here both integrals are understood in a strong sense.

A simple observation that equation (5.3.3) is **autonomous** could be useful in the sequel. Since problem (5.3.3)-(5.3.4) is uniformly well-posed, the Cauchy problem

$$u''(t) = A u(t), \qquad a < t < b,$$

 $u(t_0) = u_0, \qquad u'(t_0) = u_1,$

is also uniformly well-posed for all numbers a, b, t_0 with $a \leq t_0 \leq b$. The function

$$u(t) = C(t - t_0) u_0 + S(t - t_0) u_1$$

suits us perfectly in studying this problem.

Let us come back to the nonhomogeneous Cauchy problem (5.3.1)-(5.3.2) for which the following result is obtained.

Theorem 5.3.2 Let problem (5.3.3)–(5.3.4) be uniformly well-posed. One assumes, in addition, that $u_0 \in E$, $u_1 \in X$ and $f \in C([0, T]; X)$. Then a weak solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.3.1)–(5.3.2) exists, is unique and takes the form

(5.3.12)
$$u(t) = C(t) u_0 + S(t) u_1 + \int_0^t S(t-s) f(s) ds,$$

making it possible to express its derivative by

(5.3.13)
$$u'(t) = A S(t) u_0 + C(t) u_1 + \int_0^t C(t-s) f(s) \, ds \, .$$

Conditions $u_0 \in E$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ are necessary for the existence of a strong solution. As far as any strong solution becomes a weak solution, formulae (5.3.12)-(5.3.13) continue to hold for strong solutions. Therefore, the existence of a strong solution is ensured by the continuous differentiability of the integral term on the right-hand side of (5.3.13). Let us stress that in this case the continuity of the function f is insufficient. The results we cite below allow to impose the conditions under which the Cauchy problem at hand is solvable in a strong sense.

Theorem 5.3.3 Let the Cauchy problem (5.3.3)–(5.3.4) be uniformly wellposed. One assumes, in addition, that $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $u_1 \in E$ and

$$f \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];X) + \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(A))$$

Then a strong solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.3.1)–(5.3.2) exists, is unique and is given by formula (5.3.12).

As stated above, formula (5.3.13) is established for any strong solution. Some progress will be achieved once we involve in the further development the functions u'' and Au. If $f = f_1 + f_2$ with the members $f_1 \in C^1([0, T]; X)$ and $f_2 \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$, then

(5.3.14)
$$u''(t) = C(t) \left[A u_0 + f_1(0) \right] + A S(t) u_1 + \int_0^t C(t-s) f_1'(s) ds + \int_0^t S(t-s) A f_2(s) ds + f_2(t) ,$$

(5.3.15)
$$A u(t) = C(t) \left[A u_0 + f_1(0) \right] + A S(t) u_1 + \int_0^t C(t-s) f_1'(s) ds + \int_0^t S(t-s) A f_2(s) ds - f_1(t) .$$

By integrating by parts in (5.3.13) we are led to an alternative form of the first derivative

(5.3.16)
$$u'(t) = C(t) u_1 + S(t) [A u_0 + f_1(0)] + \int_0^t C(t-s) f_2(s) ds + \int_0^t S(t-s) f_1'(s) ds.$$

With the aid of (5.3.14)-(5.3.16) one can find out when a solution of the Cauchy problem in view becomes more smooth. Indeed, let $f \in C^1([0, T]; X), u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and $u_1 \in E$. Substitution v = u' allows to find by formula (5.3.16) that

(5.3.17)
$$v(t) = C(t) v_0 + S(t) v_1 + \int_0^t S(t-s) g(s) \, ds$$

where $v_0 = u_1$, $v_1 = A u_0 + f(0)$ and g(t) = f'(t). With the inclusions $v_0 \in E$ and $g \in C([0, T]; X)$ in view, formula (5.3.17) serves to motivate that the function v is a weak solution of the Cauchy problem

(5.3.18)
$$\begin{cases} v''(t) = A v(t) + g(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ v(0) = v_0, & v'(0) = v_1. \end{cases}$$

Applying Theorem 5.3.3 to problem (5.3.18) yields the conditions under which a solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.3.1)-(5.3.2) attains the extra smoothness.

Theorem 5.3.4 Let the Cauchy problem (5.3.3)-(5.3.4) be uniformly wellposed and $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$,

$$A u_0 + f(0) \in E$$
, $f \in C^2([0, T]; X)$.

Then for a solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.3.1)-(5.3.2) the inclusion occurs:

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^{3}([0, T]; X)$$
.

Following the same procedure it is possible to establish some conditions under which the solution of the Cauchy problem becomes as smooth as we like. Under such an approach we are able to find out when the solution in question possesses the extra "spatial" smoothness. Indeed, allowing $u_0, u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ and substituting w = A u, we involve (5.3.15), whose use permits us to find that

$$w(t) = C(t) w_0 + S(t) w_1 + \int_0^t S(t-s) h(s) \, ds \, ,$$

where $w_0 = A u_0$, $w_1 = A u_1$ and h(t) = A f(t). With the relation $A u_0 \in E$ in view, the function w gives a weak solution of the Cauchy problem

(5.3.19)
$$\begin{cases} w''(t) = A w(t) + h(t), & 0 < t < T, \\ w(0) = w_0, & w'(0) = w_1. \end{cases}$$

Under the conditions $w_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $w_1 \in E$ and $h \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ imposed above Theorem 5.3.3 applies equally well to the Cauchy problem (5.3.1)– (5.3.2). All this enables us to obtain the following result.

Theorem 5.3.5 Let the Cauchy problem (5.3.3)–(5.3.4) be uniformly wellposed. One assumes, in addition, that $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^2)$, $u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $A u_1 \in E$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A^2))$. Then a solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.3.1)–(5.3.2) satisfies the condition

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A^2))$$
.

The same framework is much applicable in trying to increase the "spatial" smoothness of a solution as high as we like. The main idea behind approach is to move in both directions, thereby providing proper guidelines for conditions of the "mixed" smoothness.

One way of proceeding is to reduce the equation of the second order to the system of equations of the first order. Having substituted v(t) = u'(t), as usual, we may attempt the Cauchy problem (5.3.1)-(5.3.2) in the form

$$\begin{split} u'(t) &= v(t), & 0 < t < T, \\ v'(t) &= A u(t) + f(t), & 0 < t < T, \\ u(0) &= u_0, & v(0) = u_1, \end{split}$$

which can be treated from a formal point of view as the Cauchy problem for the first order equation

(5.3.20)
$$\begin{pmatrix} u(t) \\ v(t) \end{pmatrix}' = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ A & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u(t) \\ v(t) \end{pmatrix}$$
$$+ \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ f(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad 0 < t < T,$$
$$(5.3.21) \qquad \begin{pmatrix} u(0) \\ v(0) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u_0 \\ u_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Before giving further motivations, a few questions need certain clarification. The first is concerned with a suitably chosen Banach space \mathcal{X} in which the Cauchy problem (5.3.20)–(5.3.21) is completely posed. This question has a unique answer in the case when the natural correspondence between problem (5.3.1)–(5.3.2) and problem (5.3.20)–(5.3.21) is needed. Indeed, given f = 0, observe that problem (5.3.1)–(5.3.2) is weakly solvable for any $u_0 \in E$ and $u_1 \in X$. On the other hand, on account of Theorem 5.2.2 the first order equation has a weak solution under any input data. The well-founded choice of the space \mathcal{X} immediately follows from the foregoing:

$$\mathcal{X} = E \times X.$$

5. Some Topics from Functional Analysis and Operator Theory

The second question needs investigation in connection with the domain of the operator

(5.3.22)
$$\mathcal{A} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ A & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

In that case strong solutions may be of help in achieving the final aim. It is worth mentioning here that the Cauchy problem (5.3.1)-(5.3.2) with f = 0has a strong solution for any $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and $u_1 \in E$. One more **Cauchy problem**

(5.3.23)
$$\begin{cases} w'(t) = \mathcal{A} w(t), & 0 < t < T, \\ w(0) = w_0, \end{cases}$$

complements our studies. We know that this problem, in turn, possesses a strong solution for any $w_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$. With this relation in view, the problem statement necessitates imposing the extra restriction

$$(5.3.24) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) \times E.$$

The main difficulty here lies in the comparison of the uniform wellposedness of problem (5.3.3)-(5.3.4) with the same property of problem (5.3.23). A case in point is as follows. No convergence to zero in the space $\mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ for the first derivative of the solution is required in the definition of the uniform well-posedness of the Cauchy problem for the second order equations even if the initial data elements vanish. At the same time this property is needed in the statement of problem (5.3.23). This is due to the fact that its solution admits the form

$$w(t) = \begin{pmatrix} u(t) \\ u'(t) \end{pmatrix}$$

Nevertheless, the following assertion is valid and makes our exposition more transparent.

Theorem 5.3.6 Let the Cauchy problem (5.3.3)-(5.3.4) be uniformly well-posed and conditions (5.3.7)-(5.3.8) hold. Then the Cauchy problem (5.3.23) is uniformly well-posed if we agree to consider the space $\mathcal{X} = E \times X$ and (5.3.24) as the domain of the operator \mathcal{A} of the structure (5.3.22).

From Theorem 5.3.6 it follows that if the operator A generates a strongly continuous cosine function C(t), then the operator A generates a strongly continuous semigroup V(t). In dealing with the sine function S(t)

associated with C(t) it is plain to derive the **explicit expression** for the semigroup V(t):

(5.3.25)
$$V(t) = \begin{pmatrix} C(t) & S(t) \\ A S(t) & C(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$

As a matter of fact, the semigroup V(t) becomes a group if we accept formula (5.3.25) for all negative values t, too. In this case the function V(t) obeys the **group property**, amounting, for all real values t and s, to the relation

$$V(t+s) = V(t) V(s).$$

The group property just considered provides that for any real t the operator V(t) has a bounded inverse $V(t)^{-1}$. By the same token,

$$V(t)^{-1} = V(-t)$$
.

We will have more to say about relationship between the resolvents of the operators A and A:

(5.3.26)
$$(\lambda I - \mathcal{A})^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda (\lambda^2 I - \mathcal{A})^{-1} & (\lambda^2 I - \mathcal{A})^{-1} \\ A (\lambda^2 I - \mathcal{A})^{-1} & \lambda (\lambda^2 I - \mathcal{A})^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

The assertion of Theorem 5.3.6 can be inverted in the following sense. Suppose that a Banach space E_1 is continuously embedded into the space X and $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is continuously embedded into the space E_1 . In the Banach space $\mathcal{X} = E_1 \times X$ we consider the operator (5.3.22) with the domain

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) \times E_1.$$

If the operator \mathcal{A} generates a strongly continuous group, then the operator A generates a strongly continuous cosine function and the space E_1 coincides with the space E arising from relations (5.3.7)–(5.3.8) up to equivalent norms on that space.

The next step is to consider the **Cauchy problem** for the **nonlinear** equation

$$(5.3.27) u''(t) = A u(t) + f(t, u(t), u'(t)), \quad 0 < t < T,$$

$$(5.3.28) u(0) = u_0, u'(0) = u_1.$$

This problem needs more a detailed exploration, since its solution is not defined, in general, on the whole segment [0, T]. It may happen that the Cauchy problem (5.3.27)-(5.3.28) is solvable only on a certain segment

 $[0, T^*]$ with $0 < T^* \leq T$. Denote by $\tilde{S}(y, R)$ a closed ball in the space X of radius R > 0 with center y and introduce the set

$$U = [0, T] \times S(u_0, R) \times \overline{S}(u_1, R).$$

One assumes, in addition, that the ingredient f meets the requirement labeled by (5.3.29) for the reader's convenience:

the function f is continuous on the set U and satisfies thereon the Lipschitz condition with respect to the second and third arguments or, more specifically, there is a constant L > 0 such that at all points $(t, u, v), (t, w, z) \in U$ one has

$$(5.3.29) || f(t, u, v) - f(t, w, z) || \le L \left(|| u - w || + || v - z || \right)$$

Observe that the continuity of the function f permits one to define weak and strong solutions of the Cauchy problem (5.3.27)-(5.3.28) in a natural way. Indeed, for any function $u \in C^1([0, T^*]; X)$ subject to the condition $(t, u(t), u'(t)) \in U$, valid at each point $t \in [0, T^*]$, the superposition f(t, u(t), u'(t)) is continuous on the segment $[0, T^*]$ and belongs to the space $\mathcal{D}'((0, T^*); X)$, thereby justifying a possibility of applying the previous concepts of weak and strong solutions to the case of the nonlinear equation (5.3.27).

Of special interest is a weak solution of the Cauchy problem (5.3.27)-(5.3.28) provided that the homogeneous Cauchy problem (5.3.3)-(5.3.4) is uniformly well-posed and $u_0 \in E$. With relation (5.3.12) in view, the nonlinear problem (5.3.27)-(5.3.28) is equivalent to the **integral equation**

(5.3.30)
$$u(t) = C(t) u_0 + S(t) u_1 + \int_0^t S(t-s) f(s, u(s), u'(s)) ds,$$

when operating in the class of continuously differentiable functions. With the aid of (5.3.13) it is easy to recast this equation as the system of integral equations for the functions u(t) and v(t) = u'(t):

(5.3.31)
$$\begin{cases} u(t) = C(t) u_0 + S(t) u_1 + \int_0^t S(t-s) f(s, u(s), v(s)) ds, \\ v(t) = A S(t) u_0 + C(t) u_1 + \int_0^t C(t-s) f(s, u(s), v(s)) ds. \end{cases}$$

It is worth bearing in mind here that the system (5.3.31) is viewed in the class of continuous functions. Making the substitutions

$$w = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \qquad w_0(t) = \begin{pmatrix} C(t) u_0 + S(t) u_1 \\ A S(t) u_0 + C(t) u_1 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$F(t, w) = \begin{pmatrix} f(t, u, v) \\ f(t, u, v) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A(t, s) = \begin{pmatrix} S(t-s) & 0 \\ 0 & C(t-s) \end{pmatrix},$$

we rewrite the system (5.3.31) as the Volterra integral equation of the second kind

(5.3.32)
$$w(t) = w_0(t) + \int_0^t A(t,s) F(s, w(s)) ds$$

when operating in the class of continuous functions with values in the Banach space $X \times X$. Equation (5.3.32) satisfies all the conditions of Theorem 5.1.19, thus ensuring the local solvability of the system (5.3.31) and the uniqueness of its solution. Because of (5.3.13), the function v refers to the first derivative of the function u and, therefore, equation (5.3.30) is an immediate implication of the system (5.3.31). All this enables us to obtain the following result.

Theorem 5.3.7 Let the Cauchy problem (5.3.3)-(5.3.4) be uniformly wellposed and let $u_0 \in E$ and $u_1 \in X$. One assumes, in addition, that the function f complies with (5.3.29). Then there is a value $T^* > 0$ such that the nonlinear Cauchy problem (5.3.27)-(5.3.28) has a weak solution u on the segment $[0, T^*]$. Also, if there is no possibility of extending this solution on a more wide segment, then the point $(T^*, u(T^*), u'(T^*))$ belongs to the boundary of the set U. Moreover, any two weak solutions of problem (5.3.27)-(5.3.28) will coincide on a common part of the segments of their existence.

Assume that the second integral equation in the system (5.3.31) is considered with respect to one unknown function v by relating another function u to be continuous and fixed. With these ingredients, the existence of a strong solution of the Cauchy problem (5.3.27)-(5.3.28) amounts to the question of the continuous differentiability of the function v as we have mentioned above. It is possible to overcome this obstacle in just the same way as, for instance, we did in Section 5.2 for the first order equations. For the moment, the function f is supposed to be **Frechet differentiable** at a point (t_0, u_0, v_0) , it being understood that the increment of the function f can be expressed by

$$f(t, u, v) - f(t_0, u_0, v_0) = f_t(t - t_0) + f_u(u - u_0) + f_v(v - v_0)$$
$$+ \alpha(t, u, v) (|t - t_0| + ||u - u_0|| + ||v - v_0||),$$

where $f_t \in X$; f_u , $f_v \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ and $\alpha(t, u, v) \to 0$ as $(t, u, v) \to (t_0, u_0, v_0)$. Here the element f_t and the operators f_u and f_v stand for the **partial** derivatives of the function f at the point (t_0, u_0, v_0) . A function f is said to be **Frechet differentiable** on the set U if it is Frechet differentiable at each point of this set. In what follows we take for granted the collection of conditions labeled by (5.3.33) for the reader's convenience:

the function f is Frechet differentiable on the set U, its partial derivatives f_t , f_u , f_v are continuous and satisfy thereon the Lipschitz condition with respect to the third argument.

Omitting some details and difficulties arising when finding a strong solution of the Cauchy problem in comparison with the work done in Section 5.2 for the first order equations, we cite here only the final results obtained.

Theorem 5.3.8 Let the Cauchy problem (5.3.3)–(5.3.4) be uniformly wellposed and let

$$u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$$
 and $u_1 \in E$.

One assumes, in addition, that the function f is involved in (5.3.29) and (5.3.33) both. Then there is a value $T^* > 0$ such that the nonlinear Cauchy problem (5.3.27)–(5.3.28) has on the segment $[0, T^*]$ a strong solution u. Also, if there is no possibility of extending this solution on a more wide segment, then the point $(T^*, u(T^*), u'(T^*))$ belongs to the boundary of the set U. Moreover, any two strong solutions of problem (5.3.27)–(5.3.28) will coincide on a common part of the segments of their existence.

5.4 Differential equations with varying operator coefficients

In this section we deal with direct problems for abstract differial equations in the case when the operator coefficient depends on the argument t. This part of the theory, being the most difficult one and relating to preliminaries, can serve as the necessary background in advanced theory. In

this regard, it is appropriate to mention the books and papers by Amann (1986, 1987), Fattorini (1983), Gil (1987), Henry (1981), Ikawa (1968), Kato (1961, 1970, 1973, 1975b, 1982), Lomovtsev and Yurchuk (1976), Serizawa and Watanabe (1986), Sobolevsky (1961), Sobolevsky and Pogorelenko (1967), Yakubov (1970, 1985), Yosida (1965). The preliminary stage is connected with the **Cauchy problem** in a Banach space X

(5.4.1) $u'(t) = A(t)u(t) + f(t), \quad 0 < t < T,$

$$(5.4.2) u(0) = u_0,$$

where for each $t \in [0, T]$ the operator A(t) is linear and closed and its domain $\mathcal{D}(A(t))$ is dense in the space X. Careful analysis of the Cauchy problem (5.4.1)–(5.4.2) is rather complicated as compared with problem (5.2.1)–(5.2.2). Until now there is no universal or advanced theory for problems of the type (5.4.1)–(5.4.2). For further successful developments of such theory we will be forced to impose several additional conditions, making it possible to distinguish the hyperbolic and parabolic types of equation (5.4.1). The passage from problem (5.2.1)–(5.2.2) to problems with varying operator coefficients necessitates modifying the notion of uniform well-posedness. In preparation for this, we study the **homogeneous Cauchy problem**

(5.4.3)
$$u'(t) = A(t) u(t), \quad 0 < t < T,$$

$$(5.4.4) u(0) = u_0.$$

Recall that special investigations of problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) hinge essentially on the property of the translation invariance of the equation (5.2.3) solution. The validity of this property is an immediate implication of the autonomy of equation (5.2.3) and, in turn, implies the uniform well-posedness of the related Cauchy problem on any segment. In particular, the uniform well-posedness of problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4) provides the same property for another problem

$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = A u(t), & s < t < T, \\ u(s) = u_0, \end{cases}$$

for any $s \in [0, T)$. Additional restrictions are needed in such a setting, since the indicated property fails to be true for nonautonomous equations. Thus, the definition of the uniform well-posedness of the Cauchy problem (5.4.3)-(5.4.4) on the segment [0, T] is accompanied by the solvability of this problem on any segment [s, T] with $s \in [0, T)$. To be more specific, it is required that

(1) there is a dense subspace D of the space X such that for any value s ∈ [0, T) and any element u₀ ∈ D one can find a unique function u_s(t) subject to the following relations: u_s ∈ C¹([s, T]; X) and for any t ∈ [s, T]

$$u_s(t) \in \mathcal{D}(A(t)), \qquad u'_s(t) = A(t) u_s(t)$$

and $u_s(s) = u_0$.

Another point in our study is concerned with the continuous dependence of a solution upon the input data. Provided condition (1) holds, the input data should include not only the element u_0 , but also the parameter s. Especial attention is being paid to the construction of an evolution operator

$$V(t,s): u_0 \mapsto u_s(t),$$

by means of which the Cauchy problem can be resolved on the segment [s, T]. In this direction one more condition is imposed:

(2) there exists a function V(t, s) taking the values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ and being strongly continuous in the triangle

$$\Delta = \left\{ (t, s): \ 0 \le s \le T, \ s \le t \le T \right\}$$

such that the Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = A(t) u(t), & s < t < T, \\ u(s) = u_0, \end{cases}$$

is solved by the function $u(t) = V(t, s) u_0$.

In accordance with what has been said, the Cauchy problem (5.4.3)-(5.4.4) is **uniformly well-posed** if both conditions (1)-(2) are satisfied. If the operator coefficient A(t) does not depend on t, the definiton of uniform well-posedness coincides with that given in Section 5.2 and in this case the semigroup V(t) generated by A and the evolution operator V(t, s) just considered are related by

$$V(t,s) = V(t-s).$$

If the Cauchy problem (5.4.3)-(5.4.4) is uniformly well-posed, then the evolution operator V(t, s) is uniformly bounded. That is to say, there is a constant M > 0 such that

$$\|V(t,s)\| \le M$$

for all $(t,s) \in \Delta$. Moreover, the operator function V(t,s) possesses the properties similar to those established earlier for semigroups:

(5.4.5) $V(s,s) = I, \quad 0 \le s \le T,$

(5.4.6)
$$V(t,r)V(r,s) = V(t,s), \quad 0 \le s \le r \le t \le T$$

By the definition of evolution operator, for any $u_0 \in D$ the function

(5.4.7)
$$u(t) = V(t,s) u_0$$

is continuously differentiable on the segment [s, T] and solves equation (5.4.3) on the same segment [s, T]. Each such function is called a **strong** solution of (5.4.3). Observe that an arbitrarily chosen element u_0 of the space X does not necessarily lie within the set D. From such reasoning it seems clear that the function u defined by (5.4.7) will be less smooth. One might expect its continuity and no more. For this reason the function u so constructed is said to be a weak solution to equation (5.4.3).

As stated in Section 5.2, strongly continuous semigroups are in a one-to-one correspondence with uniformly well-posed Cauchy problems for autonomous equations. In this view, it is reasonable to raise the same question with respect to equations for the time-dependent operator coefficient. We call V(t, s) an evolution family if V(t, s) is strongly continuous in Δ and satisfies both conditions (5.4.5)-(5.4.6). Also, we are somewhat uncertain: could any evolution family V(t, s) be adopted as an evolution operator for a uniformly well-posed problem of the type (5.4.3)-(5.4.4)? Unfortunately, the answer is no even in the case of a finite dimension. In dealing with the basic space $X = \mathbf{R}$ and a continuous positive function f being nowhere differentiable, observe that the function

$$V(t,s) = f(t)/f(s)$$

constitutes what is called an evolution family. However, there is no uniformly well-posed Cauchy problem being in a proper correspondence with V(t, s).

Let us compare the concepts of well-posedness for the cases of a constant operator coefficient and a varying one. With regard to problem (5.4.3)-(5.4.4) the transition stage is of artificial character. However, we should bear in mind here that this notion is of less importance for problem (5.4.3)-(5.4.4) as compared with problem (5.2.3)-(5.2.4). To decide for yourself whether a particular Cauchy problem with a constant operator coefficient is uniformly well-posed, a first step is to check the fulfilment of the conditions of Theorem 5.2.1. A key role of this property is connected with a number of corollaries on solvability of nonhomogeneous and nonlinear equations involved in further reasoning. As to the case of a variable coefficient, the situation changes drastically. Of crucial importance is now the unique solvability of the Cauchy problem (5.4.1)–(5.4.2). Furthermore, the construction of the corresponding evolution operator V(t,s) is a preliminary step only and in any event should be followed by proving the solvability of the nonhomogeneous equation in some or other senses. What is more, careful analysis of the evolution operator is carried out by the methods depending essentially on the type of the governing equation.

The first stage is devoted to the **hyperbolic type** recognition for an abstract differential equation. There are several frameworks for this concept, but we confine ourselves to two widespread approaches which are frequently encountered in theory and practice and are best suited for deeper study of hyperbolic differential equations of the second order as well as of symmetric hyperbolic systems of differential equations of the first order.

The first approach is much applicable and appears useful not only for hyperbolic equations of the second order, but also for equations of parabolic type and Schrödinger equation. However, more recently, the contemporary interpretation of parabolic equations owes a debt to the introduction of another concept based on analytic semigroups, whose use permits us to obtain more advanced results.

Consider a family of norms $\|\cdot\|_t$, $0 \le t \le T$, on the Banach space X, each being equivalent to the norm of the space X. The same symbol $\|\cdot\|_t$ will stand for the operator norm induced by this family on the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$. In what follows we take for granted that

(H1) the domain $\mathcal{D}(A(t))$ of the operator A(t) does not depend on t, that is,

$$\mathcal{D}(A(t)) = \mathcal{D};$$

(H2) there is a number a > 0 such that for each $t \in [0, T]$ all of the real numbers λ , satisfying the condition $|\lambda| > a$, is contained in the resolvent set of the operator A(t) and the estimate is valid:

$$\|(\lambda I - A(t))^{-1}\|_{t} \leq \frac{1}{|\lambda| - a};$$

(H3) there exist $s \in [0, T]$ and λ with $|\lambda| > a$ such that the operator function

$$B(t) = (\lambda I - A(t)) (\lambda I - A(s))^{-1}$$

is continuously differentiable on the segment [0, T] in the norm of the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$;

(H4) one can find a nondecreasing function $\omega(t)$ such that, for all $t, s \in [0, T], t > s$, and each $x \in X$

$$||x||_t - ||x||_s |\leq (\omega(t) - \omega(s)) ||x||$$

and, moreover, there is a constant $\delta > 0$ such that for all $\in [0, T]$ and each $x \in X$

 $||x||_t \geq \delta ||x||.$

We claim that under these agreements the Cauchy problem (5.4.3)-(5.4.4) is **uniformly well-posed**. A more deep result is revealed in the following statement.

Theorem 5.4.1 Let conditions (H1)-(H4) be fulfilled. Then the following assertions are true:

- (a) the Cauchy problem (5.4.3)-(5.4.4) is uniformly well-posed;
- (b) if $u_0 \in D$ and

 $f \in C([0, T]; X), \qquad A(t) f(t) \in C([0, T]; X),$

then a solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.4.1)-(5.4.2) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T]; X), \qquad A(t) u(t) \in C([0, T]; X).$$

Also, this solution is representable by the formula

(5.4.8)
$$u(t) = V(t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t,s) f(s) ds$$

where V(t, s) refers to the evolution operator of the homogeneous Cauchy problem (5.4.3)-(5.4.4).

The solution u ensured by item (b) of Theorem 5.4.1 is called a **strong** solution of the Cauchy problem (5.4.1)-(5.4.2). Here Theorem 5.4.1 serves as a basis for decision-making about the uniform well-posedness of the homogeneous Cauchy problem (5.4.3)-(5.4.4). Therefore, under the same conditions there exists an evolution operator associated with (5.4.3)-(5.4.4), so that the function u expressed formally by (5.4.8) is continuous for any element $u_0 \in X$ and any function $f \in C([0, T]; X)$. This provides enough reason to define the function u as a weak solution of the Cauchy problem (5.4.1)-(5.4.2) via representation (5.4.8).

As we have mentioned above, the second concept provides proper guidelines for the hyperbolic type recognition with regard to an abstract equation and covers the case of symmetric hyperbolic systems of first order differential equations. Further treatment of the abstract equation (5.4.1)in a similar manner is caused by the assumption that the domain of the operator A(t) depends on t and, in view of this, the notion of stability of the operator function A(t) becomes important and rather urgent. We say that the function A(t) is **stable** if

(S1) there exist a pair of constants ω and M > 0 such that for each $\lambda > \omega$ and any finite set of points $\{t_i\}_{i=1}^k$, satisfying the condition $0 \le t_1 \le t_2 \le \cdots \le t_k \le T$, the estimate is valid:

$$\left\| \left(\lambda I - A(t_k)\right)^{-1} \left(\lambda I - A(t_{k-1})\right)^{-1} \cdots \left(\lambda I - A(t_1)\right)^{-1} \right\| \leq \frac{M}{(\lambda - \omega)^k}.$$

In a particular case, when the function A(t) does not depend on t, condition (S1) coincides with condition (5.2.5) from Theorem 5.2.1. As a matter of fact, the following condition allows to distinguish the class of hyperbolic equations:

(S2) there exist a Banach space X_0 embedded densely and continuously into the space X and an operator function S(t) defined on the segment [0, T] and taking the values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X_0, X)$ such that S(t) is strongly continuously differentiable on the segment [0, T]and for each $t \in [0, T]$

$$S(t)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X, X_0), \qquad X_0 \subset \mathcal{D}(A(t))$$

and the operator function

$$A \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X_0, X))$$

Moreover, the relationship $S(t) A(t) S(t)^{-1} = A(t) + R(t)$ takes place for each $t \in [0, T]$, where the operator R belongs to the class $\mathcal{L}(X)$ and the operator function R(t) is strongly continuous on the segment [0, T].

Recall that condition (S2) is aimed at covering the abstract equations corresponding to symmetric hyperbolic systems of first order differental equations. For this, the operator S(t) is treated as an abstract counterpart of the Calderon-Zygmund singular integral operator.

Theorem 5.4.2 Let conditions (S1)-(S2) hold. Then the following assertions are true:

- (a) the Cauchy problem (5.4.3)–(5.4.4) is uniformly well-posed;
- (b) if $u_0 \in X_0$ and $f \in C([0, T]; X_0)$, then a strong solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.4.1)-(5.4.2) exists and is unique. Moreover, this solution is given by formula (5.4.8).

We should take into account once again that the element u_0 may occupy, in general, an arbitrary place in the space X and, in view of this, does not necessarily belong to the subspace X_0 . Just for this reason formula (5.4.8) gives, under the conditions of Theorem 5.4.2 in combination with $f \in C([0, T]; X)$, only a continuous function being, by definition, a weak solution of the Cauchy problem (5.4.1)-(5.4.2).

We proceed to the next case as usual. This amounts to the further treatment of (5.4.1) as an equation of **parabolic type** under the set of constraints

(P1) the domain $\mathcal{D}(A(t)) = \mathcal{D}$ of the operator A does not depend on the variable t and, in addition, there is a real number ω and a positive constant C such that for each $t \in [0, T]$ the half-plane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega$ is contained in the resolvent set of the operator A(t). Also, for any λ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega$ and each $t \in [0, T]$ the estimate holds:

$$||R(\lambda, A(t))|| \leq \frac{C}{|\lambda - \omega|}.$$

The condition so formulated provides a natural generalization of the parabolic type definition relating to equation (5.2.26) in the case of a constant operator coefficient. Condition (P1) is in common usage and covers plenty of widespread applications such as the Dirichlet problem for a partial differential equation of parabolic type in a space-time cylinder over a bounded domain in the space \mathbf{R}^n and many others. However, while studying Neumann's problem or some other types of boundary conditions and thereby involving equation (5.4.1) in which the domain of the operator coefficient A(t) depends on t, condition (P1) is more stronger and does not fit our purposes. Recent years have seen the publication of numerous papers whose results permit one to overcome the difficulty involved and there are other conditions ensuring the well-posedness of the Cauchy problem for the case of an abstract parabolic equation with varying operator coefficients even if the domain of the operator A(t) depends on the variable t. The conditions mentioned above find a wide range of applications and, in particular, allow to consider partial differential equations of parabolic

type with various boundary conditions (see Amann (1986, 1987)). A casual acquaintance with properties of analytic semogroups in **interpolation spaces** is needed in applications of these results to the current framework. But they are beyond the scope of this book.

If you wish to explore this more deeply, you might find it helpful to study condition (P1) on your own. Provided condition (P1) holds, the uniform well-posedness of the Cauchy problem at hand is ensured by the restriction that the operator coefficient is of **Hölder's type**, meaning that

(P2) there exist a complex number λ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \lambda_0$, a real constant L > 0 and a real value $\beta \in (0, 1]$ such that for all $t, s, \tau \in [0, T]$ the estimate is valid:

$$\left\| \left[A(t) - A(s) \right] R(\lambda, A(\tau)) \right\| \leq L |t - s|^{\beta}.$$

Likewise, a function $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ is called a classical solution to equation (5.4.1) if

- (i) u is continuously differentiable on the half-open interval (0, T];
- (ii) for each $t \in (0, T]$ the inclusion $u(t) \in \mathcal{D}(A(t))$ occurs;
- (iii) this function solves for $t \in (0, T]$ equation (5.4.1) subject to the initial condition $u(0) = u_0$.

Theorem 5.4.3 Let conditions (P1)-(P2) of the present section hold. Then the following assertions are true:

- (a) the Cauchy problem (5.4.3)-(5.4.4) is uniformly well-posed;
- (b) if $u_0 \in X$ and $f \in C^{\alpha}([0, T]; X)$, $0 < \alpha < 1$, then a classical solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.4.1)-(5.4.2) exists, is unique and is given by formula (5.4.8);
- (c) if, in addition to item (b), $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}$, then formula (5.4.8) gives a strong solution of the Cauchy problem (5.4.1)-(5.4.2).

Subsequent studies place special emphasis on the question of solvability of the Cauchy problem for a quasilinear equation of parabolic type, whose statement is as follows:

(5.4.9)
$$u' = A(t, u) u + f(t, u),$$

$$(5.4.10) u(0) = u_0,$$

where the operator function A(t, u) takes the values in a set of closed linear operators whose domains are dense. Of special interest is the local solvability of the Cauchy problem at hand under the assumption that the there is a neighborhood of the point $(0, u_0)$ of proper type

(5.4.11)
$$U_{\varepsilon} = \{ (t, u) \colon 0 \le t \le \varepsilon, \| u - u_0 \| \le \varepsilon \}.$$

The operator functions A(t, u) and f(t, u) are defined in the specified neighborhood. Suppose also that the operator $A_0 = A(0, u_0)$ generates a strongly continuous analytic semigroup or, what amounts to the same things on account of Theorem 5.2.8, there is a half-plane Re $\lambda > \omega$ in which the **resolvent** of the operator A_0 obeys the estimate

(5.4.12)
$$|| R(\lambda, A_0) || \leq \frac{C}{|\lambda - \omega|}$$

One assumes, in addition, that the point $(0, u_0)$ has some neighborhood U_{ε} in which the domain of the operator A(t, u) does not depend on the variable t. This means that for each $(t, u) \in U_{\varepsilon}$

$$(5.4.13) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{D}(A(t,u)) = \mathcal{D}.$$

When the operator function A(t, u) is smooth enough, the parabolic type of equation (5.4.9) shall remain in full force in some neighborhood of the point $(0, u_0)$. It is required that the function u is such that there exist a complex value λ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > \omega$, a real number $\beta \in (0, 1]$ and a constant L > 0 such that for all $(t, u), (s, v) \in U_{\varepsilon}$ the estimate is valid:

(5.4.14)
$$\left\| \left[A(t,u) - A(s,v) \right] R(\lambda, A_0) \right\| \le L \left(\|t-s\|^{\beta} + \|u-v\| \right)$$

In this line, a similar condition is imposed on the function f saying that for all $(t, u), (s, v) \in U_{\epsilon}$

(5.4.15)
$$||f(t,u) - f(s,v)|| \le L (|t-s|^{\beta} + ||u-v||).$$

Conditions (5.4.12)-(5.4.15) allow to prove the local solvability by means of the **method of "fixed" coefficients**. As usual, this amounts to reducing equation (5.4.9) related to a fixed function v(t) to the following one:

(5.4.16)
$$u'(t) = A(t, v(t)) u(t) + f(t, v(t)),$$

where v stands in place of u among the arguments of the functions A and f. Holding, for instance, the function v fixed in (5.4.16), we arrive at the

linear differential equation related to the function u. If follows from the foregoing that in this case the operator coefficient depends solely on t and admits the form

$$A_v(t) = A(t, v(t)),$$

while the corresponding nonhomogeneous term becomes

$$f_v(t) = f(t, v(t)).$$

Adopting similar ideas and joining with the initial condition, we might set up the linear Cauchy problem

(5.4.17)
$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = A_v(t) u(t) + f_v(t), \\ u(0) = u_0. \end{cases}$$

When the function v happens to be of Hölder's type, it is plain to show that the equation involved in problem (5.4.17) satisfies both conditions (P1)-(P2) and, moreover, can be written as

(5.4.18)
$$u(t) = V_{v}(t,0) u_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} V_{v}(t,s) f_{v}(s) ds,$$

where the evolution operator $V_v(t,s)$ corresponds to the operator coefficient $A_v(t)$. Observe that relation (5.4.18) is equivalent, in a certain sense, to the Cauchy problem (5.4.17). On the other hand, equations (5.4.9) and (5.4.17) coincide for u = v, making it possible to treat the right-hand side of relation (5.4.18) as an operator carrying every function v into a function u. With these ingredients, the Cauchy problem (5.4.9)–(5.4.10) amounts to the problem of determining a fixed point of the operator (5.4.18). In the appropriate functional spaces any operator so defined satisfies the contraction mapping principle (Theorem 5.1.91), by means of which we establish the unique local solvability of the quasilinear Cauchy problem which interests us.

Theorem 5.4.4 Let conditions (5.4.12)-(5.4.15) hold and $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}$. Then there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that a strong solution u of the Cauchy problem (5.4.9)-(5.4.10) exists and is unique on the segment $[0, \varepsilon]$.

5.5 Boundary value problems for elliptic differential equations of the second order

5.5. Second order elliptic differential equations

We give below the relevant prerequisities from the theory of linear differential equations in Banach spaces. The books and articles by Balakrishnan (1960), V. Gorbachuk and M. Gorbachuk (1984), Ivanov et al. (1995), Krein and Laptev (1962, 1966a,b), Laptev (1968), Sobolevsky (1968), Trenogin (1966) are devoted to this subject. In this section we consider direct boundary value problems for abstract elliptic differential equations of the second order. Let X be a Banach space and A be a closed linear operator, whose domain is dense in the space X. The elliptic differential equation of the second order

$$(5.5.1) u''(t) = A u(t) + f(t), 0 < t < T,$$

will be of special investigations in the sequel. There are several approaches to the concept of elliptic type with regard to equation (5.5.1). We accept here the notion involving the positivity of the operator A. By definition, the operator A is said to be **positive** if the real half-line $\lambda \leq 0$ enters the resolvent set of the operator A and, in addition, there is a constant C > 0such that for all numbers $\lambda \geq 0$ the estimate

(5.5.2)
$$\left\| \left(A + \lambda I \right)^{-1} \right\| \leq \frac{C}{\lambda + 1}$$

is valid. Any positive operator A possesses the positive square root $A^{1/2}$, meaning that the positive operator $A^{1/2}$ being squared equals A. For the purposes of the present section we develop the scheme of introducing the square root of the operator A. One way of proceeding is to initiate the construction of the operator

(5.5.3)
$$A^{-1/2} = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \left(A + \lambda I\right)^{-1} d\lambda.$$

Estimate (5.5.2) serves to motivate that formula (5.5.3) specifies a bounded operator, so that

$$||A^{-1/2}|| \le C$$
,

where C is the same constant as in (5.5.2). We note in passing that the operator A is invertible. Due to this fact we are now in a position to introduce

$$A^{1/2} = \left(A^{-1/2} \right)^{-1}.$$

Being the inverse of a bounded operator, the operator $A^{1/2}$ becomes closed. Moreover, for each $x \in \mathcal{D}(A)$

(5.5.4)
$$A^{1/2} x = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} (A + \lambda I)^{-1} A x \, d\lambda.$$

When the operator A happens to be unbounded, the domain of the operator $A^{1/2}$ is more broader than that of the operator A. In this case one can prove that the operator $A^{1/2}$ will coincide with the closure of the operator defined by the formula on the right-hand side of (5.5.4). One thing is worth noting here. Being concerned with a positive operator A, one can always define each **real power** of this operator in such a way that the **group property**

$$A^{\alpha+\beta} = A^{\alpha} A^{\beta}, \qquad A^{0} = I,$$

will be in full force. The operator $A^{1/2}$ plays a key role in later discussions of equation (5.5.1) and possesses some properties that are more principal than its positivity. True, it is to be shown that the operator $-A^{1/2}$ generates a strongly continuous analytic semigroup V(t). Solutions to equation (5.5.1) can be expressed in terms of the semigroup V(t).

Of special interest are classical solutions to equation (5.5.1) with some modification. A function $u \in C^1([0, T]; X)$ is said to be a **classical solution** to equation (5.5.1) if this function is twice continuously differentiable on the interval (0, T), for each $t \in (0, T)$ goes along with the inclusion

$$u(t) \in \mathcal{D}(A)$$

and obeys equation (5.5.1) on the same interval (0, T).

In what follows we take for granted that the function f involved satisfies either

(5.5.5)
$$||f(t) - f(s)|| \le L |t - s|^{\alpha}, \qquad 0 < \alpha \le 1,$$

or

(5.5.6)
$$f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2}))$$

A simple observation may be useful as further developments occur.

Theorem 5.5.1 Let the operator A be positive and the function f satisfy either (5.5.5) or (5.5.6). Then for a classical solution u of equation (5.5.1) there are two elements $u_1, u_2 \in X$ such that the function u is representable by

(5.5.7)
$$u(t) = V(t) A^{-1/2} u_1 + V(T-t) A^{-1/2} u_2$$
$$-\frac{1}{2} \int_0^T V(|t-s|) A^{-1/2} f(s) ds,$$

where V(t) refers to the semigroup generated by the operator $-A^{1/2}$. Conversely, each pair of elements u_1 and u_2 given by formula (5.5.7) is a classical solution to equation (5.5.1). Moreover, a classical solution u to equation (5.5.1) complies with the inclusion

(5.5.8)
$$A^{1/2}u \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];X).$$

Two boundary conditions will appear in what follows, whose aims and scope are to determine the elements u_1 and u_2 needed in formula (5.5.7) with further passage to the new variables

$$L_1(u) = \alpha_{11} u(0) + \alpha_{12} u'(0) + \beta_{11} u(T) + \beta_{12} u'(T) ,$$

$$L_2(u) = \alpha_{21} u(0) + \alpha_{22} u'(0) + \beta_{21} u(T) + \beta_{22} u'(T) .$$

The **boundary value problem** we have considered so far consists of finding a classical solution to equation (5.5.1) supplied by the boundary conditions

(5.5.9)
$$L_1(u) = f_1, \qquad L_2(u) = f_2,$$

where $f_1, f_2 \in X$. Of great importance are three particular cases given below. The **Cauchy problem** is connected with the values

$$\alpha_{11}=1\,,\qquad \qquad \alpha_{22}=1$$

and

$$\alpha_{12} = \beta_{11} = \beta_{12} = \alpha_{21} = \beta_{21} = \beta_{22} = 0.$$

The Dirichlet problem will be completely posed once we accept

$$\alpha_{11} = 1$$
, $\beta_{21} = 1$

and

$$\alpha_{12} = \beta_{11} = \beta_{12} = \alpha_{21} = \alpha_{22} = \beta_{22} = 0.$$

Finally, when the equalities

$$\alpha_{12} = \beta_{22} = 1$$

and

$$\alpha_{11} = \beta_{11} = \beta_{12} = \alpha_{21} = \alpha_{22} = \beta_{21} = 0$$

are put together, there arises the Neumann problem.

Theorem 5.5.2 Let the operator A be positive, the function

 $f \in \mathcal{C}\big([0,T];X\big)$

and the function u be defined by equality (5.2.7) with V(t) denoting the semigroup generated by the operator $-A^{1/2}$. Then

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X)$$

and

(5.5.10)
$$u'(t) = -V(t) u_1 + V(T-t) u_2 + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s) ds - \frac{1}{2} \int_t^T V(s-t) f(s) ds$$

With the aid of relations (5.5.7) and (5.5.10) it is plain to reduce the boundary conditions (5.5.9) to the system of equations

.

(5.5.11)
$$\begin{cases} D_{11} u_1 + D_{12} u_2 = h_1, \\ D_{21} u_1 + D_{22} u_2 = h_2, \end{cases}$$

where

(5.5.12)
$$\begin{cases} D_{11} = \alpha_{11} A^{-1/2} - \alpha_{12} I + \beta_{11} V(T) A^{-1/2} - \beta_{12} V(T), \\ D_{12} = \alpha_{11} V(T) A^{-1/2} + \alpha_{12} V(T) + \beta_{11} A^{-1/2} + \beta_{12} I, \\ D_{21} = \alpha_{21} A^{-1/2} - \alpha_{22} I + \beta_{21} V(T) A^{-1/2} - \beta_{22} V(T), \\ D_{22} = \alpha_{21} V(T) A^{-1/2} + \alpha_{22} V(T) + \beta_{21} A^{-1/2} + \beta_{22} I, \end{cases}$$

(5.5.13)
$$\begin{cases} h_1 = f_1 + \int_0^T K_1(s) f(s) \, ds \, , \\ h_2 = f_2 + \int_0^T K_2(s) f(s) \, ds \, , \end{cases}$$

(5.5.14)
$$\begin{cases} K_1(t) = \frac{1}{2} \alpha_{11} V(t) A^{-1/2} + \frac{1}{2} \alpha_{12} V(t) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \beta_{11} V(T-t) A^{-1/2} - \frac{1}{2} \beta_{12} V(T-t), \\ K_2(t) = \frac{1}{2} \alpha_{21} V(t) A^{-1/2} + \frac{1}{2} \alpha_{22} V(t) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \beta_{21} V(T-t) A^{-1/2} - \frac{1}{2} \beta_{22} V(T-t). \end{cases}$$

When relations (5.5.11) are put together, there arises a system of equations with the bounded and commuting operator coefficients. The system thus obtained can be resolved by means of **Cramer's method**. A key role here is played by the determinant

(5.5.15)
$$D = \begin{vmatrix} D_{11} & D_{12} \\ D_{21} & D_{22} \end{vmatrix},$$

which is called the **characteristic determinant** of the boundary value problem (5.5.1), (5.5.9).

As a first step towards the solution of problem (5.5.1), (5.5.9), the main idea is connected with the homogeneous boundary value problem

(5.5.16)
$$\begin{cases} u''(t) = A u(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ L_1(u) = 0, & L_2(u) = 0, \end{cases}$$

because a solution of problem (5.5.1), (5.5.9) is determined up to a solution of problem (5.5.16). Therefore, to decide for yourself whether a solution of the nonhomogeneous problem (5.5.1), (5.5.9) is unique, a next step is to analyze a possibility of the occurrence of a nontrivial solution to the homogeneous problem (5.5.16). The following theorem supplies the answer to this question.

Theorem 5.5.3 The boundary value problem (5.5.16) has a nontrivial solution if and only if zero is an eigenvalue of the characteristic determinant (5.5.15).

Therefore, a solution of problem (5.5.1), (5.5.9) is unique if and only if there exists the inverse (not necessarily bounded) operator D^{-1} .

Of importance is the case when

$$(5.5.17) D^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X),$$

which assures that the system (5.5.11) is uniquely solvable for any h_1 , h_2 and its solution can be written in simplified form as follows:

$$u_1 = D^{-1} (D_{22} h_1 - D_{12} h_2),$$

$$u_2 = D^{-1} (D_{11} h_2 - D_{21} h_1).$$

Putting these together with (5.5.7) we derive the final expression for the solution in question:

(5.5.18)
$$u(t) = S_1(t) f_1 + S_2(t) f_2 + \int_0^T G(t,s) f(s) ds,$$

where

(5.5.19)
$$S_1(t) = D^{-1} A^{-1/2} \left[V(t) D_{22} - V(T-t) D_{21} \right],$$

(5.5.20)
$$S_2(t) = -D^{-1} A^{-1/2} \left[V(t) D_{12} + V(T-t) D_{11} \right],$$

(5.5.21)

$$G(t,s) = D^{-1} A^{-1/2} \left[V(t) \left(D_{22} K_1(s) - D_{12}(s) K_2(s) \right) + V(T-t) \right.$$

$$\times \left(D_{11} K_2(s) - D_{21} K_1(s) \right) \left] - \frac{1}{2} V(|t-s|) A^{-1/2}.$$

The function G(t, s) is referred to as the **Green function** of the boundary value problem (5.5.1), (5.5.9). Preceding manipulations are summarized in the following statement.

Theorem 5.5.4 Let the operator A be positive and the operator D involved in (5.5.15) be in line with (5.5.17). One assumes, in addition, that $f_1, f_2 \in X$ and the function f satisfies either (5.5.5) or (5.5.6). Then a classical solution u of the boundary value problem (5.5.1), (5.5.9) exists, is unique and is given by formula (5.5.18).

The Neumann boundary conditions

$$(5.5.22) u'(0) = f_1, u'(T) = f_2$$

complement the further development and can serve as one useful exercise to motivate what is done. Under such a formalization the characteristic determinant is of the form

$$D = V(2T) - I.$$

Recall that the operator A is positive, that is, satisfies condition (5.5.2). In view of this, there exists a positive number ε such that the spectrum of the operator $-A^{1/2}$ is located in the half-plane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \leq -\varepsilon$. This is due to the fact that for any t > 0 the **spectral radius** of the operator V(t) is less than 1. From such reasoning it seems clear that the operator V(2T) - I is invertible, so that the inclusion

$$(V(2T)-I)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$$

occurs. In this case the Neumann boundary value problem concerned complies with (5.5.17), thereby confirming the following statement.

Theorem 5.5.5 Let the operator A be positive and the function f satisfy either (5.5.5) or (5.5.6). Then for any elements $f_1, f_2 \in X$ a classical solution u of the Neumann boundary value problem (5.5.1), (5.5.22) exists and is unique.

It is also worthwhile to warn the reader against the following widespread but wrong reasoning. It would be erroneous to think that in the current framework condition (5.5.17) is the unique possible and cannot be omitted or replaced by the others. Even for the problem with the Dirichlet boundary conditions

$$(5.5.23) u(0) = f_1, u(T) = f_2,$$

condition (5.5.17) fails to hold. In this view, it is reasonable to regard boundary conditions distinguishing via representation (5.5.18) as **regular** and **nonregular** ones. This can be always done in the case when the operator D has the inverse (not necessarily bounded). The only inconvenience is caused by the obstacle that the operators S_1 , S_2 and G(t, s) are unbounded. We do not touch here all possible types of boundary conditions and confine ourselves to the Dirichlet boundary data (5.5.23) only. The characteristic determinant of the Dirichlet problem admits the form

$$D = (I - V(2T)) A^{-1},$$

whence it follows that the operator

$$D^{-1} = \left(I - V(2T)\right)^{-1} A$$

is unbounded and has the domain $\mathcal{D}(A)$ imposed at the very beginning. Therefore, the system of equations (5.5.11) followed by the relations

(5.5.24)
$$\begin{cases} D u_1 = D_{22} h_1 - D_{12} h_2, \\ D u_2 = D_{11} h_2 - D_{21} h_1, \end{cases}$$

cannot be resolved for any $f_1, f_2 \in X$. Indeed, condition (5.5.8) holds true for a classical solution of equation (5.5.1). The meaning of this is that f_1, f_2 are not arbitrary elements and should be suitably chosen from the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$. This condition is necessary for the Dirichlet problem (5.5.1), (5.5.23) to be solvable and appears to be sufficient too. Indeed, in the case of the Dirichlet boundary conditions formulae (5.5.14) become

$$K_1(t) = \frac{1}{2} V(t) A^{-1/2},$$

$$K_2(t) = \frac{1}{2} V(T-t) A^{-1/2}.$$

From relations (5.5.13) it follows that the elements $h_1, h_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$ for any $f_1, f_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$, so that

$$A^{1/2}h_1 = A^{1/2}f_1 + \frac{1}{2}\int_0^T V(s)f(s) ds$$
,

$$A^{1/2}h_2 = A^{1/2}f_2 + \frac{1}{2}\int_0^T V(T-s)f(s) \ ds \,,$$

implying on the basis of relations (5.5.12) that

$$D_{11} = A^{-1/2}, \qquad D_{12} = V(T) A^{-1/2},$$

 $D_{21} = V(T) A^{-1/2}, \qquad D_{22} = A^{-1/2}.$

All this enables us to deduce that the elements on the right-hand side of (5.5.24) belong to the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$ and

$$A (D_{22} h_1 - D_{12} h_2) = A (A^{-1/2} h_1 - V(T) A^{-1/2} h_2)$$

= $A^{1/2} h_1 - V(T) A^{1/2} h_2$,
$$A (D_{11} h_2 - D_{21} h_1) = A (A^{-1/2} h_2 - V(T) A^{-1/2} h_1)$$

= $A^{1/2} h_2 - V(T) A^{1/2} h_1$.

Consequently, equations (5.5.24) are solvable for any $f_1, f_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$ and

$$u_1 = (I - V(2T)^{-1}) (A^{1/2}h_1 - V(T)A^{1/2}h_2),$$

$$u_2 = (I - V(2T)^{-1}) (A^{1/2}h_2 - V(T)A^{1/2}h_1).$$

Putting these together with (5.5.7) we establish representation (5.5.18) with the members

$$S_{1}(t) = (I - V(2T))^{-1} (V(t) - V(2T - t)),$$

$$S_{2}(t) = - (I - V(2T))^{-1} (V(T + t) + V(T - t)),$$

$$G(t, s) = \frac{1}{2} (I - V(2T))^{-1} A^{-1/2} (V(t + s) - V(2T + t - s))$$

$$+ V(2T - t - s) - V(2T - t + s) - V(|t - s|)).$$

As a final result we get the following assertion.

Theorem 5.5.6 Let the operator A be positive. If the function f satisfies either (5.5.5) or (5.5.6), then the Dirichlet problem (5.5.1), (5.5.23) is solvable if and only if

(5.5.25) $f_1, f_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2}).$

Moreover, under the constraint (5.5.25) a classical solution u of the Dirichlet problem (5.5.1), (5.5.23) exists and is unique.

Chapter 6

Abstract Inverse Problems for First Order Equations and Their Applications in Mathematical Physics

6.1 Equations of mathematical physics and abstract problems

The method of abstract differential equations provides proper guidelines for solving various problems with partial differential equations involved. Under the approved interpretation a partial differential equation is treated as an ordinary differential equation in a Banach space. We give below one possible example. Let Ω be a bounded domain in the space \mathbb{R}^n , whose boundary is sufficiently smooth. The initial boundary value problem for the heat conduction equation can add interest and aid in understanding. Its statement is as follows:

(6.1.1)
$$\begin{cases} u_t = \Delta u + f(x,t), & (x,t) \in G, \\ u(x,0) = \varphi(x), & x \in \Omega, \\ u(x,t) \Big|_{\partial \Omega \times [0,T]} = 0, \end{cases}$$
where $G = \Omega \times [0, T]$ is a cylindrical domain. When adopting $X = L_2(\Omega)$ as a basic Banach space, we introduce in the space X a linear (unbounded) operator $A = \Delta$ with the domain $\mathcal{D}(A) = W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}_2^{-1}(\Omega)$ and call it the **Laplace operator**. The function u(x,t) is viewed as an **abstract function** u(t) of the variable t with values in the space X. Along similar lines, the function f(x,t) regards as a function with values in the space X, while the function $\varphi(x)$ is an element $\varphi \in X$, making it possible to treat the direct problem (6.1.1) as the Cauchy problem in the Banach space X for the ordinary differential equation

(6.1.2)
$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = A u(t) + f(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ u(0) = \varphi. \end{cases}$$

Recall that the **boundary conditions** for the function u involved in (6.1.1) are included in the domain of the operator A.

The well-founded choice of the basic space X owes a debt to several important properties among which the well-posedness of the Cauchy problem, a need for differential properties of a solution with respect to a spatial variable and others. Such a setting is much applicable for non-normed and locally convex topological vector spaces which are used in place of the Banach space just considered. Also, in some cases the space X is replaced by a scale of Banach spaces. Within a wide range of applications which do arise in the sequel, the space X is presupposed to be Banach unless otherwise is explicitly stated.

The main idea behind a natural approach to problems (6.1.1)–(6.1.2)is that all of the basic relations should occur in a pointwise sense. However, there is some difference between problems (6.1.1) and (6.1.2). The essense of the matter is that the operation of differentiation with respect to t is performed in a dissimilar sense for both cases. In particular; the t-derivative arising in problem (6.1.2) is to be understood as a limit of the corresponding difference relation in the norm of the space X. When solutions of both problems are treated as distributions, the dissimilarity between them will disappear. A generalized solution of problem (6.1.2) can uniquely be associated with a distribution from the class $\mathcal{D}'(G)$ subject to (6.1.1) in a certain sense. Because of this, the exploration of problem (6.1.2) is somewhat different from that of problem (6.1.1) by means of special methods, whose use permits us to reveal some properties peculiar to the regularity of generalized solutions to the heat conduction equation in the class $\mathcal{D}'(G)$. For the purposes of the present chapter it would be sufficient to operate only with continuous solutions of problem (6.1.2). A rigorous definition of such solutions will appear in the next section.

Before proceeding to a common setting, we would like to discuss some statements of inverse problems and their abstract analogs. Recent years

6.1. Abstract problems

have seen plenty of publications in this field with concern of the main mathematical physics equations. We refer the reader to Beals and Protopescu (1987), Birman and Solomyak (1987), Bykhovsky (1957), Duvant and Lions (1972), Fujita and Kato (1964), Guirand (1976), Hejtmanek (1970, 1984), Henry (1981), Ikawa (1968), Jorgens (1968), Kato (1975a,b), Kato and Fujita (1962), Lax and Phillips (1960), Lehner and Wing (1955), Lekkerkerker and Kaper (1986), Massey (1972), Mizohata (1959a,b, 1977), Montagnini (1979), Phillips (1957, 1959), Richtmyer (1978, 1981), Ribaric (1973), Sanchez-Palencia (1980), Shikhov (1967, 1973), Sobolevsky (1961), Temam (1979), Vidav (1968, 1970), Voight (1984) and Yakubov (1985). Especial attention in the subsequent studies is being paid to some properties peculiar for some operators by means of which the subsidiary information is provided. There exist two typical situations, where in the first the function f as a member of equation (6.1.1) is of the structure

(6.1.3)
$$f(x,t) = \Phi(x,t) p(t),$$

where the function Φ is known in advance and the unknown function p is sought. In trying to recover the function p we have to absorb some additional information. One way of proceeding is to describe the solution behavior at a fixed point of the domain Ω by the relation

(6.1.4)
$$u(x_0,t) = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where ψ is some known function defined on the segment [0, T]. Other ideas with abstract forms are connected with the following setting. When working in the space $Y = \mathbf{R}$, we assume that the functions ψ and p fall into the category of abstract functions of the variable t with values in the space Y. The symbol $\Phi(t)$ designates, as usual, the operator of multiplication of an element $p \in Y$ by the function $\Phi(x, t)$ being viewed as a function of the variable x with a fixed value t. If the function Φ is sufficiently smooth (for example, under the premise that for any fixed argument $t \in [0, T]$ the function $\Phi(x, t)$ as a function of the variable x belongs to the space $L_2(\Omega)$), then $\Phi(t)$ acts from the space Y into the space X. When this is the case, we may attempt relation (6.1.3) in the abstract form

(6.1.5)
$$f(t) = \Phi(t) p(t),$$

where the operator $\Phi(t) \in \mathcal{L}(Y, X)$ for any $t \in [0, T]$.

In the space $X = L_2(\Omega)$ the operator B acting in accordance with the rule

$$B u = u(x_0)$$

is defined on the set of all continuous in Ω functions and is aimed to derive an abstract form of relation (6.1.4). On that space the operator B becomes a linear functional from X into Y, so that relation (6.1.4) can be rewritten as

(6.1.6)
$$B u(t) = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

When equation (6.1.2) is adopted as a relation satisfied in a pointwise sense, we take for granted that for any fixed value $t \in [0, T]$ the element u(t)belongs to the space $\mathcal{D}(A) = W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \hat{W}_2^1(\Omega)$. Embedding theorems for Sobolev's spaces yield $W_2^2(\Omega) \subset C(\bar{\Omega})$ for any bounded three-dimensional domain Ω and, therefore, the operator B is defined on any solution to equation (6.1.2). However, this operator fails to be bounded and even closed. On the other hand, if the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is equipped with the graph norm, that is, with the $W_2^2(\Omega)$ -norm, then the operator B acting from $\mathcal{D}(A)$ into Y becomes bounded:

$$(6.1.7) B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{D}(A), Y).$$

Additional information may be prescribed in an integral form as well. The following example helps motivate what is done. The subsidiary information here is that

(6.1.8)
$$\int_{\Omega} u(x,t) w(x) \, dx = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Relation (6.1.8) admits an interesting physical interpretation as a result of measuring the temperature u by a perfect sensor of finite size and, in view of this, performs a certain averaging over the domain Ω . Observe that (6.1.8) takes now the form (6.1.6) with the operator B incorporated:

$$B u = \int_{\Omega} u(x) w(x) dx.$$

Holding $w \in L_2(\Omega)$ fixed we will show that

$$(6.1.9) B \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y).$$

Indeed, when (6.1.8) is the outcome of measuring the temperature by a real sensor, there is a good reason to accept that the function ω is smooth and finite in the domain Ω . In the case of a sufficiently smooth boundary of the domain Ω the Laplace operator is self-adjoint and

$$\mathcal{D}(A^*) = W_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \check{W}_2^1(\Omega)$$

Let now $\omega \in \mathcal{D}(A^*)$. Then for any element $u \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ we have

$$BAu = (Au, w)_{L_2(\Omega)} = (u, A^*w)_{L_2(\Omega)} = \int_{\Omega} u(x) \Delta w(x) dx$$

and both operators B and BA are bounded. Moreover, the closure of BA, which is defined by means of the relation

$$\overline{BA} u = \int_{\Omega} u(x) \Delta w(x) dx$$

complies with the inclusion

$$(6.1.10) \qquad \qquad \overline{BA} \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y).$$

This serves to motivate that the operator B possesses a certain smoothing property. In what follows, within the framework of the abstract inverse problem (6.1.2), (6.1.5)-(6.1.6), conditions (6.1.7), (6.1.9)-(6.1.10) are supposed to be true.

Of special interest is one modeling problem in which the function f involved in equation (6.1.1) is representable by

(6.1.11)
$$f(x,t) = \Phi(x,t) p(x),$$

where the function Φ is known in advance and the coefficient p is sought. Additional information is needed to recover this coefficient and is provided in such a setting by the condition of **final overdetermination**

$$(6.1.12) u(x,T) = \psi(x), x \in \Omega.$$

The abstract statement of the inverse problem concerned should cause no difficulty. We proceed as usual. This amounts to further treatment of the function p as an unknown element of the Banach space $X = L_2(\Omega)$. With this correspondence established, relation (6.1.11) admits the form

(6.1.13)
$$f(t) = \Phi(t) p$$
,

where $\Phi(t)$ regards to the same operator performing the multiplication by the function $\Phi(x,t)$ being viewed as a function of the variable x for a fixed value t. If for any fixed value t the function $\Phi(x,t)$ is measurable and essentially bounded as a function of the variable x, then $\Phi(t) \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ for any fixed value $t \in [0, T]$. What is more, condition (6.1.12) can be rewritten as

$$(6.1.14) u(T) = \psi,$$

where ψ is a known element of the space X.

It is necessary to indicate a certain closeness between the statements of the inverse problems (6.1.1), (6.1.3)-(6.1.4) and (6.1.1), (6.1.11)-(6.1.12). In the first one the unknown coefficient of the source term depends solely on t and in this case the subsidiary information is also provided by a function depending on t. In the second one the same principle is acceptable for action: the unknown part of the source and the function built into the overdetermination condition depend only on one and the same variable x. Such a closeness emerged in the abstract analogs of the inverse problems posed above. This is especially true for (6.1.2), (6.1.5)-(6.1.6) and (6.1.2), (6.1.13)-(6.1.14). In the first setting being concerned with a function of the variable t with values in the space Y we are trying to find a function of the variable t with values in the space Y. In another abstract inverse problem an element $p \in X$ is unknown and the subsidiary information is that ψ is an element of the same space X.

There are no grounds to conclude that the principle formulated above is not sufficiently universal to cover on the same footing all possible statements of inverse problems arising in theory and practice. In dealing with problems of another nature (being not inverse) one can encounter other statements in which the unknown parameter and the subsidiary information are connected with functions of several variables. Such settings find a wide range of applications, but do not fit our purposes within the uniform abstract framework and need special investigations. Just for this reason we focus our attention here on such statements of inverse problems, whose constructions not only provide one with insight into what is going on in general from a uniform viewpoint, but also permit one to get quite complete answers to several principal questions of the theory.

6.2 The linear inverse problem with smoothing overdetermination: the basic elements of the theory

Let X and Y be Banach spaces. We have at our disposal a closed linear operator A in the space X, whose domain is dense. Under the natural premises $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X)), F \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X), B \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y), \psi \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y), u_0 \in X$ we consider the **inverse problem** of finding

a pair of the functions $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ and $p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y)$ from the set of relations

(6.2.1) $u'(t) = A u(t) + f(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$

 $(6.2.2) u(0) = u_0,$

- (6.2.3) $f(t) = \Phi(t) p(t) + F(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$
- (6.2.4) $Bu(t) = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$

Since only continuous solutions are considered, equation (6.2.1) is to be understood in a sense of distributions. Recall that the the operator A is closed. Consequently, the domain of A becomes a Banach space in the graph norm, making it possible to deal with distributions taking the values from the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$. The meaning of relation (6.2.1) is that

$$u \in \mathcal{D}'((0, T), \mathcal{D}(A))$$

and for any function $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(0, T)$ we should have

$$-\langle u, \varphi' \rangle = A \langle u, \varphi \rangle + \langle f, \varphi \rangle.$$

Because the function u is continuous from the segment [0, T] into the space X, the remaining relations (6.2.2)-(6.2.4) are meaningful.

At first glance the well-posedness of the Cauchy problem (6.2.1)– (6.2.2) needs certain clarification. We assume that the operator A generates a strongly continuous semigroup V(t), that is, the class of operators in $\mathcal{L}(X)$ which are defined for $t \geq 0$ and satisfy the following conditions:

(1°) for any $x \in X$ the function V(t)x is continuous for all $t \ge 0$ in the space X;

(2°)
$$V(0) = I;$$

(3°) V(t+s) = V(t)V(s) for any $t, s \ge 0$.

The operator A is just a strong derivative at zero of the semigroup it generates and, in so doing,

$$\mathcal{D}(A) = \left\{ x \in X \colon \exists \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{V(t) - V(0)}{t} x \right\},$$
$$A x = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{V(t) - V(0)}{t} x.$$

For the operator A to generate a strongly continuous semigroup the Hille-Yosida condition is necessary and sufficient, saying that there is a whole ray $\lambda > \lambda_0$ contained in the resolvent set of the operator A and there is a constant M > 0 such that on that ray its resolvent $R(\lambda, A)$ obeys for any positive integer n the estimate

(6.2.5)
$$||R(\lambda, A)^{n}|| \leq \frac{M}{(\lambda - \lambda_{0})^{n}}$$

This condition holds true if and only if the Cauchy problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.2) is uniformly well-posed in the class of strong solutions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$
.

The Hille-Yosida condition is also sufficient for this problem to be wellposed in the class of distributions. For more a detailed exposition of the well-posedness of the Cauchy problem and the relevant properties of operator semigroups we recommend to see Balakrishnan (1976), Clément et al. (1987), Dunford and Schwartz (1971a,b,c), Fattorini (1983), Goldstein (1985), Henry (1981), Hille and Phillips (1957), Kato (1966), Krein (1967), Mizohata (1977), Pazy (1983), Trenogin (1980), Yosida (1965). It should be noted here that under the conditions imposed above the Cauchy problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.2) has a **continuous solution** $u \in C([0, T]; X)$ for any function $f \in C([0, T]; X)$ and any element $u_0 \in X$, this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and is given by the formula

(6.2.6)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s) \ ds \ .$$

If, in addition, $f \in C^1([0, T]; X) + C([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ and $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, then formula (6.2.6) specifies a strong solution

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A)).$$

The assumptions to follow are concerned with some properties of the operator B, which is in charge of surplus information in the form of overdetermination. This operator is supposed to possess a smoothing effect, meaning

 $(6.2.7) B, \overline{BA} \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y).$

Theorem 6.2.1 Let the closed linear operator A with a dense domain generate a strongly continuous semigroup in the space X, condition (6.2.7)

hold and $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X))$, $F \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$, $u_0 \in X$ and $\psi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; Y)$. If for any $t \in [0, T]$ the operator $B \Phi(t)$ is invertible,

$$(B\Phi)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{L}(Y))$$

and the compatibility condition $Bu_0 = \psi(0)$ holds, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y).$$

Proof Formula (6.2.6) implies that a solution of the Cauchy problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.2) can be expressed by

$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) \Phi(s) p(s) ds + \int_0^t V(t-s) F(s) ds.$$

Therefore, condition (6.2.4) is equivalent to the following equation:

(6.2.8)
$$B\left(V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) \Phi(s) p(s) ds + \int_0^t V(t-s) F(s) ds\right)$$
$$= \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

The equation thus obtained contains only one unknown function p and the question of existence and uniqueness of a solution of the inverse problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4) amounts to the question of existence and uniqueness of a continuous solution to equation (6.2.8). At the next stage we are going to show that equation (6.2.8) can be differentiated. The following lemmas will justify the correctness of this operation.

Lemma 6.2.1 For any $u_0 \in X$ the function $g(t) = BV(T)u_0$ is continuously differentiable on the segment [0, T] and

$$g'(t) = \overline{BA} V(t) u_0$$

Proof Holding $\lambda \in \rho(A)$ fixed and setting

$$u_1 = \left(A - \lambda I\right)^{-1} u_0,$$

we thus have $u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and

$$(V(t) u_1)' = V(t) A u_1 = A V(t) u_1.$$

Furthermore, it is straightforward to verify that

$$g(t) = B V(t) (A - \lambda I) u_1 = B A V(t) u_1 - \lambda B V(t) u_1$$

and, since both operators BA and B are bounded, find that

$$g'(t) = \overline{BA} (V(t) u_1)' - \lambda B (V(t) u_1)'$$
$$= \overline{BA} V(t) A u_1 - \lambda B V(t) A u_1$$
$$= \overline{BA} V(t) (A - \lambda I) u_1$$
$$= \overline{BA} V(t) u_0.$$

Lemma 6.2.2 On the segment [0, T] the function

$$g(t) = B \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s) \ ds$$

is continuously differentiable for any continuous in X function f and

$$g'(t) = \overline{BA} \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) f(s) \, ds + B f(t)$$

Proof By analogy with the above lemma the proof is simple to follow. Holding $\lambda \in \rho(A)$ fixed and setting, by definition,

$$h(t) = (A - \lambda I)^{-1} f(t),$$

we deduce that

$$Ah(t) = ((A - \lambda I) + \lambda I) (A - \lambda I)^{-1} f(t)$$
$$= f(t) + (A - \lambda I)^{-1} f(t),$$

384

so that

(6.2.9)
$$h, Ah \in C([0, T]; X).$$

On the other hand,

$$g(t) = B \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \left(A - \lambda I\right) h(s) ds$$
$$= \left(BA - \lambda B\right) \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) h(s) ds.$$

From condition (6.2.9) it follows that

$$\left(\int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) h(s) \, ds\right)' = \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \, A \, h(s) \, ds + h(t)$$

and, due to the boundedness of both operators BA and B,

$$g'(t) = \left(\overline{BA} - \lambda B\right) \left(\int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) A h(s) ds + h(t)\right).$$

Since $BA \subset \overline{BA}$, we find that

$$g'(t) = \overline{BA} \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \left(A - \lambda I \right) h(s) \, ds + \left(\overline{BA} - \lambda B \right) h(t) \, ds$$

From the definition of the function h it seems clear that

$$(A - \lambda I) h(t) = f(t)$$

or, what amounts to the same,

$$A h(t) = \lambda h(t) + f(t)$$
.

With the relation $h(t) \in \mathcal{D}(A), t \in [0, T]$, in view, we deduce that

$$\overline{BA} h(t) = BAh(t)$$

and

$$(\overline{BA} - \lambda B) h(t) = B A h(t) - \lambda B h(t)$$
$$= B(\lambda h(t) + f(t)) - \lambda B h(t)$$
$$= B f(t).$$

In this line, we get

$$g'(t) = \overline{BA} \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) f(s) \, ds + B f(t)$$

and the second lemma is completely proved.

Returning to the proof of Theorem 6.2.1 observe that the left-hand side of equation (6.2.8) is continuously differentiable on account of the preceding lemmas. The compatibility condition $B u_0 = \psi(0)$ ensures the equivalence between (6.2.8) and its differential implication taking for now the form

$$\overline{BA} V(t) u_0 + \overline{BA} \int_0^t V(t-s) \Phi(s) p(s) ds + B \Phi(t) p(t)$$
$$+ \overline{BA} \int_0^t V(t-s) F(s) ds + B F(t) = \psi'(t)$$

and relying on the formulae derived in proving Lemmas 6.2.1-6.2.2. By assumption, the operator $B \Phi(t)$ is invertible. Hence, multiplying the preceding equation by $(B \Phi(t))^{-1}$ from the left yields the Volterra integral equation of the second kind

(6.2.10)
$$p(t) = p_0(t) + \int_0^t K(t,s) p(s) \ ds \, ,$$

where

(6.2.11)
$$p_{0}(t) = \left(B\Phi(t)\right)^{-1} \left(\psi'(t) - \overline{BA}V(t)u_{0} - \overline{BA}\int_{0}^{t}V(t-s)F(s) ds - BF(t)\right),$$

(6.2.12)
$$K(t,s) = -\left(B\Phi(t)\right)^{-1}\overline{BA}V(t-s)\Phi(s).$$

From the conditions of the theorem and relations (6.2.11)-(6.2.12) we deduce that the function p_0 is continuous on the segment [0, T] and the operator kernel K(t, s) is strongly continuous for $0 \le s \le t \le T$. These properties are sufficient for the existence and uniqueness of the solution to the integral equation (6.2.10) in the class of continuous functions in light of results of Section 5.1 and thereby the theorem is completely proved.

Having established the unique solvability of the inverse problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4) we should decide for ourselves whether the solution in question is continuously dependent on the available input data.

Theorem 6.2.2 Under the conditions of Theorem 6.2.1 there exists a positive constant $M = M(A, B, \Phi, T)$ such that a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4) satisfies the estimates

$$\| u \|_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];X)} \leq M \left(\| u_0 \|_X + \| \psi \|_{\mathcal{C}^1([0,T];Y)} + \| F \|_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];X)} \right),$$

$$\| p \|_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];Y)} \leq M \left(\| u_0 \|_X + \| \psi \|_{\mathcal{C}^1([0,T];Y)} + \| F \|_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];X)} \right).$$

Proof To derive the second inequality one can involve the integral equation (6.2.10), whose solution does obey the estimate

$$||p||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];Y)} \leq M_1 ||p_0||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];Y)},$$

where the constant M_1 depends only on the kernel of this equation, that is, on A, B, Φ and T. On the other hand, relation (6.2.11) implies that

$$\| p_0 \|_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];Y)} \leq M_2 \left(\| u_0 \|_X + \| \psi \|_{\mathcal{C}^1([0,T];Y)} + \| F \|_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];X)} \right),$$

which justifies the desired estimate for the function p. Here the constant M_2 depends only on A, B, Φ and T. With regard to the function u formula (6.2.6) applies equally well to the decomposition

$$f(t) = \Phi(t) p(t) + F(t),$$

yielding

$$|| u ||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];X)} \leq M_3 \left(|| u_0 ||_X + || f ||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];X)} \right),$$

where the constant M_3 depends only on A and T. Since

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];X)} \leq M_4 \left(\|p\|_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];Y)} + \|F\|_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];X)} \right)$$

with constant M_4 depending solely on Φ and T, the desired estimate for the function p is a simple implication of the preceding inequalities and the estimate for the function u we have established at the initial stage of our study. This completes the proof of the theorem.

It is interesting to know when equation (6.2.1) is satisfied in a pointwise manner. In this regard, there arises the problem of finding out when the solution of the inverse problem concerned satisfies the condition

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$

Because the function f involved in the right-hand side of equation (6.2.1) is continuous, the belonging of u to the space $\mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ will be proved if we succeed in showing that $u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X)$. One well-known fact from semigroup theory may be of help in achieving the final aim: if the function $f \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X)$ and the element $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, then the function u specified by formula (6.2.6) is continuously differentiable on the segment [0, T] in the norm of the space X, so that

(6.2.13)
$$u'(t) = V(t) \left(A u_0 + f(0) \right) + \int_0^t V(t-s) f'(s) \, ds$$

If f admits the form

$$f(t) = \Phi(t) p(t) + F(t)$$

with the members

$$\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];\mathcal{L}(Y,X)), \qquad F \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];X)$$

then the continuous differentiability of the function p would be sufficient for the function f to be continuously differentiable. Just for this reason a positive answer to the preceding question amounts to proving the continuous differentiability of a solution to the integral equation (6.2.10).

Theorem 6.2.3 Let the closed linear operator A with a dense domain be the generator of a strongly continuous semigroup in the space X, condition (6.2.7) hold, $\Phi \in C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X))$, $F \in C^1([0, T]; X)$, $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $\psi \in C^2([0, T]; Y)$, for any $t \in [0, T]$ the operator $B \Phi(t)$ be invertible and $(B\Phi)^{-1} \in C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y))$. If the compatibility condition $B u_0 = \psi(0)$ is fulfilled, then a solution of the inverse problem (6.2.1)–(6.2.4) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; Y)$$

Proof As stated above, it is sufficient to prove that under the premises of the theorem a solution to the integral equation (6.2.10) is continuously differentiable. This can be done using equation (6.2.10) together with the

equation for the derivative q(t) = p'(t). In trying to justify the correctness of differentiating the integral term we take into account the explicit form of the kernel K(t, s) and formula (6.2.13), implying that

$$\left(\int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \Phi(s) p(s) ds\right)' = V(t) \Phi(0) p(0) + \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \Phi'(s) p(s) ds + \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \Phi(s) p'(s) ds.$$

One thing is worth noting here. The value p(0) can be found from equation (6.2.10) related to t = 0. With the aid of (6.2.11) we deduce that

$$p(0) = p_0(0) = (B\Phi(0))^{-1} (\psi'(0) - \overline{BA} u_0 - BF(0)).$$

By formal differentiating of equation (6.2.10) and minor manipulations with the resulting expressions we are led to the relation

(6.2.14)
$$p'(t) = q_0(t) + \int_0^t K_1(t,s) p(s) \, ds + \int_0^t K(t,s) p'(s) \, ds$$

where

(6.2.15)
$$q_0(t) = p'_0(t) + R(t) \overline{BA} V(t) \Phi(0) p_0(0),$$

(6.2.16)

(6.2.17)

$$K_1(t,s) = R'(t) B A V(t-s) \Phi(s)$$
$$+ R(t) \overline{BA} V(t-s) \Phi'(s),$$
$$R(t) = - (B \Phi(t))^{-1}.$$

By virtue of (6.2.15)-(6.2.17) the continuity of the function q_0 and the strong continuity of the operator kernel $K_1(t,s)$ for $0 \le s \le t \le T$ are stipulated by the premises of the theorem. The strong continuity of the kernel K(t,s) defined by (6.2.12) has been already established and has been taken into account in the current situation.

Let us consider the system of integral equations

$$p(t) = p_0(t) + \int_0^t K(t,s) p(s) \, ds \,,$$

$$q(t) = q_0(t) + \int_0^t K_1(t,s) p(s) \, ds + \int_0^t K(t,s) q(s) \, ds$$

which has a unique continuous solution. This is due to the continuity of the functions p_0 and q_0 and the strong continuity of the operator kernels K(t, s) and $K_1(t, s)$ (for more detail see Section 5.1). Moreover, this solution can be obtained by means of the successive approximations

(6.2.18)
$$\tilde{p}_{n+1}(t) = p_0(t) + \int_0^t K(t,s) \tilde{p}_n(s) ds,$$

(6.2.19)
$$\tilde{q}_{n+1}(t) = q_0(t) + \int_0^t K_1(t,s) \, \tilde{p}_n(s) \, ds + \int_0^t K(t,s) \, \tilde{q}_n(s) \, ds \, ,$$

which converge as $n \to \infty$ to the functions p and q, respectively, uniformly over the segment [0, T]. In light of the initial approximations $\tilde{p}_0 = 0$ and $\tilde{q}_0 = 0$ it is reasonable to accept

$$\tilde{q}_0 = \tilde{p}'_0$$
.

Assuming that there exists a positive integer n, for which the equality $\tilde{q}_n = \tilde{p}'_n$ is true, we will show by differentiating (6.2.18) that this equality continues to hold for the next subscript. In giving it all the tricks and tacks remain unchanged as in the derivation of equation (6.2.14). The outcome of this is

$$\tilde{p}'_{n+1}(t) = q_0(t) + \int_0^t K_1(t,s) \,\tilde{p}_n(s) \,\,ds + \int_0^t K(t,s) \,\tilde{p}'_n(s) \,\,ds \,.$$

Comparison with (6.2.19) shows that $\tilde{q}_{n+1} = \tilde{p}'_{n+1}$. We deduce by induction on *n* that the equality

$$\tilde{q}_n = \tilde{p}'_n$$

6.2. Basic elements of the theory

is valid for any positive integer n.

Therefore, the sequence \tilde{p}_n converges as $n \to \infty$ to the function p uniformly over the segment [0, T]. At the same time, the sequence \tilde{p}'_n converges uniformly to the function q. From such reasoning it seems clear that p is continuously differentiable and p' = q, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

The next step of our study is connected with various estimates for the derivatives of the inverse problem solution similar to those obtained in Theorem 6.2.2 and the existing dependence between its smoothness and the smoothness of the input data. The questions at issue can be resolved on the same footing if the derivatives of the inverse problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4)solution (if any) will be viewed as the continuous solutions of the same problem but with other input data known as the "problem in variations". This approach is much applicable in solving nonlinear problems, since the emerging "problem in variations" appears to be linear. However, this approach provides proper guidelines for deeper study of many things relating to linear problems as well.

Theorem 6.2.4 Let the conditions of Theorem 6.2.3 hold, a pair of the functions u, p solve the inverse problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4),

$$w_0 = A u_0 + f(0), \qquad G = \Phi' p + F'$$

and $\varphi = \psi'$. Then the functions w = u' and q = p' give a continuous solution of the inverse problem

(6.2.20) $w'(t) = A w(t) + g(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$

 $(6.2.21) w(0) = w_0,$

(6.2.22)
$$g(t) = \Phi(t) q(t) + G(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

(6.2.23)
$$Bw(t) = \varphi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T$$

Proof Since the function p is continuously differentiable, the function

$$f = \Phi p + F \in C^1([0, T]; X)$$

Because of this fact, we might rely on formula (6.2.13) as further developments occur. Substituting g = f' and retaining the notations of Theorem 6.2.4, we recast (6.2.13) as

$$w(t) = V(t) w_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) g(s) ds$$

Comparison of the resulting equality with (6.2.6) provides support for the view that the function w is just a continuous solution of the Cauchy problem (6.2.20)-(6.2.21). The validity of (6.2.22) becomes obvious on the basis of the relations

$$g = f' = (\Phi p + F)' = \Phi' p + \Phi p' + F' = \Phi p' + (\Phi' p + F') = \Phi q + G.$$

Now formula (6.2.23) is an immediate implication of (6.2.4) due to the boundedness of the operator B and can be obtained by differentiating (6.2.4) with respect to t. This leads to the desired assertion.

Corollary 6.2.1 If the conditions of Theorem 6.2.1 hold, then there exists a constant $M = M(A, B, \Phi, T)$ such that a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4) satisfies the estimates

$$\| u \|_{\mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T]; X)} \leq M \left(\| u_{0} \|_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + \| \psi \|_{\mathcal{C}^{2}([0,T]; Y)} + \| F \|_{\mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T]; X)} \right),$$

$$\| u \|_{\mathcal{C}([0,T]; \mathcal{D}(A))} \leq M \left(\| u_{0} \|_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + \| \psi \|_{\mathcal{C}^{2}([0,T]; Y)} + \| F \|_{\mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T]; X)} \right),$$

$$\| p \|_{\mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T]; Y)} \leq M \left(\| u_{0} \|_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + \| \psi \|_{\mathcal{C}^{2}([0,T]; Y)} + \| F \|_{\mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T]; X)} \right).$$

Proof The derivation of these estimates is simple to follow and is based on Theorem 6.2.2 with regard to the inverse problem (6.2.20)-(6.2.23), according to which there exists a constant M_1 such that

$$|| u' ||_{\mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T]; X)} \leq M_{1} \left(|| w_{0} ||_{X} + || \varphi ||_{\mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T]; Y)} + || G ||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T]; X)} \right),$$

$$|| p' ||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T]; Y)} \leq M_{1} \left(|| w_{0} ||_{X} + || \varphi ||_{\mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T]; Y)} + || G ||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T]; X)} \right).$$

Arguing as in dealing with equation (6.2.14) we set $p(0) = p_0(0)$, where the function p_0 is defined by (6.2.11). Since

$$w_0 = A u_0 + f(0) = A u_0 + \Phi(0) p_0(0) + F(0),$$

formula (6.2.11) implies the estimate

$$||w_0||_X \leq M_2 \left(||u_0||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + ||\psi||_{\mathcal{C}^1([0,T];Y)} + ||F||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];X)} \right).$$

Recall that $G = \Phi' p + F'$. Using the estimate established in Theorem 6.2.2 for the function p we deduce that

$$\|G\|_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];X)} \leq M_3 \left(\|u_0\|_X + \|\psi\|_{\mathcal{C}^1([0,T];Y)} + \|F\|_{\mathcal{C}^1([0,T];X)} \right),$$

$$\|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{C}^1([0,T];Y)} = \|\psi'\|_{\mathcal{C}^1([0,T];Y)} \leq \|\psi\|_{\mathcal{C}^2([0,T];Y)},$$

thereby justifying the first and third estimates of Corollary 6.2.1. As can readily be observed, the relation

$$A u(t) = u'(t) - \Phi(t) p(t) - F(t)$$

holds true on the strength of (6.2.1) and (6.2.3), so that the second inequality arising from Corollary 6.2.24 becomes evident by successively applying the preceding estimates for u' and p to the right-hand side of (6.2.24). This proves the assertion of the corollary.

The result obtained in Theorem 6.2.4 may be of help in revealing the dependence between the smoothness of the inverse problem solution and the smoothness of the input data. Being a solution of the inverse problem (6.2.20)-(6.2.23), the functions w and q give the derivatives of the corresponding solution of the inverse problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4). With this in mind, the conditions of continuous differentiability of the inverse problem (6.2.20)-(6.2.23) solution turn into the conditions of double continuous differentiability of the inverse problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4) solution.

In trying to obtain these conditions we make use of Theorem 6.2.3 with regard to the inverse problem (6.2.20)-(6.2.23). Careful analysis of its premises shows that it would be sufficient to achieve $\Phi \in C^2([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X))$, $F \in C^2([0, T]; X)$, $A u_0 + f(0) \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $\psi \in C^3([0, T]; Y)$, $B u_0 = \psi(0)$ and

$$B(A u_0 + f(0)) = \psi'(0)$$

This type of situation is covered by the following assertion.

Corollary 6.2.2 Let the closed linear operator A with a dense domain be the generator of a strongly continuous semigroup in the space X, condition (6.2.7) hold and $\Phi \in C^2([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X))$, $F \in C^2([0, T]; X)$, $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $A u_0 + f(0) \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $\psi \in C^3([0, T]; Y)$, $B u_0 = \psi(0)$ and

$$B(A u_0 + f(0)) = \psi'(0)$$
.

If for any $t \in [0, T]$ the operator $B \Phi(t)$ is invertible and

$$(B \Phi)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y)),$$

then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.2.1)–(6.2.4) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{2}([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in C^{2}([0, T]; Y).$$

In this context, one thing is worth noting. This is concerned with the value f(0). Although the function f is supposed to be unknown in the statement of the inverse problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4), the value f(0) can easily be found from equality (6.2.3), implying that

$$f(0) = \Phi(0) p(0) + F(0) .$$

Combination of (6.2.11) and (6.2.12) gives for t = 0 the equality

$$p(0) = p_0(0) = (B \Phi(0))^{-1} (\psi'(0) - \overline{BA} u_0 - B F(0))$$

and, because of its form, the compatibility conditions

$$A u_0 + f(0) \in \mathcal{D}(A), \qquad B (A u_0 + f(0)) = \psi'(0)$$

can be rewritten only in terms of the input data of the inverse problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4). The reader is invited to carry out the appropriate manipulations on his/her own.

In concluding this section it remains to note that in Theorem 6.2.3 and Corollary 6.2.2 the differentiability condition for the function $(B\Phi)^{-1}$ can be replaced by the continuity condition for the same function. This is due to the fact that the differentiability of $(B\Phi)^{-1}$ is an implication of the well-known formula for the derivative of the inverse operator

$$\left[\mathcal{A}^{-1}(t) \right]' = -\mathcal{A}^{-1} \mathcal{A}'(t) \, A^{-1}(t) \, .$$

A final remark is that the procedure of establishing the conditions under which the inverse problem solution becomes more smooth can be conducted in just the same way as we did before. Using Theorem 6.2.4 with respect to the inverse problem (6.2.20)-(6.2.23) we might set up the inverse problem for the second derivatives of the problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4)solution. The inverse problem thus obtained is covered by Theorem 6.2.3 and so the conditions of triple continuous differentiability of the problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4) solution are derived without any difficulties. Going further with this procedure we reach a solution as smooth as we like.

6.3 Nonlinear inverse problems with smoothing overdetermination: solvability

In the present section we carry over the results of Section 6.2 to the case of a semilinear evolution equation. Given Banach spaces X and Y, let A be a closed linear operator in the space X with a dense domain. One assumes, in addition, that the operator A generates a strongly continuous semigroup V(t) and the operator B satisfies the following inclusions:

$$(6.3.1) B, \overline{BA} \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y).$$

We are interested in recovering a pair of the functions $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ and $p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y)$ from the system of relations

(6.3.2)
$$u'(t) = A u(t) + f(t, u(t), p(t)), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(6.3.3) u(0) = u_0,$$

(6.3.4)
$$B u(t) = \psi(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where

$$f\colon [0, T] \times X \times Y \mapsto X$$

is a continuous function. Omitting some details related to the concept of the generalized solution to equation (6.3.2) we mean by a **continuous solution of the Cauchy problem** (6.3.2)-(6.3.3) a continuous solution to the integral equation

(6.3.5)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds.$$

Furthermore, we take for granted that the function f has the structure

(6.3.6)
$$f(t, u, p) = f_1(t, u) + f_2(t, u, p).$$

The main idea behind **decomposition** is that the properties of the function f_1 should be somewhat different from those of the function f_2 due to the limitations imposed. Representation (6.3.6) is similar to (6.2.3) involved in the exploration of the linear inverse problem posed completely in the preceding section. Although the character of (6.3.6) is not quite typical for a nonlinear problem, it may be of help in investigating some particular questions at issue.

Let us introduce the following notations:

$$\begin{split} S_X(a,R) &= \left\{ \left. x \in X \colon \, \| \, x - a \, \|_X < R \right\}, \\ S_X(a,R,T) &= \left\{ \, (t,x) \colon \, 0 \le t \le T, \, x \in S_X(a,R) \right\}. \end{split}$$

Allowing the function ψ to be differentiable we define the value

(6.3.7)
$$z_0 = \psi'(0) - \overline{BA} u_0 - B f_1(0, u_0)$$

and require then the following:

- (A) the equation $B f_2(0, u_0, p) = z_0$ with respect to p has a solution $p_0 \in Y$ and this solution is unique in the space Y;
- (B) there exists a mapping

$$f_3: [0, T] \times Y \times Y \mapsto Y$$

such that

$$B f_2(t, u, p) = f_3(t, B u, p);$$

(C) there exists a number R > 0 such that for any $t \in [0, T]$ the mapping $z = f_3(t, \psi(t), p)$ as a function of p is invertible in the ball $S_{\gamma}(p_0, R)$ and has the inverse

(6.3.8)
$$p = \Phi(t, z);$$

- (D) there is a number R > 0 such that both functions $f_1(t, u)$ and $f_2(t, u, p)$ are continuous with respect to the totality of variables on the manifold $S_{X \times Y}((u_0, p_0), R, T)$ and satisfy thereon the Lipschitz condition with respect to (u, p);
- (E) there is a number R > 0 such that the mapping (6.3.8) is continuous with respect to (t, z) on the manifold $S_Y(z_0, R, T)$ and satisfies thereon the Lipschitz condition in z.

Theorem 6.3.1 One assumes that the closed linear operator A, whose domain is dense, generates a strongly continuous semigroup in the space X and conditions (6.3.1) and (6.3.6) hold. Let $u_0 \in X$, $\psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y)$ and $B u_0 = \psi(0)$. Under conditions (A) - (E), where z_0 is defined by (6.3.7), there exists a value $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ the inverse problem has a solution u, p and this solution is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y).$$

Proof The conditions of the theorem imply that for any functions $u \in C([0, T]; X)$ and $p \in C([0, T]; Y)$ the function

$$f(t) = f(t, u(t), p(t))$$

is continuous and the Cauchy problem (6.3.2)-(6.3.3) is equivalent to the integral equation

(6.3.9)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds,$$

whence we are led by condition (6.3.4) to

(6.3.10)
$$BV(t)u_0 + B\int_0^t V(t-s)f(s) ds = \psi(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Arguing as in proving Theorem 6.2.1 it is straightforward to verify that by virtue of Lemmas 6.2.1-6.2.2 along with the compatibility condition relation (6.3.10) is equivalent to its differential implication

(6.3.11)
$$\overline{BA} V(t) u_0 + \overline{BA} \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds$$
$$+ B f(t, u(t), p(t)) = \psi'(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Furthermore, set

$$g_0(t) = \psi'(t) - \overline{BA} V(t) u_0 - B f_1(t, V(t) u_0).$$

From condition (A) and equation (6.3.11) with t = 0 it follows that $p(0) = p_0$. Therefore, conditions (B)-(C) assure us of the existence of a sufficiently small value T > 0, for which equation (6.3.11) becomes

(6.3.12)
$$p(t) = \Phi\left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, u(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds\right),$$

where

$$g_1(t,u) = -B\left(f_1(t,u) - f_1(t,V(t)u_0)\right), \qquad K(t,s) = -\overline{BA}V(t-s)$$

Relations (6.3.9) and (6.3.12) constitute what is called the system of the Volterra integro-functional equations for the functions u and p being equivalent to the inverse problem (6.3.2)-(6.3.4).

6. Abstract Problems for First Order Equations

At the first stage we are going to show that for a sufficiently small value T > 0 the system (6.3.9), (6.3.12) has a unique continuous solution. On account of the inclusion $g_0 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y)$ the function $g_1(t, u)$ is continuous with respect to (t, u) on the manifold $S_X(u_0, R, T)$ and satisfies thereon the Lipschitz condition in u. The kernel K(t, s) is strongly continuous for $0 \leq s \leq t \leq T$. The second step is to replace (6.3.12) by the equation

(6.3.13)
$$p(t) = \Phi\left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, u_1(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds\right),$$

where

(6.3.14)
$$u_1(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds$$

The couple of the resulting equations (6.3.9) and (6.3.12) is evidently equivalent to the system (6.3.9), (6.3.13). At the next stage we consider the metric space

$$Z = \mathcal{C}([0, T]; S_X(u_0, R) \times S_Y(p_0, R))$$

and introduce the operator

$$G: (u, p) \mapsto (u_1, p_1),$$

where u_1 is defined by (6.3.14) and p_1 coincides with the right-hand side of (6.3.13).

The theorem will be proved if we succeed in finding a positive number T > 0 for which the operator G has a unique fixed point in the space Z.

The Lipschitz condition for the functions Φ and f_1 implies the inequalities

(6.3.15)
$$\|\Phi(t,z) - \Phi(t,g_0(t))\| \leq L \|z - g_0(t)\|,$$

$$(6.3.16) || g_1(t, u_1(t)) || \le L || u_1(t) - V(t) u_0 ||.$$

Let $M_1 = \sup_{0 \le t \le T} ||V(t)||$. With this constant in view, representation (6.3.14) yields

(6.3.17)
$$||u_1(t) - V(t) u_0|| \le M_1 \int_0^t ||f(s, u(s), p(s))|| ds.$$

By the definition of the function p_1 we find with the aid of (6.3.15) that

$$|| p_1(t) - \Phi(t, g_0(t)) || \le L \left\| g_1(t, u_1(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds \right\|.$$

Estimates (6.3.16) and (6.3.17) together provide sufficient background for the validity of the inequality

$$||g_1(t, u_1(t))|| \le L M_1 \int_0^t ||f(s, u(s), p(s))|| ds$$

which is followed by

(6.3.18)
$$||p_1(t) - \Phi(t, g_0(t))|| \le M_2 \int_0^t ||f(s, u(s), p(s))|| ds$$

if we agree to involve the constant

$$M_{2} = L^{2} M_{1} + L \sup_{0 \le s \le t \le T} || K(t, s) ||.$$

Comparison of (6.3.7) with the relation

$$g_0(0) = \Psi'(0) - \overline{BA} \ u_0 - B \ f_1(0, u_0)$$

shows that $g_0(0) = z_0$. Hence conditions (A)–(C) assure us of the validity of the equality

$$\Phi(0, g_0(0)) = p_0.$$

Moreover, $V(0) u_0 = u_0$. From condition (D) it follows that the function f is bounded on $S_{X \times Y}((u_0, p_0), R, T)$. Due to this property estimates (6.3.17)-(6.3.18) provide the existence of a sufficiently small number T for which the outcome of mapping by the operator G acts in the space Z.

Let

$$(u_{11}, p_{11}) = G(u_1, p_1)$$

 and

$$(u_{22}, p_{22}) = G(u_2, p_2).$$

The symbol L(f) designates the constant arising from the Lipschitz condition for the function f on the manifold $S_{X \times Y}((u_0, p_0), R, T)$. With this notation in view, (6.3.9) and (6.3.13) imply that

(6.3.19)
$$\begin{cases} \|u_{22}(t) - u_{11}(t)\| \leq M_1 L(f) T \rho((u_2, p_2), (u_1, p_1)), \\ \|p_{22}(t) - p_{11}(t)\| \leq M_2 L(f) T \rho((u_2, p_2), (u_1, p_1)), \end{cases}$$

where ρ refers to a metric on the space Z. Estimates (6.3.19) justifies that there exists a sufficiently small value T, for which G becomes a contraction operator in the space Z. Thus, the desired assertion is an immediate implication of the contraction mapping principle, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

It is interesting to find out when a solution of the inverse problem (6.3.2)-(6.3.4) will be differentiable. To provide the validity of this property, conditions (D) and (E) necessitate making some refinements. It will be sensible to replace them by the following ones:

- (D_1) there exists a number R > 0 such that both functions f_1 and f_2 are Frechet differentiable on the manifold $S_{X \times Y}((u_0, p_0), R, T)$ and their partial derivatives $(f_1)_t, (f_1)_u, (f_2)_u, (f_2)_t$ and $(f_2)_p$ are continuous thereon in the operator norm and satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to (u, p);
- (E₁) there exists a number R > 0 such that the function (6.3.8) is Frechet differentiable on $S_Y(z_0, R, T)$ and its partial derivatives Φ_t and Φ_z are continuous in the operator norm and satisfy thereon the Lipschitz condition in z.

Theorem 6.3.2 Let the closed linear operator A with a dense domain generate a strongly continuous semigroup in the space X and conditions (6.3.1) and (6.3.6) hold, $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $\psi \in C^2([0, T]; Y)$ and $Bu_0 = \psi(0)$. Under conditions (A)-(C), (D_1) and (E_1) , where z_0 is defined by (6.3.7), there exists a value $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ a solution u, pof the inverse problem (6.3.2)-(6.3.4) exists and is unique in the class of functions

 $u \in C^{1}([0, T_{1}]; X) \cap C([0, T_{1}]; \mathcal{D}(A)), \qquad p \in C^{1}([0, T_{1}]; Y).$

Proof First of all observe that conditions (D_1) and (E_1) imply conditions (D) and (E). Hence by Theorem 6.3.1 the inverse problem (6.3.2)–(6.3.3) has a unique continuous solution for all sufficiently small values T. Since the function f(t, u(t), p(t)) is continuous, the continuity of the function A u(t) is ensured by relation (6.3.2) because of the continuity of u'(t). Therefore, in order to establish the desired assertion, it suffices to justify the differentiability of the functions u and p both.

Recall that these functions give a continuous solution to the system of the integral equations (6.3.9), (6.3.12), which are currently to be differentiated and supplemented by the relevant equations for the functions w = u'and q = p'. By the initial assumptions and relation (6.3.6) there exists a

value R > 0 such that on the manifold $S_{X \times Y}((u_0, p_0), R, T)$ the function f(t, u, p) is Frechet differentiable and its partial derivatives f_t , f_u and f_p are continuous and satisfy thereon the Lipschitz condition with respect to (u, p) in the operator norm. Moreover, the function

$$g_0(t) = \psi'(t) - \overline{BA} V(t) u_0 - B f_1(t, V(T) u_0)$$

will be continuously differentiable in t on the space Y and the function

$$g_1(t, u) = -B\left(f_1(t, u) - f_1(t, V(t) u_0)\right)$$

will be Frechet differentiable on the manifold $S_X(u_0, R, T)$ and its partial derivatives $g_{1,t}$ and $g_{1,u}$ will be continuous thereon and satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to u in the operator norm. Being formally differentiated equations (6.3.9) and (6.3.12) lead to the chains of relations

$$(6.3.20) w(t) = V(t) \left(A u_0 + f(0, u_0, p_0) \right) \\ + \int_0^t V(t-s) \left[f_t \left(s, u(s), p(s) \right) \right) \\ + f_u \left(s, u(s), p(s) \right) w(s) \\ + f_p \left(s, u(s), p(s) \right) q(s) \right] ds , \\ (6.3.21) q(t) = \Phi_t \left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, u(t)) \right) \\ + \int_0^t K(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds \right) \\ + \Phi_z \left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, u(t)) \right) \\ + \int_0^t K(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds \right) \\ \times \left(g'_0(t) + g_{1,t}(t, u(t)) + g_{1,u}(t, u(t)) w(t) \right) \\ + K(t, 0) f(0, u_0, p_0)$$

6. Abstract Problems for First Order Equations

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} K(t, s) \Big[f_{t}(s, u(s), p(s)) \\ + f_{u}(s, u(s), p(s)) w(s) \\ + f_{p}(s, u(s), p(s)) q(s) \Big] ds.$$

When the functions $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ and $p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y)$ are kept fixed, the system (6.3.20)-(6.3.21) becomes a linear system of the Volterra second order integral equations related to the functions w and q. The nonhomogeneous members of this system are continuous and the kernels are strongly continuous. Whence it follows that there exists a unique continuous solution to the preceding system and it remains to establish the relations w = u' and q = p'. With this aim, we agree to consider

$$w_{0} = A u_{0} + f(0, u_{0}, p_{0}),$$

$$q_{0} = \Phi_{t} (0, g_{0}(0)) + \Phi_{z} (0, g_{0}(0))$$

$$\times (g'_{0}(0) + g_{1, t}(0, u_{0}) + g_{1, u}(0, u_{0}) w_{0}$$

$$+ K(0, 0) f(0, u_{0}, p_{0})).$$

We note in passing that equations (6.3.12) and (6.3.21) are equivalent to the following ones:

(6.3.22)
$$p(t) = \Phi\left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, \bar{u}(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds\right),$$

(6.3.23)

$$q(t) = \Phi_t \left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, \bar{u}(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds \right)$$

+ $\Phi_z \left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, \bar{u}(t)) + \Phi_z \left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, \bar{u}(t)) + \theta_z \left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, \bar{u}(t)) + \theta_z \right) \right)$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} K(t,s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds)$$

$$\times \left(g'_{0}(t) + g_{1,t}(t, \bar{u}(t)) + g_{1,u}(t, \bar{u}(t)) \bar{w}(t) + K(t,0) f(0, u_{0}, p_{0}) \right)$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} K(t,s) \left[f_{t}(s, u(s), p(s)) + f_{u}(s, u(s), p(s)) w(s) + f_{u}(s, u(s), p(s)) w(s) + f_{p}(s, u(s), p(s)) q(s) \right] ds),$$

where $\bar{u}(t)$ are $\bar{w}(t)$ refer to the right-hand sides of relations (6.3.9) and (6.3.20), respectively.

Let

$$Z_{1} = \mathcal{C}([0, T]; S_{X}(u_{0}, R) \times S_{Y}(p_{0}, R) \times S_{X}(w_{0}, R) \times S_{Y}(q_{0}, R))$$

We deal in that metric space with the operator

$$G_1: (u, p, w, g) \mapsto (\bar{u}, \bar{p}, \tilde{w}, \bar{g}),$$

where \bar{p} and \bar{g} stand for the right-hand sides of (6.3.22) and (6.3.23), respectively. The operator G_1 so constructed is of the same structure as the operator G arising from the proof of Theorem 6.3.1. Following the scheme of proving the preceding theorem we are now in a position to find a sufficiently small value T > 0 for which the operator G_1 becomes contractive on the space Z_1 . In this view, it is reasonable to employ the method of successive approximations by means of which a solution of the system of equations (6.3.9), (6.3.20), (6.3.22) and (6.3.23) can be obtained. A final result of such manipulations is as follows:

(6.3.24)
$$\tilde{u}_{n+1}(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s, \tilde{u}_n(s), \tilde{p}_n(s)) ds.$$

Also, the sequences

6. Abstract Problems for First Order Equations

$$\begin{aligned} + \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \left[f_{t}(s,\tilde{u}_{n}(s),\tilde{p}_{n}(s)) \right. \\ + f_{u}\left(s,\tilde{u}_{n}(s),\tilde{p}_{n}(s) \right) \tilde{w}_{n}(s) \\ + f_{p}\left(s,\tilde{u}_{n}(s),\tilde{p}_{n}(s) \right) \tilde{q}_{n}(s) \right] ds, \\ (6.3.26) \qquad \tilde{p}_{n+1}(t) = \Phi\left(t,g_{0}(t) + g_{1}\left(t,\tilde{u}_{n+1}(t) \right) \right. \\ + \int_{0}^{t} K(t,s) f\left(s,\tilde{u}_{n}(s),\tilde{p}_{n}(s) \right) ds \right), \\ (6.3.27) \qquad \tilde{q}_{n+1}(t) = \Phi_{t}\left(t,g_{0}(t) + g_{1}\left(t,\tilde{u}_{n+1}(t) \right) \right. \\ + \int_{0}^{t} K(t,s) f\left(s,\tilde{u}_{n}(s),\tilde{p}_{n}(s) \right) ds \right) \\ + \Phi_{z}\left(t,g_{0}(t) + g_{1}\left(t,\tilde{u}_{n+1}(t) \right) \right. \\ + \int_{0}^{t} K(t,s) f\left(s,\tilde{u}_{n}(s),\tilde{p}_{n}(s) \right) ds \right) \\ \times \left(g_{0}^{t}(t) + g_{1,t}\left(t,\tilde{u}_{n+1}(t) \right) \\ + g_{1,u}\left(t,\tilde{u}_{n+1}(t) \right) \tilde{w}_{n+1}(t) \\ + K(t,0) f(0,u_{0,p_{0}}) \\ + \int_{0}^{t} K(t,s) \left[f_{t}\left(s,\tilde{u}_{n}(s),\tilde{p}_{n}(s) \right) \\ + f_{u}\left(s,\tilde{u}_{n}(s),\tilde{p}_{n}(s) \right) \tilde{w}_{n}(s) \\ + f_{p}\left(s,\tilde{u}_{n}(s),\tilde{p}_{n}(s) \right) \tilde{q}_{n}(s) \right] ds \right) \end{aligned}$$

will be uniformly convergent on the segment [0, T]. The initial approximations $\tilde{u}_0(t)$, $\tilde{w}_0(t)$, $\tilde{p}_0(t)$ and $\tilde{q}_0(t)$ may be taken to be zero. Via representations (6.3.24) and (6.3.26) it is not difficult to deduce by induction on nthat the functions \tilde{u}_n and \tilde{p}_n are continuously differentiable for all n.

With the initial assumptions in view, careful analysis of (6.3.4) leads to

$$f(t) = f(t, \tilde{u}_n(t), \tilde{p}_n(t)) \in C^1([0, T]; X),$$

so that the function \tilde{u}_{n+1} satisfies the equation

(6.3.28)
$$\tilde{u}'_{n+1}(t) - A \,\tilde{u}_{n+1}(t) = f(t, \tilde{u}_n(t), \tilde{p}_n(t))$$

The value $A \tilde{u}_{n+1}$ can be found from (6.3.24) by the well-known formula from the **theory of semigroups** (see Fattorini (1983), Kato (1966)).

$$A \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) f(s) ds = \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) f'(s) ds + V(t) f(0) - f(t),$$

which is valid for any continuously differentiable function f. If $\tilde{u}_n(0) = u_0$ and $\tilde{p}_n(0) = p_0$, then

(6.3.29)
$$A \,\tilde{u}_{n+1}(t) = V(t) \left(A \,u_0 + f(0, u_0, p_0) \right) \\ + \int_0^t V(t-s) \left[f_t \left(s, \tilde{u}_n(s), \tilde{p}_n(s) \right) \right. \\ + f_u \left(s, \tilde{u}_n(s), \tilde{p}_n(s) \right) \tilde{u}'_n(s) \\ + f_p \left(s, \tilde{u}_n(s), \tilde{p}_n(s) \right) \tilde{p}'_n(s) \right] ds \\ - f \left(t, \tilde{u}_n(t), \tilde{p}_n(t) \right) .$$

Subtracting (6.3.29) from (6.3.25) yields the relation

$$\tilde{w}_{n+1}(t) - A \,\tilde{u}_{n+1}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \left[f_u \left(s, \tilde{u}_n(s), \tilde{p}_n(s) \right) \right. \\ \left. \left(\tilde{w}_n(s) - \tilde{u}'_n(s) \right) + f_p \left(s, \tilde{u}_n(s), \tilde{p}_n(s) \right) \right. \\ \left. \left(\tilde{q}_n(s) - \tilde{p}'_n(s) \right] \, ds + f \left(t, \tilde{u}_n(t), \tilde{p}_n(t) \right) , \right]$$

from which (6.3.28) can be subtracted. All this enables us to establish the relationship

(6.3.31)

$$\begin{split} \tilde{w}_{n+1}(t) - \tilde{u}'_{n+1}(t) &= \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \left[f_u \left(s, \tilde{u}_n(s), \tilde{p}_n(s) \right) \right. \\ &\times \left(\tilde{w}_n(s) - \tilde{u}'_n(s) \right) + f_p \left(s, \tilde{u}_n(s), \tilde{p}_n(s) \right) \\ &\times \left(\tilde{q}_n(s) - \tilde{p}'_n(s) \right] \, ds \, . \end{split}$$

Having (6.3.26) differentiated we subtract the resulting expression from (6.3.27) and, after this, arrive at

$$(6.3.32)
\tilde{q}_{n+1}(t) - \tilde{p}'_{n+1}(t) = \Phi_z \left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, \tilde{u}_{n+1}(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s) f(s, \tilde{u}_n(s), \tilde{p}_n(s)) ds \right)
\times \left(g_{1,u}(t, \tilde{u}_{n+1}(t)) \left(\tilde{w}_{n+1}(t) - \tilde{u}'_{n+1}(t) \right) + \int_0^t K(t, s) \left[f_u(s, \tilde{u}_n(s), \tilde{p}_n(s)) \left(\tilde{w}_n(s) - \tilde{u}'_n(s) \right) + f_p(s, \tilde{u}_n(s), \tilde{p}_n(s)) \left(\tilde{q}_n(s) - \tilde{p}'_n(s) \right) \right] ds \right).$$

With zero initial approximations, the equalities

$$\tilde{w}_0 = \tilde{u}'_0$$

and

$$\tilde{q}_0 = \tilde{p}_0^{\prime}$$

become valid. With the aid of relations (6.3.31)-(6.3.32) we derive by induction on n the equalities $\tilde{w}_n = \tilde{u}_n$ and $\tilde{q}_n = \tilde{p}'_n$, valid for all $n \in N$, and involve these as further developments occur. Therefore, the sequences $\tilde{u}_n \rightarrow u$, $\tilde{u}'_n \rightarrow w$, $\tilde{p}_n \rightarrow p$ and $\tilde{p}'_n \rightarrow q$ as $n \rightarrow \infty$ uniformly over the segment [0, T]. Finally, the functions u and p are continuously differentiable, thus causing the needed relations u' = w and p' = q and completing the proof of the theorem.

6.4 Inverse problems with smoothing overdetermination: smoothness of solution

We begin by considering the inverse problem (6.3.2)-(6.3.4) in another version giving a generalization of setting up problem (6.2.1)-(6.2.4) under the

agreement that the function f involved in equation (6.3.2) is representable by

(6.4.1)
$$f(t, u, p) = L_1(t) u + L_2(t) p + F(t),$$

where $L_1(t) \in \mathcal{L}(X)$, $L_2(t) \in \mathcal{L}(Y, X)$ and $F(t) \in X$ for every fixed $t \in [0, T]$. In that case the unique solvability is revealed on the whole segment [0, T] as occurred in the inverse problem (6.2.1)–(6.2.4). For the reader's convenience the complete statement of the inverse problem amounts to finding a pair of the functions $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ and $p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y)$ from the system of relations

(6.4.2)
$$u'(t) = A u(t) + L_1(t) u(t) + L_2(t) p(t) + F(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(6.4.3) u(0) = u_0,$$

(6.4.4) $B u(t) = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$

where the operator B is in line, as before, with the inclusions

$$(6.4.5) B, \overline{BA} \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$$

and equation (6.4.2) is to be understood in a sense of distributions.

Theorem 6.4.1 One assumes that the closed linear operator A, whose domain is dense, generates a strongly continuous semigroup in the space X and condition (6.4.5) holds. Let

$$L_1 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X)), \qquad L_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X)),$$

$$F \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X), \quad u_0 \in X, \quad \psi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; Y).$$

When $t \in [0, T]$ is kept fixed, the operator $BL_2(t)$ is supposed to be invertible and

$$(BL_2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{L}(Y)).$$

If the compatibility condition $Bu_0 = \psi(0)$ is fulfilled, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.4.2)-(6.4.4) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y).$$

Proof Before we undertake the proof, let us stress that conditions (A)-(E) of Section 6.3 remain valid if we accept the following representations:

$$f_{1}(t, u) = L_{1}(t) u + F(t) ,$$

$$f_{2}(t, u, p) = L_{2}(t) p ,$$

$$f_{3}(t, z, p) = B L_{2}(t) p ,$$

$$\Phi(t, z) = (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} z .$$

Therefore, further treatment of the inverse problem (6.4.2)-(6.4.4) amounts to solving the system of the integral equations (6.3.9), (6.3.12) or the equivalent system (6.3.9), (6.3.13) taking under the conditions of Theorem 6.4.1 the form

(6.4.6)
$$u(t) = u_{0}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} K_{1}(t, s) u(s) ds + \int_{0}^{t} L_{1}(t, s) p(s) ds,$$

(6.4.7)
$$p(t) = p_{0}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} K_{2}(t, s) u(s) ds + \int_{0}^{t} L_{2}(t, s) p(s) ds,$$

where

$$u_0(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) F(s) ds,$$

$$p_0(t) = (B L_2(t))^{-1} \left(\psi'(t) - \overline{BA} V(t) u_0 - \overline{BA} \int_0^t V(t-s) F(s) ds - B F(t) - B L_1(t) u_0(t) \right),$$

$$K_{1}(t,s) = V(t-s) L_{1}(s),$$

$$L_{1}(t,s) = V(t-s) L_{2}(s),$$

$$K_{2}(t,s) = -(B L_{2}(t))^{-1} (\overline{BA} V(t-s))$$

$$\times L_{1}(s) + B L_{1}(t) K_{1}(t,s)),$$

$$L_{2}(t,s) = -(B L_{2}(t))^{-1} (\overline{BA} V(t-s))$$

$$\times L_{2}(s) + B L_{1}(t) L_{1}(t,s)).$$

It is worth bearing in mind that the premises of this theorem imply the strong continuity of the operator kernels K_1 , L_1 , K_2 , L_2 for $0 \le s \le t \le T$ as well as the continuity of the functions $u_0(t)$ and $p_0(t)$. We know from Section 5.1 that these properties are sufficient for the system of the Volterra integral equations (6.4.6)-(6.4.7) to have a unique solution in the class of continuous functions, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

If the input data functions possess the extra smoothness, then the same property would be valid for a solution. The analog of Theorem 6.3.2 in the linear case of interest is quoted in the following proposition.

Theorem 6.4.2 One assumes that the closed linear operator A, whose domain is dense, generates a strongly continuous semigroup in the space X and condition (6.4.5) is satisfied. Let

 $L_1 \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X)), \qquad L_2 \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X)),$ $F \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X), \qquad u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$

and $\psi \in C^2([0, T]; Y)$. If, for any fixed value $t \in [0, T]$, the operator $BL_2(t)$ is invertible,

$$(BL_2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y))$$

and the compatibility condition $Bu_0 = \psi(0)$ holds, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.4.2)-(6.4.4) exists and is unique in the class of functions

 $u \in C^{1}([0, T]; X) \cap C([0, T]; D(A)), \qquad p \in C^{1}([0, T]; Y).$

Proof First of all note that the conditions of the theorem provide the validity of conditions (D_1) and (E_1) as well as reason enough for differentiating the system (6.4.6)–(6.4.7) and extending it by joining with equations (6.3.20) and (6.3.23). The system thus obtained is linear and can be written as

(6.4.8)
$$u(t) = u_0(t) + \int_0^t \left[U_1(t,s) u(s) + U_2(t,s) p(s) \right] ds,$$

(6.4.9)
$$p(t) = p_0(t) + \int_0^t \left[P_1(t,s) u(s) + P_2(t,s) p(s) \right] ds,$$

(6.4.10)
$$w(t) = w_0(t) + \int_0^t \left[W_1(t,s) u(s) + W_2(t,s) p(s) + W_3(t,s) w(s) + W_4(t,s) q(s) \right] ds,$$

(6.4.11)
$$q(t) = q_0(t) + \int_0^t \left[Q_1(t,s) u(s) + Q_2(t,s) p(s) \right] ds,$$

$$+ Q_3(t,s) w(s) + Q_4(t,s) q(s)] ds$$
,

where

$$U_{1}(t,s) = V(t-s) L_{1}(s),$$

$$U_{2}(t,s) = V(t-s) L_{2}(s),$$

$$u_{0}(t) = V(t) u_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) F(s) ds,$$

$$P_{1}(t,s) = - (B L_{1}(t))^{-1} [\overline{BA} V(t-s) L_{1}(s) + B L_{1}(t) V(t-s) L_{1}(s)],$$

$$P_{2}(t,s) = - (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} [\overline{BA} V(t-s) L_{2}(s)]$$

$$+ B L_{1}(t) V(t - s) L_{2}(s)],$$

$$p_{0}(t, s) = (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} [\psi'(t) - (\overline{BA} + B L_{1}(t)) u_{0}(t) - B F(t)],$$

$$W_{1}(t, s) = V(t - s) L'_{1}(s),$$

$$W_{2}(t, s) = V(t - s) L'_{2}(s),$$

$$W_{3}(t, s) = V(t - s) L_{1}(s),$$

$$W_{4}(t, s) = V(t - s) L_{2}(s),$$

$$w_{0}(t) = V(t) [A u_{0} + L_{1}(0) u_{0} + L_{2}(0) p_{0}(0) + F(0)]$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} V(t - s) F'(s) ds,$$

$$R(t) = (B L_{2}(t))^{-1},$$

$$S(t) = \overline{BA} + B L_{1}(t),$$

$$Q_{1}(t, s) = -R'(t) S(t) V(t - s) L_{1}(s) - R(t) B L'_{1}(t) V(t - s) L_{1}(s),$$

$$Q_{2}(t, s) = -R'(t) S(t) V(t - s) L_{2}(s) - R(t) S(t) V(t - s) L_{2}(s) - R(t) S(t) V(t - s) L_{2}(s),$$

$$Q_{3}(t, s) = -R(t) S(t) V(t - s) L_{1}(s),$$

$$Q_{4}(t, s) = -R(t) S(t) V(t - s) L_{2}(s),$$
6. Abstract Problems for First Order Equations

$$q_{0}(t) = R'(t) \left[g_{0}(t) - S(t) \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \dot{F}(s) ds \right]$$

+ $R(t) \left[g'_{0}(t) - B L'_{1}(t) \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) F(s) ds \right]$
- $R(t) S(t) \left[V(t) (L_{1}(0) u_{0} + L_{2}(0) p_{0}(0) + F(0)) + \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) F'(s) ds \right].$

In light of the theorem premises the operator kernels and the nonhomogeneous terms of the system of the Volterra integral equations (6.4.8)-(6.4.11)will be continuous and strongly continuous, respectively. This implies the existence and uniqueness of the continuous solution u, p, w, q to the system concerned. For further reasoning one can adopt the concluding arguments from the proof of Theorem 6.3.2, since the system (6.4.8)-(6.4.11) coincides with the system (6.3.9), (6.3.20), (6.3.22)-(6.3.23). As $n \to \infty$, the successive approximations \tilde{u}_n , \tilde{p}_n , \tilde{w}_n , \tilde{q}_n specified by (6.3.24)-(6.3.27) converge to a solution of the system (6.4.8)-(6.4.11) uniformly over the segment [0, T]. In proving Theorem 6.3.2 we have established that for all n the equalities

$$\tilde{w}_n = \tilde{u}'_n$$

and

$$\tilde{q}_n = \tilde{p}'_n$$

hold true, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

Before returning to the inverse problem (6.3.2)-(6.3.4), let us assume that all the conditions of Theorem 6.3.2 are satisfied. Hence there exists a segment $[0, T_1]$ on which both functions w = u' and q = p' are continuous and satisfy the integral equation (6.3.20). Further treatment of the integral equation (6.3.20) involves an alternative form of writing

(6.4.12)
$$w(t) = V(t) w_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) \left[L_1(s) w(s) + L_2(s) q(s) + F(s) \right] ds,$$

where

(6.4.13)
$$\begin{cases} w_0 = A u_0 + f(0, u_0, p_0), \\ L_1(t) = f_u(t, u(t), p(t)), \\ L_2(t) = f_p(t, u(t), p(t)), \\ F(t) = f_t(t, u(t), p(t)). \end{cases}$$

Because the operator B is bounded, the equalities

$$B u'(t) = (B u(t))' = \psi'(t)$$

become valid, whose use permits us to establish the relationship

$$B w(t) = \psi'(t) \, .$$

On the other hand, with the aid of relation (6.4.12) we deduce that the function w is just a continuous solution of the Cauchy problem

$$w'(t) = A w(t) + h(t), \qquad w(0) = w_0,$$

with $h(t) = L_1(t) w(t) + L_2(t) q(t) + F(t)$ incorporated. Thus, we arrive at the following assertion.

Corollary 6.4.1 Under the conditions of Theorem 6.3.2 there exists a number $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.3.2)-(6.3.4) is continuously differentiable and the derivatives w = u' and q = p' give a continuous solution of the inverse problem

(6.4.14)
$$\begin{cases} w'(t) = Aw(t) + L_1(t)w(t) + L_2(t)q(t) + F(t), & 0 \le t \le T_1, \\ w(0) = w_0, \\ Bw(t) = \varphi(t), & 0 \le t \le T_1, \end{cases}$$

where w_0 , L_1 , L_2 and F are given by relations (5.4.15) and $\varphi = \psi'$.

By applying Theorem 6.4.2 to problem (6.4.14) one can derive the conditions under which a solution of (6.3.2)–(6.3.4) becomes twice continuously differentiable. The inverse problem for the second derivatives of this solution can be written in the explicit form in complete agreement with Corollary 6.4.1. In its framework we are able to establish sufficient conditions for the solution smoothness up to any desired order.

We give below one possible example of such a process.

Corollary 6.4.2 Let under the conditions of Theorem 6.3.2 the functions f_1 , f_2 and Φ be twice Frechet differentiable on the manifolds

$$S_{X \times Y}((u_0, p_0), R, T)$$

and

$$S_{\boldsymbol{Y}}(\boldsymbol{z}_0,\boldsymbol{R},T)$$

respectively. If

 $\psi \in \mathcal{C}^3([0, T]; Y)$

and

$$A u_0 + f(0, u_0, p_0) \in \mathcal{D}(A),$$

then there exists a number $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ a solution u, p of problem (6.3.2)-(6.3.4) is twice continuously differentiable and the functions w = u' and g = p' give a continuously differentiable solution of the inverse problem (6.4.14).

6.5 Inverse problems with singular overdetermination: semilinear equations with constant operation in the principal part

When working in Banach spaces X and Y, we consider the inverse problem of determining a pair of the functions $u \in C^1([0, T]; X)$ and $p \in C([0, T]; Y)$ from the system of relations

$$(6.5.1) u'(t) = A u(t) + f(t, u(t), p(t)), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(6.5.2) u(0) = u_0,$$

(6.5.3)
$$B u(t) = \psi(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

under the following restrictions: an operator A with a dense domain is closed and linear in the space X and generates a strongly continuous semigroup V(t);

$$f: [0, T] \times X \times Y \mapsto X;$$

a linear operator B is such that the domain $\mathcal{D}(B)$ belongs to the space X and the range belongs to the space Y and, in addition, there is a nonnegative integer m, for which the inclusion

$$(6.5.4) B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{D}(A^m); Y)$$

occurs, and the function f is treated as a sum

(6.5.5)
$$f(t, u, p) = f_1(t, u) + f_2(t, u, p).$$

Retaining the notations of Section 6.3

$$\begin{split} S_X(a,R) &= \left\{ \left. x \in X \colon \left\| \left. x - a \right\|_X < R \right\} \right\}, \\ S_X(a,R,T) &= \left\{ \left. (t,x) \colon \left. 0 \le t \le T, \right. x \in S_X(a,R) \right\} \right\}, \end{split}$$

accepting the inclusions $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(BA)$ and $f_1(0, u_0) \in \mathcal{D}(B)$ and allowing the function ψ to be differentiable at zero, we define the element

(6.5.6)
$$z_0 = \psi'(0) - B A u_0 - B f_1(0, u_0)$$

and, after this, impose the following conditions:

- (A) the equation $B f_2(0, u_0, p) = z_0$ with respect to p has a unique solution $p_0 \in Y$;
- (B) there is a mapping

$$f_3: [0, T] \times Y \times Y \mapsto Y$$

such that

$$B f_2(t, u, p) = f_3(t, B u, p);$$

(C) there is a number R > 0 such that for any $t \in [0, T]$ the mapping $z = f_3(t, \psi(t), p)$

has in the ball $S_{V}(p_{0}, R)$ the inverse

(6.5.7)
$$p = \Phi(t, z);$$

(D) there is a number R > 0 such that for k = 0, 1, m+1 both functions

$$A^k f_1(t, A^{-k} u)$$

and

$$A^k f_2(t, A^{-k} u, p)$$

are continuous with respect to (t, u, p) and satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to (u, p) on the manifold

$$S_{X \times Y}\left((A^k u_0, p_0), R, T\right);$$

(E) there is a value R > 0 such that the mapping Φ specified by (6.5.7) is continuous with respect to (t, z) and satisfies the Lipschitz condition in z on the manifold $S_{Y}(z_0, R, T)$.

6. Abstract Problems for First Order Equations

These conditions are similar to those imposed in Section 6.3 for the problem with smoothing overdetermination. Having involved these conditions one can state a local unique solvability of the inverse problem with **singular overdetermination**. Before proceeding to careful analysis, we begin by establishing some properties of a solution of the related direct problem.

Lemma 6.5.1 Let the linear operator A whose domain is dense in the Banach space X generate a strongly continuous semigroup V(t) and the inclusions

$$u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A), \qquad \lambda \in \rho(A)$$

occur. If there exists a number R > 0 such that both functions f(t, u) and $g(t, u) = (A - \lambda I) f(t, (A - \lambda I)^{-1} u)$ are continuous with respect to (t, u) and satisfy the Lipschitz condition in u on the manifold $S_X(a, R, T)$, then the Cauchy problem

(6.5.8)
$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = A u(t) + f(t, u(t)), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ u(0) = u_0, \end{cases}$$

in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$

is equivalent to the integral equation

(6.5.9)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s, u(s)) ds, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$
.

Proof Let u be a solution of the Cauchy problem at hand. Since f(t, u) and u(t) are continuous, the function

(6.5.10)
$$F(t) = f(t, u(t))$$

is continuous on the segment [0, T] in the space X. Then so is the function

(6.5.11)
$$w(t) = (A - \lambda I) u(t).$$

This owes a debt to a proper choice of the class of solvability of problem (6.5.8). On the other hand, this property remains valid on the same segment and in the same space for the function

$$A F(t) = (A - \lambda I) f(t, (A - \lambda I)^{-1} w(t)) + \lambda f(t, u(t))$$
$$= g(t, w(t)) + \lambda f(t, u(t)).$$

From the theory of semigroups it is clear that the inclusions

$$F(t), A F(t) \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$$

and $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ ensure that the Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = A u(t) + F(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ u(0) = u_0, \end{cases}$$

is solved by the function

$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) F(s) \, ds \, ,$$

which implies (6.5.9) and the inclusion $u \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ as far as the function F(t) = f(t, u(t)) is concerned (see Fattorini (1983) and Mizohata (1977)).

To prove the converse, a function $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ is adopted as a solution of the integral equation (6.5.9). By introducing the function Fwith the aid of (6.5.10) we obtain

(6.5.12)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) \dot{F(s)} \, ds$$

Since $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$, the function w given by formula (6.5.11) is continuous on the segment [0, T] in the space X. Then so is either of the functions F(t) and

$$A F(t) = g(t, w(t)) + \lambda f(t, u(t)).$$

Due to the inclusion $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ the function u(t) specified by (6.5.12) is continuously differentiable, so that

(6.5.13)
$$u'(t) = A u(t) + F(t)$$

for all $t \in [0, T]$. Equality (6.5.10) implies that the function u solves equation (6.5.8). The continuity of the derivative of the function follows from (6.5.13), while the equality $u(0) = u_0$ is an immediate implication of (6.5.12) with t = 0. This proves the assertion of the lemma.

Lemma 6.5.2 If all the conditions of Lemma 6.5.1 hold and

$$w_0 = (A - \lambda I) u_0,$$

then a function

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$

is a solution of the Cauchy problem (6.5.8) if and only if the pair of the functions u(t) and

$$w(t) = (A - \lambda I) u(t)$$

is a continuous solution of the system of integral equations

(6.5.14)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s, u(s)) ds, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

(6.5.15)
$$w(t) = V(t) w_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) g(s, w(s)) ds, \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Proof Let u be a solution of the Cauchy problem (6.5.8) in the indicated class of functions. Due to Lemma 6.5.1 the function u thus obtained satisfies equation (6.5.14), while the function w defined by (6.5.11) is continuous. By minor manipulations with applying the operator $A - \lambda I$ to both sides of equation (6.5.14) we derive equation (6.5.15).

To prove the converse, it is supposed that a pair of the functions. $u, w \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ satisfies the system (6.5.14)-(6.5.15). Then the inclusion

$$\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$

is established for the function

$$\tilde{u}(t) = \left(A - \lambda I\right)^{-1} w(t) \,.$$

Since $u_0 = (A - \lambda I)^{-1} w_0$ and for any $\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ the relationship

$$f(t,\tilde{u}) = (A - \lambda I)^{-1} g(t, (A - \lambda I) \tilde{u})$$

takes place, the outcome of applying the operator $(A - \lambda I)^{-1}$ to both sides of (6.5.15) is

$$\tilde{u}(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s, \tilde{u}(s)) ds, \qquad 0 \le t \le T$$

This serves to motivate that the functions u and \tilde{u} give solutions to equation (6.5.14) with Lipschitz nonlinearity. From the theory of Volterra integral equations it follows that any solution of this equation in the class of continuous functions is unique on the whole segment of its existence, it being understood that for all values $t \in [0, T]$

$$u(t) = \tilde{u}(t) ,$$

implying that

$$w(t) = \left(A - \lambda I\right) u(t) \,.$$

In that case the inclusion $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ occurs, thereby justifying by Lemma 6.5.1 that the function u is a solution of the Cauchy problem (6.5.8) and completing the proof of the lemma.

Theorem 6.5.1 If all the conditions of Lemma 6.5.1 hold, then there is a value $T_1 > 0$ such that problem (6.5.8) has a solution

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T_1]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0,T_1]; \mathcal{D}(A)),$$

which is unique on the whole segment of its existence.

Proof The main idea behind proof is connected with joint use of Theorem 6.5.1 and Lemmas 6.5.1-6.5.2, making it possible to reduce the Cauchy problem (6.5.8) to the system of the integral equations (6.5.14)-(6.5.15) in the class of continuous functions. We note in passing that this system breaks down into two separate equations each of which appears to be a Volterra equation of the second kind with a strongly continuous operator kernel with Lipshitz nonlinearity. Because of this fact, these will be solvable if T > 0 is small enough. If this happens, the solution so constructed will be unique on the whole segment of its uniqueness, whence the assertion of Theorem 6.5.1 follows immediately.

Theorem 6.5.2 If under the conditions of Lemma 6.5.1 there is a nonnegative integer m such that the inclusion $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{m+1})$ occurs and the function

$$h(t, u) = \left(A - \lambda I\right)^{m+1} f\left(t, (A - \lambda I)^{-m-1} u\right)$$

is continuous in (t, u) and satisfies on the manifold $S_X(u_0, R, T)$ the Lipschitz condition in u for some number R > 0. Then there is a value $T_1 > 0$ such that a solution u of the Cauchy problem (6.5.8) belongs to the class of functions

$$\mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T_{1}];\mathcal{D}(A^{m}))\cap\mathcal{C}([0,T_{1}];\mathcal{D}(A^{m+1}))$$

Proof By Theorem 6.5.1 the Cauchy problem (6.5.8) is solvable if the value T > 0 is small enough. Moreover, by Lemma 6.5.1 this solution satisfies the integral equation (6.5.9). By merely setting $v_0 = A^{m+1} u_0$ we can write down the integral equation

(6.5.16)
$$v(t) = V(t) v_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) h(s,v(s)) ds.$$

With the initial assumptions in view, equation (6.5.16) is of the Volterra type with Lipschitz nonlinearity and can be resolved in the class of functions C([0, T]; X) for a sufficiently small value T > 0. A good look at the proof of Theorem 6.5.1 is recommended for further careful analysis. Plain calculations show that the function

$$\tilde{u}(t) = \left(A - \lambda I\right)^{-m-1} v(t)$$

is a continuous solution to equation (6.5.9). In just the same way as in the proof of Theorem 6.5.1 it is not difficult to demonstrate that this solution is unique. Therefore, $\tilde{u}(t) = u(t)$, yielding the relationship

$$u(t) = (A - \lambda I)^{-m-1} v(t)$$

with the members $v \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ and $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A^{m+1}))$.

In what follows we agree to consider

$$z_0 = (A - \lambda I)^m u_0,$$

$$F(t) = (A - \lambda I)^m f(t, u(t)),$$

$$z(t) = (A - \lambda I)^m u(t).$$

Applying the operator $(A - \lambda I)^m$ to equation (6.5.9) yields that the function z(t) is subject to the following relation:

(6.5.17)
$$z(t) = V(t) z_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) F(s) ds, \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

By assumption, the inclusion $z_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ occurs. The relations

$$F(t) = (A - \lambda I)^{-1} h(t, (A - \lambda I)^{m+1} u(t)),$$

$$A F(t) = [(A - \lambda I) + \lambda I] F(t)$$

$$= h(t, (A - \lambda I)^{m+1} u(t)) + \lambda F(t)$$

provide support for the view that the functions F(t) and AF(t) are continuous on the segment [0, T] in the space X. From the theory of semigroups it follows that the function z(t) is continuously differentiable in the space X and satisfies the differential equation

(6.5.18)
$$z'(t) = A z(t) + F(t)$$
.

The continuous differentiability of the function z(t) serves as a basis for the inclusion $u \in C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A^m))$, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

Remark By applying the operator $(A - \lambda I)^m$ to equation (6.5.8) we derive the equation

(6.5.19)
$$(A - \lambda I)^m u'(t) = A z(t) + F(t).$$

Comparison of (6.5.18) and (6.5.19) shows that premises of Theorem 6.5.2 assure us of the validity of the relation

(6.5.20)
$$[(A - \lambda I)^m u(t)]' = (A - \lambda I)^m u'(t).$$

Let us come back to the inverse problem (6.5.1)-(6.5.3). When comparing conditions (A)-(E) of the present section with those of Section 6.3, some difference is recognized in connection with condition (D) in which the operator A is required to be invertible. It should be noted that this restriction is not essential in subsequent studies of the inverse problem (6.5.1)-(6.5.3). Indeed, upon substituting

(6.5.21)
$$u(t) = e^{\lambda t} v(t)$$

there arises for the new functions v and p the same inverse problem as we obtained for the function u. This amounts to studying the system of relations

(6.5.22)
$$\begin{cases} v'(t) = A_{\lambda} v(t) + f_{\lambda} (t, v(t), p(t)), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ v(0) = v_0, \\ B v(t) = \psi_{\lambda}(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \end{cases}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} A_{\lambda} &= A - \lambda I , \\ f_{\lambda}(t, v, p) &= e^{-\lambda t} f(t, e^{\lambda t} v, p) , \\ v_{0} &= u_{0} , \\ \psi_{\lambda}(t) &= e^{-\lambda t} \psi(t) . \end{aligned}$$

By merely choosing $\lambda \in \rho(A)$ we get the inverse problem (6.5.22) in which the operator A_{λ} involved is invertible. If the operator A generates a strongly continuous semigroup V(t), then the operator A_{λ} is a generator of the strongly continuous semigroup $V_{\lambda}(t) = e^{-\lambda t} V(t)$. Substitution (6.5.21) permits us to restate all the conditions (A)-(E) as requested.

Theorem 6.5.3 Let the closed linear operator A with a dense domain generate a strongly continuous semigroup in the Banach space X, the operator B be in line with (6.5.4), conditions (A)-(E) and (6.5.5) hold, $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{m+1})$, $\psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y)$ and the compatibility condition $B u_0 = \psi(0)$ occur. Then there is a number $T_1 > 0$ such that the inverse problem (6.5.1)-(6.5.3) has a solution

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T_1]; \mathcal{D}(A^m)) \cap \mathcal{C}([0,T_1]; \mathcal{D}(A^{m+1})), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0,T_1]; Y)$$

and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions.

Proof Lemma 6.5.1 implies that for any continuous in Y function p the Cauchy problem (6.5.1)–(6.5.2) is equivalent in the class of functions $u \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ to the integral equation for $0 \leq t \leq T$

(6.5.23)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds,$$

where V(t) is a semigroup generated by the operator A. It is worth noting here that the premises of Theorem 6.5.2 for $\lambda = 0$ are ensured by condition (D). Thus, the function $v(t) = A^{m+1} u(t)$ is continuous and satisfies the equation

(6.5.24)
$$v(t) = V(t) v_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) h(s, v(s), p(s)) ds,$$

422

where

$$v_0 = A^{m+1} u_0, \qquad h(t, v, p) = A^{m+1} f(t, A^{-m-1}v, p)$$

and the argument t is small enough. The reader may scrutinize the development of equation (6.5.16) in the proof of Theorem 6.5.2. On account of the preceding remark,

$$\left[A^m u(t)\right]' = A^m u'(t).$$

Also, we thus have

(Bu(t))' = Bu'(t)

if the operator B satisfies condition (6.5.4) and u(t) is a solution of problem (6.5.1)-(6.5.2). Applying the operator B to (6.5.1) yields the relation

$$\psi'(t) = B A u(t) + B f(t, u(t), p(t)),$$

which is equivalent to (6.5.3) on the strength of the compatibility condition $B u_0 = \psi(0)$. By virtue of conditions (6.5.5), (B) and (C) the preceding can be rewritten as

(6.5.25)
$$p(t) = \Phi(t, \psi'(t) - BAu(t) - Bf_1(t, u(t))).$$

Let us calculate Au(t) with the aid of (6.5.23). For later use, it will be sensible to introduce the notations

$$h_{1}(t, v) = A^{m+1} f_{1}(t, A^{-m-1}v),$$

$$g_{0}(t) = \psi'(t) - B V(t) A u_{0} - B A^{-m-1} h_{1}(t, V(t) v_{0}),$$

$$g_{1}(t, v) = -B A^{-m-1} (h_{1}(t, v) - h_{1}(t, V(t) v_{0})),$$

$$K(t, s) = -B V(t - s) A^{-m}.$$

Let v(t) be a solution to equation (6.5.24). With the relation

$$A f(s, u(s), p(s)) = A^{-m} h(s, v(s), p(s))$$

in view, we may attempt equality (6.5.25) in the form

(6.5.26)
$$p(t) = \Phi(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, v(t))) + \int_0^t K(t, s) h(s, v(s), p(s)) ds$$

From the conditions of the theorem it follows immediately that the function $g_0 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y)$, the function $g_1(t, v)$ is continuous with respect to (t, v) and satisfies on the manifold $S_X(v_0, R, T)$ the Lipschitz condition in v. What is more, the kernel K(t, s) is strongly continuous for $0 \le s \le t \le T$. When relations (6.5.24) and (6.5.26) are put together, the outcome of this is a system of the Volterra integro-differential equations related to the functions $v(t) = A^{m+1} u(t)$ and p(t). The converse is certainly true: if the pair of the functions v(t) and p(t) is a solution of the system concerned, then the functions $u(t) = A^{-m-1}v(t)$ and p(t) give a solution of the inverse problem in the indicated class of functions.

Let us show that the system of equations (6.5.24), (6.5.26) has a unique continuous solution by relating T > 0 to be small enough. As a first step towards the proof, we replace equation (6.5.26) by the following one:

(6.5.27)
$$p(t) = \Phi(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, v_1(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s) h(s, v(s), p(s)) ds$$

where

(6.5.28)
$$v_1(t) = V(t) v_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) h(s, v(s), p(s)) ds$$

It is clear that the system of equations (6.5.24), (6.5.26) is equavalent to the system (6.5.24), (6.5.27).

At the next stage we introduce in the metric space

 $Z = \mathcal{C}([0, T]; S_{X}(v_{0}, R) \times S_{Y}(p_{0}, R))$

the operator

$$G: (v, p) \mapsto (v_1, p_1),$$

where v_1 is defined by (6.5.28) and p_1 is equal to the right-hand side of (6.5.27). The assertion we must prove is that the operator G has a unique fixed point in the space Z if T > 0 is sufficiently small.

From the Lipschitz condition related to the functions Φ and h_1 it follows that

- (6.5.29) $||\Phi(t,v) \Phi(t,g_0(t))|| \le L ||v g_0(t)||,$
- $(6.5.30) || g_1(t, v_1(t)) || \le L || v_1(t) V(t) v_0 ||.$

6.5. Semilinear equations with constant operation

With respect to the constant

$$M = \max_{0 \le s \le t \le T} \left\{ L^2 \| V(t-s) \|, L \| K(t,s) \|, \| V(t-s) \| \right\}$$

we deduce from (6.5.24), (6.5.27) and (6.5.29)-(6.5.30) the estimates

(6.5.31)
$$||v_1(t) - V(t)v_0|| \le M \int_0^t ||h(s, v(s), p(s))|| ds,$$

(6.5.32)
$$|| p_1(t) - \Phi(t, g_0(t)) || \le M \int_0^t || h(s, v(s), p(s)) || ds.$$

Since

$$g_0(0) = \psi'(0) - B A u_0 - B f_1(0, u_0) = z_0,$$

where the element z_0 is defined by (6.5.6), conditions (A)-(C) imply that $\Phi(0, g_0(0)) = p_0$. Moreover,

$$V(0) v_0 = v_0$$

and, in view of this, condition (D) ensures that the function h(t, v, p) becomes bounded on the manifold

$$S_{\boldsymbol{X} \times \boldsymbol{Y}}((v_0, p_0), R, T)$$
.

This property in combination with estimates (6.5.31)-(6.5.32) assures that the operator G maps the space Z onto itself if T > 0 is small enough.

Let $(v_{11}, p_{11}) = G(v_1, p_1)$ and $(v_{22}, p_{22}) = G(v_2, p_2)$. The symbol L(h) is used for the Lipschitz constant of the function h on the manifold

$$S_{X \times Y}((v_0, p_0), R, T)$$
.

With this constant introduced, it is straightforward to verify that (6.5.24) and (6.5.27) together imply that

$$(6.5.33) || v_{22}(t) - v_{11}(t) || \leq M L(h) T \rho((v_2, p_2), (v_1, p_1)),$$

$$(6.5.34) || p_{22}(t) - p_{11}(t) || \le M L(h) T \rho((v_2, p_2), (v_1, p_1))$$

where ρ refers to a metric on the space Z. Due to estimates (6.5.33)-(6.5.34) the operator G is a contraction operator on the space Z if the value T > 0 is sufficiently small.

The assertion of the theorem is now a plain implication of the contraction mapping principle and is completely proved. \blacksquare

Consider now the case of a linear equation under the approved decomposition of the function f:

$$(6.5.35) f(t, u, p) = L_1(t) u + L_2(t) p + f(t),$$

where for each fixed value $t \in [0, T]$ the inclusions $L_1(t) \in \mathcal{L}(X), L_2(t) \in \mathcal{L}(Y; X)$ and $f(t) \in X$ occur. In this case a unique solvability of the inverse problem concerned is obtained on the whole segment [0, T].

Theorem 6.5.4 Let the closed linear operator A with a dense domain generate a strongly continuous semigroup in the Banach space X, the operator B satisfy condition (6.5.4), the inclusions $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{m+1})$ and $\psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y)$ and the compatibility condition $Bu_0 = \psi(0)$ hold. Let decomposition (6.5.35) take place and the operator functions be such that

$$L_1(t), \ A \ L_1(t) \ A^{-1}, \ A^{m+1} \ L_1(t) \ A^{-m-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \ \mathcal{L}(X)),$$

 $A^{m+1} \ L_2(t) \ A^{-m-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \ \mathcal{L}(Y; X)).$

If, in addition, the function $A^{m+1} f(t) \in C([0, T]; X)$, the operator $BL_2(t)$ is invertible for each $t \in [0, T]$ and

$$(BL_2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y)),$$

then the inverse problem (6.5.1)-(6.5.2) has a solution

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A^m)) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A^{m+1})), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y)$$

and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions.

Proof The initial assumptions assure us of the validity of conditions (A)–(E) with the ingredients

$$f_{1}(t, u) = L_{1}(t) u + f(t) ,$$

$$f_{2}(t, u, p) = L_{1}(t) p ,$$

$$f_{3}(t, z, p) = B L_{2}(t) p ,$$

$$\Phi(t, z) = (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} z .$$

All this enables us to involve in the further development Theorem 6.5.3 and reduce the inverse problem at hand to the system of the integral equations

6.5. Semilinear equations with constant operation

(6.5.24), (6.5.26) taking in the framework of Theorem 6.5.4 the form

(6.5.36)
$$v(t) = v_{1}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} K_{1}(t, s) v(s) ds + \int_{0}^{t} L_{1}(t, s) p(s) ds,$$

(6.5.37)
$$p(t) = p_{1}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} K_{2}(t, s) v(s) ds + \int_{0}^{t} L_{2}(t, s) p(s) ds,$$

where

$$v_{1}(t) = V(t) A^{m+1} u_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) A^{m+1} f(s) ds,$$

$$p_{1}(t) = (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} \left(\psi'(t) - B f(t) - B V(t) A u_{0} - B L_{1}(t) V(t) u_{0} - B \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) A f(s) ds - B \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) A f(s) ds - B L_{1}(t) \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) f(s) ds \right),$$

$$K_{1}(t,s) = V(t-s) A^{m+1} L_{1}(s) A^{-m-1},$$

$$L_{1}(t,s) = V(t-s) A^{m+1} L_{2}(s),$$

$$K_{2}(t,s) = - (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} B \left(V(t-s) A L_{1}(s) A^{-m-1} \right),$$

$$\times A^{-m-1} + L_{1}(t) V(t-s) L_{1}(s) A^{-m-1} \right),$$

6. Abstract Problems for First Order Equations

$$L_{2}(t,s) = -(B L_{2}(t))^{-1} B(V(t-s) A L_{2}(s) + L_{1}(t) V(t-s) L_{2}(s)).$$

Note that the continuity of the function $v_1(t)$ and the strong continuity of the kernels $K_1(t,s)$ and $L_1(t,s)$ immediately follow from the conditions of the theorem. In turn, the continuity of the function $p_1(t)$ is an immediate implication of the set of relations

$$B f(t) = (B A^{-m}) A^{-1} (A^{m+1} f(t)),$$

$$B V(t) A u_0 = (B A^{-m}) V(t) (A^{m+1} u_0),$$

$$B L_1(t) V(t) u_0 = (B A^{-m}) A^{-1} (A^{m+1} L_1(t))$$

$$\times A^{-m-1} V(t) (A^{m+1} u_0),$$

$$B V(t-s) A f(s) = (B A^{-m}) V(t-s) (A^{m+1} f(s)),$$

$$B L_1(t) V(t-s) f(s) = (B A^{-m}) A^{-1} (A^{m+1} L_1(t) A^{-m-1})$$

$$\times V(t-s) (A^{m+1} f(s)).$$

Likewise, the strong continuity of the kernels $K_2(t, s)$ and $L_2(t, s)$ is established from the set of representations

$$B V(t-s) A L_{1}(s) A^{-m-1} = (B A^{-m}) V(t-s) (A^{m+1} L_{1}(s) A^{-m-1}),$$

$$B L_{1}(t) V(t-s) L_{1}(s) A^{-m-1} = (B A^{-m}) A^{-1} (A^{m+1} L_{1}(t) A^{-m-1}) \times V(t-s) (A^{m+1} L_{1}(s) A^{-m-1}),$$

$$B V(t-s) A L_{2}(s) = (B A^{-m}) V(t-s) (A^{m+1} L_{2}(s)),$$

$$B L_{1}(t) V(t-s) L_{2}(s) = (B A^{-m}) A^{-1} (A^{m+1} L_{1}(t) A^{-m-1}) \times V(t-s) (A^{m+1} L_{2}(s)).$$

Therefore, the system (6.5.36)-(6.5.37) constitutes what is called a linear system of the Volterra integral equations of the second kind with continuous nonhomogeneous terms and strongly continuous kernels. As one might expect, this system has a solution on the whole segment and, moreover,

428

this solution is unique in the class of continuous functions (see Section 5.1). This provides reason enough to conclude that the system (6.5.24), (6.5.26) has a unique continuous solution on the whole segment [0, T] and thereby complete the proof of the theorem.

Let us highlight a particular case of Theorem 6.5.4 with m = 0 in which condition (6.5.4) admits an alternative form

$$(6.5.38) B \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y).$$

This type of situation is covered by the following assertion.

Corollary 6.5.1 Let the closed linear operator A with a dense domain generate a strongly continuous semigroup in the Banach space X, the operator B be in line with condition (6.5.38) and the relations $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$,

$$\psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y), \qquad B u_0 = \psi(0)$$

hold. When the decomposition

$$f(t, u, p) = L_1(t) u + L_2(t) p + f(t)$$

is accepted with

$$L_{1}, A L_{1} A^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X)),$$
$$A L_{2} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X)),$$
$$A f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X),$$

the operator $BL_2(t)$ is invertible for each $t \in [0, T]$ and

$$(BL_2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{L}(Y)),$$

the inverse problem (6.5.1)–(6.5.3) has a solution

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(A)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];Y)$$

and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions.

In trying to apply the results obtained to partial differential equations and, in particular, to the equation of neutron transport some difficulties do arise in verifying the premises of Theorem 6.5.4 or Corollary 6.5.1. We quote below other conditions of solvability of the inverse problem (6.5.1)-(6.5.3) relating to the linear case (6.5.35) and condition (6.5.38). **Theorem 6.5.5** Let the closed linear operator A with a dense domain generate a strongly continuous semigroup in the Banach space X, the operator B satisfy condition (6.5.38), the inclusions $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $\psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y)$ occur and the compatibility condition $Bu_0 = \psi(0)$ hold. If the decomposition

$$f(t, u, p) = L_1(t) u + L_2(t) p + f(t)$$

takes place with $L_1 \in C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X))$, L_2 , $A L_2 \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X))$ and the function $f = f_1 + f_2$, where

 $f_1 \in \mathcal{C}^1\big([0, T]; X\big)$

and

$$f_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$

the operator $B L_2(t)$ is invertible for each $t \in [0, T]$ and

$$(BL_2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y)),$$

then the inverse problem (6.5.1)–(6.5.3) has a solution

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T]; Y)$$

and this solution is unique in the indicated class of functions.

Proof Being concerned with the functions $u \in C^1([0, T]; X)$ and $p \in C([0, T]; Y)$, we operate in the sequel with the new functions

$$F_1(t) = L_1(t) u(t), \qquad F_2(t) = L_2(t) p(t).$$

From the conditions of the theorem it seems clear that the inclusions

$$F_1 \in C^1([0, T]; X), \qquad F_2, A F_2 \in C([0, T]; X)$$

occur, due to which relations (6.5.1)-(6.5.2) are equivalent to

(6.5.39)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s) \, ds + \int_0^t V(t-s) F_1(s) \, ds + \int_0^t V(t-s) F_2(s) \, ds .$$

In what follows we deal with a new function

$$\tilde{u}_0(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s) \, ds$$

In the theory of semigroups the inclusion

$$\tilde{u}_0(t) \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$

was established for any element $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and any function $f = f_1 + f_2$ with the members $f_1 \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X)$ and $f_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$. Likewise, using the well-known formulae of this theory we deduce the relationships

(6.5.40)
$$A \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) F_{1}(s) ds$$

= $\int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) F_{1}'(s) ds + V(t) F_{1}(0) - F_{1}(t)$,

(6.5.41)
$$A \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) F_{2}(s) ds$$

= $\int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) A F_{2}(s) ds$.

In the derivation of the governing equation for the function p the operator B applies to equation (6.5.1) with further reference to relation (6.5.35). The outcome of this is

$$(6.5.42) \qquad \psi'(t) = B A u(t) + B L_1(t) u(t) + B L_2(t) p(t) + B f(t) .$$

Calculating the values Au(t) and $BL_1(t)u(t)$ with the aid of relations (6.5.39)-(6.5.41), substituting the resulting expressions into (6.5.42) and resolving the relevant equations with respect to the function p(t), we find

that

$$(6.5.43) p(t) = (B L_2(t))^{-1} \left[\psi'(t) - B A \tilde{u}_0(t) - B \left(\int_0^t V(t-s) F_1'(s) ds + V(t) F_1(0) - F_1(t) \right) - B \int_0^t V(t-s) A F_2(s) ds - B L_1(t) \tilde{u}_0(t) - B L_1(t) \int_0^t V(t-s) F_1(s) ds - B L_1(t) \int_0^t V(t-s) F_2(s) ds - B f(t) \right].$$

The next step is to insert in (6.5.43) the explicit formulae, whose use permits us to express the functions F_1 and F_2 via the functions u and p. After that, the nonintegral term

$$-F_1(t) = -L_1(t) u(t)$$

should be excluded from further consideration. This can be done using formula (6.5.39). As a final result we get

(6.5.44)
$$p(t) = \tilde{p}_0(t) + \int_0^t K(t,s) u(s) \, ds + \int_0^t L(t,s) u'(s) \, ds + \int_0^t M(t,s) p(s) \, ds,$$

where

.

$$\tilde{p}_{0}(t) = (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} [\psi'(t) - B A \tilde{u}_{0}(t) \\ - B V(t) L_{1}(0) u_{0} - B f(t)],$$

$$K(t,s) = - (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} B V(t-s) L'_{1}(s),$$

$$L(t,s) = - (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} B V(t-s) L_{1}(s),$$

$$M(t,s) = - (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} B V(t-s) A L_{2}(s)$$

As equation (6.5.44) contains a derivative of the function u, there is a need for enlarging the system (6.5.39), (6.5.44) by an equation for u', which is obtained by formal differentiating of both sides of (6.5.39). Using the general rules of differentiating

$$\left(\int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) F_{1}(s) ds\right)' = \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) F_{1}'(s) ds + V(t) F_{1}(0)$$
$$\left(\int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) F_{2}(s) ds\right)' = \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) A F_{2}(s) ds + F_{2}(t)$$

and excluding the nonintegral term $F_2(t) = L_2(t) p(t)$ with the aid of (6.5.44), we arrive at

(6.5.45)
$$u'(t) = \tilde{w}_0(t) + \int_0^t K(t,s) u(s) \, ds + \int_0^t L_1(t,s) u'(s) \, ds + \int_0^t M_1(t,s) p(s) \, ds,$$

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{w}_0(t) &= \tilde{u}'_0(t) + V(t) L_1(0) u_0 + L_2(t) \tilde{p}_0(t) ,\\ K_1(t,s) &= V(t-s) L'_1(s) + L_2(t) K(t,s) ,\\ L_1(t,s) &= V(t-s) L_1(s) + L_2(t) L(t,s) ,\\ M_1(t,s) &= V(t-s) A L_2(s) + L_2(t) M(t,s) . \end{split}$$

In what follows the object of investigation is the system of equations

which constitute what is called a system of the Volterra integral equations of the second kind with continous nonhomogeneous terms and strongly continuous kernels. This system has a unique continuous solution being a uniform limit of the successive approximations

$$u_{n+1}(t) = \tilde{u}_0(t) + \int_0^t V(t-s) L_1(s) u_n(s) ds$$

+ $\int_0^t V(t-s) L_2(s) p_n(s) ds$,
 $p_{n+1}(t) = \tilde{p}_0(t) + \int_0^t K(t,s) u_n(s) ds$
+ $\int_0^t L(t,s) w_n(s) ds$
+ $\int_0^t M(t,s) p_n(s) ds$,
 $w_{n+1}(t) = \tilde{w}_0(t) + \int_0^t K_1(t,s) u_n(s) ds$
+ $\int_0^t L_1(t,s) w_n(s) ds$
+ $\int_0^t M_1(t,s) p_n(s) ds$.

By plain calculations we are led to

(6.5.49)

$$u'_{n+1}(t) = A u_{n+1}(t) + \left(\tilde{u}'_0(t) - A \tilde{u}_0(t) \right) + L_1(t) u_n(t) + L_2(t) p_n(t) ,$$

(6.5.50)

$$w_{n+1}(t) = A u_{n+1}(t) + \left(\tilde{u}'_0(t) - A \tilde{u}_0(t) \right)$$

+ $L_1(t) u_n(t) + L_2(t) p_{n+1}(t)$
+ $\int_0^t V(t-s) L_1(s) (w_n(s) - u'_n(s)) ds$

Comparison of (6.5.49) and (6.5.50) gives

$$(6.5.51) \quad w_{n+1}(t) - u'_{n+1}(t) = L_2(t) \left(p_{n+1}(t) - p_n(t) \right) \\ + \int_0^t V(t-s) L_1(s) \left(w_n(s) - u'_n(s) \right) \, ds$$

The sequence $p_n(t)$ converges to the function p(t) as $n \to \infty$ uniformly over the segment [0, T], so that the sequence

$$c_n = \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left\| L_2(t) \left(p_{n+1}(t) - p_n(t) \right) \right\| \longrightarrow \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty \,.$$

In conformity with (6.5.51) the norm of the difference

$$r_n(t) = w_n(t) - u'_n(t)$$

can be estimated as follows:

(6.5.52)
$$||r_{n+1}(t)|| \leq c_n + M \int_0^t ||r_n(s)|| ds$$
,

where M is a positive constant. We claim that the sequence of functions $z_n(t)$ converges uniformly to zero as $n \to \infty$. Indeed, estimate (6.5.52) being iterated yields the inequality

(6.5.53)
$$||r_{k+m}(t)|| \leq \sum_{s=0}^{m-1} c_{k+m-1-s} \frac{(M t)^s}{s!} + \frac{(M t)^m}{m!} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} ||r_k(t)||$$

436

Let $\varepsilon > 0$. We choose the subscript k_0 in such a way that for all $k \ge k_0$ the inequality

$$|c_k| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2} e^{-MT}$$

holds. Then

(6.5.54)
$$\left| \sum_{s=0}^{m-1} c_{k+m-1-s} \frac{(Mt)^s}{s!} \right| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2} e^{-MT} \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \frac{(MT)^s}{s!} = \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$$

for all $k \ge k_0$ and $m \ge 1$. Holding a number m_0 fixed so that

(6.5.55)
$$\frac{(MT)^m}{m!} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} ||r_{k_0}(t)|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$$

for all $m > m_0$, we provide $n = k_0 + m$, $m > m_0$, as long as $n > k_0 + m_0$. For this reason the bound

$$||r_n(t)|| = ||r_{k_0+m}(t)|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} = \varepsilon$$

is obtained for all values $t \in [0, T]$ on the basis of (6.5.53)-(6.5.55). But this means that the sequence of functions $r_n(t)$ converges to zero uniformly over the segment [0, T].

To complete the proof, we observe that the sequence of functions

$$u_n'(t) = w_n(t) - r_n(t)$$

converges uniformly to w(t) as $n \to \infty$, since the sequence $w_n(t)$ converges to the same function w(t) and the sequence $r_n(t)$ converges uniformly to zero in both cases as $n \to \infty$. For this reason the function u(t) is differentiable, u'(t) = w(t) and, in particular, $u \in C^1([0, T]; X)$. By inserting

$$L_1(s) u(s) = F_1(s),$$
 $L_2(s) p(s) = F_2(s)$

and involving the explicit formula for $\tilde{u}_0(t)$, equation (6.5.46) is transformed into (6.5.39). Since the function u is continuously differentiable, we thus have

$$F_1 \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X); \qquad F_2, A F_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X).$$

With these inclusions in view, relation (6.5.39) yields (6.5.1)-(6.5.2). Upon substituting u' in place of w involved in (6.5.47) we come to (6.5.44). Arguing in reverse order we see that relation (6.5.44) is followed by (6.5.43), which is equivalent to (6.5.42) on account of (6.5.39). It is worth recalling here that formula (6.5.39) gives a solution of the Cauchy problem (6.5.1)-(6.5.2). Because of (6.5.1), relation (6.5.42) becomes equivalent to the equality

$$B u'(t) = \psi'(t) ,$$

which, in turn, is equivalent to

$$(B u(t))' = \psi'(t)$$

as far as the operator B is bounded. Further derivation of (6.5.3) is stipulated by the compatibility condition $B u_0 = \psi(0)$.

In accordance with what has been said, we conclude that if the functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(A)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];Y)$$

give a solution of the inverse problem (6.5.1)-(6.5.3), then the triple

$$(u, p, w = u')$$

is just a continuous solution of the system (6.5.46)-(6.5.48). Vice versa, if a triple of the functions

is a continuous solution of the system (6.5.46)-(6.5.48), then w = u' and the pair of the relevant functions (u, p) solves the inverse problem (6.5.1)-(6.5.3). As stated above, the system of the integral equations (6.5.46)-(6.5.48) has a continuous solution and this solution is unique. So, the desired assertion of Theorem 6.5.5 follows immediately.

6.6 Inverse problems with smoothing overdetermination: quasilinear parabolic equations

Unlike the case of constant coefficients, the complete and uniform theory for equations with variable operator coefficients is less advanced. In trying to overcome some difficulties involved different approaches to various wide classes of equations are offered. As in the theory of partial differential equations, in recent years the main objects of investigation were the parabolic and hyperbolic types of abstract equations. Various equations of parabolic type will be covered within the framework of the present section. Readers who are interested in obtaining more detailed knowledge of the general theory of abstract parabolic equations are advised to study

438

Amann (1986, 1987), Fattorini (1983), Henry (1981), Krein (1967), Mizohata (1977), Sobolevsky (1961), Yosida (1965).

Let X and Y be Banach spaces. In what follows by A we mean a mapping carrying out a subset from $[0, T] \times X$ into a class of closed linear operators in the space X. It is supposed, in addition, that

$$f: [0, T] \times X \times Y \mapsto X, \qquad B: [0, T] \mapsto \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$$

and

$$\psi \colon [0, T] \mapsto Y$$

In such a setting we are looking for a pair of the functions

 $u \in C^1([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T]; Y),$

satisfying the system of relations

$$(6.6.1) u'(t) = A(t, u(t)) u(t) + f(t, u(t), p(t)), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

 $(6.6.2) u(0) = u_0,$

(6.6.3)
$$B(t) u(t) = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

It is appropriate to mention here that the function u satisfies equation (6.6.1) in a pointwise manner, meaning, in particular, that for any $t \in [0, T]$ the element u(t) belongs to the domain of the operator A(t, u(t)). Relations (6.6.2) and (6.6.3) together imply a necessary condition for the compatibility of the input data

$$(6.6.4) B(0) u_0 = \psi(0) .$$

Equation (6.6.1) is required to be of **parabolic type**, that is,

(P1) the closed linear operator $A_0 = A(0, u_0)$ has the dense domain \mathcal{D} , the half-plane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq 0$ is contained in the resolvent set of the operator A_0 and for any λ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq 0$ the inequality holds:

$$\left\| \left(A_{0} - \lambda I \right)^{-1} \right\| \leq \frac{c}{1 + |\lambda|};$$

(P2) there are numbers $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ and R > 0 such that for all $u \in X$ with $||u|| \leq R$ and all $t \in [0, T]$ the linear closed operator $A(t, A_0^{-\alpha}u)$ has the domain \mathcal{D} and there exists a constant $\beta \in (0, 1)$ such that for all $t, s \in [0, T]$ and all $u, v \in X$ with $||u|| \leq R$ and $||v|| \leq R$ the estimate is valid:

6. Abstract Problems for First Order Equations

$$\left\| \left[A(t, A_0^{-\alpha} u) - A(s, A_0^{-\alpha} v) \right] A_0^{-1} \right\| \le c \left(|t - s|^{\beta} + ||u - v|| \right).$$

The reader can encounter in the modern literature different definitions of belonging to the parabolic class. This is due to the fact that different methods are much applicable in investigating the Cauchy problem (6.6.1)-(6.6.2). Common practice involves the definition of Sobolevsky (1961) and so we adopt this definition in subsequent studies.

We impose the extra restrictions on the input data of the inverse problem concerned:

(P3)
$$u_0 \in \mathcal{D}$$
, $||A_0^{\alpha} u_0|| < R$, $\psi \in \mathcal{C}^{1+\beta}([0, T]; Y)$.

The operator B is subject to the following conditions:

(P4) for all $t, s \in [0, T]$ and all $u, v \in X$ with $||u|| \le R$ and $||v|| \le R$ the operator $B(t) A(t, A_0^{-\alpha}u) A_0^{-\alpha}$ is bounded, the estimate

$$(6.6.5) \quad \left\| B(t) \left[A\left(t, A_0^{-\alpha} u\right) - A\left(s, A_0^{-\alpha} v\right) \right] A_0^{-\alpha} \right\| \\ \leq c \left(|t-s|^{\beta} + ||u-v|| \right)$$

is true and

$$(6.6.6) \qquad B \in \mathcal{C}^{1+\beta}([0,T];\mathcal{L}(X,Y)).$$

The boundedness of the operator

$$B(t) A(t, A^{-\alpha}u) A_0^{-\alpha}$$

ensures that the operator B possesses a certain smoothing effect similar to (6.3.1). However, the requirement imposed above is more weaker than the condition for the operator BA to be bounded.

As in Section 6.3 we may attempt the function f in the form

(6.6.7)
$$f(t, u, p) = f_1(t, u) + f_2(t, u, p) .$$

The conditions playing here the same role as conditions (A)-(E) in Section 6.3 are as follows:

(P5) for the element

$$(6.6.8) z_0 = \psi'(0) + B(0) A_0 u_0 - B(0) f_1(0, u_0) - B'(0) u_0$$

440

6.6. Quasilinear parabolic equations

the equation

$$B(0) f_2(0, u_0, p) = z_0$$

with respect to p has a unique solution $p_0 \in Y$;

(P6) there exists a mapping $f_3: [0, T] \times Y \times Y \mapsto Y$, for which

 $B(t) f_2(t, u, p) = f_3(t, B(t) u, p);$

(P7) for any fixed value $t \in [0, T]$ the mapping

 $z = f_3(t, \psi(t), p)$

has in the ball $S_{Y}(p_{0}, R)$ the inverse

- (6.6.9) $p = \Phi(t, z);$
 - (P8) for all $t, s \in [0, T]$ and all u, v with $||u|| \le R$ and $||v|| \le R$ and all $p, q \in Y$ with $||p p_0|| \le R$ and $||q p_0|| \le R$ the collection of inequalities hold:

$$\|f_1(t, A_0^{-\alpha} u) - f_1(s, A_0^{-\alpha} v)\| \le c (|t-s|^{\beta} + ||u-v||),$$

$$\|f_2(t, u, p) - f_2(s, v, q)\| \le c (|t-s|^{\beta} + ||u-v|| + ||p-q||);$$

(P9) there is a number $R_1 > 0$ such that for all $t, s \in [0, T]$ and all elements $z_1, z_2 \in Y$ with $||z_1 - z_0|| \le R_1$ and $||z_2 - z_0|| \le R_1$ the mapping (6.6.9) obeys the estimate

$$\|\Phi(t,z_1) - \Phi(s,z_2)\| \le c (|t-s|^{\beta} + ||z_1-z_2||).$$

Theorem 6.6.1 Let conditions (6.6.7), (P1)-(P9) and (6.6.4) hold and

$$\sigma < \min\{1-\alpha,\beta\}.$$

Then there exists a number $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.6.1)-(6.6.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T_{1}]; X), \qquad p \in C^{\sigma}([0, T_{1}]; Y).$$

Proof Involving the function p and holding the values $T_1 \in (0, T]$ and K > 0 fixed, we are interested in problem (6.6.1)-(6.6.3). We denote

by $Q = Q(T_1, K, \sigma)$ the set of all functions $v \in C([0, T_1]; X)$ for which $v(0) = A_0^{\alpha} u_0$ and

$$||v(t) - v(s)|| \le K |t - s|^{\sigma}, \quad \forall t, s \in [0, T_1].$$

The set so constructed is closed and bounded in the space $C([0, T_1]; X)$. The value T_1 is so chosen as to satisfy the inequality $||v(t)|| \leq R$ for all $v \in Q$ and all $t \in [0, T_1]$. This is certainly true if

$$T_1 < ((R - ||A_0^{\alpha} u_0||) / K)^{1/\sigma},$$

since the bound ||v(0)|| < R is stipulated by condition (P3). On the same grounds as before, we define $P = P(T_1, K, \sigma)$ as the set of all functions $p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T_1]; Y)$ for which $p(0) = p_0$ and

$$|| p(t) - p(s) || \le K |t - s|^{\sigma}, \quad \forall t, s \in [0, T_1]$$

It is possible to reduce the value T_1 provided that the inequality

$$|| p(t) - p_0 || < R$$

holds for all $p \in P$ and all $t \in [0, T_1]$. In dealing with the functions $v \in Q$, $p \in P$ we define the operator function

$$A(v;t) = A(t, A_0^{-\alpha} v(t))$$

and the function

$$F(v, p; t) = f(t, A_0^{-\alpha} v(t), p(t)).$$

Due to the boundedness of the operator $A_0^{-\alpha}$ condition (P8) implies that

(6.6.10)
$$|F(v,p;t) - F(v,p;s)| \leq c |t-s|^{\sigma},$$

where the constant c does not depend on $v \in Q$ and $p \in P$ both.

The Cauchy problem related to the function *u* comes second:

(6.6.11)
$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = A(v;t) u(t) + F(v,p;t), & 0 \le t \le T_1, \\ u(0) = u_0. \end{cases}$$

It is well-known from Sobolevsky (1961) that for a sufficiently small value $T_1 > 0$ and any $v \in Q$ the operator function A(v; t) generates an evolution operator U(v; t, s) being strongly continuous for all $0 \le s \le t \le T_1$. A

6.6. Quasilinear parabolic equations

solution of problem (6.5.11) in the class $u \in C^1([0, T_1]; X)$ exists and is given by the formula

(6.6.12)
$$u(t) = U(v;t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(v;t,s) F(v,p;s) ds.$$

Furthermore,

(6.6.13)
$$\left\| A_0^{\alpha} \left[U(v;t,0) - U(v;s,0) \right] A_0^{-1} \right\| \leq c |t-s|^{1-\alpha}$$

and for any function $F \in \mathcal{C}([0, T_1]; X)$ the estimate is true:

(6.6.14)
$$\left\| A_{0}^{\alpha} \left(\int_{0}^{t+\Delta t} U(v; t+\Delta t, s) F(s) \, ds - \int_{0}^{t} U(v; t, s) F(s) \, ds \right) \right\| \\ \leq c \, |\Delta t|^{1-\alpha} \left(|\log |\Delta t|| + 1 \right) \max_{[0, T_{1}]} ||F(t)||$$

What is more,

(6.6.15) $||A_0^{\alpha} U(v;t,s)|| \leq c |t-s|^{-\alpha}.$

Here the constant c is independent of $v \in Q$ (for more detail see Sobolevsky (1961)). Recall once again that the same symbol c may stand for different constants in later calculations.

It is also a matter of the general experience that for a sufficiently small value T_1 there exists in the class Q a unique function depending, in general, on p and providing the same solutions to both problems (6.6.1)-(6.6.2) and (6.6.11). It was shown in Sobolevsky (1961) that $u(t) = A_0^{-\alpha} v(t)$.

Holding the function v fixed we are going to derive the governing equation for another function p. By virtue of conditions (6.6.4) and (6.6.6) relation (6.6.3) is equivalent to

(6.6.16)
$$B(t) u'(t) + B'(t) u(t) = \psi'(t).$$

In turn, (6.6.1), (6.6.12) and (6.6.7) are followed by

$$(6.6.17) \qquad B(t) \ u'(t) = \ B(t) \left(f(t, u(t), p(t)) - A(t, u(t)) u(t) \right) \\ = \ B(t) \ f_1 \left(t, A_0^{-\alpha} v(t) \right) + B(t) \ f_2 \left(t, u(t), p(t) \right) \\ - \ B(t) \ A(v; t) \ U(v; t, 0) \ u_0 \ - \ B(t) \ A(v; t) \\ \times \ \int_0^t U(v; t, s) \ F(v, p; s) \ ds \ .$$

Likewise, (6.6.12) implies that

$$(6.6.18) \quad B'(t) u(t) = B'(t) \left(U(v;t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(v;t,s) F(v,p;s) ds \right).$$

To make our exposition more transparent and write some things in simplified form, it is convenient to introduce the notations

$$w(t) = A_0^{\alpha} U(v;t,0) u_0 + A_0^{\alpha} \int_0^t U(v;t,s) F(v,p;s) ds,$$

$$a(v,t) = \psi'(t) - B(t) f_1(t, A_0^{-\alpha} v(t)),$$

$$D(v;t) = B(t) A(v;t) A_0^{-\alpha} - B'(t) A_0^{-\alpha},$$

$$z(t) = a(v;t) + D(v;t) w(t).$$

Substituting (6.6.17) and (6.6.18) into (6.6.16) yields

(6.6.19)
$$B(t) f_2(t, u(t), p(t)) = z(t).$$

The increment of the function z can be evaluated as follows:

$$(6.6.20) || z(t) - z(s) || \le || a(v;t) - a(v;s) || + || D(v;t) - D(v;s) || \cdot || w(t) || + || D(v;s) || \cdot || w(t) - w(s) ||.$$

From the definition of the function a(v;t) it follows that

$$||a(v;t) - a(v;s)|| \le ||\psi'(t) - \psi'(s)|| + ||B(t) - B(s)||$$

$$\times ||f_1(t, A_0^{-\alpha} v(t))|| + ||B(s)||$$

$$\times ||f_1(t, A_0^{-\alpha} v(t)) - f_1(s, A_0^{-\alpha} v(s))||$$

Since $v \in Q$, the inequality ||v(t)|| < R holds true for any $t \in [0, T_1]$. Therefore, under condition (P8) there is a constant M > 0 such that for all $t \in [0, T_1]$ and all $v \in Q$ the estimate

$$||f_1(t, A_0^{-\alpha} v(t))|| \leq M$$

is valid. A proper choice of the constant M (enlarged if necessary) provides the validity of the inequality

$$||B(t)|| \le M$$

for all $t \in [0, T_1]$. By conditions (P3), (6.6.6) and (P8),

$$(6.6.21) || a(v;t) - a(v;s) || \le c |t-s|^{\beta} + c M |t-s| + c M (|t-s|^{\beta} + || v(t) - v(s) ||$$

From the definition of D(v;t), conditions (P4) and (6.6.6) in combination with the boundedness of the operator $A_0^{-\alpha}$ we deduce that

(6.6.22)
$$\left\| D(v;t) - D(v;s) \right\| \leq c \left(\left\| t - s \right\|^{\beta} + \left\| v(t) - v(s) \right\| \right).$$

For any $v \in Q$, $p \in P$ the value $F(v, p; 0) = f(0, u_0, p_0)$ and (6.6.10) together imply the existence of a constant M > 0 such that for any $v \in Q$, $p \in P$ and all $t \in [0, T_1]$

 $||F(v,p;t)|| \leq M.$

Since $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}$, we are led by relations (6.6.13) and (6.6.14) to

$$(6.6.23) ||w(t + \Delta t) - w(t)|| \le c |\Delta t|^{1-\alpha} ||A_0 u_0|| + c M |\Delta t|^{1-\alpha}$$

 $\left(\left| \log \left| \Delta t \right| \right| + 1 \right)$.

Keeping $\sigma < 1 - \alpha$ and letting $\Delta t \rightarrow 0$, it is not difficult to establish the asymptotic relation

$$w(t + \Delta t) - w(t) = o(|\Delta t|^{\sigma}),$$

which is uniform in $v \in Q$, $p \in P$ and over the segment $t \in [0, T_1]$. Furthermore, by the definition of the function w we establish the relationship

$$w(0) = A_0^{\alpha} u_0,$$

thereby clarifying that the function w belongs to Q for a sufficiently small number T_1 and any $v \in Q$, $p \in P$.

In the current situation the action of the operator A_0^{α} with respect to relation (6.6.12) leads to the equation for the function

$$(6.6.24) v(t) = w(t).$$

).

Observe that $z(0) = z_0$, where the element z_0 is defined by (6.6.8). Inserting the value s = 0 in (6.6.20) and taking into account (6.6.21)-(6.6.22), we arrive at

$$||z(t) - z_0|| \le R_1$$
, $\forall t \in [0, T_1]$,

when T_1 is small enough and both elements v and w belong to Q. By virtue of assumptions (P6)-(P7) equation (6.6.19) can be recast as

(6.6.25)
$$p(t) = \Phi(t, z(t))$$
.

The desired assertion will be proved if we succeed in showing that the system (6.6.24)-(6.6.25) possesses in $Q \times P$ a unique solution for a sufficiently small value T_1 . This can be done using the function

$$g(t) = \Phi(t, a(w; t) + D(w; t) w(t)).$$

It is straightforward to verify that $g(0) = p_0$. Moreover, condition (P9) implies the estimate

(6.6.26)

$$||g(t) - g(s)|| \le c \left(|t - s|^{\beta} + ||a(w;t) - a(w;s)|| + ||D(w;t) - D(w;s)|| + ||w(t)|| + ||D(w;s)|| + ||w(t) - w(s)|| \right).$$

Using estimate (6.6.22) behind we deduce that there is a constant M > 0, for which the inequality

 $\|D(w,t)\| \le M$

holds true for any $w \in Q$ and all $t \in [0, T_1]$. By successively applying inequalities (6.6.21)-(6.6.22) with w standing in place of v and relying on (6.6.26), we find that

$$||g(t) - g(s)|| \le c (|t - s|^{\beta} + ||w(t) - w(s)||)$$

with a positive constant c > 0. Since $\sigma < \beta$, the existence of a sufficiently small value T_1 such that the function g belongs to P is ensured by the preceding inequality in combination with (6.6.23).

At the next stage the metric space $Q \times P$ is equipped with the metric β induced by the norm of the space $\mathcal{C}([0, T_1]; X) \times \mathcal{C}([0, T_1]; Y)$, making it possible to introduce in this space the operator

$$G: (v, p) \mapsto (w, g).$$

446

As we have mentioned above, the operator G carries out $Q \times P$ into itself if the value T_1 is sufficiently small.

As can readily be observed, the solutions of the system (6.6.24)-(6.6.25) coincide with the fixed points of the operator G.

Let $v_1, v_2 \in Q$; $p_1, p_2 \in P$ and

$$(w_1, g_1) = G(v_1, p_1), \qquad (w_2, p_2) = G(v_2, p_2).$$

Putting these together with the relationships $u_1 = A_0^{-\alpha} w_1$ and $u_2 = A_0^{-\alpha} w_2$ we derive the system

(6.6.27)
$$\begin{cases} u_1'(t) = A(v_1;t) u_1(t) + F(v_1, p_1;t), \\ u_2'(t) = A(v_2;t) u_2(t) + F(v_2, p_2;t), \end{cases}$$

supplied by the condition $u_1(0) = u_2(0) = u_0$. Whence it follows that the function $u = u_1 - u_2$ solves the Cauchy problem

(6.6.28)
$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = A(v_1; t) u(t) + F(t), & 0 \le t \le T_1, \\ u(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$

with $F(t) = [A(v_2;t) - A(v_1;t)] u_2(t) + F(v_1, p_1;t) - F(v_2, p_2;t)$ incorporated.

By condition (P2) and the definition of Q the function

$$A(t) = \left[A(v_2; t) - A(v_1; t) \right] A_0^{-1}$$

happens to be of Hölder's type in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ with exponent σ and constant not depending on $v_1, v_2 \in Q$.

On the other hand, estimates (1.71) and (2.27) from Sobolevsky (1961) could be useful in the sequel if they are written in terms of problem (6.6.27). With these in view, inequality (6.6.10) clarifies that the function $A_0 u_2$ is of Hölder's type for t > 0 and is uniformly bounded with respect to $v_2 \in Q, p_2 \in P, t \in [0, T_1]$, that is,

(6.6.29)
$$||A_0 u_2(t)|| \leq M$$
.

Therefore, a solution of the Cauchy problem (6.6.28) can be represented via the evolution operator (for more detail see Sobolevsky (1961))

(6.6.30)
$$u(t) = \int_{0}^{t} U(v_{1};t,s) F(s) ds.$$
We are led by assumption (P2) to

$$(6.6.31) || A(t)|| \le c || v_2(t) - v_1(t)||.$$

In turn, the combination of (6.6.7) and (P8) gives the inequality

(6.6.32)
$$||F(v_1, p_1; t) - F(v_2, p_2; t)|| \le c \left(2 ||v_2(t) - v_1(t)||$$

$$+ || p_2(t) - p_1(t) ||).$$

Applying the operator A_0^{α} to (6.6.30) with further passage to the appropriate norms we deduce with the aid of (6.6.15), (6.6.29) and (6.6.31)–(6.6.32) that

$$||w_{1}(t) - w_{2}(t)|| \leq \int_{0}^{t} c |t - s|^{-\alpha} \left(c M ||v_{2}(s) - v_{1}(s)|| + c \left(2 ||v_{2}(t) - v_{1}(t)|| + ||p_{2}(t) - p_{1}(t)|| \right) \right) ds.$$

This provides reason enough to conclude that there is a positive constant $c_1 > 0$ such that

(6.6.33)
$$||w_1 - w_2||_{\mathcal{C}([0, T_1]; X)} \leq c_1 T_1^{1-\alpha} \rho((v_1, p_1), (v_2, p_2))$$

where ρ refers to a metric of the space $Q \times P$.

e ρ refers to a metric of the space $Q \times P$. By assumption (P9), the following estimate

$$||g_{1}(t) - g_{2}(t)|| \leq c \left(||a(w_{1};t) - a(w_{2};t)|| + ||D(w_{1};t) - D(w_{2};t)|| + ||w_{1}(t)|| + ||D(w_{2};t)|| + ||w_{1}(t) - w_{2}(t)|| \right)$$

is ensured by the definition of the function g. By virtue of condition (P8) we thus have

$$||a(w_1;t) - a(w_2;t)|| \le ||B(t)|| \cdot ||w_1(t) - w_2(t)||,$$

while condition (P4) implies that

 $|| D(w_1;t) - D(w_2;t) || \le c || w_1(t) - w_2(t) ||.$

From the inclusion $w_1 \in Q$ it follows that $||w_1(t)|| < R$. The estimate

 $(6.6.34) || g_1 - g_2 ||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T_1];Y)} \le c_2 T_1^{1-\alpha} \rho((v_1,p_1), (v_2,p_2))$

can be justified by the uniform boundedness of the operator functions $D(w_2, t)$ and B(t) and the preceding estimate (6.6.33). Here $c_2 > 0$ is a positive constant. On the basis of estimates (6.6.33)-(6.6.34) we conclude that the operator G is contractive in $Q \times P$ if T_1 is sufficiently small. This completes the proof of the theorem.

6.7 Inverse problems with singular overdetermination: semilinear parabolic equations

In this section we consider the inverse problem (6.6.1)-(6.6.3) in the case when equation (6.6.1) is semilinear. The appropriate problem statement is as follows:

(6.7.1) $u'(t) = A(t) u(t) + f(t, u(t), p(t)), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$

 $(6.7.2) u(0) = u_0,$

(6.7.3)
$$Bu(t) = \psi(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Here the operator B is supposed to be bounded from the space X into the space Y and (6.7.3) is termed a singular overdetermination. The presence of (6.7.1) in the class of **parabolic equations** is well-characterized by the following condition:

(PP1) for any $t \in [0, T]$ the linear operator A is closed in the space X and its domain is dense and does not depend on t, that is,

$$\mathcal{D}(A(t)) = \mathcal{D}.$$

Also, if λ is such that $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq 0$, then for all $t \in [0, T]$ and $\lambda \in \rho(A(t))$

$$\left\|\left(A(t)-\lambda I\right)^{-1}\right\| \leq \frac{c}{|\lambda|+1},$$

where c is a positive constant.

Further treatment of the inverse problem concerned necessitates involving the well-posedness of the **direct linear problem**

(6.7.4)
$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = A(t) u(t) + f(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ u(0) = u_0. \end{cases}$$

Granted (PP1), a sufficient condition for the direct problem (6.7.4) to be well-posed is as follows:

(PP2) there exist a constant c > 0 and a value $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ such that for all $t, s, \tau \in [0, T]$ the inequality holds:

$$\left\|\left[A(t)-A(s)\right]A^{-1}(\tau)\right\| \leq c |t-s|^{\alpha}.$$

Under conditions (PP1)-(PP2) the direct problem (6.7.4) has a strongly continuous evolution operator in the triangle

$$\Delta(T) = \{(t,s): 0 \le s \le T, s \le t \le T\}.$$

If each such case $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}$ and the function f is subject to either of the following conditions: $A f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ or f is of Hölder's type in the space X, then problem (6.7.4) has a unique solution $u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X)$, this solution is given by the formula

(6.7.5)
$$u(t) = U(t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) ds$$

and the operator function

$$W_1(t,s) = A(t) U(t,s) A^{-1}(s)$$

is strongly continuous in $\Delta(T)$. What is more, the function

$$W_{1+\beta}(t,s) = A^{1+\beta}(t) U(t,s) A^{-1-\beta}(s)$$

will also be strongly continuous in $\Delta(T)$ for $\beta < \alpha$. If one assumes, in addition, that $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1+\beta}(0))$ and

$$A^{1+\beta}(t) f(t) \in C([0, T]; X),$$

then a solution of problem (6.7.4) will comply with the inclusion

(6.7.6)
$$A^{\beta}(0) u(t) \in C^{1}([0, T]; X) .$$

We refer the reader to Sobolevsky (1961).

Let the operator B meet one more requirement similar in form to (5.1.7):

(6.7.7)
$$B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{D}(A^{\beta}(0)), Y), \qquad \beta < \alpha,$$

where the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A^{\beta}(0))$ is equipped with the norm

$$||u||_{\beta} = ||A^{\beta}(0)u||.$$

On the same grounds as before, we may attempt the function f in the form

(6.7.8)
$$f(t, u, p) = f_1(t, u) + f_2(t, u, p).$$

6.7. Semilinear parabolic equations

With the aid of relations (6.7.6)-(6.7.7) it is not difficult to show that the two conditions

(6.7.9)
$$\psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y), \qquad B u_0 = \psi(0)$$

are necessary for the solvability of the inverse problem (6.7.1)-(6.7.3) in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T]; Y).$$

By means of the functions $\psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y)$ and $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(BA(0))$ we define the element

$$(6.7.10) z_0 = \psi'(0) + B A(0) u_0 - B f_1(0, u_0)$$

and involve it in the additional requirements:

- (PP3) the equation $B f_2(0, u_0, p) = z_0$ with respect to p has a unique solution $p_0 \in Y$;
- (PP4) there exists a mapping

$$f_3: [0, T] \times Y \times Y \mapsto Y$$
,

for which

(6.7.11)
$$B f_2(t, u, p) = f_3(t, B u, p);$$

(PP5) there is a number R > 0 such that for any $t \in [0, T]$ the mapping

$$z = f_3(t, \psi(t), p)$$

has in the ball $S_V(p_0, R)$ the inverse

(6.7.12)
$$p = \Phi(t, z)$$
.

With the relation $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1+\beta}(0))$ in view, the following manifolds $S_1(R,T) = \{(t,z,p): 0 \le t \le T, ||z - A(0) u_0|| < R, ||p - p_0|| < R \},$ $S_0(R,T) = \{(t,z,p): 0 \le t \le T, ||z - u_0|| < R, ||p - p_0|| < R \},$ $S_{1+\beta}(R,T) = \{(t,z,p): 0 \le t \le T, ||z - A^{1+\beta}(0) u_0|| < R,$ $||p - p_0|| < R \}$ are aimed to impose the extra smoothness restrictions:

(PP6) there is a number R > 0 such that for $k = 0, 1, \beta + 1$ either of the functions

$$A^{k}(t) f_{1}(t, A^{-k}(t) u)$$

and

$$A^{k}(t) f_{2}(t, A^{-k}(t) u, p)$$

is continuous with respect to the totality of variables and satisfies on the manifold $S_k(R,T)$ the Lipschitz condition with respect to (u, p);

(PP7) the mapping (6.7.12) is continuous on the set $S_Y(z_0, R, T)$ and satisfies thereon the Lipschitz condition in z.

Theorem 6.7.1 Let conditions (PP1), (PP2), (6.7.7) and (6.7.9) hold. If $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1+\beta}(0))$ and conditions (6.7.8), (PP3)-(PP7) are valid with the element z_0 given by formula (6.7.10), then there is a value $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.7.1)-(6.7.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

 $u \in C^{1}([0, T_{1}]; X), \quad A u \in C([0, T_{1}]; X), \quad p \in C([0, T_{1}]; Y).$

Proof By assumption, the inclusions

$$p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y)$$

and

$$v(t) = A(t) u(t) \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$$

imply that the superposition

$$f_1(t) = f(t, A^{-1}(t) v(t), p(t))$$

is continuous. The same remains valid for the function $A(t) f_1(t)$. If so, the Cauchy problem (6.7.1)-(6.7.2) will be equivalent to the integral equation

(6.7.13)
$$u(t) = U(t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s,u(s),p(s)) ds$$

in the class of functions $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ for which the inclusion

$$A u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$$

occurs. Indeed, a solution to equation (6.7.1) complies with the condition

 $A^{1+\beta}(t) u(t) \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$

if the value T is sufficiently small. To make sure of it, we first perform the substitution $z(t) = A^{1+\beta}(t) u(t)$ with

$$z_{\mathtt{0}}(t) = A^{1+eta}(t) U(t,0) u_{\mathtt{0}} = W_{1+eta}(t,0) A^{1+eta}(0) u_{\mathtt{0}}$$

thereby justifying that the function u satisfies the integral equation (6.7.13) if and only if the function z solves the integral equation

(6.7.14)
$$z(t) = z_0(t) + \int_0^t W_{1+\beta}(t,s) g(s,z(s),p(s)) ds$$

where

$$g(t, z, p) = A^{1+\beta}(t) f(t, A^{-1-\beta}(t) z, p)$$

It is worth noting here that z_0 is continuous on the segment [0, T] and the kernel $W_{1+\beta}$ is strongly continuous on the set $\Delta(T)$. Moreover, by condition (PP6) the function g is continuous and satisfies the Lipschitz condition in z. This serves to motivate that equation (6.7.14) has a unique local solution in the class of continuous functions. Reducing the value T, if necessary, one can accept (6.7.14) to be solvable on the whole segment [0, T]. Recall that T may depend on the function p.

Due to the interrelation between solutions to equations (6.7.13) and (6.7.14) the function

$$f(t) = f(t, u(t), p(t))$$

satisfies the equality

$$A^{1+\beta}(t) f(t) = A^{1+\beta}(t) f(t, A^{-1-\beta}z(t), p(t))$$

and is continuous on the strength of condition (PP6). In view of this, a solution of the Cauchy problem (6.7.1)-(6.7.2) obeys (6.7.6). Because of (6.7.7),

$$\left(B\,u(t)\right)'=B\,u'(t)\,,$$

so that relation (6.7.3) is equivalent to the following one:

$$B u'(t) = \psi'(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

making it possible to reduce the preceding on the basis of (6.7.1) to

(6.7.15)
$$p(t) = \Phi(t, \psi'(t) - BA(t)u(t) - Bf_1(t, u(t))).$$

Here we have taken into account conditions (6.7.8), (PP4) and (PP5).

By involving formula (6.7.13) and substituting $z(t) = A^{1+\beta}(t) u(t)$ we are led to an alternative form of writing (6.7.15):

(6.7.16)
$$p(t) = \Phi\left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, z(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s) g(s, z(s), p(s)) ds\right),$$

where

$$g_{0}(t) = \psi'(t) - B A(t) U(t, 0) u_{0} - B f_{1}(t, U(t, 0) u_{0}),$$

$$g_{1}(t, z) = -B \left(f_{1}(t, A^{-1-\beta}(t) z) - f_{1}(t, U(t, 0) u_{0}) \right),$$

$$K(t, s) = -B A(t) U(t, s) A^{-1-\beta}(s),$$

$$g(t, z, p) = A^{1+\beta}(t) f(t, A^{-1-\beta}(t) z, p).$$

Since

$$B A(t) U(t, 0) u_0 = (B A^{-\beta}(0)) (A^{\beta}(0) A^{-\beta}(t))$$

$$\times A^{1+\beta}(t) U(t, 0) u_0$$

$$= (B A^{-\beta}(0)) (A^{\beta}(0) A^{-\beta}(t))$$

$$\times W_{1+\beta}(t, 0) (A^{1+\beta}(0) u_0),$$

the function $g_0(t) \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y)$. This is due to the fact that the function $A^{\beta}(0) A^{-\beta}(t)$ is strongly continuous (see Sobolevsky (1961)). Also, we may attempt the function $g_1(t, z)$ in the form

$$\begin{split} g_1(t,z) &= \left(B \, A^{-\beta}(0) \right) \left(A^{\beta}(0) \, A^{-\beta}(t) \right) A^{-1}(t) \\ &\times \left(A^{1+\beta}(t) \, f_1\left(t, A^{-1-\beta}(t) \, z \right) \right. \\ &- A^{1+\beta}(t) \, f_1\left(t, A^{-1-\beta}(t) \right. \\ &\times W_{1+\beta}(t,0) \, A^{1+\beta}(0) \, u_0 \right) \Big) \,, \end{split}$$

implying that the function g_1 is continuous with respect to the totality of variables and satisfies the Lipschitz condition in z. Likewise, the kernel K(t, s) admits the form

$$K(t,s) = -(BA^{-\beta}(0)) (A^{\beta}(0)A^{-\beta}(t)) W_{1+\beta}(t,s),$$

454

6.7. Semilinear parabolic equations

thereby justifying the strong continuity of K(t,s) in $\Delta(T)$.

Thus, the system of the integral equations (6.7.14), (6.7.16) is derived. Observe that it is of some type similar to that obtained in Section 6.3 for the system (6.3.9), (6.3.12). Hence, exploiting some facts and adopting the well-developed tools of Theorem 6.3.1, it is plain to show that the system (6.7.14), (6.7.16) is solvable, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

Of importance is the linear case when

(6.7.17)
$$f(t, u, p) = L_1(t) u + L_2(t) p + F(t).$$

Theorem 6.7.2 Let conditions (PP1)-(PP2), (6.7.7) and (6.7.9) hold, $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1+\beta}(0))$, the operator functions

$$L_1, A L_1 A^{-1}, A^{1+\beta} L_1 A^{-1-\beta} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X)),$$

$$A^{1+\beta}L_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{L}(Y,X))$$

and the function

$$A^{1+\beta} F \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];X).$$

If for any $t \in [0, T]$ the operator $BL_2(t)$ is invertible in the space Y and

$$(BL_2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{L}(Y)),$$

then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.7.1)–(6.7.3), (6.7.17) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T]; X), \quad A u \in C([0, T]; X), \quad p \in C([0, T]; Y).$$

Proof By virtue of conditions (PP3)-(PP7) with the ingredients

$$f_{1}(t, u) = L_{1}(t) u + F(t),$$

$$f_{2}(t, u, p) = L_{2}(t) p,$$

$$f_{3}(t, z, p) = B L_{2}(t) p,$$

$$\Phi(t, z) = (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} z$$

one can recast the system of equations (6.7.14), (6.7.16) as

(6.7.18)
$$z(t) = z_0(t) + \int_0^t \left(K_1(t,s) z(s) + L_1(t,s) p(s) \right) ds,$$

(6.7.19)
$$p(t) = p_0(t) + \int_0^t \left(K_2(t,s) z(s) + L_2(t,s) p(s) \right) ds,$$

where

$$\begin{split} z_0(t) &= W_{1+\beta}(t,0) A^{1+\beta}(0) u_0 \\ &+ \int_0^t W_{1+\beta}(t,s) A^{1+\beta}(s) F(s) ds \,, \\ K_1(t,s) &= W_{1+\beta}(t,s) \left(A^{1+\beta}(s) L_1(s) A^{-1-\beta}(s) \right) \,, \\ L_1(t,s) &= W_{1+\beta}(t,s) \left(A^{1+\beta}(s) L_2(s) \right) \,, \\ p_0(t) &= \left(B L_2(t) \right)^{-1} \left[\psi'(t) - B F(t) \right. \\ &- B A(t) U(t,0) u_0 - B L_1(t) U(t,0) u_0 \\ &- B A(t) \int_0^t U(t,s) F(s) \, ds \\ &- B L_1(t) \int_0^t U(t,s) F(s) \, ds \right] \,, \\ K_2(t,s) &= - \left(B L_2(t) \right)^{-1} \left[B A(t) U(t,s) L_1(s) \right. \\ &\times A^{-1-\beta}(s) + B L_1(t) A^{-1-\beta}(t) W_{1+\beta}(t,s) \\ &\times A^{1+\beta}(s) L_1(s) A^{-1-\beta}(s) \right] \,, \\ L_2(t,s) &= - \left(B L_2(t) \right)^{-1} \left[B A(t) U(t,s) L_2(s) \right. \\ &+ B L_1(t) A^{-1-\beta}(t) W_{1+\beta}(t,s) A^{1+\beta}(s) L_2(s) \right] \,. \end{split}$$

The continuity of the function $z_0(t)$ and the strong continuity of the kernels K_1 and L_1 are a corollary of the initial assumptions, while the continuity of the function $p_0(t)$ follows from the set of relations

$$\begin{split} B\,F(t) &= \left(\,B\,A^{-\beta}(0)\right)\left(\,A^{\beta}(0)\,A^{-\beta}(t)\right) \\ &\times \,A^{-1}(t)\left(\,A^{1+\beta}(t)\,F(t)\right)\,, \\ B\,A(t)\,U(t,0)\,u_{0} &= \left(\,B\,A^{-\beta}(0)\right)\left(\,A^{\beta}(0)\,A^{-\beta}(t)\right) \\ &\times \,W_{1+\beta}(t,0)\left(\,A^{1+\beta}(0)\,u_{0}\right)\,, \\ B\,L_{1}(t)\,U(t,0)\,u_{0} &= \left(\,B\,A^{-\beta}(0)\right)\left(\,A^{\beta}(0)\,A^{-\beta}(t)\right)\,A^{-1}(t) \\ &\times \left(\,A^{1+\beta}(t)\,L_{1}(t)\,A^{-1-\beta}(t)\right) \\ &\times \,W_{1+\beta}(t,0)\left(\,A^{1+\beta}(0)\,u_{0}\,\right)\,, \\ B\,A(t)\,U(t,s)\,F(s) &= \left(\,B\,A^{-\beta}(0)\right)\left(\,A^{\beta}(0)\,A^{-\beta}(t)\right) \\ &\times \,W_{1+\beta}(t,s)\left(\,A^{1+\beta}(s)\,F(s)\right)\,, \\ B\,L_{1}(t)\,U(t,s)\,F(s) &= \left(\,B\,A^{-\beta}(0)\right)\left(\,A^{\beta}(0)\,A^{-\beta}(t)\right) \\ &\times \left(\,A^{1+\beta}(t)\,L_{1}(t)\,A^{-1-\beta}(t)\right) \\ &\times \left(\,A^{1+\beta}(t)\,L_{1}(t)\,A^{-1-\beta}(t)\right) \\ &\times \,W_{1+\beta}(t,s)\left(\,A^{1+\beta}(s)\,F(s)\right)\,. \end{split}$$

In turn, the strong continuity of the kernels K_2 and L_2 on $\Delta(T)$ is ensured by the identities

$$B A(t) U(t, s) L_{1}(s) A^{-1-\beta}(s) = (B A^{-\beta}(0)) (A^{\beta}(0) A^{-\beta}(t)) W_{1+\beta}(t, s)$$

$$\times (A^{1+\beta}(s) L_{1}(s) A^{-1-\beta}(s)),$$

$$B L_{1}(t) A^{-1-\beta}(t) = (B A^{-\beta}(0)) (A^{\beta}(0) A^{-\beta}(t)) A^{-1}(t)$$

$$\times (A^{1+\beta}(t) L_{1}(t) A^{-1-\beta}(t)).$$

The desired assertion is simple to follow, since the system of the Volterra integral equations (6.7.18)-(6.7.19) appears to be linear.

6.8 Inverse problems with smoothing overdetermination: semilinear hyperbolic equations

As in Section 6.7 it is required to find the functions $u \in C^1([0, T]; X)$ and $p \in C([0, T]; Y)$ from the set of relations

- (6.8.1) $u'(t) = A(t)u(t) + f(t, u(t), p(t)), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$
- $(6.8.2) u(0) = u_0,$
- (6.8.3) $Bu(t) = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$

For any $t \in [0, T]$ a linear operator A(t) with a dense domain is supposed to be closed in the space X. The symbol B designates a linear operator acting from X into Y and

$$f: [0, T] \times X \times Y \mapsto X$$
.

Much progress in investigating the inverse problem (6.8.1)-(6.8.3) is connected with the subsidiary information that the **linear direct problem**

(6.8.4) $u'(t) = A(t)u(t) + f(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$

$$(6.8.5) u(0) = u_0,$$

is well-posed.

Before proceeding to a more detailed framework, it is worth noting here that the reader can encounter in the modern literature several different definitions and criteria to decide for yourself whether equation (6.8.1) is of hyperbolic type. Below we offer one of the existing approaches to this issue and take for granted that

- (H1) for any $t \in [0, T]$ the operator A(t) is the generator of a strongly continuous semigroup in the space X;
- (H2) there are constants M and β such that for any $\lambda > \beta$ and any finite collection of points $0 \le t_1 \le t_2 \le \cdots \le t_k \le T$ the inequality holds:

$$\left\| \left(A(t_k) - \lambda I \right)^{-1} \left(A(t_{k-1}) - \lambda I \right)^{-1} \cdots \left(A(t_1) - \lambda I \right)^{-1} \right\| \leq \frac{M}{(\lambda - \beta)^k}.$$

One assumes, in addition, that there exists a Banach space X_0 , which can densely and continuously be embedded into the space X. In this view, it is reasonable to confine yourself to particular cases where

(H3) there exists an operator function S(t) defined on the segment [0, T]with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X_0, X)$; this function is strongly continuously differentiable on the segment [0, T] and for any fixed value $t \in [0, T]$ the operator

$$\left[S(t)\right]^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X, X_0)$$

and

$$S(t) A(t) [S(t)]^{-1} = A(t) + R(t),$$

where $R(t) \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ and the operator function R(t) is strongly continuous in the space X;

(H4) for any $t \in [0, T]$ the space $X_0 \subset \mathcal{D}(A(t))$ and the operator function $A \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X_0, X)).$

Under conditions (H1)-(H4) there exists an evolution operator U(s,t), which is defined on the set

$$\Delta(T) = \{(t,s): 0 \le s \le T, s \le t \le T\}$$

and is strongly continuous on $\Delta(T)$ in the norm of the space X. By means of this operator a solution u of problem (6.8.4) is expressed by

(6.8.6)
$$u(t) = U(t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) ds$$

For $u_0 \in X$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ formula (6.8.6) gives a continuous solution (in a sense of distributions) to equation (6.8.1) subject to condition (6.8.2). Furthermore, with the inclusions $u_0 \in X_0$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X_0)$ in view, the preceding formula serves for a solution of the Cauchy problem (6.8.1)-(6.8.2) in the class of functions $\mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X)$ (for more detail see Fattorini (1983), Kato (1970, 1973), Massey (1972)).

The present section devotes to the case when the operator B possesses a smoothing effect, meaning

(6.8.7) $B \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y), \qquad \overline{BA} \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{L}(X,Y)).$

Now our starting point is the solvability of the inverse problem (6.8.1)–(6.8.3) in the class of continuous functions. Omitting some details, a continuous solution of the inverse problem concerned is to be understood as a pair of the functions

 $u \in C([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T]; Y),$

satisfying the system of relations

(6.8.8) $u(t) = U(t,0) u_0$

+
$$\int_{0}^{t} U(t,s) f(s,u(s),p(s)) ds, \ 0 \le t \le T$$
,

(6.8.9) $Bu(t) = \psi(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T.$

The approved decomposition

(6.8.10) $f(t, u, p) = f_1(t, u) + f_2(t, u, p)$

will be used in the sequel. Allowing the element ψ to be differentiable at zero we define the element

(6.8.11)
$$z_0 = \psi'(0) - \overline{BA(0)} \ u_0 - Bf_1(0, u_0)$$

and assume that

(H5) the equation $B f_2(0, u_0, p) = z_0$ with respect to p has a unique solution $p_0 \in Y$;

(H6) there exists a mapping
$$f_3: [0, T] \times Y \times Y \mapsto Y$$
 such that

(6.8.12)
$$B f_2(t, u, p) = f_3(t, B u, p);$$

(H7) there is a number R > 0 such that for any $t \in [0, T]$ the mapping $z = f_3(t, \psi(t), p)$ has in the ball $S_Y(p_0, R)$ the inverse

(6.8.13)
$$p = \Phi(t, z)$$
.

In addition to the algebraic conditions (H5)-(H7), we impose the extra smoothness conditions:

- (H8) there is a number R > 0 such that either of the functions $f_1(t, u)$ and $f_2(t, u, p)$ is continuous with respect to the totality of variables and satisfies on the manifold $S_{X \times Y}((u_0, p_0), R, T)$ the Lipschitz condition with respect to (u, p);
- (H9) there is a number R > 0 such that the mapping (6.8.13) is continuous with respect to the totality of variables and satisfies the Lipschitz condition in z on the manifold $S_Y(z_0, R, T)$, where the element z_0 is defined by (6.8.11).

460

6.8. Semilinear hyperbolic equations

Theorem 6.8.1 Let conditions (6.8.7), (6.8.10), (H1)-(H9) hold and $u_0 \in X$, $\psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y)$ and $Bu_0 = \psi(0)$. Then there is a value $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.8.1)-(6.8.3) exists and is unique in the class of continuous functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y).$$

Proof By the initial assumptions the function

(6.8.14)
$$f(t) = f(t, u(t), p(t))$$

is continuous on [0, T] for arbitrary fixed functions $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ and $p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y)$. Within notation (6.8.14), the definition of the solution of the inverse problem (6.8.8)-(6.8.9) is involved in the further derivation of the equation

(6.8.15)
$$\psi(t) = B U(t,0) u_0 + B \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) \, ds \, .$$

In the sequel we shall need yet two assertions to be proved.

Lemma 6.8.1 For any element $u_0 \in X$ and all values $t \geq s$ the function

$$\psi_0(t) = B U(t,s) u_0$$

is differentiable and

$$\psi_0'(t) = \overline{BA(t)} U(t,s) u_0.$$

Proof Recall that the subspace X_0 is dense in the space X. Hence there exists a sequence of elements u_n from the space X_0 converging to an element u_0 in the space X. Set

$$\psi_n(t) = B U(t,s) u_n$$

and appeal to the well-known estimate for the evolution operator

$$||U(t,s)|| \le M \exp(\beta(t-s))$$
.

The outcome of this is

$$\|\psi_n(t) - \psi_0(t)\| \le M \|B\| \exp(|\beta|T) \|u_n - u_0\|,$$

implying that the sequence of functions ψ_n converges as $n \to \infty$ to the function ψ_0 uniformly over [s, T]. Since $u_n \in X_0$, the function ψ_n is differentiable on the segment [s, T] and

$$\psi'_n(t) = B A(t) U(t,s) u_n = \overline{B A(t)} U(t,s) u_n$$

whence it follows that

$$\psi'_n(t) \longrightarrow \varphi(t) = \overline{BA(t)} U(t,s) u_0$$

as $n \to \infty$. On the basis of the estimate

$$\|\psi'_n(t) - \varphi(t)\| \leq \sup_{[0,T]} \|\overline{BA(t)}\| M \exp(|\beta|T)\| u_n - u_0\|$$

we deduce that the preceding convergence is uniform over the segment [s, T]. Because of this fact, the function ψ_0 is differentiable and $\psi'_0 = \varphi$, which completes the proof of the lemma.

Lemma 6.8.2 Let $f \in C([0, T]; X)$ and

$$g(t) = B \int_{0}^{t} U(t,s) f(s) ds$$

Then the function g is differentiable on the segment [0, T] and

$$g'(t) = \overline{BA(t)} \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) \, ds + B f(t) \, .$$

Proof From the additivity of integrals it follows that

(6.8.16)
$$\frac{g(t+h) - g(t)}{h} = \frac{1}{h} \int_{t}^{t+h} B U(t+h,s) f(s) ds + \int_{0}^{t} B \frac{U(t+h,s) - U(t,s)}{h} f(s) ds.$$

Since

$$\left\| \frac{1}{h} \int_{t}^{t+h} B U(t+h,s) f(s) \, ds - B f(t) \right\|$$

= $\left\| \frac{1}{h} \int_{t}^{t+h} B U(t+h,s) f(s) \, ds - \frac{1}{h} \int_{t}^{t+h} B U(t,t) f(t) \, ds \right\|$
 $\leq \frac{\|B\|}{h} \int_{t}^{t+h} \|U(t+h,s) f(s) - U(t,t) f(t)\| \, ds$

6.8. Semilinear hyperbolic equations

and the function H(t,s) = U(t,s) f(s) is uniformly continuous in the triangle $\Delta(T)$, the first term on the right-hand side of (6.8.16) converges to B f(t) as $h \to 0$.

The next step is to show that the limit as $h \to 0$ of the second term on the right-hand side of (6.8.16) is equal to

$$\overline{BA(t)} \int_{0}^{t} U(t,s) f(s) \, ds$$

This fact immediately follows from the relation

(6.8.17)
$$\lim_{h \to \infty} \int_{0}^{t} g_{h}(s) \, ds = \int_{0}^{t} g_{0}(s) \, ds \, ,$$

where

$$g_h(s) = B \frac{U(t+h,s) - U(t,s)}{h} f(s),$$

$$g_0(s) = \overline{BA(t)} U(t,s) f(s).$$

First of all observe that by Lemma 6.8.1 the function $g_0(s)$ is a pointwise limit of the functions $g_h(s)$ as $h \to 0$ on [0, T]. Therefore, relation (6.8.17) will be established if we succeed in showing that the norms of these functions are uniformly bounded. This can be done using the function $\mu_s(t) = B U(t, s) f(s)$ of the variable t. By Lemma 6.8.1,

$$\mu'_s(t) = \overline{BA(t)} U(t,s) f(s) = g_0(s).$$

By the same token,

$$g_h(s) = \frac{\mu_s(t+h) - \mu_s(t)}{h}$$

and, in agreement with the mean value theorem,

(6.8.18)
$$||g_h(s)|| = \left\| \frac{\mu_s(t+h) - \mu_s(t)}{h} \right\| \le \sup_{[0,T]} ||\mu'_s(t)||.$$

On the other hand, $\mu'_s(t)$ as a function of two independent variables is continuous in $\Delta(T)$ and thus the right-hand side of (6.8.18) is finite. This completes the proof of the lemma.

Returning to the proof of the theorem we note in passing that the right-hand side of (6.8.17) is differentiable on account of Lemmas 6.8.1-6.8.2. By virtue of the compatibility condition relation (6.8.17) is equivalent to its differential implication taking the form

(6.8.19)
$$\psi'(t) = \overline{BA(t)} U(t,0) u_0 + \overline{BA(t)} \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) ds + B f(t)$$

and relying on the formulae from the lemmas we have mentioned above. We claim that if the second equation of the system (6.8.8)-(6.8.9) is replaced by (6.8.19), then an equivalent system can be obtained in a similar way. Indeed, when (6.8.8), (6.8.14) and (6.8.19) are put together, we finally get

(6.8.20)
$$\psi'(t) = \overline{BA(t)} u(t) + Bf(t, u(t), p(t)).$$

It is worth noting here that the preceding relationship up to closing of the operator B A can be derived by formally applying the operator B to the initial relation (6.8.1). It is plain to reduce relation (6.8.20) via decomposition (6.8.10) under condition (H6) to the following one:

(6.8.21)
$$f_3(t, \psi(t), p(t)) = z(t),$$

where

$$(6.8.22) z(t) = \psi'(t) - \overline{BA(t)} u(t) - Bf_1(t, u(t)).$$

The new variables

$$g_{0}(t) = \psi'(t) - \overline{BA(t)} U(t, 0) u_{0} - B f_{1}(t, U(t, 0) u_{0}),$$

$$g_{1}(t, u) = -B(f_{1}(t, u) - f_{1}(t, U(t, 0) u_{0})),$$

$$K(t, s) = -\overline{BA(t)} U(t, s)$$

complement our studies and help rearrange the right-hand side of (6.8.22) in simplified form. Putting these together with (6.8.8) and (6.8.22) we arrive at

(6.8.23)
$$z(t) = g_0(t) + g_1(t, u(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds$$

Moreover, with the aid of relation (6.8.22) we find that $z(0) = z_0$, where the element z_0 is defined by formula (6.8.11). In light of assumptions (H5)

6.8. Semilinear hyperbolic equations

and (H7)-(H9) there exists a small value T for which equation (6.8.21) is equivalent to

(6.8.24)
$$p(t) = \Phi(t, z(t))$$
.

With the aid of (6.8.23) for the function z the couple of relations (6.8.8) and (6.8.24) can be recast as the system of integral equations

(6.8.25)
$$u(t) = U(t, 0) u_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} U(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds,$$

(6.8.26)
$$p(t) = \Phi(t, g_{0}(t) + g_{1}(t, u(t)) + \int_{0}^{t} K(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds),$$

which can be treated as the system (6.3.9), (6.3.12) and so there is no difficulty to prove the unique solvability of (6.8.25)-(6.8.26) in just the same way as we did in proving Theorem 6.3.1, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

Of special interest is the linear case when

(6.8.27)
$$f(t, u, p) = L_1(t) u + L_2(t) p + F(t).$$

Theorem 6.8.2 Let conditions (6.8.7) and (H1)-(H4) hold and $u_0 \in X$, $\psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y)$, $B u_0 = \psi(0)$ and representation (6.8.23) take place for $L_1 \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X))$, $L_2 \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X))$ and $F \in C([0, T]; X)$. If for any $t \in [0, T]$ the operator $B L_2(t)$ is invertible in the space Y and

$$(BL_2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y)),$$

then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.8.1)–(6.8.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y).$$

Proof Under the restrictions imposed above conditions (H5)-(H9) hold true with the appropriate ingredients

$$f_{1}(t, u) = L_{1}(t) u + F(t) ,$$

$$f_{2}(t, u, p) = L_{2}(t) p ,$$

$$f_{3}(t, z, p) = B L_{2}(t) p ,$$

$$\Phi(t, z) = (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} z .$$

The proof of Theorem 6.8.1 provides proper guidelines for rearranging the inverse problem (6.8.1)-(6.8.3) as the system of the integral equations (6.8.25)-(6.8.26) taking now the form

(6.8.28)

$$u(t) = u_{0}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} (K_{1}(t, s) u(s) + L_{1}(t, s) p(s)) ds,$$
(6.8.29)

$$p(t) = p_{0}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} (K_{2}(t, s) u(s) + L_{2}(t, s) p(s)) ds,$$

where

(6.8.30)
$$\begin{cases} u_0(t) = U(t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) F(s) \, ds \, , \\ K_1(t,s) = U(t,s) L_1(s) \, , \\ L_1(t,s) = U(t,s) L_2(s) \, , \\ p_0(t) = (B L_2(t))^{-1} \left[\psi'(t) - (\overline{BA(t)} + B L_1(t)) \right] \\ \times \left(U(t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) F(s) \, ds \right) - B F(t) \right] , \\ K_2(t,s) = -(B L_2(t))^{-1} (\overline{BA(t)} + B L_1(t)) U(t,s) L_1(s) \, , \\ L_2(t,s) = -(B L_2(t))^{-1} (\overline{BA(t)} + B L_1(t)) U(t,s) L_2(s) \, . \end{cases}$$

By assumption, the functions u_0 and p_0 are continuous on the segment [0, T] and the operator kernels K_1, L_1, K_2 and L_2 are strongly continuous

in $\Delta(T)$. The system (6.8.28)-(6.8.29) falls into the category of second kind linear systems of the Volterra integral equations and, therefore, there exists a solution of (6.8.28)-(6.8.29) and this solution is unique in the class of continuous functions on the whole segment [0, T]. This completes the proof of the theorem.

The next goal of our study is to find out when the continuous solution of the inverse problem (6.8.1)-(6.8.3) satisfies equation (6.8.1) in a pointwise manner. To decide for yourself when the function $u \in C^1([0, T]; X)$, a first step is to check the following statement.

Theorem 6.8.3 Let conditions (6.8.7), (6.8.10) and (H1)-(H9) be fulfilled and let $u_0 \in X_0, \psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y)$ and $Bu_0 = \psi(0)$. If condition (H8) continues to hold with X_0 in place of the space X, then there is a value $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.8.1)-(6.8.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T_{1}]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T_{1}]; Y).$$

Proof From conditions (H1)-(H4) immediately follows that the subspace H_0 is invariant with respect to the evolution operator U(t,s), which is strongly continuous in $\Delta(T)$ in the norm of the space X_0 . Due to the continuous embedding of X_0 into X condition (6.8.7) remains valid with X_0 in place of the space X if the operator A(t) is replaced by its part acting in the space X_0 . Theorem 6.8.1 implies that there is a value $T_1 > 0$ for which the inverse problem (6.8.1)-(2.8.3) becomes uniquely solvable in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T_1]; X_0), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T_1]; Y).$$

Under condition (H8), valid in the norm of the space X_0 , decomposition (6.8.10) provides support for the view that the function f defined by (6.8.14) satisfies the condition

$$f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T_1]; X_0).$$

Since $u_0 \in X_0$, relation (6.8.8) admits the form

(6.8.31)
$$u(t) = U(t,0) u_0 + \int_{0}^{t} U(t,s) f(s) ds$$

thereby leading to the inclusion $u \in C^1([0, T_1]; X)$ and completing the proof of the theorem.

In the **linear case** a solution of the inverse problem at hand exists on the whole segment [0, T].

Theorem 6.8.4 Let conditions (6.8.7) and (H1)-(H4) hold, $u_0 \in X_0$, $\psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y)$, $Bu_0 = \psi(0)$ and let representation (6.8.27) be valid with

$$L_1 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X_0))),$$
$$L_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X)) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X_0))$$

and

$$F \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X_0)$$

If for any $t \in [0, T]$ the operator $BL_2(t)$ is invertible in the space Y and

 $(BL_2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y)),$

then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.8.1)–(6.8.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T]; Y).$$

Proof It follows from the foregoing that Theorem 6.8.2 suits us perfectly in the above framework and, therefore, the inverse problem (6.8.1)-(6.8.3) is uniquely solvable on the whole segment [0, T] and the solution of this problem satisfies the system of the integral equations (6.8.28)-(6.8.29). In light of assumptions (H1)-(H4) the evolution operator U(t, s) becomes strongly continuous in the norm of the space X_0 . Under the conditions of the theorem formulae (6.8.30) provide sufficient background for the inclusions $u_0(t) \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X_0)$ and $p_0(t) \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y)$ and the conclusions that the kernels $K_1(t, s)$ and $K_2(t, s)$ are strongly continuous in the space X_0 and the kernels $L_1(t, s)$ and $L_2(t, s)$ are strongly continuous from Y into X_0 . From such reasoning it seems clear that the system of the integral equations (6.8.28)-(6.8.29) is solvable in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X_0), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y).$$

Due to the restrictions imposed above condition (H8) remains valid for the norm of the space X_0 . If this happens, the function f specified by formula (6.8.14) satisfies the condition

$$f \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];X_0)$$
.

Since $u_0 \in X_0$, representation (6.8.31) is an alternative form of relation (6.8.8) and no more. All this enables us to conclude that $u \in C^1([0, T]; X)$, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

6.9 Inverse problems with singular overdetermination: semilinear hyperbolic equations

This section is devoted to more a detailed exploration of the inverse problem that we have posed in Section 6.8, where a pair of the functions $u \in C^1([0, T]; X), p \in C([0, T]; Y)$ is recovered from the set of relations

(6.9.1)
$$u'(t) = A(t)u(t) + f(t, u(t), p(t)), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

 $(6.9.2) u(0) = u_0,$

(6.9.3)
$$Bu(t) = \psi(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

under the agreement that equation (6.9.1) is hyperbolic in the sense of assumptions (H1)-(H4). The case when the operator B happens to be unbounded will be of special investigations under the condition

$$(6.9.4) B \in \mathcal{L}(X_0, Y).$$

The solution of the inverse problem concerned necessitates imposing several additional restrictions on the operator function A(t). Let a Banach space X_1 can densely and continuously be embedded into X_0 . Assume that condition (H3) of Section 6.8 continues to hold upon replacing X_0 by X_1 , that is,

(H3.1) there exists an operator function $S_1(t)$ defined on the segment [0, T]with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X_1, X)$; it is strongly continuously differentiable on [0, T]; for any $t \in [0, T]$ the operator

$$\left[S_1(t)\right]^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X, X_1)$$

and

$$S_1(t) A(t) [S_1(t)]^{-1} = A(t) + R_1(t),$$

where $R_1(t) \in \mathcal{L}(X)$; the operator function $R_1(t)$ is supposed to be strongly continuous in the space X and to be bounded in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$.

Also, we take for granted that

(H4.1) the operator function $A \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X_1, X_0))$.

In this view, it is reasonable to look for the function f in the form

(6.9.5)
$$f(t, u, p) = f_1(t, u) + f_2(t, u, p).$$

Theorem 6.9.1 Let condition (6.9.4) hold and

$$u_0 \in X_1$$
, $\psi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; Y)$, $B u_0 = \psi(0)$.

One assumes, in addition, that conditions (6.9.5), (H3.1)-(H4.1) of the present section as well as conditions (H1)-(H4) and (H5)-(H9) of Section 6.8 are satisfied in the norm of the space X, condition (H8) continues to hold in the norms of the spaces X_0 and X_1 both. Then there exists a value $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.9.1)-(6.9.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T_{1}]; X) \cap C([0, T_{1}]; X_{1}), \qquad p \in C([0, T_{1}]; Y).$$

Proof First of all observe that the inclusions $X_1 \subset X_0$ and $X_0 \subset \mathcal{D}(A(t))$ imply that $X_1 \subset \mathcal{D}(A(t))$. By assumption (H4.1),

$$A \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X_1, X))$$

because embedding of X_0 into X is continuous. Thus, all the assumptions (H1)-(H4) of Section 6.8 remain valid upon substituting X_1 in place of the space X_0 . In this case the evolution operator U(t,s) is strongly continuous in $\Delta(T)$ in the norm of the space X_1 . Furthermore, by virtue of conditions (H4.1) and (6.9.4) we deduce that

$$(6.9.6) BA \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X_1, Y)).$$

We are now in a position to substantiate the solvability of the inverse problem concerned in the class of functions

$$u \in C([0, T]; X_1), \qquad p \in C([0, T_1]; Y)$$

with some $T_1 > 0$. The function f is defined to be

$$f(t) = f(t, u(t), p(t)).$$

Recall that assumption (H8) of Section 6.8 is true in the norm of the space X_1 . With relation (6.9.5) in view, we thus have

(6.9.7)
$$f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T_1]; X_1)$$

On the other hand, by the definition of continuous solution the function u should satisfy relation (6.8.8) taking now the form

(6.9.8)
$$u(t) = U(t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) \, ds \, .$$

Since $u_0 \in X_1$ and the function f is subject to (6.9.7), it follows from representation (6.9.8) that $u \in C^1([0, T_1]; X)$.

470

6.9. Semilinear hyperbolic equations

In subsequent arguments we shall need yet, among other things, some propositions describing special properties of Banach spaces.

Lemma 6.9.1 If the Banach space X_0 is continuously embedded into the Banach space X and

$$\varphi \in \mathcal{C}([a,b]; X_0) \cap \mathcal{C}^1([a,b]; X)$$

with $\varphi' \in \mathcal{C}([a, b]; X_0)$, then $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^1([a, b]; X_0)$ and the derivatives of φ in the norms of the spaces X and X_0 coincide.

Proof The coincidence of the derivatives we have mentioned above follows from the continuity of embedding of the space X_0 into X. Therefore, it remains to establish the continuous differentiability of the function φ in the norm of the space X_0 . This can be done using ψ for the derivative of the function φ in the norm of the space X and then developing the well-established formula

$$\varphi(t) = \varphi(a) + (X) \int_{a}^{t} \psi(s) \ ds$$

where the symbol (X) indicates that the integral is taken in the X-norm. The inclusion $\psi \in \mathcal{C}([a, b]; X_0)$ is stipulated by the restrictions imposed above and provides support for the view that the function ψ is integrable on the segment [a, t] for any $t \leq b$ in the norm of the space X_0 . Since X_0 is continuously embedded into X, the equality

$$(X_0) \int_a^t \psi(s) \ ds = (X) \int_a^t \psi(s) \ ds$$

is certainly true and implies that for any $t \in [a, b]$

$$\varphi(t) = \varphi(a) + (X_0) \int_a^t \psi(s) \ ds \, .$$

Whence it immediately follows that the function φ is continuously differentiable in the norm of the space X_0 , thereby completing the proof of Lemma 6.9.1.

Lemma 6.9.2 For any element $u_0 \in X_1$ the function

$$\varphi(t) = B U(t,s) u_0$$

is continuously differentiable on the segment [s, T] and

$$\varphi'(t) = B A(t) U(t,s) u_0.$$

Proof In the proof of this assertion we have occasion to use the function

$$\mu(t) = U(t,s) u_0.$$

Since the evolution operator U(t, s) is strongly continuous in $\Delta(T)$ in the norm of the space X_0 and $u_0 \in X_0$, where $X_1 \subset X_0$, the function μ belongs to the class $\mathcal{C}([s, T]; X)$. Furthermore, the inclusion $u_0 \in X_0$ implies that

$$\mu \in \mathcal{C}^1([s,T];X)$$

and

$$\mu'(t) = A(t) U(t,s) u_0$$
.

On the other hand, u_0 belongs to the space X_1 and the operator U(t,s) is strongly continuous on $\Delta(T)$ in the norm of the space X_1 . This provides reason enough to conclude that under condition (H4.1)

$$\mu' \in \mathcal{C}([s,T];X_0)$$
 .

In agreement with Lemma 6.9.1 the inclusion $\mu \in C^1([s, T]; X_0)$ occurs and the derivatives of the function μ coincide with respect to the norms of the spaces X and X_0 . The desired assertion follows immediately from relation (6.9.4).

Lemma 6.9.3 If $f \in C([0, T]; X_1)$ and

$$g(t) = B \int_{0}^{t} U(t,s) f(s) ds$$
,

then the function g is continuously differentiable on [0, T] and

$$g'(t) = B A(t) \int_{0}^{t} U(t,s) f(s) ds + B f(t).$$

Proof The proof of this proposition is similar to that of Lemma 6.9.2 with minor changes. The same procedure will work for the function

$$\mu(t) = \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) \ ds \ ds$$

472

Since the space X_1 is continuously embedded into the space X_0 , the inclusion $f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X_0)$ serves to motivate that the function μ is continuously differentiable on the segment [0, T] in the space X and

$$\mu'(t) = A(t) \int_{0}^{t} U(t,s) f(s) \, ds + f(t) \, ds$$

With the relation $f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X_1)$ established, the evolution operator U(t, s) is strongly continuous in $\Delta(T)$ in the norm of the space X_1 . Recall that the space X_1 is continuously embedded into the space X_0 , so that $\mu' \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X_0)$ on the strength of condition (H4.1). By Lemma 6.9.1 the function μ belongs to $\mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X_0)$ and relation (6.9.4) leads to the final conclusion. Thus, Lemma 6.9.3 is completely proved.

Before we undertake the proof of Theorem 6.9.1, let us recall that the main difficulty here lies in the unique solvability of the system of equations (6.8.8)-(6.8.9) in the class of functions

$$u \in C([0, T_1]; X_1), \qquad p \in C([0, T_1]; Y)$$

with some value $T_1 > 0$. With regard to the function

$$f(t) = f(t, u(t), p(t))$$

it is not difficult to derive from (6.8.8)-(6.8.9) the equation

$$\psi(t) = B U(t,0) u_0 + B \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) ds,$$

which can be differentiated by the formulae of Lemmas 6.9.2-6.9.3. The outcome of this is

(6.9.9)
$$\psi'(t) = B A(t) U(t,0) u_0 + B A(t) \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) ds + B f(t)$$

It is worth noting here that the preceding equation is similar to (6.8.19) and so we are still in the framework of Theorem 6.8.1. Because of (6.8.8), equation (6.9.9) can be rewritten as

(6.9.10)
$$\psi'(t) = B A(t) u(t) + B f(t, u(t), p(t)),$$

yielding

(6.9.11)
$$f_3(t, \psi(t), p(t)) = z(t)$$

with $z(t) = \psi'(t) - B A(t) u(t) - B f_1(t, u(t))$ incorporated. Here we have taken into account conditions (6.9.5) and (H6). In the sequel we deal with the new functions

$$g_0(t) = \psi'(t) - B A(t) U(t, 0) u_0 - B f_1 (t, U(t, 0) u_0),$$

$$g_1(t, u) = -B (f_1(t, u) - f_1 (t, U(t, 0) u_0)),$$

$$K(t, s) = -B A(t) U(t, s).$$

Putting these together with (6.8.8) we obtain

$$z(t) = g_0(t) + g_1(t, u(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds,$$

showing the new members to be sensible ones. By the definition of the function z(t) the relation $z(0) = z_0$ holds true, where the element z_0 is defined by (6.8.11). We note in passing that in (6.8.11)

$$\overline{B} \overline{A(0)} u_0 = B A(0) u_0.$$

By assumptions (H5) and (H7)-(H9) of Section 6.8 there exists a sufficiently small value t such that equation (6.9.11) becomes equivalent to

$$p(t) = \Phi(t, z(t)),$$

thereby reducing the system of the equations for recovering the functions u and p to the following one:

(6.9.12)
$$u(t) = U(t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds,$$

(6.9.13)
$$p(t) = \Phi\left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, u(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds\right).$$

In accordance with what has been said, the last system is similar to (6.3.9) and (6.3.13). Because of this fact, the rest of the proof is simple to follow and so the reader is invited to complete the remaining part on his/her own (for more detail see the proof of Theorem 6.3.1).

We now turn to the linear case when

(6.9.14)
$$f(t, u, p) = L_1(t) u + L_2(t) p + F(t).$$

In this regard, we will show that the inverse problem of interest becomes solvable on the whole segment [0, T].

Theorem 6.9.2 Let conditions (6.9.4), (H3.1)-(H4.1) of the present section and conditions (H1)-(H4) of Section 6.8 hold,

$$u_0 \in X_1$$
, $\psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y)$, $B u_0 = \psi(0)$

and representation (6.9.14) take place with

$$L_1 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X) \bigcap \mathcal{L}(X_0) \cap \mathcal{L}(X_1)),$$
$$L_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X) \bigcap \mathcal{L}(Y, X_0) \bigcap \mathcal{L}(Y, X_1))$$

and

$$F \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X_1)$$
.

If for any $t \in [0, T]$ the operator $BL_2(t)$ is invertible in the space Y and

$$(B L_2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y)),$$

then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.9.1)-(6.9.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^{1}([0, T]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X_{1}), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y).$$

Proof By the above assumptions the conditions of Theorem 6.9.1 will be valid with the members

$$f_{1}(t, u) = L_{1}(t) u + F(t) ,$$

$$f_{2}(t, u, p) = L_{2}(t) p ,$$

$$f_{3}(t, z, p) = B L_{2}(t) p ,$$

$$\Phi(t, z) = (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} z .$$

Therefore, the inverse problem (6.9.1)-(6.9.3) becomes equivalent to the system (6.9.12)-(6.9.13), which in terms of Theorem 6.9.2 takes the form

(6.9.15)
$$u(t) = u_0(t) + \int_0^t \left(K_1(t,s) u(s) + L_1(t,s) p(s) \right) ds,$$

(6.9.16)
$$p(t) = p_0(t) + \int_0^t \left(K_2(t,s) u(s) + L_1(t,s) u(s) + L$$

$$+ L_2(t,s) p(s)) ds$$

where the functions $u_0(t)$, $p_0(t)$ and the kernels $K_1(t,s)$, $L_1(t,s)$, $K_2(t,s)$, $L_2(t,s)$ are defined by formulae (6.8.30) with no use of bar over the operator BA(t). The initial assumptions ensure the continuity of nonhomogeneous terms in (6.9.15)-(6.9.16) and the strong continuity of the operator kernels in the appropriate spaces. It is sufficient for a solution of the system of the Volterra integral equations (6.9.15)-(6.9.16) of the second kind to exist and to be unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C([0, T]; X_1), \qquad p \in C([0, T]; Y).$$

Moreover, as we have established at the very beginning of the proof of Theorem 6.9.1, the solvability of the inverse problem in the indicated class of functions implies the continuous differentiability of the function u in the norm of the space X, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

6.10 Inverse problems with smoothing overdetermination: semilinear hyperbolic equations and operators with fixed domain

As in the preceding section we focus our attention on the inverse problem which has been under consideration in Section 6.8. For the reader's convenience we quote below its statement: it is required to find a pair of the functions $u \in C^1([0, T]; X), p \in C([0, T]; Y)$ from the set of relations

$$(6.10.1) u'(t) = A(t) u(t) + f(t, u(t), p(t)), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(6.10.2) u(0) = u_0,$$

(6.10.3) $Bu(t) = \psi(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$

in which for any $t \in [0, T]$ the operator A(t) with a dense domain is supposed to be linear and closed in the space X. Here

$$f: [0, T] \times X \times Y \mapsto X$$

and B refers to a linear operator acting from the space X into the space Y. The **smoothing property** of the operator B is well-characterized by the inclusions

 $(6.10.4) \qquad B \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y), \qquad \overline{BA} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X, Y)).$

As a matter of fact, the current questions are similar to those explored in Section 6.8 with only difference relating to another definition for equation (6.10.1) to be of **hyperbolic type**. Conditions (H3) and (H4) imposed in Section 6.8 reflect in abstract form some properties of Friedrichs' t-hyperbolic systems. In turn, the conditions of hyperbolicity to be used here reveal some properties of the first order systems connected with a hyperbolic equation of the second order.

Consider a family of norms $|| \cdot ||_t$ on a Banach space X, the elements of which are equivalent to the original norm of the space X. The same symbol will stand for the induced operator norms on the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$. Also, we take for granted that

- (HH1) the domain of the operator A(t) does not depend on t, that is, $\mathcal{D}(A(t)) = \mathcal{D};$
- (HH2) there is a number a > 0 such that for any $t \in [0, T]$ all real numbers λ with $|\lambda| > a$ are contained in the resolvent set of the operator A(t) and

$$\|(A(t) - \lambda I)^{-1}\|_{t} \leq \frac{1}{|\lambda| - a};$$

(HH3) there are some values $s \in [0, T]$ and λ ($|\lambda| > a$) such that the operator function

$$C(t) = (A(t) - \lambda I) (A(s) - \lambda I)^{-1}$$

is continuously differentiable on the segment [0, T] in the norm of the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$;

(HH4) a nondecreasing function $\omega(t)$ is so chosen as to satisfy for any $t \in [0, T]$ and all elements $x \in X$

$$||x||_{t} \ge \delta ||x||, \qquad \delta > 0,$$

and for every t > s and all elements $x \in X$

$$|||x||_t - ||x||_s | \le (\omega(t) - \omega(s)) ||x||.$$

Conditions (HH1)-(HH4) are sufficient for the Cauchy problem

(6.10.5)
$$u'(t) = A(t)u(t) + f(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(6.10.6) u(0) = u_0,$$

to be well-posed. It is well-known that under conditions (HH1)-(HH4) there exists an evolution operator U(t, s), which is strongly continuous in the triangle

$$\Delta(T) = \left\{ (t,s): \ 0 \le s \le T, \ s \le t \le T \right\}$$

and allows to represent a solution of the Cauchy problem (6.10.5)-(6.10.6) by

(6.10.7)
$$u(t) = U(t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) \, ds \, .$$

In the case when $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}$ and $Af \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ formula (6.10.7) gives a unique solution of the Cauchy problem (6.10.5)-(6.10.6) in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T]; X), \qquad A u \in C([0, T]; X).$$

For each $u_0 \in X$ and any $f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ formula (6.10.7) gives a unique continuous solution (in a sense of distributions) $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ of problem (6.10.5)-(6.10.6). Finally, one thing is worth recalling that for any real number λ with $||\lambda| > a$ the operator function

(6.10.8)
$$W_{\lambda}(t,s) = \left(A(t) - \lambda I\right) U(t,s) \left(A(s) - \lambda I\right)^{-1}$$

is strongly continuous in $\Delta(T)$ (see Ikawa (1968)).

Lemma 6.10.1 For any element $u_0 \in X$ and all values $t \geq s$ the function

$$\psi_0(t) = B U(t,s) u_0$$

is differentiable on the segment [0, T] and

$$\psi'_0(t) = \overline{BA(t)} U(t,s) u_0$$

Lemma 6.10.2 For any function $f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$ the function

$$g(t) = B \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) ds$$

is differentiable on the segment [0, T] and

$$g'(t) = \overline{BA(t)} \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) \, ds + B f(t) \, .$$

The reader is invited to establish these lemmas on hir/her own, since they are similar to Lemmas 6.8.1-6.8.2, respectively, with \mathcal{D} in place of the space X_0 .

The next step is to find out whether the inverse problem concerned has a continuous solution. As in Section 6.8 we say that a pair of the functions $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X), p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; Y)$ gives a continuous solution of the inverse problem (6.10.1)-(6.10.3) if the following relations occur:

(6.10.9)
$$u(t) = U(t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

(6.10.10)
$$B u(t) = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Theorem 6.10.1 Let conditions (6.10.4) and $B u_0 = \psi(0)$ hold and let

$$u_0 \in X$$
, $\psi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; Y)$.

If conditions (6.8.10) and (H5)-(H9) of Section 6.8 as well as conditions (HH1)-(HH4) of the present section are fulfilled, then there is a value $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.10.1)-(6.10.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C([0, T_1]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T_1]; Y).$$

Proof In proving the above assertion one should adopt the arguments and exploit some facts from Theorem 6.8.1. Indeed, with regard to the function

$$f(t) = f(t, u(t), p(t))$$

observe that the initial assumptions ensure that for any continuous functions u and p the function f(t) is continuous on [0, T]. Furthermore, having stipulated condition (6.10.10) the equation holds true:

$$\psi(t) = B U(t,0) u_0 + B \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) \, ds \, .$$

On account of Lemmas 6.10.1–6.10.2 the preceding can be differentiated as follows:

$$\psi'(t) = \overline{BA(t)} U(t,0) u_0 + \overline{BA(t)} \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) ds + Bf(t)$$

Because of (6.10.9), it follows from the foregoing that

$$\psi'(t) = \overline{BA(t)} u(t) + Bf(t, u(t), p(t))$$

which admits, in view of (6.8.10) and (H6), an alternative form

(6.10.11)
$$f_3(t, \psi(t), p(t)) = z(t),$$

where

$$z(t) = \psi'(t) - \overline{BA(t)} u(t) - B f_1(t, u(t)).$$

Since $z(0) = z_0$, where z_0 is given by formula (6.8.11), we deduce by successively applying conditions (H5) and (H7)-(H9) of Section 6.8 that for all sufficiently small values t equation (6.10.11) becomes

$$p(t) = \Phi(t, z(t)).$$

Forthcoming substitutions

$$g_{0}(t) = \psi'(t) - \overline{BA(t)} U(t,0) u_{0} - B f_{1}(t, U(t,0) u_{0}),$$

$$g_{1}(t,u) = -B(f_{1}(t, u) - f_{1}(t, U(t,0) u_{0})),$$

$$K(t,s) = -\overline{BA(t)} U(t,s)$$

make our exposition more transparent and permit us to derive representation (6.8.23) for the function z and thereby reduce the inverse problem (6.10.1)-(6.10.3) to the system of integral equations

(6.10.12)
$$u(t) = U(t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds,$$

(6.10.13)
$$p(t) = \Phi\left(t, g_0(t) + g_1(t, u(t)) + \int_0^t K(t, s) f(s, u(s), p(s)) ds\right).$$

It should be noted that the preceding system is almost identical to the system (6.3.9), (6.3.12) and, therefore, we finish the proof of the theorem in just the same way as we did in proving Theorem 6.3.1.

In the linear case when

(6.10.14)
$$f(t, u, p) = L_1(t) u + L_2(t) p + F(t),$$

the solvability of the inverse problem concerned is revealed on the whole segment [0, T].

Theorem 6.10.2 Let conditions (6.10.4) and $Bu_0 = \psi(0)$ hold and let

$$u_0 \in X$$
, $\psi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; Y)$.

One assumes, in addition, that assumptions (HH1)-(HH4) are true and decomposition (6.10.14) takes place with

$$L_1 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X)); \quad L_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X)); \quad F \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X).$$

If for any fixed value $t \in [0, T]$ the operator $BL_2(t)$ is invertible in the space Y and

$$(BL_2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y)),$$

then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.10.1)–(6.10.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T]; Y).$$

Proof The main idea behind proof is similar to that of Theorem 6.8.2. In this line, we begin by setting the functions

 $f_{1}(t, u) = L_{1}(t) u + F(t) ,$ $f_{2}(t, u, p) = L_{2}(t) p ,$ $f_{3}(t, z, p) = B L_{2}(t) p ,$ $\Phi(t, z) = (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} z ,$ being still subject to conditions (H5)-(H9) of Section 6.8. Therefore, Theorem 6.10.1 may be of help in reducing the inverse problem in view to a system of the type (6.10.12)-(6.10.13). In the case which interests us the system in question takes the form of the system of the Volterra linear equations of the second kind

(6.10.15)
$$u(t) = u_0(t) + \int_0^t \left(K_1(t,s) u(s) + L_1(t,s) p(s) \right) ds,$$

(6.10.16)
$$p(t) = p_0(t) + \int_0^t \left(K_2(t,s) u(s) + L_2(t,s) p(s) \right) ds,$$

where the functions $u_0(t)$, $p_0(t)$ and the kernels $K_1(t, s)$, $L_1(t, s)$, $K_2(t, s)$ and $L_2(t, s)$ are specified by formulae (6.8.30). Under the conditions of Theorem 6.10.2 the implicit representations (6.8.30) imply that the nonhomogeneous terms of equations (6.10.15)-(6.10.16) are continuous and their operator kernels are strongly continuous. Just for this reason the preceding system of integral equations is uniquely solvable and the current proof is completed.

We now focus our attention on obtaining the conditions under which a continuous solution of (6.10.1)-(6.10.3) will be differentiable. Accepting (6.8.10), that is, involving the approved decomposition

$$f(t, u, p) = f_1(t, u) + f_2(t, u, p)$$

and holding a number λ ($|\lambda| > a$) fixed, we introduce the new functions

$$g_{1}(t, v) = (A(t) - \lambda I) f_{1}(t, (A(t) - \lambda I)^{-1} v),$$

$$g_{2}(t, v, p) = (A(t) - \lambda I) f_{2}(t, (A(t) - \lambda I)^{-1} v, p)$$

Let $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}$. The element v_0 is defined by

(6.10.17)
$$v_0 = (A(0) - \lambda I) u_0.$$

Also, we require that

(HH8) for some number R > 0 and the element v_0 given by formula (6.10.17) both functions g_1 and g_2 are continuous with respect to the totality of variables on the manifold $S_{X \times Y}((v_0, p_0), R, T)$ and satisfy thereon the Lipschitz condition with respect to (v, p).

6.10. Semilinear hyperbolic equations

Theorem 6.10.3 Let (6.10.4) hold, $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}$, $\psi \in C^1([0, T]; Y)$ and $B u_0 = \psi(0)$. Then the collection of conditions (HH1)-(HH4), (HH8), (6.8.10) and (H5)-(H9) of Section 6.8 assure that there is a value $T_1 > 0$ such that a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.10.1)-(6.10.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T_{1}]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T_{1}]; Y).$$

Proof First of all let us stress that the conditions of Theorem 6.10.1 hold true and provide support for decision-making that for all sufficiently small values t a continuous solution of the inverse problem (6.10.1)-(6.10.3) exists and is unique. We are going to show that there is a sufficiently small value T_1 for which this solution satisfies the condition

(6.10.18) $A u \in C([0, T_1]; X).$

With this aim, the system of the integral equations (6.10.12)-(6.10.13) is put together with the governing equation for the function

$$v(t) = (A(t) - \lambda I) u(t).$$

Relation (6.10.8) yields the identity

(6.10.19)
$$(A(t) - \lambda I) U(t,s) = W_{\lambda}(t,s) (A(s) - \lambda I).$$

Some progress in deriving a similar equation for the function v will be achieved by subsequent procedures: applying the operator $A(t) - \lambda I$ to (6.10.12), joining the resulting equation with (6.10.17) and (6.10.19) and involving the relevant formulae for the functions g_1 and g_2 . The outcome of this is

(6.10.20)
$$v(t) = v_0(t) + \int_0^t W_{\lambda}(t,s) g(s, v(s)) ds,$$

where

(6.10.21)
$$\begin{cases} v_0(t) = W_{\lambda}(t,0) v_0, \\ g(t,v) = g_1(t,v) + g_2(t,v,p(t)) \end{cases}$$

From the conditions of the theorem it follows that the function $v_0(t)$ is continuous on the segment [0, T]. Moreover, the function g(t, v) is continuous in a certain neighborhood of the point $(0, v_0)$ with respect to the totality
of variables and satisfies in this neighborhood the Lipschitz condition in v. Since the kernel $W_{\lambda}(t,s)$ involved in (6.10.20) is strongly continuous, equation (6.10.20) is locally solvable in the class of continuous functions. Arguing in inverse order we see that the function

$$u(t) = \left(A(t) - \lambda I\right)^{-1} v(t),$$

where v(t) is a solution to (6.10.20), will satisfy equation (6.10.12). Being a solution of the system (6.10.12)-(6.10.13), the function u(t) is subject to the relation

$$(A(t) - \lambda I) u(t) \in \mathcal{C}([0, T_1]; X)$$

if the value $T_1 > 0$ is sufficiently small. We note in passing that the preceding inclusion is equivalent to (6.10.18).

With the aid of (6.10.9) we establish the representation

$$u(t) = U(t,0) u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) f(s) \, ds \, ,$$

where f(t) = f(t, u(t), p(t)). Recall that $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}$. The continuous differentiability of the function u will be proved if we succeed in showing that the function A f is continuous. The continuity of A f, in turn, is equivalent to the continuity of $(A - \lambda I) f$ and the last property is ensured by the relation

$$(A(t) - \lambda I) f(t) = g(t, v(t)),$$

where the function g is defined by (6.10.21) and the function

$$v(t) = (A(t) - \lambda I) u(t)$$

is continuous. This completes the proof of the theorem.

We are interested in the linear case where

(6.10.22)
$$f(t, u, p) = L_1(t) u + L_2(t) p + F(t),$$

which is covered by the following proposition.

Theorem 6.10.4 Let under conditions (6.10.4) and $Bu_0 = \psi(0)$ hold and

$$u_0 \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad \psi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];Y).$$

484

One assumes, in addition, that under assumptions (HH1)-(HH4) decomposition (6.10.22) is valid with

$$L_{1}, (A - \lambda I) L_{1} (A - \lambda I)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X));$$
$$L_{2}, A L_{2} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X));$$
$$F, A F \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X).$$

If for any fixed value $t \in 0 \le t \le T$ the operator $BL_2(t)$ is invertible in the space Y and

$$(BL_2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y)),$$

then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (6.10.1)–(6.10.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^1([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T]; Y).$$

Proof Due to the restrictions imposed above the conditions of Theorem 6.10.3 will be satisfied if we agree to consider

$$f_{1}(t, u) = L_{1}(t) u + F(t),$$

$$f_{2}(t, u, p) = L_{2}(t) p,$$

$$f_{3}(t, z, p) = B L_{2}(t) z,$$

$$\Phi(t, z) = (B L_{2}(t))^{-1} z,$$

$$g_{1}(t, v) = (A(t) - \lambda I) L_{1}(t) (A(t) - \lambda I)^{-1} v + (A(t) - \lambda I) F(t)$$

$$g_{2}(t, v, p) = (A(t) - \lambda I) L_{2}(t) p.$$

With these ingredients, the system of equations (6.10.12)-(6.10.13),

(6.10.20) becomes

(6.10.23)
$$u(t) = u_0(t) + \int_0^t \left(K_1(t,s) u(s) + L_1(t,s) p(s) \right) ds,$$

(6.10.24)
$$p(t) = p_0(t) + \int_0^t \left(K_2(t,s) u(s) + L_2(t,s) p(s) \right) ds$$

$$+ L_2(i, s) p(s) j \, as$$
,

(6.10.25)
$$v(t) = \tilde{v}_0(t) + \int_0^t K_3(t,s) v(s) \, ds \, ,$$

where

$$\begin{split} u_0(t) &= U(t,0) \, u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) \, F(s) \, ds \,, \\ K_1(t,s) &= U(t,s) \, L_1(s) \,, \\ L_1(t,s) &= U(t,s) \, L_2(s) \,, \\ p_0(t) &= \left(B \, L_2(t) \right)^{-1} \left[\psi'(t) - \left(\overline{B \, A(t)} + B \, L_1(t) \right) \right. \\ & \left. \times \left(U(t,0) \, u_0 + \int_0^t U(t,s) \, F(s) \, ds \right) - B \, F(t) \right] \,, \\ K_2(t,s) &= - \left(B \, L_2(t) \right)^{-1} \left(\overline{B \, A(t)} + B \, L_1(t) \right) \, U(t,s) \, L_1(s) \,, \\ L_2(t,s) &= - \left(B \, L_2(t) \right)^{-1} \left(\overline{B \, A(t)} + B \, L_1(t) \right) \, U(t,s) \, L_2(s) \,, \\ \bar{v}_0(t) &= W_\lambda(t,0) \, v_0 + \int_0^t W_\lambda(t,s) \left[\left(A(s) - \lambda \, I \right) \, F(s) \right] \, ds \end{split}$$

486

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} W_{\lambda}(t,s) \left[\left(A(s) - \lambda I \right) L_{2}(s) \right] p(s) ds,$$

$$K_{3}(t,s) = W_{\lambda}(t,s) \left[\left(A(s) - \lambda I \right) L_{1}(s) \left(A(s) - \lambda I \right)^{-1} \right].$$

Under the initial premises the functions $u_0(t)$ and $p_0(t)$ are continuous on the segment [0, T] and the operator kernels $K_1(t, s)$, $L_1(t, s)$, $K_2(t, s)$ and $L_2(t, s)$ are strongly continuous in $\Delta(T)$. Relations (6.10.23)-(6.10.24) may be treated as a system of the Volterra linear equations of the second kind for the functions u and p. Under such an approach the existence of a solution to (6.10.23)-(6.10.24) in the class of continuous functions is established on the whole segment [0, T] in light of the results of Section 5.1. On the other hand, for any continuous functions u and p the nonhomogeneous term $\bar{v}_0(t)$ arising from (6.10.25) is continuous and the kernel $K_3(t, s)$ is strongly continuous. Therefore, equation (6.10.25) is also solvable in the class $\mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$. In view of this, another conclusion can be drawn that relation (6.10.18) occurs for $T_1 = T$, thereby justifying the continuous differentiability of the function u on the segment [0, T] in agreement with Theorem 6.10.3 and completing the proof of the theorem.

Chapter 7

Two-Point Inverse Problems for First Order Equations

7.1 Two-point inverse problems

In this section we deal in a Banach space X with a closed linear operator A with a dense domain. For the purposes of the present section we have occasion to use two mappings $\Phi: [0, T] \mapsto \mathcal{L}(X)$ and $F: [0, T] \mapsto X$ and fix two arbitrary elements $u_0, u_1 \in X$. The **two-point inverse problem** consists of finding a function $u \in C^1([0, T]; X)$ and an element $p \in X$ from the set of relations

(7.1.1)
$$u'(t) = A u(t) + f(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(7.1.2) u(0) = u_0$$

(7.1.3)
$$f(t) = \Phi(t) p + F(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(7.1.4) u(T) = u_1$$

One assumes, in addition, that the operator A is the generator of a strongly continuous semigroup V(t) or, what amounts to the same things, the

Cauchy (direct) problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.2) is uniformly well-posed. It is known from Fattorini (1983) that for $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and

$$f \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X) + \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$

the direct problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.2) has a solution in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T]; X), \qquad A u \in C([0, T]; X).$$

This solution is unique in the indicated class of functions and is representable by

(7.1.5)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s) \, ds \, .$$

In contrast to the direct problem the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) involves the function f as the unknown of the prescribed structure (7.1.3), where the element $p \in X$ is unknown and the mappings Φ and F are available. Additional information about the function u in the form of the final overdetermination (7.1.4) provides a possibility of determining the element p.

In the further development one more restriction is imposed on the operator-valued function Φ :

(7.1.6)
$$\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];\mathcal{L}(X)),$$

which ensures that for any $p \in X$ the function $\Phi(t)p$ as a function of the argument t with values in the Banach space X will be continuously differentiable on the segment [0, T]. Because of this, the function f of the structure (7.1.3) belongs to the space

$$C^{1}([0, T]; X) + C([0, T]; D(A))$$

if and only if the function F belongs to the same space. We note in passing that from relation (5.7.4) and the very definition of the inverse problem solution it follows that the inclusion $u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ regards as a necessary solvability condition. Before proceeding to careful analysis, it will be sensible to introduce the concept of **admissible input data**.

Definition 7.1.1 The elements u_0 and u_1 and the function F are called the admissible input data of the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) if

(7.1.7)
$$u_0, u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A), \quad F \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X) + \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A)).$$

7.1. Two-point inverse problems

In the case when the input data are admissible, a solution of the Cauchy problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.2) can be expressed by (7.1.5), thus causing the equivalence between the system joining three relations (7.1.1)-(7.1.3) and the following equation:

(7.1.8)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) \left[\Phi(s) p + F(s) \right] ds, \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

All this enables us to extract a single equation for the unknown element p. In view of (7.1.8), relation (7.1.4) becomes

$$u_{1} = v(T) u_{0} + \int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) \left[\Phi(s) p + F(s) \right] ds$$

and admits an alternative form

(7.1.9)
$$B p = g$$
,

where

(7.1.10)
$$B p = \int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) \Phi(s) p \, ds,$$

(7.1.11)
$$g = u_1 - V(T) u_0 - \int_0^T V(T-s) F(s) \, ds \, .$$

This provides sufficient background to deduce that the function u and the element p give a solution of the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) with admissible input data if and only if p solves equation (7.1.9) and u is given by formula (7.1.8). Thus, the inverse problem of interest amounts to equation (7.1.9).

The next step is to reveal some elementary properties of equation (7.1.9) in showing that its right-hand side g defined by formula (7.1.11) is an element of the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$. Indeed, recalling that $u_0, u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ we may attempt the sought function F in the form $F = F_1 + F_2$ with $F_1 \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X)$ and $F_2, A F_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$. From semigroup theory (see Fattorini (1983)) it is known that the function u defined by (7.1.8) is

subject to the following relations:

(7.1.12)

$$u'(t) = V(t) \left(A u_{0} + F_{1}(0) + \Phi(0) p \right) + F_{2}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} V(t - s) \left[F_{1}'(s) + A F_{2}(s) + \Phi'(s) p \right] ds,$$
(7.1.13)

$$A u(t) = V(t) \left(A u_{0} + F_{1}(0) + \Phi(0) p \right) - F_{1}(t) - \Phi(t) p + \int_{0}^{t} V(t - s) \left[F_{1}'(s) + A F_{2}(s) + \Phi'(s) p \right] ds.$$

At the same time, for the element g defined by (7.1.11), the following relationship takes place:

(7.1.14)
$$A g = A u_1 - V(T) \left(A u_0 + F_1(0) \right) + F_1(T)$$
$$- \int_0^T V(T-s) \left[F_1'(s) + A F_2(s) \right] ds,$$

whence the inclusion $g \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ becomes obvious. On the other hand, for $u_0 = 0$ and F = 0 we thus have $g = u_1$. Since u_1 is arbitrarily chosen from the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$, any element of $\mathcal{D}(A)$ may appear in place of g. Thus, we arrive at the following assertion.

Corollary 7.1.1 The unique solvability of the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) with any admissible input data is equivalent to the invertibility of the operator B and the equality $\mathcal{D}(B^{-1}) = \mathcal{D}(A)$.

7.1. Two-point inverse problems

The operator B^{-1} (if it exists) is closed. This is due to the fact that the operator B is bounded. It is not difficult to establish this property with the aid of (7.1.10). If the operator A is unbounded, thus causing that the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$ does not coincide with the space X, then the operator B^{-1} fails to be bounded. However, the Banach theorem on closed operator yields

$$B^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{D}(A), X)$$

if the space $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is equipped with the graph norm of the operator A

$$|| u ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} = || u || + || A u ||.$$

Corollary 7.1.2 If a solution of the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) exists and is unique for any admissible input data $u_0, u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and

$$F = F_1 + F_2$$

with $F_1 \in C^1([0, T]; X)$, $F_2 \in C([0, T]; D(A))$, then the stability estimates hold:

(7.1.15)
$$||u||_{\mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T];X)} \leq c \left(||u_{0}||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + ||u_{1}||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} \right)$$

+
$$||F_1||_{\mathcal{C}^1([0,T];X)} + ||F_2||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(A))}$$

(7.1.16)
$$||u||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(A))} \leq c \left(||u_0||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + ||u_1||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} \right)$$

$$(7.1.17) \qquad || p || \leq c \left(|| u_0 ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + || u_1 ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + || F_2 ||_{\mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))} \right),$$
$$(7.1.17) \qquad || p || \leq c \left(|| u_0 ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + || u_1 ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + || F_1 ||_{\mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))} + || F_2 ||_{\mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))} \right).$$

Proof Indeed, since the inverse problem of interest is uniquely solvable under any admissible input data, the operator B is invertible and so

$$B^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{D}(A), X)$$
.

In view of this, a solution to equation (7.1.9) satisfies the inequality $||p|| \leq M ||g||_{\mathcal{D}(A)},$

where $M = ||B^{-1}||$. With this relation established, estimate (7.1.17) immediately follows from (7.1.11) and (7.1.14). When (7.1.8), (7.1.12)–(7.1.13) and (7.1.17) are put together, we come to (7.1.15) and (7.1.16) as desired.

It is worth noting here that in the general case the operator B fails to be invertible, thus causing some difficulties. This obstacle can be illustrated by the example in which the operator A has an eigenvector e with associated eigenvalue λ . One assumes, in addition, that $\Phi(t)$ is a scalar-valued function such that

$$\int_{0}^{T} \exp\left(-\lambda s\right) \Phi(s) \ ds = 0$$

Let the value $\Phi(t)$ of the function Φ at the point $t \in [0, T]$ be identified with the operator of multiplication by the number $\Phi(t)$ in the space X. Turning now to the inverse problem (7.1.1)–(7.1.4) observe that the function u and the element p are given by the formulae

$$u(t) = \left(\int_{0}^{t} \exp(\lambda(t-s)) \Phi(s) ds\right) e,$$

$$p = e.$$

This pair constitutes what is called a nontrivial solution of the inverse problem with zero input data $u_0, u_1, F = 0$, thereby clarifying that the operator B transforms the nonzero element e into zero in the space X.

In this connection the conditions, under which the operator B is invertible and equation (7.1.9) is solvable in every particular case, become important and rather urgent. What is more, we need to know at what extent a solution to equation (7.1.9) may be nonunique and find out the conditions under which Fredholm's solvability of the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) arises. To overcome difficulties involved in a study of equation (7.1.9) and stipulated by the fact that this equation is of the first kind, it is reasonable to reduce it to an equation of the second kind by imposing extra restrictions on the input data.

Lemma 7.1.1 Let $\Phi \in C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X))$, the operator $\Phi(T)$ be invertible and $\Phi(T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$. If the element g defined by (7.1.11) belongs to the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$ and $\lambda \in \rho(A)$, then equation (7.1.9) is equivalent to the following one:

$$(7.1.18) p - B_1 p = h,$$

where

(7.1.19)
$$B_1 = \Phi(T)^{-1} \left[\int_0^T V(T-s) \times \left[\Phi'(s) - \lambda \Phi(s) \right] ds + V(T) \Phi(0) \right],$$

(7.1.20) $h = -\Phi(T)^{-1} (A - \lambda I) g.$

Proof One well-known fact from semigroup theory may be useful in the further development: for any function $f \in C^1([0, T]; X)$

m

$$(7.1.21) A \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) f(s) ds = \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) f'(s) ds + V(t) f(0) - f(t).$$

Since $\lambda \in \rho(A)$ and $g \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, equation (7.1.9) is equivalent to the following one:

(7.1.22)
$$(A - \lambda I) B p = (A - \lambda I) g,$$

which, in turn, can be rewritten as

 τ

(7.1.23)
$$\int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) \Phi'(s) p \, ds + V(T) \Phi(0) p - \Phi(T) p$$
$$-\lambda \int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) \Phi(s) p \, ds = (A - \lambda I) g.$$

Here we have taken into account (7.1.10) and formula (7.1.21) with $f(t) = \Phi(t) p$ incorporated. Collecting two integral terms in (7.1.23) and applying then the operator $\Phi(T)^{-1}$ to both sides of the resulting equality, we derive (7.1.18), thereby completing the proof of Lemma 7.1.1.

In light of the well-known results from semigroup theory there exist constants $M \ge 1$ and β such that the estimate

(7.1.24)
$$||V(t)|| \le M \exp(\beta t)$$

is valid for any $t \ge 0$. This provides support for the view that V(t) is a **contraction semigroup** if M = 1 and $\beta \le 0$. For a wide range of applications the corresponding semigroups turn out to be contractive. Moreover, in some practical problems the constant β arising from (7.1.24) is strictly negative and in every such case the semigroup is said to be **exponentially** decreasing.

Theorem 7.1.1 If under the conditions of Lemma 7.1.1 estimate (7.1.24) holds and

(7.1.25)
$$\int_{0}^{T} \left\| \left[\Phi'(s) - \lambda \Phi(s) \right] \Phi(T)^{-1} \right\| \exp\left(\beta (T-s)\right) ds + \left\| \Phi(0) \Phi(T)^{-1} \right\| \exp\left(\beta T\right) < \frac{1}{N}$$

then the operator B is invertible,

$$\mathcal{D}(B^{-1}) = \mathcal{D}(A)$$

and, in particular, the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) is uniquely solvable for any admissible input data.

Proof By virtue of Lemma 7.1.1 equation (7.1.9) can be replaced by (7.1.18) with

$$p' = \Phi(T) p$$

Multiplying the resulting equality by $\Phi(T)$ from the left yields the governing equation for the element p':

$$(7.1.26) p' - B_2 p' = h',$$

where the expressions

$$B_2 = \int_0^T V(T-s) \left[\Phi'(s) - \lambda \Phi(s) \right] \Phi(T)^{-1} ds + V(T) \Phi(0) \Phi(T)^{-1},$$

$$h' = -(A - \lambda I) g$$

are derived from representations (7.1.19)-(7.1.20). Putting these together with (7.1.24)-(7.1.25) we conclude that the operator B_2 has the bound

 $||B_2|| < 1$,

whence the unique solvability of (7.1.26) follows for any right-hand side $h' \in X$. Therefore, equation (7.1.18) is also uniquely solvable for any right-hand side, since the elements h and h' are related by

$$h' = \Phi(T) h ,$$

where $\Phi(T)$, $\Phi(T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$. For the same reason as before, Lemma 7.1.1 asserts the unique solvability of (7.1.9) for any admissible input data. Furthermore, on account of Corollary 7.1.1 the operator B is invertible, so that

$$\mathcal{D}(B^{-1}) = \mathcal{D}(A),$$

thereby completing the proof of the theorem. \blacksquare

7.1. Two-point inverse problems

Theorem 7.1.1 applies equally well to one particular problem in which a scalar-valued function Φ is defined and continuously differentiable on the segment [0, T]. We identify the number $\Phi(t)$ and the operator of multiplication by this number $\Phi(t)$ in the space X bearing in mind the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4). Then

$$\|\Phi(T)\| = |\Phi(T)|$$

and Φ as an operator function belongs to the space $C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X))$. The operator $\Phi(T)$ is invertible if and only if $\Phi(T) \neq 0$ and its inverse coincides with the operator of multiplication by the number

$$\Phi(T)^{-1} = 1/\Phi(T)$$
.

Also, for all values $t \in [0, T]$ we accept

(7.1.27)
$$\Phi(t) > 0, \qquad \Phi'(t) \ge 0.$$

Theorem 7.1.2 One assumes that the semigroup V(t) generated by the operator A obeys estimate (7.1.24) with M = 1 and $\beta < 0$. If the function $\Phi \in C^1[0, T]$ is in line with (7.1.27), then a solution of the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) exists and is unique for any admissible input data.

Proof From estimate (7.1.24) it follows that ||V(T)|| < 1, giving $1 \in \rho(V(T))$. The theorem on mapping of the semigroup spectrum yields the inclusion $0 \in \rho(A)$, making it possible to apply Theorem 7.1.1 to $\lambda = 0$. Denote by Q the left-hand side of inequality (7.1.25). Then

$$Q = \left| \Phi(T) \right|^{-1} \int_{0}^{T} \left| \Phi'(s) \right| \exp \left(\beta \left(T - s \right) \right) \, ds + \left| \Phi(0) / \Phi(T) \right| \exp \left(\beta T \right).$$

Since $\beta < 0$, we obtain for any $s \in [0, T]$ the quantity

$$\exp\left(\beta\left(T-s\right)\right) \le 1$$

and the following chain of relations as an immediate implication of conditions (7.1.27):

$$Q \leq \Phi(T)^{-1} \int_{0}^{T} \Phi'(s) \, ds + \frac{\Phi(0)}{\Phi(T)} \exp(\beta T)$$

= $\Phi(T)^{-1} \left(\Phi(T) - \Phi(0) \right) + \frac{\Phi(0)}{\Phi(T)} \exp(\beta T)$
= $1 - \frac{\Phi(0)}{\Phi(T)} \left(1 - \exp(\beta T) \right).$

Recall that, by assumption, $\Phi(0) > 0$, $\Phi(T) > 0$ and $\beta < 0$ and, therefore, estimate (7.1.25) remains valid. This provides reason enough to refer to Theorem 7.1.1 which asserts the unique solvability of the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) with any admissible input data.

Of special interest is one particular case $\Phi(t) \equiv 1$ for which the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) can be written as

- (7.1.28) $u'(t) = A u(t) + p + F(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$
- $(7.1.29) u(0) = u_0, u(T) = u_1.$

The function $\Phi \equiv 1$ satisfies both conditions (7.1.27) and so Theorem 7.1.2 is followed by

Corollary 7.1.3 If estimate (7.1.24) with M = 1 and $\beta < 0$ is obtained for the semigroup V(t) generated by the operator A, then a solution of the inverse problem (7.1.28)-(7.1.29) exists and is unique for any admissible input data.

In this line, we claim that Corollary 7.1.3 will be valid under the weaker condition

$$(7.1.30) 1 \in \rho(V(T)).$$

Indeed, a first look at equation (7.1.9) may be of help in this matter. Because of (7.1.30), the theorem on mapping of the semigroup spectrum yields the inclusion $0 \in \rho(A)$, due to which the integral on the right-hand side of (7.1.10) can be found for $\Phi \equiv 1$. This can be done using (7.1.21) with $f(t) \equiv p$. The outcome of this is

(7.1.31)
$$A \int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) p \, ds = (V(T) - I) p.$$

Comparison of (7.1.31) and (7.1.10) gives

 $B p = A^{-1} (V(T) - I) p,$

implying that

(7.1.32)
$$B^{-1} = (V(T) - I)^{-1} A.$$

With this relation in view, the element p can explicitly be expressed by

(7.1.33)
$$p = (V(T) - I)^{-1} A g.$$

Being concerned with the element f, we find the function u by formula (7.1.8):

(7.1.34)
$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) [p+F(s)] ds, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

since $\Phi \equiv 1$. Thus, we arrive at the following assertion.

Corollary 7.1.4 If the semigroup V(t) generated by the operator A satisfies condition (7.1.30), then a solution of the inverse problem (7.1.28)–(7.1.29) exists and is unique for any admissible input data. Moreover, this solution is explicitly found by formulae (7.1.11), (7.1.33) and (7.1.34).

In trying to verify condition (7.1.30) some difficulties do arise. However, for a wide class of problems the theorem on the spectrum mapping is much applicable and, by virtue of its strong version, we thus have

$$\exp(t\,\sigma(A)) = \sigma(V(t)) \setminus \{0\}.$$

For example, the problem with a self-adjoint operator A falls into the category of such problems and so condition (7.1.30) can be replaced by $A^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$. Furthermore, the class we have mentioned above contains also problems with parabolic equations, since the operator A generates an analytic semigroup. In this case the meaning of condition (7.1.30) is that the spectrum of the operator A contains no points of the type $2\pi ki/T$, where k is an integer and i is the imaginary unit.

As stated above, the inverse problem under consideration may have, in general, a nontrivial solution even if all of the input data functions become nonzero. If this inverse problem possesses a compact semigroup, then **Fredholm-type solvability** of this problem can be achieved. Recall that the semigroup V is said to be **compact** if the operator V(t) is compact for all t > 0.

Theorem 7.1.3 If the operator A generates a compact semigroup,

$$\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X)), \qquad \Phi(T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X), \qquad \lambda \in \rho(A)$$

and the element h is defined by (7.1.20), then the following assertions are valid:

- (1) for the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) to be solvable for any admissible input data it is necessary and sufficient that this problem has only a trivial solution under the zero input data;
- (2) the set of all solutions of the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) with zero input data forms in the space $C^1([0, T]; X) \times X$ a finite-dimensional subspace;
- (3) there exist elements $l_1, l_2, \ldots, l_n \in X^*$ such that the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) is solvable if and only if $l_i(h) = 0, 1 \le i \le n$.

Proof It is clear that all the conditions of Lemma 7.1.1 hold true, by means of which the inverse problem concerned reduces to equation (7.1.18). Recall that the semigroup V is compact. Due to this property V will be continuous for t > 0 in the operator topology of the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$. Since the set of all compact operators constitutes a closed two-sided ideal in this topology, the operator

(7.1.35)
$$B' = \int_{0}^{T-\varepsilon} V(T-s) \left[\Phi'(s) - \lambda \Phi(s) \right] ds$$

is compact for any $\varepsilon > 0$ as a limit of the corresponding Riemann sums in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$. On the other hand, the norm of the function

$$f(s) = V(T-s) \left[\Phi'(s) - \lambda \Phi(s) \right]$$

is bounded on the segment [0, T]. Consequently, the integral in (7.1.35) converges as $\varepsilon \to 0$ in the operator topology of the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$, implying that the operator

$$B' = \int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) \left[\Phi'(s) - \lambda \Phi(s) \right] ds$$

is compact. It should be noted that in Lemma 7.1.1 this integral is understood in the sense of the strong topology of the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$.

If the operator V(T) is supposed to be compact, then so is the operator

$$B'' = V(T) \Phi(0)$$

For the same reason as before the compactness of the operators B' and B'' both implies this property for the operator

$$B_1 = \Phi(T)^{-1} (B' + B'') .$$

500

This serves as a basis for special investigations of equation (7.1.18) from the viewpoint of Fredholm's theory.

It is easily seen that the element g defined by (7.1.11) runs over the entire manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$ if the input data run over the set of all admissible elements. Formula (7.1.20) implies that the element h runs over the entire space X, while the element g lies within the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$. From such reasoning it seems clear that the solvability of the inverse problem (7.1.1)–(7.1.4) under any admissible data is equivalent to that of equation (7.1.18) for any $h \in X$. Therefore, the first assertion of the theorem is an immediate implication of Fredholm's alternative.

If all of the input data become zero, then h = 0, so that the set comprising all of the solutions to equation (7.1.18) will coincide with the characteristic subspace of the operator B_1 if this subspace is associated with the unit eigenvalue. Since the operator B_1 is compact, the characteristic subspace so constructed is finite-dimensional. In order to arrive at the second assertion of the theorem it remains to take into account that (7.1.8) admits now the form

$$u(t) = \int_0^t V(t-s) \Phi(s) p \ ds \, .$$

Let $\{l_i\}$ form a basis of the finite-dimensional space comprising all of the solutions to the homogeneous equation $l - B_1^* l = 0$. From Fredholm's theory it follows that equation (7.1.18) will be solvable if and only if $l_i(h) = 0$, $1 \le i \le n$. This proves the third assertion, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

7.2 Inverse problems with self-adjoint operator and scalar function Φ

This section is connected with one possible statement of the **two-point** inverse problem, special investigations of which lead to a final decisionmaking about the existence and uniqueness of its solution. One assumes that X is a Hilbert space, an operator A is self-adjoint and the inclusion $\Phi \in C^1[0, T]$ holds. The main goal of our study is to find a function $u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X)$ and an element $p \in X$ from the set of relations

(7.2.1)
$$u'(t) = A u(t) + f(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

 $(7.2.2) u(0) = u_0,$

(7.2.3)
$$f(t) = \Phi(t) p + F(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(7.2.4) u(T) = u_1,$$

when the function $F \in C^1([0, T]; X) + C([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ and the elements $u_0, u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ are available, that is, the input data comprising F, u_0 and u_2 are supposed to be admissible in the sense of Definition 7.1.1.

The operator A is the generator of a strongly continuous semigroup if and only if it is semibounded from above. In that case there is a real number b such that the operator A is representable by

$$A = \int_{-\infty}^{b} \lambda \ dE_{\lambda} ,$$

where E_{λ} refers to the spectral resolution of unity of the operator A (see Akhiezer and Glasman (1966)). Every element $h \in X$ can be put in correspondence with the measure on the real line

$$d\mu_h(\lambda) = d(E_\lambda h, h),$$

where (f, g) denotes the inner product of elements f and g in the space X.

A key role in "milestones" with regard to problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4) is played by the following lemma.

Lemma 7.2.1 Let the operator A be self-adjoint in the Hilbert space X and E_{λ} be its spectral resolution of unity. One assumes, in addition, that the function φ belongs to the space $C(\mathbf{R})$ and the set of all its zeroes either is empty or contains isolated points only. Then the equation

(7.2.5)
$$\left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\varphi(\lambda) \ dE_{\lambda}\right)p = h$$

is solvable with respect to p if and only if

(7.2.6)
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda}h, h) < \infty.$$

Moreover, equation (7.2.5) with h = 0 has a unique trivial solution if and only if the point spectrum of the operator A contains no zeroes of the function φ . **Proof** The uniqueness of a solution to equation (7.2.5) is of our initial concern. We proceed as usual. This amounts to considering one of the zeroes of the function φ , say λ_0 , setting h = 0 and adopting λ_0 and f as an eigenvalue of the operator A and the associated eigenvector, respectively. In accordance with what has been said,

$$dE_{\lambda} f = \delta \left(\lambda - \lambda_0 \right) f,$$

where $\delta(\lambda)$ stands for **Dirac's measure**. Therefore,

$$\left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\varphi(\lambda)\ dE_{\lambda}\right)f\ =\ \varphi(\lambda_{0})\ f\ =\ 0$$

and equation (7.2.5) has a nontrivial solution p = f.

Arguing in reverse direction we assume that the point spectrum of the operator A contains no zeroes of the function φ and

$$h = \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \varphi(\lambda) \ dE_{\lambda}\right) p = 0.$$

Then

(7.2.7)
$$||h||^2 = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^2 d(E_{\lambda}p, p) = 0$$

Since each zero of the function φ is isolated, relation (7.2.7) implies that the function

$$\mu_p(\lambda) = (E_\lambda p, p)$$

may exercise jumps only at zeroes of the function φ . Let now $p \neq 0$. It follows from the equality

$$||p||^{2} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d(E_{\lambda}p, p)$$

that one of the zeroes of the function φ , say λ_0 , should coincide with a point at which the measure $\mu_p(\lambda)$ has a jump. Consequently, λ_0 of such a kind would be a jump point of the resolution E_{λ} , implying that λ_0 falls into the collection of the eigenvalues of the operator A. The contradiction obtained shows that $\rho = 0$.

In this context, the question of solvability of equation (7.2.5) arises naturally. Granted (7.2.6), denote by X_1 a **cyclic subspace** generated by the element h in the space X. This subspace will be a closure of the linear span of all elements of the type $(E_\beta - E_\alpha)h$, where $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbf{R}$ (see Akhiezer and Glasman (1966)).

Moreover, the operator A is reduced by the subspace X_1 and the component A_1 of the operator A acting in the space X_1 is a self-adjoint operator with a **simple spectrum** (see Plesner (1965)). The resolution of unity of the operator A_1 coincides with the restriction of E_{λ} onto X_1 . Since h is a generating element, the **spectral type** of the measure $\mu_h(\lambda)$ will be maximal with respect to the operator A_1 . Therefore, condition (7.2.6) implies that the **spectral measure** with respect to the operator A_1 of the zero set of the function φ is equal to zero. The operator $\varphi(A_1)$ is invertible due to this fact. Furthermore, the inclusion $h \in \mathcal{D}(\varphi(A_1)^{-1})$ is stipulated by condition (7.2.6), whence another conclusion can be drawn that equation (7.2.5) is solvable in the space X_1 and thus in the space X (see Plesner (1965)).

Arguing in inverse direction we assume that (7.2.5) has a solution, say p, in the space X. Relation (7.2.5) yields

$$(E_{\lambda}h, h) = \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda} |\varphi(\mu)|^2 d(E_{\mu}p, p).$$

This serves to motivate that the measure μ_h is subordinate to the measure μ_p and permits us to establish

$$d(E_{\lambda}h, h) = |\varphi(\lambda)|^2 d(E_{\lambda}p, p).$$

With this relationship in view, it is not difficult to derive that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda}h, h) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d(E_{\lambda}p, p) = ||p||^{2} < \infty.$$

Now condition (7.2.6) follows and this completes the proof of the lemma. \blacksquare

A study of the inverse problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4) involves the function

(7.2.8)
$$\varphi(\lambda) = \int_{0}^{T} \Phi(s) \exp\left(\lambda (T-s)\right) ds.$$

Theorem 7.2.1 If the operator A is self-adjoint and semibounded from above in the Hilbert space X, $\Phi \in C^1[0, T]$ and $\Phi \not\equiv 0$, then the following assertions are true:

(1) the inverse problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4) under the fixed input data is solvable if and only if

(7.2.9)
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda}g, g) < \infty,$$

where E_{λ} refers to the resolution of unity of the operator A, the function φ is specified by (7.2.8), the element g is given by relation (7.1.11), that is,

$$g = u_1 - V(T) u_0 - \int_0^T V(T-s) F(s) \, ds$$

and V is a semigroup generated by the operator A;

(2) if the inverse problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4) is solvable, then its solution will be unique if and only if the point spectrum of the operator A contains no zeroes of the function φ specified by (7.2.8).

Proof The inverse problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4) is a particular case of the twopoint problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) and, as stated in Section 7.1, can be reduced to equation (7.1.9) of the form Bp = g, where

(7.2.10)
$$B p = \int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) \Phi(s) p \, ds$$

Here V refers, as usual, to the semigroup generated by the operator A.

Since the function u is explicitly expressed via the element p by formula (7.1.8), the existence or uniqueness of a solution of the inverse problem concerned is equivalent to the same properties for the equation B p = g, respectively.

As we have mentioned above, there is a real number b such that

$$A = \int_{-\infty}^{b} \lambda \ dE_{\lambda} \, .$$

On the other hand, from calculus of self-adjoint operators it is known that

$$V(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{b} \exp(\lambda t) dE_{\lambda},$$

which is substituted into (7.2.10) and leads to the formula

(7.2.11)
$$B = \int_{0}^{T} \left(\int_{-\infty}^{b} \Phi(s) \exp\left(\lambda(T-s)\right) dE_{\lambda} \right) ds.$$

It is worth noting here that the measure $dE_{\lambda} \otimes ds$ is bounded on $(-\infty, b] \times [0, T]$ and the function

$$K(\lambda, s) = \Phi(s) \exp (\lambda (T-s))$$

is continuous and bounded on $(-\infty, b] \times [0, T]$. Due to the indicated properties the Fubini theorem suits us perfectly for the integrals in (7.2.11) and allows one to change the order of integration. By minor manipulations with these integrals we arrive at

$$B = \int_{-\infty}^{b} \varphi(\lambda) \ dE_{\lambda} ,$$

where the function φ is specified by (7.2.8). What is more, it follows from (7.2.8) that φ is an entire function which does not identically equal zero. In this case the zero set of the function φ contains isolated points only. To complete the proof of the theorem, it remains to take into account that the equation Bp = g is of the form (7.2.5) and apply then Lemma 7.2.1, thereby justifying both assertions.

Suppose that the zero set of the function φ does not intersect the spectrum of the operator A. Under this premise item (2) of Theorem 7.2.1 is certainly true and condition (7.2.9) is still valid for $\Phi(T) \neq 0$. A simple observation may be of help in verifying the fact that the integral in (7.2.9) can be taken from $-\infty$ to a finite upper bound. Also, the integral

(7.2.12)
$$\int_{a}^{b} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda}g, g)$$

506

is always finite for any finite numbers a and b, since the function φ is continuous, its zero set consists of the isolated points only and the spectrum of the operator A is closed. Indeed, if $\varphi(\lambda_0) = 0$, then the resolvent set $\rho(A)$ contains not only this point λ_0 , but also its certain neighborhood in which $E_{\lambda} = \text{const.}$ In this view, it is reasonable to take the integral in (7.2.12) over the segment [a, b] except for certain neighborhoods of all points from the zero set of the function φ . Therefore, the integral in (7.2.12) is finite and it remains to establish the convergence of the integral in (7.2.9) at $-\infty$. To that end, we integrate by parts in (7.2.8) and establish the relation

(7.2.13)
$$\varphi(\lambda) = \frac{\Phi(0) \exp \lambda T - \Phi(T)}{\lambda} + \frac{1}{\lambda}$$
$$\times \int_{0}^{T} \Phi'(s) \exp \left(\lambda (T-s)\right) ds,$$

implying that

$$\varphi(\lambda) \sim \Phi(T) / |\lambda|$$

as $\lambda \to -\infty$. Therefore, the integral in (7.2.9) converges at $-\infty$ if and only if there exists a real number a, ensuring the convergence of the integral

$$\int_{-\infty}^a \lambda^2 \ d(E_\lambda g, g) ,$$

which is just finite due to the inclusion $g \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ (see Riesz and Sz.-Nagy (1972)). Recall that the element g was defined by (7.1.11) and its belonging to the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$ was justified at the very beginning of Section 7.1.

From the theory of operators it is known that the spectrum of any selfadjoint operator is located on the real axis. Hence the function φ becomes non-zero on the operator spectrum, provided that none of the real numbers is included in the zero set of this function. Furthermore, it is supposed that the function Φ is nonnegative on the segment [0, T] and does not identically equal zero. On the basis of definition (7.2.8) the condition imposed above is sufficient for the function φ to become non-zero on the operator spectrum. Summarizing, we deduce the following corollary.

Corollary 7.2.1 Let the operator A be self-adjoint and semibounded from above in the Hilbert space X. If the function $\Phi \in C^1[0, T]$ is nonnegative and $\Phi(T) > 0$, then a solution of the inverse problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4) exists and is unique for any admissible input data. We now turn to the inverse problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4) for any self-adjoint operator with a **discrete spectrum**. In this case the conditions of Theorem 7.2.1 become more illustrative. The foregoing example clarifies what is done.

Let $\{e_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ form an orthonormal basis of the eigenvectors of the operator A and

$$A e_k = \lambda_k e_k$$

With the aid of evident expansions with respect to that basis such as

$$g = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} g_k e_k$$
, $p = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} p_k e_k$

it is plain to realize the search of the members p_k for the given sequence $\{g_k = (g, e_k)\}$. Since

$$V(T-s) e_k = \exp \left(\lambda_k (T-s) \right) e_k ,$$

equation (7.1.9) being written in the form

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{T} \Phi(s) \exp \left(\lambda_{k} \left(T - s \right) \right) \, ds \right) p_{k} \, e_{k} \, = \, g$$

becomes equivalent to the infinite sequence of equalities

(7.2.14)
$$\varphi(\lambda_k) p_k = g_k, \qquad k = 1, 2; \ldots,$$

where φ is specified by (7.2.8). With the aid of (7.2.14) we may clarify a little bit the sense of item (2) of Theorem 7.2.1. Indeed, in the case when $\varphi(\lambda_k) = 0$ for some subscript k, the coefficient p_k cannot be uniquely recovered and can take an arbitrarily chosen value. A necessary condition of solvability in this case amounts to the equality $g_k = 0$. If we succeed in showing that the assertion of item (2) of Theorem 7.2.1 is valid, then all of the Fourier coefficients of the element p will be uniquely determined from the system of equations (7.2.14).

By appeal to the spectral theory of self-adjoint operators from Riesz and Sz.-Nagy (1972) we write down the relation

(7.2.15)
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda}g, g) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |g_k|^2 |\varphi(\lambda_k)|^{-2}.$$

Due to item (1) of Theorem 7.2.1 the condition for the series on the righthand side of (7.2.15) to be convergent is equivalent to the solvability of the equation Bp = g and thereby of the inverse problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4).

7.2. Inverse problems with self-adjoint operator

The trace of the same condition can clearly be seen in the system of equations (7.2.14). First, the solvability of (7.2.14) implies the necessity of another conclusion that if g_k is nonzero for some subscript k, then so is the value $\varphi(\lambda_k)$ for the same subscript k. All this enables us to find that

$$p_k = g_k / \varphi(\lambda_k)$$
.

Second, for the set of numbers $\{p_k\}$ to be the sequence of the Fourier coefficients of some element p with respect to the orthonormal basis $\{e_k\}$ it is necessary and sufficient that the condition

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} ||p_k||^2 < \infty$$

holds true. Note that this condition coincides with the requirement for the right-hand side of (7.2.15) to be finite and so is equivalent to the statement of item (1) of Theorem 7.2.1.

Having involved the available eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the operator A, the reader can derive on his/her own by the Fourier method the explicit formula for the element p as a solution of the inverse problem concerned. The outcome of this is

(7.2.16)
$$p = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (g, e_k) \varphi(\lambda_k)^{-1} e_k.$$

As such, formula (7.2.16) also will be useful in developing the relevant successive approximations.

The results obtained can be generalized for anti-Hermitian operators. Let X be a complex Hilbert space. We agree to consider $A = i A_1$, where A_1 is a self-adjoint operator in the space X. In this case A is the generator of a strongly continuous semigroup of unitary operators

$$V(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp(i\lambda t) dE_{\lambda},$$

where E_{λ} stands for the resolution of unity of the operator A_1 .

In just the same way as we did for self-adjoint operators it is possible to justify that in the current situation the inverse problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4) amounts to equation (7.1.9) of the form B p = g, where

(7.2.17)
$$B = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \varphi_1(\lambda) \ dE_{\lambda} ,$$

(7.2.18)
$$\varphi_1(\lambda) = \int_0^T \Phi(s) \exp\left(i\lambda(T-s)\right) ds$$

Lemma 7.2.1 suits us perfectly in investigating the equation B p = g via representation (7.2.17) and leads to the following proposition.

Corollary 7.2.2 Let X be a complex Hilbert space and $A = i A_1$, where A_1 is a self-adjoint operator in the space X. If, in addition, $\Phi \in C^1[0, T]$ and $\Phi \neq 0$, then the following assertions are true:

(1) the inverse problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4) is solvable for the fixed admissible input data u_0 , u_1 and F if and only if

(7.2.19)
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\varphi_1(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda}g, g) < \infty,$$

where E_{λ} is the resolution of unity of the operator A_1 , the function φ_1 is defined by (7.2.18), the element g is representable by (7.1.11) as follows:

$$g = u_1 - V(T) u_0 - \int_0^T V(T-s) F(s) \, ds$$

(here V is the group generated by the operator A);

(2) if the inverse problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4) is solvable, then for its solution to be unique it is necessary and sufficient that the point spectrum of the operator A contains no zeroes of the function φ defined by (7.2.8).

The second item of the above proposition needs certain clarification. It is worth bearing in mind some circumstances involved. Being multiplied by *i*, the point spectrum of the operator A_1 turns into the point spectrum of the operator A. At the same time, the zeroes of the function φ_1 "move" to the zeroes of the function φ .

Several conditions quoted below assure us of the validity of items (1)-(2) of Corollary 7.2.2. Recall that the spectrum of the operator A is located on the imaginary axis. Now the statement of item (3) will be proved if we succeed in showing that the function φ has no zeroes on the imaginary axis or, what amounts to the same, the function φ_1 has no zeroes on the real axis. If, in addition, the inequality $|\Phi(0)| < |\Phi(T)|$ holds true, then condition (7.2.19) is also true. Indeed, if the function φ_1 does not vanish on the real axis, then it is not equal to zero on the spectrum of the operator A_1 and, therefore, for any D > 0 the integral

$$\int_{-D}^{D} |\varphi_1(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda}g, g)$$

is finite.

On the other hand, by integrating (7.2.18) by parts we obtain

(7.2.20)
$$\varphi_1(\lambda) = \frac{\Phi(0) \exp(i\lambda T) - \Phi(T)}{i\lambda} + \frac{1}{i\lambda} \int_0^T \Phi'(s) \exp(i\lambda (T-s)) ds.$$

After replacing s by T - s the integral term in (7.2.20) becomes

$$-\frac{1}{i\lambda}\int\limits_0^T\Phi_1'(s)\,\exp{(i\lambda s)}\,ds\,,$$

where $\Phi_1(s) = \Phi(T-s)$. Whence, by the Riemann lemma it follows that

(7.2.21)
$$\frac{1}{i\lambda} \int_{0}^{T} \Phi'(s) \exp\left(i\lambda(T-s)\right) ds = o\left(\frac{1}{\lambda}\right), \qquad \lambda \to \infty.$$

In conformity with (7.2.21) and the inequality $|\Phi(0)| < |\Phi(T)|$, relation (7.2.20) implies as $\lambda \to \infty$ that

 $|\varphi_1(\lambda)| \ge c / |\lambda|,$

so that for all sufficiently large numbers D

$$\int_{|\lambda|>D} |\varphi_1(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda}g, g) \leq c^{-2} \int_{|\lambda|>D} \lambda^2 d(E_{\lambda}g, g)$$
$$\leq c^{-2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \lambda^2 d(E_{\lambda}g, g).$$

Since $g \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, the latter integral is finite. The same continues to hold for the integral in (7.2.19).

At the next stage we state that if the function Φ is nonnegative and strictly increasing on the segment [0, T] (the inequality $|\Phi(0)| < |\Phi(T)|$ is due to this fact), then the function φ_1 defined by (7.2.18) has no zeroes on the real axis. Being nonnegative and strictly decreasing on the segment [0, T], the function $\Phi_1(t) = \Phi(T - t)$ is subject to the following relationships:

$$\operatorname{Re} \varphi_{1}(\lambda) = \int_{0}^{T} \Phi(s) \cos \left(\lambda \left(T-s\right)\right) ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{T} \Phi(T-s) \cos \lambda s \, ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{T} \Phi_{1}(s) \cos \lambda s \, ds \, ,$$
$$\operatorname{Im} \varphi_{1}(\lambda) = \int_{0}^{T} \Phi(s) \sin \left(\lambda \left(T-s\right)\right) \, ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{T} \Phi_{1}(s) \sin \lambda s \, ds \, .$$

Here we used also (7.2.18). Since

$$\operatorname{Re}\varphi_1(0) = \int_0^T \Phi_1(s) \ ds > 0$$

and $\operatorname{Im} \varphi_1(\lambda)$ as a function of λ is odd, it remains to show that for any $\lambda > 0$

(7.2.22)
$$\int_{0}^{T} \Phi_{1}(s) \sin \lambda s \ ds > 0$$

If $\lambda > \pi/T$, then $\sin \lambda s \ge 0$ for all $s \in [0, T]$ and inequality (7.2.22) immediately follows. Let $\lambda < \pi/T$ and $T \ne 2\pi n/\lambda$. Allowing n to be

integer we extend the function $\Phi_1(s)$ by zero up to the point of the type $2\pi n/\lambda$, which is nearest to T from the right. After that, the integral in (7.2.22) equals

(7.2.23)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{2\pi(k-1)/\lambda}^{2\pi k/\lambda} \Phi_1(s) \sin \lambda s \ ds \ .$$

We claim that every term of the sum in (7.2.23) is positive. Indeed,

$$\int_{2\pi(k-1)/\lambda}^{2\pi k/\lambda} \Phi_1(s) \sin \lambda s \, ds = \int_{2\pi(k-1)/\lambda}^{\pi(2k-1)/\lambda} \Phi_1(s) \sin \lambda s \, ds$$
$$+ \int_{\pi(2k-1)/\lambda}^{2\pi k/\lambda} \Phi_1(s) \sin \lambda s \, ds \, .$$

Upon substituting $s + \pi/\lambda$ for λ the second integral transforms into the following ones:

$$\int_{2\pi(k-1)/\lambda}^{2\pi k/\lambda} \Phi_1(s) \sin \lambda s \ ds = \int_{2\pi(k-1)/\lambda}^{\pi(2k-1)/\lambda} (\Phi_1(s) - \Phi_1(s+\pi/\lambda)) \sin \lambda s \ ds \ .$$

Due to the strict decrease of the function Φ_1 on the segment [0, T] it remains to note that

$$\Phi_1(s) - \Phi_1(s + \pi/\lambda) > 0$$

and sin $\lambda s \ge 0$ on the segments $[2\pi (k-1)/\lambda, \pi (2k-1)/\lambda]$. In accordance with what has been said, the following result is obtained.

Corollary 7.2.3 Let X be a complex Hilbert space and $A = iA_1$, where A_1 is a self-adjoint operator in the space X. If, in addition, the function $\Phi \in C^1[0, T]$ is nonnegative and strictly increasing on the segment [0, T], then a solution of the inverse problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4) exists and is unique for any admissible input data.

7.3 Two-point inverse problems in Banach lattices

Let X be a **Banach lattice**, that is, a Banach space equipped with the partial ordering relation \leq ; meaning that any pair of its elements $f, g \in X$ has the **least upper bound** sup(f, g) and the **greatest lower bound** inf(f, g). In this case the linear operations and norm are consistent with the **partial ordering relation** as follows:

- (1) $f \leq h$ implies $f + h \leq g + h$ for any $h \in X$;
- (2) if $f \ge 0$, then $\lambda f \ge 0$ for any number $\lambda \ge 0$;
- (3) $|f| \le |g|$ implies $||f|| \le ||g||$.

We note in passing that item (3) involves the absolute value of the element f in the sense of the relation

$$|f| = \sup(f, -f).$$

Before proceeding, it will be sensible to outline some relevant information which will be needed in the sequel. More a detailed exposition of Banach lattices is available in Arendt et al. (1986), Batty and Robinson (1984), Birkhoff (1967), Clement et al. (1987), Kantorovich and Akilov (1977), Krasnoselskii (1962), Schaefer (1974). Any element $f \in X$ admits Jordan's decomposition

$$f = f^+ - f^-,$$

where the elements $f^+ \ge 0$ and $f^- \ge 0$ are defined to be

$$f^+ = \sup(f, 0), \qquad f^- = \sup(-f, 0).$$

These members are involved in the useful relations

(7.3.1)
$$|f| = f^+ + f^-, \quad \inf(f^+, f^-) = 0.$$

The set X_+ consisting of all nonnegative elements of the space X forms a closed **cone** of the space X. Any functional from X^* is said to be **positive** if it takes on nonnegative values on each element of the set X_+ . For any element f > 0 there exists a positive functional $\varphi \in X^*$ such that $\varphi(f) = 1$, thereby justifying that a nonnegative element of the space X equals zero if and only if all of the positive functionals vanish on this element.

Lemma 7.3.1 If $f \in C([a,b]; X_+)$, then

(7.3.2)
$$\int_{a}^{b} f(t) dt \geq 0.$$

Moreover, if the integral in (7.3.2) becomes zero, then the function f is identically equal to zero on the segment [a, b].

Proof By assumption, the function f takes nonnegative values only. Hence the Riemann sums for the integral in (7.3.2) are also nonnegative. Then so is the integral itself as a limit of such sums, since the cone X_+ is closed. This proves the first assertion of the lemma.

Equating now integral (7.3.2) to zero we assume that there is at least one point $t_0 \in [a, b]$ at which $f(t_0) > 0$ and have occasion to use a positive functional $\varphi \in X^*$ such that

$$\varphi\big(f(t_0)\big)=1.$$

Since $\varphi(f(t)) \ge 0$ for any $t \in [a, b]$, the inequality

$$\int_{a}^{b} \varphi(f(t)) dt > 0$$

holds. On the other hand,

$$\int_{a}^{b} \varphi(f(t)) dt = \varphi\left(\int_{a}^{b} f(t) dt\right) = 0.$$

The contradiction obtained shows that the above assumption fails to be true and in this case the function f is identically equal to zero on the segment [a, b], thereby completing the proof of the lemma.

In later discussions we shall need the concepts of positive operator and positive semigroup. An operator $U \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ is said to be **positive** if $U(X_+) \subset X_+$. The positiveness of the operator U will be always indicated by the relation $U \ge 0$. A semigroup V is said to be **positive** if the operator $V(t) \ge 0$ for any $t \ge 0$. Advanced theory of positive operators and positive semigroups is available in Arendt et al. (1986), Batty and Robinson (1984), Clement et al. (1987).

We now consider in the Banach lattice X the two-point inverse problem of finding a function $u \in C^1([0, T]; X)$ and an element $p \in X$ from the set of relations

(7.3.3)
$$u'(t) = A u(t) + \Phi(t) p + F(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(7.3.4) u(0) = u_0$$

$$(7.3.5) u(T) = u_1,$$

for all admissible input data

$$u_0, u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A), \quad F \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X) + C([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$

Theorem 7.3.1 One assumes that the spectrum of the operator A is located in the half-plane $\{\lambda: \operatorname{Re} \lambda < 0\}$ and this operator generates a positive semigroup. If

$$\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T], \mathcal{L}(X))$$

and for any $t \in [0, T]$

$$\Phi(t) \ge 0, \qquad \Phi'(t) \ge 0,$$

then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (7.3.3)-(7.3.5) is unique under the constraints

$$\Phi(T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X), \qquad \Phi(T)^{-1} \ge 0.$$

Proof The theorem will be proved if we succeed in showing that the inverse problem (7.3.3)-(7.3.5) with zero input data u_0 , u_1 , F = 0 can have the trivial solution u = 0, p = 0 only. To that end, the following system

(7.3.6)
$$u'(t) = A u(t) + \Phi(t) p, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

(7.3.7) u(0) = 0,

(7.3.8) u(T) = 0,

complements later discussions. In conformity with the results of Section 7.1, relations (7.3.6)-(7.3.8) take place if and only if

(7.3.9)
$$u(t) = \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \Phi(s) p \ ds,$$

where V(t) denotes, as usual, the semigroup generated by the operator A and the element p satisfies the equation

$$(7.3.10) B p = 0,$$

where the operator B acts in accordance with the rule

(7.3.11)
$$B p = \int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) \Phi(s) p \, ds.$$

516

Via Jordan's decomposition $p = p^+ - p^-$ of the element p in the Banach lattice X we are led to the two associated Cauchy problems

(7.3.12)
$$\begin{cases} u'_{+}(t) = A u_{+}(t) + \Phi(t) p^{+}, & 0 \le t \le T, \\ u_{+}(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$

and

(7.3.13)
$$\begin{cases} u'_{-}(t) = A u_{-}(t) + \Phi(t) p^{-}, & 0 \le t \le T, \\ u_{-}(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$

whose solutions are given by the formulae

$$u_{+}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \Phi(s) p^{+} ds$$

 and

$$u_{-}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \Phi(s) p^{-} ds,$$

respectively. From the theory of semigroups we know that for any $f \in C^1([0, T]; X)$ the function

$$u(t) = \int_0^t V(t-s) f(s) \ ds$$

is continuously differentiable on the segment [0, T] and

$$u'(t) = \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) f'(s) \, ds + V(t) f(0) \, ds$$

From such reasoning it seems clear that

$$u'_{+}(T) = \int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) \Phi'(s) p^{+} ds + V(T) \Phi(0) p^{+},$$
$$u'_{-}(T) = \int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) \Phi'(s) p^{-} ds + V(T) \Phi(0) p^{-}.$$

Recall that the elements p^+ and p^- are nonnegative, while the operators $\Phi(t)$, $\Phi'(t)$ and the semigroup V(t) are positive. Hence, from the preceding formulae and Lemma 7.3.1 it follows that

$$(7.3.14) u'_+(T) \ge 0, u'_-(T) \ge 0.$$

Observe that on account of (7.3.12)-(7.3.13) the function $w = u_{+} - u_{-}$ satisfies the Cauchy problem

(7.3.15)
$$\begin{cases} w'(t) = A w(t) + \Phi(t) p, & 0 \le t \le T, \\ w(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$

and, in so doing, can be written in the form

$$w(t) = \int_0^t V(t-s) \Phi(s) p \ ds$$

With the aid of equalities (7.3.10)-(7.3.11) we find that

$$w(T) = 0,$$

whence the coincidence of u_+ and u_- at the moment t = T is obvious. In what follows we will use a common symbol for the final values of u_+ and u_- :

$$\varphi = u_+(T) = u_-(T) \, .$$

Upon substituting t = T into (7.3.12) and (7.3.13) we get

$$u'_{+}(T) = A \varphi + \Phi(T) p^{+},$$
$$u'_{-}(T) = A \varphi + \Phi(T) p^{-}.$$

On the strength of (7.3.14) the preceding relations imply that

$$\Phi(T) p^+ \ge -A \varphi$$

and

$$\Phi(T) \, p^- \ge -A \, \dot{\varphi} \,,$$

so that

(7.3.16)
$$-A\varphi \leq \inf \left(\Phi(T) p^+, \Phi(T) p^- \right).$$

The value $z = \inf (\Phi(T) p^+, \Phi(T) p^-)$ is aimed to show that the right-hand side of (7.3.16) equals zero. Indeed, $z \ge 0$, since the elements p^+ and $p^$ are nonnegative and the operator $\Phi(T)$ is positive. On the other hand, by the definition of greatest lower bound we derive the inequalities

$$z \leq \Phi(T) p^+$$

and

 $z \leq \Phi(T) p^-,$

yielding, due to the positiveness of the operator $\Phi(T)^{-1}$, the relations

$$\Phi(T)^{-1} z \le p^+$$

and

$$\Phi(T)^{-1} z \le p^-.$$

Combination of the last estimates gives

1

$$\Phi(T)^{-1}z \le \inf(p^+, p^-)$$

We are led by (7.3.1) to the inequality $\Phi(T)^{-1} z \leq 0$, giving $z \leq 0$, because the operator $\Phi(T)$ is positive. This serves as a basis for the equality z = 0. Returning to (7.3.16) we see that

From the initial assumptions on the spectrum of the operator A and spectral properties of generators of strongly continuous positive semigroups it follows that the spectrum of the operator A lies, in fact, in a halfplane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \leq -\delta$, where $\delta > 0$. Furthermore, in that case the resolvent $(\lambda I - A)^{-1}$ is a positive operator in the domain $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > -\delta$. In particular, the operator $-A^{-1}$ is also positive. Hence, $\varphi \leq 0$ by virtue of (7.3.17). On the other hand,

(7.3.18)
$$\varphi = u_{+}(T) = \int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) \Phi(s) p^{+} ds,$$

since the function $u_+(t)$ solves the Cauchy problem (7.3.12). Recall that the element p^+ is nonnegative, while the operator $\Phi(t)$ and the semigroup V are positive. By Lemma 7.3.1 formula (7.3.18) implies the inequality $\varphi \geq 0$, giving $\varphi = 0$ in the case which interests us. Observe that the integral in (7.3.18) equals zero and the integrand

$$f(t) = V(T-t) \Phi(t) p^+$$
is a continuous function with values in X_+ . On account of Lemma 7.3.1 this function is identically equal to zero on the segment [0, T] and, in particular,

$$0 = f(T) = \Phi(T) p^+,$$

implying that $p^+ = 0$, because the operator $\Phi(T)$ is invertible. Along similar lines, the equality

$$u_{-}(T) = \int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) \Phi(s) p^{-} ds = 0$$

in combination with Lemma 7.3.1 assures us of the validity of the equality $p^- = 0$. Consequently, having stipulated condition (7.3.9), the element $p = p^+ - p^-$ and the function u are equal to zero, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

Corollary 7.3.1 If under the conditions of Theorem 7.3.1 the semigroup generated by the operator A is compact, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (7.3.3)-(7.3.5) exists and is unique for any admissible input data.

Proof To prove this assertion, we first refer to Theorem 7.3.1 and thus ensure the uniqueness here. On the other hand, by Theorem 7.1.3 of Section 7.1 the solvability of the inverse problem (7.3.3)-(7.3.5) is of Fredholm's character, due to which the desired result immediately follows from the uniqueness property.

In concluding this section we note that if the operator A generates a strongly continuous semigroup, then its spectrum is located in a half-plane $\{\lambda: \operatorname{Re} \lambda < \omega\}$ and by virtue of the conditions of Theorem 7.3.1 some restrictions on this operator do arise naturally. In trying to overcome the difficulties involved the substitution $u(t) = v(t) e^{\omega t}$ helps set up the inverse problem (7.3.3)-(7.3.5) as follows:

(7.3.19)
$$\begin{cases} v'(t) = A_1 v(t) + \Phi_1(t) p + F_1(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ v(0) = v_0, \\ v(T) = v_1, \end{cases}$$

where

 $A_{1} = A - \omega I,$ $\Phi_{1}(t) = \Phi(t) e^{-\omega t},$ $F_{1}(t) = F(t) e^{-\omega t},$ $v_{0} = u_{0},$ $v_{1} = u_{1} e^{-\omega T}.$

By applying the results obtained in Theorem 7.3.1 and Corollary 7.3.1 to problem (7.3.19) we arrive at the following assertions.

Corollary 7.3.2 Let the spectrum of the operator A lie in a half-plane $\{ \operatorname{Re} \lambda < \omega \}$ and A be the generator of a positive semigroup. One assumes, in addition, that for any $t \in [0, T]$

$$\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X)),$$

 $\Phi(t) \ge 0$ and $\Phi'(t) - \omega \Phi(t) \ge 0$. If $\Phi(T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ and $\Phi(T)^{-1} \ge 0$, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (7.3.3)-(7.3.5) is unique.

Corollary 7.3.3 If under the conditions of Corollary 7.3.2 the semigroup generated by the operator A is compact, then a solution of the inverse problem (7.3.3)-(7.3.5) exists and is unique for any admissible input data.

Chapter 8

Inverse Problems for Equations of Second Order

8.1 Cauchy problem for semilinear hyperbolic equations

In Banach spaces X and Y we deal with a closed linear operator A with a dense domain, the elements $u_0, u_1 \in X$ and the mappings

$$F: [0, T] \times X \times X \times Y \mapsto X$$

and

$$B: X \mapsto Y, \qquad \psi: [0, T] \mapsto Y.$$

It is required to recover a pair of the functions

 $u \in C^{2}([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T]; Y),$

which comply with the following relations:

(8.1.1)
$$u''(t) = A u(t)$$

+ $F(t, u(t), u'(t), p(t)), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$
(8.1.2) $u(0) = u_0, \quad u'(0) = u_1;$

(8.1.3)

 $B u(t) = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$

The basic restriction imposed on the operator A is connected with the requirement for the linear Cauchy (direct) problem

(8.1.4) $u''(t) = A u(t) + F(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$

$$(8.1.5) u(0) = u_0, u'(0) = u_1,$$

to be well-posed. Therefore, the operator A is supposed to generate a **strongly continuous cosine function** C(t), that is, an operator function which is defined for all $t \in \mathbf{R}$ with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ is continuous on the real line **R** in the strong topology of the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ and is subject to the following two conditions:

(1) C(0) = I;

(2)
$$C(t+s) + C(t-s) = 2C(t)C(s) \text{ for all } t, s \in \mathbf{R}.$$

It should be noted that the operator A can be recovered from its cosine function as a strong second derivative at zero

$$A x = C''(0) x$$

with the domain $\mathcal{D}(A) = \{x: C(t) | x \in C^2(\mathbf{R})\}$. Recall that the Cauchy problem (8.1.4)-(8.1.5) is uniformly well-posed if and only if the operator A generates a strongly continuous cosine function. In the sequel we will exploit some facts concerning the solvability of the Cauchy problem and relevant elements of the theory of cosine functions. For more detail we recommend to see Fattorini (1969a,b), Ivanov et al. (1995), Kisynski (1972), Kurepa (1982), Lutz (1982), Travis and Webb (1978), Vasiliev (1990).

The cosine function C(t) is associated with the sine function

$$S(t) x = \int_{0}^{t} C(s) x \ ds$$

and the subspace

(8.1.6)
$$E = \left\{ x: C(t) x \in \mathcal{C}^{1}(\mathbf{R}) \right\},$$

which becomes a Banach space with the appropriate norm

(8.1.7)
$$||x||_E = ||x|| + \sup_{0 \le t \le 1} ||C'(t)x||.$$

There exist two constants $M \ge 1$ and $\omega \ge 0$ such that the cosine and sine operator functions satisfy on the real line the appropriate estimates

$$(8.1.8) ||C(t)|| \le M \exp(\omega t), ||S(t)|| \le M |t| \exp(\omega t).$$

For the operator A to generate a strongly continuous cosine function satisfying estimate (8.1.8) it is necessary and sufficient that any number λ with $\lambda > \omega$ complies with the inclusion $\lambda^2 \in \rho(A)$ and the collection of inequalities

$$\left\| \frac{d^n}{d\,\lambda^n} \left[\lambda R(\lambda^2, A) \right] \right\| \leq \frac{M \, n!}{(\lambda - \omega)^{n+1}} , \qquad n = 0, \, 1, \, 2, \, \dots ,$$

where $R(\lambda, A) = (\lambda I - A)^{-1}$ refers to the resolvent of the operator A. Any self-adjoint operator in a Hilbert space generates a strongly continuous cosine f unction if and only if this operator is semibounded from above.

For any $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $u_1 \in E$, $F \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X) \cup \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ a solution of the Cauchy problem (8.1.4)-(8.1.5) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^{2}([0,T];X) \cap \mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T];E) \cap \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(A)).$$

Moreover, this solutions is given by the formula

(8.1.9)
$$u(t) = C(t) u_0 + S(t) u_1 + \int_0^t S(t-s) F(s) ds.$$

In real-life situations there is a need for certain reduction of the governing equation of the second order to a first order equation. One way of proceeding is due to Kisynski (1972) and involves the Banach space $\mathcal{X} = E \times X$ and the operator

(8.1.10)
$$\mathcal{A} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ A & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

with the domain $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) \times E$. If the operator \mathcal{A} is the generator of the strongly continuous cosine function C(t) associated with the sine function S(t), then the operator \mathcal{A} will generate in the space \mathcal{X} the strongly continuous group

(8.1.11)
$$V(t) = \begin{pmatrix} C(t) & S(t) \\ A S(t) & C(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Upon substituting

(8.1.12)
$$w(t) = \begin{pmatrix} u(t) \\ u'(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathcal{F}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ F(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad w_0 = \begin{pmatrix} u_0 \\ u_1 \end{pmatrix}$$

the Cauchy problem (8.1.4)–(8.1.5) amounts to the Cauchy problem associated with the equation of the first order

(8.1.13)
$$\begin{cases} w'(t) = \mathcal{A} w(t) + \mathcal{F}(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ w(0) = w_0. \end{cases}$$

Without loss of generality the operator \mathcal{A} is supposed to be invertible. Indeed, making in equation (8.1.1) the replacement

$$u(t) = v(t) \exp(\lambda t)$$

with any λ being still subject to the inclusion $\lambda^2 \in \rho(A)$ we set up another inverse problem for the functions v and p

$$\begin{aligned} v''(t) &= A_{\lambda} v(t) + F_{\lambda} (t, v(t), v'(t), p(t)), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ v(0) &= v_{0}, & v'(0) = v_{1}, \\ B v(t) &= \psi_{\lambda}(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$F_{\lambda}(t, v, v_{1}, p) = \exp(-\lambda t)$$

$$\times F(t, \exp(\lambda t) v, \exp(\lambda t) (v_{1} + \lambda v), p) - 2\lambda v_{1},$$

$$v_{0} = u_{0}, \qquad v_{1} = u_{1} - \lambda u_{0},$$

$$\psi_{\lambda}(t) = \exp(-\lambda t) \psi(t),$$

$$A_{\lambda} = A - \lambda^{2} I.$$

The emerging inverse problem is of the same type as the initial one, but here the operator A is invertible and generates a strongly continuous cosine function.

For the given function $\psi \in C^2([0, T]; Y)$ and element $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(BA)$ the element z_0 is defined to be

$$(8.1.14) z_0 = \psi''(0) - B A u_0 - B F_1(0, u_0, u_1),$$

where F_1 is involved in the approved decomposition

$$(8.1.15) F(t, u, v, p) = F_1(t, u, v) + F_2(t, u, v, p).$$

With these ingredients, we impose the following conditions:

- (A) the equation $B F_2(0, u_0, u_1, p) = z_0$ with respect to p has a unique solution $p_0 \in Y$;
- (B) there exists a mapping

$$F_3: [0, T] \times Y \times Y \times Y \mapsto Y$$

such that

(8.1.16)
$$B F_2(t, u, v, p) = F_3(t, B u, B v, p);$$

(C) there is a number R > 0 such that for any $t \in [0, T]$ the mapping $z = F_3(t, \psi(t), \psi'(t), p)$ as a function of p has in the ball $S_Y(p_0, R)$ the inverse

(8.1.17)
$$p = \Phi(t, z)$$
.

Let the operator B comply with

$$(8.1.18) B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{D}(A^m), Y),$$

where m is a nonnegative integer and the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A^m)$ is equipped with the graph norm of the operator A^m . Extra smoothness conditions are required to be valid by relating the operator A to be invertible:

(D) there is a number R > 0 such that on the manifold

$$S_{0} = \{(t, u, v, p): 0 \le t \le T, ||u - u_{0}||_{E} \le R, \\ ||v - u_{1}||_{X} \le R, ||p - p_{0}||_{Y} \le R\}$$

the functions F_1 and F_2 are continuous in t and satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to (u, v, p) in the norm of the space X. On the manifold

$$S_{1} = \{(t, u, v, p) : 0 \le t \le T, ||u - Au_{0}||_{X} \le R\},$$
$$||v - u_{1}||_{E} \le R, ||p - p_{0}||_{Y} \le R\}$$

the functions

$$F_1(t, A^{-1}u, v)$$

and

$$F_2(t, A^{-1}u, v, p)$$

are continuous in t and satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to (u, v, p) in the norm of the space E. On the manifold

$$S_m = \{(t, u, v, p): 0 \le t \le T, ||u - A^{m+1} u_0||_X \le R, \\ ||v - A^m u_1||_E \le R, ||p - p_0||_Y \le R\}$$

both functions

$$A^m F_1(t, A^{-m-1} u, A^{-m} v)$$

and

$$A^m F_2(t, A^{-m-1} u, A^{-m} v)$$

are continuous in t and satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to (u, v, p) in the norm of the space E;

(E) there is a value R > 0 such that on the manifold

$$S_{Y}(z_{0}, R, T) = \{(t, z): 0 \le t \le T, || z - z_{0} ||_{Y} \le R \}$$

the mapping (8.1.17) is continuous in t and satisfies the Lipschitz condition in z.

Theorem 8.1.1 Let the operator A generate a strongly continuous cosine function in the space X, $A^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ and condition (8.1.18) hold. If the inclusions $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{m+1})$, $u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A^m)$ and $A^m u_1 \in E$ occur, where the space E is the same as in (8.1.6), and all the conditions (A)-(E) are fulfilled, then there exists a number $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ a solution u, p of the inverse problem (8.1.1)-(8.1.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{2}([0, T_{1}]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T_{1}]; Y).$$

Proof We are led by (8.1.12) to

$$w(t) = \begin{pmatrix} u(t) \\ u'(t) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{F}(t, w, p) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ F(t, u, u', p) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad w_0 = \begin{pmatrix} u_0 \\ u_1 \end{pmatrix},$$

thereby reducing (8.1.1)-(8.1.2) to the Cauchy problem for the first order equation

(8.1.19)
$$w'(t) = \mathcal{A} w(t) + \mathcal{F}(t, w(t), p(t)),$$
$$0 \le t \le T,$$

 $(8.1.20) w(0) = w_0,$

where the operator \mathcal{A} is specified by (8.1.10).

Plain calculations show that the operator \mathcal{A} is invertible and

$$\mathcal{A}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & A^{-1} \\ I & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Because of its structure, for each nonnegative integer n we thus have

$$\mathcal{A}^{2n+1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & A^n \\ A^{n+1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{A}^{2n} = \begin{pmatrix} A^n & 0 \\ 0 & A^n \end{pmatrix},
\mathcal{A}^{-2n-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & A^{-n-1} \\ A^{-n} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{A}^{-2n} = \begin{pmatrix} A^{-n} & 0 \\ 0 & A^{-n} \end{pmatrix}$$

and

(8.1.21)
$$\mathcal{A}^{2n+1} \mathcal{F}(t, \mathcal{A}^{-2n-1}(z_1, z_2), p)$$

= $\begin{pmatrix} A^n F(t, A^{-n-1}z_2, A^{-n}z_1, p) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$.

By the initial assumptions relation (8.1.21) yields the inclusion

 $w_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}^{2m+1}),$

due to which the function \mathcal{F} must satisfy the conditions of Theorem 6.5.2 with 2m in place of m. For all sufficiently small values T a solution of problem (8.1.19)-(8.1.20) is subject to the following relations:

(8.1.22)
$$\begin{cases} w \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}^{2m+1})), \\ w' \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}^{2m})), \\ (\mathcal{A}^{2m} w(t))' = \mathcal{A}^{2m} w'(t), \end{cases}$$

which serve to motivate that

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A^m))$$

 and

$$\left(A^m u(t)\right)' = A^m u'(t),$$

since

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}^{2m}) = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}^m) \times \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}^m)$$

From (8.1.18) it follows that for each solution of problem (8.1.1)-(8.1.3)

(8.1.23)
$$B u'(t) = \psi'(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Common practice involves the operator

$$\mathcal{B}\left(\begin{array}{c}w_1\\w_2\end{array}\right) = B w_2$$

and the function $\Psi(t) = \psi'(t)$, by means of which it is easily verified that condition (8.1.3) is equivalent on the strength of (8.1.23) to the following one:

(8.1.24)
$$\mathcal{B} w(t) = \Psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Having stipulated condition (8.1.18), the inclusion

$$\mathcal{B} \in \mathcal{L}(\dot{\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}^{2m})}, Y)$$

occurs and provides reason enough to reduce the inverse problem (8.1.1)-(8.1.3) to the inverse problem (6.5.1)-(6.5.3) we have posed in Section 6.5 for a first order equation. Under the conditions of Theorem 8.1.1 problem (8.1.19)-(8.1.20), (8.1.24) satisfies the premises of Theorem 8.5.3 with 2m in place of m. Thus, the desired assertion is an immediate implication of Theorem 6.5.3, thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

Of special interest is the case when the function F involved in (8.1.1) is linear with respect to the variables u, u' and p, that is,

$$(8.1.25) F(t, u, u', p) = L_1(t) u + L_2(t) u' + L_3(t) p + F(t)$$

where for each fixed numbers $t \in [0, T]$ the operators $L_1(t) \in \mathcal{L}(E, X)$, $L_2(t) \in \mathcal{L}(X)$, $L_3(t) \in \mathcal{L}(Y, X)$ and the value $F(t) \in X$. All this enables us to prove the unique solvability of the inverse problem concerned on the whole segment [0, T].

Theorem 8.1.2 Let the operator A generate a strongly continuous cosine function in the space X, $A^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$, condition (8.1.18) hold, $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{m+1})$, $u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A^m)$ and $A^m u_1 \in E$, where the space E is the same as in (8.1.6). One assumes, in addition, that $\psi \in C^2([0, T]; Y)$, $B u_0 = \psi(0)$ and $B u_1 = \psi'(0)$. Let representation (8.1.25) take place with the operator functions $L_1 \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(E, X))$, $L_1 A^{-1} \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X, E))$, $A^m L_1 A^{-m-1} \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X, E))$,

 $L_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X) \cap \mathcal{L}(E)), \qquad A^m L_2 A^{-m} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(E))$

and

$$A^m L_3 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X))$$
.

If the function $A^m F$ belongs to the space C([0, T]; E), the operator $BL_3(t)$ is invertible for each $t \in [0, T]$ and

$$(BL_3)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{L}(Y)),$$

then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (8.1.1)–(8.1.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{2}([0, T]; X), \qquad p \in C([0, T]; Y).$$

Proof Exploiting the fact that the inverse problem (8.1.1)–(8.1.3) can be reduced to problem (8.1.19)–(8.1.20), (8.1.24) we may attempt the function $\mathcal{F}(t, w, p)$ arising from (8.1.19) in the form

(8.1.26) $\mathcal{F}(t, w, p) = \mathcal{L}_1(t) w + \mathcal{L}_2(t) p + \mathcal{F}(t),$ where

$$\mathcal{L}_{1}(t) \begin{pmatrix} w_{1} \\ w_{2} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ L_{1}(t) w_{1} + L_{2}(t) w_{2} \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{2}(t) p = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ L_{3}(t) p \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{F}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ F(t) \end{pmatrix}$$

It is straightforward to verify that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A} \mathcal{L}_{1}(t) \mathcal{A}^{-1} &= \begin{pmatrix} L_{2}(t) & L_{1}(t) \mathcal{A}^{-1} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \\ \mathcal{A}^{2m+1} \mathcal{L}_{1}(t) \mathcal{A}^{-2m-1} &= \begin{pmatrix} A^{m} L_{2}(t) \mathcal{A}^{-m} & A^{m} L_{1}(t) \mathcal{A}^{-m-1} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \\ \mathcal{A}^{2m+1} \mathcal{L}_{2}(t) p &= \begin{pmatrix} A^{m} L_{3}(t) p \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \\ \mathcal{A}^{2m+1} \mathcal{F}(t) &= \begin{pmatrix} A^{m} F(t) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{B} L_{2}(t) = B L_{3}(t). \end{aligned}$$

Now, by assumption, problem (8.1.19)-(8.1.20), (8.1.24), (8.1.26) satisfies all the conditions of Theorem 6.5.4 with replacing m by 2m and so the desired assertion is an immediate implication of Theorem 6.5.4. Thus, we complete the proof of the theorem.

Assume now that the smoothing effect of the operator B is wellcharacterized by the inclusions

$$(8.1.27) B \in \mathcal{L}(X,Y), \overline{BA} \in \mathcal{L}(E,Y).$$

In such a setting it is sensible to introduce the notion of weak solution and there is a need for some reduction. With the aid of relations (8.1.12) problem (8.1.4)-(8.1.5) amounts to problem (8.1.13). In view of this, the function u is called a **weak solution** of problem (8.1.4)-(8.1.5) if the function w gives a continuous solution of the reduced problem (8.1.13). As stated in Section 5.2, a continuous solution of problem (8.1.13) exists and is unique for any $w_0 \in \mathcal{X}$ and any $\mathcal{F} \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{X})$. Furthermore, this solution is given by the formula

$$w(t) = V(t) w_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) \mathcal{F}(s) ds,$$

where V(t) refers to the semigroup generated by the operator \mathcal{A} . As a matter of fact, V(t) is a group and is representable by (8.1.11), establishing the appropriate link with the cosine function of the operator \mathcal{A} . Coming back to problem (8.1.4)-(8.1.5) we observe that its weak solution is nothing more than a function u being continuously differentiable on the segment [0, T] and solving equation (8.1.4) in a sense of distributions. This solution exists and is unique for any $u_0 \in E$, $u_1 \in X$ and $F \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$, and is given by formula (8.1.9) as follows:

$$u(t) = C(t) u_0 + S(t) u_1 + \int_0^t S(t-s) F(s) ds,$$

so that

(8.1.28)
$$u'(t) = A S(t) u_0 + C(t) u_1 + \int_0^t C(t-s) F(s) ds$$

The concept of weak solution of the inverse problem at hand needs certain clarification. A pair of the functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];X), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];Y)$$

is said to be a weak solution of the inverse problem (8.1.1)-(8.1.3) if for the function

$$F(t) = F(t, u(t), u'(t), p(t))$$

the function u gives a weak solution of the direct problem (8.1.4)-(8.1.5)and relation (8.1.3) is satisfied in a pointwise manner. It is easy to verify that a pair of the functions u, p gives a weak solution of the inverse problem (8.1.1)-(8.1.3) if and only if the pair w, p as the outcome of the reduction procedure (8.1.12) is a continuous solution of the inverse problem (8.1.19)-(8.1.20), (8.1.24) in the sense of the definition of Section 5.3.

The next step is to redefine the element z_0 involved in condition (A) by means of the relation

(8.1.29)
$$z_0 = \psi''(0) - \overline{BA} u_0 - BF_1(0, u_0, u_1),$$

thereby excluding (8.1.15) from further consideration, and replace condition (D) by the following one:

(D1) there exists a number R > 0 such that on the manifold S_0 the functions F_1 and F_2 are continuous in t and satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to (u, v, p).

Recall that the manifold S_0 was defined earlier in condition (D) of the present section.

Theorem 8.1.3 Let the operator A generate a strongly continuous cosine function in the space X, conditions (8.1.27) hold, $u_0 \in E$, $u_1 \in X$, $\psi \in C^2([0, T]; Y)$, $Bu_0 = \psi(0)$ and $Bu_1 = \psi'(0)$. Under conditions (A)-(C), (D1) and (E) there exists a value $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ a weak solution u, p of the inverse problem (8.1.1)-(8.1.3) exists and is unique.

Proof As indicated above, replacement (8.1.12) may be of help in reducing the question of existence and uniqueness of a weak solution of the inverse problem (8.1.1)-(8.1.3) to the question of existence and uniqueness of a continuous solution of the inverse problem (8.1.19)-(8.1.20), (8.1.24). From condition (8.1.27) it seems clear that the inclusions

$$\mathcal{B}, \overline{\mathcal{B}\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X}, Y)$$

hold true, since

$$\mathcal{B}\mathcal{A}\begin{pmatrix}w_1\\w_2\end{pmatrix}=B\mathcal{A}w_1.$$

As can readily be observed, the conditions of Theorem 6.3.1 are fulfilled and assure us of the validity of the desired assertion.

Following the same procedure one can establish the conditions under which the function u solving the inverse problem (8.1.1)-(8.1.3) is twice continuously differentiable. Before giving further motivations, let us replace conditions (D1) and (E) by the following ones:

- (D2) there exists a number R > 0 such that the functions F_1 and F_2 as mappings from S_0 into X are Frechet differentiable and their partial derivatives in every direction are continuous in t and satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to (u, v, p) in the operator norm;
- (E2) there exists a number R > 0 such that the function defined by (8.1.17) is Frechet differentiable as a mapping from $S_Y(z_0, R, T)$ into Y and its partial derivatives Φ_t and Φ_z are continuous in t and satisfy the Lipschitz condition with respect to z in the operator norm.

By simply applying Theorem 6.3.2 to the inverse problem (8.1.19)-(8.1.20), (8.1.24) we arrive at the following assertion.

Corollary 8.1.1 Let the operator A generate a strongly continuous cosine function in the space X, conditions (8.1.27) hold, $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $u_1 \in E$, $\psi \in C^3([0, T]; Y)$, $B u_0 = \psi(0)$ and $B u_1 = \psi'(0)$. Under conditions (A)– (C), (D2) and (E2) there exists a value $T_1 > 0$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ a solution u, p of the inverse problem (8.1.1)–(8.1.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^{2}([0, T_{1}]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T_{1}]; \mathcal{D}(A)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}^{1}([0, T_{1}]; Y).$$

We begin by investigating the linear case (8.1.25) and approving for further development the same framework as we dealt before. To obtain here the solvability of the inverse problem concerned on the whole segment [0, T], we apply Theorem 6.4.1 of Section 6.4 to the inverse problem (8.1.19)-(8.1.20), (8.1.24), (8.1.26), whose use permits us to establish the following proposition.

Corollary 8.1.2 Let the operator A generate a strongly continuous cosine function in the space X, conditions (8.1.27) hold, the inclusions $u_0 \in E$, $u_1 \in X$ and $\psi \in C^2([0, T]; Y)$ occur and the equalities

$$B u_0 = \psi(0), \qquad B u_1 = \psi'(0)$$

hold. Let representation (6.1.25) hold with the operator functions

$$L_1 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(E, X)), \qquad L_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X))$$

and

$$L_3 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X))$$
.

If the function F belongs to the space C([0, T]; X), the operator $BL_3(t)$ in the space Y is invertible for each $t \in [0, T]$ and

$$(BL_3)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{L}(Y)),$$

then a weak solution u, p of the inverse problem (8.1.1)-(8.1.3) exists and is unique on the whole segment [0, T].

One may wonder when a weak solution becomes differentiable. The answer to this is obtained by applying Theorem 6.4.2 to the inverse problem (8.1.19)-(8.1.20), (8.1.24), (8.1.26).

Corollary 8.1.3 Let the operator A generate a strongly continuous cosine function in the space X, condition (8.1.27) hold, the inclusions $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $u_1 \in E$ and $\psi \in C^3([0, T]; Y)$ occur and

$$B u_0 = \psi(0), \qquad B u_1 = \psi'(0)$$

Let representation (8.1.25) take place with the operator functions $L_1 \in C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(E, X)), L_2 \in C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X))$ and $L_3 \in C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X))$. If the function F belongs to the space $C^1([0, T]; X)$, the operator $BL_3(t)$ in the space Y is invertible for each $t \in [0, T]$ and

$$(BL_3)^{-1} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y)),$$

then on the segment [0, T] a solution u, p of the inverse problem (8.1.1)-(8.1.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{2}([0, T]; X) \cap C^{1}([0, T]; E) \cap C([0, T]; D(A)),$$

$$p \in C^{1}([0, T]; Y).$$

In just the same way as we did for the first order equations it is plain to derive an equation "in variations" for the inverse problem (8.1.1)–(8.1.3). Rigorous assertions follow from Corollary 6.4.2 and are formulated below.

Corollary 8.1.4 Let, in addition to the conditions of Corollary 8.1.1, the functions F_1 and F_2 be twice Frechet differentiable on the manifold S_0 and the function defined by (8.1.17) be twice Frechet differentiable on the manifold $S_V(z_0, R, T)$. If $\psi \in C^4([0, T]; Y)$, $u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and

$$A u_0 + F(0, u_0, u_1, p_0) \in E$$
,

then there exists a value $0 < T_1 \leq T$ such that on the segment $[0, T_1]$ the functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^{\mathbf{3}}([0, T_1]; X)$$

and

$$p \in \mathcal{C}^2([0, T_1]; Y)$$
.

Moreover, the functions v = u' and q = p' give a solution of the inverse problem

(8.1.30)
$$\begin{cases} v''(t) = A v(t) + K_1(t) v(t) + K_2(t) v'(t) + K_3(t) q(t) + h(t), \\ v(0) = v_0, \quad v'(0) = v_1, \\ B v(t) = g(t), \end{cases}$$

where

$$K_{1}(t) = F_{u}(t, u(t), u'(t), p(t)),$$

$$K_{2}(t) = F_{u'}(t, u(t), u'(t), p(t)),$$

$$K_{3}(t) = F_{p}(t, u(t), u'(t), p(t)),$$

$$h(t) = F_{t}(t, u(t), u'(t), p(t)),$$

$$v_{0} = u_{1}, \quad v_{1} = A u_{0} + F(0, u_{0}, u_{1}, p_{0}),$$

$$g(t) = \psi'(t).$$

Corollary 8.1.5 Let, in addition to the conditions of Corollary 8.1.3, $L_1 \in C^2([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(E, X)), L_2 \in C^2([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X)), L_3 \in C^2([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(Y, X))$ and $F \in C^2([0, T]; X), \psi \in C^4([0, T]; Y), u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A),$

$$A u_0 + L_1(0) u_0 + L_2(0) u_1 + L_3(0) p_0 + F(0) \in E$$
.

Then $u \in C^3([0, T]; X)$, $p \in C^2([0, T]; Y)$ and the functions v = u' and q = p' give a solution of the inverse problem (8.1.30) with

$$\begin{split} K_1(t) &= L_1(t), \qquad K_2(t) = L_2(t), \qquad K_3(t) = L_3(t), \\ h(t) &= L_1'(t) u(t) + L_2'(t) u'(t) + L_3'(t) p(t) + F'(t), \\ v_0 &= u_1, \quad v_1 = A u_0 + L_1(0) u_0 + L_2(0) u_1 + L_3(0) p_0 + F(0), \\ g(t) &= \psi'(t). \end{split}$$

By successively applying Corollaries 6.1.4-6.1.5 it is not difficult to derive the conditions under which solutions of the corresponding inverse problems as smooth as we like.

8.2 Two-point inverse problems for equations of hyperbolic type

We consider in a Banach space X the **inverse problem** for the hyperbolic equation of the second order

(8.2.1) $u''(t) = A u(t) + \Phi(t) p + F(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$

 $(8.2.2) u(0) = u_0, u'(0) = u_1,$

$$(8.2.3) u(T) = u_2$$

Being concerned with the operator A, the operator function $\Phi(t)$ with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$, the function F with values in the space X and the elements u_0 , u_1 and u_2 , we are looking for a function $u \in \mathcal{C}^2([0, T]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ and an element $p \in X$. Equation (8.2.1) is said to be hyperbolic if the operator A generates a strongly continuous cosine function. As in Section 8.1 the main attention in the study of the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) is paid to the question of well-posedness of the direct problem

$$(8.2.4) u''(t) = A u(t) + f(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(8.2.5) u(0) = u_0, u'(0) = u_1$$

In order to retain the notations of Section 8.1 we will use in this section the symbol C(t) for the cosine function generated by the operator A and the symbol S(t) for the associated sine function. The subspace comprising all continuously differentiable vectors of the cosine function is denoted by E. This subspace with the accompanying norm (8.1.7) becomes a Banach space. If $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $u_1 \in E$ and $f \in C^1([0, T]; X) + C([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$, then a solution of the Cauchy problem (8.2.4)-(8.2.5) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^2([0, T]; X) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$

(for more detail see Fattorini (1969a,b), Kurepa (1982), Travis and Webb (1978), Vasiliev et al. (1990)). Furthermore, this solution is expressed by (5.3.12) of Section 5.3 as follows:

(8.2.6)
$$u(t) = C(t) u_0 + S(t) u_1 + \int_0^t S(t-s) f(s) ds$$

Note that (8.2.1) and (8.2.2) coincide with (8.2.4) and (8.2.5), respectively, in one particular case when

(8.2.7)
$$f(t) = \Phi(t) p + F(t).$$

The inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) is solvable only under the agreement $u_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$. In what follows we keep $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X)$. In that case, for any $p \in X$, the function f specified by (8.2.7) belongs to the space $\mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X) + \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$ if and only if so does the function F. In this regard, it will be sensible to introduce the notion of admissible input data. By the input data of the inverse problem concerned we mean the elements u_0, u_1, u_2 and the function F.

Definition 8.2.1 The input data of the inverse problem (8.2.1)–(8.2.3) is said to be admissible if $u_0, u_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A), u_1 \in E$ and

$$F \in C^{1}([0, T]; X) + C([0, T]; D(A)).$$

We note in passing that for any admissible input data the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) reduces to a single equation for the unknown p. Indeed, if this element is sought by substituting into (8.2.1), then the function u is given by formulae (8.2.7)-(8.2.8) as a solution of the direct problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.2). On the other hand, condition (8.2.3) is equivalent to relation (8.2.6) for t = T with u_2 in place of u(T), that is,

(8.2.8)
$$u_2 = C(T) u_0 + S(T) u_1 + \int_0^T S(t-s) \left[\Phi(s) p + F(s) \right] ds,$$

where all the terms are known except for the element p. Equation (8.2.8) can be rewritten as

(8.2.9)
$$B p = g$$
,

where

(8.2.10)
$$B = \int_{0}^{T} S(T-s) \Phi(s) \, ds \, ,$$

(8.2.11)
$$g = u_2 - C(T) u_0 - S(T) u_1$$
$$- \int_0^T S(T-s) F(s) \ ds \, .$$

The integral on the right-hand side of (8.2.10) is understood in the sense of the strong topology of the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$. True, it is to be shown that the element g defined by (8.2.11) belongs to the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$ for any admissible input data. Indeed, from the theory of cosine functions (see Fattorini (1969a,b), Kurepa (1982), Travis and Webb (1978)) it is clear that

(8.2.12)
$$A g = A u_2 - C(T) A u_0 - A S(T) u_1$$
$$- \int_0^T C(T-s) F_1'(s) ds$$
$$- C(T) F_1(0) + F_1(T)$$
$$- \int_0^T S(T-s) A F_2(s) ds$$

for the decomposition $F = F_1 + F_2$ with the members

$$F_1 \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X)$$

and

$$F_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$$
.

Since $AS(T) \in \mathcal{L}(E, X)$ for any value T, relation (8.2.12) yields the estimate

(8.2.13)
$$||Ag|| \leq c \left(||Au_2|| + ||Au_0|| + ||u_1||_E + ||F_1||_{\mathcal{C}^1([0,T];X)} + ||F_2||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(A))} \right),$$

where the constant c depends only on T and the operator A. If the admissible input data of the inverse problem concerned include the elements $u_0 = 0$ and $u_1 = 0$ and the function F = 0, then the element g coincides with u_2 and, therefore, may be arbitrarily chosen from the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$. That is why the question of solvability of the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) for any admissible input data and the question of the solution uniqueness are equivalent to the possibility of the occurrence of the inclusion

$$B^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{D}(A), X)$$

Here $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is endowed with the graph norm of the operator A. The final conclusion immediately follows from the Banach theorem on closed operator.

Corollary 8.2.1 If the inverse problem (8.2.1)–(8.2.3) is uniquely solvable for any admissible input data $u_0, u_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A), u_1 \in E$ and the decomposition $F = F_1 + F_2$ with

$$F_1 \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; X), \qquad F_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A)),$$

then the stability estimates are valid:

$$(8.2.14) \qquad || u ||_{\mathcal{C}^{2}([0,T];X)} \leq c \left(|| u_{0} ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + || u_{1} ||_{E} + || u_{2} ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + || F_{1} ||_{\mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T];X)} + || F_{2} ||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(A))} \right),$$

$$(8.2.15) \qquad || u ||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(A))} \leq c \left(|| u_{0} ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + || u_{1} ||_{E} + || u_{2} ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + || F_{1} ||_{\mathcal{C}^{1}([0,T];X)} + || F_{2} ||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(A))} \right),$$

$$(8.2.16) \qquad || p || \leq c \left(|| u_{0} ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + || u_{1} ||_{E} + || u_{2} ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + || u_{2} ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} + || u_{2} ||_{\mathcal{D}(A)} \right).$$

+ $||F_1||_{\mathcal{C}^1([0,T];X)} + ||F_2||_{\mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(A))}$.

Proof A simple observation may be of help in verifying this assertion. The conditions imposed above are equivalent to the inclusion

$$B^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{D}(A), X)$$
,

implying that

$$\|p\| \le M \|g\|_{\mathcal{D}(A)}$$

with constant $M = ||B^{-1}||$. Combination of the preceding inequality and (8.2.13) gives (8.2.16). Exploiting some facts from the theory of cosine functions and using the decomposition $f = f_1 + f_2$, valid for $f_1 \in C^1([0, T]; X)$ and $f_2 \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A))$, it is plain to show by minor manipulations that the function u defined by (8.2.6) satisfies the relations

(8.2.17)
$$u''(t) = C(t) A u_0 + A S(t) u_1 + \int_0^t C(t-s) f_1'(s) ds$$

+
$$C(t) f_1(0) + \int_0^t S(t-s) A f_2(s) ds + f_2(t)$$

(8.2.18)
$$A u(t) = C(t) A u_0 + A S(t) u_1 + \int_0^t C(t-s) f_1'(s) ds$$

+
$$C(t) f_1(0) + \int_0^t S(t-s) A f_2(s) ds - f_1(t)$$

(see Fattorini (1969a,b), Kurepa (1982), Travis and Webb (1978)). Putting these together with the representations $f_1 = \Phi(t) p + F_1(t)$ and $f_2(t) = F_2(t)$ and involving estimate (8.2.16), we derive estimates (8.2.14)–(8.2.15) from (8.2.17)–(8.2.18), respectively.

There seem to be at least two possible ways of reducing (8.2.9) to a second kind equation. Each of them necessitates imposing different restrictions on the operator function Φ .

Lemma 8.2.1 If $\Phi \in C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X))$, the operator $\Phi(t)$ is invertible and $\Phi(T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$, $\lambda^2 \in \rho(A)$, then equation (8.2.9) is equivalent to the following one:

$$(8.2.19) p - B_1 p = g_1,$$

where

$$B_{1} = \Phi(T)^{-1} \left(\int_{0}^{T} \left[C(T-s) \Phi'(s) - \lambda^{2} S(T-s) \Phi(s) \right] ds + C(T) \Phi(0) \right),$$
$$g_{1} = -\Phi(T)^{-1} \left(A - \lambda^{2} I \right) g.$$

Proof Since $\lambda^2 \in \rho(A)$ and $g \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, equation (8.2.9) is equivalent to (8.2.20) $(A - \lambda^2 I) B p = (A - \lambda^2 I) g$.

From the theory of cosine functions it is known that relations (8.2.6) and (8.2.18) with $u_0 = 0$, $u_1 = 0$ and $f_2 = 0$ are followed by

(8.2.21)
$$A \int_{0}^{t} S(t-s) f_{1}(s) ds = \int_{0}^{t} C(t-s) f'_{1}(s) ds + C(t) f_{1}(0) - f_{1}(t)$$

if the function f_1 belongs to the space $C^1([0, T]; X)$ (Fattorini (1969a,b), Kurepa (1982), Travis and Webb (1978)). By inserting t = T and $f_1(t) = \Phi(t) p$ both in (8.2.21) we establish the relationship

(8.2.22)
$$A \int_{0}^{T} S(T-s) \Phi(s) p \, ds = \int_{0}^{T} C(T-s) \Phi'(s) p \, ds + C(T) \Phi(0) p - \Phi(T) p$$

Recall that the operator B was specified by (8.2.10). Then, in view of (8.2.22), equation (8.2.20) becomes

$$(8.2.23) \quad \int_{0}^{T} C(T-s) \, \Phi'(s) \, p \, ds + C(T) \, \Phi(0) \, p$$
$$- \, \Phi(T) \, p - \lambda^2 \int_{0}^{T} S(T-s) \, \Phi(s) \, p \, ds$$
$$= \left(A - \lambda^2 \, I \right) g \, .$$

After that, we are able to collect the integral terms in (8.2.23) and apply then the operator $\Phi(T)^{-1}$ to the resulting relation, yielding equation (8.2.19) and thereby completing the proof of the lemma.

Lemma 8.2.2 If $\Phi \in C^2([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X))$, the operator

(8.2.24)
$$D = \Phi(T) - C(T) \Phi(0)$$

is invertible and $D^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$, $\lambda^2 \in \rho(A)$, then equation (8.2.9) is equivalent to the following one:

$$(8.2.25) p - B_2 p = g_2,$$

where

$$B_{2} = D^{-1} \left(\int_{0}^{T} S(T-s) \left[\Phi''(s) - \lambda^{2} \Phi(s) \right] ds + S(T) \Phi'(0) \right),$$

$$g_{2} = -D^{-1} \left(A - \lambda^{2} I \right) g.$$

Proof With the inclusions $\lambda^2 \in \rho(A)$ and $g \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ in view, we deduce that equation (8.2.9) is equivalent to (8.2.20). We are going to show that if the function $f_1 \in \mathcal{C}^2([0, T]; X)$, then

$$(8.2.26) \quad A \int_{0}^{t} S(t-s) f_{1}(s) \, ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} S(t-s) f_{1}''(s) \, ds + C(t) f_{1}(0) + S(t) f_{1}'(0) - f_{1}(t) \, .$$

With this aim, let us transform the integral term on right-hand side of (8.2.21) in a natural way. By definition, the sine function is strongly continuously differentiable and S'(t) = C(t). By the well-established rules from calculus we find that

$$C(t-s) f'_1(s) = -\left(\frac{d}{ds} S(t-s)\right) f'_1(s)$$
$$= -\frac{d}{ds} \left(S(t-s) f'_1(s)\right)$$
$$+ S(t-s) f''_1(s),$$

which can be integrated over s from 0 to t. The outcome of this is

$$\int_{0}^{t} C(t-s) f_{1}'(s) ds = -S(t-s) f_{1}'(s) \Big|_{0}^{t} + \int_{0}^{t} S(t-s) f_{1}''(s) ds$$
$$= S(t) f_{1}'(0) + \int_{0}^{t} S(t-s) f_{1}''(s) ds.$$

Upon substituting the final result into the right-hand side of (8.2.21) we are led by minor manipulations to (8.2.26).

By merely setting t = T and $f_1(t) = \Phi(t) p$ both in (8.2.26) we arrive at the chain of relations

$$A B \ p = A \int_{0}^{T} S(T - s) \Phi(s) \ p \ ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{T} S(T - s) \Phi''(s) \ ds + C(T) \Phi(0) \ p$$
$$+ S(T) \Phi'(0) \ p - \Phi(T) \ p \ .$$

Let us substitute the preceding representation for the operator AB into equation (8.2.20). This procedure permits us to write a final result as follows:

$$\int_{0}^{T} S(T-s) \left[\Phi''(s) - \lambda^{2} \Phi(s) \right] p \, ds + S(T) \Phi'(0) p$$
$$- \left[\Phi(T) - C(T) \Phi(0) \right] p = \left(A - \lambda^{2} I \right) g.$$

Applying the operator $D^{-1} = [\Phi(T) - C(T)\Phi(0)]^{-1}$ to both sides of the governing equation yields (8.2.25), thereby completing the proof of the lemma.

As indicated in Section 8.1, there are constants $M \ge 1$ and $\omega \ge 0$ such that the operator functions C(t) and S(t) obey the estimates

$$(8.2.27) ||C(t)|| \le M \exp(\omega t), ||S(t)|| \le M |t| \exp(\omega t),$$

which are followed by

$$||B_{1}|| \leq ||\Phi(T)^{-1}|| \left(\int_{0}^{T} \left(||\Phi'(s)|| + |\lambda|^{2} (T-s) ||\Phi(s)|| \right) \times \exp \left(\omega (T-s) \right) ds + ||\Phi(0)|| \exp \left(\omega T \right) \right) M,$$

$$||B_{2}|| \leq ||D^{-1}|| \left(\int_{0}^{T} (T-s) ||\Phi''(s) - \lambda^{2} \Phi(s)|| \exp \left(\omega (T-s) \right) ds + T ||\Phi'(0)|| \exp \left(\omega T \right) \right) M,$$

where the operators B_1 and B_2 arose from Lemmas 8.2.1–8.2.2, respectively. This provides support for decision-making that the bounds $||B_1|| < 1$ and $||B_2|| < 1$ are sufficient for equations (8.2.19) and (8.2.20) to be uniquely solvable for any right-hand sides. Thus, we arrive at the following assertions.

Corollary 8.2.2 If under the conditions of Lemma 8.2.1 both estimates (8.2.27) take place and

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(T)^{-1}\| \left(\int\limits_{0}^{T} \left(\|\Phi'(s)\| + |\lambda|^2 \left(T-s\right)\|\Phi(s)\|\right) \exp\left(\omega\left(T-s\right)\right) \, ds \\ &+ \|\Phi(0)\| \exp\left(\omega T\right)\right) < \frac{1}{M} \,, \end{split}$$

then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (8.2.1)–(8.2.3) exists and is unique for any admissible input data.

Corollary 8.2.3 If under the conditions of Lemma 8.2.2 both estimates (8.2.27) hold and

$$\|D^{-1}\| \left(\int_{0}^{T} (T-s) \|\Phi''(s) - \lambda^{2} \Phi(s)\| \exp\left(\omega (T-s)\right) ds + T \|\Phi'(0)\| \exp\left(\omega T\right) \right) < \frac{1}{M} ,$$

then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) exists and is unique.

In light of some peculiarities of the cosine function equation (8.2.25) will be much more convenient in later discussions than equation (8.2.19). For the same reason as before it is interesting to establish the conditions under which the operator D specified by (8.2.24) becomes invertible.

Lemma 8.2.3 Let the operator $\Phi(T)$ be invertible and

$$\Phi(T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X) \,.$$

One assumes, in addition, that

(8.2.28) $||C(T) \Phi(0) \Phi(T)^{-1}|| < 1.$

Then the operator D specified by (8.2.24) is invertible. Moreover, the inclusion $D^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ occurs and the estimate is valid:

(8.2.29)
$$||D^{-1}|| \leq \frac{||\Phi(T)^{-1}||}{1 - ||C(T)\Phi(0)\Phi(T)^{-1}||}$$

Proof Owing to the inclusion $\Phi(T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ relation (8.2.24) implies that

$$D = (I - C(T) \Phi(0) \Phi(T)^{-1}) \Phi(T).$$

Because of (8.2.28), the operator $D_1 = I - C(T) \Phi(0) \Phi(T)^{-1}$ is invertible in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ and

$$D_1^{-1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left[C(T) \Phi(0) \Phi(T)^{-1} \right]^n,$$

yielding

$$||D_1^{-1}|| \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} ||C(T) \Phi(0) \Phi(T)^{-1}||^n = \frac{1}{1 - ||C(T) \Phi(0) \Phi(T)^{-1}||}$$

Since $D = D_1 \Phi(T)$, the relationship $D^{-1} = \Phi(T)^{-1} D_1^{-1}$ is simple to follow. In accordance with what has been said, we thus have

$$||D^{-1}|| \le ||\Phi(T)^{-1}|| \cdot ||D_1^{-1}||,$$

which assures us of the validity of estimate (8.2.29) and thereby completes the proof of the lemma.

8.2. Two-point inverse problems for equations of hyperbolic type

~

It is worth noting that in the general case the set of all solutions of the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) with zero input data may not coincide with zero subspace in $C^2([0, T]; X) \times X$. To understand the nature of the obstacle involved more deeply, we give one possible example. Let the operator A have an eigenvector e with associated eigenvalue $\lambda > 0$ and a numerical function Φ satisfy the condition

$$\int_{0}^{1} \Phi(s) \sin\left(\sqrt{-\lambda} \left(T-s\right)\right) \, ds = 0 \, .$$

We identify the value $\Phi(t)$ with the operator of multiplication by the number $\Phi(t)$ in the space X and pass to the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3). It is straightforward to verify that the function u and the element p such that

$$u(t) = \left(\int_{0}^{t} \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{-\lambda}\left(t-s\right)\right)}{\sqrt{-\lambda}} \Phi(s) \ ds\right) e, \qquad p = e$$

give a nontrivial solution of problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) with zero input data $u_0 = 0$, $u_1 = 0$, $u_2 = 0$ and F = 0. Equation (8.6.25) may be of help in obtaining the conditions of **Fredholm's solvability** of the inverse problem at hand.

Theorem 8.2.1 If the operator A generates a strongly continuous cosine function, whose associated sine function is compact, that is, the operator S(t) is compact for each t,

$$\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^2([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X)),$$

the operator D specified by (8.2.24) is invertible, $D^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$, $\lambda^2 \in \rho(A)$ and $h = -D^{-1} (A - \lambda^2 I) g$, where the element g is given by formula (8.2.11), then the following assertions are valid:

- (1) for the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) to be solvable for any admissible input data it is necessary and sufficient that it has only a trivial solution under the zero input data;
- (2) the set of all solutions of the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) with zero input data forms in the space $C^2([0, T]; X) \times X$ a finite-dimensional subspace;
- (3) there exist elements $l_1, l_2, \ldots, l_n \in X^*$ such that the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) is solvable if and only if $l_i(h) = 0, 1 \le i \le n$.

Proof By Lemma 8.2.2 the inverse problem at hand reduces to equation (8.2.25). It is well-known that the sine function S(t) is continuous on the real line **R** in the operator topology of the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$, in which the set of compact operators constitutes a closed two-sided ideal. In view of this, the operator

$$B' = \int_{0}^{T} S(T-s) \left[\Phi''(s) - \lambda^2 \Phi(s) \right] ds$$

is compact as a limit in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ of the corresponding Riemann sums. These are compact, since S(t) is compact.

On the same grounds as before, the operators

$$B'' = S(T) \Phi'(0)$$

 and

$$B_2 = D^{-1} (B' + B'')$$

are compact and, therefore, equation (8.2.25) can be analysed from the standpoint of Fredholm's theory.

The element h arising from the conditions of the theorem coincides with the right-hand side g_2 of equation (8.2.25) and can run over the entire space along with the element g over the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$. Thus, the solvability of the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) for any admissible input data is equivalent to the question whether equation (8.2.25) is solvable for each $g_2 \in X$ and the first desired assertion follows from Fredholm's alternative.

In the case when the input data are zero, $g_2 = 0$ and the set of all solutions to equation (8.2.25) coincides with the characteristic subspace of the operator B_2 if one associates this subspace with the unit eigenvalue. Since the operator B_2 is compact, the characteristic subspace just mentioned appears to be finite-dimensional. It remains to note that the function u and the element p are related by the linear formula

$$u(t) = \int_0^t S(t-s) \Phi(s) p \ ds,$$

leading to the second assertion. In conformity with Fredholm's theory, equation (8.2.25) is solvable if and only if $l_i(g_2) = 0$, $1 \le i \le n$, where $\{l_i\}_{i=1}^n$ is a basis of the finite-dimensional space comprising all solutions to the homogeneous adjoint equation $l - B_2^* l = 0$. This proves the third assertion and thereby completes the proof of the theorem.

Quite often, one can encounter situations in which the cosine function generated by the operator A obeys estimate (8.2.27) with M = 1 and $\omega = 0$. In that case Lemma 8.2.3 implies that the operator specified by (8.2.24) is invertible if

(8.2.30)
$$||\Phi(0)\Phi(T)^{-1}|| < 1.$$

Thus, we come to the following proposition.

Corollary 8.2.4 Let the operator A generate a strongly continuous cosine function, whose associated sine function is compact, that is, for which the operator S(t) is compact for each t, and estimate (8.2.27) with M = 1 and $\omega = 0$ be valid together with estimate (8.2.30). If $\Phi \in C^2([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X))$, $\lambda^2 \in \rho(A)$ and $h = -D^{-1}(A - \lambda^2 I)g$, where the element g is defined by (8.2.11), then the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) is of Fredholm's type, that is, the assertions of items (1)-(3) of Theorem 8.2.1 are true.

Equation (8.2.1) can find a wide range of applications when the operator A in the Hilbert space X is unbounded, self-adjoint and nonpositive. Such an operator always generates a strongly continuous cosine function satisfying estimate (8.2.27) with M = 1 and $\omega = 0$. For the associated sine function to be compact it suffices that the spectrum of the operator is discrete. Corollary 8.2.4 can serve as a basis for this type of situation.

Corollary 8.2.5 Let the operator A be unbounded, self-adjoint and nonpositive and its spectrum be purely discrete in the Hilbert space X. If

$$\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^2([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X)), \qquad \Phi(T) \in \mathcal{L}(X)$$

and the estimate

$$\|\Phi(0) \ \Phi(T)^{-1}\| < 1$$

is valid, then the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) is of Fredholm's type.

It is very interesting to compare the results just established with those of Theorem 7.1.3 from Section 7.1. Suppose that in the Hilbert space Xthe operator A is unbounded, self-adjoint and negative and its spectrum is discrete. Every such operator generates both an exponentially decreasing contraction semigroup and a cosine function, whose associated sine function is compact and satisfies (8.2.27) with M = 1 and $\omega = 0$. If Φ is smooth and $\Phi(T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$, then the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) for the first order equation is of Fredholm's character. At the same time for the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) to be of Fredholm's character it is required, in addition, that condition (8.2.30) is also satisfied. When condition (8.2.30) fails to hold, the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) is not of Fredholm's character. The following example confirms our statement. We introduce in the space $X = L_2(0, l)$ the operator A u = u'' with the domain

$$\mathcal{D}(A) = W_2^2(0, l) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(0, l),$$

whose aim is to demonstrate that problem (8.2.1)–(8.2.3) is not of Fredholm's character for $\Phi(t) \equiv I$.

We note in passing that for $\Phi(t) \equiv I$ and $A^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ the operator D = I - C(T) is invertible if and only if problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) is well-posed. Indeed, in that case all the conditions of Lemma 8.2.1 are satisfied. We are led by merely setting $\lambda = 0$ to

$$B_1 = C(T),$$

which makes it possible to reduce equation (8.2.25) to the following one:

$$p - C(T) p = g_1.$$

Corollary 8.2.6 If the operator A generates a strongly continuous cosine function C(t) in the Banach space X, $\Phi(t) = I$ and $0 \in \rho(A)$, then the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) is uniquely solvable for any admissible input data if and only if $1 \in \rho(C(T))$.

We now assume that X is the Hilbert space and the operator A is self-adjoint and semibounded from above. For any numerical function Φ , the value $\Phi(t)$ will be identified with the operator of multiplication by the number $\Phi(t)$ in the space X. The function $\varphi(\lambda)$ on the negative semi-axis is defined by

(8.2.31)
$$\varphi(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-\lambda}} \int_{0}^{T} \Phi(s) \sin\left(\sqrt{-\lambda} \left(T-s\right)\right) \, ds \, ds$$

Note that we might extend the function φ from the negative semi-axis to compose an **entire function** of the complex variable λ . If, in particular, $\Phi(t) \not\equiv 0$, then the zeroes of the function φ are isolated.

In what follows we denote by E_{λ} the spectral resolution of unity of the operator A. Within this notation, we write down

$$A = \int_{-\infty}^{b} \lambda \ dE_{\lambda} ,$$

where b is a real number. Therefore, the main functions in question become

$$C(t) = \cos\left(\sqrt{-A} t\right), \qquad S(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-A}} \sin\left(\sqrt{-A} t\right)$$

and equation (8.2.9) involves

$$B = \int_{0}^{T} \Phi(s) \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{-A} \left(T-s\right)\right)}{\sqrt{-A}} ds.$$

In that case $B = \varphi(A)$, where φ stands for the analytical continuation of the function defined by (8.2.31). In this line, the solvability of equation (8.2.9) can be derived from Lemma 7.2.1 of Section 7.2. Thus, we obtain the following result.

Theorem 8.2.2 If the operator A is self-adjoint and semibounded from above in the Hilbert space X, $\Phi \in C^1[0, T]$ and $\Phi(t) \neq 0$, then the following assertions are valid:

(1) the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) with the fixed admissible input data u_0, u_1, u_2, F is solvable if and only if

(8.2.32)
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda} g, g) < \infty,$$

where E_{λ} is the spectral resolution of unity of the operator A, φ is defined by (8.2.31) and the element g is given by (8.2.11);

(2) if the inverse problem (8.2.1)–(8.2.3) is solvable, then its solution is unique if and only if the point spectrum of the operator A contains no zeroes of the entire function φ defined by (8.2.31).

We cite below sufficient conditions under which items (1)-(2) of the preceding theorem will be true. Since the spectrum of any self-adjoint operator is located on the real axis, the assertion of item (2) will be proved if we succeed in showing that the function φ has no real zeroes. This is certainly true for the case when the function Φ is nonnegative and strictly increasing on the segment [0, T]. Indeed, for any positive λ

$$\varphi(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \int_{0}^{T} \Phi(s) \operatorname{sh} \left(\sqrt{\lambda} \left(T - s \right) \right) \, ds \, > \, 0$$

and so the function φ has no positive zeroes. Moreover,

$$\varphi(0) = \int_{0}^{T} (T-s) \Phi(s) \ ds > 0 \, .$$

For $\lambda < 0$ set

$$\Phi_1(s) = \Phi(T-s)$$

and substitute T-s for s in the integral involving the function φ , whose use permits us to write down

$$\varphi(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-\lambda}} \int_{0}^{T} \Phi_{1}(s) \sin\left(\sqrt{-\lambda}s\right) ds.$$

Recall that the positivity of the right-hand side of the above expression has been already justified in deriving inequality (7.2.22) obtained in Section 7.2.

Integrating by parts in (8.2.31) and making the substitution T-s for s, we establish one useful representation

$$(8.2.33) \quad \varphi(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \left(\Phi(T) - \Phi(0) \cos\left(\sqrt{-\lambda} T\right) \right) \\ - \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{0}^{T} \Phi'(T-s) \cos\left(\sqrt{-\lambda} s\right) \, ds \, .$$

By the Riemann lemma relation (8.2.33) implies, as $\lambda \to -\infty$, that

(8.2.34)
$$\varphi(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \left(\Phi(T) - \Phi(0) \cos\left(\sqrt{-\lambda} T\right) \right) + o\left(\frac{1}{\lambda}\right),$$

whence it follows that the inequality

$$|\Phi(0)| < |\Phi(T)|$$

ensures, as $\lambda \rightarrow -\infty$, the validity of the estimate

$$|\varphi(\lambda)| \ge rac{c}{|\lambda|}$$

Therefore, there is a sufficiently large number D > 0 such that

$$(8.2.35) \qquad \int_{-\infty}^{-D} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda} g, g) \leq \frac{1}{c^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{-D} |\lambda|^{2} d(E_{\lambda} g, g)$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{c^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \lambda^{2} d(E_{\lambda} g, g)$$

and all the integrals in (8.2.35) are finite. This is due to the fact that $g \in \mathcal{D}(A)$. If, in addition, the spectrum of the operator A contains no zeroes of the function φ , then the integral

$$\int_{-D}^{\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda} g, g) = \int_{-D}^{b} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda} g, g)$$

is also finite. This implies the validity of the assertion of item (1) of Theorem 8.2.2 and leads us to the following statement.

Corollary 8.2.7 If the operator A is self-adjoint and semibounded from above in the Hilbert space X and the function $\Phi \in C^1[0, T]$ is nonnegative and strictly increasing on the segment [0, T], then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) exists and is unique for any admissible input data.

Of special interest is one particular case where $\Phi(t) \equiv 1$. By calculating the integral in (8.2.31) we deduce that

$$\varphi(\lambda) = \begin{cases} \frac{1 - \cos\left(\sqrt{-\lambda} T\right)}{\lambda} , & \lambda \neq 0, \\ \frac{T^2}{2} , & \lambda = 0. \end{cases}$$

Let us introduce the set of points

(8.2.36)
$$Z = \left\{ \cos\left(\sqrt{-\lambda} T\right) : \lambda \in \sigma(A), \lambda \neq 0 \right\}$$

If $1 \notin Z$, then the conditions of item (2) of Theorem 8.2.2 are satisfied. Under the stronger condition $1 \notin \overline{Z}$, where \overline{Z} is the closure of the set Z, the estimate $|\varphi(\lambda)| \ge c/|\lambda|$ is valid on the spectrum of the operator A as $\lambda \to -\infty$. Thus, the integral in (8.2.32) is finite by virtue of the inclusion $g \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, leading to another conclusion.

Corollary 8.2.8 If the operator A is self-adjoint and semibounded from above in the Hilbert space X, $\Phi(t) \equiv 1$ and $1 \notin \overline{Z}$, where the set Z is prescribed by (8.2.36), then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) exists and is unique for any admissible input data.

Consider now the inverse problem (8.2.1)–(8.2.3) in the case when the spectrum of the operator A is purely discrete. Let $\{e_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be an orthonormal basis of the space X consisting of the eigenvectors of the operator A and

$$A e_k = \lambda_k e_k$$

8. Inverse Problems for Equations of Second Order

Then the elements g and p can be represented as follows:

$$g = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} g_k e_k, \qquad p = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} p_k e_k,$$

thus causing an alternative form of equation (8.2.9) $\varphi(A) p = g$ in connection with the infinite system of equations

(8.2.37)
$$\varphi(\lambda_k) p_k = g_k, \qquad k = 1, 2, \ldots$$

Because of (8.2.37), a solution to equation (8.2.9) is unique. Then a solution of the inverse problem at hand will be unique if and only if $\varphi(\lambda_k) \neq 0$ for each k. This coincides with the assertion of item (2) of Theorem 8.2.2.

In conformity with the spectral theory of self-adjoint operators,

(8.2.38)
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda} g, g) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} |g_k|^2$$

if the series on the right-hand side contains only those terms for which $g_k \neq 0$. When all the terms should be taken into account, we write down $\infty \cdot 0 = 0$. In light of the results from item (1) of Theorem 8.2.2 the convergence of the series on the right-hand side of (8.2.38) is equivalent to the solvability of equation (8.2.9) and consequently the solvability of the inverse problem. The same condition can be derived from the system (8.2.37). Indeed, if equation (8.2.9) is solvable, then so is every equation from the collection (8.2.37). Therefore, if $g_k \neq 0$ for some k, then a similar relation will be true for the value $\varphi(\lambda_k)$ with the same subscript k, so that

$$(8.2.39) p_k = \frac{g_k}{\varphi(\lambda_k)}$$

and the remaining components of the vector p may be arbitrarily chosen. The series on the right-hand side of (8.2.38) is a sum of the squares of only those components p_k for which $g_k \neq 0$. On the other hand, the sum containing the squares of all components of the vector p is finite, since it is equal to its norm squared. Thus, the series in (8.2.39) is convergent.

Conversely, if the series in (8.2.38) is convergent, then one can define, in complete agreement with (8.2.39), all of those values p_k for which $\varphi(\lambda_k) \neq 0$ and take the remaining values with $\varphi(\lambda_k) = 0$ to be zero. When this is the case, the sequence $\{p_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ satisfies the system (8.2.37) and the convergence of the series in (8.2.38) provides the existence of such a vector p, whose components are equal to the values p_k .

8.2. Two-point inverse problems for equations of hyperbolic type

By means of the Fourier method one can derive for the solution to equation (8.2.9) the explicit formula

(8.2.40)
$$p = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \varphi(\lambda_k)^{-1} (g, e_k) e_k ,$$

which may be of help in approximating the element p.

The preceding example with the space $X = L_2(0, l)$, the governing equation A u = u'', the domain

$$\mathcal{D}(A) = W_2^2(0, \, l) \bigcap \check{W}_2^1(0, \, l)$$

and the function $\Phi(t) \equiv 1$ involved helps clarify what is done. Observe that in such a setting the spectrum of the operator A is purely discrete, that is,

(8.2.41)
$$\lambda_k = -(\pi k/l)^2, \qquad k = 1, 2, \dots$$

The values

(8.2.42)
$$\mu_n = -(2\pi n/T)^2, \qquad n = 1, 2, ...,$$

give zeroes of the function φ defined by (8.2.31). If the ratio T/l is rational, both sequences (8.2.41) and (8.2.42) have an infinite number of the coinciding terms. Thus, the uniqueness of the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3)is violated. What is more, it follows from relations (8.2.37) that the space of all solutions to equation (8.2.9) for the case q = 0, corresponding, in particular, to the zero input data, is infinite-dimensional and so the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) fails to be of Fredholm's type. If the ratio T/l is irrational, then sequences (8.2.41) and (8.2.42) are not intersecting. This serves to motivate the uniqueness of a solution of the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3). Also, the inverse problem concerned will be solvable on a dense set once we use any linear combination of the eigenvectors of the operator A instead of g. On the other hand, when the subscript k is large enough, the distance between λ_k and μ_k can be made as small as we like. This provides support for the view that the series in (8.2.38) does not converge for some $g \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, thereby justifying that the inverse problem (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) fails to be of Fredholm's character.

Let us consider one more example with $X = L_2(0, l)$ and Au = u''. Here the domain $\mathcal{D}(A)$ consists of all functions $u \in W_2^2(0, l)$ with zero boundary values u(0) = u'(l) = 0. For the case $\Phi(t) \equiv 1$ the spectrum of the operator A is of the form

(8.2.43)
$$\lambda_k = -((2k+1)\pi/2l)^2, \qquad k = 1, 2, \dots,$$
and the zeroes of the function φ are given by formula (8.2.42). If the ratio T/l is irrational, then, as before, a solution of the inverse problem exists and is unique only for a certain dense set of admissible input data (not for all of these data) and there is no reason here for Fredholm's character.

In this regard, one thing is worth noting. In the present and preceding examples we have $1 \in Z$, where the set Z is prescribed in (8.2.36), and, consequently, the number $\lambda = 1$ enters the continuous spectrum of the operator C(T).

Allowing the ratio T/l to be rational of the form

(8.2.44)
$$\frac{T}{l} = \frac{2k+1}{4n}$$

we find that $\lambda_k = \mu_k$. Having multiplied the numerator and the denominator by one and the same odd number the fraction on the right-hand side of (8.2.44) is once again of this type. Thus, there exists an infinite number of pairs (k, n) such that (8.2.44) takes place. All this reflects the situation in which the number $\lambda = 1$ is an eigenvalue of the operator C(T)of infinite multiplicity. If this happens, a solution of the inverse problem is nonunique and the space of its solutions with zero input data turns out to be infinite-dimensional.

When the ratio T/l is rational, but representation (8.2.44) fails to hold, none of the numbers of the type (8.2.43) falls into the set of zeroes of the function φ . If so, $1 \notin \overline{Z}$, since the set Z is discrete and finite. Moreover, as $\lambda \to -\infty$ the function

$$\varphi(\lambda) = (1 - \cos(\sqrt{-\lambda}T))/\lambda$$

obeys on the spectrum of the operator A the estimate $|\varphi(\lambda)| \ge c/|\lambda|$, implying that the integral in (8.2.32) is finite for each $g \in \mathcal{D}(A)$. For this reason the inverse problem (8.2.1)–(8.2.3) is well-posed. If, for example, T = 2l, condition (8.2.44) is violated, so that the inverse problem concerned is well-posed. It is straightforward to verify that C(T) = -I, S(T) = 0 and all the conditions of Corollary 8.2.6 hold true. Equation (8.2.19) becomes $p - C(T)p = g_1$, from which the element p can be found in the explicit form as follows:

$$p = \frac{1}{2} g_1 = -A g$$
.

8.3 Two-point inverse problems for equations of the elliptic type

We consider in a Banach space X the inverse problem

(8.3.1) $u''(t) = A u(t) + \Phi(t) p + F(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$

 $(8.3.2) u(0) = u_0, u'(0) = u_1,$

$$\alpha u(T) + \beta u'(T) = u_2,$$

where A is a closed linear operator with a dense domain,

$$\Phi: [0, T] \mapsto \mathcal{L}(X), \qquad F: [0, T] \mapsto X;$$

the values $u_0, u_1, u_2 \in X$ and real numbers α, β are such that $\alpha^2 + \beta^2 \neq 0$.

Throughout the entire section, equation (8.3.1) is supposed to be elliptic, meaning the positivity of the operator A. By definition, its resolvent set contains all positive numbers and for any $\lambda \ge 0$ the estimate is valid:

$$\left\| \left(A + \lambda I \right)^{-1} \right\| \leq \frac{c}{1+\lambda} .$$

When the operator A happens to be positive, it is possible to define its **fractional powers**. Moreover, the operator $-A^{1/2}$ generates a strongly continuous **analytic semigroup** V(t). In each such case the **spectral radius** of the operator V(t) is less than 1 for any t > 0 (for more detail see Krein (1967), Krein and Laptev (1962, 1966a, b)) and so the operator I - V(t) is invertible for any t > 0. We are now interested in finding a function $u \in C^2([0, T]; X) \cap C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2}))$ and an element $p \in X$ from relations (8.3.1)-(8.3.2).

Before proceeding to careful analysis, we give some necessary conditions for the preceding inverse problem to be solvable:

$$u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A), \qquad u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2}).$$

The element $u_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ for $\beta = 0$ and $u_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$ for other cases.

As a direct problem associated with equation (8.3.1) the boundary value problem is given first:

$$(8.3.3) u''(t) = A u(t) + f(t), 0 \le t \le T,$$

(8.3.4)
$$u(0) = u_0$$
, $\alpha u(T) + \beta u'(T) = u_2$.

In the sequel we shall need as yet the operator

(8.3.5)
$$\Delta(T) = \alpha \left(I - V(2T) \right) + \beta A^{1/2} \left(I + V(2T) \right).$$

As stated in Krein and Laptev (1962, 1966a), the direct problem (8.3.3)-(8.3.4) will be well-posed once we require that

$$(8.3.6) \qquad \qquad \Delta(T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X) \,.$$

Under this agreement one can find the corresponding Green function

(8.3.7)
$$G(t,s) = -\frac{1}{2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left\{ \left(\beta I - \alpha A^{-1/2} \right) \times \left[V(2T - t - s) - V(2T - |t - s|) \right] + \left(\beta I + \alpha A^{-1/2} \right) \left[V(|t - s|) - V(t + s) \right] \right\}$$

Observe that condition (8.3.6) is fulfilled in the particular cases $\alpha = 0$ or $\beta = 0$ as an immediate implication of the estimate r(V(2T)) < 1, where r denotes, as usual, the spectral radius.

In the case when $\beta \neq 0$ the domains of the operators $\Delta(T)$ and $A^{1/2}$ coincide. Furthermore, by the Banach theorem on closed graph condition (8.3.6) ensures for $\beta \neq 0$ that

To derive the formula for the inverse problem solution, it will be sensible to introduce the new elements

(8.3.9)
$$\begin{cases} a = \Delta(T)^{-1} \left[\left(\alpha I + \beta A^{1/2} \right) u_0 - V(T) u_2 \right], \\ b = \Delta(T)^{-1} \left[u_2 - \left(\alpha I - \beta A^{1/2} \right) V(T) u_0 \right]. \end{cases}$$

From the theory of semigroups it is known that the operator A commutates with the semigroup V(t) and thereby with the operator $\Delta(T)$. From such reasoning it seems clear that the elements

$$(8.3.10) a, b \in \mathcal{D}(A).$$

For $\beta = 0$ inclusion (8.3.10) follows immediately from the belonging of the elements u_0 and u_2 to the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A)$. For $\beta \neq 0$ the validity of (8.3.10) is ensured by the inclusions $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $u_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$ and (8.3.8).

Assume now that the function f satisfies on the segment [0, T] either Hölder's condition in the norm of the space X or

$$f, A^{1/2}f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$$
.

It was shown by Krein (1967), Krein and Laptev (1962, 1966a) that under these constraints a solution u of the direct problem (8.3.3)-(8.3.4) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{2}([0, T]; X) \cap C^{1}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})).$$

Moreover, this solution is given by the formula

(8.3.11)
$$u(t) = V(t) a + V(T-t) b + \int_{0}^{T} G(t,s) f(s) ds,$$

so that

$$(8.3.12) \quad u'(t) = -V(t) A^{1/2} a + V(T-t) A^{1/2} b + \int_{0}^{T} G_t(t,s) f(s) ds$$

Let us introduce the notion of **admissible input data** which will be needed in the sequel. In what follows we assume that the function $\Phi(t)$ with values in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ satisfies Hölder's condition on the segment [0, T].

Definition 8.3.1 The elements u_0 , u_1 , u_2 and the function F are referred to as the admissible input data of the inverse problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) if $u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $u_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$, the element u_2 belongs either $\mathcal{D}(A)$ for $\beta = 0$ or $\mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$ for $\beta \neq 0$, the function F admits the decomposition $F = F_1 + F_2$, where F_1 satisfies on the segment [0, T] Hölder's condition in the norm of the space X and F_2 , $A^{1/2} F_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; X)$.

We note in passing that the admissible input data may be involved in formulae (8.3.11)-(8.3.12) by merely setting

(8.3.13)
$$f(t) = \Phi(t) p + F(t)$$

Likewise, the inverse problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) can be reduced to a single equation for the element p as before. Substitution of (8.3.13) into (8.3.12) could be useful in deriving this equation by successively applying t = 0 and u_1 in place of u'(0). The outcome of this is

$$(8.3.14) B p = g,$$

where

(8.3.15)
$$B = \int_{0}^{T} G_{t}(0,s) \Phi(s) ds,$$

(8.3.16)
$$g = u_1 + A^{1/2} a - V(T) A^{1/2} b$$

$$-\int_0^T G_t(0,s) F(s) \, ds \, .$$

In conformity with semigroup theory the inclusion $g \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$ shall enter into force for any admissible input data. Moreover, we claim that the element g runs over the entire manifold $\mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$ for the varying admissible input data. Indeed, the values $u_0 = 0$, $u_2 = 0$ and F = 0 lead to the equality $g = u_1$, which confirms our statement.

It is easy to verify that a pair $\{u, p\}$ gives a solution of the inverse problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) if the element p satisfies equation (8.3.14) and the function u is given by formula (8.3.11) with $f(t) = \Phi(t) p + F(t)$ incorporated. In particular, one can prove that the unique solvability of the inverse problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) is equivalent to the question whether the operator B is invertible and

$$\mathcal{D}(B^{-1}) = \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2}).$$

Of special interest is one particular case where $\Phi(t) \equiv I$. For this, the integral in (8.3.15) can be calculated without difficulties, thus giving the explicit formula for a solution to equation (8.3.14).

Theorem 8.3.1 If the operator A is positive, $\Phi(t) \equiv I$ and the inclusions $\Delta(T)^{-1}$ and $\Delta(T/2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ occur, then for any admissible input data a solution u, p of the inverse problem exists and is unique. In this case the element p is given by the formula

(8.3.17)
$$p = -(I - V(T))^{-1} A^{1/2} \Delta(T/2)^{-1} \Delta(T) g,$$

where g is defined by (8.3.16), (8.3.9) and (8.3.7).

Proof Recall that the element p can be recovered from equation (8.3.14). From (8.3.7) it follows that

$$G_t(0,s) = -A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left\{ \left(\beta I - \alpha A^{-1/2} \right) \right.$$

× $V(2T-s) + \left(\beta I + \alpha A^{-1/2} \right) V(s) \right\}.$

The well-known formula from semigroup theory is used to deduce that for any nonnegative numbers t_1 and t_2

(8.3.18)
$$A^{1/2} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} V(s) \ ds = V(t_1) - V(t_2),$$

yielding

$$A^{1/2} \int_{0}^{T} V(2T-s) \, ds = A^{1/2} \int_{T}^{2T} \dot{V}(s) \, ds = V(T) - V(2T),$$
$$A^{1/2} \int_{0}^{T} V(s) \, ds = V(0) - V(T) = I - V(T).$$

Since the operators $A^{1/2}$ and $\Delta(T)$ are commuting, we arrive at the chain of relations

$$\begin{split} A^{1/2} \int_{0}^{T} G_{t}(0,s) \, ds &= -A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left(\beta I - \alpha A^{-1/2}\right) A^{1/2} \int_{0}^{T} V\left(2T - s\right) \, ds \\ &- A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left(\beta I + \alpha A^{-1/2}\right) A^{1/2} \int_{0}^{T} V(s) \, ds \\ &= -A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left(\beta I - \alpha A^{-1/2}\right) \left(V(T) - V(2T)\right) \\ &- A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left(\beta I + \alpha A^{-1/2}\right) \left(I - V(T)\right) \\ &= -A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left(\beta I - \alpha A^{-1/2}\right) V(T) \left(I - V(T)\right) \\ &- A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left(\beta I + \alpha A^{-1/2}\right) \left(I - V(T)\right) \\ &= -A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left[\left(\beta I - \alpha A^{-1/2}\right) V(T) + \left(\beta I + \alpha A^{-1/2}\right) \left(I - V(T)\right) \right] \\ &= -A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left[\alpha \left(A^{-1/2} - A^{-1/2} V(T)\right) + \beta \left(I + V(T)\right)\right] \left(I - V(T)\right) \end{split}$$

8. Inverse Problems for Equations of Second Order

$$= -A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left[\alpha \left(I - V(T) \right) + \beta A^{1/2} \right]$$

× $\left(I + V(T) \right) A^{-1/2} \left(I - V(T) \right)$
= $-A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \Delta(T/2) A^{-1/2} \left(I - V(T) \right),$

implying that

(8.3.19)
$$A^{1/2} \int_{0}^{T} G_t(0,s) \, ds = -A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \Delta(T/2) A^{-1/2} (I - V(T))$$

Note that the operator $A^{1/2}$ is invertible and the inclusion $g \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$ occurs. Because of these facts, equation (8.3.14) is equivalent to the following one:

$$A^{1/2} B p = A^{1/2} g,$$

which leads by (8.3.19) to

$$-A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \Delta(T/2) A^{-1/2} (I - V(T)) p = A^{1/2} g,$$

whence formula (8.3.17) immediately follows. This completes the proof of the theorem.

Under several additional assumptions equation (8.3.14) reduces to a second kind equation. A key role here is played by the operator

(8.3.20)
$$\delta(T) = \alpha \left(I + V(2T) \right) + \beta A^{1/2} \left(I - V(2T) \right),$$

being still subject to the relation

(8.3.21)
$$\delta(T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X).$$

It should be noted that for the fulfilment of condition (8.3.21) it is sufficient that either $\alpha = 0$ or $\beta = 0$. For $\beta \neq 0$ the domain of the operator $\delta(T)$ coincides with $\mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$ and in this case by the Banach theorem on closed graph condition (8.3.21) implies that

(8.3.22)
$$A^{1/2} \delta(T)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$$

Lemma 8.3.1 If the operator A is positive, conditions (8.3.6) and (8.3.21) hold, the function $\Phi \in C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X))$ and the operator

$$\Phi(0)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X) \,,$$

8.3. Two-point inverse problems for equations of the elliptic type

then for any admissible input data equation (8.3.14) is equivalent to the following one:

$$(8.3.23) p - B_1 p = g_1,$$

where

$$(8.3.24) \qquad B_{1} = \Phi(0)^{-1} \left[\beta A^{1/2} \delta(T)^{-1} \int_{0}^{T} \left[V(2T-s) - V(s) \right] \Phi'(s) \, ds + \alpha \, \delta(T)^{-1} \times \left(2 \, V(T) \, \Phi(T) - \int_{0}^{T} \left[V(2T-s) + V(s) \right] \Phi'(s) \, ds \right) \right],$$

(8.3.25) $g_1 = -\Phi(0)^{-1} A^{1/2} \delta(T)^{-1} \Delta(T) g$.

Proof As we have mentioned above, if the operator \mathcal{A} generates a strongly continuous semigroup V(t), then for any continuously differentiable function f we get

$$\mathcal{A} \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) f(s) \ ds = \int_{0}^{t} V(t-s) \ f'(s) \ ds + V(t) \ f(0) - f(t) \ .$$

By means of the function f(s) = g(t-s) we establish for any continuously differentiable function g one useful relationship:

(8.3.26)
$$\mathcal{A} \int_{0}^{t} V(s) g(s) ds = -\int_{0}^{t} V(s) g'(s) ds + V(t) g(t) - g(0).$$

Moreover, from formula (8.3.26) it follows that

(8.3.27)
$$\mathcal{A} \int_{0}^{t} V(2t-s) g(s) ds$$

= $\int_{0}^{t} V(2t-s) g'(s) ds + V(2t) g(0) - V(t) g(t).$

The function $g_1(s) = g(2t-s)$ is aimed to justify this and deduce in passing that

$$\int_{0}^{t} V(2t-s) g(s) \, ds = \int_{t}^{2t} V(s) g_1(s) \, \frac{ds}{ds}$$
$$= \int_{0}^{2t} V(s) g_1(s) \, ds - \int_{0}^{t} V(s) g_1(s) \, ds$$

and, because of (8.3.26),

$$\mathcal{A} \int_{0}^{t} V(2t-s) g(s) \, ds = \mathcal{A} \int_{0}^{2t} V(s) g_{1}(s) \, ds - \mathcal{A} \int_{0}^{t} V(s) g_{1}(s) \, ds$$
$$= -\int_{0}^{2t} V(s) g_{1}'(s) \, ds + V(2t) g_{1}(2t) - g_{1}(0)$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{t} V(s) g_{1}'(s) \, ds - V(t) g_{1}(t) + g_{1}(0)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{2t} V(s) g'(2t-s) \, ds + V(2t) g(0)$$
$$- \int_{0}^{t} V(s) g'(2t-s) \, ds + V(2t) g(0) - V(t) g(t)$$
$$= \int_{t}^{2t} V(s) g'(2t-s) \, ds + V(2t) g(0) - V(t) g(t)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} V(2t-s) g'(s) \, ds + V(2t) g(0) - V(t) g(t)$$

,

thereby justifying formula (8.3.27).

As stated above, for any admissible input data the element g defined by (8.3.16) belongs to the manifold $\mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$ and, since the operator $A^{1/2}$ is invertible, equation (8.3.14) is equivalent to the following one:

(8.3.28)
$$A^{1/2} B p = A^{1/2} g.$$

Combination of (8.3.15) and the equality

(8.3.29)
$$G_t(0,s) = -A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left\{ \left(\beta I - \alpha A^{-1/2} \right) \times V(2T-s) + \left(\beta I + \alpha A^{-1/2} \right) V(s) \right\}$$

gives

$$\begin{aligned} A^{1/2} B p &= A^{1/2} \int_{0}^{T} G_{t}(0,s) \Phi(s) p \ ds \\ &= -A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left(\beta I - \alpha A^{-1/2}\right) A^{1/2} \\ &\times \int_{0}^{T} V(2T - s) \Phi(s) p \ ds \\ &- A^{1/2} \Delta(T)^{-1} \left(\beta I + \alpha A^{-1/2}\right) \\ &\times A^{1/2} \int_{0}^{T} V(s) \Phi(s) p \ ds \ . \end{aligned}$$

By successively applying formulae (8.3.26) and (8.3.27) to the couple

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A} &= -A^{1/2} \text{ and } g(t) = \Phi(t) \ p \ \text{we arrive at the chain of relations} \\ A^{1/2} \ B \ p \ = A^{1/2} \ \Delta(T)^{-1} \left(\ \beta \ I - \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \right) \left[\int_{0}^{T} V(2T - s) \ \Phi'(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ V(2T) \ \Phi(0) \ p - V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p \ \right] \\ &+ A^{1/2} \ \Delta(T)^{-1} \left(\ \beta \ I + \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \right) \\ &\times \left[-\int_{0}^{T} V(s) \ \Phi'(s) \ p \ ds + V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p - \Phi(0) \ p \ \right] \\ &= A^{1/2} \ \Delta(T)^{-1} \left[\ \beta \ \int_{0}^{T} \left[V(2T - s) - V(s) \right] \ \Phi'(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p \\ &- \int_{0}^{T} \left[V(2T - s) + V(s) \right] \ \Phi'(s) \ p \ ds \right) \right] \\ &- A^{1/2} \ \Delta(T)^{-1} \left[\ \beta \ \int_{0}^{T} \left[V(2T - s) - V(s) \right] \ \Phi'(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p \\ &- A^{1/2} \ \Delta(T)^{-1} \left[\ \beta \ \int_{0}^{T} \left[V(2T - s) - V(s) \right] \ \Phi'(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p - i \ O(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p - i \ O(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p - i \ O(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p - i \ O(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p - i \ O(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p - i \ O(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p - i \ O(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p - i \ O(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p \ i \ O(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p \ i \ O(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p \ i \ O(s) \ A^{-1/2} \ \Phi(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ p \ i \ O(s) \ A^{-1/2} \ \Phi(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ 2 \ V(T) \ \Phi(T) \ i \ A^{-1/2} \ \Phi(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ A^{-1/2} \ \Delta(T)^{-1} \ \delta(T) \ A^{-1/2} \ \Phi(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ A^{-1/2} \ \Delta(T)^{-1} \ \delta(T) \ A^{-1/2} \ \Phi(s) \ p \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ A^{-1/2} \ \Delta(T)^{-1} \ \delta(T) \ A^{-1/2} \ \Phi(s) \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ A^{-1/2} \ \Delta(T)^{-1} \ \delta(T) \ A^{-1/2} \ \Phi(s) \ ds \\ &+ \alpha \ A^{-1/2} \left(\ A^{-1/2} \ \Delta(T)^{-1} \ \delta(T) \ A^{-1/2} \ \Delta(T)^{-1} \ \delta(T) \ A^{-1/2} \ \Delta(T)^{-1/2} \ \delta$$

We are led by substituting this expression into the left-hand side of (8.3.28) and applying then the operator

$$\Phi(0)^{-1} A^{1/2} \delta(T)^{-1} \Delta(T) A^{-1/2}$$

to both sides of the resulting relation to (8.3.23), thereby completing the proof of the lemma.

It is worth noting here that, in general, a solution of the inverse problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) is not obliged to be unique. The inverse problem

(8.3.30)
$$\begin{cases} u''(t) = A u(t) + \Phi(t) p, & 0 \le t \le T, \\ u(0) = 0, & u'(0) = 0, & u(T) = 0, \end{cases}$$

where Φ is a numerical function, complements our study and gives a particular case of the inverse problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) with $\alpha = 1$, $\beta = 0$ under the zero input data. Problem (8.3.30) has at least the trivial solution $u(t) \equiv 0, p = 0$. If the operator A has an eigenvector e with associated positive eigenvalue λ , then

$$V(t) \ e \ = \ \exp\left(-\sqrt{\lambda} t\right) e \ .$$

The function Φ will be so chosen as to satisfy the condition

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left(\exp\left(-\sqrt{\lambda}\left(2T-s\right)\right) - \exp\left(-\sqrt{\lambda}s\right) \right) \Phi(s) \ ds = 0 \ .$$

With the aid of (8.3.15) and (8.3.29) we deduce that Be = 0 and, therefore, the pair of functions u and p such that

$$u(t) = \int_{0}^{T} G(t,s) \Phi(s) e \, ds ,$$
$$p = e$$

is just a nonzero solution of the inverse problem (8.3.30). However, under the restrictions imposed above the inverse problem concerned possesses **Fredholm's character**.

Theorem 8.3.2 Let the operator A be positive,

$$\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X)), \qquad \Phi(0)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$$

and conditions (8.3.6) and (8.3.21) hold. If the semigroup V(t) generated by the operator $-A^{1/2}$ is compact and the element

$$h = -\Phi(0)^{-1} A^{1/2} \delta(T)^{-1} \Delta(T) g,$$

where g is defined by (8.3.16), then the following assertions are valid:

- for the inverse problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) to be solvable for any admissible input data it is necessary and sufficient that this problem with zero input data has a trivial solution only;
- (2) the set of all solutions to problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) with zero input data forms in the space $C^2([0, T]; X) \times X$ a finite-dimensional subspace;
- (3) there exist functionals $l_1, l_2, \ldots, l_n \in X^*$ such that the inverse problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) is solvable if and only if $l_i(h) = 0, 1 \le l \le n$.

Proof Within the framework of Theorem 8.3.2 Lemma 8.3.1 is certainly true and, therefore, the inverse problem of interest reduces to equation (8.3.23). Recall that the semigroup V(t) is compact. Due to this property V(t) is continuous for any t > 0 in the operator topology of the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$. Since the set of all compact operators with respect to this topology forms a closed two-sided ideal, the operator

$$B' = \int_{0}^{T} V(2T-s) \Phi'(s) \ ds = \int_{T}^{2T} V(s) \Phi'(2T-s) \ ds$$

is compact as a limit of the corresponding Riemann sums in the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$. Then so is, for any $\varepsilon > 0$, the operator

(8.3.31)
$$\int_{\varepsilon}^{T} V(s) \Phi'(s) ds.$$

The function $f(s) = V(s) \Phi'(s)$ is bounded in norm on the segment [0, T]and, therefore, as $\varepsilon \to 0$, the integral in (8.3.31) converges in the operator topology of the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$. Because of this fact, the operator

$$B'' = \int_0^T V(s) \, \Phi'(s) \, ds$$

is compact. Since the operators B', B'' and V(T) are compact and the operators $\beta A^{1/2} \delta(T)^{-1}$, $\delta(T)^{-1}$ and $\Phi(0)^{-1}$ are continuous, one can specify by formula (8.3.24) a compact operator and carry out subsequent studies of equation (8.3.23) on the basis of Fredholm's theory.

In preparation for this, we are going to show that the element g_1 defined by (8.3.25) runs over the entire space X for the varying input

data. Indeed, as stated before, the element g defined by (8.3.16) runs over the entire manifold $\mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$. For $\beta \neq 0$ the operator $\Delta(T)$ executes an isomorphism of $\mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$ onto the space X, while $A^{1/2} \delta(T)^{-1}$ and $\Phi(0)^{-1}$ fall into the category of isomorphisms of the space X. It follows from the foregoing that for $\beta \neq 0$ the element g_1 may be arbitrarily chosen in the space X. For $\beta = 0$ both operators $\delta(T)^{-1}$ and $\Delta(T)$ are isomorphisms of the space X, so that we might attempt the element g_1 in the form

$$g_1 = -\Phi(0)^{-1} \,\delta(T)^{-1} \,\Delta(T) \,A^{1/2} \,g,$$

which serves to motivate that the element $A^{1/2} g$ may run over the entire space X, because so does the element g_1 . Thus, the solvability of the inverse problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) with any admissible input data is equivalent to the question whether equation (8.3.23) is solvable for any $g_1 \in X$ and the first desired assertion follows immediately from Fredholm's alternative.

Under the zero input data functions the element $g_1 = 0$ and the set of all solutions to equation (8.2.3) coincides with the characteristic subspace of the operator B_1 for the unit eigenvalue. Since the operator B_1 is compact, this characteristic subspace will be finite-dimensional. A simple observation may be of help in achieving the final aim in item (2). From formula (8.3.11) it follows that the function u and the element p are related by

$$u(t) = \int_{0}^{T} G(t,s) \Phi(s) p \ ds \, .$$

In conformity with Fredholm's alternative equation (8.2.23) is solvable if and only if $l_i(g_1) = 0, 1 \le i \le n$, where $\{l_i\}, 1 \le i \le n$, constitute a basis of the finite-dimensional space formed by all solutions to the adjoint homogeneous equation $l - B_1^* l = 0$. It remains only to note that the element h coincides with g_1 . All this enables us to deduce the statement of item (3), thereby completing the proof of the theorem.

We confine ourselves to the case when the operator A is self-adjoint in a Hilbert space X. If so, the operator A is positive if and only if it is positive definite. When treating $\Phi(t)$ involved in problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) as a numerical function and identifying the value $\Phi(t)$ with the operator of multiplication by the number $\Phi(t)$ in the space X, we are now in a position to define the function $\varphi(\lambda)$ on the positive semi-axis by

(8.3.32)
$$\varphi(\lambda) = -\int_{0}^{T} \frac{\beta\sqrt{\lambda}\operatorname{ch}\sqrt{\lambda}(T-s) + \alpha\operatorname{sh}\sqrt{\lambda}(T-s)}{\beta\sqrt{\lambda}\operatorname{ch}T\sqrt{\lambda} + \alpha\operatorname{sh}T\sqrt{\lambda}} \Phi(s) \, ds$$

under the natural premises

$$(8.3.33) \qquad \alpha \ge 0, \qquad \beta \ge 0, \qquad \alpha + \beta > 0.$$

It is clear that the function φ is analytical on the positive semi-axis and all of its zeroes are isolated in the case when $\Phi(t) \neq 0$.

Theorem 8.3.3 If the operator A is self-adjoint and positive definite in a Hilbert space X, the function Φ with values in the space **R** is of Hölder's type on the segment [0, T], $\Phi(t) \neq 0$ and $\alpha \geq 0$, $\beta \geq 0$, $\alpha + \beta > 0$, then the following assertions are valid:

(1) a solution of the inverse problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) exists if and only if

(8.3.34)
$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda}g, g) < \infty,$$

where E_{λ} stands for the resolution of unity for the operator A, the function φ is defined by (8.3.32) and the element g is given by formula (8.3.16);

(2) if a solution of the inverse problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) exists, then for this solution to be unique it is necessary and sufficient that the point spectrum of the operator A contains no zeroes of the function $\varphi(\lambda)$.

Proof Since the operator A is positive definite, there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

$$A_{\cdot} = \int_{\varepsilon}^{+\infty} \lambda \ dE_{\lambda}$$

and on the basis of the theory of operators

(8.3.35)
$$V(t) = \int_{\epsilon}^{+\infty} \exp\left(-\sqrt{\lambda} t\right) dE_{\lambda},$$

(8.3.36)
$$A^{1/2} = \int_{\varepsilon}^{+\infty} \sqrt{\lambda} \ dE_{\lambda} .$$

With the aid of relations (8.3.35)-(8.3.36) we derive by the multiplicativity of the mapping

$$f(\lambda) \mapsto f(A)$$

the formula

(8.3.37)
$$\Delta(T) = \int_{\varepsilon}^{+\infty} d(\lambda) \ dE_{\lambda} ,$$

where

$$(8.3.38) \quad d(\lambda) = \alpha \left(1 - \exp\left(-2T\sqrt{\lambda}\right) \right) + \beta \left(1 + \exp\left(-2T\sqrt{\lambda}\right) \right) \sqrt{\lambda} \, .$$

Because of (8.3.33), the function $d(\lambda)$ is positive on the positive semi-axis. This provides support for the view that the operator $\Delta(T)$ is invertible. For $\beta = 0$ the function $d(\lambda)$ has, as $\lambda \to +\infty$, a non-zero limit equal to the number α . If $\beta \neq 0$, then the function $d(\lambda)$ is equivalent to $\beta \sqrt{\lambda}$ as $\lambda \to +\infty$. This serves to motivate that the function $d(\lambda)^{-1}$ is bounded on $[\varepsilon, +\infty)$ and, therefore, inclusion (8.3.6) occurs, since

(8.3.39)
$$\Delta(T)^{-1} = \int_{\varepsilon}^{+\infty} d(\lambda)^{-1} dE_{\lambda}.$$

From the theory of self-adjoint operators it follows that

(8.3.40)
$$\beta I - \alpha A^{-1/2} = \int_{\varepsilon}^{+\infty} \left(\beta - \frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \right) dE_{\lambda},$$

(8.3.41)
$$\beta I + \alpha A^{-1/2} = \int_{\epsilon}^{+\infty} \left(\beta + \frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{\lambda}}\right) dE_{\lambda}$$

By the multiplicativity of the mapping

$$f(\lambda) \mapsto f(A)$$

in combination with relations (8.3.29), (8.3.36)–(8.3.41) we deduce that the operator $G_t(0, s)$ can be put in correspondence with the function

(8.3.42)
$$g(\lambda, s) = -\sqrt{\lambda} \ d(\lambda)^{-1} \left[\left(\beta - \frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \right) \times \exp\left(-\sqrt{\lambda} \left(2T - s \right) \right) + \left(\beta + \frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \right) \exp\left(-\sqrt{\lambda} s \right) \right].$$

Thus, formula (8.3.25) gives the representation

$$B = \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\epsilon}^{+\infty} g(\lambda, s) \Phi(s) \ dE_{\lambda} \ ds.$$

Observe that the function $g(\lambda, s)$ is continuous and bounded on $[\varepsilon, +\infty) \times [0, T]$. By the Fubini theorem we thus have

(8.3.43)
$$B = \int_{\epsilon}^{+\infty} \varphi_1(\lambda) \ dE_{\lambda},$$

where

$$\varphi_1(\lambda) = \int_0^T g(\lambda, s) \Phi(s) \ ds$$

Upon substituting (8.3.38) into (8.3.42) we find by minor manipulations that

(8.3.44)
$$g(\lambda, s) = -\frac{\beta\sqrt{\lambda} \operatorname{ch}\sqrt{\lambda} (T-s) + \alpha \operatorname{sh}\sqrt{\lambda} (T-s)}{\beta\sqrt{\lambda} \operatorname{ch}\sqrt{\lambda} T + \alpha \operatorname{sh}\sqrt{\lambda} T}$$

thereby justifying the equality

$$\varphi_1(\lambda) = \varphi(\lambda),$$

where the function φ is defined by relation (8.3.32). Hence the inverse problem in hand reduces to equation (8.3.14) taking for now the form

$$(8.3.45) \qquad \qquad \varphi(A) \ p = g \,.$$

Due to Lemma 8.2.1 of Section 8.2 with regard to equation (8.3.45) we finish the proof of the theorem.

The next stage of our study is concerned with discussions of items (1)-(2) of Theorem 8.3.3. First of all it should be noted that, in view of (8.3.44), the function $g(\lambda, s)$ is nonnegative for any $\lambda > 0$ and all values $s \in [0, T]$. This function may equal zero only if $\beta = 0$ and s = T for $\alpha \ge 0, \beta \ge 0, \alpha + \beta > 0$. If now the function Φ is continuous, nonnegative and does not equal zero identically, then $\varphi(\lambda) < 0$ for any $\lambda > 0$. Since the spectrum of a positive definite operator is located on the semi-axis $\lambda > 0$, the operator A meets the requirements of item (2) of Theorem 8.3.3.

For any $\Phi \in C^1[0, T]$ we establish by integrating by parts in (8.3.32) the relation (8.3.46)

$$\begin{split} \varphi(\lambda) &= \frac{\frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \Phi(T) - \left(\beta \operatorname{sh} \sqrt{\lambda} T + \frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \operatorname{ch} \sqrt{\lambda} T\right) \Phi(0)}{\beta \sqrt{\lambda} \operatorname{ch} \left(T \sqrt{\lambda}\right) + \alpha \operatorname{sh} \left(T \sqrt{\lambda}\right)} \\ &- \int_{0}^{T} \Phi'(s) \frac{\beta \operatorname{sh} \sqrt{\lambda} \left(T - s\right) + \frac{\alpha}{\lambda} \operatorname{ch} \sqrt{\lambda} \left(T - s\right)}{\beta \sqrt{\lambda} \operatorname{ch} T \sqrt{\lambda} + \alpha \operatorname{sh} T \sqrt{\lambda}} \ ds \,, \end{split}$$

which immediately implies as $\lambda \rightarrow +\infty$ that

$$\varphi(\lambda) = \begin{cases} -\frac{\Phi(0)}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \operatorname{th} T \sqrt{\lambda} + o\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}\right), & \beta \neq 0, \\ -\frac{\Phi(0)}{\sqrt{\lambda}} \operatorname{cth} T \sqrt{\lambda} + o\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}\right), & \beta = 0. \end{cases}$$

Thus, as $\lambda \to +\infty$, in either of the cases $\beta = 0$ and $\beta \neq 0$ we find that

(8.3.47)
$$\varphi(\lambda) = -\frac{\Phi(0)}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + o\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}\right).$$

If $\Phi(0) \neq 0$, then estimate (8.3.47) ensures the existence of positive constants c and λ_0 such that for all numbers $\lambda \geq \lambda_0$

(8.3.48)
$$|\varphi(\lambda)| \ge \frac{c}{\sqrt{\lambda}}$$
,

yielding

(8.3.49)
$$\int_{\lambda_0}^{+\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda} g, g) \leq c^{-2} \int_{\lambda_0}^{+\infty} \lambda d(E_{\lambda} g, g)$$
$$\leq c^{-2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \lambda d(E_{\lambda} g, g).$$

Observe that the integral on the right-hand side of (8.3.49) is finite if and only if $g \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1/2})$ and, therefore, for all admissible input data of the inverse problem (8.3.1)–(8.3.2) the estimate is valid:

$$\int_{\lambda_0}^{+\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda} g, g) < \infty.$$

If the function φ does not vanish on the spectrum of the operator A, then the integral

$$\int_{\varepsilon}^{\lambda_0} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d\big(E_{\lambda} g, g \big)$$

is finite, because φ is continuous. Thus, we arrive at the following assertion.

Theorem 8.3.3 If the operator A is self-adjoint and positive definite in a Hilbert space X, the function $\Phi \in C^1[0, T]$ is nonnegative, $\Phi(0) > 0$ and the numbers $\alpha \ge 0$ and $\beta \ge 0$ are such that $\alpha + \beta > 0$, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (8.3.1)-(8.3.2) exists and is unique for any admissible input data.

One assumes, in addition, that the operator A has a discrete spectrum. In trying to derive an explicit formula for the element p by the Fourier method of separation of variables we rely on an orthonormal basis $\{e_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ composed by the eigenvectors of the operator A and $Ae_k = \lambda_k e_k$. With the aid of the expansions

$$g = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} g_k e_k$$
, $p = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} p_k e_k$

we might split up equation (8.3.14) into the infinite system of equations

(8.3.50)
$$\varphi(\lambda_k) p_k = g_k, \qquad k = 1, 2, \dots$$

To decide for yourself whether a solution is unique, a first step is to check that all the values $\varphi(\lambda_k) \neq 0$. When this is the case, (8.3.50) implies that

$$p_k = \frac{g_k}{\varphi(\lambda_k)}$$
,

so that

(8.3.51)
$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} |\varphi(\lambda)|^{-2} d(E_{\lambda} g, g) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |\varphi(\lambda_{k})|^{-2} |g_{k}|^{2}$$

and the sum of the series on the right-hand side of (8.3.51) equals the element p norm squared. The convergence of this series is equivalent to the solvability of equation (8.3.14) and, in view of this, the element p is representable by

(8.3.52)
$$p = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \varphi(\lambda_k)^{-1}(g, e_k) e_k.$$

The resulting expression may be of help in approximating the element p.

Chapter 9

Applications of the Theory of Abstract Inverse Problems to Partial Differential Equations

9.1 Symmetric hyperbolic systems

We now study the Cauchy problem

(9.1.1)
$$a_0(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + \sum_{i=1}^n a_i(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} = f(x,t,u),$$
$$x \in \mathbf{R}^n, \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

(9.1.2)
$$u(x,0) = u_0(x), \qquad x \in \mathbf{R}^n,$$

where the functions u, f and u_0 take the values in a Hilbert space H and the coefficients $a_i(x,t)$, $0 \le i \le n$, take the values in the space $\mathcal{L}(H)$.

Assume that the operators $a_i(x,t)$, $0 \le i \le n$, are symmetric and the operator $a_0(x,t)$ is positive definite uniformly in the variables x, t. Of great importance is the case when the space H is finite-dimensional. If this happens, equation (9.1.1) admits the form of the symmetric *t*-hyperbolic **system** of first order partial differential equations for the components of the vector-function u. Quite often, in the development of advanced theory that does not matter that the space H is finite-dimensional, while in notations operator style is much more convenient than matrix one.

Common practice involves the following constraints for a given positive integer $s > \frac{n}{2} + 1$:

- (1) $a_i \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{C}^s_b(\mathbf{R}^n; \mathcal{L}(H)), \ 0 \le i \le n,$
- (2) $||a_0(x,t_1)-a_0(x,t_2)||_{\mathcal{C}_b(\mathbf{R}^n;\mathcal{L}(H))} \leq L|t_1-t_2|, \ 0 \leq t_1, t_2 \leq T.$

Here the symbol $C_b(\Omega, X)$ designates the set of all continuous bounded on Ω functions with values in the space X; the norm on that space is defined by

$$\left\| f \right\|_{\mathcal{C}_b(\Omega, X)} = \sup_{x \in \Omega} \left\| f(x) \right\|_X$$

By definition, the space $C_b^s(\Omega, X)$ contains all the functions defined on Ω with values in the space X, all the derivatives of which up to the order s belong to the space $C_b(\Omega, X)$. In turn, the norm on that space is defined by

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{C}^s_b(\Omega,X)} = \sum_{|\alpha| \leq s} \|D^{\alpha}f\|_{\mathcal{C}_b(\Omega,X)}.$$

In what follows $X = L_2(\mathbf{R}^n; H)$ is adopted as a basic space and the Cauchy problem (9.1.1)-(9.1.2) is completely posed in the abstract form as follows:

$$\begin{cases} u'(t) = A(t) u(t) + F(t, u(t)), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ u(0) = u_0, \end{cases}$$

where

(9.1.3)
$$A(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_0^{-1}(x,t) a_i(x,t) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} ,$$
$$F(t,u) = a_0^{-1}(x,t) f(x,t,u) .$$

The domain of the operator A(t) corresponds to the maximal operator in the space X generated by the differential expression on the right-hand side of (9.1.3). It should be noted that in the spaces

$$X_{0} = W_{2}^{s-1}(\mathbf{R}^{n}; H), \qquad X_{1} = W_{2}^{s}(\mathbf{R}^{n}; H)$$

the validity of conditions (S1)-(S2) from Section 5.4 is ensured by assumptions (1)-(2) of the present section (for more detail see Kato (1970, 1973, 1975a), Massey (1972)).

9.1. Symmetric hyperbolic systems

Here and below, in the space $H = \mathbf{R}^m$ with the usual inner product the operators $a_i(x,t)$, $0 \le i \le n$, will be identified with their matrices in a natural basis of the space H. One assumes, in addition, that the right-hand side of equation (9.1.1) is of the structure

(9.1.4)
$$f(x,t,u) = (p(t) a(x,t) + b(x,t)) u + g(x,t),$$

where the matrix functions a and b of sizes $k \times m$ and $m \times m$, respectively, are known in advance and the unknown $m \times k$ -matrix function p is sought. The vector function g with values in the space H is also given. The problem statement of finding the coefficient p(t) necessitates involving solutions to equation (9.1.1) subject to the initial conditions

(9.1.5)
$$u_j(x,0) = u_{0j}(x), \quad 1 \le j \le k, \quad x \in \mathbf{R}^n,$$

and the overdetermination conditions

(9.1.6)
$$u_j(x_j,t) = \psi_j(t), \quad 1 \le j \le k, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where the points $x_j \in \mathbf{R}^n$, $1 \le j \le k$, are kept fixed.

For the reader's convenience we denote by U(x,t) the $m \times k$ -matrix, whose columns are formed by the components of the vectors $u_1(x,t), \ldots$, $u_k(x,t)$, by G(x,t) – the $m \times k$ -matrix, whose columns are formed by the components of the same vector g(x,t), by $U_0(x)$ – the $m \times k$ -matrix, whose columns are composed by the components of the vectors $u_{01}(x), \ldots, u_{0k}(x)$ and by $\Psi(t)$ – the $m \times k$ -matrix, whose columns are formed by the components of the vectors $\psi_1(t), \ldots, \psi_k(t)$. Within these notations, one can replace exactly k Cauchy problems associated with equation (9.1.1) by only one problem in the matrix form

(9.1.7)
$$a_0(x,t) \frac{\partial U}{\partial t} + \sum_{i=1}^n a_i(x,t) \frac{\partial U}{\partial x_i} = (p(t) a(x,t) + b(x,t)) U + G(x,t),$$

 $(9.1.8) U(x,0) = U_0(x).$

In the sequel the symbol H_1 designates the space of all $m \times k$ matrices. The usual inner product in this matrix space is defined by

$$(a, b) = \operatorname{tr}(a b'),$$

where tr means taking a matrix trace equal to the sum of its diagonal elements. Obviously, any symmetric $m \times m$ -matrix being viewed in the

space H_1 as an operator of matrix multiplication from the left describes a symmetric operator in the same space. Moreover, the norm of this operator in the space H coincides with its norm in the space H_1 . In these spaces the same is certainly true for the constants of positive definiteness. Because of this, upon substituting the system (9.1.1) and the space H in place of (9.1.7) and H_1 , respectively, the governing system does remain symmetric and t-hyperbolic and is still subject to conditions (1)-(2) imposed above. In particular, operator (9.1.3) meets conditions (H1)-(H4) of Section 6.7 as well as conditions (H3.1)-(H4.1) of Section 6.8 with regard to the basic spaces

$$X = L_2(\mathbf{R}^n; H_1), \qquad X_0 = W_2^{s-1}(\mathbf{R}^n; H_1), \qquad X_1 = W_2^s(\mathbf{R}^n; H_1).$$

We begin by introducing an operator B acting from the space X_0 into the space $Y = H_1$. One way of proceeding is to hold a matrix $U \in X_0$ fixed and operate with the vector $u_j(x)$ formed by the *j*-column of this matrix, $1 \leq j \leq k$. By definition, the *j*-column of the matrix $BU, 1 \leq j \leq k$, is equal to $u_j(x_j)$. Since s - 1 > n/2, Sobolev's embedding theorem implies that the space X_0 is continuously embedded into the space $C_b(\mathbf{R}^n; H_1)$. Therefore, the operator B is well-defined and $B \in \mathcal{L}(X_0; Y)$. By means of the operator B condition (9.1.6) admits an alternative form

(9.1.9)
$$B U(x,t) = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Using the decomposition $F(t, U, p) = a_0^{-1} [(pa + b)U + G]$ behind we deduce that the inverse problem of recovering the matrix p can be recast in the abstract form as follows:

$$\begin{cases} U'(t) = A(t) U(t) + F(t, U(t), p(t)), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ U(0) = U_0, & & \\ B U(t) = \psi(t), & 0 \le t \le T. \end{cases}$$

which coincides with the inverse problem (6.8.1)-(6.8.3) of Section 6.8. Also, the operator *B* satisfies condition (6.8.4). All this enables us to apply Theorem 6.8.1 of Section 6.8 in establishing the solvability of the inverse problem at hand. This can be done using the replacements

$$f_1(t,U) = a_0^{-1} (bU+G), \qquad f_2(t,U,p) = a_0^{-1} p a U$$

in the counterpart of decomposition (6.8.5):

$$F(t, U, p) = f_1(t, U) + f_2(t, U, p).$$

9.1. Symmetric hyperbolic systems

The function f_3 arising from condition (H6) of Section 6.7 is defined by means of the relation

$$f_3(t, y, p) = B(a_0^{-1} p B(a y)).$$

In such a setting we are able to write down explicitly the mapping $p = \Phi(t, z)$ involved in condition (H7) of Section 6.7 as an inverse of the mapping $z = f_3(t, \psi(t), p)$ with respect to the variable p. Simple calculations show that

$$\Phi(t,z) = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{k} a_0(x_j,t) z P_j\right) (B(a\psi))^{-1},$$

where P_j is a matrix of size $k \times k$, whose element in kth row and jth column is equal to 1 and the remainings ones are equal to zero. For the fulfilment of condition (H7) of Section 6.7 it suffices to require that there is a positive constant δ such that for all $t \in [0, T]$

$$(9.1.10) \qquad |\det(Ba)\psi| \ge \delta.$$

Denote by M(k,m) the space of all $k \times m$ -matrices. As can readily be observed, the validity of conditions (H8)-(H9) of Section 6.7 as they are understood in Theorem 6.8.1 of Section 6.8 is ensured by the inclusions

(9.1.11)
$$\begin{cases} a \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{C}_b^s(\mathbf{R}^n; M(k, m))), \\ b \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{C}_b^s(\mathbf{R}^n; M(m, m))), \\ g \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{C}_b^s(\mathbf{R}^n; H)). \end{cases}$$

Other conditions of Theorem 6.8.1 from Section 6.8 will be satisfied under the following constraints:

(9.1.12)
$$\begin{cases} \psi \in C^{1}([0, T]; H_{1}), \\ \psi(0) = B U_{0}, \\ U_{0} \in W_{2}^{s}(\mathbf{R}^{n}; H_{1}). \end{cases}$$

Corollary 9.1.1 Under conditions (1)-(2) and (9.1.10)-(9.1.12) the inverse problem (9.1.7)-(9.1.9) is uniquely solvable for all sufficiently small values T_1 in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T_{1}]; L_{2}(\mathbf{R}^{n}; H_{1})) \cap C([0, T_{1}]; W_{2}^{s}(\mathbf{R}^{n}; H_{1}))^{t},$$

$$p \in C([0, T_{1}]; H_{1}).$$

Let us stress that the above result guarantees the local existence and no more. In the general case the global existence fails to be true. The next inverse problem is aimed at confirming this statement:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} &= \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + p(t) u, \qquad x \in \mathbf{R}, \qquad 0 \le t \le T, \\ u(x,0) &= u_0(x), \qquad x \in \mathbf{R}, \\ u(0,t) &= \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T. \end{aligned}$$

Via the representation

$$u(x,t) = v(x,t) \exp\left(\int_{0}^{t} p(\xi) d\xi\right)$$

it is not difficult to derive that its solution is given by the formulae

$$u(x,t) = u_0(x+t) \psi(t) / u_0(t),$$

$$p(t) = \left(u_0(t) \psi'(t) - u'_0(t) \psi(t) \right) / (\psi(t) u_0(t)).$$

All of the solvability conditions will be satisfied if the input data functions are sufficiently smooth, the function u_0 is rapidly decreasing at infinity, $u_0(0) = \psi(0)$ and the function ψ has no zeroes on the segment [0, T]. In particular, the functions

$$u_0(x) = \exp(-x^2) \cos(\alpha x), \qquad \varphi(t) = 1$$

suit us perfectly and appear in later discussions. In this case

$$p(t) = 2t + \alpha \operatorname{tg}(\alpha t)$$

and a solution of the inverse problem cannot be extended continuously across the point $t = \pi/(2\alpha)$. We always may choose the value α in such a way that the interval of the existence of a solution will be as small as we like.

In further development we may attempt the right-hand side of equation (9.1.1) in the form

$$(9.1.13) f(x,t,u) = a(x,t)u + b(\dot{x},t)p(t) + g(x,t),$$

where, for all fixed variables $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{R}^n$, $t \in [0, T]$, the matrices a(x,t) and b(x,t) of size $m \times m$ (linear operators in the space H) and the function

 $g(x,t) \in H$ are known in advance. Additional information is available in the form of **pointwise overdetermination**

(9.1.14)
$$u(x_0,t) = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where x_0 is a fixed point in the space \mathbb{R}^n . By means of the operator

$$B: \bar{u} \mapsto u(x_0)$$

relation (9.1.14) can be transmitted in (6.8.3) of Section 6.8. The system (9.1.1) reduces to (6.8.14) of Section 6.8 as the outcome of manipulations with the right-hand side of equation (6.8.1) during which the decompositions take place:

$$L_1(t) u = a_0^{-1}(x,t) a(x,t) u,$$

$$L_2(t) p = a_0^{-1}(x,t) b(x,t) p,$$

$$F(t) = a_0^{-1}(x,t) g(x,t).$$

As stated above, conditions (1)-(2) assure us of the validity of assumptions (S1)-(S2) of Section 5.4 with regard to the spaces

$$X = L_2(\mathbf{R}^n; H), \qquad X_0 = W_2^{s-1}(\mathbf{R}^n; H), \qquad X_1 = W_2^s(\mathbf{R}^n; H).$$

Due to Sobolev's embedding theorems the operator B satisfies condition (6.8.4) with the space Y = H involved. To prove the solvability, we make use of Theorem 6.8.2 of Section 6.8 with the following members:

(9.1.15)
$$\begin{cases} a \in \mathcal{C}([0,T]; \mathcal{C}^s_b(\mathbf{R}^n; \mathcal{L}(H))), \\ b \in \mathcal{C}([0,T]; W^s_2(\mathbf{R}^n; \mathcal{L}(H))), \\ g \in \mathcal{C}([0,T]; W^s_2(\mathbf{R}^n; H)), \end{cases}$$

(9.1.16)
$$|\det b(x_0, t)| \ge \delta > 0, \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

(9.1.17)
$$\begin{cases} u_0 \in W_2^s(\mathbf{R}^n; H), \\ \psi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \\ u_0(x_0) = \psi(0). \end{cases}$$

Corollary 9.1.2 If conditions (1)-(2) hold together with conditions (9.1.15)-(9.1.17), then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.1.1)-(9.1.2), (9.1.13)-(9.1.14) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T_{1}]; L_{2}(\mathbf{R}^{n}; H)) \cap C([0, T_{1}]; W_{2}^{s}(\mathbf{R}^{n}; H)),$$

$$p \in C([0, T]; H).$$

Granted decomposition (9.1.13), the subsidiary information is provided in the form of integral overdetermination

(9.1.18)
$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^n} u(x,t)\,\omega(x)\,dx = \psi(t)\,, \qquad 0 \le t \le T\,,$$

where ω is a continuously differentiable and finite numerical function. Relation (9.1.18) admits the form (6.7.3) since the introduction of the operator B acting in accordance with the rule

$$B: u(x) \mapsto \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} u(x) \, \omega(x) \, dx$$

The operator so defined is bounded from the space $X = L_2(\mathbf{R}^n; H)$ into the space Y and smoothing in the sense of condition (6.7.7), which can immediately be confirmed by appeal to the well-known **Ostrogradsky** formula. Indeed, for any $u \in \mathcal{D}(A(t))$ we thus have

$$(9.1.19) BA(t) u = \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} \left(\sum_{i=1}^n a_0^{-1}(x,t) \times a_i(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} \right) \omega(x) dx$$
$$= -\sum_{i=1}^n \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(a_0^{-1}(x,t) \times a_i(x,t) \omega(x) \right) \right] u(x) dx$$

and the latter formula on the right-hand side of (9.1.19) reflects the operator extension made up to a bounded operator from the space X into the space

9.1. Symmetric hyperbolic systems

Y. From (9.1.19) it follows that relations (6.7.7) hold true if condition (1) is fulfilled for s = 1.

To prove the solvability of the inverse problem in a weak sense, we rely on Theorem 6.7.2 of Section 6.7. Because the operator B is of smoothing character, we get rid of the condition s > n/2 + 1 and no embedding theorem is needed here. On the same grounds as before, we set

$$X = L_2(\mathbf{R}^n; H), \qquad Y = H.$$

For conditions (H1)-(H4) of Section 2.7 to be satisfied it suffices to require the fulfilment of condition (1) for s = 1 and condition (2) of the present section (see Kato (1970, 1973, 1975a)). The remaining assumptions of Theorem 6.7.2 are due to the set of restrictions

(9.1.20)
$$\begin{cases} a \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{C}_b(\mathbf{R}^n; \mathcal{L}(H))), \\ b \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_2(\mathbf{R}^n; \mathcal{L}(X))), \\ g \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_2(\mathbf{R}^n; H)), \end{cases}$$

(9.1.21)
$$\begin{cases} u_0 \in L_2(\mathbf{R}^n; H), \\ \psi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \\ \int u_0(x) \, \omega(x) \, dx = \psi(0), \end{cases}$$

(9.1.22)
$$\left|\det \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} b(x,t) \omega(x) dx\right| \ge \delta > 0, \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Corollary 9.1.3 If condition (1) holds for s = 1 and conditions (2), (9.1.20)-(9.1.22) are fulfilled, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.1.1)-(9.1.2), (9.1.13), (9.1.18) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_2(\mathbf{R}^n; H)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; H).$$

Proof Before we undertake the proof, let us recall for justifying the solvability in a strong sense the contents of Theorem 6.7.4 from Section 6.7 with regard to the basic spaces

$$X = L_2(\mathbf{R}^n; H), \qquad X_0 = W_2^1(\mathbf{R}^n; H), \qquad Y = H.$$

Assumptions (H1)-(H4) imposed in Section 6.7 hold true under condition (2) in combination with condition (1) for s = 2 (for more detail see Kato (1970, 1973, 1975a)). The rest of Theorem 6.7.4 from Section 6.7 immediately follows from the set of constraints

(9.1.23)
$$\begin{cases} a \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{C}_{b}^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{n}; \mathcal{L}(H))), \\ b \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; W_{2}^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{n}; \mathcal{L}(H))), \\ g \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; W_{2}^{1}(\mathbf{R}^{n}; H)), \end{cases}$$

(9.1.24)
$$\begin{cases} u_0 \in W_2^1(\mathbf{R}^n; H), \\ \psi \in C^1([0, T]; H), \\ \int u_0(x) \, \omega(x) \, dx = \psi(0), \end{cases}$$

(9.1.25)
$$\left| \det \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} b(x,t) \,\omega(x) \, dx \right| \geq \delta > 0, \qquad 0 \leq t \leq T.$$

Corollary 9.1.4 If condition (1) holds with s = 2 and conditions (2), (9.1.23)-(9.1.25) are fulfilled, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.1.1)-(9.1.2), (9.1.13), (9.1.18) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^1([0, T]; L_2(\mathbf{R}^n; H)), \qquad p \in C([0, T]; H).$$

9.2 Second order equations of hyperbolic type

Let us consider in the space \mathbb{R}^n a bounded domain Ω , whose boundary is smooth enough. First of all we set up in the domain $D = \Omega \times [0, T]$ the **initial boundary value (direct) problem** for the second order **hyperbolic**

9.2. Second order equations of hyperbolic type

equation which will be involved in later discussions:

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} + \sum_{i=1}^n h_i(x,t) \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x_i \partial t} + h(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}$$
(9.2.1)
$$-\sum_{i,j=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(a_{ij}(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j} \right) + \sum_{i=1}^n b_i(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i}$$

$$+ c(x,t) u = f\left(x,t,u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}\right),$$

$$x \in \Omega, \qquad t \in [0,T],$$

(9.2.2)
$$u(x,0) = u_0(x), \qquad \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(x,0) = u_1(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

(9.2.3) $u(x,t) = 0, \quad x \in \partial \Omega, \quad t \in [0,T].$

The problem statement necessitates imposing rather mild restrictions on the coefficients of equation (9.2.1):

(9.2.4)
$$h_i, h, a_{ij}, b_i, c \in C^2(\bar{\Omega} \times [0, T]),$$

(9.2.5)
$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x,t) \xi_i \xi_j \geq \alpha \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i^2, \qquad \alpha > 0,$$

(9.2.6)
$$a_{ij}(x,t) = a_{ji}(x,t).$$

For the purposes of the present section we have occasion to use two differential operators $A_1(t)$ and $A_2(t)$, $0 \le t \le T$, acting from the space $\mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega)$ into the space $L_2(\Omega)$ and from the space $W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega)$ into the space $L_2(\Omega)$, respectively, with the values

$$A_{1}(t) u = \sum_{i=1}^{n} h_{i}(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{i}} + h(x,t) u,$$

$$A_{2}(t) u = -\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \left(a_{ij}(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{j}} \right)$$

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{n} b_{i}(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{i}} + c(x,t) u.$$

By merely setting $v = u_t$ one can reduce equation (9.2.1) to the following system of the first order:

$$\begin{cases} u_t = v, \\ v_t + A_1 v + A_2 u = f. \end{cases}$$

In giving it as a single equation of the first order in the Banach space it will be sensible to introduce the matrices

$$U(t) = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{F} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ f \end{pmatrix}, \qquad U_0 = \begin{pmatrix} u_0 \\ v_0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and the operator

$$A(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ -A_2(t) & -A_1(t) \end{pmatrix}$$

acting in the space $X = \overset{\circ}{W}{}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) \times L_{2}(\Omega)$ and possessing the domain

$$\mathcal{D}(A(t)) = (W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W}_2^1(\Omega)) \times \overset{\circ}{W}_2^1(\Omega).$$

Bacause of its form, the direct problem (9.2.1)-(9.2.3) is treated as the abstract Cauchy problem

(9.2.7)
$$U'(t) = A(t) U(t) + F(t, U(t)), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(9.2.8) U(0) = U_0.$$

In the sequel we shall need yet a family of equivalent norms. For any element

$$U(t) = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ \dot{v} \end{pmatrix}$$

the associated norm will be taken to be

$$(9.2.9) \quad ||U(t)||_t^2 = \sum_{i,j=1}^n \left(a_{ij}(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j} \right)_{L_2(\Omega)} + (u, u)_{L_2(\Omega)} + (v, v)_{L_2(\Omega)}.$$

When conditions (9.2.4)-(9.2.6) imposed above are fulfilled, the direct problem (9.2.7)-(9.2.8) and the family of norms (9.2.9) are covered by the framework of Section 6.10 (see Ikawa (1968)).

9.2. Second order equations of hyperbolic type

In order to set up an inverse problem, the function on the right-hand side of (9.2.1) should be representable by .

(9.2.10)
$$f(x,t,u,v) = f_1(x,t) p(t) + f_2(x,t),$$

where the unknown coefficient p is sought. Additional information is provided by the condition of integral overdetermination

(9.2.11)
$$\int_{\Omega} u(x,t) w(x) \, dx = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

The inverse problem of interest consists of finding a pair of the functions u, p from the system (9.2.1)-(9.2.3), (9.2.10)-(9.2.11).

By appeal to Theorem 6.10.2 of Section 6.10 we define the linear operator B being a functional and acting from the space X into the space $Y = \mathbf{R}$ in accordance with the rule

$$B\begin{pmatrix} u\\v \end{pmatrix} = \int_{\Omega} v(x) w(x) \ dx \ .$$

If the function $w \in L_2(\Omega)$, then $B \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. Observe that for $w \in \overset{\circ}{W_2^1}(\Omega)$ the operator *B* possesses a **smoothing effect** that can be reflected with the aid of relation (6.10.4). Indeed, after integrating by parts it is plain to show that for any element

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{D}(A(t))$$

we get

$$(9.2.12) \qquad B A(t) U = -\int_{\Omega} \left(A_1 v + A_2 u \right) w \, dx$$
$$= -\int_{\Omega} \left(A_1 v \right) w \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \left(A_2 u \right) w \, dx$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(h_i w \right) - h w \right) v \, dx$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega} \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} \left(\frac{\partial w}{\partial x_j} \right) \right) dx$$
$$- \int_{\Omega} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} + c u \right) w \, dx,$$

which assures us of the validity of the estimate

$$(9.2.13) \qquad \left| B A(t) \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} \right| \leq c \left(\left\| u \right\|_{W_{2}^{1}(\Omega)} + \left\| v \right\|_{L_{2}(\Omega)} \right),$$

thereby justifying the inclusion

$$\overline{BA(t)} \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y),$$

which is valid for each $t \in [0, T]$. By the same token,

$$\overline{B A(t)} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(X, Y))$$

We take for granted that

- (9.2.14) $f_1, f_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)), \quad w \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega),$
- (9.2.15) $u_0 \in \overset{o}{W}{}_2^1(\Omega), \quad u_1 \in L_2(\Omega), \quad \psi \in \mathcal{C}^2[0, T],$

(9.2.16)
$$\int_{\Omega} u_0(x) w(x) dx = \psi(0), \qquad \int_{\Omega} u_1(x) w(x) dx = \psi'(0),$$

(9.2.17)
$$\int_{\Omega} f_2(x,t) w(x) \, dx \neq 0, \qquad 0 \leq t \leq T.$$

Under the conditions imposed above we may refer to Theorem 6.10.2 of Section 6.10. Indeed, by virtue of the first compatibility condition (9.2.16) relation (9.2.11) is equivalent to the following one:

(9.2.18)
$$BU(t) = \psi'(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

What is more, from relation (9.2.10) it follows that

$$(9.2.19) F = L_1(t) U + L_2(t) p + F(t),$$

where

$$L_1(t) \equiv 0$$
, $L_2(t) p = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ f_1(x,t) p \end{pmatrix}$, $F(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ f_2(x,t) \end{pmatrix}$

On the strength of conditions (9.2.14)-(9.2.17) the inverse problem (9.2.7)-(9.2.8), (9.2.18)-(9.2.19) is in line with the premises of Theorem 6.10.2 from Section 6.10, whose use permits us to obtain the following result.

Corollary 9.2.1 If all the conditions (9.2.4)-(9.2.6) and (9.2.14)-(9.2.17)hold, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.2.1)-(9.2.3), (9.2.10)-(9.2.11) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; W_2^1(\Omega)) \cap \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}[0, T].$$

If we assume, in addition, that

(9.2.20)
$$f_1, f_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \check{W}_2^1(\Omega)),,$$

$$(9.2.21) u_0 \in W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega), u_1 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega),$$

then Theorem 6.10.4 of Section 6.10 applies equally well, due to which a solution U of the inverse problem (9.2.7)-(9.2.8), (9.2.18)-(9.2.19) satisfies the condition $U \in C^1([0, T]; X)$. Thus, we arrive at the following assertion.

Corollary 9.2.2 If conditions (9.2.4)-(9.2.6), (9.2.14)-(9.2.17), (9.2.20)-(9.2.21) hold, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.2.1)-(9.2.3), (9.2.10)-(9.2.11) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{2}([0, T]; L_{2}(\Omega)) \cap C^{1}([0, T]; W_{2}^{1}(\Omega)) \cap C([0, T]; W_{2}^{2}(\Omega)),$$

$$p \in C[0, T].$$

A similar approach may be of help in investigating Neumann's boundary condition

(9.2.22)
$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial n} + \sigma(x) u = 0, \qquad x \in \partial \Omega, \qquad t \in [0, T],$$

where n denotes, as usual, a conormal vector and

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial n} = \sum_{i,j=1}^n a_{ij}(x,t) \nu_i \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j} .$$

Here $\nu(x) = (\nu_1(x), \ldots, \nu_n(x))$ refers to a unit external normal to the boundary $\partial \Omega$ at point x and the function σ is sufficiently smooth on the boundary $\partial \Omega$. The preceding methodology provides proper guidelines for choosing the space $X = W_2^1(\Omega) \times L_2(\Omega)$ and the domain of the operator A(t)

$$\mathcal{D}(A(t)) = \left\{ U(t) = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} \in W_2^2(\Omega) \times W_2^1(\Omega): \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial n} + \sigma u \right) \Big|_{\partial \Omega} = 0 \right\}.$$

Under the extra restriction saying that

(H) $h_i(x,t) \equiv 0, 1 \leq i \leq n$, and $a_{ij}(x,t)\Big|_{\partial \Omega}$ does not depend on t,

the domain of the operator A(t) does not depend on the variable t.

Furthermore, a family of equivalents norms on the space X is introduced for each element

$$U(t) = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix}$$

by merely setting

$$(9.2.23) \quad || U(t) ||_t^2 = \sum_{i,j=1}^n \left(a_{ij}(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j} \right)_{L_2(\Omega)} \\ + \int_{\partial \Omega} \sigma(x) |u(x)|^2 dS + \beta || u ||_{L_2(\Omega)}^2 + || v ||_{L_2(\Omega)}^2.$$

Provided that conditions (9.2.4)-(9.2.6) and assumption (H) hold, the Cauchy problem (9.2.7)-(9.2.8) and the family of norms (9.2.23) meet assumptions (HH1)-(HH4) of Section 6.10 if $\beta > 0$ is sufficiently large (for more detail see Ikawa (1968)).

Before proceeding to deeper study of the inverse problem (9.2.10)-(9.2.11), it is worth mentioning here that Theorem 6.10.2 of Section 6.10 could be useful in such a setting under conditions (9.2.14), (9.2.16)-(9.2.17) in combination with condition (9.2.15) in a slightly weakened sense:

(9.2.24)
$$u_0 \in W_2^1(\Omega), \quad u_1 \in L_2(\Omega), \quad \psi \in C^2[0, T]$$

But in this respect a profound result has been obtained with the following corollary.

Corollary 9.2.3 If conditions (9.2.4)-(9.2.6), (H), (9.2.14), (9.2.24) and (9.2.16)-(9.2.17) hold, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.2.1)-(9.2.2), (9.2.10)-(9.2.11), (9.2.22) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; W_2^1(\Omega)) \cap \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}[0, T].$$

In concluding this section it should be noted that Theorem 6.10.4 of Section 6.10 may be of help in verifying the solvability of the inverse problem concerned in a strong sense under the additional constraints:

(9.2.25)
$$\begin{cases} f_i \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; W_2^1(\Omega)), \\ (\partial f_i / \partial n + \sigma f_i) \Big|_{\partial \Omega} = 0, i = 1, 2; \\ u_0 \in W_2^2(\Omega), \quad u_1 \in W_2^1(\Omega), \\ (\partial u_0 / \partial n + \sigma u_0) \Big|_{\partial \Omega} = 0. \end{cases}$$

This type of situation is covered by the following assertion.

Corollary 9.2.4 If conditions (9.2.4)-(9.2.6), (H), (9.2.14), (9.2.16)-(9.2.17), (9.2.24), (9.2.25)-(9.2.26) hold, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.2.1)-(9.2.2), (9.2.10)-(9.2.11), (9.2.22) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{2}([0, T]; L_{2}(\Omega)) \cap C^{1}([0, T]; W_{2}^{1}(\Omega)) \cap C([0, T]; W_{2}^{2}(\Omega)),$$

$$p \in C[0, T].$$

9.3 The system of equations from elasticity theory

We now consider a bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, whose boundary is sufficiently smooth. It is supposed that Ω is occupied by an elastic body with a density $\rho(x)$, where $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3)$ denotes a point of the domain Ω . From the linear elasticity theory there arises the governing system of equations

(9.3.1)
$$\rho \ \frac{\partial^2 u_i}{\partial t^2} = \frac{\partial \sigma_{ij}}{\partial x_j} + \rho f_i ,$$
$$x \in \Omega , \qquad t \in [0, T] , \qquad 1 \le i \le 3 ,$$

where $u(x,t) = (u_1(x,t), u_2(x,t), u_3(x,t))$ is the **displacement vector**, $\sigma_{ij}(x,t)$ is the stress tensor and $f(x,t) = (f_1(x,t), f_2(x,t), f_3(x,t))$ is the **density of the external force**. In dealing with equations (9.3.1) as well as throughout the entire section, we will use the standard summation convention.

The main idea behind setting of a well-posed problem is that the subsidiary information is related to the system (9.3.1). Assume that the displacement vector satisfies the initial conditions

(9.3.2)
$$u(x,0) = u_0(x), \qquad \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}(x,0) = u_1(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

and the Dirichlet boundary condition

 $(9.3.3) u(x,t) = 0, x \in \partial \Omega, 0 \le t \le T.$

The rheology of an elastic body is described by Hook's law as follows:

(9.3.4)
$$\sigma_{ij} = a_{ijmn}(x) e_{mn}(u)$$
,

where

$$e_{mn}(u) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial u_m}{\partial x_n} + \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial x_m} \right)$$
are the components of the **deformation tensor**. In the general case the **elasticity coefficients** a_{ijmn} and the density $\rho(x)$ of the body are essentially bounded and measurable. Also, the coefficients a_{ijmn} are supposed to satisfy the conditions of symmetry and positive definiteness

 $(9.3.5) a_{ijmn} = a_{ijnm} = a_{jimn} = a_{mnij},$

$$(9.3.6) a_{ijmn}(x)\xi_{ij}\xi_{mn} \geq c\xi_{ij}\xi_{ij}, c > 0,$$

and the density $\rho(x)$ has the bound

(9.3.7)
$$\rho(x) \ge \rho_0 > 0$$
.

Further treatment of the system (9.3.1)-(9.3.4) as an abstract Cauchy problem is connected with introduction of the Lebesgue space with weights $X = (L_{2,\rho}(\Omega))^3$. In so doing the symbols u(t) and f(t) will refer to the same functions u(x,t) and f(x,t) but being viewed as abstract functions of the variable t with values in the space X. The symbols u_0 and u_1 will be used in treating the functions $u_0(x)$ and $u_1(x)$ as the elements of the space X. With these ingredients, the system (9.3.1)-(9.3.4) reduces to the **abstract Cauchy problem** in the Banach space X for the second order equation

(9.3.8) $u''(t) = A u(t) + f(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T,$

$$(9.3.9) u(0) = u_0, u'(0) = u_1,$$

where A denotes a self-adjoint operator in the space X (for more detail see Duvaut and Lions (1972), Fikera (1974), Godunov (1978), Sanchez-Palencia (1980)). When the density of the body and the elasticity coefficients are well-characterized by smooth functions, the operator A coincides with an extension of the differential operator defined for smooth functions and corresponding to the system (9.3.1), (9.3.4).

We are now in a position to set up the inverse problem of finding the external force function via a prescribed **regime of oscillations** at a fixed point

(9.3.10)
$$u(x_0,t) = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

under the agreement that the function f is representable by

(9.3.11)
$$f(x,t) = g(x,t) p(t) + h(x,t).$$

9.3. The system of equations from elasticity theory

Here the matrix g(x,t) of size 3×3 and the vector-valued function h(x,t) are known in advance for all $x \in \Omega$, $t \in [0, T]$, while the unknown vector p(t) is sought.

The conditions enabling to resolve the inverse problem (9.3.1)-(9.3.4), (9.3.10)-(9.3.11) uniquely can be derived from Theorem 8.2.1 of Section 8.1. Indeed, when $\partial \Omega \in C^3$ and the density ρ and the elasticity coefficients a_{ijmn} belong to the space $C^3(\bar{\Omega})$, it will be sensible to introduce the operator Bacting from X into $Y = \mathbf{R}^3$ in accordance with the rule

$$B u = u(x_0)$$
.

By means of B it is possible to recast (9.3.10) as relation (8.1.3). From the well-known results concerning the regularity of the elliptic system solutions it is clear that

$$\mathcal{D}(A) = \left(W_2^2(\Omega) \right)^3 \bigcap \left(\mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega) \right)^3$$

Furthermore, Sobolev's embedding theorems imply that the operator B satisfies condition (8.1.18) with m = 1. The nonhomogeneous term of equation (9.3.8) can be written as

$$f(t) = L_1(t) u + L_2(t) u' + L_3(t) p + F(t),$$

where $L_1(t) \equiv 0$, $L_2(t) \equiv 0$, $L_3(t) p = g(x,t) p$ and F(t) = h(x,t). Being self-adjoint and negative definite (see Sanchez-Palencia (1980)), the operator A is involved in the definition of the space E from Section 8.1. Recall that we have used relation (8.1.6). We claim that the space thus obtained coincides with $\mathcal{D}(\sqrt{-A})$, that is, $E = (\hat{W}_2^1(\Omega))^3$. Provided the additional conditions

(9.3.12) $g, h \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathring{W}_{2}^{3}(\Omega)),$

$$\det g(x_0,t)\neq 0\,,$$

 $(9.3.13) u_0 \in W_2^4(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{W}_2^3(\Omega),$

$$u_1 \in \check{W}_2^3(\Omega)$$
, $\psi \in \mathcal{C}^2([0, T]; \mathbf{R}^3)$,

$$(9.3.14) u_0(x_0) = \psi(0), u_1(x_0) = \psi'(0)$$

hold, we establish on account of Theorem 8.1.2 from Section 8.1 the following result. **Corollary 9.3.1** Let conditions (9.3.5)-(9.3.7) hold together with conditions (9.3.12)-(9.3.14) and let the inclusions

$$a_{ijmn} \in \mathcal{C}^3(\bar{\Omega}), \qquad \rho \in \mathcal{C}^3(\bar{\Omega})$$

and $\partial \Omega \in C^3$ occur. Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.3.1)–(9.3.4), (9.3.10)–(9.3.11) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{2}([0, T]; (L_{2, \rho}(\Omega))^{3}), \qquad p \in C([0, T]; \mathbf{R}^{3})$$

Before proceeding to the next case, we adopt the same structure (9.3.11) of the function f in the situation when the subsidiary information is provided by the condition of **integral overdetermination**

(9.3.15)
$$\int_{\Omega} u(x,t) w(x) dx = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T$$

We note in passing that condition (9.3.15) can be written in the form (8.1.3) if the operator B is defined by the relation

$$B u = \int_{\Omega} u(x) w(x) dx.$$

In such a setting it is possible to weaken the restrictions on the smoothness of the boundary and the coefficients. To be more specific, it suffices to require that $\partial \Omega \in C^2$, $\rho \in C^2(\bar{\Omega})$ and $a_{ijmn} \in C^2(\bar{\Omega})$, retaining the domain $\mathcal{D}(A)$ of the operator A and accepting for each $u \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ the set of relations

$$(Au)_i = \rho^{-1} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left(a_{ijmn}(x) \frac{\partial u_m}{\partial x_n} \right), \qquad 1 \le i \le 3.$$

By the well-known Ostrogradsky formula it is plain to derive that

$$\left(BAu\right)_{i} = -\int_{\Omega} a_{ijmn}(x) \frac{\partial u_{m}}{\partial x_{n}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} \left(\frac{w(x)}{\rho(x)}\right) dx, \qquad 1 \leq i \leq 3,$$

for any function w(x) being subject to the relation

$$(9.3.16) w \in \overset{\circ}{W}{}_2^1(\Omega).$$

This serves as a basis for decision-making that the operator B satisfies condition (8.1.27) of Section 8.1. To prove the solvability of the inverse

problem at hand, we refer to Corollary 8.1.2 of Section 8.1, all the conditions of which will be satisfied once we impose the set of constraints

(9.3.17)
$$g, h \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)), \quad \det \int_{\Omega} g(x, t) w(x) dx \neq 0,$$

(9.3.18)
$$u_0 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega), \quad u_1 \in L_2(\Omega), \quad \psi \in \mathcal{C}^2([0, T]; \mathbf{R}^3),$$

(9.3.19)
$$\int_{\Omega} u_0(x) w(x) dx = \psi(0), \qquad \int_{\Omega} u_1(x) w(x) dx = \psi'(0).$$

As we have mentioned above, Corollary 8.1.2 applies equally well to related problems arising in elasticity theory. As a final result we get the following assertion.

Corollary 9.3.2 Let conditions (9.3.5)-(9.3.7) hold together with conditions (9.3.17)-(9.3.19) and let the inclusions

$$a_{ijmn} \in \mathcal{C}^2(\bar{\Omega}), \qquad \rho \in \mathcal{C}^2(\bar{\Omega})$$

and $\partial \Omega \in C^2$ occur. Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.3.1)-(9.3.4), (9.3.11), (9.3.15) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^{1}([0, T]; (L_{2}(\Omega))^{3}) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; (W_{2}^{1}(\Omega))^{3}), \quad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{R}^{3}).$$

If there is a need for imposing the conditions under which a weak solution becomes differentiable, it suffices to require that

(9.3.20)
$$\begin{cases} g, h \in C^1([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)), \\ \psi \in C^3([0, T]; \mathbf{R}^3), \end{cases}$$

(9.3.21) $\begin{cases} u_0 \in W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W}{}_2^1(\Omega), \\ u_1 \in \overset{\circ}{W}{}_2^1(\Omega), \end{cases}$

and apply Corollary 8.1.3 of Section 8.1 with these members. Under such an approach we deduce the following result.

Corollary 9.3.3 Let the conditions of Corollary 9.3.2 hold and inclusions (9.3.20)-(9.3.21) occur. Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.3.1)-(9.3.4), (9.3.11), (9.3.15) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{2}([0, T]; L_{2}(\Omega)) \cap C^{1}([0, T]; W_{2}^{1}(\Omega)) \cap C([0, T]; W_{2}^{2}(\Omega)),$$

$$p \in C^{1}([0, T]; \mathbf{R}^{3}).$$

In concluding this section we are interested in learning more about one particular case where the external force function f(x,t) is representable by

(9.3.22)
$$f(x,t) = \Phi(t) p(x) + F(x,t),$$

where the coefficient p is unknown. The subsidiary information is provided by the condition of **final overdetermination**

(9.3.23)
$$u(x,T) = u_2(x), \qquad x \in \Omega.$$

With the aid of relations (8.2.1)-(8.2.3) the inverse problem at hand may also be posed in an abstract form. Since the operator A is self-adjoint, we make use of Corollary 8.2.7 from Section 8.2, the validity of which is ensured by the following restrictions:

(9.3.24)
$$F \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)) + \mathcal{C}([0, T]; W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W}{}_2^1(\Omega)),$$

$$(9.3.25) u_0, u_2 \in W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega), u_1 \in \mathring{W}_2^1(\Omega),$$

(9.3.26)
$$\begin{cases} \Phi \in C^{1}[0,T]; & \Phi(t) \ge 0, \\ \Phi'(t) > 0, & 0 \le t \le T \end{cases}$$

Corollary 9.3.5 Let conditions (9.3.5)-(9.3.7) hold together with conditions (9.3.24)-(9.3.26) and let the inclusions

$$a_{ijmn} \in \mathcal{C}^2(\bar{\Omega}), \qquad \rho \in \mathcal{C}^2(\bar{\Omega})$$

and $\partial \Omega \in C^2$ occur. Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.3.1)-(9.3.4), (9.3.22)-(9.3.23) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^2([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)), \qquad p \in L_2(\Omega).$$

9.4 Equations of heat transfer

This section is devoted to the inverse problem in the domain $D = \Omega \times [0, T]$ of finding a pair of the functions u(x, t) and p(x) from the set of relations

$$(9.4.1) \qquad \qquad \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \left(a_{ij}(x) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_{j}} \right) \\ + b(x) u + \Phi(x,t) p(x) + F(x,t) , \\ x \in \Omega , \qquad 0 \le t \le T , \\ (9.4.2) \qquad u(x,0) = u_{0}(x) , \qquad u(x,T) = u_{1}(x) , \qquad x \in \Omega , \\ (9.4.3) \qquad u(x,t) = 0 , \qquad x \in \partial \Omega , \qquad 0 \le t \le T , \end{cases}$$

where Ω is a bounded domain in the space \mathbb{R}^n with boundary $\partial \Omega \in \mathcal{C}^2$.

For the purposes of the present section we impose the following restrictions on its ingredients:

(1)
$$a_{ij} \in \mathcal{C}^1(\bar{\Omega}), a_{ij} = a_{ji}, \sum_{i,j=1}^n a_{ij}(x) \xi_i \xi_j \ge c \sum_{i=1}^n \xi^2, \quad c > 0,$$

(2)
$$b \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{\Omega}), b \leq 0,$$

(3)
$$\Phi, \ \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial t} \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{D}), \ \Phi > 0, \ \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial t} > 0,$$

(4)
$$F \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)) + \mathcal{C}([0, T]; W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W}_2^1(\Omega)),$$

(5) $u_0, u_1 \in W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{o}{W}_2^1(\Omega).$

Adopting $X = L_2(\Omega)$ as a basic space we introduce the differential operator

$$A u = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(a_{ij}(x) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j} \right) + b(x) u$$

with the domain

$$\mathcal{D}(A) = W_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{W}{}_2^1(\Omega) \,.$$

The operator A is self-adjoint and negative definite and its inverse A^{-1} is compact (see Gilbarg and Trudinger (1983)). These properties serve to motivate that the operator A generates a strongly continuous compact semigroup V(t) (see Fattorini (1983)).

When the partial ordering relation is established in the Hilbert space $X = L_2(\Omega)$, we will write $f \leq g$ if and only if $f(x) \leq g(x)$ almost everywhere in Ω . The space X with ordering of such a kind becomes a **Hilbert** lattice and the relevant semigroup V(t) appears to be positive. Therefore, the inverse problem (9.4.1)-(9.4.3) can be set up in the abstract form well-characterized by relations (7.3.3)-(7.3.5). Corollary 7.3.1 of Section 7.3 provides sufficient background for justifying the following statement.

Corollary 9.4.1 If conditions (1)-(5) hold, then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.4.1)-(9.4.3) exists and is unique in the class of functions

 $u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; W_2^2(\Omega)),$ $p \in L_2(\Omega).$

In this context, one thing is worth noting: the condition $b \leq 0$ is not strong, since we can be pretty sure upon substituting

$$u(x,t) = v(x,t) \exp(\lambda t)$$

that the function v satisfies the same system of relations but with the functions $b(x) - \lambda$, $\Phi(x, t) \exp(-\lambda t)$ and $u_1(x) \exp(-\lambda T)$ in place of b(x), $\Phi(x, t)$ and $u_1(x)$, respectively. The value λ can always be chosen in such a way that the inequality $b(x) - \lambda \leq 0$ ($b \in C(\overline{\Omega})$) should be valid almost everywhere in the domain Ω . In view of this, it is necessary to replace the relation $\partial \Phi/\partial t > 0$ involved in condition (3) by another relation $\partial \Phi/\partial t - \lambda \Phi > 0$, which ensures that the inverse problem at hand will be uniquely solvable even if the bound $b \leq 0$ fails to be true.

One more example can add interest and aid in understanding in which it is required to determine a pair of the functions u(x,t), p(t) from the set of relations

$$(9.4.4) \qquad \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x,t) \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} + a(x,t) u + g(x,t) + x \in \Omega, \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(9.4.5) \qquad u(x,0) = u_0(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

$$(9.4.6) \qquad u(x,t) = 0, \qquad x \in \partial \Omega, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

9.4. Equations of heat transfer

(9.4.7)
$$a(x,t) = \alpha_1(x,t) + \alpha_2(x,t) p(t), \quad x \in \Omega, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

(9.4.8)
$$u(x_0,t) = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where x_0 is a fixed point in the domain Ω . The solvability of this inverse problem will be proved on account of Theorem 6.7.1 from Section 6.7 if we succeed in setting up the inverse problem (9.4.1)-(9.4.8) in an abstract form. This can be done using the system of relations (6.7.1)-(6.7.3) and approving $X = L_r(\Omega), r \geq 1$, and $Y = \mathbf{R}$ as the basic spaces. After that, we introduce in the space X a differential operator with the domain $\mathcal{D}_1 = W_r^2(\Omega) \bigcap \overset{\circ}{W}_r^1(\Omega)$ that assigns the values

$$(9.4.9) A(t) u = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x,t) \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i(x,t) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} + \alpha_1(x,t) u.$$

Furthermore, we impose the following restrictions on the coefficients of operator (9.4.9):

(A) all the functions a_{ij} , $\partial a_{ij}/\partial x_i$, a_i , $\alpha_1 \in C(\overline{D})$ satisfy Hölder's condition in t with exponent $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ and constant not depending on x; $a_{ij} = a_{ji}$; there is a constant c > 0 such that for all $(x, t) \in D$ and $(\xi_1, \xi_2, \ldots, \xi_n) \in \mathbf{R}^n$

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x,t) \, \xi_i \, \xi_j \geq c \, \sum_{i=1}^{n} \, \xi_i^2 \, ;$$

(B) there exists a constant $a_0 > 0$ such that $\alpha_1(x,t) \ge a_0$ for each $(x,t) \in D$.

It is clear that condition (A) describes not only the smoothness of the coefficients, but also the **parabolic character** of equation (9.4.4). Condition (B) is not essential for subsequent studies, since the substitution

$$u(x,t) = v(x,t) \exp(\lambda t)$$

if λ is sufficiently large, provides its validity in every case. Under conditions (A)-(B) propositions (PP1)-(PP2) of Section 6.7 are certainly true (for more detail see Sobolevsky (1961)).

Let the values $r > n/(2\alpha)$ and $\beta \in (0, \alpha)$ be related by $r > n/(2\beta)$. Due to the well-known properties of the **fractional powers** of elliptic operators the manifold $D(A^{\beta}(0))$ with $\beta > 0$ is continuously embedded into the space $W_r^{2\beta}(\Omega)$. In turn, Sobolev's space $W_r^{2\beta}(\Omega)$ is continuously embedded into the space $C(\bar{\Omega})$. From such reasoning it seems clear that the manifold $D(A^{\beta}(0))$ with the fixed values r and β is continuously embedded into the space $C(\bar{\Omega})$, making it possible to specify the operator B by the relation

$$B u = u(x_0).$$

The operator B so defined satisfies condition (6.7.7) and may be of help in reducing relation (9.4.8) to equality (6.7.7).

Via the decomposition $f = -\alpha_2 p u + g$ approved we write down equation (9.4.4) in the form (6.7.1) obtained in Section 6.7. Observe that representation (6.7.8) is valid with $f_1 = g$ and $f_2 = -\alpha_2 p u$. The function f_3 built into condition (PP4) of Section 6.7 takes now the form

$$f_3(t, z, p) = -\alpha_2(x_0, t) p z$$
,

which implies that condition (PP5) of Section 6.7 is met if for each $t \in [0, T]$ the relation

$$\alpha_2(x_0,t)\,\psi(t)\neq 0$$

holds true. In that case the function Φ arising from equality (6.7.12) is given by the formula

$$\Phi(t,z) = -\left(\alpha_2(x_0,t)\psi(t)\right)^{-1}z,$$

which assures us of the validity of condition (PP7) from Section 6.7. For the fulfilment of the last condition (PP6) from Section 6.7 it suffices to require that

$$g \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; W^4_r(\Omega) \cap \mathring{W}^3_r(\Omega)), \qquad \alpha_2 \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{C}^4(\Omega))$$

and

$$\frac{\partial \alpha_2}{\partial x_i}\Big|_{\partial \Omega} = 0, \qquad 1 \le i \le n.$$

Conditions (6.7.9) are equivalent to the inclusion

$$\psi \in \mathcal{C}^1[0, T]$$

supplied by the accompanying equality

$$u_0(x_0) = \psi(0) \, .$$

Finally, the inclusion

$$u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^{1+\beta}(0))$$

is valid under the constraint

$$u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A^2(0)) = \left\{ u \in W_r^4(\Omega): u \Big|_{\partial \Omega} = A(0) u \Big|_{\partial \Omega} = 0 \right\}.$$

Therefore, applying Theorem 6.7.1 of Section 6.7 yields the following result.

Corollary 9.4.2 Let conditions (A)-(B) hold for $r > n/(2\alpha)$, $\psi \in C^1[0, T], \alpha_2(x_0, t) \neq 0$ and $\psi(t) \neq 0$ for each $t \in [0, T]$. If $\alpha_2 \in C([0, T]; C^4(\Omega))$,

$$\left. \frac{\partial \alpha_2}{\partial x_i} \right|_{\partial \Omega} = 0, \qquad 1 \le i \le n,$$

 $g \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; W_r^4(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W}_r^3(\Omega)), u_0 \in W_r^4(\Omega), u_0|_{\partial\Omega} = A(0) u_0|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$ and $u_0(x_0) = \psi(0)$, then there exists a value $T_1 > 0$ such that a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.4.4)-(9.4.8) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T_{1}]; L_{r}(\Omega)) \cap C([0, T_{1}]; W_{r}^{2}(\Omega)),$$

 $p \in C[0, T_{1}].$

We now focus our attention on the inverse problem for the **quasilinear equation** in which it is required to find a pair of the functions u(x,t) and p(t) from the set of relations

$$(9.4.10) \qquad \frac{\partial u}{\partial u} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x,t,u) \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} + f_1\left(x,t,\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1},\dots,\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_n}\right) + f_2(x,t,u,p(t)), \quad x \in \Omega, \quad 0 \le t \le T, (9.4.11) \qquad u(x,0) = u_0(x), \quad x \in \Omega,$$

$$(9.4.12) u(x,t) = 0, \quad x \in \partial \Omega, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

(9.4.13)
$$\int_{\Omega} u(x,t) w(x) dx = \psi(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Its solvability is ensured by Theorem 6.6.1 of Section 6.6 because we are still in the abstract framework of Section 6.6.

When operating in the spaces $X = L_r(\Omega)$ and $Y = \mathbf{R}$, we introduce in the space X the differential operator

$$A(t, u): v \mapsto \sum_{i, j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x, t, u) \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial x_i \partial x_j}$$

with the domain $\mathcal{D}_1 = W_r^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W} {}^1_r(\Omega)$. The symbol *B* stands for an operator from the space X into the space Y being a functional and acting in accordance with the rule

$$B u = \int_{\Omega} u(x) w(x) dx.$$

Also, we take for granted that

 $(9.4.14) u_0 \in W_r^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W}{}^1_r(\Omega), a_{ij} \in \mathcal{C}^1(\bar{\Omega} \times [0, T] \times \mathbf{R}),$

$$(9.4.15) a_{ij}(x,0,u_0(x)) = a_{ji}(x,0,u_0(x)),$$

(9.4.16)
$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x,0,u_0(x)) \xi_i \xi_j \ge c \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i^2, \qquad c > 0,$$

which assure us of the validity of condition (P1) from Section 6.6. In this view, it is meaningful to insert $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$ in conditions (P2)-(P4) of Section 6.6. From the well-known properties of the fractional powers of elliptic operators it follows that the operator $A_0^{-1/2}$ carries out the space $L_r(\Omega)$ into the space $\hat{W}_r^1(\Omega)$ as an isomorphism such that the norm $||A_0^{1/2}u||$ is equivalent to the norm of the space $W_r^1(\Omega)$. We note in passing that the space $W_r^1(\Omega)$ with r > n is embedded into the space $C(\bar{\Omega})$. Because of this, the estimate

(9.4.17)
$$\left| \left(A_0^{-1/2} u \right) (x) \right| \le k || u ||$$

is valid with constant k > 0.

Let a number R be so chosen as to satisfy the bound

$$||A_0^{1/2} u_0|| < R$$

Moreover, it is supposed that for all values $x \in \Omega$, $t \in [0, T]$ and $v \in [-kR, kR]$

$$(9.4.18) a_{ij}(x,t,v) = a_{ji}(x,t,v),$$

$$(9.4.19) \qquad \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x,t,v) \,\xi_i \,\xi_j \geq c \,\sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i^2 \,, \qquad c>0 \,.$$

9.4. Equations of heat transfer

If $||u|| \leq R$, then by inequality (9.4.17) $v = A_0^{-1/2} u$ takes on the values from the segment [-kR, kR] as a function of the arrgument x. By virtue of (9.4.18)-(9.4.19), $A(t, A_0^{-1/2} u)$ is a uniformly elliptic operator with domain \mathcal{D}_1 . Since the partial derivatives of the function a_{ij} are bounded in the bounded domain $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, T] \times [-kR, kR]$, this function satisfies in the same domain the Lipschitz condition with respect to the variables tand v. This serves to motivate that condition (P2) with $\beta = 1$ is satisfied. Let us stress that the first two items of condition (P3) of Section 6.6 are automatically fulfilled and the following restriction is needed in the sequel for its validity:

$$(9.4.20) \qquad \qquad \psi \in \mathcal{C}^2[0,T].$$

We now proceed to discussions of conditions (P5)-(P9) of Section 6.6. The nonhomogeneous term of the equation is available here in the form (6.6.7) we have adopted in Section 6.6. We restrict ourselves to the simple cases when

(9.4.21)
$$f_2(x,t,u,p) = G(x,t) p,$$

(9.4.22)
$$f_2(x,t,u,p) = p u$$
,

in which the function f_3 arising from condition (P6) of Section 6.6 becomes, respectively,

$$f_3(t,z,p) = \left(\int_{\Omega} G(x,t) w(x) \ dx\right) p$$

or

$$f_3(t,z,p) = z p$$

It is easily seen that condition (P8) of Section 6.6 with regard to the function f_1 holds true for $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$ and $\beta = 1$, since the function f_1 satisfies on the manifold $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, T] \times [-kR, kR] \times \mathbf{R}^n$ the Lipschitz condition, the norm of the element u in the space $\hat{W}_r^1(\Omega)$ is equivalent to the norm $||A_0^{1/2}u||$ and the bound (9.4.17) is obviously attained. In particular, its fulfilment is ensured by the continuity and boundedness of all first derivatives of the function f_1 on the manifold $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, T] \times [-kR, kR] \times \mathbf{R}^n$. For the function given by formula (9.4.22) the validity of condition (P8) from Section 6.6 with regard to the function f_2 is clear, whereas for the function given by formula (9.4.21) it is stipulated by the inclusion

(9.4.23)
$$G \in C^1([0, T]; L_r(\Omega)).$$

Because of (9.4.21) and (9.4.23), conditions (P5) and (P7) of Section 6.6 will be satisfied once we require that for all $t \in [0, T]$

(9.4.24)
$$\int_{\Omega} G(x,t) w(x) dx \neq 0.$$

When decomposition (9.4.22) is approved, these conditions follow from the relation

(9.4.25)
$$\psi(t) \neq 0, \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

At the next stage condition (P4) of Section 6.6 is of interest. Since the operator B does not depend on the variable t, relations (6.6.6) of Section 6.6 take place under the constraints

(9.4.26)
$$w \in L_q(\Omega), \qquad \frac{1}{r} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$$

To verify the rest of condition (P4), it suffices to show that the inequality

$$(9.4.27) \quad \left| \int_{\Omega} \left(\sum_{i,j=1} \left(a_{ij}(x,t,u) - a_{ij}(x,s,v) \right) \frac{\partial^2 w}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} \right) w(x) \, dx \right| \\ \leq c \left(|t-s| + ||u-v||_{W^1_r(\Omega)} \right) ||w||_{W^1_r(\Omega)}$$

holds true for all $u, v \in \overset{\circ}{W}{}^{1}_{r}(\Omega)$ with $||A_{0}^{1/2} u|| \leq R$ and $||A_{0}^{1/2} v|| \leq R$ and each $w \in W_{r}^{2}(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W}{}^{1}_{r}(\Omega)$. Indeed, let r > 2 and

(9.4.28)
$$w \in \mathring{W}^{1}_{s}(\Omega), \qquad s = r/(r-2).$$

After integrating by parts we finally get

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left(a_{ij}(x,t,u) - a_{ij}(x,s,v) \right) \frac{\partial^2 w}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} \right) w(x) dx$$
$$= -\int_{\Omega} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(\left[a_{ij}(x,t,u(x)) - a_{ij}(x,s,v(x)) \right] w(x) \right) \right) \frac{\partial w}{\partial x_j} dx$$

Hölder's inequality yields that the left hand-side of (9.4.27) has the upper estimate

$$\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left\| \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \left[\left(a_{ij}(x,t,u(x)) - a_{ij}(x,s,v(x)) \right) w(x) \right] \right\|_{L_{q}(\Omega)} \right) \| w \|_{W^{1}_{r}(\Omega)},$$

by means of which it remains to find that

$$(9.4.29) \quad \left\| \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \left[\left(a_{ij}(x,t,u(x)) - a_{ij}(x,s,v(x)) \right) w(x) \right] \right\|_{L_{q}(\Omega)} \\ \leq c \left(|t-s| + ||u-v||_{W^{1}_{r}(\Omega)} \right).$$

If we agree to consider

$$(9.4.30) a_{ij} \in \mathcal{C}^2(\bar{\Omega} \times [0, T] \times [-k R, k R]),$$

then

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \left[\left(a_{ij}(x,t,u) - a_{ij}(x,s,v) \right) w \right] = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} a_{ij}(x,t,u) - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} a_{ij}(x,s,v) \right) w$$

$$(9.4.31) + \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial u} a_{ij}(x,t,u) - \frac{\partial}{\partial u} a_{ij}(x,s,v) \right]$$

$$\times \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \right) w + \frac{\partial}{\partial u} a_{ij}(x,s,v)$$

$$\times \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \right) w$$

$$+ \left(a_{ij}(x,t,u) - a_{ij}(x,s,v) \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} .$$

Since $||A_0^{1/2}u|| \leq R$ and $||A_0^{1/2}v|| \leq R$, relation (9.4.17) implies the bounds $|u(x)| \leq kR$ and $|v(x)| \leq kR$, valid for each $x \in \Omega$. Having stipulated condition (9.4.30), the collection of estimates

$$(9.4.32) \quad \left| \frac{\partial a_{ij}}{\partial x_i} \left(x, t, u \right) - \frac{\partial a_{ij}}{\partial x_i} \left(x, s, v \right) \right| \leq L \left(\left| t - s \right| + \left| u(x) - v(x) \right| \right),$$

$$(9.4.33) \quad \left| \frac{\partial a_{ij}}{\partial u} (x,t,u) - \frac{\partial a_{ij}}{\partial u} (x,s,v) \right| \leq L \left(|t-s| + |u(x) - v(x)| \right),$$

9. Applications to Partial Differential Equations

(9.4.34)
$$\left| \frac{\partial a_{ij}}{\partial u} (x, s, v) \right| \leq L$$

 and

$$(9.4.35) \qquad |a_{ij}(x,t,u) - a_{ij}(x,s,v)| \le L \left(|t-s| + |u(x) - v(x)| \right)$$

becomes true. Since

$$\frac{1}{s} + \frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{q} ,$$

we are able to use the generalized Hölder inequality

$$(9.4.36) ||fg||_{L_q(\Omega)} \le ||f||_{L_s(\Omega)} \cdot ||g||_{L_r(\Omega)},$$

which in combination with relations (9.4.31)-(9.4.35) serves as a basis for the desired estimate (9.4.29).

Observe that q = r/(r-1) < s, due to which relation (9.4.28) implies (9.4.26). Thus, condition (P4) of Section 6.6 holds true if $r > \max\{n, 2\}$ and conditions (9.4.28), (9.4.30) are satisfied. Summarizing, we deduce the following corollary.

Corollary 9.4.3 Let conditions (9.4.18)-(9.4.19) and (9.4.30) hold, all of the partial derivatives of the first order of the function f_1 be continuous and bounded on the manifold $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, T] \times [-k R, k R] \times \mathbb{R}^n$ and let representation (9.4.21) and conditions (9.4.23)-(9.4.24), (9.4.28) be valid. If

$$u_0 \in W_r^2(\Omega) \bigcap \mathring{W}_r^1(\Omega), \quad r > \max\{n, 2\}, \qquad \psi \in \mathcal{C}^2[0, T]$$

and the compatibility condition

$$\int_{\Omega} u_0(x) w(x) \ dx = \psi(0)$$

holds, then for any $\sigma < \frac{1}{2}$ there exists a value $T_1 > 0$ such that a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.4.10)-(9.4.13) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T_{1}]; L_{r}(\Omega)) \cap C([0, T_{1}]; W_{r}^{2}(\Omega)),$$

 $p \in C^{\sigma}[0, T_{1}].$

9.4. Equations of heat transfer

Corollary 9.4.4 Let conditions (9.4.18)-(9.4.19) and (9.4.30) be fulfilled, all of the partial derivatives of the first order of the function f_1 be continuous and bounded on the manifold $\overline{\Omega} \times [0, T] \times [-k R, k R] \times \mathbb{R}^n$ and let representation (9.4.22) and conditions (9.4.20), (9.4.25), (9.4.28) hold. If

$$u_0 \in W_r^2(\Omega) \cap \overset{\circ}{W}{}^1_r(\Omega), \qquad r > \max\{n, 2\},$$

and the compatibility condition

$$\int_{\Omega} u_0(x) w(x) \ dx = \psi(0)$$

holds, then for any $\sigma < \frac{1}{2}$ there exists a value $T_1 > 0$ such that a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.4.10)-(9.4.13) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in C^{1}([0, T_{1}]; L_{r}(\Omega)) \cap C([0, T_{1}]; W_{r}^{2}(\Omega)),$$

$$p \in C^{\sigma}[0, T_{1}].$$

9.5 Equation of neutron transport

Let us consider in the space \mathbb{R}^3 a strictly convex, closed and bounded domain Ω with a smooth boundary $\partial \Omega$ and a closed bounded domain D. We proceed to special investigations of the **transport equation** in the domain $G = \Omega \times D \times [0, T]$ for the function u = u(x, v, t)

(9.5.1)
$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + (v, \operatorname{grad}_{x} u) + \sigma(x, v, t) u$$
$$= \int_{D} K(x, v, v', t) u(x, v', t) dv' + f(x, v, t),$$

supplied by the initial and boundary conditions

(9.5.2) $u(x, v, 0) = u_0(x, v), \quad x \in \Omega, \quad v \in D,$

 $(9.5.3) u(x,v,t) = 0, x \in \partial \Omega,$

 $(v, n_x) < 0, \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$

where n_x refers to a unit external normal to the boundary $\partial \Omega$ at a point x. The monographs and original papers by Case and Zweifel (1972), Cercignani (1975), Germogenova (1986), Hejtmanek (1984), Richtmyer (1978), Shikhov (1973), Vladimirov (1961), Wing (1962) are devoted to this type of equations. From a physical point of view the meaning of the function u is the **density of the neutron distribution** over the phase space $\Omega \times D$ at time t.

Common practice involves by means of the source density f the emission of neutrons caused by the process of fission. In this case the function f may, in general, depend on u and is actually unknown. We are interested in recovering both functions u and f under the agreement that the source density f is representable by

(9.5.4)
$$f(x, v, t) = \Phi(x, v, t) p(t) + F(x, v, t),$$

where the functions Φ and F are known in advance, while the unknown coefficient p is sought. In trying to find the function p the subsidiary information is provided in the form of **integral overdetermination**

(9.5.5)
$$\int_{\Omega \times D} u(x, v, t) w(x, v) dx dv = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T.$$

Accepting r > 1 and q = r/(r-1) we take for granted that

- (1) $\omega \in L_q(\Omega \times D);$ (2) $\sigma \in C^1([0, T]; L_{\infty}(\Omega \times D));$
- (3) the operator

$$K(t): u(x,v) \mapsto \int_D K(x,v,v',t) u(x,v') dv'$$

complies with the inclusion $K \in C^1([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(L_r(\Omega \times D)));$

(4) Φ , $(v, \operatorname{grad}_x \Phi) \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(L_r(\Omega \times D))))$, the equality

$$\Phi(x,v,t)=0$$

holds for all $x \in \partial \Omega$, $v \in D$ such that $(v, n_x) < 0$ and

$$\int_{\Omega \times D} \Phi(x, v, t) w(x, v) \ dx \neq 0$$

9.5. Equation of neutron transport

at every moment $t \in [0, T]$;

(5)
$$F = F_1 + F_2$$
, where
 $F_1 \in C^1([0, T]; L_r(\Omega \times D))$,
 F_2 , $(v, \operatorname{grad}_x F_2) \in C([0, T]; L_r(\Omega \times D))$,
 $F_2(x, v, t) = 0$ for all $x \in \partial \Omega, v \in D, t \in [0, T]$, $(v, n_x) < 0$;

(6) u_0 , $(v, \operatorname{grad}_x u_0) \in L_r(\Omega \times D)$, $u_0(x, v) = 0$ for all $x \in \partial \Omega$, $v \in D$, $(v, n_x) < 0$; (7) $(v, n_x) < 0$;

(7)
$$\psi \in \mathcal{C}^1[0, T]$$
 and $\psi(0) = \int_{\Omega \times D} u_0(x, v) w(x, v) dx dv$.

Theorem 9.5.1 Let conditions (1)-(7) hold for r > 1 and q = r/(r-1). Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.5.1)-(9.5.5) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_r(\Omega \times D)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}[0, T].$$

Proof In order to apply in such a setting Theorem 6.5.5 of Section 6.5, we begin by adopting the basic spaces $X = L_r(\Omega \times D)$ and $Y = \mathbf{R}$ and introducing the operator (functional) B with the values

$$B u = \int_{\Omega \times D} u(x, v) w(x, v) dx dv.$$

From condition (1) it is clear that $B \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ as well as equality (6.5.3) is an abstract form of relation (9.5.5). It will be sensible to introduce the operator

 $A u = -(v, \operatorname{grad}_x u),$

whose domain $\mathcal{D}(A)$ consists of all functions $u \in L_r(\Omega \times D)$ such that $(v, \operatorname{grad}_x u) \in L_r(\Omega \times D)$ and u(x, v) = 0 at all points $x \in \partial \Omega$ and $v \in D$, complying with the inequality $(v, n_x) < 0$. The operator A falls into the category of generators of strongly continuous semigroups in the space $L_r(\Omega \times D)$ (for more detail see Hejtmanek (1984), Jorgens (1968), Shikhov

(1973)). For the purposes of the present section we keep in representation (6.5.3) the following members:

$$L_1(t) u = -\sigma u + K(t) u$$

$$L_2(t) p = \Phi p,$$

$$F(t) = F(x, v, t),$$

which assure us of the validity of the conditions of Theorem 6.5.5 from Section 6.5 and lead to the desired assertion.

Let us find out when condition (3) will be satisfied. Since either of the functions

$$c_{1}(t) = \sup_{(x,v)} \int_{D} |K(x,v,w,t)| dw, \qquad c_{2}(t) = \sup_{(x,w)} \int_{D} |K(x,v,w,t)| dv$$

is finite, the operator K(t) is bounded in the space $X = L_r(\Omega \times D)$, so that the estimate is valid:

$$||K(t)|| \leq c_1(t)^{1/r} c_2(t)^{1-1/r}.$$

Therefore, condition (3) holds true if the function K = K(x, v, v', t) and its derivative meet the requirements

$$K, \frac{\partial K}{\partial t} \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{\Omega} \times [0, T]; L_{\infty}(D) \times L_{1}(D)),$$

$$K, \frac{\partial K}{\partial t} \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{\Omega} \times [0, T]; L_{1}(D) \times L_{\infty}(D)).$$

By imposing the stronger restriction on the function ω that

(1') $w, (v, \operatorname{grad}_x w) \in L_q(\Omega \times D)$ and w(x, v) = 0 at all points $x \in \partial \Omega, v \in D$, satisfying the condition $(v, n_x) < 0$;

we are able to show by integrating by parts that the operator B is in line with condition (6.4.5). To ensure the solvability of the inverse problem at hand under rather mild restrictions on the coefficients of the equations and the input data, we take for granted, in addition, that

$$(2') \ \sigma \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_{\infty}(\Omega \times D));$$

$$(3') \ K(t) \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(L_{r}(\Omega \times D)));$$

9.5. Equation of neutron transport

$$(4') \Phi \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_r(\Omega \times D));$$

$$\int_{\Omega \times D} \Phi(x, v, t) w(x, v) dx dv \neq 0, \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(5') F \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_r(\Omega \times D));$$

$$(6') u_0 \in L_r(\Omega \times D);$$

$$(7') \psi \in \mathcal{C}^1[0, T], \qquad \psi(0) = \int_{\Omega \times D} u_0(x, v) w(x, v) dx dv.$$

After that, applying Theorem 6.4.1 of Section 6.4 yields the following proposition.

Corollary 9.5.1 Let conditions (1')-(2') hold for r > 1 and q = r/(r-1). Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.5.1)-(9.5.5) exists and is unique in the class of functions

 $u \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_r(\Omega \times D)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}[0, T].$

When the additional conditions (2)-(3), (6) and

(8) $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_r(\Omega \times D)), F \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_r(\Omega \times D)), \psi \in \mathcal{C}^2[0, T]$

are imposed, Theorem 6.4.2 of Section 6.4 ensures the inverse problem solution to be continuously differentiable.

Corollary 9.5.2 Let conditions (1')-(7') hold for r > 1 and q = r/(r-1). Under the additional conditions (2)-(3), (6) and (8) a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.5.1)-(9.5.5) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_r(\Omega \times D)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}^1[0, T].$$

Likewise, the inverse problem of finding the source f is meaningful for the case when

(9.5.6)
$$f(x, v, t) = \Phi(x, v, t) p(v, t) + F(x, v, t),$$

where the coefficient p(v,t) is unknown, while the functions $\Phi(x,v,t)$ and F(x,v,t) are available. The subsidiary information is that

(9.5.7)
$$\int_{D} u(x, v, t) w(x) dx = \psi(v, t), \quad v \in D, \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$

The well-founded choice of the spaces for this problem is connected with $X = L_r(\Omega \times D)$ and $Y = L_r(D)$. We confine ourselves to the case when

(9.5.8)
$$w \in \overset{\circ}{W}{}^{1}_{q}(\Omega), \quad q = r/(r-1), \quad r > 1.$$

With this relation in view, the operator

$$B u = \int_{\Omega} u(x, v) w(x) dx$$

satisfies condition (6.4.5). For this reason it suffices to require for further reference to Theorem 6.4.1 that

(9.5.9)
$$\begin{cases} \sigma \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_{\infty}(\Omega \times D)), \\ K(t) \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{L}(L_{r}(\Omega \times D))), \end{cases}$$

$$(9.5.10) \quad \Phi \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_{r,\infty}(\Omega \times D)), \quad \int_{\Omega} \Phi(x, v, t) w(x) \ dx \ge \delta > 0,$$

(9.5.11)
$$F \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_r(\Omega \times D))$$

(9.5.12)
$$\begin{cases} u_0 \in L_r(\Omega \times D), \\ \psi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_r(D)), \\ \psi(v, 0) = \int_{\Omega} u_0(x, v) w(x) dx \end{cases}$$

All this enables us to obtain the following result.

Corollary 9.5.3 Under conditions (9.5.8)-(9.5.12) a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.5.1)-(9.5.3), (9.5.6)-(9.5.7) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}([0,T]; L_r(\Omega \times D)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0,T]; L_r(D)).$$

If one assumes, in addition, that

(9.5.13)
$$\begin{cases} \sigma \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T]; L_{\infty}(\Omega \times D)), \\ K(t) \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T]; \mathcal{L}(L_r(\Omega) \times D)), \end{cases}$$

(9.5.14)
$$\begin{cases} \Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_{r,\infty}(\Omega \times D)), \\ \int_{\Omega} \Phi(x, v, t) w(x) \ dx \ge \delta > 0, \end{cases}$$

(9.5.15)
$$F \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_r(\Omega \times D)),$$

(9.5.16)
$$\begin{cases} u_0, (v, \operatorname{grad}_x u_0) \in L_r(\Omega \times D), \\ \psi \in \mathcal{C}^2([0, T]; L_r(D)), \end{cases}$$

(9.5.17)
$$\psi(v,0) = \int_{\Omega} u_0(x,v) w(x) dx, \quad v \in D,$$

$$(9.5.18) u_0(x,v) = 0$$

for all $x \in \partial \Omega$ and $v \in D$, satisfying the condition

$$(v, n_x) < 0,$$

then Theorem 6.4.2 applies equally well, due to which this solution is continuously differentiable in t.

Corollary 9.5.4 Let conditions (9.5.8) and (9.5.13)-(9.5.18) hold. Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.5.1)-(9.5.3), (9.5.6)-(9.5.7) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T]; L_r(\Omega \times D)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T]; L_r(D)).$$

9.6 Linearized Bolzman equation

A key role in the kinetic theory of gases is played by the function f(x, v, t) characterizing the **distribution of particles** with respect to the coordinates $x \in \Omega$, $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$, and velocity $v \in \mathbb{R}^3$. The meaning of this function is the distribution density of particles in the phase space $\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^3$ at time t. Once we pass to the limit under small densities, known as the Bolzman limit, the function f will satisfy the **Bolzman equation**

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial t} + (v, \operatorname{grad}_x f) = Q(f, f),$$

where the symbol Q(f, f) designates the integral of collisions given at a point (x, v, t) by the collection of formulae

$$Q(f, f) = \int_{S \times \mathbf{R}^{3}} K(v, v_{1}, e) \left[f_{1}' f' - f_{1} f \right] dS dv_{1}$$

$$S = \left\{ e \in \mathbf{R}^{3} : |e| = 1 \right\},$$

$$f = f(x, v, t), \qquad f_{1} = f(x, v_{1}, t),$$

$$f' = f(x, v', t), \qquad f'_{1} = f(x, v'_{1}, t),$$

$$v' = \frac{1}{2} \left(v + v_{1} - |v_{1} - v| e \right),$$

$$v'_{1} = \frac{1}{2} \left(v + v_{1} + |v_{1} - v| e \right),$$

$$K(v, v_{1}, e) = |v - v_{1}| \sigma \left(|v - v_{1}| e \right)$$

(for more detail see Carleman (1960), Cercignani (1975), Maslova (1978, 1985), Lanford et al. (1983)). The **differential scattering cross-section** $\sigma(r, e)$ is defined on $(0, +\infty) \times S$ and is uniquely determined by the law of the interaction between particles. For any constant values of parameters ρ , k, T the **Maxwell distribution**

$$M(v) = \rho \left(2\pi \, k \, T \right)^{-3/2} \, \exp \left(-v^2/2 \, k \, T \right)$$

is the exact solution to the Bolzman equation and describes an equilibria with density ρ and temperature T. Here k stands for the universal gas constant. In the case of smallness of the relative deviation of the distribution

r

density from the equilibrium state the Bolzman equation can be linearized by merely setting

$$f(x, v, t) = M(v) (1 + u(x, v, t)).$$

A final result of omitting the nonlinear terms is the so-called linearized Bolzman equation

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + (v, \operatorname{grad}_{x} u) = \Gamma(u),$$

where $\Gamma(u)$ refers to the linearized integral of collisions

$$\Gamma(u) = \int_{S \times \mathbf{R}^3} M(v_1) K(v, v_1, e) \left[u'_1 + u' - u_1 - u \right] dS dv_1.$$

The function $\Gamma(u)$ can be expressed by the difference

$$\Gamma(u) = L u - \nu(v) u$$

where

$$L u = \int_{S \times \mathbf{R}^{3}} M(v_{1}) K(v, v_{1}, e) \left[u'_{1} + u' - u_{1} \right] dS dv_{1},$$

$$\nu(v) = \int_{S \times \mathbf{R}^{3}} M(v_{1}) K(v, v_{1}, e) dS dv_{1}.$$

When the differential cross-section of scattering is known in advance, the operator L and the collision frequency $\nu(v)$ can uniquely be determined. However, the law of the interaction between particles is actually unknown and the functions L and ν will be involved in modeling problems as further developments occur. In this context, there is a need for statements of inverse problems relating to the Bolzman equation and, in particular, there arises naturally the problem of determining the frequency of collisions. By standard techniques the question of uniqueness of recovering the coefficients of the equation reduces to the problem of determining the nonhomogeneous term of this equation and, in view of this, necessitates involving the nonhomogeneous Bolzman equation

(9.6.1)
$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + (v, \operatorname{grad}_{x} u) = L u - \nu(v) u + F(x, v, t).$$

~

In what follows careful analysis of the Bolzman equation is based on the invariants of collisions

$$\psi_0(v) = 1$$
, $\psi_1(v) = v_1$, $\psi_2(v) = v_2$, $\psi_3(v) = v_3$, $\psi_4(v) = v^2$.

We note in passing that the integral of collisions $\Gamma(u)$ with the specified functions becomes zero.

Let Ω be a strictly convex, bounded and closed domain with Lyapunov's boundary in the space \mathbb{R}^3 . Set $D = \partial \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^3$, where n_x is a unit internal normal to the boundary ∂D at point x, and introduce the manifolds

$$D^{+} = \{(x, v) \in D: (v, n_{x}) > 0\},\$$
$$D^{-} = \{(x, v) \in D: (v, n_{x}) < 0\}.$$

In the sequel the symbols u^+ and u^- will stand for the traces of the function u on D^+ and D^- , respectively. For the purposes of the present section we have occasion to use $H = L_{2, M(v)}(\Omega \times \mathbf{R}^3)$, $H^{\pm} = L_{2, \pm M(v)(v, n_x)}(D^{\pm})$, $\mathcal{H} = L_{2, M(v)}(\mathbf{R}^3)$ and in the space of velocities the **operator of reflection** J acting in accordance with the rule

$$J: u(x,v) \mapsto u(x,-v).$$

Let P be the orthogonal projection in H^- onto the orthogonal complement to the subspace of all functions depending only on the variable x.

In further development our starting point is the direct problem. Aside from equation (9.6.1), the determination of the function u necessitates imposing the initial and boundary conditions

$$(9.6.2) u(x, v, 0) = u_0(x, v), x \in \Omega, v \in \mathbf{R}^3,$$

$$(9.6.3) u^+ = R u^-$$

where R is a bounded linear operator from the space H^- into the space H^+ .

Also, we take for granted that

(A1) the operator L is compact and self-adjoint in the space H and

$$u(v) \ge 0, \qquad
u(v) \in \mathcal{H}.$$
If $u, \nu u \in \mathcal{H}$, then $(\Gamma(u), u) \le 0$. In that case $(\Gamma(u), u) = 0$

if and only if u gives a linear combination of the collision invariants; (A2) the boundary operator R meets either of the following requirements: (a) ||R|| < 1;

(b) $R 1^+ = 1^-$; for some $\varepsilon > 0$ and all elements $u^- \in H^-$ the inequality

$$||Ru^{-}||^{2} + \varepsilon ||Pu^{-}|| \le ||u^{-}||^{2}$$

holds and the operator RJ is self-adjoint in the space H^+ .

Note that condition (A1) will be satisfied, for example, for the models of hard spheres and power potentials with angular cut-off. Item (a) of condition (A2) confirms the absence of the conservation laws in the interaction between particles with the boundary of the domain, while item (b) reflects the situation in which these laws are met in part. To be more specific, the equality $R1^- = 1^+$ expresses the condition of **thermodynamic equilibrium** of the boundary $\partial \Omega$, the **reciprocity law** is ensured by self-adjointness of the operator RJ and the relation

$$||Ru^{-}||^{2} + \varepsilon ||Pu^{-}||^{2} \le ||u^{-}||^{2}$$

reveals the dissipative nature of the scattering process of particles on the boundary $\partial \Omega$ (for more detail see Cercignani (1975) and Guirand (1976)).

It will be sensible to introduce in the space H the operator

$$A u = -(v, \operatorname{grad}_{x} u) + \Gamma(u)$$

whose domain is defined by the resolvent equation of the transport operator

(9.6.4)
$$\begin{cases} (v, \operatorname{grad}_x u) + (\nu(v) + \lambda) u = \varphi, \\ u^+ = \psi, \end{cases}$$

where $\lambda > 0$, $\varphi \in H$ and $\psi \in H^+$. It is known from the works of Cercignani (1975) and Maslova (1985) that a solution u of problem (9.6.4) exists and is representable by

$$u = U \varphi + W \psi,$$

where $U \in \mathcal{L}(H)$ and $W \in \mathcal{L}(H^+, H)$. By the same token,

$$(\nu(v) + \lambda)^{-1/2} (v, \operatorname{grad}_{x} u) \in H,$$
$$(\nu(v) + \lambda)^{1/2} u \in H,$$
$$\| (U\varphi + W\psi)^{-} \| \leq \frac{1}{\lambda} \|\varphi\| + \|\psi\|.$$

We need a linear manifold in the space H defined as follows:

$$H_0 = \left\{ u: u = U \varphi + W \psi, \varphi \in H, \psi \in H^+ \right\}.$$

Being a solution of problem (9.6.4), the function $u = u(\lambda, \varphi, \psi)$ is subject to the relation

$$u(\mu,\varphi,\psi) = u(\lambda, \varphi + (\lambda - \mu) u(\mu,\varphi,\psi), \psi),$$

whence it follows that the manifold H_0 does not depend on λ . Furtheremore, set

$$\mathcal{D}(A) = \left\{ u \in H_0: u^+ = R u^- \right\}$$

Under these agreements the operator A appears to be maximal dissipative and, therefore, generates a strongly continuous contraction semigroup V(t)in the space H (for more detail see Guirand (1976)).

Thus, if the system (9.6.1)-(9.6.3) is treated as an abstract Cauchy problem of the form

$$\begin{cases} u_t = A u + F(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ u(0) = u_0, \end{cases}$$

under the constraints

$$u_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A), \qquad F \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];H) + \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(A)),$$

then a solution u of the initial boundary value problem associated with Bolzman equation exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H)$$
.

Moreover, this solution is given by the formula

$$u(t) = V(t) u_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) F(s) \, ds \, .$$

In this direction, we should raise the question of recovering the nonhomogeneous term of equation (9.6.1) provided that one of the following decompositions takes place:

(9.6.5) $F(x, v, t) = \Phi(x, v, t) p(t) + \mathcal{F}(x, v, t),$

(9.6.6)
$$F(x, v, t) = \Phi(x, v, t) p(v, t) + \mathcal{F}(x, v, t),$$

(9.6.7)
$$F(x, v, t) = p(x, v) + \mathcal{F}(x, v, t),$$

9.6. Linearized Bolzman equation

where, respectively, the functions p(t), p(v,t) and p(x,v) are unknown. The subsidiary information is needed to recover them and is provided by the overdetermination conditions

(9.6.8)
$$\int_{\Omega\times\mathbf{R}^3} u(x,v,t) w(x,v) dx dv = \psi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

(9.6.9)
$$\int_{\Omega} u(x, v, t) w(x) dx = \psi(v, t), \quad v \in \mathbf{R}^{3}, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$$

$$(9.6.10) u(x, v, T) = u_1(x, v), \quad x \in \Omega, \quad v \in \mathbf{R}^3.$$

Let us first dwell on the inverse problem with the supplementary conditions (9.6.5) and (9.6.8). Theorem 6.5.5 of Section 6.5 is used in the spaces X = H and $Y = \mathbf{R}$ with further reference to the operator B being now a functional and acting in accordance with the rule

$$B u = \int_{\Omega \times \mathbf{R}^3} u(x, v) w(x, v) dx dv.$$

The operator B so defined is bounded from the space X into the space Yunder the agreement that the function

$$w \in L_{2, M(v)^{-1}}(\Omega \times \mathbf{R}^3)$$

•

Representation (6.5.35) includes the following members:

$$L_1 = 0,$$

$$L_2(t) p = \Phi(x, v, t) p$$

$$F(t) = \mathcal{F}(x, v, t).$$

It is plain to show that the remaining conditions of Theorem 6.5.5 from Section 6.5 are a corollary of the relations

(9.6.11)
$$\begin{cases} \Phi, (v, \operatorname{grad}_x \Phi) + \nu \Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \\ \mathcal{F} \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \end{cases}$$

(9.6.12)
$$u_0$$
, $(v, \operatorname{grad}_x u_0) + \nu u_0 \in H$, $\psi \in \mathcal{C}^1[0, T]$,

9. Applications to Partial Differential Equations

(9.6.13)
$$\int_{\Omega \times \mathbf{R}^3} u_0(x,v) w(x,v) dx dv = \psi(0), \quad \Phi^+ = R \Phi^-,$$

(9.6.14)
$$\int_{\Omega \times \mathbf{R}^3} \Phi(x, v, t) w(x, v) dx dv \neq 0, \quad 0 \le t \le T$$

In accordance with what has been said, the following assertion is established.

Corollary 9.6.1 Let conditions (9.6.11)-(9.6.14) hold and $w \in L_{2, M(v)}^{-1}(\Omega \times \mathbf{R}^3)$.

One assumes, in addition, that conditions (A1)-(A2) are fulfilled. Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.6.1)-(9.6.3), (9.6.5), (9.6.8) exists and is unique in the class of functions

 $u \in C^{1}([0, T]; H), \qquad p \in C[0, T].$

The inverse problem with the supplementary conditions (9.6.6), (9.6.9) can be resolved in the same manner as before. This amounts to adopting an abstract scheme for further reasoning and applying Theorem 6.5.5 of Section 6.5 to the spaces X = H and $Y = \mathcal{H}$. Setting, by definition,

$$B u = \int_{\Omega} u(x, v) w(x) dx$$

and letting $w \in L_2(\Omega)$, we might involve the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, whose use permits us to derive the estimate

 $||B|| \leq ||w||_{L_2(\Omega)}$

giving the inclusion $B \in \mathcal{L}(H, \mathcal{H})$. On account of Theorem 6.5.5 from Section 6.5 it remains to require that

(9.6.15)
$$\begin{cases} \Phi, (v, \operatorname{grad}_x \Phi) + \nu \Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \\ \mathcal{F} \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \end{cases}$$

(9.6.16)
$$\begin{cases} u_0, (v, \operatorname{grad}_x u_0) + \nu \ u_0 \in H, \\ \psi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathcal{H}), \end{cases}$$

(9.6.17)
$$\begin{cases} \int u_0(x,v) w(x) \, dx = \psi(v,0), \\ \Omega \\ v \in \mathbf{R}^3, \quad \Phi^+ = R \, \Phi^-, \end{cases}$$

(9.6.18)
$$\begin{cases} \left| \int_{\Omega} \Phi(x, v, t) w(x) \, dx \right| \geq \delta > 0, \\ v \in \mathbf{R}^3, \quad 0 \leq t \leq T, \end{cases}$$

which are needed below to motivate one useful result.

Corollary 9.6.1 Let relations (9.6.15)-(9.6.18) occur, the function $w \in L_2(\Omega)$ and conditions (A1)-(A2) hold. Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.6.1)-(9.6.3), (9.6.6), (9.6.9) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{H}).$$

As stated above, the question of uniqueness in the inverse problem of recovering the coefficients of the equation reduces to the problem of determining the nonhomogeneous terms of this equation. We are going to show this passage in one possible example of recovering the collision frequency $\nu(v)$. The subsidiary information here is provided by (9.6.9). Given two solutions $u_1(x, v, t)$, $\nu_1(v)$ and $u_2(x, v, t)$, $\nu_2(v)$ of the same inverse problem (9.6.1)-(9.6.3), (9.6.9), the main goal of subsequent manipulations is to derive the governing equation with the supplementary conditions for the new functions $u = u_1 - u_2$ and $p = \nu_2 - \nu_1$, which complement our study. This can be done writing equations (9.6.1) twice for the pairs $\{u_1, \nu_1\}$ and $\{u_2, \nu_2\}$, respectively, and then subtracting one from another. The putcome of this is

$$(9.6.19) \qquad \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + (v, \operatorname{grad}_{x} u) = L u - \nu_{1}(v) u + u_{2}(x, v, t) p(v).$$

A similar procedure will work for the derivation of the initial and boundary conditions

$$(9.6.20) u(x, v, 0) = 0, u^+ = R u^-$$

and the subsidiary information

(9.6.21)
$$\int_{\Omega} u(x, v, t) w(x) dx = 0.$$

It is worth noting here that relations (9.6.19)-(9.6.21) with regard to the unknowns u and p constitute the inverse problem of the type (9.6.19)-(9.6.21) with zero input data. If the inverse problem thus obtained has no solutions other than a trivial solution, then we acquire the clear indication that a solution of the inverse problem of recovering the collision frequency s unique. Conditions (9.6.15)-(9.6.18) immediately follow from the set of equalities

$$\mathcal{F} = 0$$
, $\Phi = u_2(x, v, t)$, $u_0 = 0$, $\psi = 0$.

Observe that the inclusions

$$\Phi, (v, \operatorname{grad}_x \Phi) + \nu \Phi \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; H)$$

and the relation

$$\Phi^+ = R \Phi^-$$

occur. This is due to the fact that the function $\Phi = u_2$ gives a solution of the boundary value problem (9.6.1)-(9.6.3). So, it remains to verify the fulfilment of condition (9.6.18). Indeed, by assumption, the pair $\{u_2, \nu_2\}$ solves the inverse problem at hand and, therefore, the function u_2 satisfies condition (9.6.9), thereby establishing the relationships

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(x,v,t) w(x) \ dx = \int_{\Omega} u_2(x,v,t) w(x) \ dx = \psi(v,t)$$

and the equivalence between (9.6.18) and the bound

$$(9.6.22) |\psi(v,t)| \ge \delta > 0, v \in \mathbf{R}^3, 0 \le t \le T.$$

Corollary 9.6.3 Let conditions (A1)–(A2) hold, the function $w \in L_2(\Omega)$ and let estimate (9.6.22) be valid. Then the inverse problem (9.6.1)–(9.6.3), (9.6.9) of recovering a pair of the functions u and ν has no more than one solution in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \qquad \nu \ge 0, \qquad \nu \in \mathcal{H}.$$

We proceed to the study of the inverse problem at hand with the supplementary conditions (9.6.7) and (9.6.10) as usual. This amounts to treating it as an abstract one posed completely by relations (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) with $\Phi(t) \equiv I$ incorporated. In spite of the fact that such problems have been already under consideration in Section 7.1, the final conclusions are not applicable to this case directly. The obstacle involved is connected with the integral of collisions possessing an eigenvalue equal to zero. If this happens, the characteristic subspace consists of the invariants of collisions

$$u(x,v)=\sum_{m=0}^4 c_m(x)\,\psi_m(x)\,,$$

where $c_m(x) \in L_2(\Omega)$ for $0 \le m \le 4$. If the boundary operator complies with item (b) of condition (A2), then the function $\psi_0(x, v) = 1$ gives the

operator A eigenfunction associated with zero eigenvalue. If the semigroup V(t) is generated by the operator A, then

$$V(t)\,\psi_0\,=\,\psi_0$$

for all $t \ge 0$. It is worth noting here that on this semi-axis the value β in estimate (7.1.24) cannot be negative. What is more, item (a) of condition (A2) is out of the question. Although in this case zero is none of the eigenvalues of the operator A, it may enter its continuous spectrum. Therefore, by the theorem on the spectrum mapping the number $\lambda = 1$ is contained in the set of elements of the spectrum of the operator A. Hence estimate (7.1.24) with constants M = 1 and $\beta < 0$ fails to hold, since the inequality ||V(t)|| < 1 yields the inclusion $1 \in \rho(V(t))$. In order to overcome these difficulties, it is reasonable to impose the extra restriction that the collision frequency is bounded away from zero:

(A3)
$$\nu(v) \ge \nu_0 > 0, \quad v \in \mathbf{R}^3$$

This condition characterizes the hard interactions and is satisfied in various models of hard spheres and **power potentials** $U(x) = k/|x|^n$ with angular cut-off having an exponent n > 4 (for more detail see Cercignani (1975)).

We are first interested in the case when conditions (A1)-(A2) hold together with item (a) of condition (A2). Then all the elements of the spectrum of the operator A belong to the half-plane { $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \leq -\nu_0$ } and the semigroup V(t) obeys estimate (7.1.24) with M = 1 and $\beta < 0$ (see Guirand (1976)), due to which it is possible to apply Corollary 7.1.3 of Section 7.1. Further passage to formulae (7.1.33) permits one to obtain a solution in the explicit form

$$p = \left(V(T) - I \right)^{-1} A g,$$

where the element g is defined by relation (7.1.11). The input data become admissible for the inverse problem (9.6.1)-(9.6.3), (9.6.7), (9.6.10) under the constraints

$$(9.6.23) u_0, u_1, (v, \operatorname{grad}_x u_0) + \nu u_0, (v, \operatorname{grad}_x u_1) + \nu u_1 \in H$$

$$(9.6.24) u_0^+ = R u_0^-, u_1^+ = R u_1^-,$$

(9.6.25)
$$\mathcal{F} \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H).$$

These investigations allow to formulate the following corollary.

Corollary 9.6.4 Let conditions (A1)-(A3) and (9.6.23)-(9.6.25) hold together with item (a) of condition (A2). Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.6.1)-(9.6.3), (9.6.7), (9.6.10) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \qquad p \in H.$$

The second case of interest is connected with the fulfilment of conditions (A1), (A3) and item (b) of condition (A2), due to which the operator spectrum in its part within the half-plane $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > -\nu_0$ consists of the unique point $\lambda = 0$, which is a simple eigenvalue. The characteristic subspace \mathbf{N} , the kernel of the operator A, contains only constants and reduces the operator A. The restriction $V_1(t)$ of the semigroup V(t) on the subspace H_1 being an orthogonal complement of \mathbf{N} in the space H is exponentially decreasing as follows:

$$||V_1(t)|| \le \exp(-w_1 t), \qquad w_1 > 0,$$

(see Guirand (1976)). We note in passing that equation (7.1.9) acquires the form

(9.2.26)
$$\int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) \ p \ ds = g$$

A simple observation may be of help in justifying that the subspaces Nand H_1 reduce the operator A and thereby the semigroup V(t). In view of this, we are able to split up equation (9.6.26) by merely setting $p = p_0 + p_1$ and $g = g_0 + g_1$ with $p_0, g_0 \in N$ and $p_1, g_1 \in H_1$ into the following couple:

(9.6.27)
$$\int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) p_{0} ds = g_{0},$$
(9.6.28)
$$\int_{0}^{T} V(T-s) p_{1} ds = g_{1}.$$

The unique solvability of these equations is equivalent to that of equation (9.6.26).

In later discussions equation (9.6.27) comes first. Since $A p_0 = 0$, we obtain for each $t \ge 0$

$$V(t) p_0 = p_0.$$

This provides support for the view that (9.6.27) is equivalent to the equality

$$T p_0 = g_0.$$

Therefore, equation (9.6.27) is uniquely solvable and in this case $p_0 = g_0/T$. Passing now to equation (9.6.28) we write down it in the form

(9.6.29)
$$\int_{0}^{T} V_{1}(T-s) p_{1} ds = g_{1}.$$

If the inclusions $g \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and $g_0 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ occur, then the relation

 $g_1 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$

takes place. For each t > 0 the estimate

 $||V_1(t)|| < 1$

holds and, therefore,

 $1 \in \rho(V_1(t))$

and the theorem on the spectrum mapping yields the inclusion $0 \in \rho(A_1)$, where A_1 refers to a part of the operator A acting in the space H_1 and generating the semigroup $V_1(t)$. By Corollary 7.1.4 of Section 7.1 with regard to the semigroup $V_1(t)$ and the function $\Phi(t) \equiv I$ both equation (9.6.29) is uniquely solvable. Thus, we arrive at the following statement.

Corollary 9.6.5 Let conditions (A1), (A3), (9.6.23)-(9.6.25) hold together with item (b) of condition (A2). Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.6.1)-(9.6.3), (9.6.7), (9.6.10) exists and is unique in the class of functions

 $u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \qquad p \in H.$

Of importance is the Cauchy problem for the Bolzman equation (9.6.1) in which $\Omega = \mathbf{R}^3$ and the boundary conditions are omitted. All this enables one to simplify its statement a little bit. A good choice of the spaces H and \mathcal{H} is carried out in just the same way as we did before. Provided condition (A1) holds, it is reasonable to introduce in the space H the operator

$$A u = -(v, \operatorname{grad}_{x} u) + \Gamma(u)$$

with the domain

$$\mathcal{D}(A) = \left\{ u \in H \colon \left(v, \operatorname{grad}_{x} u \right) \in H, \, \nu(v) \, u \in H \right\}.$$

Theorem 9.6.1 The operator A so defined is the generator of a strongly continuous semigroup.

Proof The main idea behind proof is to involve a pair of the operators

$$\begin{aligned} A_1 \, u \, &=\, -\big(\, v, \, \mathrm{grad}_x \, u\,\big)\,, & \mathcal{D}(A_1) \, &=\, \big\{\, u \in H \colon \, \big(\, v, \, \mathrm{grad}_x \, u\,\big) \in H\,\big\}\,, \\ A_2 \, u \, &=\, -\nu(v) \, u\,, & \mathcal{D}(A_2) \, &=\, \big\{\, u \in H \colon \, \nu(v) \, u \in H\,\big\}\,, \end{aligned}$$

with some inherent properties: the operator A_1 generates a unitary group of translations

$$[V_1(t) u] (x, v) = u(x - v t, v),$$

while the operator A_2 is a generator of the multiplication semigroup

$$\left[V_2(t) u\right](x, v) = u(x, v) \exp\left(-\nu(v) t\right).$$

From such reasoning it seems clear that the operators $V_1(t)$ and $V_2(s)$ are commuting for all $t \ge 0$, $s \ge 0$. By **Trotter's theorem** their product

$$\left[V(t) u\right](x, v) = u(x - v t, v) \exp\left(-\nu(v) t\right)$$

is just a strongly continuous semigroup generated by the closure of the operator $A_3 = A_1 + A_2$.

The next step is to examine the **resolvent equation** for the operator A_3 of the form

(9.6.30)
$$(v, \operatorname{grad}_x u) + (\nu(v) + \lambda) u = \varphi,$$

whose solution is given for $\lambda > 0$ by the formula

$$u(x,v) = \int_{-\infty}^{0} \varphi(x+vt,v) \exp\left(\left(\nu(v)+\lambda\right)t\right) dt,$$

which is followed on the basis of Young's inequality by the estimate

$$\| u(\cdot, v) \|_{L_2(\mathbf{R}^3)} \le (\nu(v) + \lambda)^{-1} \| \varphi(\cdot, v) \|_{L_2(\mathbf{R}^3)}.$$

Let us multiply both sides of the preceding estimate by $M(v)^{1/2} \nu(v)$ and square then the resulting expressions. In light of the obvious bounds

$$0 \le \nu \left(\nu + \lambda\right)^{-1} \le 1$$

we can integrate the inequality obtained over $\nu \in \mathbf{R}^3$. As a final result we get

$$\left\| \nu u \right\|_{H} \leq \left\| \varphi \right\|_{H},$$

which serves to motivate that $\nu u \in H$ for any function $\varphi \in H$ involved in equation (9.6.30) and

$$(v, \operatorname{grad}_{x} u) \in H$$
.

This provides support for the view that the operator A_3 is closed and generates the semigroup V(t). The domain of the operator A_3 is equal to $\mathcal{D}(A_1) \cap \mathcal{D}(A_2)$, thereby coinciding with $\mathcal{D}(A)$. Since the operator A differs from A_3 by the bounded operator L, it is straightforward to verify that A generates a strongly continuous semigroup as well. This completes the proof of Theorem 9.6.1.

Theorem 9.6.1 may be of help in setting up the Cauchy problem for the Bolzman equation

(9.6.31)
$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + (v, \operatorname{grad}_{x} u) = L u - \nu u + F, \\ &x \in \mathbf{R}^{3}, \quad v \in \mathbf{R}^{3}, \quad 0 \le t \le T, \end{aligned}$$
(9.6.32)
$$\begin{aligned} &u(x, v, 0) = u_{0}(x, v), \\ &x \in \mathbf{R}^{3}, \quad v \in \mathbf{R}^{3}, \end{aligned}$$

as an abstract Cauchy problem. This can be done joining (9.6.5), (9.6.8)(with $\Omega = \mathbf{R}^3$) and (9.6.31)–(9.6.32). The solvability in question can be established on account of Theorem 6.5.5 from Section 6.5. For the validity of this theorem it is necessary to impose several conditions similar in form to conditions (9.6.11)–(9.6.14) for the above boundary value problem with only difference that the second relation (9.6.13) assigning the boundary values of the function Φ should be excluded from further consideration.

Corollary 9.6.6 Let condition (A1) hold, the function

$$w \in L_{2, M(v)^{-1}}(\mathbf{R}^3 \times \mathbf{R}^3)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Phi \,, \, \left(\,v, \, \operatorname{grad}_x \Phi \,\right) \,+ \,\nu \,\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^1 \big([0, \, T]; \, H \, \big) \,, \, \mathcal{F} \in \mathcal{C}^1 \big([0, \, T]; \, H \, \big) \,; \\ u_0 \,, \, \left(\,v, \, \operatorname{grad}_x u_0 \, \right) \,+ \,\nu \,\, u_0 \in H \,, \qquad \psi \,\in \, \mathcal{C}^1 \big([0, \, T] \,, \\ \int \limits_{\mathbf{R}^3 \times \mathbf{R}^3} u_0(x, v) \,w(x, v) \,\, dx \,\, dv \,= \,\psi(0) \,, \, \int \limits_{\mathbf{R}^3 \times \mathbf{R}^3} \Phi(x, v, t) \,w(x, v) \,\, dx \,\, dv \,\neq 0 \,. \end{split}$$
Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.6.31)-(9.6.32), (9.6.5), (9.6.8) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}[0, T].$$

By exactly the same reasoning as before it is possible to set up an inverse problem with the aid of relations (9.6.6) and (9.6.9). In that case the validity of Theorem 6.5.5 from Section 6.5 is ensured by conditions (9.6.15)-(9.6.18) with no restrictions on the boundary values of the function Φ .

Corollary 9.6.7 Let condition (A1) hold together with conditions (9.6.15)-(9.6.16), (9.6.18) and

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} u_0(x,v) w(x) \ dx = \psi(v,0), \qquad v \in \mathbf{R}^3.$$

Then a solution u, p of the inverse problem (9.6.31)-(9.6.32), (9.6.6), (9.6.9) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{H}).$$

In concluding this section it is worth mentioning that the assertion established in Corollary 9.7.3 can be carried over to cover on the same footing the Cauchy problem, leading to the following proposition.

Corollary 9.6.8 Let condition (A1) hold together with condition (9.6.22), $w \in L_2(\mathbf{R}^3)$. Then the inverse problem (9.6.31)-(9.6.32), (9.6.9) of recovering a pair of the functions u, ν has no more than one solution in the class of functions

$$u \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; H), \qquad \nu \ge 0, \qquad \nu \in \mathcal{H}.$$

9.7 The system of Navier-Stokes equations

In this section we deal with inverse problems for the system of Navier-Stokes equations. Let Ω be a bounded domain in the space \mathbb{R}^n with

boundary $\partial \Omega \in C^2$. We focus our attention on the system consisting of the **linearized Navier–Stokes equations**

(9.7.1)
$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} - \nu \Delta \mathbf{u} + \operatorname{grad} p = \mathbf{f}, \quad x \in \Omega, \quad 0 < t < T,$$

and the incompressibility equation

(9.7.2) $\operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0, \quad x \in \Omega, \quad 0 < t < T.$

The direct problem here consists of finding a vector-valued function

$$\mathbf{u}: \ \Omega \times [0, T] \mapsto \mathbf{R}'$$

and a scalar-valued function

$$p: \ \Omega \times [0, T] \mapsto \mathbf{R} \,,$$

satisfying the system (9.7.1)–(9.7.2) with the supplementary boundary and initial conditions

(9.7.3) $\mathbf{u}(x,t) = 0, \quad x \in \partial \Omega, \quad 0 \le t \le T,$

(9.7.4)
$$u(x,0) = u_0(x), \qquad x \in \Omega,$$

if the functions \mathbf{f} and \mathbf{u}_0 and the coefficient $\nu = \text{const} > 0$ are known in advance. The system (9.7.1)-(9.7.4) permits one to describe the motion of a viscous incompressible fluid in the domain Ω , where the velocity of the fluid is well-characterized by the function \mathbf{u} , while the function p is associated with the pressure. The coefficient ν is called the coefficient of kinematic viscosity. The fluid is supposed to be homogeneous with unit density. The books and papers by Fujita and Kato (1964), Ladyzhenskaya (1970), Temam (1979), Kato and Fujita (1962) give an account of recent developments in this area.

Observe that the reader may feel free, in a certain sense, in recovering the pressure p from the system (9.7.1)-(9.7.4). This is due to the fact that the function p can be added by an arbitrary function g(t) without breaking the equality in equation (9.7.1). With this arbitrariness in view, the meaning of "unique solvability" in this context is that the function pis determined up to a summand regardless of x. In trying to distinguish a unique solution in a standard sense it is fairly common to impose a **normalization condition** of the pressure values. For example, one way of proceeding is to require that

(9.7.5)
$$\int_{\Omega} p(x,t) dx = 0$$

and then put the system (9.7.1)-(9.7.4) together with condition (9.7.5).

Let us introduce some functional spaces which will be needed in subsequent studies of Navier-Stokes equations. The space

$$\mathbb{L}_2(\Omega) = \left[L_2(\Omega) \right]^n$$

contains all the vector-valued functions $\mathbf{u} = (u_1, \ldots, u_n)$, the elements of which belong to the space $L_2(\Omega)$. In so doing, the norm on that space is defined by

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{\mathbb{L}_{2}(\Omega)} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|u_{i}\|_{L_{2}(\Omega)}^{2}\right)^{1/2}$$

Along similar lines, the space

$$\mathbb{W}_2^s(\Omega) = \left[W_2^s(\Omega) \right]^n$$

comprises all vector-valued functions $\mathbf{u} = (u_1, \ldots, u_n)$, the elements of which belong to the space $W_2^s(\Omega)$. In what follows the new space $\mathbb{W}_2^s(\Omega)$ is equipped with the norm

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{\mathbb{W}_{2}^{s}(\Omega)} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|u_{i}\|_{W_{2}^{s}(\Omega)}^{2}\right)^{1/2}.$$

The symbol $\mathbb{D}(\Omega)$ stands for the set of all vector fields that are infinitely differentiable and finite in the domain Ω . The symbol $D(\Omega)$ is used for the set of all scalar-valued functions which are infinitely differentiable and finite in the domain Ω . From such reasoning it seems clear that $\mathbb{D}(\Omega) = [D(\Omega)]^n$.

Denote by $\overset{\circ}{W}_{2}^{s}(\Omega)$ the closure of $D(\Omega)$ in the norm of the space $W_{2}^{s}(\Omega)$. Set, by definition,

$$\overset{\circ}{\mathbb{W}}{}_{2}^{s}(\Omega) = \left[\overset{\circ}{W}{}_{2}^{s}(\Omega)\right]^{n}$$

and introduce

$$\mathbb{D}_{0}(\Omega) = \left\{ \mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{D}(\Omega) : \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0 \right\}.$$

The closures of $\mathbb{D}_0(\Omega)$ in the norms of the spaces $\mathbb{L}_2(\Omega)$ and $\check{\mathbb{W}}_2^1(\Omega)$ are denoted by \mathbb{H} and \mathbb{V} , respectively.

The divergence of any element from \mathbb{H} equals zero in a sense of distributions. However, the space \mathbb{H} so defined does not coincide with the set of all solenoidal vector fields from the space $\mathbb{L}_2(\Omega)$. To clarify this fact, let us denote by \mathbf{n}_x a unit external normal to the boundary $\partial \Omega$ at point x. It is plain to show that the component $(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{n}_x)$ vanishes on the boundary $\partial \Omega$ if \mathbf{u} is a smooth function from the space \mathbb{H} . On the other hand, there is a

630

natural way of defining the normal component $(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{n}_x)$ on the boundary $\partial \Omega$ for any function \mathbf{u} from the space \mathbb{H} . Moreover, one can prove that

$$\mathbb{H} = \left\{ \left. \mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{L}_2(\Omega) \colon \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0, \left(\left. \mathbf{u}, \left. \mathbf{n}_x \right. \right) \right|_{\partial \Omega} = 0 \right\} \right\}$$

The orthogonal complement \mathbb{H}^{\perp} to \mathbb{H} in the space $\mathbb{L}_2(\Omega)$ comprises all **potential vector fields**, that is,

(9.7.6)
$$\mathbb{H}^{\perp} = \left\{ \mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{L}_2(\Omega) : \mathbf{u} = \operatorname{grad} p, \ p \in W_2^1(\Omega) \right\}$$

Because of the structure of the spaces \mathbb{H} and \mathbb{H}^{\perp} , a flexible and widespread approach to solving the direct problems for Navier-Stokes equations is connected with further elimination of the pressure p from equation (9.7.1) by means of **orthogonal projection** on the subspace \mathbb{H} .

In turn, the space V is simply characterized by

$$\mathbb{V} = \left\{ \mathbf{u} \in \overset{\circ}{\mathbb{W}}_{2}^{1}(\Omega) : \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = 0 \right\}.$$

The theory and methods of abstract differential equations in Banach spaces are much applicable in studying Navier-Stokes equations. This is connected with further treatment of \mathbf{f} as an **abstract function** of the variable t with values in the Hilbert space $\mathbb{L}_2(\Omega)$. Moreover, the function \mathbf{u} is viewed as an abstract function of the variable t with values in the space \mathbb{H} . Finally, the function p is considered as an abstract function of the variable t with values in the space $W_2^1(\Omega)$, while u_0 is an element of the space \mathbb{H} . With these ingredients, equation (9.7.2) is immediately satisfied and condition (9.7.3) should be included in the domain of the Laplace operator Δ . By definition, set

$$\mathcal{D}(\Delta) = \mathbb{W}_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \mathbb{V}$$
.

Let us agree to write **P** for the operator of orthogonal projection on the subspace \mathbb{H} in the space $\mathbb{L}_2(\Omega)$. By applying the projector **P** to equation (9.7.1) we derive the following system:

$$\mathbf{u}' - \nu \mathbf{P} \Delta \mathbf{u} = \mathbf{P} \mathbf{f},$$

$$(9.7.8) \qquad \qquad \operatorname{grad} p = (I - \mathbf{P}) \mathbf{f}.$$

Before giving further motivations, careful analysis of equation (9.7.8) is needed. Since

$$(I-\mathbf{P})\mathbf{f}\in\mathbb{H}^{\perp}$$

for any fixed value t equation (9.7.8) is solvable in the space $W_2^1(\Omega)$. Denote by W^* the subspace of $W_2^1(\Omega)$ that contains all the functions satisfying condition (9.7.5). It is clear that an operator like

$$p \mapsto \operatorname{grad} p$$

executes an isomorphism of W^* onto \mathbb{H}^{\perp} . This type of situation is covered by the following results.

Lemma 9.7.1 Let the function

$$f \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathbb{L}_2(\Omega))$$
.

Then a solution p to equation (9.7.8) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$p \in \mathcal{C}([0,T]; W^*)$$

Lemma 9.7.2 (Temam (1979)) Let the function

 $f \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbb{L}_2(\Omega))$.

Then a solution p to equation (9.7.8) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$p \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; W^*)$$

Consequently, the direct problem at hand reduces to the Cauchy problem in the space \mathbb{H} for the abstract differential equation

(9.7.9)
$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{u}'(t) - \nu \mathbf{P} \Delta \mathbf{u} = \mathbf{P} \mathbf{f}(t), & 0 < t < T, \\ \mathbf{u}(0) = \mathbf{u}_0. \end{cases}$$

Here $S = \nu \mathbf{P} \Delta$ is the **Stokes operator** with the domain

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{S}) = \mathbb{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathbb{V}$$

The operator S is self-adjoint and negative definite in the Hilbert space \mathbb{H} (see Temam (1979)). In view of this, S generates a strongly continuous semigroup V(t), satisfying the estimate

(9.7.10)
$$||V(t)|| \le e^{-\omega t}, \quad t \ge 0, \quad \omega > 0.$$

Applying the well-known results concerning the solvability of the abstract Cauchy problem and taking into account Lemmas 9.7.1–9.7.2, we arrive at the following assertions.

Theorem 9.7.1 Let the function $\mathbf{f} \in C([0, T]; \mathbb{L}_2(\Omega))$ and the element $\mathbf{u}_0 \in \mathbb{H}$. Then a solution \mathbf{u}, p of the direct problem (9.7.1)-(9.7.5) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$\mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathbb{H}), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; W_2^1(\Omega)).$$

Moreover, the function \mathbf{u} is given by the formula

(9.7.11)
$$\mathbf{u}(t) = V(t) \mathbf{u}_0 + \int_0^t V(t-s) \mathbf{P} \mathbf{f}(s) \, ds \, .$$

632

Theorem 9.7.2 Let the function $\mathbf{f} \in C^1([0, T]; \mathbb{L}_2(\Omega))$ and the element $\mathbf{u}_0 \in W_2^2 \cap \mathbb{V}$. Then a solution \mathbf{u} , p of the direct problem (9.7.1)-(9.7.5) exists and is unique in the class of functions

 $\mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];\mathbb{H}) \cap \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathbb{W}^1_2(\Omega)), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];W^1_2(\Omega)).$

Moreover, the function \mathbf{u} is given by formula (9.7.11).

We proceed further by completely posing the **inverse problem** for the Navier-Stokes equation assuming that the external force function f is unknown. On the same grounds as before, we might attempt f in the form

(9.7.12)
$$\mathbf{f}(x,t) = \mathbf{\Phi}(x,t) g(t) + \mathbf{F}(x,t),$$

where the vector-valued functions $\Phi(x,t)$ and $\mathbf{F}(x,t)$ are available, while the unknown scalar-valued coefficient g(t) is sought. To ensure the inverse problem concerned to be well-posed, the subsidiary information is prescribed in the form of **integral overdetermination**

(9.7.13)
$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\mathbf{u}(x,t), \mathbf{w}(x) \right) \, dx = \varphi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where the vector-valued function $\mathbf{w}(x)$ and the scalar-valued function $\varphi(t)$ are given. To write (9.7.12)-(9.7.13) in the abstract form, let us use the symbol $\Phi(t)$ for the operator of multiplication by the function $\mathbb{P} \Phi$. The operator $\Phi(t)$ so defined acts from the space \mathbf{R} into the space \mathbb{H} . In so doing, the function $\mathbf{F}(x,t)$ is treated as an abstract function $\mathbf{F}(t)$ of the variable t with values in the space $\mathbb{L}_2(\Omega)$. In this line, it is sensible to introduce the linear operator B acting from the space \mathbb{H} into the space \mathbf{R} in accordance with the rule

$$B \mathbf{u} = \int_{\Omega} (\mathbf{u}(x), \mathbf{w}(x)) dx.$$

With these ingredients, the inverse problem at hand acquires the **abstract** form

(9.7.14)
$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{u}'(t) = \mathbb{S} \mathbf{u}(t) + \mathbf{\Phi}(t) \ g(t) + \mathbf{P} \mathbf{F}(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ \mathbf{u}(0) = \mathbf{u}_0, \\ B \mathbf{u}(t) = \varphi(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \end{cases}$$

where S is the Stokes operator. The system (9.7.14) is joined with equation (9.7.8) written in the abstract form, making it possible to determine the pressure p with the aid of the relation

(9.7.15)
$$\operatorname{grad} p = (I - \mathbf{P}) [\Phi(t) g(t) + \mathbf{F}(t)], \qquad 0 \le t \le T$$

and the normalization condition (9.7.5). As a final result we get the following assertion.

Theorem 9.7.3 Let the functions

$$\mathbf{\Phi}, \, \mathbf{F} \in \mathcal{C}\big([0, \, T], \, \mathbb{L}_2(\Omega)\big),$$

 $\mathbf{w} \in W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathbb{V}, u_0 \in H, \varphi \in \mathcal{C}^1[0, T], \text{ the compatibility condition}$

(9.7.16)
$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\mathbf{u}_0(x), \mathbf{w}(x) \right) \, dx \, = \, \varphi(0)$$

hold and

(9.7.17)
$$\psi(t) = \int_{\Omega} \left(\mathbf{P} \, \boldsymbol{\Phi}(x,t), \, \mathbf{w}(x) \right) \, dx \neq 0$$

for all $t \in [0, T]$. Then a solution \mathbf{u} , p, g of the inverse problem (9.7.1)–(9.7.5), (9.7.12)–(9.7.13) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$\mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathbb{H}), \quad p \in \mathcal{C}([0,T];W_2^1(\Omega)), \quad g \in \mathcal{C}[0,T].$$

Proof The abstract inverse problem (9.7.14) will be of special investigations on the basis of the general theory well-developed in Section 6.2. Applying the operator B to an element $\mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{H}$ yields the relation

$$B\mathbf{u} = (\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{w})_{\mathbf{H}}.$$

As far as the operator S is self-adjoint, condition (6.2.7) holds true, since the function

$$\mathbf{w} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{S}) = \mathbb{W}_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \mathbb{V}$$
.

Moreover,

$$\overline{B\,\mathbb{S}}\,\mathbf{u}\,=\,\left(\,\mathbf{u},\,\mathbb{S}\,\mathbf{w}\,\right)_{\mathbb{H}}.$$

In the sequel we make use of Theorem 6.2.1. The operator $(B\Phi)^{-1}$ coincides with the operator of division by the function defined by (9.7.17). The premises of Theorem 9.7.3 provide the validity of Theorem 6.2.1, due to which the inverse problem (6.7.14) is solvable in the class of functions

$$\mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathbb{H}), \qquad g \in \mathcal{C}[0, T].$$

Moreover, this solution is unique. Let us consider equation (9.7.15) with the supplementary condition (9.7.5). Observe that the function

$$\mathbf{\Phi}(t) g(t) + \mathbf{F}(t)$$

is continuous with respect to t in the norm of the space $\mathbb{L}_2(\Omega)$. So, on account of Lemma 9.7.1 equation (9.7.15) with the supplementary condition (9.7.5) is uniquely solvable in the class of functions

$$p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; W_2^1(\Omega))$$

This leads to the desired assertion of Theorem 9.7.3.

634

Theorem 9.7.4 If the functions $\mathbf{\Phi}$, $\mathbf{F} \in C^1([0, T]; \mathbb{L}_2(\Omega))$, $\mathbf{u}_0 \in \mathbb{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathbb{V}$, $\varphi \in C^2[0, T]$, $\mathbf{w} \in \mathbb{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathbb{V}$, the compatibility condition (9.7.16) holds and the function ψ defined by (9.7.17) does not vanish at each point $t \in [0, T]$, then a solution \mathbf{u} , p, g of the inverse problem (9.7.1)-(9.7.5), (9.7.12)-(9.7.13) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$\mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{C}^{1}([0, T]; \mathbb{H}) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathbb{W}_{2}^{2}(\Omega)),$$
$$p \in \mathcal{C}^{1}([0, T]; W_{2}^{1}(\Omega)), \qquad g \in \mathcal{C}^{1}[0, T].$$

Proof Recall that the inverse problem at hand can be posed in the abstract form (9.7.14). As stated above, the operator *B* satisfies condition (9.2.7). This provides reason enough to refer to Theorem 6.2.3, whose use permits one to conclude that a solution of the abstract problem (9.7.14) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$\mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T];\mathbb{H}) \cap \mathcal{C}([0,T];\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{S})), \qquad g \in \mathcal{C}^1[0,T].$$

Equation (9.7.15) comes second. The function $\Phi(t) g(t) + \mathbf{F}(t)$ is continuously differentiable with respect to t in the norm of the space $\mathbb{L}_2(\Omega)$. Therefore, Lemma 5.7.2 asserts the unique solvability of the inverse problem (9.7.15), (9.7.5) in the class of functions

$$p \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbb{W}^1_2(\Omega))$$

and, therefore, it remains to take into account that

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{S}) = \mathbb{W}_2^2(\Omega) \bigcap \mathbb{V},$$

thereby completing the proof. \blacksquare

In concluding this section we are interested in the inverse problem with the final overdetermination under the agreement that the external force function f(x,t) built into equation (9.7.1) admits the form

(9.7.18)
$$f(x,t) = \Phi(t)g(x) + F(x,t),$$

where the scalar-valued function $\Phi(t)$ and the vector-valued function $\mathbf{F}(t)$ are given, while the unknown vector-valued function $\mathbf{g}(x)$ is sought in the space \mathbb{H} . A well-posed statement necessitates imposing the condition of final overdetermination

(9.7.19)
$$u(x,T) = u_1(x), \qquad x \in \Omega.$$

The inverse problem posed above can be written in the abstract form

(9.7.20)
$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{u}'(t) = \mathbb{S} \mathbf{u}(t) + \Phi(t) \mathbf{g} + \mathbf{P} \mathbf{F}(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \\ \mathbf{u}(0) = \mathbf{u}_0, \\ \mathbf{u}(T) = \mathbf{u}_1, \end{cases}$$

with the governing equation (9.7.15) and the supplementary condition (9.7.5).

Theorem 9.7.5 Let $\mathbf{F} \in C^1([0, T]; \mathbb{L}_2(\Omega))$, $\Phi \in C^1[0, T]$, $\Phi(t) > 0$ and $\Phi'(t) \ge 0$ for all $t \in [0, T]$ and the functions $\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{u}_1 \in W_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathbb{V}$. Then a solution $\mathbf{u}, p, \mathbf{g}$ of the inverse problem (9.7.1)-(9.7.5), (9.7.18)-(9.7.19) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$\mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbb{H}) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathbb{W}_2^2(\Omega)),$$
$$p \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; W_2^1(\Omega)), \qquad \mathbf{g} \in \mathbb{H}.$$

Proof Consider the abstract inverse problem (9.7.20). From relation (9.7.10) and the conditions imposed above it follows that Theorem 9.7.5 is fitted into the present framework and ensures the unique solvability of problem (9.7.20) in the class of functions

$$\mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbb{H}) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{S})), \qquad \mathbf{g} \in \mathbb{H}.$$

Since $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{S}) = \mathbb{W}_2^2(\Omega) \cap \mathbb{V}$, the functions **u** and **g** just considered belong to the needed classes. The function $\Phi(t)\mathbf{g} + \mathbf{F}(t)$ involved in equation (9.7.15) is continuously differentiable with respect to t in the norm of the space $\mathbb{L}_2(\Omega)$. Consequently, in agreement with Lemma 9.7.2, the inverse problem (9.7.15), (9.7.5) is uniquely solvable in the class of functions

 $p \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; W_2^1(\Omega))$.

This completes the proof of Theorem 9.7.5. \blacksquare

9.8 The system of Maxwell equations

The final goal of our studies is the system of Maxwell equations in a bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}^3$:

(9.8.1)
$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{rot} E = -\frac{\partial B}{\partial t} ,\\ \operatorname{rot} H = \frac{\partial D}{\partial t} + J \end{cases}$$

636

where E is the vector of the electric field strength, H is the vector of the magnetic field strength, D and B designate the electric and magnetic induction vectors, respectively. In what follows we denote by J the current density.

In the sequel we deal with a linear medium in which the vectors of strengthes are proportional to those of inductions in accordance with the governing laws:

(9.8.2)
$$\begin{cases} D = \varepsilon E, \\ B = \mu H, \end{cases}$$

We assume, in addition, that Ohm's law

$$(9.8.3) J = \sigma E + I$$

is satisfied in the domain Ω , where ε is the **dielectric permeability** of the medium and μ is the **magnetic permeability**. We denote by σ the **electric conductance** and use the symbol *I* for the **density of the extraneous current**.

The functions ε , μ and σ are supposed to be continuous on $\overline{\Omega}$. The density of the extraneous current I is viewed as a continuous function of the variables (x, t), where $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ and $0 \le t \le T$.

The boundary conditions for the Maxwell system usually reflect some physical peculiarities of the boundary $\partial \Omega$. When $\partial \Omega$ happens to be a **perfect conductor**, it is reasonable to impose one more condition

$$(9.8.4) \qquad [n_x \times D] = 0, \qquad x \in \partial \Omega,$$

where n_x is a unit external normal to the boundary $\partial \Omega$ at point x.

A problem statement necessitates assigning, in addition to the boundary condition, the supplementary initial data. In particular, we are able to prescribe by means of relation (9.8.2) either the strengthes or the inductions. Further development is connected with the initial conditions for the vectors of the electric and magnetic inductions:

(9.8.5)
$$\begin{cases} D(x,0) = D_0(x), \\ B(x,0) = B_0(x), \end{cases}$$

The direct problem here consists of finding the functions E, D, H, B from the system (9.8.1)-(9.8.5) for the given functions ε , μ , σ , I, D_0 and B_0 involved.

As far as the statement of the direct problem is concerned, some remarks help motivate what is done. By convention, the Maxwell system includes also the following equations:

$$(9.8.6) \qquad \qquad \operatorname{div} D = \rho,$$

(9.8.7)
$$\operatorname{div} B = 0$$
,

where ρ is the density of the electric charge distribution. Equation (9.8.6) can be treated as a relation, by means of which the function ρ is well-defined. Indeed, while studying problem (9.8.1)-(9.8.5) the density ρ is simply calculated by formula (9.8.6). On the other hand, equation (9.8.1) yields the equality

$$\operatorname{div} B(x,t) = 0$$

for all t > 0 under the natural premise div $B(x,0) \equiv 0$. As a matter of fact, relation (9.8.7) amounts to some constraint on the initial data. What is more, if, for instance, div $B_0 = 0$, then equality (9.8.7) is automatically fulfilled. With these ingredients, there is no need for the occurrence of relations (9.8.6)-(9.8.7) in further development and so we might confine ourselves to the system (9.8.1)-(9.8.5) only. For more detail we refer the reader to Birman and Solomyak (1987), Bykhovsky (1957), Duvant and Lions (1972).

It will be sensible to introduce some functional spaces related to the Maxwell system. Let Ω be a bounded domain with boundary $\partial \Omega \in C^2$. We initiate the construction of the set

(9.8.8)
$$H(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega) = \left\{ u \in L_2(\Omega)^3 : \operatorname{rot} u \in L_2(\Omega)^3 \right\},$$

which becomes a Hilbert space equipped with the norm

(9.8.9)
$$||u||_{\text{rot}} = \left(||u||_{L_2(\Omega)^3}^2 + ||\operatorname{rot} u||_{L_2(\Omega)^3}^2 \right)^{1/2}$$

Denote by $H_0(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega)$ a closure of all vector fields which are infinite differentiable and have compact support in the domain Ω . The subspace $H_0(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega)$ so constructed will be closed in the space $H(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega)$ and admits a clear description. Indeed, it turns out that for any element $u \in H(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega)$ we might reasonably try to preassign a value of the function $[n_x \times u]$ on the boundary $\partial \Omega$. The boundary value will belong to a certain Sobolev space with a negative differential exponent, so there is some reason to be concerned about this. More specifically, we have

(9.8.10)
$$H_0(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega) = \left\{ u \in H(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega) \colon \left[n_x \times u \right] \Big|_{\partial \Omega} = 0 \right\}.$$

It is worth noting here that for any vector field $u \in H(\text{rot}, \Omega)$ and any function $v \in \overset{\circ}{W} \frac{1}{2}(\Omega)$ the integral relation

(9.8.11)
$$\int_{\Omega} v \operatorname{rot} u \, dx = \int_{\Omega} \left[u \times \operatorname{grad} v \right] \, dx$$

is the outcome of integrating by parts. Also, it is plain to show that the operator

$$A: u \mapsto \operatorname{rot} u$$

with the domain $\mathcal{D}(A) = H_0(\text{rot}, \Omega)$ is self-adjoint in the space $L_2(\Omega)^3$.

An alternative form of the system (9.8.1)-(9.8.5) is based on (9.8.2) with excluding the vectors of the electric and magnetic field strengthes and substituting (9.8.3) into (9.8.1). We are led by expressing the *t*-derivatives of the induction vectors via all other functions to the statement of the direct problem

(9.8.12)
$$\qquad \frac{\partial D}{\partial t} = \operatorname{rot} \frac{B}{\mu} - \frac{\sigma}{\varepsilon} D - I,$$

(9.8.13)
$$\qquad \frac{\partial B}{\partial t} = -\operatorname{rot} \frac{D}{\varepsilon},$$

$$(9.8.14) \qquad [n_x \times D] = 0, \qquad x \in \partial \Omega,$$

$$(9.8.15) D(x,0) = D_0(x), B(x,0) = B_0(x).$$

In what follows it seems worthwhile to consider only the system (9.8.12)–(9.8.15) as an alternative form of writing the problem posed initially for the Maxwell system.

Let a basic functional space will be taken to be

(9.8.16)
$$\mathbb{H} = L_2(\Omega)^6 = L_2(\Omega)^3 \times L_2(\Omega)^3$$

and the system of equations (9.8.12)-(9.8.13) will be of special investigations in that space. The inner product in the space \mathbb{H} is introduced by means of weight functions: for $(D_1, B_1), (D_2, B_2) \in \mathbb{H}$ set, by definition,

(9.8.17)
$$((D_1, B_1), (D_2, B_2))_{\mathbb{H}} = \left(\frac{D_1}{\varepsilon}, D_2\right)_{L_2(\Omega)^3} \left(\frac{B_1}{\mu}, B_2\right)_{L_2(\Omega)^3}$$

Observe that the inner product (9.8.17) with the functions ε and μ being still subject to the initial restrictions becomes equivalent to the usual inner product like

$$(D_1, D_2)_{L_2(\Omega)^3} + (B_1, B_2)_{L_2(\Omega)^3}.$$

In trying to achieve an abstract form in the space \mathbb{H} it will be reasonable to refer to an unbounded operator \mathcal{A} such that

(9.8.18)
$$\mathcal{A}: (D, B) \mapsto \left(\operatorname{rot} \frac{B}{\mu}, -\operatorname{rot} \frac{D}{\varepsilon} \right),$$

whose domain is

$$(9.8.19) \qquad \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) = \{(D, B): D \in H_0(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega), B \in H(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega)\}\$$

If $\mu, \varepsilon \in C^1$, which will be true in the sequel, then the operator \mathcal{A} acts from the space \mathbb{H} into the space \mathbb{H} . Let us stress that the domain of the operator \mathcal{A} is formed in such a way that the boundary condition (9.8.14) will be covered by (9.8.19).

Several basic properties of the operator \mathcal{A} are quoted in the following assertion (see Duvant and Lions (1972)).

Theorem 9.8.1 Let Ω be a bounded domain in the space \mathbb{R}^3 with boundary $\partial \Omega \in C^2$ and let the functions ε and μ belong to the space $C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ and will be positive in $\overline{\Omega}$. Then the domain of the operator \mathcal{A} is dense in the space \mathbb{H} . Moreover, the operator \mathcal{A} is closed and skew-Hermitian, that is,

$$\mathcal{D}(A^*) = \mathcal{D}(A)$$
 and $\mathcal{A}^* = -\mathcal{A}$

We need to rearrange problem (9.8.12)-(9.8.15) in an abstract form. With this aim, the pair (D, B) is now treated as an abstract function of the variable t with values in the space \mathbb{H} . Let us introduce one more operator

(9.8.20)
$$\mathcal{B}: (D, B) \mapsto \left(-\frac{\sigma}{\varepsilon} D, 0\right),$$

which is bounded in the space \mathbb{H} due to the inclusion $\sigma \in C(\overline{\Omega})$. Set, by definition, $\mathcal{F} = (-I, 0)$, which is viewed as a function of the variable t with values in the space \mathbb{H} . With respect to u = (D, B) and $u_0 = (D_0, B_0)$ the direct problem (9.8.12)-(9.8.15) acquires the abstract form

(9.8.21)
$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \mathcal{A} u + \mathcal{B} u + \mathcal{F}(t), \quad 0 < t < T, \\ u(0) = u_0. \end{cases}$$

Theorem 9.8.1 implies that the operator \mathcal{A} generates a strongly continuous group. In conformity with perturbation theory the property to generate a strongly continuous group will be retained once we add a bounded operator \mathcal{B} to the operator \mathcal{A} . That is why the sum of the operators $\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{B}$ generates a strongly continuous group V(t), making it possible to exploit here the results of Section 5.2 (Theorems 5.2.2 and 5.2.3). This reference enables us to prove several assertions.

9.8. The system of Maxwell equations

Theorem 9.8.2 Let all the conditions of Theorem 9.8.1 hold and the inclusions

$$\sigma \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{\Omega}), \qquad I \in \mathcal{C}([0,T]; L_2(\Omega)^3), \qquad D_0, B_0 \in L_2(\Omega)^3$$

occur. Then a solution D, B of the direct problem (9.8.12)-(9.8.15) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$D, B \in C([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)^3)$$

Theorem 9.8.3 Let under the premises of Theorem 9.8.1 the inclusions

$$\sigma \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{\Omega}), \qquad I \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)^3),$$
$$D_0 \in H_0(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega), \qquad B_0 \in H(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega)$$

occur. Then a solution D, B of the direct problem (9.8.12)-(9.8.15) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$D, B \in C^{1}([0, T]; L_{2}(\Omega)^{3}) \cap C([0, T]; H(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega)).$$

The statement of an inverse problem involves the density of the extraneous current as an unknown of the structure

(9.8.22)
$$I(x,t) = \Phi(x,t) p(t) + g(x,t),$$

where the matrix Φ of size 3×3 and the vector-valued function g are known in advance, while the unknown vector-valued function p is sought. To complete such a setting of the problem, we take the **integral overde-termination** in the form

(9.8.23)
$$\int_{\Omega} D(x,t) w(x) dx = \varphi(t), \qquad 0 \le t \le T,$$

where the function w(x) is known in advance. The system of equations (9.8.12)-(9.8.15), (9.8.22)-(9.8.23) is treated as the inverse problem for the Maxwell system related to the unknown functions D, B and p.

Theorem 9.8.4 Let under the conditions of Theorem 9.8.1

 $\sigma \in \mathcal{C}(\bar{\Omega}), \qquad D_0, B_0 \in L_2(\Omega)^3$

and the elements Φ_{ij} of the matrix Φ belong to the space $\mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_2(\Omega))$. If, in addition,

$$g \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)^3), \qquad w \in \overset{\circ}{W} {}^1_2(\Omega), \qquad \varphi \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbf{R}^3),$$

the compatibility condition

$$\int_{\Omega} D_0(x) w(x) \ dx = \varphi(0)$$

holds and for all $t \in [0, T]$

$$\det \int_{\Omega} \Phi(x,t) w(x) \ dx \neq 0,$$

then a solution D, B, p of the inverse problem (9.8.12)-(9.8.15), (9.8.22), (9.8.25) exists and is unique in the class of functions

 $D, B \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)^3), \qquad p \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathbf{R}^3).$

Proof Our starting point is the definition of the operator $\Phi(t)$ acting from the space \mathbb{R}^3 into the space \mathbb{H} in accordance with the rule

$$\Phi(t): p \mapsto (\Phi(x,t) p, 0)$$

When the function G is specified by means of the relation

$$G=\left(-g,\,0\right) ,$$

one can treat it as a function of the variable t with values in the space \mathbb{H} . With respect to $\mathcal{F} = (-I, 0)$ equality (9.8.22) takes the form

$$\mathcal{F}(t) = \Phi(t) p + G(t)$$

Let the operator B from the space \mathbb{H} into \mathbb{R}^3 assign the values

$$B\begin{pmatrix}D\\H\end{pmatrix}=\int_{\Omega}D(x)w(x)\ dx$$
,

by means of which condition (9.8.23) acquires the abstract form

$$Bu(t) = \varphi(t)$$

Finally, the abstract counterpart of the inverse problem (9.8.12)-(9.8.15), (9.8.22)-(9.8.23) is as follows:

(9.8.24)
$$\begin{cases} \frac{du}{dt} = Au + \Phi(t) p + G(t), & 0 < t < T, \\ u(0) = u_0, \\ Bu(t) = \varphi(t), & 0 \le t \le T, \end{cases}$$

642

9.8. The system of Maxwell equations

where the operator A = A + B generates a strongly continuous group.

The abstract inverse problem (9.8.24) is fitted into the framework of Section 6.2 provided condition (6.2.7) holds. It is straightforward to verify its validity by plain calculations

$$BA\begin{pmatrix}D\\B\end{pmatrix} = \int_{\Omega} \left(\operatorname{rot} \frac{B}{\mu}\right) w(x) \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \frac{\sigma}{\varepsilon} D w(x) \, dx$$

under the natural premise $(D, B) \in \mathcal{D}(A)$. What is more, by formula (9.8.11) we find that

(9.8.25)
$$BA\begin{pmatrix} D\\ B \end{pmatrix} = \int_{\Omega} \left[B \times \operatorname{grad} w \right] \frac{dx}{\mu(x)} - \int_{\Omega} \frac{\sigma(x)}{\varepsilon(x)} D(x) w(x) dx$$

In light of the emerging constraints on the functions ε , μ , σ and w the right-hand side of (9.8.25) is a continuous linear operator from the space \mathbb{H} into the space \mathbb{R}^3 and, as a matter of fact, specifies the operator \overline{BA} . Therefore, condition (6.2.7) holds true as required. For this reason the statement in question immediately follows from Theorem 6.2.1, thereby completing the proof of this theorem.

Theorem 9.8.5 Let under the premises of Theorem 9.8.4 the inclusions $D_0 \in H_0(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega), \quad B_0 \in H(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega)$

occur. One assumes, in addition, that the elements Φ_{ij} of the matrix Φ belong to the space $C^1([0, T]; L_2(\Omega))$ and

$$g \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T]; L_2(\Omega)^3), \qquad \varphi \in \mathcal{C}^2([0,T]; \mathbf{R}^3).$$

Then a solution D, B, p of the inverse problem (9.8.12)-(9.8.15), (9.8.22), (9.8.25) exists and is unique in the class of functions

$$D, B \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; L_2(\Omega)^3) \cap \mathcal{C}([0, T]; H(\operatorname{rot}, \Omega)),$$

 $p \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T]; \mathbf{R}^3)$.

Proof To prove the above assertion, we refer once again to the results of Section 6.2 concerning the existence and uniqueness of a strong solution of the abstract inverse problem (9.8.24). In particular, Theorem 6.2.3 fits our purposes, since its conditions are stipulated by the boundedness of the operator BA. Recall that we have substantiated this reference in proving Theorem 9.8.4. Finally, the statement of Theorem 9.8.5 immediately follows from Theorem 6.2.3 and thereby completes the proof of the theorem.

Chapter 10

Concluding Remarks

In conclusion we give a brief commentary regarding the results set forth in this book. Chapter 1 covers inverse problems for partial differential equations of parabolic type. The detailed outline of related direct problems is available in many textbooks and monographs. In particular, we refer the reader to the books by A. Bitsadze (1976), R. Courant and D. Hilbert (1953, 1962), A. Friedman (1964), S. Godunov (1971), O. Ladyzhenskaya (1973), O. Ladyzhenskaya et al. (1968), J.-L. Lions (1970), V. Mikhailov (1976), S. Mikhlin (1977), S. Sobolev (1954), A. Tikhonov and A. Samarskii (1963), V. Vladimirov (1971) and the paper of A. Il'in et al. (1962).

Research of inverse problems for the heat conduction equation was initiated by the famous paper of A. Tikhonov (1935) in which the problem of recovering the initial data of the Cauchy problem with the final overdetermination was properly posed and carefully explored. The coefficient inverse problem for the heat conduction equation was first investigated by B. Jones (1962), J. Douglas and B. Jones (1962) in the situation when the subsidiary information is the value of a solution at a fixed point of space variables.

The availability of integral overdetermination within the framework of inverse problems for parabolic equations owes a debt to V. Soloviev (1985). The main idea behind the problem statement here is to take the integral in the overdetermination condition over the domain of space variables. An alternative integral overdetermination was proposed in the papers of A. Prilepko and A. Kostin (1992a,b), where integration is accomplished during some period of time.

Section 1.2 focuses on the inverse problem involving the source function of the form (1.2.1). It is worth noting here that such a structure of the source arose for the first time in the work of A. Prilepko (1966b) concerning elliptic equations. In the original setting the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) is much applicable in theory and practice. In the simplest case when the operator L is self-adjoint and $h(x,t) \equiv 1$, A. Iskenderov and R. Tagiev (1979) derived an explicit formula for a solution of the posed problem by appeal to the operator semigroup generated by the operator L as an infinitesimal operator. Further development of this formula was independently repeated by W. Rundell (1980). The proof of the uniqueness of a solution of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) was carried out by V. Isakov (1982a) within the classical framework. Later this inverse problem was extensively investigated by means of various methods in several functional spaces. The existence and uniqueness theorems for a solution of the inverse problem concerned have been proved by A. Prilepko and V. Soloviev (1987c), V. Soloviev (1989), A. Prilepko and A. Kostin (1992a), V. Isakov (1991b). Being concerned with a self-adjoint operator L and a function $h(x,t) \equiv h(x)$ (not depending on t), D. Orlovsky (1990) established necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence of a solution of the inverse problem (1.2.34)-(1.2.37) as well as necessary and sufficient conditions of the solution uniqueness in terms of the spectral function of the operator L. The results we have cited are based on a semigroup approach to the inverse problem well-developed by A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1989), A. Prilepko and A. Kostin (1992a), Yu. Eidelman (1983, 1987, 1990, 1993a,b), D. Orlovsky (1988), A. Prilepko and I. Tikhonov (1992, 1993). Let us stress that the inverse problem (1.2.14)-(1.2.17) with the integral overdetermination is a natural generalization of the inverse problem with the final overdetermination which has been under consideration earlier by A. Prilepko and A. Kostin (1992a), A. Prilepko and I. Tikhonov (1994), A. Prilepko, A. Kostin and I. Tikhonov (1992), I. Tikhonov and Yu. Eidelman (1994).

In Section 1.3 the property of Fredholm's type solvability of the inverse problem (1.2.2)-(1.2.5) is revealed. The first results in connection with this property are available in A. Prilepko and V. Soloviev (1987a), V. Soloviev (1988), where solutions to equation (1.2.2) are sought in Hölder's classes of functions. Later this property was analysed from various viewpoints and in various functional spaces by D. Orlovsky (1988, 1990), A. Prilepko and A. Kostin (1992a), A. Lorenzi and A. Prilepko (1993), A. Prilepko and I. Tikhonov (1994).

In Section 1.4 the inverse problem of recovering a coefficient at the un-

known function in a parabolic equation was completely posed and resolved under the agreement that the subsidiary information is prescribed in the form of final overdetermination. This simplest statement of the nonlinear coefficient inverse problem was extensively investigated by many scientists. Recent years have seen the publication of numerous papers on this subject. In Section 1.4 we quote mainly the results obtained by A. Prilepko, A. Kostin and I. Tikhonov (1992), A. Prilepko and A. Kostin (1993a). The proofs of the basic assertions were carried out on the basis of Birkhoff-Tarsky principle for isotone operators. With regard to the problem concerned the reader may also refer to A. Prilepko and V. Soloviev (1987a,b,c), W. Rundell (1987), V. Isakov (1990c), K.-H. Hoffman and M. Yamamoto (1993) and others.

In Section 1.5 the inverse problem of recovering a source function in a modeling heat conduction equation was of special investigations. In contrast to (1.2.1) the source admits an alternative form and the unknown coefficient depends solely on time. Additional information is connected with a final result of measuring the temperature by a a perfect sensor located at a fixed point in the domain of space variables. Each such sensor is of finite size and, obviously, should make some averaging over the domain of action. In this view, it is reasonable to absorb from this sensor the subsidiary information in the form (1.5.4), where the function $\omega(x)$ is some sensor characteristic. In the case of a perfect sensor located at a point x_0 its characteristic is equal to

$$\omega(x) = \delta(x - x_0)$$

and the measurement of the temperature is well-characterized by (1.5.42). The initial stage of research was stipulated by the one-dimensional problem arising from the paper of B. Jones (1963). Later this problem was examined in various aspects by A. Prilepko (1973a), N. Beznoshchenko and A. Prilepko (1977), A. Prilepko and V. Soloviev (1987b), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1984). Further development of such theory in some functional spaces is connected with the results obtained by J. Cannon and L. Yanping (1986, 1988a,b, 1990), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1985a,b, 1987a,b, 1988, 1989, 1991), A. Prilepko and V. Soloviev (1987b), D. Orlovsky (1990, 1991a,b,c,d). An exhaustive survey on various statements of inverse problems for parabolic equations and well-established methods for solving them in some functional spaces is due to O. Alifanov (1979), G. Anger (1990), J. Beck et al. (1985), N. Beznoshchenko (1974, 1975a,b, 1983a,b,c), B. Bubnov (1988), B. Budak and A. Iskenderov (1967a,b), J. Cannon (1963, 1964, 1967, 1968, 1984), J. Cannon and P. DuChateau (1970, 1973a,b, 1978, 1979), J. Cannon and S. Perez-Esteva (1994), J. Cannon and L. Yanping (1986), J. Cannon et al. (1963), G. Chavent and P. Lemonnier (1974). M. Choulli (1994), P. DuChateau (1981), P. DuChateau and W. Rundell (1985), Yu. Eidelman (1993a,b), A. Elcrat et al. (1995), H. Engl et al. (1994), V. Isakov (1976, 1982a,b, 1986, 1989, 1990a,b,c, 1991a,b, 1993, 1998), A. Iskenderov (1974, 1975, 1976), A. Friedman and M. Vogelius (1989), A. Friedman et al. (1989), B. Jones (1963), V. Kamynin (1992), M. Klibanov (1985, 1986), R. Kohn and M. Vogelius (1984, 1985), J.-L. Lions (1970), A. Lorenzi (1982, 1983a,b, 1985, 1987, 1992), A. Lorenzi and A. Prilepko (1993), L. Payne (1975), M. Pilant and W. Rundell (1986a,b, 1987b, 1988, 1990), A. Prilepko (1973a), C. Roach (1991), W. Rundell (1980, 1983, 1987), T. Suzuki (1983, 1986), T. Suzuki and R. Myrayma (1980), I. Tikhonov (1992), M. Yamamoto (1993, 1994a,b, 1995). Various topics and issues from the theory and practice for direct and inverse problems associated with parabolic equations are covered by the monographs by O. Alifanov (1979), O. Alifanov et al. (1988), Yu. Anikonov (1976, 1995), G. Anger (1990), A. Babin and M. Vishik (1989), J. Baumeister (1987), J. Beck et al. (1985), O. Besov et al. (1975), J. Cannon (1984), J. Cannon and U. Hornung (1986), J. Cannon et al. (1990), D. Colton et al. (1990), A. Denisov (1994), A. Dezin (1980), A. Fedotov (1982), A. Friedman (1964), A. Glasko (1984), C. Groetsch (1993), L. Hörmander (1965), V. Isakov (1998), V. Ivanov et al. (1978), L. Kantorovich and G. Akilov (1977), R. Lattes and J.-L. Lions (1967), M. Lavrentiev (1967, 1973), M. Lavrentiev et al. (1968, 1986), J.-L. Lions (1970), V. Mikhailov (1976), V. Morozov (1984), L. Payne (1975), V. Romanov (1973, 1984), A. Tikhonov and V. Arsenin (1977), G. Vainikko and A. Veretennikov (1986), V. Vladimirov (1971). A powerful support for the rapid development of this branch of science was provided by the original works of A. Akhundov (1988), A. Alessandrini (1988), A. Alessandrini and G. Vessella (1985), N. Beznoshchenko and A. Prilepko (1977), M. Choulli (1994), A. Calderón (1980), J. Canon and R. Ewing (1976), J. Canon et al. (1994), J. Canon and D. Zachmann (1982), W. Chewing and T. Seidman (1977), A. Denisov (1982), A. Goncharsky et al. (1973), A. Friedman and V. Isakov (1989), A. Friedman and M. Vogelius (1989), A. Friedman et al. (1989), B. Jones (1962, 1963), A. Il'in et al. (1962), V. Isakov (1988), R. Kohn and M. Vogelius (1984, 1985), A. Kostin and A. Prilepko (1996a,b), R. Langer (1933), A. Lorenzi (1992), A. Lorenzi and A. Lunardi (1990), A. Lorenzi and C. Pagani (1987), A. Lorenzi and E. Paparoni (1985, 1988), A. Lorenzi and A. Prilepko (1994), A. Lorenzi and E. Sinestrari (1987, 1988), V. Maksimov (1988), G. Marchuk (1964), V. Mikhailov (1963a,b), T. Moser (1964), N. Muzylev (1980), M. Nached (1970), D. Orlovsky (1994), I. Petrovsky (1934), A. Prilepko (1992), G. Richter (1981), T. Seidman (1981a,b), J. Sylvester and G. Uhlmann (1986, 1988), C. Talenti (1978), N.-S. Trudinger (1968) and A. Uzlov (1978).

9.8. The system of Maxwell equations

Chapter 2 provides a unified approach and deep systematic study of first order linear hyperbolic systems and second order linear hyperbolic equations of two independent variables. If we confine ourselves to the case of two variables only, there is a relatively simple line of reasoning, making it possible to avoid cumbersome elements of the theory of partial differential equations and functional analysis. The main idea behind solution of direct and inverse problems here is to employ the method of characteristics. This simple method finds a wide range of applications. For more detail we recommend to see R. Courant and D. Hilbert (1953, 1962), S. Godunov (1971), B. Rozhdestvensky and N. Yanenko (1978), E. Sanchez-Palencia (1980).

Section 2.1 deals with x-hyperbolic systems of the canonical form (2.1.2). The basic part of this section is devoted to the problem of finding a nonhomogeneous term in the form (2.1.8) for the sought function with the boundary conditions (2.1.9). The results obtained are formulated in Theorems 2.1.2-2.1.3, where the existence and uniqueness of a solution of this inverse problem are proved in the class of functions of the exponential type if we make L small enough. The smallness of the value L is essential for the solvability of the inverse problem which interests us. To understand nature a little better, this obstacle is illustrated by one possible example from the paper of A. Kostin and I. Tikhonov (1991) in which the authors have shown that the value of L decreases with increasing the exponential type of the function v. However, in the particular case of the system (2.1.2), where all of the eigenvalues of the matrix K have constant sign, Theorem 2.1.4 asserts the existence and uniqueness of a solution of the inverse problem concerned. As an application of the above theorems we raise the question of the solution uniqueness in the problem of recovering a matrix D from the canonical equation (2.1.2) in the case when the matrix depends only on the variable x. It is worth emphasizing here that in the classical statement of the related direct problem the boundary conditions are somewhat different from those involved in (2.1.9). In the case of a direct problem the subscript of the functions $v_i(L,t) = \psi_i(t)$ and $v_i(0,t) = \psi(t)$ runs over $s < i \le n$ and $1 \le i \le s$, respectively. The statement of problem (2.1.9) includes the boundary conditions with the subsidiary information enabling to recover not only the function v(x,t), but also the coefficient p(x). Deeper study of the inverse problem (2.1.2), (2.1.8) of finding a function p(x) was initiated by V. Romanov (1977). However, the boundary conditions imposed in his paper happen to be overdeterminated even from the standpoint of inverse problems. Since the function v(x,t) is known everywhere on the boundary of the half-strip, only the uniqueness of a solution of this inverse problem is ensured in such a setting. The general statement (2.1.9) in which the components of the function v are defined

on a part of the boundary of the half-strip was suggested by D. Orlovsky (1983). He has proved therein the basic results set forth in Section 2.1.

Section 2.2 is devoted with the problem of finding a nonhomogeneous term of linear hyperbolic systems when its solution is given everywhere on the boundary of the half-strip $\{0 \le x \le L, t \ge 0\}$. As indicated above, for the structure of the right-hand side specified in Section 2.1 such a statement of the problem would be certainly overdeterminated. The decomposition G(x,t) = H(x,t) p(t), where the vector function p(t) is unknown, will be approved in mastering the difficulties involved. This amounts to investigating t-hyperbolic systems of the canonical form (2.2.1). The existence and uniqueness of their solutions are proved and appear to be of global character. In the body of this section we follow the paper of D. Orlovsky (1983).

Section 2.3 gives an illustration of applying the hyperbolic systems under consideration to investigating linear hyperbolic equations of second order within the framework of inverse problems.

Other statements of inverse problems for hyperbolic systems of first order and hyperbolic equations of second order as well as a survey of relevant results are available in many monographs, textbooks and papers. In this regard, it is worth mentioning Yu. Anikonov (1978), A. Baev (1985), H. Baltes (1987), S. Belinsky (1976), P. Berard (1986), I. Gelfand and B. Levitan (1951), S. Kabanikhin (1979, 1987), A. Khaidarov (1986), P. Lax and R. Phillips (1967), A. Louis (1989), V. Marchenko (1986), F. Natterer (1986), D. Orlovsky (1984a,b), J. Pöschel and E. Trubowitz (1986), A. Ramm (1992), V. Romanov (1968, 1972, 1973, 1977, 1978a,b,c,d, 1984), V. Romanov and E. Volkova (1982), V. Romanov and V. Yakhno (1980), V. Romanov et al. (1984), I. Tikhonov and Yu. Eidelman (1994), T. Tobias and Yu. Engelbrecht (1985), V. Yakhno (1977, 1990).

Plenty of inverse problems associated with hyperbolic equations is involved in the monographs by G. Alekseev (1991), Yu. Anikonov (1995), D. Colton and R. Kress (1992), D. Colton et al. (1990), R. Corenflo and S. Vessela (1991), K. Chadan and P. Sabatier (1989), I. Gelfand and S. Gindikin (1990), M. Gerver (1974), C. Groetsch (1993), G. Herglotz (1914), M. Imanaliev (1977), V. Isakov (1998), V. Kirejtov (1983), R. Lattes and J.-L. Lions (1967), P. Lax and R. Phillips (1967), B. Levitan (1984), J.-L. Lions (1970), L. Nizhnik (1991) and V. Romanov (1984).

The original works of A. Alekseev (1962, 1967), A. Amirov (1986a,b, 1987), D. Anikonov (1975, 1979, 1984), Yu. Anikonov (1976, 1978, 1992), Yu. Anikonov and B. Bubnov (1988), Yu. Antokhin (1966), M. Belishev (1989), A. Blagoveshensky (1966), A. Bukhgeim (1984, 1988), A. Bukhgeim and M. Klibanov (1981), J. Cannon and D. Dunninger (1970), J. Cannon et al. (1990), C. Cavaterra and M. Grasselli (1994), V. Dmitriev et al. (1976),

L. Faddeev (1976), A. Friedman (1987), I. Gelfand and B. Levitan (1951), M. Grasselli (1992, 1994), M. Grasselli et al. (1990, 1992), A. Ivankov (1983), M. Lavrentiev (1964), A. Lorenzi (1992), A. Lorenzi and A. Prilepko (1993, 1994), V. Maslov (1968), A. Nachman (1988), A. Prilepko and A. Ivankov (1984, 1985), A. Prilepko and A. Kostin (1993b), A. Prilepko and I. Tikhonov (1992, 1993, 1994), A. Prilepko and N. Volkov (1987, 1988), A. Prilepko, D. Orlovsky and I. Vasin (1992), V. Romanov and V. Yakhno (1980), P. Sabatier (1977a,b), V. Shelukhin (1993), J. Sylvester and G. Uhlmann (1987), T. Tobias and Yu. Engelbrecht (1985), V. Yakhno (1977, 1990) made significant contributions in the basic trends of such theory.

Chapter 3 is devoted to inverse problems in potential theory. The foundations of the theory of partial differential equations of the elliptic type may be found in many textbooks and monographs and papers by Yu. Berezanskij (1968), O. Besov et al. (1975), A. Bitsadze (1966, 1977), D. Colton and R. Kress (1992), R. Courant and D. Hilbert (1953, 1962), D. Gilbarg and N. Trudinger (1983), S. Godunov (1971), L. Hörmander (1965), N. Idel'son (1936), O. Ladyzhenskaya (1973), O. Ladyzhenskaya and N. Uraltseva (1968), E. Landis (1971), L. Likhtenshtein (1966), J.-L. Lions (1970), A. Lyapunov (1959), S. Michlin (1977), V. Mikhailov (1976), K. Miranda (1957), S. Sobolev (1954, 1988), A. Tikhonov and A. Samarskii (1963), V. Vladimirov (1971) and J. Wermer (1980). Much progress in potential theory has been achieved by serious developments due to N. Hunter (1953), V. Il'in et al. (1958), N. Landkhof (1966) and L. Sretensky (1946). The results presented in the third chapter have been obtained by A. Prilepko (1961, 1964, 1965a,b, 1966a,b,c, 1967, 1968a,b,c, 1969, 1970a,b,c, 1972, 1973a,b, 1974a,b). Many scientists are much interested in various aspects of uniqueness for the inverse problem I in the case of a classical potential (see Section 3.3). The first result regarding the solution uniqueness of the exterior inverse problem for the Newtonian potential in the category of "star-shaped" bodies with a constant density was proved by P. Novikov (1938). Later this problem was extensively investigated by L. Sretensky (1938, 1954), I. Rapoport (1940, 1941, 1950), A. Gelmins (1957), V. Ivanov (1955, 1956a, b, 1958a, b, 1962), L. Kazakova (1963, 1965), M. Lavrentiev (1955, 1956, 1963), Yu. Shashkin (1957, 1958, 1964), V. Simonov (1958), R. Smith (1961), I. Todorov and D. Zidorov (1958), and many others for the case of a constant density. The question of the solution uniqueness for the inverse problem I with a variable density for the logarithmic potential was studied by Yu. Shashkin (1957, 1958, 1964) and V. Simonov (1958) with the aid of conform mappings.

The aspect of the solution uniqueness in the study of various inverse problems is intimately connected with stability of their solutions. The

general topological stability criterion ascribed to A. Tikhonov (1943) will imply certain qualitative conditions of stability if the corresponding uniqueness theorems hold true. For example, for the inverse problem related to the exterior potential with a constant density in the case of "star-shaped" bodies a few stability conditions were deduced from the uniqueness theorems established by P. Novikov (1938), V. Ivanov (1958a) and L. Kazakova (1963, 1965). Numerical estimates of deviation for two bodies are obtained in the papers of I. Rapoport (1940, 1941, 1950). They are expressed in terms of the difference between exterior potentials under certain restrictions on the properties of the potentials involved. There are also integral stability estimates which can be proved for "star-shaped" bodies of constant density. M. Lavrentiev (1967) derived for them the general numerical estimates depending on the deviation of potentials on a piece of the sphere, the interior of which contains the attracting bodies. In the plane-parallel problem for the logarithmic potential with a variable positive density stability estimates have been established by Yu. Shashkin (1964) for several classes of the generalized "star-shaped" bodies by means of relevant elements of the theory of functions of one complex variable and conform mappings. The extensive literature on this subject is also reviewed in the monographs by G. Anger (1990), V. Cherednichenko (1996), V. Isakov (1990c, 1998), V. Ivanov, V. Vasin and V. Tanana (1978), M. Lavrentiev (1967, 1973), A. Tikhonov and V. Arsenin (1977) and the original works of T. Angell et al. (1987), J. Cannon (1967), J. Cannon and W. Rundell (1987), V. Cherednichenko (1978), A. Friedman and B. Gustafsson (1987), V. Isakov (1990a), A. Khaidarov (1986, 1987), J.-L. Lions (1970), A. Lorenzi and C. Pagani (1981), D. Orlovsky (1989), G. Pavlov (1978), L. Payne (1975), M. Pilant and W. Rundell (1986b, 1987a), A. Prilepko (1973a,b, 1974b), A. Ramm (1992), C. Roach (1991), N. Weck (1972) and many others. We cite below for deeper study two collections of additional monographs and papers of Russian and foreign scientists whose achievements in potential theory and inverse problems for elliptic equations were recognized. The first one includes M. Aleksidze (1987), V. Antonov et al. (1988), P. Appel (1936), M. Brodsky (1990), S. Chandrasékhar (1973), V. Cherednichenko (1996), D. Colton et al. (1990), A. Friedman (1982), N. Idel'son (1936), V. Isakov (1990c, 1998), D. Kinderlehrer and G. Stampacchia (1980), M. Lavrentiev and B. Shabat (1973), L. Likhtenshtein (1966), P. Pitsetti (1933), M. Sacai (1982, 1987), V. Starostenko (1978), G. Talenti (1978), A. Tsirul'skii (1990), P. Vabishevich (1987), J. Wermer (1980), M. Zhdanov (1984) and D. Zidarov (1984). The second one contains D. Aharov and H. Shapiro (1976), D. Aharov et al. (1981), A. Alekseev and A. Chebotarev (1985), A. Alekseev and V. Cherednichenko (1982), M. Atakhodzhaev (1966), P. Balk (1977), H. Bellot and A. Friedman (1988), E. Beretta and S. Vessella (1988), A. Bitsadze (1953), M. Brodsky and N. Nadirashvili (1982a,b), M. Brodsky and E. Panakhov (1990), M. Brodsky and V. Strakhov (1982, 1983, 1987), A. Cálderon (1980), V. Cherednichenko and G. Verjovkina (1992), A. Chudinova (1965a,b), Colli Franzone et al. (1984), P. Dive (1931, 1932), V. Filatov (1969), A. Friedman (1987), A. Gelmins (1957), C. Golizdra (1966), E. Hölder (1932), L. Hörmander (1976), V. Ivanov (1955, 1956a,b, 1958a,b, 1962), V. Ivanov and A. Chudinova (1966), V. Ivanov and L. Kazakova (1963), A. Iskenderov (1968), D. Kapanadze (1986), I. Kartisivadze (1963), M. Lavrentiev (1965), A. Loginov (1988), A. Lorenzi and C. Pagani (1981, 1987), O. Oleinik (1949, 1952), Yu. Osipov and A. Korotkii (1992), C. Pagani (1982), G. Pavlov (1975, 1976, 1982), D. Pinchon (1987), A. Prilepko (1985, 1992, 1996), A. Prilepko and V. Cherednichenko (1981), A. Prilepko and V. Sadovnichii (1996), V. Cherednichenko and S. Vessella (1993), C. Rempel (1973), M. Sacai (1978, 1987), J. Serrin (1971), V. Starostenko et al. (1988), V. Strakhov (1972, 1973, 1974a,b, 1977), V. Strakhov and M. Brodsky (1983a,b, 1984), P. Sulyandziga (1977), V. Tsapov (1989), V. Vinokurov and V. Novak (1983), B. Voronin and V. Cherednichenko (1981, 1983), G. Voskoboinikov and N. Nagankin (1969), L. Zalcman (1987) and A. Zamorev (1941a,b).

Chapter 4 treats the system of Navier–Stokes equations capable of describing the motion of a viscous incompressible fluid. As we have mentioned above, related direct problems for these equations have been examined by many scientists. For more a detailed information on this subject the reader can refer, in particular, to the monographs by O. Ladyzhenskaya (1970), R. Temam (1979), P. Constantin and C. Foias (1988). In Section 4.1 we expound certain exploratory devices which may be of help in investigating many inverse problems. It should be noted that the first statement of the inverse problem for the system of Navier–Stokes equations was formulated by A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1987a). Additional information, that is, the overdetermination condition in setting up the inverse problem is a result of the pointwise measurement, making it possible to assign the value of the flux velocity at a fixed interior point in the domain of space variables within a certain interval of time. This inverse problem was investigated by means of methods of semigroup theory.

Section 4.2 deals with the inverse problem with the final overdetermination for the linearized systems. The results we outlined there were obtained by A. Prilepko and I. Vasin (1989a, 1990c). In the next section the same linearized Navier-Stokes system arises in the inverse problem of recovering a structure of time dependence for the external force function having representation (4.3.1) with the subsidiary information in the form of integral overdetermination. The material of this section is based on

the works of A. Prilepko and I. Vasin (1989a), I. Vasin (1992b). We are exploring in Sections 4.4-4.5 the inverse problem for the nonlinear Navier-Stokes system with the final overdetermination both in the two-dimensional and three-dimensional domains of space variables. The existence theorems given in Section 4.4 have been proved by A. Prilepko and I. Vasin (1990b.c. 1991). In Section 4.5 we rely on the results obtained by A. Prilepko and I. Vasin (1989b, 1991). Section 4.6 includes the inverse problem in which the nonlinear Navier-Stokes system is accompanied by the integral overdetermination, whose use permits us to recognize how the external force function depends on the time. The theorems of the solution existence and uniqueness were established for this type of overdetermination. The paper of I. Vasin (1993) is recommended for further development and deeper study in this area. The nonlinear inverse problem of recovering the evolution of a coefficient at the unknown function of velocity was completely posed and examined in Section 4.7 in the light of the preceding results of A. Prilepko and I. Vasin (1993). Section 4.8 reflects the contemporary stage of research in connection with the inverse problem of the combined recovery of two coefficients of the linearized Navier-Stokes system with the integral overdetermination prescribed in the papers of I. Vasin (1995, 1996). Some other aspects of setting up and investigating inverse problems of hydrodynamics are covered by the developments of A. Chebotarev (1995), A. Prilepko and I. Vasin (1990a, 1992), A. Prilepko, D. Orlovsky and I. Vasin (1992), I. Vasin (1992a), Yu. Anikonov (1992), V. Kamynin and I. Vasin (1992). Similar inverse problems associated with the Navier-Stokes system emerged in several works on exact controllability (see, for example, A. Fursikov and O. Imanuvilov (1994)).

Relevant results from functional analysis, operator theory and the theory of differential equations in Banach spaces are given in Chapter 5. All proofs of the main statements of Section 5.1 as well as a detailed exposition of the foundations of functional analysis and operator theory are outlined in textbooks and monographs by N. Akhiezer and I. Glazman (1966), A. Balakrishnan (1976), G. Birkhoff (1967), N. Dunford and J. Schwartz (1971a,b,c), R. Edwards (1965), E. Hille and R. Phillips (1957). L. Kantorovich and G. Akilov (1977), T. Kato (1966), A. Kolmogorov and S. Fomin (1968), M. Krasnoselskii et al. (1966), L. Lyusternik and V. Sobolev (1982), A. Plesner (1965), F. Riesz and B. Sz.-Nagy (1972), W. Rudin (1975), S. Sobolev (1988, 1989), H. Schaefer (1974), L. Schwartz (1950, 1951), V. Trenogin (1980), B. Vulikh (1967) and K. Yosida (1965). The theory of differential equations of the first order in a Banach space is discussed in Section 5.2. The preliminaries of such theory have been appeared quite long time ago. A rapid development in this area over recent years is due to A. Babin and M. Vishik (1989), C. Batty and D. Robinson (1984), A. Balakrishnan (1976), R. Beals and V. Protopescu (1987), A. Belleni-Morante (1989), Ph. Clément et al. (1987), E. Davies (1980), H. Fattorini (1983), H. Gajewski et al. (1974), J. Goldstein (1985), V. Gorbachuk and M. Gorbachuk (1984), D. Henry (1981), S. Krein (1967), S. Krein and M. Khazan (1983), G. Ladas and V. Lakshmihanthan (1972), J.-L. Lions (1961), S. Mizohata (1977), A. Pazy (1983), V. Vasiliev et al. (1990), M. Vishik and O. Ladyzhenskaya (1956), K. Yosida (1965).

Section 5.3 is devoted to differential equations of the second order in a Banach space. At the initial stage the theory of equations of the second order was less advanced as compared with differential equations of the first order. We are unaware of any textbook or monograph on this subject in the modern literature. Much progress in this area has been achieved later and reflected in the papers of H. Fattorini (1969a,b, 1985), J. Goldstein (1969), J. Kisynski (1972), S. Kurepa (1982), D. Lutz (1982), H. Serizawa and M. Watanabe (1986), P. Sobolevsky and V. Pogorelenko (1967), M. Sova (1966, 1975, 1977), C. Travis and G. Webb (1978), V. Vasiliev et al. (1990) and S. Yakubov (1985).

Section 5.4 is connected with the theory of differential equations with variable coefficients. The subject of investigation is relatively broad and the reader may confine yourself to the results of A. Fisher and J. Marsden (1972), H. Fattorini (1983), H. Gajewski et al. (1974), M. Gil (1987), D. Henry (1981), T. Kato (1953, 1956, 1961, 1970, 1973, 1975a,b, 1982), J.-L. Lions (1961), F. Lomovtsev and M. Yurchuk (1976), S. Mizohata (1977), P. Sobolevsky (1961), P. Sobolevsky and V. Pogorelenko (1967), H. Tanabe (1960), S. Yakubov (1970) and K. Yosida (1956, 1963).

In this book we outline only those abstract problems for equations with variable operator coefficients which are essential for subsequent applications. Section 5.5 includes boundary value problems for abstract elliptic equations. A detailed overview of relevant results obtained for elliptic equations is available in A. Balakrishnan (1960), S. Krein and G. Laptev (1962, 1966a,b), G. Laptev (1968), P. Sobolevsky (1968) and V. Trenogin (1966).

In Section 6.1 some tools of applying the theory of abstract differential equations are aimed at solving direct and inverse problems in mathematical physics. For the first time this technique was used by A. Iskenderov and R. Tagiev (1979) with regard to the inverse problem for the heat conduction equation (6.1.1), (6.1.11), (6.1.12) involving the function $\Phi(x,t) \equiv 1$. Advanced theory of abstract inverse problems was mainly connected with this problem due to Yu. Eidelman (1983, 1987), D. Orlovsky (1988), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1987), W. Rundell (1980). Historically, the abstract inverse problem supplied by conditions (6.1.3)–(6.1.4) came next. However, this problem was initially considered not for the heat conduction equation, but for symmetric hyperbolic systems of the first order (see D. Orlovsky

(1984)). Later the theory of abstract inverse problems was well-developed by Yu. Eidelman (1990, 1991, 1993a,b), A. Egorov (1978), M. Grasselli (1992), M. Grasselli et al. (1990, 1992), A. Lorenzi (1988), A. Lorenzi and A. Prilepko (1993), A. Lorenzi and E. Sinestrari (1986, 1987), D. Orlovsky (1989, 1990, 1991a,b,c,d, 1992a,b, 1994), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1984, 1985a,b,c, 1987, 1988, 1989, 1991), A. Prilepko and I. Tikhonov (1992, 1993, 1994), A. Prilepko et al. (1992a,b), I. Tikhonov (1992, 1995), I. Tikhonov and Yu. Eidelman (1994).

The linear inverse problem with smoothing overdetermination was studied in Section 6.2. The concept of its weak solution introduced by D. Orlovsky (1991a) permits one to solve this problem under the minimum restrictions on the input data. Under such an approach the existence of smooth solutions can be established by means of weak solutions of related problems "in variations". Later the results of Section 6.2 are being used in generalized form in Sections 6.3 and 6.4 to cover on the same footing the case of a semilinear equation. The papers of D. Orlovsky (1991a), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1984, 1985a,b,c, 1987, 1988, 1989, 1991), A. Prilepko and I. Tikhonov (1992) are devoted to the mathematical apparatus adopted in this area. In Section 6.5 we study quasilinear parabolic equations by means of the method of solving direct problems ascribed to P. Sobolevsky (1961). The same approach to inverse problems is adopted in the work of D. Orlovsky (1991b). Section 6.6 is devoted to semilinear equations with variable operator coefficients and singular overdetermination and is based on the results of A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1991). The remaining part of Chapter 6 deals with equations of hyperbolic type. In Sections 6.7 and 6.8 we consider one class of abstract equations which are associated in applications with hyperbolic systems of the first order. Section 6.7 involves a smoothing overdetermination, while Section 6.8 - a singular one. In Section 6.9 we are concerned with an abstract equation corresponding in applications to those systems of the first order to which hyperbolic equations of the second order can amount.

Chapter 7 deals with two-point inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) for a linear differential equation in a Banach space X, where an element $p \in X$ is sought. Just this statement of an inverse problem provides sufficient background for applying the methods of the theory of abstract differential equations to the exploration of inverse problems in mathematical physics. This problem was first considered by A. Iskenderov and R. Tagiev (1979) by appeal to the operator function $\Phi(t) \equiv I$. In this paper the explicit formula (7.1.33) was established under the condition that the operator V(T) - I is invertible. As a matter of fact, the same result was obtained by W. Rundell (1980), where the semigroup V(t) was supposed to be exponentially decreasing. As the outcome of restrictions arising from these two

papers one should take for granted that the operator A is invertible. In the paper of Yu. Eidelman (1983) it was supposed with regard to problem' (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) that $\Phi(t) \equiv I$ and the semigroup is analytic, that is, the case of a parabolic equation occurred. It is worth mentioning here that problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) may be well-posed even if the operator A is not invertible. We refer the reader to the work of A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1987) where the unique solvability of problem (7.1.1)–(7.1.4) was proved for $\Phi(t) \equiv I$ and the operator A for which $\lambda = 0$ is one of the eigenvalues of finite multiplicity. A final answer concerning a well-posedness of problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) with $\Phi(t) \equiv I$ is known from the paper of Yu. Eidelman (1990) in which necessary and sufficient conditions of both uniqueness and existence of the solution to an equation with an arbitrary strongly continuous semigroup. In particular, a solution is unique if and only if the spectrum of the operator A contains no points of the type $2\pi i k/T$, where k is integer, $k \neq 0$, and i is the imaginary unit. The solvability condition is expressed in terms of Cesaro summability of series composed by solutions of resolvent equations. The results outlined in Section 7.2 for problem (7.2.1)-(7.2.4) with the scalar function Φ and the self-adjoint operator were obtained by D. Orlovsky (1990). The reference to the paper of Yu. Eidelman (1991) is needed in this context. In this paper the function Φ is scalar and the operator A generates a semigroup V(t), which is continuous for t > 0 in a uniform operator topology of the space $\mathcal{L}(X)$ as well as necessary and sufficient conditions are established for the inverse problem to be uniquely solvable under any admissible input data. These conditions include the constraint $\Phi(T) \neq 0$ and the requirement that function (7.2.8) has no zeroes on the spectrum of the operator A. The theorem on Fredholm-type solvability of the inverse problem (7.1.1)-(7.1.4) was proved by D. Orlovsky (1988, 1990).

The inverse problem (7.3.3)-(7.3.5) in a Banach lattice was investigated by D. Orlovsky (1994), A. Prilepko and I. Tikhonov (1993, 1994), A. Prilepko et al. (1992), I. Tikhonov (1995). The proof of Theorem 7.3.1 was carried out following the paper of A. Prilepko and I. Tikhonov (1994) with minor changes and involving a new, more general than (7.1.4), type of overdetermination:

$$\int\limits_0^T u(t) \ d\mu(t) = u_1 \,,$$

where μ is a function of bounded variation.

In Chapter 8 we touch upon abstract inverse problems for equations of the second order in a Banach space. As stated above, the theory of abstract inverse problems began by equations of the first order. The study of equations of the second order was initiated by D. Orlovsky (1989), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1989) and was continued by D. Orlovsky (1990, 1991a,d, '1992a) and G. Pavlov (1988). As in the case of first order equations we approve here two basic settings when the subsidiary information is provided either by condition (8.1.3) or conditions of the type (8.2.3), (8.3.2). In Section 8.1 we consider the overdetermination of the first type with regard to a semilinear hyperbolic equation. The basic tool here is connected with the theory of abstract cosine functions whose role for second order equations is identical to that played by semigroup theory for first order equations. Section 8.2 presents two-point inverse problems for equations of hyperbolic type. In Section 8.3 two-point problems are viewed within the framework of elliptic equations. In conclusion we note that all of the main results of Chapter 8 were obtained by D. Orlovsky (1989, 1990, 1991a,d, 1992a), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1989).

Chapter 9 offers one possible way of applying the theory of abstract inverse problems to equations of mathematical physics. Section 9.1 deals with symmetric hyperbolic systems. General information about hyperbolic systems and methods of solving them is available in textbooks and monographs by R. Courant and D. Hilbert (1953), S. Godunov (1971), S. Mizohata (1977), B. Rozhdestvensky and N. Yanenko (1978) as well as in research papers by A. Fischer and J. Marsden (1972), K. Friedrichs (1944, 1954, 1958), T. Kato (1970, 1973, 1975a,b, 1982), P. Lax and R. Phillips (1960), D. Ludwig (1960), E. Massey (1972), S. Mizohata (1959a,b) and R. Phillips (1957). We refer the reader for deeper study of hyperbolic systems by the method of abstract differential equations to T. Kato (1970, 1973, 1975a,b, 1982), P. Lax and R. Phillips (1960), E. Massey (1972), S. Mizohata (1959a,b, 1977) and R. Phillips (1957).

Section 9.1 continues to develop the approach of T. Kato (1970, 1973) and E. Massey (1972). The study of inverse problems for hyperbolic systems was initiated by V. Romanov and L. Slinyucheva (1972). Various statements of inverse problems associated with hyperbolic systems and an extensive literature on this subject are reviewed in the papers of S. Belinsky (1976), M. Lavrentiev et al. (1969), D. Orlovsky (1984), A. Prilepko (1973), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1985a), A. Prilepko et al. (1992b) and V. Romanov (1978a,b,c,d). Some overview of the semigroup approach to inverse problems can be found in D. Orlovsky (1984), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1984, 1985a, 1989).

Section 9.2 deals with a linear second order equation of hyperbolic type. In preparation for this, our approach amounts to reducing a second order equation to a first order system and adopting the tool developed by M. Ikawa (1968). An alternative scheme is based on the theory of abstract cosine functions. This scheme is not applicable in Section 9.2. It is worth noting here that the paper of J. Kisynski (1972) establishes an equivalence

9.8. The system of Maxwell equations

between the method of cosine functions and the method of reduction to a first order system in applications to abstract differential equations of the second order with constant operator coefficients. An extensive literature on inverse problems for hyperbolic systems of the second order is reviewed in A. Bukhgeim (1988), M. Lavrentiev et al. (1969), D. Orlovsky (1989, 1991a), A. Prilepko (1973), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1985a,b,c), V. Romanov (1978b). The applications of the abstract method to the inverse problems concerned are discussed in A. Amirov (1986), D. Orlovsky (1989, 1990, 1991a,d, 1992a,b), A. Prilepko and I.Tikhonov (1993).

Section 9.3 is devoted to a system of differential equations from elasticity theory where the coefficients satisfy only the conditions of symmetry, positive definiteness and smoothness. A good look at the system of elasticity theory as an abstract differential equation in a Banach space is due to G. Duvaut and J.-L. Lions (1972), E. Sanchez-Palencia (1980). For the purposes of the current study it was expedient to use some technique of abstract cosine functions. To make our exposition more complete, it is necessary to point out several other works where the inverse problems of interest were investigated by the methods of the theory of abstract differential equations: A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1985c, 1989), A. Prilepko et al. (1992b).

Section 9.4 deals with a second order equation of parabolic type. The theory of parabolic equations as a part of the general theory of partial differential equations is the most broad and advanced. For an overview of this subject we refer the reader to H. Amann (1986, 1987), R. Courant and D. Hilbert (1953, 1962), S. Eidelman (1964), H. Fattorini (1983), A. Friedman (1964), D. Henry (1981), T. Kato (1961), S. Krein (1967), O. Ladyzhenskaya et al. (1968), S. Mizohata (1977), P. Sobolevsky (1961), M. Solomyak (1960) and V. Vladimirov (1971).

The theory of inverse problems for parabolic equations is also welldeveloped. For more detail the reader can see J. Cannon (1968), M. Lavrentiev et al. (1969), D. Orlovsky (1991b, 1992b, 1994), A. Prilepko (1973), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1985b,c, 1991), A. Prilepko and I. Tikhonov (1993, 1994), A. Prilepko et al. (1992a), W. Rundell (1980). It is worth mentioning here the works where inverse problems for parabolic equations are purely treated on the basis of abstract methods: Yu. Eidelman (1983, 1987, 1990, 1991, 1993a,b), A. Iskenderov and R. Tagiev (1979), D. Orlovsky (1988, 1990, 1991b,c, 1992b, 1994), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1985b,c, 1989, 1991), A. Prilepko and I. Tikhonov (1993, 1994), A. Prilepko et al. (1992a,b), I. Tikhonov (1995) and W. Rundell (1980).

Section 9.5 deals with the equation of neutron transport. A classical theory for this equation is available in K. Case and P. Zweifel (1963, 1972),

C. Cercignani (1975), T. Germogenova (1986), V. Vladimirov (1961).

A new semigroup approach to this equation was developed by S. Albertoni and B. Montagnini (1966), R. Beals and V. Protopescu (1987), H. Hejtmanek (1970), K. Jorgens (1968), J. Lehner and G. Wing (1955), C. Lekkerkerker and H. Kaper (1986), M. Ribaric (1973), R. Richtmyer (1978), S. Shikhov (1967, 1973), I. Vidav (1968, 1970), J. Voight (1984), G. Wing (1962), P. Zweifel and E. Larsen (1975). Inverse problems for the transport equation under this approach were considered by A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1985b), A. Prilepko and I. Tikhonov (1992), A. Prilepko et al. (1992b), I. Tikhonov (1995).

Section 9.6 is devoted to the linearized Bolzman equation. A solution to this equation describes a distribution of rarefied gas particles with respect to coordinates and velocities. Some general information about the Bolzman equation is available in A. Arseniev (1965), C. Cercignani (1975), O. Lanford et al. (1983), N. Maslova (1978, 1985). Both works of J.-P.Guirand (1970, 1978) continue to develop this semigroup approach in this area. The main results of Section 9.6 are taken from the papers of A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1987, 1988).

In Section 9.7 we consider the system of Navier-Stokes equations describing the motion of a viscous incompressible fluid. The basic properties of its solutions are described in O. Ladyzhenskaya (1970) and R. Temam (1979). A new semigroup approach to solving direct problems for this system began by investigations of H. Fujita and T. Kato (1964), T. Kato and H. Fujita (1962). For inverse problems for Navier-Stokes equations we refer the reader to V. Kamynin and I. Vasin (1992), A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1985c), A. Prilepko and I. Vasin (1989a,b, 1990a,b,c, 1991, 1992, 1993), A. Prilepko et al. (1992b), I. Vasin (1992, 1993, 1995, 1996).

Under a semigroup approach inverse problems for Navier-Stokes equations were treated in the paper of A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1985c).

Section 9.8 deals with the system of Maxwell equations which has been under consideration within the semigroup framework in E. Bykhovsky (1957), G. Duvaut and J.-L. Lions (1972), R. Richtmyer (1978). In this section one inverse problem is resolved following the approach of A. Prilepko and D. Orlovsky (1989, 1991).

References

Aharov, D. and Shapiro, H. (1976) Domains on which analytic functions satisfy quadrature inequalities. J. Anal. Mathem., v. 30, p. 39-73.

Aharov, D., Schiffer, M. and Zalcman, L. (1981) Potato kugel. Israel J. Mathem., v. 40, p. 331-339.

Akhiezer, N. and Glazman, I. (1966) The Theory of Linear Operators in Hilbert Space. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Akhundov, A. (1988) An inverse problem for the system of parabolic equations. Differ. Equations, v. 24, N 3, p. 520-521 (in Russian).

Albertoni, S. and Montagnini, B. (1966) On the spectrum of neutron transport equation in finite bodies. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 13, p. 19-48.

Alekseev, A. (1962) Some inverse problems of the wave spreading theory. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Geophysics, N 11, p. 1514-1531 (in Russian).

Alekseev, A. (1967) Inverse dynamical seismics problems. In: Some Methods and Algorithms for Interpretation of Data in Geophysics. Nauka: Moscow, p. 9-84 (in Russian).

Alekseev, G. (1991) Inverse Problems of the Sound Radiation and Signal Theory. Dalnevostok University Press: Vladivostok (in Russian).

Alekseev, G. and Chebotarev, A. (1985) Inverse problems of the acoustic potential. Zhurnal Vychisl. Matem. i Matem. Fiziki, V. 25, N 8, p. 1189–1199 (in Russian).

Alekseev, G. and Cherednichenko, V. (1982) An inverse problem from the theory of sound emanation. In: Acoustic Antennas and Converters. Part 2. D.V.P.I.: Vladivostok, p. 144-147 (in Russian).

Aleksidze, M. (1987) Approximate Methods for Solving Direct and Inverse Problems of Gravimetry. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Alessandrini, G. (1988) Stable determination of conductivity by boundary measurements. Appl. Anal., v. 27, p. 153-172.

Alessandrini, G. and Vessella, S. (1985) Error estimates in an identification problem for a parabolic equation. Bull. Univer. Matem. Ital., C(6), N. 4, p. 183-203.

Alifanov, O. (1979) Identification of Heat Transfer Processes for Aircrafts (Introduction to the Theory of Inverse Problems). Mashinostroenie: Moscow (in Russian).

Alifanov, O., Artyukhin, E. and Rumyantsev, S. (1988) Extremal Methods of Solution of Ill-Posed Problems. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Amann, H. (1986) Quasilinear evolution equations and parabolic systems. Trans. Amer. Mathem. Soc., v. 293, N 1, p. 191–227.

Amann, H. (1987) On abstract parabolic fundamental solutions. J. Mathem. Soc. Japan, v. 39, N 1, p. 93-116.

Amirov, A. (1986a) Theorems of existence and uniqueness of the solution of an inverse problem for the transport equation. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 27, N 6, p. 3-20 (in Russian).

Amirov, A. (1986b) The question of solvability of inverse problems. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 290, N 2, p. 268-270 (in Russian).

Amirov, A. (1986c) On the solvability of inverse problems for equations of the second order. Functional Analysis and Its Applications. v. 20, issue 3, p. 80-81 (in Russian).

Amirov, A. (1987) The question of solvability of inverse problems. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 28, N 28, p. 3–11 (in Russian).

Angell, T., Kleinmann, R. and Roach, G. (1987) An inverse transmission problem for the Helmholz equation. Inverse Problems, v. 3, p. 149-180.

Anger, G. (1990) Inverse Problems in Differential Equations. Akademie Verlag: Berlin.

Anikonov, D. (1975) On the uniqueness of finding a coefficient and the right-hand side of the transport equation. Differ. Equations, v. 11, N 8, p. 8-18 (in Russian).

References

Anikonov, D. (1979) On the uniqueness of the solution of inverse problems for mathematical physics equations. Differ. Equations, v. 15, N 1, p. 3-9 (in Russian).

Anikonov, D. (1984) On the uniqueness of the simultaneous determination of two coefficients of the transfer equation. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 277, N 4, p. 777-780 (in Russian).

Anikonov, Yu. (1976) A uniqueness theorem for the solution of an inverse problem for the wave equation. Mathem. Notes, v. 19, N 2, p. 211-214 (in Russian).

Anikonov, Yu. (1978) Some Methods of Studying Multidimensional Inverse Problems in Differential Equations. Nauka: Novosibirsk (in Russian).

Anikonov, Yu. (1992) Generating functions, evolution equations and inverse problems. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 323, N 5, p. 871-875 (in Russian).

Anikonov, Yu. (1995) Multidimensional Inverse and Ill-Posed Problems for Differential Equations. VSP: Utrecht.

Anikonov, Yu. and Bubnov, B. (1988) Inverse problems in transport theory. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 299, N 5, p. 1037–1040 (in Russian).

Antokhin, Yu. (1966) Some ill-posed problems in the theory of partial differential equations. Differ. Equations, v. 2, N 2, p. 241-251 (in Russian).

Antonov, V., Timoshkova, E. and Kholshevnikov, K. (1988) An Introduction to the Theory of the Newtonian Potential. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Appel, P. (1936) Equilibrium Figures of the Rotating Homogeneous Liquid. VINITI: Moscow (in Russian).

Arendt, W., Grabosch, A., Greiner, G. (1986) One-Parameter Semigroups of Positive Operators. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. v. 1184, Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Arseniev, A. (1965) The Cauchy problem for the linearized Bolzman equation. Zhurnal Vychisl. Matem. i Matem. Fiziki, v. 5, N 5, p. 864–882 (in Russian).

Atakhodzhaev, M. (1966) Uniqueness of a solution of an inverse problem in potential theory. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 7, N 2, p. 455-457 (in Russian).

Babin, A. and Vishik, M. (1989) Attractors of Evolution Equations. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).
Baev, A. (1985) Solution of a one-dimensional inverse problem for the wave equation via regularizing algorithm. Zhurnal Vychisl. Matem. i Matem. Fiziki, v. 25, N 1, p. 140-146 (in Russian).

Balakrishnan, A. (1960) Fractional powers of closed operators and the semigroups generated by them. Pacif. J. Mathem., v. 10, N 2, p. 419-437.

Balakrishnan, A. (1976) Applied Functional Analysis. Springer: New-York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Balk, P. (1977) On the uniqueness and equivalence problems in the threedimensional inverse problem of the gravitational potential. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 273, N 1, p. 48-51 (in Russian).

Baltes, H. (ed) (1987) Inverse Source Problems in Optics. Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Batty, C. and Robinson, D. (1984) Positive one-parameter semigroups on ordered Banach spaces. Acta Appl. Mathem., v. 1, p. 221-296.

Baumeister, J. (1987) Stable Solutions of Inverse Problems. Vieweg: Braunschweig.

Beals, R. and Protopescu, V. (1987) Abstract time-dependent transport equations. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 121, p. 370-405.

Beck, J., Blackwell, B. and St. Clair, C. (1985) Inverse Heat Conduction. Ill-Posed Problems. Wiley: New York.

Belinsky, S. (1976) An inverse problem for linear symmetric *t*-hyperbolic systems with n + 1 independent variables. Differ. Equations, v. 12, N 1, p. 15-23 (in Russian).

Belishev, M. (1989) Wave bases in multidimensional inverse problems. Matem. Sbornik, v. 180, p. 584-602 (in Russian).

Belleni-Morante, A. (1979) Applied Semigroups and Evolution Equations. Oxford University Press: New York-Oxford.

Bellout, H. and Friedman, A. (1988) Identification problem in potential theory. Archive for Rat. Mech. and Anal., v. 101, p. 143-160.

Berard, P. (1986) Spectral Geometry: Direct and Inverse Problems. Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Beretta, E. and Vessella, S. (1988) Stability results for an inverse problem in potential theory. Public. Dell'instituto di Analisi Globale e Appl.: Firenze, N 39.

Berezanskij, Yu. (1968) Expansions in Eigenfunctions of Self-Adjoint Operator. AMS: Providence, RI.

664

Besov, O., Il'in, V. and Nikol'sky, S. (1975) Integral Representations of Functions and Embedding Theorems. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Beznoshchenko, N. (1974) On finding a coefficient in a parabolic equation. Differ. Equations, v. 10, N 1, p. 24-35 (in Russian).

Beznoshchenko, N. (1975a) On finding coefficients at minor terms in a parabolic equation. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 16, N 3, p. 473-482 (in Russian).

Beznoshchenko, N. (1975b) On finding coefficients at higher derivatives in a parabolic equation. Differ. Equations, v. 9, N 1, p. 19-26 (in Russian).

Beznoshchenko, N. (1983a) The Cauchy problem for the equation $u_t - \Delta u + u A u = f$. Differ. Equations, v. 19, p. 991–1000 (in Russian).

Beznoshchenko, N. (1983b) On the existence of a solution of a boundary value problem for the equation $u_t - L u = u B u + f$. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 269, N 6, p. 1292-1295 (in Russian).

Beznoshchenko, N. (1983c) Sufficient conditions for the existence of solutions to problems of recovering coefficients at higher derivatives in a parabolic equation. Differ. Equations, v. 19, N 11, p. 1908–1913 (in Russian).

Beznoshchenko, N. and Prilepko, A. (1977) Inverse problems for parabolic equations. In: Problems in Mathematical Physics and Computational Mathematics. Nauka: Moscow, p. 51-63 (in Russian).

Birkhoff, G. (1967) Lattice Theory. AMS: Providence.

Birman, M. and Solomyak, M. (1987) L_2 -theory of the Maxwell operator in arbitrary domains. Uspekhi Matem. Nauk, v. 42, p. 61–76 (in Russian).

Bitsadze, A. (1953) A spatial analog of an integral of the Cauchy type. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Mathematics, N 7, p. 525-538 (in Russian).

Bitsadze, A. (1966) Boundary Value Problems for Elliptic Equations of Second Order. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Bitsadze, A. (1976) Equations of Mathematical Physics. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Blagoveshensky, A. (1976) An inverse problem of seismic wave spreading theory. In: Problems in Mathematical Physics. v. 1, p. 68-81 (in Russian).

Brodsky, M. (1990) Physically Meaningful Results on the Uniqueness of Inversion of the Newtonian Potential. Tech. Report N 254, Statistics Dept., the University of California.

Brodsky, M. and Nadirashvili, N. (1982a) Some conditions for the existence of bodies with positive densities for a given exterior potential. In: The

Theory and Practice of Interpretation of Gravitational Anomalies. Publ. Instit. Fiziki Zemli AN SSSR, p. 6-14 (in Russian).

Brodsky, M. and Nadirashvili, N. (1982b) On the existence and uniqueness of the potential in an inverse problem with the available a priori information on the distribution of sources. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Fizika Zemli, N 8, p. 55-64 (in Russian).

Brodsky, M. and Panakhov, E. (1990) On a priori estimates of an solution of the inverse logarithmic potential problem. Inverse Problems, v. 6, p. 321-330.

Brodsky, M. and Strakhov, V. (1982) On the uniqueness of solving twodimensional inverse gravimetric and magnetometric problems for polygons. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 264, N 2, p. 318-322 (in Russian).

Brodsky, M. and Strakhov, V. (1983) On the uniqueness of solving an inverse gravimetric problem in some parametric classes of bodies. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 273, N 5, p. 1097-1101 (in Russian).

Brodsky, M. and Strakhov, V. (1987) On the uniqueness of solving an inverse problem of the Newtonian potential problem in the class of homogeneous polyhedra homeomorphic to a ball. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 292, N 6, p. 1337–1340 (in Russian).

Bubnov, B. (1988) An inverse problem for a parabolic equation and the Cauchy problem for certain evolution equations in the classes of functions of finite smoothness. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 299, N 4, p. 782-784 (in Russian).

Budak, B. and Iskenderov, A. (1967a) On a class of inverse boundary value problems with unknown coefficient. Part I. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 175, N 1, p. 13-16 (in Russian).

Budak, B. and Iskenderov, A. (1967b) On a class of inverse boundary value problems with unknown coefficient. Part II. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 176, N 1, p. 20-23 (in Russian).

Bukhgeim, A. (1984) Carleman estimates for the Volterra operators and uniqueness in inverse problems. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 25, N 1, p. 53– 60 (in Russian).

Bukhgeim, A. (1988) An Introduction to the Theory of Inverse Problems. Nauka: Novosibirsk (in Russian).

Bukhgeim, A. and Klibanov, M. (1981) Global uniqueness of the class of multidimensional inverse problems. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 260, N 2, p. 269–272 (in Russian).

Bykhovsky, E. (1957) Solution of the mixed problem for the system of Maxwell equations in the case of a perfectly conducting boundary. Vestnik LGU, N 13, issue 3, p. 50-66 (in Russian).

Calderón, A. (1980) On an inverse boundary value problem. In: Proceedings of Seminar on Numerical Analysis and Its Applications to Continuum Physics. Soc. Brasileira de Matemática: Rínftyo de Janeiro, p. 65–73.

Cannon, J. (1963) Determination of an unknown coefficient in a parabolic differential equation. Duke Mathem. J., v. 30, p. 313-323.

Cannon, J. (1964) Determination of certain parameters in heat conduction problems. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 8, p. 188-201.

Cannon, J. (1967) Determination of an unknown coefficient in the equation $\nabla \cdot k(u) \nabla u = 0$ from overspecified boundary data. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 18, p. 112-114.

Cannon, J. (1968) Determination of an unknown heat source from overspecified boundary data. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., v. 5, p. 275-286.

Cannon, J. (1984) The one-dimensional heat equation. In: Encyclopedia of Mathematics and Its Applications. v. 23, Addison-Wesley: Reading, MA.

Cannon, J. and DuChateau, P. (1970) A method of determining unknown rate constants in a chemical reaction in the presence of diffusion. Mathem. Bioscience, v. 9, p. 61-70.

Cannon, J. and DuChateau, P. (1973a) Determination of unknown physical properties in heat conduction problems. Intern. J. Eng. Science, v. 11, p. 783-794.

Cannon, J. and DuChateau, P. (1973b) Determining unknown coefficients in a nonlinear heat conduction problem. SIAM J. Appl. Mathem., v. 24, N 3, p. 298-314.

Cannon, J. and DuChateau, P. (1978) Determination of unknown coefficients in parabolic operators from overspecified initial boundary data. J. Heat Transfer, v. 100, p. 503-507.

Cannon, J. and DuChateau, P. (1979) Some asymptotic boundary behavior of solutions of nonlinear parabolic initial boundary value problems. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 2. p. 536-547.

Cannon, J. and DuChateau, P. (1980a) An inverse problem for a nonlinear diffusion equation. SIAM J. Appl. Mathem., v. 39, N 2, p. 272-289.

Cannon, J. and DuChateau, P. (1980b) An inverse problem for an unknown source in a heat equation. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 75, N 2, p. 465-485.

Cannon, J. and Dunninger, D. (1970) Determination of an unknown function in a hyperbolic equation from overspecified data. Ann. Mathem. Pure Appl., Ser. 4, v. 85, p. 49-62.

Cannon, J. and Ewing, R. (1976) Determination of a source term in a linear parabolic partial differential equation. J. Appl. Mathem. Phys. (ZAMP), v. 27, p. 393-401.

Cannon, J. and Hornung, U. (1986) Inverse Problems. Birkhäuser: Basel-Boston.

Cannon, J. and Jones, B. (1963) Determination of the diffusivity of an unisotropic medium. Intern. J. Eng. Science, v. 1, p. 457-460.

Cannon, J. and Perez-Esteva, S. (1994) Determination of the coefficient of u_x in a linear parabolic equation. Inverse Problems, v. 10, p. 521-531.

Cannon, J. and Rundell, W. (1987) An inverse problem for an elliptic partial differential equation. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 126, N 2, p. 329-340.

Cannon, J. and Yanping, L. (1986) Determination of a source term in a linear parabolic equation with mixed boundary conditions. Inverse Problems, v. 77, p. 31-49.

Cannon, J. and Yanping, L. (1988a) Determination of a parameter p(t) in some quasilinear parabolic differential equations. Inverse Problems, v. 4, p. 35-45.

Cannon, J. and Yanping, L. (1988b) Determination of a parameter p(t) in a Hölder class for some semilinear parabolic equations. Inverse Problems, v. 4, p. 595-606.

Cannon, J. and Yanping, L. (1990) An inverse problem of finding a parameter in a semilinear heat equation. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 145, p. 470-484.

Cannon, J. and Zachmann, D. (1982) Parameter determination in parabolic partial differential equations from overspecified boundary data. Intern. J. Eng. Science, v. 20, p. 779–788.

Cannon, J., Douglas, J. and Jones, B. (1963) Determination of the diffusivity of an isotropic medium. Intern. J. Eng. Science, v. 1, p. 453-455.

Cannon, J., DuChateau, P. and Steube, K. (1990) Unknown ingredient inverse problems and trace-type functional-differential equations. In: Inverse Problems in Partial Differential Equations (eds. D. Colton, R. Ewing and W. Rundell). p. 187-202.

Cannon, J., Yanping, L. and Xu, S. (1994) Numerical procedures for the determination of an unknown coefficient in semilinear parabolic differential equations. Inverse Problems, v. 10, p. 227-243.

Carleman, T. (1960) Mathematical Problems of Kinetic Theory of Gases. Foreign Literature: Moscow (in Russian).

Case, K. and Zweifel, P. (1963) Existence and uniqueness theorems for neutron transport equation. J. Mathem. Phys., v. 4, N 11, p. 1376-1385.

Case, K. and Zweifel, P. (1972) Linear Transport Theory. Mir: Moscow (in Russian).

Cavaterra, C. and Grasselli, M. (1994) Identifying memory kernels in a linear thermoviscoelasticity of Bolzman type. In: Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences. v. 4, N 6, p. 807–842.

Cercignani, C. (1975) The Theory and Applications of the Bolzman Equation. Scottish Academic Press: Edinburgh-New York.

Chadan, K. and Sabatier, P. (1989) Inverse Problems in Quantum Scattering Theory. Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Chandrasékhar, S. (1973) Ellipsoidal Equilibrium Figures. Mir: Moscow (in Russian).

Chavent, G. and Lemonnier, P. (1974) Identification de la non-linéarité d'une équation parabolique quasilinéarie. Appl. Mathem. Optim., v. 1, p. 121-162.

Chebotarev, A. (1995) Inverse problems for nonlinear evolution equations of the Navier-Stokes type. Differ. Equations, v. 31, N 3, p. 517-524 (in Russian).

Cherednichenko, V. (1978) An inverse problem for the potential of a stratified medium in the two-dimensional case. Differ. Equations, v. 14, N 1, p. 140-147 (in Russian).

Cherednichenko, V. (1996) Inverse Logarithmic Potential Problem. VSP: Utrecht.

Cherednichenko, V. and Verjovkina, G. (1992) An inverse conductivity problem in the two-dimensional case. In: Ill-Posed Problems in Natural Sciences. VSP/TVP: Utrecht/Moscow, p. 270-276.

Cherednichenko, V. and Vessella, S. (1993) The two-dimensional inverse problem in electrocardiology. Inverse and Ill-Posed Problems, v. 1, N 3, p. 207-215.

Chewning, W. and Seidman, T. (1977) A convergent scheme for boundary controls for the heat equation. SIAM J. Control Optim., v. 15, p. 64-72.

Choulli, M. (1994) An inverse problem for a semilinear parabolic equation. Inverse Problems, v. 10, p. 1123-1132.

Chudinova, A. (1965a) An inverse problem of the simple layer potential for a body close to a given one. Izvestia Vuzov, Ser: Mathematics, N 5, p. 150-155 (in Russian).

Chudinova, A. (1965b) An inverse electroprospecting problem. Izvestia Vuzov, Ser: Mathematics, N 6, p. 140–150 (in Russian).

Clément, Ph., Heijmans, H., Angenent, S., van Duijn, C. and de Pagter, B. (1987) One-Parameter Semigroups. North-Holland: Amsterdam-New York-Oxford.

Courant, R. and Hilbert, D. (1953) Methods of Mathematical Physics. Volume 1. Wiley: New York.

Courant, R. and Hilbert, D. (1962) Methods of Mathematical Physics. Volume 2. Wiley: New York.

Colli Franzone, L., Guerri, E. and Magenes, E. (1984) Oblique double layer potential for direct and inverse problems of electrocardiology. Mathem. Bioscience, v. 68, p. 23-55.

Colton, D. and Kress, R. (1992) Inverse Acoustic and Electromagnetic Scattering Theory. In: Appl. Mathem. Sciences. v. 93, Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Colton, D., Ewing, R. and Rundell, W. (eds) (1990) Inverse Problems in PDE. SIAM Proc. Series: Philadelphia.

Constantin, P. and Foias, C. (1988) Navier-Stokes Equations. The University of Chicago Press: Chicago-London.

Corenflo, R. and Vessela, S. (1991) Abel Integral Equations. In: Lecture Notes in Mathematics. v. 1461, Springer: Berlin-Heidelberg.

Courant, R. and Hilbert, D. (1953) Methods of Mathematical Physics. Volume 1. Wiley: New York.

Courant, R. and Hilbert, D. (1962) Methods of Mathematical Physics. Volume 2. Wiley: New York.

Davies, E. (1980) One-Parameter Semigroups. Academic Press: London.

Denisov, A. (1982) On the uniqueness of the solution in some inverse problems for the heat equation with piecewise smooth coefficients. Zhurnal Vychisl. Matem. i Matem. Fiziki, v. 22, N 4, p. 858-864 (in Russian).

Denisov, A. (1994) An Introduction to the Theory of Inverse Problems. Moscow University Press: Moscow (in Russian).

Dezin, A. (1980) General Questions of the Theory of Boundary Value Problems. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Dive, P. (1931) Attraction des ellipsoides homogines et reciproque d'un theoreme de Newton. Bull. Soc. Mathem. France, v. 59, p. 128-140.

Dive, P. (1932) Sur l'identite de deux corps possedant le meme potentiel Newtonien dans une region interieure commune. Competes Rendus, Academ. Sci. Paris, v. 195, p. 597-599.

Dmitriev, V., Il'inskii, A. and Sosnikov, A. (1976) Development of mathematical methods for direct and inverse problems in electrodynamics. Uspekhi Matem. Nauk, N 6, p. 123-141 (in Russian).

Douglas, J. and Jones, B. (1962) Determination of a coefficient in a parabolic differential equation. Part 2: Numerical approximation. J. Mathem. Mech., v. 11, N 6, p. 919-926.

DuChateau, P. (1981) Monotonicity and uniqueness results in identifying an unknown coefficient in a nonlinear differential equation. SIAM J. Appl. Mathem., v. 41, N 2, p. 310-323.

DuChateau, P. and Rundell, W. (1985) Uniqueness in an inverse problem for an unknown reaction term in a reaction diffusion equation. J. Differ. Equations, v. 59, N 2, p. 155-164.

Dunford, N. and Schwartz, J. (1971a) Linear Operators (second edition). Part I: General Theory. Wiley: New York.

Dunford, N. and Schwartz, J. (1971b) Linear Operators (second edition). Part II: Spectral Theory. Self-Adjoint Operators in Hilbert Space. Wiley: New York.

Dunford, N. and Schwartz, J. (1971c) Linear Operators (second edition). Part III: Spectral Operators. Wiley: New York.

Duvaut, G. and Lions, J.-L. (1972) Les Inéquations en Mécanique et en Physique. Dunod: Paris.

Edwards, R. (1965) Functional Analysis. Theory and Applications. Holt, Rinehart and Winston: New York-Chicago-San Francisco-Toronto--London.

Egorov, A. (1978) Optimal Control over Thermal and Diffusion Processes. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Eidelman, S. (1964) Parabolic Systems. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Eidelman, Yu. (1983) Two-point boundary value problem for a differential equation with parameter. Doklady AN Ukr. SSR, Ser. A, N 4, p. 15-18 (in Russian).

Eidelman, Yu. (1987) On the uniqueness of a solution of an inverse problem for a differential equation in a Banach space. Differ. Equations, v. 23, N 9, p. 1647-1649 (in Russian).

Eidelman, Yu. (1990) Conditions for the solvability of inverse problems for evolution equations. Doklady AN Ukr. SSR, Ser. A, N 7, p. 28-31 (in Russian).

Eidelman, Yu. (1991) An inverse problem for an evolution equation. Mathem. Notes, v. 49, issue 5, p. 135-141 (in Russian).

Eidelman, Yu. (1993a) Well-posedness of direct and inverse problems for differential equations in a Banach space. Doklady AN Ukr. SSR, N 12, p. 17-21 (in Russian).

Eidelman, Yu. (1993b) Some inverse problems for parabolic and elliptic differential-operator equations. Ukr. Matem. Zhurnal, v. 45, N 1, p. 120–127 (in Russian).

Elcrat, A., Isakov, V. and Neculoiu, O. (1995) On finding a surface crack from boundary measurements. Inverse Problems, v. 11, p. 343-351.

Engl, H., Scherzer, O. and Yamamoto, M. (1994) Uniqueness and stable determination of forcing terms in linear partial differential equations with overspecified boundary data. Inverse Problems, v. 10, p. 1253-1276.

Faddeev, L. (1976) An inverse problem with quantum scattering. In: J. Soviet Mathematics. Plenum Press: New York, v. 5, p. 334-396.

Fattorini, H. (1969a) Ordinary differential equations in linear topological spaces. Part I. J. Differ. Equations, v. 5, p. 72–105.

Fattorini, H. (1969b) Ordinary differential equations in linear topological spaces. Part II. J. Differ. Equations, v. 6, p. 50-70.

Fattorini, H. (1983) The Cauchy Problem. Addison-Wesley: London.

Fattorini, H. (1985) Second Order Differential Equations in Banach space. North-Holland: Amsterdam-New York-Oxford.

Fedotov, A. (1982) Linear Ill-poseProblems with Random Errors in Data. Nauka: Novosibirsk (in Russian).

Fikera, G. (1974) Existence Theorems in Elasticity Theory. Mir: Moscow (in Russian).

Filatov, V. (1969) An inverse problem of the magnetic prospecting. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 186, N 6, p. 1315–1317 (in Russian).

Fischer, A. and Marsden, J. (1972) The Einstein evolution equations as a first-order quasi-linear symmetric hyperbolic systems. Part I. Commun. Mathem. Phys., v. 28, p. 1-38.

Friedman, A. (1964) Partial Differential Equations of Parabolic Type. Prentice Hall: Englewood Cliffs, N.J.

Friedman, A. (1982) Variational Principles and Free Boundary Problems. Wiley: New York.

Friedman, A. (1987) Detection of mines by electronic measurements. SIAM J. Appl. Mathem., v. 47, p. 564–571.

Friedman, A. and Gustafsson, B. (1987) Identification of the conductivity coefficient in an elliptic equation. SIAM J. Mathem. Anal., v. 18, N 3, p. 777-787.

Friedman, A. and Isakov, V. (1989) On the uniqueness in the inverse conductivity problem with one boundary measurement. Indiana University Mathem. J., v. 38, N 3, p. 563-579.

Friedman, A. and Vogelius, M. (1989) Determining cracks by boundary measurements. Indiana Univer. Mathem. J., v. 38, N 3, p. 527-556.

Friedman, A., Isakov, V. and Vogelius, M. (1989) Identification of small inhomogeneities of extreme conductivity by boundary measurements: a theorem on continuous dependence. Archive for Rat. Mech. and Anal., v. 105, p. 299–326.

Friedrichs, K. (1944) The identity of weak and strong extentions of differential operators. Trans. Amer. Mathem. Soc., v. 55, p. 132-151.

Friedrichs, K. (1954) Symmetric hyperbolic systems of linear differential equations. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 7, p. 345-392.

Friedrichs, K. (1958) Symmetric positive linear differential equations. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 11, p. 333-418.

Fujita, H. and Kato, T. (1964) On the Navier-Stokes initial value problem. Part I. Archive for Rat. Mech. and Anal., v. 16, p. 269-315.

Fursikov, A. and Imanuvilov, O. (1994) On exact boundary zerocontrollability of two-dimensional Navier-Stokes equations. Acta Appl. Mathem., v. 37, p. 67-76.

Gajewski, H., Gröger, K. and Zacharias, K. (1974) Nichtlineare Operatorgleichungen und Operaterdifferentialgleichungen. Akademie Verlag: Berlin. Gelfand, I. and Gindikin, S. (1990) Mathematical Problems in Tomography. AMS: Providence, RI.

Gelfand, I. and Levitan, B. (1951) Recovering a differential equation from its spectral function. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Mathematics, v. 15, p. 309-360 (in Russian).

Gelmins, A. (1957) Direkte Verfahren zür Auswertung von Schweremessungen bei zweidimensionaler Massenverteilung. Geofis. Pura Appl., v. 38, p. 81-122.

Gerver, M. (1974) An Inverse Problem for the One-Dimensional Wave Equation with an Unknown Source of Vibrations. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Germogenova, T. (1986) Local Properties of Solutions to the Transport Equation. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Gil, M. (1987) Conditions for the uniform well-posedness of the Cauchy problem for an equation with evolution operator in Hilbert space. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 28, N 2, p. 50-54 (in Russian).

Gilbarg, D. and Trudinger, N. (1983) Elliptic Partial Differential Equations of Second Order. Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Glasko, V. (1984) Inverse Problems in Mathematical Physics. Moscow University Press: Moscow (in Russian).

Godunov, S. (1971) Equations of Mathematical Physics. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Godunov, S. (1978) Some Elements of Mechanics of a Continuous Medium. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Goldstein, J. (1969) Semigroups and hyperbolic equations. J. Functional Anal., v. 4, p. 50-70.

Goldstein, J. (1985) Semigroups of Linear Operators and Applications. Oxford University Press: New York-Oxford.

Golizdra, G. (1966) Singular points of analytic continuation of gravitational field and the relationship with the disturbance mass formula. In: Supplementary Chapters to the Course on Gravity and Magnetic Prospecting. Novosibirsk University Press: Novosibirsk, p. 273-388 (in Russian).

Goncharsky, A., Leonov, A. and Yagola, A. (1973) The generalized discrepancy principle. USSR Comput. Mathem. and Mathem. Phys., v. 13, p. 294-302.

Gorbachuk, V. and Gorbachuk, M. (1984) Boundary Value Problems for Operator-Differential Equations. Naukova Dumka: Kiev (in Russian).

Grasselli, M. (1992) An identification problem for an abstract linear hyperbolic integro-differential equation with applications. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 171, p. 27-60.

Grasselli, M. (1994) Determining the relaxation tensor in linear viscoelasticity of integral type. Japan J. Indust. Appl. Mathem., v. 11, p. 131-153.

Grasselli, M., Kabanikhin, S. and Lorenzi, A. (1990) An inverse hyperbolic integro-differential problem arising in geophysics. Part II. Nonlinear Anal. TMA, v. 15, p. 283-298.

Grasselli, M., Kabanikhin, S. and Lorenzi, A. (1992) An inverse hyperbolic integro-differential problem arising in geophysics. Part I. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 33, p. 415-426 (in Russian).

Groetsch, C. (1993) Inverse Problems in Mathematical Sciences. Vieweg: Braunschweig.

Guirand, J.-P. (1970) Probléme aux limites intérieur pour l'équation de Bolzman linéaire. J. de Mécanique, v. 9, N 3, p. 443-490.

Guirand, J.-P. (1976) The Bolzman equation in the kinetic theory. A survey of mathematical results. Fluid Dynamics Trans., v. 7, p. 37-84.

Hejtmanek, H. (1970) Perturbational aspects of the linear transport equation. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 30, p. 237-245.

Hejtmanek, J. (1984) Time-dependent linear transport theory. In: Lecture Notes in Mathematics. v. 1048, p. 1-59, Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Henry, D. (1981) Geometric Theory of Semilinear Parabolic Equations. In: Lecture Notes in Mathematics. v. 840, Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Herglotz, G. (1914) Über die analytische Fortsetzung des Potentials ins Innere der anziehenden Massen. Teubner: Leipzig.

Hille, E. and Phillips, R. (1957) Functional Analysis and Semigroups. AMS: Providence, RI.

Hölder, E. (1932) Veber eine potentialtheoretische Eigenschaft der Ellipse. Mathem. Zeitschr., v. 35, p. 632-643.

Hörmander, L. (1965) Linear Partial Differential Equations. Mir: Moscow (in Russian).

Hörmander, L. (1976) The boundary problems of physical geodesy. Archive for Rat. Mech. and Anal., v. 62, p. 1-52.

Hoffman, K.-H. and Yamamoto, M. (1993) Generic uniqueness and stability in some inverse parabolic problems. In: Inverse Problems in Mathematical Physics. Lecture Notes in Physics. v. 422, p.49–54, Springer: Berlin-Heidelberg.

Hunter, N. (1953) Potential Theory and Its Applications to the Basic Problems of Mathematical Physics. Gostekhizdat: Moscow-Leningrad (in Russian).

Idel'son, N. (1936) Potential Theory with Applications to the Theory of the Earth Figures and Geophysics. Gostekhizdat: Moscow-Leningrad (in Russian).

Ikawa, M. (1968) Mixed problems for hyperbolic equations of second order. J. Mathem. Soc. Japan, v. 20, N 4, p. 580-608.

Il'in, V. (1958) On the convergence of expansions with respect to the eigenfunctions of the Laplace operator. Uspekhi Matem. Nauk, v. 13, N 1, p. 87– 180 (in Russian).

Il'in, A., Kalashnikov, A. and Oleinik, O. (1962) Linear second order equations of parabolic type. Uspekhi Matem. Nauk, v. 17, N 3, p. 3-146 (in Russian).

Imanaliev, M. (1977) Methods for Solving Nonlinear Inverse Problems and Their Applications. Ilim: Frunze (in Russian).

Isakov, V. (1976) A uniqueness theorem for inverse problems of heat potentials. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 17, N 2, p. 259-172 (in Russian).

Isakov, V. (1982a) An inverse problem for a parabolic equation. Uspekhi Matem. Nauk, v. 37, N 2, p. 108-109 (in Russian).

Isakov, V. (1982b) On a class of inverse problems for parabolic equations. Soviet Mathem. Doklady, v. 25, p. 519–521.

Isakov, V. (1986) A nonhyperbolic Cauchy problem for $\Box_b \Box_c$ and its applications to elasticity theory. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., p. 747-767.

Isakov, V. (1988) On the uniqueness of recovery of a discontinuous conductivity coefficient. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 41, p. 865–877.

Isakov, V. (1989) On the uniqueness for inverse problems with lateral overdetermination. Comm. in PDE, v. 14, p. 681-690.

Isakov, V. (1990a) Some inverse problems for elliptic and parabolic equations. In: Inverse Problems in Partial Differential Equations. SIAM: Philadelphia, p. 203-214.

Isakov, V. (1990b) On the uniqueness in the inverse transmission scattering problem. Comm. in PDE, v. 15, p. 1565–1589.

Isakov, V. (1990c) Inverse Source Problems. AMS: Providence, RI.

Isakov, V. (1991a) Completeness of products of solutions and some inverse problems for PDE. J. Differ. Equations, v. 92, p. 305-317.

Isakov, V. (1991b) Inverse parabolic problems with the final overdetermination. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 44, p. 185-209.

Isakov, V. (1993) On the uniqueness in inverse problems for semilinear parabolic equations. Archive for Rat. Mech. and Anal., v. 124, p. 1-13.

Isakov, V. (1998) Inverse Problems for Partial Differential Equations. Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Iskenderov, A. (1968) Inverse boundary value problems with unknown coefficients for some quasilinear equations. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 178, N 5, p. 999-1003 (in Russian).

Iskenderov, A. (1974) An inverse problem for quasilinear parabolic equations. Differ. Equations, v. 10, N 5, p. 890-898 (in Russian).

Iskenderov, A. (1975) Multidimensional inverse problems for linear and quasilinear parabolic equations. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 225, N 5, p. 1005–1008 (in Russian).

Iskenderov, A. (1976) Some inverse problems of determining the right-hand sides of differential equations. Izvestia AN Azerb. SSR, N 2, p. 35-44 (in Russian).

Iskenderov, A. and Tagiev, R. (1979) An inverse problem of determining the right-hand sides of evolution equations in a Bahach space. Nauchn. Trudy Azerb. Univer., Voprosy Prikladnoy Matem. i Kibernetiki, N 1, p. 51–56 (in Russian).

Ivankov, A. (1983) On the uniqueness of the solution of an inverse problem for the particle transport equation. Inzhenerno-Fizichesky Zhurnal, v. 45, N 5, p. 861-862 (in Russian).

Ivanov, V. (1955) Integral equations in an inverse logarithmic potential problem. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 105, p. 409-411 (in Russian).

Ivanov, V. (1956a) On the solvability of an inverse logarithmic potential problem in finite form. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 106, p. 598-599 (in Russian).

Ivanov, V. (1956b) An inverse problem for the potential of a body close to a given one. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Mathematics, v. 20, p. 793-818 (in Russian).

Ivanov, V. (1958a) A uniqueness theorem for an inverse logarithmic potential problem for star-shaped sets. Izvestia Vusov, Ser: Mathematics, N 3, p. 99-106 (in Russian).

Ivanov, V. (1958b) On the stability of an inverse logarithmic potential problem. Izvestia Vuzov, Ser: Mathematics, N 4, p. 96-99 (in Russian).

Ivanov, V. (1962) Integral equation of the first kind and approximate solution of an inverse problem in potential theory. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 142, N 5, p. 997-1000 (in Russian).

Ivanov, V. and Chudinova, A. (1966) One method for determining harmonic moments of perturbed masses. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Fizika Zemli, N 3, p. 55-62 (in Russian).

Ivanov, V. and Kazakova, L. (1963) One application of analytical functions to an inverse potential problem. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 4, N 6, p. 1311-1326 (in Russian).

Ivanov, V., Melnikova, I. and Filinkov, A. (1995) Operator-Differential Equations and Ill-Posed Problems. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Ivanov, V., Vasin, V. and Tanana, V. (1978) The Theory of Linear Ill-Posed Problems and Its Applications. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Jones, B. (1962) Determination of a coefficient in a parabolic differential equation. Part I: Existence and uniqueness. J. Mathem. Mech., v. 11, N 6, p. 907-918.

Jones, B. (1963) Various methods for finding unknown coefficients in parabolic differential equations. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 16, p. 33-44.

Jorgens, K. (1968) An asymptotic expansion in the theory of neutron transport. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 11, p. 219-242.

Kabanikhin, S. (1979) Applications of energy estimates to an inverse problem for a hyperbolic equation. Differ. Equations, v. 15, N 1, p. 61-67 (in Russian).

Kabanikhin, S. (1987) Regularizing multidimensional inverse problems for hyperbolic equations on the basis of the projection method. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 292, N 3, p. 534-537 (in Russian).

Kamynin, V. (1992) On the passage to the limit in inverse problems for nondivergent parabolic equations with the condition of final overdetermination. Differ. Equations, v. 28, N 2, p. 247-253 (in Russian).

Kamynin, V. and Vasin, I. (1992) Inverse problems for linearized Navier-Stokes equations with the integral overdetermination: unique solvability

and passage to the limit. Ann. Univer. Ferrara. Sez. VII. Sci. Matem., v. 38, p. 239-247.

Kantorovich, L. and Akilov, G. (1977) Functional Analysis in Normed Spaces. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Kapanadze, D. (1986) On the uniqueness of determining the form of a body from available values of its exterior potential. Inform. AN GSSR, v. 128, N 2, p. 279-292 (in Russian).

Kartsivadze, I. (1963) On the positive charge potential. Inform. AN GSSR, v. 32, N 1, p. 11-15 (in Russian).

Kato, T. (1953) Integration of the equation of evolution in a Banach space. J. Mathem. Soc. Japan, v. 5, p. 208-234.

Kato, T. (1956) On linear differential equations in Banach spaces. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 9, p. 479–486.

Kato, T. (1961) Abstract evolution equations of parabolic type in Banach and Hilbert spaces. Nagoya Mathem. J., v. 19, p. 93-125.

Kato, T. (1966) Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators. Springer: New-York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Kato, T. (1970) Linear evolution equation of "hyperbolic type". Part I. J. Fac. Sci., The University of Tokyo, v. 17, N 1-2, p. 241-258.

Kato, T. (1973) Linear evolution equation of "hyperbolic type". Part II. J. Mathem. Soc. Japan, v. 25, N 4, p. 648-666.

Kato, T. (1975a) The Cauchy problem for quasilinear symmetric hyperbolic systems. Archive for Rat. Mech. and Anal., v. 58, N 3, p. 181-205.

Kato, T. (1975b) Quasilinear equations of evolution with applications to partial differential equations. In: Spectral Theory and Differential Equations. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. v. 448, p. 25–70, Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Kato, T. (1982) Quasilinear equations of evolution in nonreflexive Banach spaces. Lecture Notes in Numer. Appl. Analysis. v. 5, p. 61-76, Springer: New-York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Kato, T. and Fujita, H. (1962) On the nonstationary Navier-Stokes system. Rend. Sem. Mathem. Univer. Padova, v. 32, p. 243-260.

Kazakova, L. (1963) Theorems of uniqueness and stability for an inverse problem of the Newtonian potential for star-shaped sets. Izvestia Vuzov, Ser: Mathematics, N 1, p. 85–93 (in Russian). Kazakova, L. (1965) An inverse problem of the metaharmonic potential. Mathem. Notes, Ural University Press, v. 5, N 2, p. 27-35 (in Russian).

Keldysh, M. (1940) On the solvability and stability of the Dirichlet problem. Uspekhi Matem. Nauk, v. 8, p. 171–231 (in Russian).

Keldysh, M. and Lavrentiev, M. (1937) On the stability of solutions of the Dirichlet problem. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Mathematics, N 4, p. 551-595 (in Russian).

Khaidarov, A. (1986) Carleman estimates and inverse problems for hyperbolic equations of second order. Matem. Sbornik, v. 130, N 2, p. 265-274 (in Russian).

Khaidarov, A. (1987) On a class of inverse problems for elliptic equations. Differ. Equations, v. 23, N 8, p. 1376-1383 (in Russian).

Kinderlehrer, D. and Stampacchia, G. (1980) An Introduction to Variational Inequalities and Their Applications. Academic Press: New York-London.

Kirejtov, V. (1983) Inverse Photometry Problems. Computer Center Publications: Novosibirsk (in Russian).

Kisynski, J. (1972) On cosine operator function and one-parameter groups of operator. Studia Mathem., v. 44, p. 93-105.

Klibanov, M. (1985) One class of inverse problems for nonlinear parabolic equations. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 280, N 3, p. 533-536 (in Russian).

Klibanov, M. (1986) One class of inverse problems for nonlinear parabolic equations. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 27, N 5, p. 83-94 (in Russian).

Kohn, R. and Vogelius, M. (1984) Determining conductivity by boundary measurements. Part I. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 37, p. 289-298.

Kohn, R. and Vogelius, M. (1985) Determining conductivity by boundary measurements. Part II. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 38, p. 643-667.

Kolmogorov, A. and Fomin, S. (1968) Elements of the Theory of Functions and Functional Analysis. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Kostin, A. and Prilepko, A. (1996a) Some problems of recovering the boundary condition for a parabolic equation. Part I. Differ. Equations, v. 32, N 1, p. 113-122 (in Russian).

Kostin, A. and Prilepko, A. (1996b) Some problems of recovering the boundary condition for a parabolic equation. Part II. Differ. Equations, v. 32, N 11, p. 1515-1525 (in Russian).

680

Kostin, A. and Tikhonov, I. (1991) On the spectrum of an inverse problem for a hyperbolic system. In: Inverse Problems for Mathematical Models of Physical Processes (ed. A. Prilepko). MIFI Publications: Moscow, p. 59–70 (in Russian).

Krasnoselskii, M. (1962) Positive Solutions of Operator Equations. Fizmatgiz: Moscow-Leningrad (in Russian).

Krasnoselskii, M., Zabreiko, P., Pustylnik, E. and Sobolevskii, P. (1966) Integral Operators in Spaces of Summable Functions. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Krein, S. (1967) Linear Differential Equations in a Banach Space. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Krein, S. and Khazan, M. (1983) Differential equations in a Banach space. Itogi Nauki i Tekhniki, Ser: Mathem.. Anal.. v. 21, p. 130–264, VII⁺ITI Publications: Moscow (in Russian).

Krein, S. and Laptev, G. (1962) Boundary value problems for equation in a Banach space. DAN SSSR, v. 146, N 3, p. 535-538 (in Russian).

Krein, S. and Laptev, G. (1966a) Boundary value problems for differential equations of second order in a Banach space. Part I. Differ. Equations, v. 2, N 3, p. 382-390 (in Russian).

Krein, S. and Laptev, G. (1966b) Well-posedness of boundary value problems for differential equations of second order in a Banach space. Part II. Differ. Equations, v. 2, N 7, p. 919-926 (in Russian).

Kurepa, S. (1982) Semigroups and cosine functions. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. v. 948, p. 47-72, Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Ladas, G. and Lakshmihanthan, V. (1972) Differential Equations in Abstract Spaces. Academic Press: New-York-London.

Ladyzhenskaya, O. (1966) On the classical smoothness of the generalized solutions to the general nonlinear nonstationary Navier-Stokes equations. Trudy MIAN SSSR, v. 92, p. 100-115 (in Russian).

Ladyzhenskaya, O. (1967) On the uniqueness and smoothness of the generalized solutions to the Navier-Stokes equations. Zapiski Nauchn. Semin. LOMI, v. 5, p. 169-185 (in Russian).

Ladyzhenskaya, O. (1970) The Mathematical Theory of a Viscous Incompressible Fluid. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Ladyzhenskaya, O. (1973) Boundary Value Problems of Mathematical Physics. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Ladyzhenskaya, O. and Solonnikov, V. (1976) Some problems of vector analysis and the generalized statements of boundary value problems for the Navier-Stokes equations. Zapiski Nauchn. Semin. LOMI, v. 59, p. 81-116 (in Russian).

Ladyzhenskaya, O. and Uraltseva, N. (1968) Linear and Quasilinear Elliptic Equations. Academic Press: New-York-London.

Ladyzhenskaya, O., Solonnikov, V. and Uraltseva, N. (1968) Linear and Quasilinear Equations of Parabolic Type. AMS: Providence, RI.

Landis, E. (1971) Second Order Equations of Elliptic and Parabolic Types. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Landkoff, N. (1966) Contemporary Principles of Potential Theory. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Lanford, O., Greenberg, W., Polewczak, J., Zweifel, P., Ernst, M., Cercignani, C., Caflish, R. and Spohn, H. (1983) Nonequilibrium Phenomena. Part I. The Bolzman Equation. In: Studies in Statistical Mechanics. v. X, North-Holland: Amsterdam-New York-Oxford.

Langer, R. (1933) An inverse problem in differential equations. Bull. AMS, v. 39, p. 814-820.

Laptev, G. (1968) Strongly elliptic equations of second order in Hilbert space. Litovsky Matem. Sbornik, v. 8, N 1, p. 87–99 (in Russian).

Lattes, R. and Lions, J.-L. (1967) Methodes de Quasi-reversibilité et Applications. Dunod: Paris.

Lavrentiev, M. (1955) The Cauchy problem for the Laplace equation. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 102, p. 205-206 (in Russian).

Lavrentiev, M. (1956) The question concerning an inverse problem in potential theory. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 106, p. 389-390 (in Russian).

Lavrentiev, M. (1957) The Cauchy problem for linear elliptic equations of second order. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 112, p. 195-197 (in Russian).

Lavrentiev, M. (1963) One class of nonlinear integral equations. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 4, N 4, p. 837-844 (in Russian).

Lavrentiev, M. (1964) An inverse problem for the wave equation. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 157, N 3, p. 520-521 (in Russian).

Lavrentiev, M. (1965) One class of inverse problems for differential equations. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 160, N 1, p. 32-35 (in Russian).

Lavrentiev, M. (1967) Some Improperly Posed Problems of Mathematical Physics. Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Lavrentiev, M. (1970) Inverse problems and special operator equations of the first kind. In: International Mathematical Congress in Nice, p. 130-136, Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Lavrentiev, M. (1973) Conditional-Posed Problems in Differential Equations. Novosibirsk University Press: Novosibirsk (in Russian).

Lavrentiev, M. and Shabat, B. (1973) Problems in Hydrodynamics and Their Mathematical Models. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Lavrentiev, M., Romanov, V. and Shishatsky, S. (1986) Ill-Posed Problems in Mathematical Physics and Analysis. AMS: Providence, RI.

Lavrentiev, M., Romanov, V. and Vasiliev, V. (1969) Multidimensional Inverse Problems in Differential Equations. Nauka: Novosibirsk (in Russian).

Lax, P. and Phillips, R. (1960) Local boundary conditions for dissipative system of linear partial differential operators. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 13, p. 427-455.

Lax, P. and Phillips, R. (1967) Scattering Theory. Academic Press: New-York-London.

Lehner, J. and Wing, G. (1955) On the spectrum of an unsymmetric operator arising in the transport theory of neutrons. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 8, p. 217-234.

Lekkerkerker, C. and Kaper, H. (1986) Spectral Analysis of the Multigroup Transport Operator. Transp. Theory and Statist. Phys., v. 15, N 4, p. 411– 447.

Levitan, B. (1984) Inverse Sturm-Liouville Problems. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Likhtenshtein, L. (1966) Equilibrium Figures of Rotating Liquid. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Lions, J.-L. (1957) Une remarque sur les applications du théorème de Hille-Yosida. J. Mathem. Soc. Japan, v. 9, p. 62-70.

Lions, J.-L. (1961) Equations Différentielles Opérationnelles. Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Lions, J.-L. (1970) Optimal Control of Systems Governed by Partial Differential Equations. Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Loginov, A. (1988) A necessary and sufficient condition for the solvability of the inverse potential problem for special potentials. In: Theoretic-Functional and Numerical Methods for Solving Direct and Inverse Problems in Mathematical Physics. MIFI Publications: Moscow, p. 83-91 (in Russian). Lomovtsev, F. and Yurchuk, N. (1976) The Cauchy problem for hyperbolic operator-differential equations of second order. Differ. Equations, v. 12, N 12, p. 2242-2250 (in Russian).

Lorenzi, A. (1982) An inverse problem for a semilinear parabolic equation. Annali di Matematica Pura e Applicata, v. 82, N 4, p. 145-166.

Lorenzi, A. (1983a) A remark on the paper "An inverse problem for a semilinear parabolic equation". Annali di Matematica Pura e Applicata, v. 135, p. 399-401.

Lorenzi, A. (1983b) Determination of a time-dependent coefficient in a quasilinear parabolic equation. Ricerche di Matematica, v. 32, p. 263-284.

Lorenzi, A. (1985) An inverse problem for a quasilinear parabolic equation. Annali di Matematica Pura e Applicata, v. 142, p. 145–169.

Lorenzi, A. (1987) Identification of the thermal conductivity in the nonlinear heat equation. Inverse Problems, v. 3, p. 437-451.

Lorenzi, A. (1988) An inverse problem in the theory of materials with memory. Part II. Univer. Degli Studi di Milano, N 6, p. 1-31.

Lorenzi, A. (1992) Identification problems for integro-differential equations. In: Ill-Posed Problems in Natural Sciences (eds. A. Tikhonov et al.). VST/TVP: Utrecht/Moscow, p. 342-366.

Lorenzi, A. and Lunardi, A. (1990) An identification problem in the theory of heat conduction. Differ. and Integral Equations, v. 3, N 2, p. 237-252.

Lorenzi, A. and Pagani, C. (1981) An inverse problem in potential theory. Annali di Matematica Pura e Applicata, v. 129, p. 281-303.

Lorenzi, A. and Pagani, C. (1987) On the stability of the surface separating of two homogeneous media with different thermal conductivities. Acta Mathem. Sci., v. 7, N 4, p. 411-429.

Lorenzi, A. and Paparoni, E. (1985) A continuous dependence result for a parabolic free boundary problem. Bullettino UMI (6), N 4-B, p. 191-210.

Lorenzi, A. and Paparoni, E. (1988) An identification problem for a semilinear parabolic equation. Annali di Matem. Pure e Applicata (IV), v. CLI, p. 263-287.

Lorenzi, A. and Prilepko, A. (1993) Fredholm-type results for integrodifferential identification parabolic problems. Differ. and Integral Equations, v. 6, N 3, p. 535-552.

Lorenzi, A. and Prilepko, A. (1994) Global existence results for first order integro-differential identification problems. Part II. Rend. Semin. Matem., Univer. Padova, N 27, p. 1-25.

Lorenzi, A. and Sinestrari, E. (1986) An inverse problem in the theory of materials with memory. Part I. Univer. Degli Studi di Milano, N 23, p. 1-24.

Lorenzi, A. and Sinestrari, E. (1987) Stability results for partial integrodifferential inverse problems. Univer. Degli Studi di Milano, N 16, p. 1–20.

Lorenzi, A. and Sinestrari, E. (1988) An inverse problem in the theory of materials with memory. Nonlinear Anal., v. 12, p. 1317-1335.

Louis, A. (1989) Inverse und schlecht gestellte Probleme. Teubner: Stuttgart.

Ludwig, D. (1960) Exact and asymptotic solutions of the Cauchy problem. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 13, p. 473-508.

Lutz, D. (1982) Strongly continuous operator cosine functions. Lecture Notes in Mathematical Functional Analysis. v. 948, p. 73-97, Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Lyapunov, A. (1959) Collection of Papers. v. 3-4, AN SSSR Publications (in Russian).

Lyusternik, L. and Sobolev, V. (1965) Some Topics from Functional Analysis. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Lyusternik, L. and Sobolev, V. (1982) A Concise Course of Functional Analysis. Vysshaya Shkola: Moscow (in Russian).

Maksimov, V. (1988) Dynamical modeling of the unknown disturbances in parabolic variational inequalities. Appl. Mathem. Mech., v. 52, p. 743-750 (in Russian).

Marchenko, V. (1986) Sturm-Liouville Operators and Applications. Birkhäuser: Basel-Boston.

Marchuk, G. (1964) On setting up some inverse problems. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 256, N 3, p. 503-506 (in Russian).

Maslov, V. (1968) The existence of a solution of an ill-posed problem is equivalent to the convergence of a regularization process. Uspekhi Matem. Nauk, v. 23, N 3, p. 183–184 (in Russian).

Maslova, N. (1978) Solvability theorems for the nonlinear Bolzman equation. In: Appendix II to the book "The Theory and Applications of Bolzman equations" by K. Cherchigniani, Mir: Moscow, p. 461–480 (in Russian).

Maslova, N. (1985) Existence and uniqueness theorems for the Bolzman equation. In: Contemporary Mathematical Problems: Basic Trends. VINITI Publications: Moscow, v. 2, p. 285–307 (in Russian).

Massey, E. (1972) Abstract evolution equations and the mixed problem for symmetric hyperbolic systems. Trans. Amer. Mathem. Soc., v. 168, p. 165-188.

Mikhailov, V. (1963a) The Dirichlet problem for a parabolic equation. Part I. Matem. Sbornik, v. 61 (103), p. 40-64 (in Russian).

Mikhailov, V. (1963b) The Dirichlet problem for a parabolic equation. Part II. Matem. Sbornik, v. 62 (104), p. 140–159 (in Russian).

Mikhailov, V. (1976) Partial Differential Equations. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Mikhlin, S. (1977) Linear Partial Differential Equations. Vysshaya Shkola: Moscow (in Russian).

Miranda, C. (1957) Partial Differential Equations of the Elliptic Type. Foreign Literature: Moscow (in Russian).

Mizohata, S. (1959a) Systèmes hyperboliques. J. Mathem. Soc. Japan, v. 11, p. 205-233.

Mizohata, S. (1959b) Le problème de Cauchy pour les systèmes hyperboliques et paraboliques. Mem. Coll. Sci., The University of Kyoto, issue 32, p. 181-212.

Mizohata, S. (1977) The Theory of Partial Differential Equations. Mir: Moscow (in Russian).

Montagnini, B. (1979) The eigenvalue spectrum of the linear Bolzman operator in $L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{6})$ and $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{6})$. Meccanica, v. 14, N 3, p. 134–144.

Morozov, V. (1984) Regularization Methods for Solving Improperly Posed Problems. Springer: New-York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Moser, T. (1964) A Harnack inequality for parabolic differential equations. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 17, p. 101-134.

Muzylev, N. (1980) Uniqueness theorems for some inverse problems of heat conduction. USSR Comput. Mathem. and Mathem. Phys., v. 20, N 2, p. 120-134.

Nached, M. (1970) Steepest descent for singular linear operator equations. SIAM J. Numer. Mathem., v. 7, N 3, p. 358-362.

Nachman, A. (1988) Reconstruction from boundary measurements. Ann. Mathem., v. 128, p. 531-576.

Natterer, F. (1986) The Mathematics of Computerized Tomography. Teubner/Wiley: Stuttgart/New York.

Nizhnik, L. (1991) Inverse Scattering Problems. Naukova Dumka: Kiev (in Russian).

Novikov, P. (1938) On the uniqueness of the solution of an inverse potential problem. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 18, N 3, p. 165-168 (in Russian).

Oleinik, O. (1949) The Dirichlet problem for equations of the elliptic type. Matem. Sbornik, v. 24 (66), p. 3-14 (in Russian).

Oleinik, O. (1952) The properties of solutions of some boundary value problems for equations of the elliptic type. Matem. Sbornik, v. 30 (72), p. 695-702 (in Russian).

Orlovsky, D. (1983) A problem of finding the right-hand side of hyperbolic systems. Differ. Equations, v. 19, N 8, p. 1437-1445 (in Russian).

Orlovsky, D. (1984a) An inverse Cauchy problem for linear hyperbolic systems. Differ. Equations, v. 20, N 1, p. 98-104 (in Russian).

Orlovsky, D. (1984b) An inverse Cauchy problem for hyperbolic systems. Differ. Equations, v. 20, N 10, p. 1760-1768 (in Russian).

Orlovsky, D. (1988) An inverse Cauchy problem for evolution equations in a Banach space. In: Survey of Mathematical Models of Physical Processes. Energoatomizdat: Moscow, p. 84–90 (in Russian).

Orlovsky, D. (1989) An inverse problem for a second order differential equation in a Banach space. Differ. Equations, v. 25, N 6, p. 1000-1009 (in Russian).

Orlovsky, D. (1990) An inverse problem of determining a parameter of an evolution equation. Differ. Equations, v. 26, N 9, p. 1614-1621 (in Russian).

Orlovsky, D. (1991a) Weak and strong solutions of inverse problems for differential equations in a Banach space. Differ. Equations, v. 27, p. 867-874 (in Russian).

Orlovsky, D. (1991b) Recovering the evolution of a parameter in an abstract quasilinear parabolic equation. Mathem. Notes, v. 50, issue 2, p. 111-119 (in Russian).

Orlovsky, D. (1991c) On the solvability of an inverse problem for a parabolic equation in a Hölder class. Mathem. Notes, v. 50, issue 3, p. 107–112 (in Russian).

Orlovsky, D. (1991d) An inverse problem for a hyperbolic equation in Hilbert space. Differ. Equations, v. 27, N 10, p. 1771-1778 (in Russian).

Orlovsky, D. (1992a) Fredholm-type solvability of inverse boundary value problems for abstract differential equations of second order. Differ. Equations, v. 28, N 4, p. 687-697 (in Russian).

Orlovsky, D. (1992b) Fredholm-type solvability of inverse problems for abstract differential equations. In: Ill-Posed Problems in Natural Sciences (eds. Academ. Tikhonov et al). VSP/TVP: Utrecht-Moscow, p. 367-374.

Orlovsky, D. (1994) Determining a parameter of a parabolic equation in a Hilbert structure. Mathem. Notes, v. 55, issue 3, p. 109-117 (in Russian).

Osipov, Yu. and Korotkii, A. (1992) Dynamical restoration of parameters of elliptic systems. In: Ill-Posed Problems in Natural Sciences (eds. A. Tikhonov et al.). VSP/TVP: Utrecht/Moscow, p. 108-117.

Pagani, C. (1982) On the stability of a surface determined from measures of the potential. Publ. Dell'instituto di Analisi Globale e Applic., N 5, p. 24.

Pavlov, G. (1975) An inverse logarithmic potential problem. Differ. Equations, v. 11, N 1, p. 196–199 (in Russian).

Pavlov, G. (1976) An inverse problem for the simple layer layer potential. Differ. Equations, v. 12, N 1, p. 109-117 (in Russian).

Pavlov, G. (1978) On the uniqueness of the solution of the exterior inverse problems in potential theory. Differ. Equations, v. 14, N 1, p. 74-79 (in Russian).

Pavlov, G. (1982) On the solvability of inverse problems in potential theory. Differ. Equations, v. 18, N 10, p. 1772–1779 (in Russian).

Pavlov, G. (1988) On the uniqueness of the solution of an abstract inverse problem. Differ. Equations, v. 24, N 8, p. 1402–1406 (in Russian).

Pazy, A. (1983) Semigroups of Linear Operators and Applications to Partial Differential Equations. Springer: New-York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Payne, L. (1975) Improperly Posed Problems in Partial Differential Equations. In: Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics. SIAM: Philadelphia.

Phillips, R. (1957) Dissipative hyperbolic systems. Trans. Amer. Mathem. Soc., v. 86, p. 109-173.

Phillips, R. (1959) Dissipative operators and hyperbolic systems of partial differential equations. Trans. Amer. Mathem. Soc., v. 90, p. 193-254.

Petrovsky, I. (1934) Zür ersten Randwertaufabe der Wärmeleitung-Leichung. Compos. Mathem., v. 1, p. 383-419.

Pilant, M. and Rundell, W. (1986a) An inverse problem for a nonlinear parabolic equation. Comm. in PDE, v. 11, N 4, p. 445-457.

Pilant, M. and Rundell, W. (1986b) Undetermined coefficient problems for nonlinear elliptic and parabolic equations. Intern. Ser. in Numer. Mathematics, v. 77, p. 139-154.

Pilant, M. and Rundell, W. (1987a) An inverse problem for a nonlinear elliptic differential equation. SIAM J. Mathem. Anal., v. 18, N 6, p. 1801–1809.

Pilant, M. and Rundell, W. (1987b) Fixed point methods for a nonlinear parabolic inverse coefficient problem. Commun. in PDE, v. 13, N 4, p. 469-493.

Pilant, M. and Rundell, W. (1988) A uniqueness theorem for determining conductivity from overspecified boundary data. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 136, N 1, p. 20-28.

Pilant, M. and Rundell, W. (1990) Undetermined coefficient problems for quasilinear parabolic equations. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Inverse Problems in Partial Differential Equations. SIAM: Philadelphia, p. 165–185.

Pinchon, D. (1987) On the solution of the inverse problem for the logarithmic potential. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 127, p. 261-284 (in Russian).

Pitsetti, P. (1933) Foundations of the Mechanical Theory of Planet's Form. Gostekhizdat: Moscow-Leningrad (in Russian).

Plesner, A. (1965) Spectral Theory of Linear Operators. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Pöschel, J. and Trubowitz, E. (1986) Inverse Spectral Theory. Academic Press: New-York-London.

Prilepko, A. (1961) On the uniqueness of a solution of an inverse metaharmonic potential problem. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 139, N 6, p. 1306–1310 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1964) An inverse metaharmonic potential problem. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 154, N 3, p. 714-737 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1965a) An inverse problem of the metaharmonic potential for a body close to a given one. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 6, N 6, p. 1332– 1356 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1965b) On the uniqueness of determining the shape of a body from available values of its exterior potential. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 160, p. 40-43 (in Russian). Prilepko, A. (1966a) On the uniqueness of a solution of an exterior inverse problem for the Newtonian potential. Differ. Equations, v. 2, N 1, p. 107–124 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1966b) On the uniqueness of a solution of an inverse problem represented by an integral equation of the first kind. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 167, N 4, p. 751-754 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1966c) Some conditions for the uniqueness of the solution of inverse problems in potential theory. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 171, N 1, p. 51-54 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1967) Inverse problems in potential theory. Differ. Equations, v. 3, N 1, p. 30-44 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1968a) Some conditions for the uniqueness of a solution for the exterior inverse problem from potential theory in the case of a variable density. Differ. Equations, v. 4, N 1, p. 76-86 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1968b) Contact inverse problems of the generalized magnetic potentials. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 181, N 5, p. 1065-1068 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1968c) Interior inverse problems in potential theory. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 182, N 3, p. 503-505 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1969) On the stability of an inverse problem for the exterior potential. Differ. Equations, v. 5, N 1, p. 72-80 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1970a) Interior inverse problems for the generalized potentials. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 11, N 6, p. 1321-1332 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1970b) Inverse problems for the generalized magnetic potentials. Differ. Equations, v. 6, N 1, p. 27-38 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1970c) On the uniqueness of determining the shape and density of a body in inverse problems of potential theory. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 193, N 2, p. 288-291 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1972) Interior inverse problems for the metaharmonic potential of a body close to a given one. Differ. Equations, v. 8, N 1, p. 118-125 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1973a) Inverse problems in potential theory (elliptic, parabolic, hyperbolic equations and transport equation). Mathem. Notes, v. 14, issue 6, p. 755-767 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1973b) One class of integral equations of the first kind. Differ. Equations, v. 9, N 1, p. 136-141 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1974a) Inverse logarithmic potential problems for a body close to a given one. Differ. Equations, v. 10, N 1, p. 147-159 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1974b) Über Existenz und Eindeutigkeit von Lösungen inverser Probleme der Potentialtheorie. Mathem. Nachr., v. 63, p. 135-153.

Prilepko, A. (1985) The iterative-parameter method for solving an inverse potential problem in a plane. In: Functional Methods in Problems of Mathematical Physics. MIFI Publications: Moscow, p. 48-54 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1992) Selected topics on inverse problems of mathematical physics. In: Conditionally Well-Posed Problems in Mathematical Physics and Analysis (ed. V. Romanov). Nauka: Novosibirsk, p. 151–162 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. (1996) Inverse problems in potential theory. In: Moscow University Bul., Ser. 1: Mathem.-Mech., Allerton Press: New York, N 6, p. 78-81.

Prilepko, A. and Cherednichenko, V. (1981) One class of inverse boundary value problems for analytic functions. Differ. Equations, v. 17, N 10, p. 1900-1907 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Ivankov, A. (1984) Inverse problems for the nonstationary transport equation. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 276, N 3, p. 555-559 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Ivankov, A. (1985) Inverse problems of determining the coefficient and right-hand side of a nonstationary multivelocity transport equation via a pointwise overdetermination. Differ. Equations, v. 21, N 1, p. 109-119 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Kostin, A. (1991) On the solvability of an inverse problem for the heat equation. In: Inverse Problems for Mathematical Models of Physical Processes (ed. A. Prilepko). MIFI Publications: Moscow, p. 52–58 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Kostin, A. (1992a) Inverse problems for parabolic equations with the final and integral overdeterminations. Matem. Sbornik, v. 183, N 4, p. 49-68 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Kostin, A. (1992b) Inverse problems of determining a coefficient in a parabolic equation. Part I. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 33, N 3, p. 146-155 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Kostin, A. (1993a) Inverse problems of determining a coefficient in a parabolic equation. Part II. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 34, N 5, p. 147-162 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Kostin, A. (1993b) An estimate for the spectral radius of an operator and the solvability of inverse problems for evolution equations. Mathem. Notes, v. 53, p. 89-94 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Orlovsky, D. (1984) Inverse problems for semilinear evolution equations. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 277, N 4, p. 799-803 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Orlovsky, D. (1985a) Determining a parameter of an evolution equation and inverse problems in mathematical physics. Part I. Differ. Equations, 1985, v. 21, N 1, p. 119-129 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Orlovsky, D. (1985b) Determining a parameter of an evolution equation and inverse problems in mathematical physics. Part II. Differ. Equations, v. 21, N 4, p. 694-701 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Orlovsky, D. (1987a) Determining a parameter of an evolution equation and inverse problems in mathematical physics. Part III. Differ. Equations, v. 23, N 8, p. 1343-1353 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Orlovsky, D. (1987b) Inverse problems for the linearized Bolzman equation. Zhurnal Vychisl. Matem. i Matem. Fiziki, v. 27, N 11, p. 1690-1700 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Orlovsky, D. (1988) Inverse problems of the kinetic gas theory for the states close to equilibrium. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 298, N 6, p. 1334-1338 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Orlovsky, D. (1989) A semigroup approach to the problem of determining a nonhomogeneous term in evolution equations. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 305, N 5, p. 1045–1049 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Orlovsky, D. (1991) Recovering the evolution of a parameter in an abstract parabolic equation. Differ. Equations, 1991, v. 27, N 1, p. 114-120 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Sadovnichii, V. (1996) Multidimensional inverse problems in spectral analysis and mathematical physics. In: Complex Analysis, Differential Equations, Numerical Methods and Their Applications. Publications of the Mathem. Institute RAN: Ufa, p. 91–98 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Soloviev, V. (1987a) On the solvability of an inverse boundary value problem of determining a coefficient at a lower order term in a parabolic equation. Differ. Equations, v. 23, N 1, p. 136-143 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Soloviev, V. (1987b) The solvability theorems and Rothe's method in inverse problems for a parabolic equation. Part I. Differ. Equations, v. 23, N 10, p. 1791–1799 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Soloviev, V. (1987c) The solvability theorems and Rothe's method in inverse problems for a parabolic equation. Part II. Differ. Equations, v. 23, N 11, p. 1971-1980 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Tikhonov, I. (1992) On the uniqueness of a solution of an inverse problem for the evolution equation and applications to the transport equation. Mathem. Notes, v. 51, issue 2, p. 77-87 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Tikhonov, I. (1993) An inverse problem with the final overdetermination for an abstract evolution equation in an ordered Banach space. In: Functional Analysis and Its Applications. v. 27, issue 1, p. 81–83 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Tikhonov, I. (1994) Recovering a nonhomogeneous term in an abstract evolution equation. Izvestia RAN, Ser: Mathematics, v. 58, N 2, p. 167–188 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Vasin, I. (1989a) Inverse initial boundary value problems for nonstationary linearized Navier-Stokes equations. Differ. Equations, v. 25, N 1, p. 106-117 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Vasin, I. (1989b) An inverse initial boundary value problem for a nonlinear Navier-Stokes system in the case of final overdetermination. Differ. Equations, v. 25, N 12, p. 2164-2177 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Vasin, I. (1990a) A study of uniqueness of a solution in some nonlinear inverse problems of hydrodynamics. Differ. Equations, v. 26, N 1, p. 109-120 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Vasin, I. (1990b) On the solvability of a spatial inverse problem for nonlinear Navier-Stokes equations. Differ. Equations, v. 29, N 10, p. 1540-1552 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Vasin, I. (1990c) Nonstationary inverse problems of hydrodynamics with the final observation. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 314, N 5, p. 1075-1078 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Vasin, I. (1991) On a nonlinear nonstationary inverse problem of hydrodynamics. Inverse Problems, v. 7, N 2, p. L13-L16.

Prilepko, A. and Vasin, I. (1992) Statement and investigation of a nonlinear inverse problem of a viscous incompressible fluid motion control. Differ. Equations, v. 28, N 4, p. 697-705 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Vasin, I. (1993) A nonlinear inverse problem of determining a coefficient in the system of equations of the dynamics of a viscous incompressible fluid. Doklady RAN, v. 330, N 2, p. 161-163 (in Russian). Prilepko, A. and Volkov, N. (1987) Invere problems of finding a parameter of the nonstationary transport equation via overdeterminations of integral type. Differ. Equations, v. 23, N 1, p. 124-136 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A. and Volkov, N. (1988) Inverse problems of determining parameters of the nonstationary kinetic transport equation from the additional information concerning the traces of a sought function. Differ. Equations, v. 24, N 1, p. 136-146 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A., Ivankov, A. and Orlovsky, D. (1985) On the neutron flux measurements providing the determination of some characteristics of a reactor. Inzhenerno-Fizichesky Zhurnal, v. 49, N 6, p. 1018–1022 (in Russian).

Prilepko, A., Kostin, A. and Tikhonov, I. (1992a) Inverse problems for evolution equations. In: Ill-Posed Problems in Natural Sciences (eds. A. Tikhonov et al.). VSP/TVP: Utrecht/Moscow, p. 379-389.

Prilepko, A., Orlovsky, D. and Vasin, I. (1992b) Inverse problems in mathematical physics. In: Ill-Posed Problems in Natural Sciences (eds. A. Tikhonov et al.). VSP/TVP: Utrecht/Moscow, p. 390-400.

Ramm, A. (1992) Multidimensional Inverse Scattering Problems. Pitman Ser. in Mathem. Sciences, Longman: New York.

Rapoport, I. (1940) An inverse potential problem in a plane. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 28, N 4, p. 305-307 (in Russian).

Rapoport, I. (1941) On the stability of an inverse potential problem. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 31, N 4, p. 303-306 (in Russian).

Rapoport, I. (1950) A problem in potential theory. Ukr. Matem. Zhurnal, v. 202, p. 38-55 (in Russian).

Rempel, G. (1973) One inequality in the magnetic prospecting. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 208, N 1, p. 84-86 (in Russian).

Ribaric, M. (1973) Functional-Analytic Concepts and Structures of Neutron Transport Theory. Volume I. Academ. Sci. et Artium Slovenica: Ljubljana.

Richter, G. (1981) An inverse problem for the steady state diffusion equation. SIAM J. Appl. Mathem., v. 41, p. 210-221.

Richtmyer, R. (1978) Principles of Advanced Mathematical Physics. Volume 1. Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Richtmyer, R. (1981) Principles of Advanced Mathematical Physics. Volume 2. Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Riesz, F. and Sz-Nagy, B. (1972) Lecons d'Analyse Fonctionnelle. Academ. Kiadó: Budapest.

Roach, C. (1991) Inverse Problems and Imaging. Pitman Ser. in Mathem. Sciences, Longman: New York.

Romanov, V. (1968) The one-dimensional inverse problem for the telegraph equation. Differ. Equations, v. 4, N 1, p. 87-101 (in Russian).

Romanov, V. (1972) Inverse Problems for Equations of Hyperbolic Type. Nauka: Novosibirsk (in Russian).

Romanov, V. (1973a) An abstract inverse problem and questions of its well-posedness. In: Functional Analysis and Its Applications. v. 7, issue 3, p. 67-74 (in Russian).

Romanov, V. (1973b) Inverse Problems in Differential Equations. Novosibirsk University Press: Novosibirsk (in Russian).

Romanov, V. (1975) Some classes of uniqueness for the solution of Volterra operator eqiations of the first kind. In: Functional Analysis and Its Applications. v. 9, issue 1, p. 81-82 (in Russian).

Romanov, V. (1977) A problem of determining the right-hand side of a hyperbolic system. Differ. Equations, v. 13, N 3, p. 509-515 (in Russian).

Romanov, V. (1978a) Inverse problems for hyperbolic equations and energy estimates. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 242, N 3, p. 541-544 (in Russian).

Romanov, V. (1978b) A problem of determining coefficients of linear hyperbolic systems. Differ. Equations, v. 14, N 1, p. 94-103 (in Russian).

Romanov, V. (1978c) The statement of an inverse problem for symmetric hyperbolic systems of first order. Mathem. Notes, v. 24, N 2, p. 231-236 (in Russian).

Romanov, V. (1978d) On the uniqueness of a solution of an inverse problem for hyperbolic systems of first order. Mathem. Notes, v. 24, N 3, p. 359–365 (in Russian).

Romanov, V. (1984) Inverse Problems in Mathematical Physics. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Romanov, V. and Slinyucheva, L. (1972) An inverse problem for linear hyperbolic systems of first order. In: Matematical Problems in Geophysics. N 3, p. 187-215 (in Russian).

Romanov, V. and Volkova, E. (1982) Inverse dynamical problems in an anisotropic elastic medium. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 267, N 4, p. 780-783 (in Russian).

Romanov, V. and Yakhno, V. (1980) The linearized problem statement of determining a hyperbolic operator. Mathem. Notes, v. 28, N 3, p. 391-400 (in Russian).

Romanov, V., Kabanikhin, S. and Pukhnacheva, T. (1984) Inverse Problems in Electrodynamics. Computer Center Publications: Novosibirsk (in Russian).

Rozhdestvensky, B. and Yanenko, N. (1978) Systems of Quasilinear Equations. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Rudin, W. (1975) Functional Analysis. Mir: Moscow (in Russian).

Rundell, W. (1980) Determination of an unknown nonhomogeneous term in a linear partial differential equation from overspecified boundary data. Appl. Anal., v. 10, p. 231-242.

Rundell, W. (1983) An inverse problem for a parabolic partial differential equation. Rocky Mount. J. Mathem., v. 13, p. 679-688.

Rundell, W. (1987) Determination of a parabolic equation from the initial and final data. Proc. Amer. Mathem. Soc., v. 99, N 4, p. 637-642.

Sabatier, P. (1977a) Positivity constraints in linear inverse problems. Part I. General Theory. Geophys. J. R. Astr. Soc., v. 48, p. 415-441.

Sabatier, P. (1977b) Positivity constraints in linear inverse problems. Part II. Applications. Geophys. J. R. Astr. Soc., v. 48, p. 443-459.

Sacai, M. (1978) A moment problem in Jordan domains. Proc. Amer. Mathem. Soc., v. 70, N 1, p. 35-38.

Sacai, M. (1982) Quadrature Domains. In: Lecture Notes in Mathematics. v. 934, Springer: Berlin-Heidelberg.

Sacai, M. (1987) Domains having null complex moments. Complex Variables, v. 7, p. 313-319.

Sanchez-Palencia, E. (1980) Nonhomogeneous Medium and Vibration Theory. In: Lecture Notes in Physics. v. 127, Springer: Berlin-Heidelberg.

Schaefer, H. (1974) Banach Lattices and Positive Operators. Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Schwartz, L. (1950) Theorie des Distributions. Volume 1.

Schwartz, L. (1951) Theorie des Distributions. Volume 2.

Seidman, T. (1981a) Convergent approximation methods for ill-posed problems. General Theory. Part I. Control Cybernetics, v. 10, p. 31-49.

Seidman, T. (1981b) Convergent approximation methods for ill-posed problems. General Theory. Part II. Control Cybernetics, v. 10, p. 51–71.

Serizawa, H. and Watanabe, M. (1986) Time-dependent perturbations for cosine families in Banach spaces. Houston J. Mathem., v. 12, N 4, p. 579–586.

Serrin, J. (1971) A symmetry problem in potential theory. Archive for Rat. Mech. and Anal., v. 43, p. 304-318.

Shashkin, Yu. (1957) On the uniqueness in an inverse problem of potential theory. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 3, N 1, p. 14-66 (in Russian).

Shashkin, Yu. (1958) The question concerning an inverse problem in potential theory. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 118, N 1, p. 45-46 (in Russian).

Shahshkin, Yu. (1964) Theorems of uniqueness and stability for an inverse problem of the logarithmic potential. Matem. Sbornik, v. 63 (105), N 2, p. 215-225 (in Russian).

Shelukhin, V. (1993) Variational principle in nonlocal with respect to time problems for linear evolution equations. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 34, N 2, p. 191-207 (in Russian).

Shikhov, S. (1967) Some topics from the mathematical theory of critical states of reactor. Zhurnal Vychisl. Matem. i Matem. Fiziki, v. 7, N 1, p. 23-34 (in Russian).

Shikhov, S. (1973) Some Topics from the Mathematical Theory of Reactors. Linear Analysis. Atomizdat: Moscow (in Russian).

Simonov, V. (1958) The question of uniqueness of a solution of an inverse potential problem. Nauchn. Doklady Vysshey Shkoly, N 6, p. 14-18 (in Russian).

Smith, R. (1961) A uniqueness theorem concerning gravity fields. Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc., v. 57, N 4, p. 865-870.

Sobolev, S. (1954) Equations of Mathematical Physics. Fizmatgiz: Moscow-Leningrad (in Russian).

Sobolev, S. (1988) Applications of Functional Analysis in Mathematical Physics. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Sobolev, S. (1989) Selected Topics from the Theory of Functional Spaces and Generalized Functions. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Sobolevsky, P. (1961) Equations of parabolic type in Banach spaces. Trudy MMO, v. 10, p. 297–350 (in Russian).

Sobolevsky, P. (1968) Elliptic equations in a Banach space. Differ. Equations, v. 4, N 7, p. 1346-1348 (in Russian).

Sobolevsky, P. and Pogorelenko, V. (1967) Hyperbolic equations in Hilbert space. Sibirsky Matem. Zhurnal, v. 8, N 1, p. 123-145 (in Russian).

Solomyak, M. (1960) Differential equations in Banach spaces. Izvestia Vuzov, Ser: Mathematics, N 1 (14), p. 198–209 (in Russian).

Solonnikov, V. (1973) Estimates of solutions of the nonstationary Navier-Stokes system. Zapiski Nauchn. Seminarov LOMI, v. 38, p. 153-231 (in Russian).

Soloviev, V. (1985) The one-dimensional inverse problem for the heat equation with the integral overdetermination. In: Functional Methods in Problems of Mathematical Physics (ed. A. Prilepko). Energoatomizdat: Moscow, p. 54-56 (in Russian).

Soloviev, V. (1988) Fredholmness of an inverse problem of determining the right-hand side of a parabolic equation. In: Analysis of Mathematical Models of Physical Processes (ed. A. Prilepko). Energoatomizdat: Moscow, p. 90-95 (in Russian).

Soloviev, V. (1989) On the solvability of an inverse problem of determining a source of a parabolic equation via the overdetermination on the upper base. Differ. Equations, v. 25, N 9, p. 1577-1583 (in Russian).

Sova, M. (1966) Cosine operator functions. Rozpr. Mathem., v. 49, p. 1-47.

Sova, M. (1975) Linear differential equations in Banach spaces. Rozpr. CSAV MPV, v. 85, N 6, p. 1-50.

Sova, M. (1977) Abstract Cauchy problem. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. v. 703, p. 384-396, Springer: New-York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Sretensky, L. (1938) An inverse problem in potential theory. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Mathematics, N 5-6, p. 551-570 (in Russian).

Sretensky, L. (1946) Newtonian Potential Theory. Fizmatgiz: Moscow-Leningrad (in Russian).

Sretensky, L. (1954) On the uniqueness of determining the shape of an attracting body from available values of its exterior potential. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 99, N 1, p. 21-22 (in Russian).

Starostenko, V. (1978) Stable Numerical Methods for the Solution of a Gravimetric Problem. Naukova Dumka: Kiev (in Russian).

Starostenko, V., Chernaya, N. and Cherny, A. (1988) The integral equation in an inverse potential problem for a contact surface. Doklady AN SSSR, Ser. B, N 2, p. 25-29 (in Russian).

1

Strakhov, V. (1972) On the uniqueness of solving an inverse potential problem in a plane. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Fizika Zemli, N 2, p. 38-49 (in Russian).

Strakhov, V. (1973) Some examples of the equivalence and weak uniqueness in an inverse potential problem in a plane. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Fizika Zemli, N 5, p. 39-62 (in Russian).

Strakhov, V. (1974a) The theory of an inverse logarithmic potential problem for a contact surface. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Fizika Zemli, N 2, p. 43-65 (in Russian).

Strakhov, V. (1974b) An inverse logarithmic potential problem for a contact surface. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Fizika Zemli, N 6, p. 39-60 (in Russian).

Strakhov, V. (1977) On the equivalence in an inverse gravimetric problem with variable mass density. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 236, N 2, p. 329-331 (in Russian).

Strakhov, V. and Brodsky, M. (1983a) On the uniqueness in inverse gravimetric and magnetometric problems in a plane for polygons with variable density and magnetization. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 270, N 6, p. 1359–1364 (in Russian).

Strakhov, V. and Brodsky, M. (1983b) Some Counterexamples of Uniqueness in the Solution of Inverse Gravimetric and Magnetometric Problems in a Plane for Polygons. Preprint N 6, Publ. Instit. Fiziki Zemli AN SSSR (in Russian).

Strakhov, V. and Brodsky, M. (1984) On the uniqueness of solving an inverse logarithmic potential problem. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Fizika Zemli, N 6, p. 27-47 (in Russian).

Sulyandziga, P. (1977) An inverse problem of the magnetic potential in a plane. Differ. Equations, v. 13, N 3, p. 529-537 (in Russian).

Suzuki, T. (1983) Uniqueness and nonuniqueness in an inverse problem for the parabolic equation. Part I. J. Differ. Equations, v. 47, p. 296-316.

Suzuki, T. (1986) On a multidimensional inverse parabolic problem. Proc. Japan Acad. Sci., Ser. A, v. 62, N 3, p. 83-86.

Suzuki, T. and Myrayama, R. (1980) A uniqueness theorem in an identification problem for coefficients of parabolic equations. Proc. Japan Acad. Sci., Ser. A, v. 56, N 6, p. 259-263.

Sylvester, J. and Uhlmann, G. (1986) A uniqueness theorem for an inverse boundary value problem in electrical prospection. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 39, p. 91-112.
Sylvester, J. and Uhlmann, G. (1987) A global uniqueness theorem for an inverse boundary value problem. Ann. Mathem., v. 125, p. 153-169.

Sylvester, J. and Uhlmann, G. (1988) Inverse boundary value problems at the boundary-continuous dependence. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 41, p. 197-219.

Talenti, G. (1978) On ill-posed problems. Bullettino UMI (15), N 5-A, p. 1-29.

Tanabe, H. (1960) On the equations of evolution in a Banach space. Osaka Mathem. J., v. 12, p. 365-613.

Tanabe, H. (1979) Equations of Evolution. Pitman: London.

Temam, R. (1979) Navier-Stokes Equations. Theory and Numerical Analysis. North-Holland: Amsterdam.

Tikhonov, A. (1935) A uniqueness theorem for the heat equation. Matem. Sbornik, v. 42, N 2, p. 199-216 (in Russian).

Tikhonov, A. (1943) On the stability of inverse problems. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 39, p. 195–198 (in Russian).

Tikhonov, A. and Arsenin, V. (1977) Solution of Ill-Posed Problems. Wiley: New York.

Tikhonov, A. and Samarskii, A. (1963) Equations of Mathematical Physics. Pergamon Press: New York-London.

Tikhonov, I. (1992) An interrelation between inverse problems with the final and integral overdeterminations. Uspekhi Matem. Nauk, v. 47, N 4, p. 211-212 (in Russian).

Tikhonov, I. (1995) Well-posedness of an inverse problem with the final overdetermination for the nonstationary transport equation. Vestnik Moscow State University, Ser. 15, N 1, p. 56-64 (in Russian).

Tikhonov, I. and Eidelman, Yu. (1994) The question of well-posedness of direct and inverse problems for an evolution equation of specific type. Mathem. Notes, v. 56, p. 99-113 (in Russian).

Tobias, T. and Engelbrecht, Yu. (1985) Inverse problems for evolution equations of integro-differential type. J. Appl. Mathem. Mech., v. 49, p. 519–524.

Todorov, I. and Zidarov, D. (1958) On the uniqueness of determining the shape of an attracting body from available values of its exterior potential. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 120, N 2, p. 262-264 (in Russian).

Travis, C. and Webb, G. (1978) Cosine families and abstract nonlinear second order differential equations. Acta Mathem., v. 32, N 3-4, p. 75-96.

References

Trenogin, V. (1966) Boundary value problems for abstract elliptic equations. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 170, N 5, p. 1028-1031 (in Russian).

Trenogin, V. (1980) Functional Analysis. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Trudinger, N.-S. (1968) Pointwise estimates and quasilinear parabolic equations. Comm. Pure and Appl. Mathem., v. 21, p. 205-226.

Tsapov, V. (1989) Geometric properties of solutions of the inverse Roben problem. In: The Theory of Mappings and Approximation of Functions. Naukova Dumka: Kiev, p. 201–208 (in Russian).

Tsirul'skii, A. (1990) Functions of Complex Variable in the Theory and Methods of Potential Geophysical Fields. Publications of Ural' Subsidiary AN SSSR: Sverdlovsk (in Russian).

Uzlov, A. (1978) Theorems of existence and uniqueness of a solution of inverse problems for a parabolic equation of second order. Differ. Equations, v. 15, N 2, p. 370-372 (in Russian).

Vabishevich, P. (1987) Numerical Methods for Solving Problems with a Free Boundary. Moscow University Press: Moscow (in Russian).

Vainikko, G. and Veretennikov, A. (1986) Iteration Procedures in Ill-Posed Problems. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Vasiliev, V., Krein, S. and Piskarev, S. (1990) Operator semigroups, cosine operator functions and linear differential equations. Itogi Nauki i Tekhniki, v. 28, p. 87–202 VINITI Publications: Moscow (in Russian).

Vasin, I. (1992a) Inverse boundary value problems in viscous fluid dynamics. In: Ill-Posed Problems in Natural Sciences (eds. A. Tikhonov et al.). VSP/TVP: Utrecht/Moscow, p. 423-430.

Vasin, I. (1992b) Some inverse problems of the dynamics of a viscous incompressible fliud in the case of integral overdetermination. Zhurnal Vychisl. Matem. i Matem. Fiziki, v. 32, N 7, p. 1071-1079 (in Russian).

Vasin, I. (1993) On the existence and uniqueness of the generalized solution of an inverse problem for a nonlinear nonstationary Navier-Stokes system in the case of integral overdetermination. Mathem. Notes, v. 54, p. 34-44 (in Russian).

Vasin, I. (1995) A nonlinear inverse problem of the simultaneous recovery of the evolution of two coefficients in the Navier-Stokes equations. Differ. Equations, v. 31, N 5, p. 795-804 (in Russian).

Vasin, I. (1996) An inverse problem of recovering a linearization coefficient for the Navier-Stokes equations with the integral overdetermination. Zhurnal Vychisl. Matem. i Matem. Fiziki, v. 32. N 7, p. 1071-1079 (in Russian). Vidav, I. (1968) Existence and uniqueness of nonnegative functions of the Bolzman operator. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 22, p. 144-155.

Vidav, I. (1970) Spectra of perturbed semigroups with applications to transport theory. J. Mathem. Anal. Appl., v. 30, p. 264-279.

Vinokurov, V. and Novak, V. (1983) An estimate for the gravitational mass measure by the exterior potential. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 273, N 3, p. 525-528 (in Russian).

Vishik, M. and Ladyzhenskaya, O. (1956) Boundary value problems for partial differential equations and some classes of operator equations. Uspekhi Matem. Nauk, v. 11, N 6, p. 41–97 (in Russian).

Vladimirov, V. (1961) Mathematical problems of the single velocity theory of particle transport. Trudy MIAN SSSR, v. 61, p. 3-158 (in Russian).

Vladimirov, V. (1971) Equations of Mathematical Physics. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Vladimirov, V. (1976) Distributions in Mathematical Physics. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Voight, J. (1984) Positivity in time dependent linear transport theory. Acta Appl. Mathem., v. 2, N 3-4, p. 311-331.

Voronin, B. and Cherednichenko, V. (1981) Construction of equivalent solutions of an inverse gravimetric problem in the two-dimensional case. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Fizika Zemli, N 3, p. 60–67 (in Russian).

Voronin, B. and Cherednichenko, V. (1983) Some examples of constructions of equivalent bodies in gravimetry. In: Theory and Practice of Interpretation of Gravitational and Magnetic Anomalies in USSR. Naukova Dumka: Kiev, p. 160–164 (in Russian).

Voskoboinikov, G. and Nagankin, N. (1969) The singular point method for interpretation of gravitational fields. Izvestia AN SSSR, Ser: Fizika Zemli, N 5, p. 24-39 (in Russian).

Vulikh, B. (1967) An Introduction to Functional Analysis. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Weck, N. (1972) Inverse Probleme der Potentialtheorie. Appl. Anal., v. 2, p. 195-204.

Wermer, J. (1980) Potential Theory. Mir: Moscow (in Russian).

Wing, G. (1962) An Introduction to Neutron Transport Theory. Wiley: New York.

References

Wolfersdorf, L. (1993) On the identification of memory kernels in linear viscoelasticity. Math. Nachr., v. 161, p. 203-217.

Yakhno, V. (1977) A uniqueness theorem in an inverse problem for a hyperbolic equation. Differ. Equations, v. 13, N 3, p. 544-551 (in Russian).

Yakhno, V. (1990) Inverse Problems for Differential Equations of Elasticity. Nauka: Novosibirsk (in Russian).

Yakubov, S. (1970) On the solvability of the Cauchy problem for abstract quasilinear hyperbolic equations of second order and its applications. Trudy MMO, v. 23, p. 37-60 (in Russian).

Yakubov, S. (1985) Linear Operator-Differential Equations and Their Applications. ELM: Baky (in Russian).

Yamamoto, M. (1993) Conditional stability in the determination of force terms of heat equations in a rectangle. Mathem. Comput. Modeling, v. 18, N 1, p. 79-88.

Yamamoto, M. (1994a) Well-posedness of some hyperbolic problem by the Hilbert uniqueness method. Preprint Series, Department of Mathematical Sciences, The University of Tokyo, N 37, p. 1–28.

Yamamoto, M. (1994b) On ill-posedness and a Tikhonov regularization for a multidimensional inverse hyperbolic problem. Preprint Series, Department of Mathematical Sciences, The University of Tokyo, N 38, p. 1-44.

Yamamoto, M. (1995) Stability, reconstruction formula and regularization for an inverse source hyperbolic problem by a control method. Inverse Problems, v. 11, p. 481-496.

Yosida, K. (1956) An operator-theoretical integration of the wave equation. J. Mathem. Soc. Japan, v. 8, p. 79-92.

Yosida, K. (1963) On the integration of the equation of evolution. J. Fac. Sci., The University of Tokyo, part 5, p. 397-402.

Yosida, K. (1965) Functional Analysis. Springer: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg.

Zalcman, L. (1987) Some inverse problems in potential theory. In: Integral Geometry (eds. R. Bryant et al.). Amer. Mathem. Soc., Providence, RI, p. 337-350.

Zamorev, A. (1941a) The two-dimensional inverse potential problem. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 31, N 9, p. 872-874 (in Russian).

Zamorev, A. (1941b) Solution of an inverse potential problem. Doklady AN SSSR, v. 32, N 8, p. 546-547 (in Russian).

Zhdanov, M. (1984) Analogs of the Cauchy-Type Integral in the Theory of Geophysical Fields. Nauka: Moscow (in Russian).

Zidarov, D. (1984) The Inverse Gravimetric Problem in Geology and Geophysics. Publications BAN: Sofia.

Zweifel, P. and Larsen, E. (1975) On the spectrum of the linear transport operator. Coll. Intern. C.N.R.S., N 236, p. 229-239.

Abstract counterpart, 311 Admissible input data, 490 Basis. algebraic, 300 Hamel, 300 orthonormal, 303, 508 Shauder, 302 topological, 302 Birkhoff-Tarsky fixed point principle, 25 Body: contact, 171 noncontact, 172 Bolzman equation: linearized, 615 nonhomogeneous, 615 Bound: greatest lower, 514 least upper, 514 Canonical form, 72 Cauchy data, 106 Cauchy problem, 342, 350, 355, 442, 447, 478 abstract, 329, 586, 592 homogeneous, 355 nonlinear, 336 uniformly well-posed, 330, 339, 343, 356, 359 Cauchy sequence, 301 Characteristic, 76 Characteristic determinant, 369 Closed two-sided ideal, 307 Collision frequency, 615 Completion, 303 Cone, 514 Contraction, 310 Contraction mapping principle, 271, 311

Current density, 637 Cyclic subspace, 504 Deformation vector, 592 Density, 126 of the external force, 592 of the extraneous current, 637 of the neutron distribution, 608 Derivative: generalized, 3 partial, 337 Differential scattering cross-section, 614 Dirichlet boundary condition, 591 Dirichlet problem, 7, 367 Displacement vector, 591 Distance, 162, 301 Distribution, 330, 615 Domain: absolutely projectively-outwordambient, 161 absolutely star-ambient, 161 Eigenfunction, 74 Elastic body, 591 Elasticity coefficient, 592 Electric conductance, 637 Elliptic differential equation, 365 Emission of neutrons, 608 Equation: autonomous, 346 Bolzman, 614 homogeneous, 330 hyperbolic, 106, 584

incompressibility, 205

integro-functional, 94

Laplace, 125

Maxwell, 636

705

706

[Equation] nonhomogeneous, 334 first kind, 308 second kind, 309 parabolic, 10 Parseval. 39 quasilinear, 601 resolvent, 617 semilinear, 449 transport, 607 Electric charge distribution, 638 Electric field strength, 637 Euler gamma-function, 125 Evolution family, 357 Explicit expression for the semigroup, 351 Exponential growth, 73 Externally contact sets, 174 Fission, 608 Flow: three-dimensional, 206 two-dimensional, 207 Formula: Cauchy-Hadamard, 328 Newton-Leibniz, 49, 318 Ostrogradsky, 582 Fourier coefficient, 38, 303 Fourier expansion, 308 Fractional power, 599 Fredholm alternative, 43 Fredholm solvability, 45 Fredholm-type property, 220 Function: abstract, 376 analytic, 328 cosine, 343, 524 Frechet differentiable, 337, 353-354 Green, 370 Lipschitz, 319 regular, 330

[Function] sine, 344, 524 stable, 360 Functional: linear, 306 positive, 514 Generator of the cosine function, 345 Green formula: first, 124 second, 124 third, 125 Group property, 366 Holder condition, 319 Holder constant, 4 Hypermatrix, 99 Image of linear operator, 304 Induction: electric, 637 magnetic, 637 Inequality: Cauchy, 2 Cauchy-Schwartz, 2, 302 Harnack, 24 Holder, 2, 606 Poincare-Friedrichs, 6 Young, 2 Inner product, 302 Integral of collisions, 614 linearized, 615 Invariant of collisions, 616 Jordan's decomposition, 514 Kernel, 304, 322 Kronecker's delta, 88 Laplace transform, 67 Lattice: Banach, 514 conditionally complete, 25

[Lattice] Hilbert, 598 Law: Hook's, 591 Ohm's 637 reciprocity, 617 Linear combination, 300 Linear medium, 637 Linear span, 300 Magnetic field strength, 637 Maxwell distribution, 614 Measure: Dirac's, 503 spectral, 504 Method: Cramer's, 369 "fixed" coefficient, 363 Fourier, 38, 66, 308 Multiindex, 3 Navier-Stokes equation: linearized, 205 nonlinear, 206, 230, 254 Neumann problem, 367 Neumann's boundary condition, 590 Norm, 301 graph 317, 493 linear operator, 304 matrix, 75 Operator: adjoint, 306 anti-Hermitian, 509 bounded, 304 compact, 307 completely continuous, 307 continuous, 304 contracting, 63 elliptic differential, 7 evolution, 356, 442, 459, 478 identity, 305

[Operator] integration, 80 inverse, 305 invertible, 305 isotonic, 25, 57 Laplace, 37, 376 linear, 304 nonlinear, 310 positive, 515 reflection, 616 self-adjoint, 307 Stokes, 217 Sturm-Liouville, 38 substitution, 336 uniformly elliptic, 7 Operator function: strongly continuous, 319 strongly continuously differentiable, 320 Order segment, 25 Orthogonal complement, 303 Orthogonal decomposition, 303 Orthogonal projector, 303 Overdetermination: final, 34, 54, 210, 230, 379, 490, 596 integral, 60, 221, 226, 255, 268, 282, 583, 587, 594, 608, 641 pointwise, 69, 581 singular, 416, 449 Perfect conductor, 637 Permeability: dielectric, 637 magnetic, 637 Potential:

magnetic, 171

volume mass, 126

simple layer, 126

305

Principle of uniform boundedness,

power, 623

707

Problem in variations, 391 Radius of convergence, 328

Regime of oscillations, 592 Relation: asymptotic, 445 energy, 215 Gauss-Ostrogradsky, 124 partial ordering, 514 Resolvent, 305, 332, 335, 363 Resolvent set, 305

Semigroup: analytic, 340 compact, 499, 597 contraction, 495 exponentially decreasing, 495 positive, 515, 598 strongly continuous, 331 Semigroup generator, 332 Series: Fourier, 39, 303 Neumann, 79, 310 Smoothing effect, 379, 382, 440, 459, 477, 587 Sobolev's embedding theory, 6 Solution: classical, 339, 366 continuous, 382, 395 fundamental, 125 generalized, 20, 28, 34, 60 explicit, 66 strong, 330, 339, 341-342, 357, 359, 382 weak, 11, 330, 339, 342, 357, 361 Space: Banach, 3, 4, 301 dual, 306 "energy", 11 Euclidean, 302 Hilbert, 3, 303 Holder, 4

[Space] normal vector, 304 normed, 300 Sobolev, 3, 4 vector, 299 "Spatial" smoothness, 335 Spectral decomposition, 316 Spectral radius, 306, 370 Spectral resolution, 502 Spectral type, 504 Spectrum, 305, 314 continuous, 306 discrete, 508 point, 306 residual, 306 simple, 504 Square root, 365 Stress tensor, 592 Subspace, 300 Successive approximation, 310, 435 Supersolution, 22 Symmetric difference, 162 System: first order, 72 t-hyperbolic, 88 x-hyperbolic, 72 Theorem: Banach on inverse, 314 Banach-Steinhaus, 304 Birkhoff-Tarsky, 25 closed graph, 314 Hilbert-Schmidt, 308 Hille-Phillips-Yosida-Miyadera, 331 open mapping, 314 Rellich. 7 Riesz, 306 Thermodynamic equilibrium, 617 Two-point inverse problem, 489, 501 Type: hyperbolic, 358, 477

[Type] parabolic, 361, 439

Volterra equation: first kind, 69, 321 nonlinear, 325 [Volterra equation] second kind, 69, 321, 353, 386

Weak principle of maximum, 9 Wronskian, 117